
 
 

BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

Tuesday, September 17, 2013 
6 p.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

Special Presentation: eCities Award from Google 
 
Special Presentation: Declaration “Colorado Companies to Watch” 
 
Special Presentation: Declaration “Honorary Inland Ocean City” 

 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) Public may 

address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in the meeting (this 
includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings have taken place, any 
remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  All speakers are limited to three minutes. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 

motion at this time. (Roll call vote required) 
 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes from August 6, 

2013 
 
B. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes from August 

20, 2013 
 

C. Continuation of Second Reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 
7925 amending chapters 10-2, 10-5, 10-5.5, 10-6, 10-7, 10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 10-9.5 and 10-
10, B.R.C. 1981, adding new chapter 10-8.5; adopting by reference, with amendments, 
the 2012 International Property Maintenance, Building, Residential, Energy 
Conservation, Fire, Wildland-Urban Interface, Mechanical, Fuel Gas and Plumbing 
Codes, and the 2011 Electrical National Code, amending sections 4-20-47, “Zoning 
Adjustment Filing Fees,” and 2-3-4 “Board of Building Appeals,” B.R.C. 1981; and 
setting forth related details 
 

D.  Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
an ordinance designating the building and property at 2205 Broadway, to be known as 
the Boulder Masonic Lodge, as an individual landmark under the city’s Historic 
Preservation Ordinance 
 

E. Consideration of the following ordinances related to the purchase of the ERTL 
property located at 8323 Valmont Road: 

Packet Page     1



 
 

 
1. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 

only, an ordinance approving and authorizing the issuance of Boulder Municipal 
Property Authority Lease Purchase Revenue Note, Series 2013A, in the aggregate 
amount of $5,000,000, and approving and authorizing a Lease Purchase Agreement for 
the purchase of 685 acres of land, oil and gas mineral estate interests and water rights 
for the ERTL property located at 8323 Valmont Road, Boulder, CO from Energy 
Resource Technology Land, Inc. for Open Space and Mountain Parks purposes 

 
2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 

only, an ordinance approving the addition of the ERTL property as part of the 
Lower Boulder Creek Habitat Conservation Area 

 
F. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only an 

ordinance amending Title 6, Chapter 13, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags,” B.R.C. 
1981 regarding the Voice and Sight Tag Program, and Title 4, Chapter 20, Section 61, 
“Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Fees,” B.R.C. 1981, regarding fees for Voice and 
Sight Control Evidence Tags and setting forth related details 
 

G. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, 
an ordinance adopting the Intergovernmental Agreement with Boulder County for 
Hazardous Materials Management 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  

Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call- up of an item listed under agenda 
Item 8-A1.   

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7926, amending 
floodplain regulations in order to clarify existing regulations and to protect critical 
facilities and lodging facilities in the 100- and 500-year floodplains, including Chapter 
9-3 “Overlay Districts,” Subsection 9-6-1(d) “Use Table,” and Section 9-16-1 
“Definitions” B.R.C. 1981 

 
B. Consideration of a motion to accept the 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Master 

Plan and approve the Boulder Valley comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan Summary 

 
C. Second reading and consideration of three ordinances all to implement and comply with 

the requirements of Amendment 64 to the Colorado State Constitution and 
consideration of an emergency ordinance relating to marijuana as follows:  
 

Packet Page     2



 
 

1. Ordinance No. 7929 amending Section 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981;  
 

2.  Ordinance No. 7930 adding a new Chapter 6-16, “Recreational Marijuana,” and a new 
Section 4-20-67, “Recreational Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981;   
 

3. Ordinance No. 7931 amending Section 5-10, “Marijuana Offenses,” B.R.C. 1981; and 
 

4. Consideration of a motion to adopt an emergency ordinance appointing the city manager 
as the entity designated to receive applications and imposing a temporary moratorium 
on recreational marijuana businesses between October 1, 2013 and January 2, 2013 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   

 
None 

 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
  

None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

 
1. Deed of Vacation at 2085 Balsam Drive Information Packet Date: September 17 Last 

Opportunity: September 17 
 

2. Landmark Alteration Certificate (LAC) for demolition of 420 Spruce Street 
Information Packet Date: September 17 Last Opportunity: September 17 

 
B. Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution in support of Colorado’s 2013 Ballot 

Measure Designated as Amendment 66, Funding for Public Schools 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.) Public comment on any motions made 

under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
 
 
 

Packet Page     3



 
 

This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 6 
p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting.  
DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.  Anyone requiring special 
packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions may contact the City 
Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 hours notification 
prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.  If you need Spanish 
interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please call (303) 441-1905 at 
least three days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con 
relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 
días antes de la junta. Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at 
the time of sign up and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  
Electronic media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical 
support is provided by staff. 

 

Packet Page     4

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

August 6, 2013 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

Mayor Appelbaum called the regular August 6, 2013 City Council meeting to order at 6:05 
PM in Council Chambers. 

 
Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Ageton, Becker, Cowles, 
Jones, Karakehian, Morzel, and Plass. Council Member Wilson was absent.  

 
2. OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE – 6:08 PM 

 
1. Tim Thomas – Spoke about Council having dinner behind closed doors in the kitchen. He 

also noted that the civic use pad at the St. Julien Hotel was being used for non-civic 
purposes. 

 
2. Judd Golden – Spoke against utilization of license plate recognition software. He wanted 

any data related to non-criminal activity to be purged immediately. 
 
3. Dr. R. Paul Williamson – Spoke about a project called Colorado City Connector. The 

program would build a monorail system linking cities in Colorado using a new technology. 
 
4. Jeff McWhirter – Spoke as the president of the Southeast Boulder Neighborhood 

Association and as a citizen against the annexation of the Hogan-Pancost property. 
 
5. Steve Pomerance – Spoke against the annexation of the Hogan-Pancost property without a 

change in the zoning. 
 
6. Lee Berg – Spoke on behalf of United Way thanking Boulder for its contributions to their 

many charities. 
 
7. Stacey Balcom – Spoke about the bandshell and annual duck race. 
 
8. Lynn Segal – Spoke against the annexation of the Hogan-Pancost property. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA – 6:25 PM 
 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION BY DAVID FREDERICK REGARDING THE 2012 CAFR 
 
Mr. Frederick gave a brief presentation to Council on the 2012 CAFR highlights. 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page     5



 
 

A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
FROM JUNE 10, 2013 

 
This item was amended to correct the final vote. 
 
B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

FROM JUNE 18, 2013 
 

C. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE STUDY SESSION SUMMARY FROM JUNE 
11, 2013 REGARDING THE 2013 WORK PLAN UPDATE 
 

D. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE STUDY SESSION SUMMARY FROM JULY 
23, 2013 ON BOULDER’S ENERGY FUTURE MUNICIPALIZATION EXPLORATION PROJECT 
 

E. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT A RESOLUTION APPOINTING BKD, LLP FOR 
THE 2013 ANNUAL AUDIT 
 

F. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION ACCEPTING THE 2012 CAFR AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 
REPORTS 
 

G. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE ADOPTING SUPPLEMENT NO. 
117, WHICH CODIFIES PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED ORDINANCE NOS. 7892, 7895, 7901, 7904, 
7905, 7908 AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS CORRECTIONS AND AMENDMENTS, AS AN 
AMENDMENT TO THE BOULDER REVISED CODE, 1981 
 

Council agreed to adopt B.R.C. supplements by emergency without second readings. 
 

H. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE DISPOSAL TO THE STATE OF 
COLORADO, THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, OF OPEN SPACE AND 
MOUNTAIN PARKS LAND AND TEMPORARY EASEMENTS, INCLUDING A LAND EXCHANGE, 
TO ACCOMMODATE THE U.S. 36 MANAGED LANES PROJECT PHASE 2. THIS IS A 
DISPOSAL OF OPEN SPACE LAND UNDER CITY CHARTER SECTION 177 
 

I. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE DISPOSAL OF OPEN SPACE AND 
MOUNTAIN PARKS LAND DESCRIBED AS TWO PERMANENT EASEMENTS ON 6,405 SQUARE 
FEET (.15 ACRES) AND FOUR TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENTS ON 18,500 SQUARE 
FEET (.42 ACRES) TO PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF COLORADO FOR AN UNDERGROUND 
NATURAL GAS PIPELINE AND A VALVE SET ON THE JEWEL MOUNTAIN OPEN SPACE LAND 
AT THE IMMEDIATE NORTHWEST CORNER OF STATE HIGHWAY 72 AND 93. THIS IS A 
DISPOSAL OF OPEN SPACE LAND UNDER CITY CHARTER SECTION 177 
 

J. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO CHANGE STUDY SESSIONS SCHEDULED FOR OCTOBER 
8, 22 AND OCTOBER 29 TO BUSINESS MEETINGS 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page     6



 
 

K. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO CALL A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOULDER CITY 
COUNCIL TO CONSIDER THE HOGAN-PANCOST ANNEXATION ON OCTOBER 3, 2013 
 

Council Member Plass moved, seconded by Council Member Ageton, to approve Consent 
Agenda items 3A through 3K as amended. The motion carried 8:0 with Council Member 
Wilson absent on a roll call vote at 6:40 PM. 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN – 6:45 PM 

 
No interest was expressed in any of the call-up items. 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS – 6:45 PM 
 

A. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 7917 
FINDING THAT THE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO FORMATION OF AN ELECTRIC POWER 
AND LIGHT UTILITY OF CHARTER SECTION 178(A) HAVE BEEN SATISFIED, AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE SUMMARY OF THE JULY 23, 2013 
PRESENTATION BY POWERSERVICES, INC. 
 

City Manager Jane Brautigam introduced Sam Weaver and Pete Lorenzen, members of the 
Boulder and Xcel Energy, Inc. working group, who gave a brief presentation on the 
recommendations to Council. 
 
Director of Energy Services Heather Bailey presented on this item. 
 
Linda Kushner and R.L. Willoughby from PowerServices, Inc. answered questions on the 
third party report related to Charter requirements for formation of a municipal electric utility. 

 
B. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 7918 

AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY INTERESTS OWNED BY PUBLIC SERVICE 
COMPANY OF COLORADO D/B/A XCEL ENERGY BY NEGOTIATION AND PURCHASE OR 
THROUGH THE POWER OF EMINENT DOMAIN AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

Senior Assistant City Attorney Kathy Haddock presented on this item. 
 

The combined public hearing on items 5A and 5B was opened at 8:58 PM.  
 

1. John Tayer – Spoke on behalf of the Boulder Chamber in favor of municipalization. 
 
2. Angelique Espinoza – Spoke on behalf of the Boulder Chamber in favor of 

municipalization. 
 
3. Baird McKevitt – Spoke as an employee of Xcel Energy, Inc. urging Council to work 

toward a partnership. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page     7



 
 

 
4. David Red Clark – Spoke as an employee of Xcel Energy, Inc. and a resident of 

Boulder in opposition to municipalization. 
 
5. Jim Hartman – Spoke as a business owner in favor of municipalization. 
 
6. Rick Tazelaar – Spoke as an electrical engineer in favor of municipalization. 
 
7. Debra Biasca – Spoke as a resident in favor of municipalization. 
 
8. Kathy Ramirez-Aguilar – Spoke as a resident of Gunbarrel and a member of 

Gunbarrel’s Energy Future, in favor of municipalization. 
 
9. Susan Riederer – Spoke as a resident of unincorporated Boulder County and as a 

member of the Governance Working Group in favor of municipalization. 
 
10. Annie Lappe – Spoke as a private citizen working in the solar industry in favor of 

green energy and municipalization. 
 
11. Jason Wiener – Also spoke on behalf of Boulder Clean Energy Business Coalition 

and Namaste Solar in favor of municipalization. 
 
12. Ruth Blackmore – Spoke on behalf of PLAN Boulder County in favor of 

municipalization. 
 
13. Karey Christ-Janer – Spoke as an activist in favor of municipalization and urged 

Council to continue working toward a partnership with Xcel Energy Inc. 
 

14. Leslie Glustrom – Spoke on behalf of Empower Our Future in favor of 
municipalization. 

 
15. Bill Roettker – Spoke as a resident of Gunbarrell and a member of Gunbarrells 

Energy Future in favor of municipalization. 
 

16. Denise Clark – Spoke as a Boulder resident, Gunbarrell business owner and member 
of Gunbarrells Energy Future in favor of municipalization. 

 
17. John Russell – Spoke in favor of municipalization. 
 
18. Leonard May – Spoke in favor of municipalization. 
 
19. Zane Selvans – Spoke in favor of municipalization. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page     8



 
 

 
20. Tom Asprey – Spoke as a member of several working groups, he urged Council to 

move forward with municipalization. He urged Xcel Energy, Inc. to be honest in its 
dissemination of information and to stop attempting to confuse citizens. He 
commented that he would like to see the city continue to work toward a partnership if 
possible. 

 
21. Tom Wilkie – Spoke out of concern for County residents that would be brought into 

the municipal electric utility.  
 

22. Lynn Segal – Spoke about a friend that lost his business when Xcel Energy, Inc. 
stopped giving solar rebates and moved to North Dakota for a job in hydraulic 
fracturing. She asked the city to bring the right jobs to Boulder and move forward 
with municipalization. 

 
23. Jim Morris – Spoke in favor of municipalization and condemnation of Xcel Energy, 

Inc.’s infrastructure. 
 
24. Eric Van Orden – Spoke as a supporter of environmental stewardship and economic 

development in opposition to municipalization.  
 
25. Steve Pomerance – Spoke in favor of municipalization.  
 
26. Kate Clark – Spoke in favor of municipalization. 
 
27. Steven Haymes – Spoke in favor of green energy and municipalization.  
 
28. Ken Regelson – Spoke as a working group member in favor of municipalization. 
 
29. John Doherty – Spoke on behalf of Jessica Kaminsky, who could not stay for the 

meeting, and was in favor of municipalization. 
 

There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed at 10:05 PM. 
 
The mayor conducted an agenda check at 10:05 PM. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to suspend the rules and 
continue the meeting. The motion carried 8:0, Council Member Wilson absent. 
 
Discussion of Ordinance No. 7917: 

 
Council Members Ageton and Karakehian expressed concern that the Council did not receive 
a full report, but were only given a PowerPoint presentation.  

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page     9



 
 

 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Plass, to approve Ordinance No. 
7917 finding that the conditions precedent to formation of an electric power and light utility 
of Charter Section 178(a) have been satisfied, and setting forth related details and acceptance 
of the summary of the July 23, 2013 presentation by PowerServices, Inc., as amended by the 
City Attorney’s Office with direction for third reading to occur on August 20 on the Consent 
Agenda. The motion carried 6:2, Council Members Ageton and Karakehian opposed.  The 
vote was taken at 10:22p.m. 
 
Discussion of Ordinance No. 7918: 
 
Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to approve 
Ordinance No. 7918 authorizing the acquisition of property interests owned by Public Service 
Company of Colorado d/b/a Xcel Energy by negotiation and purchase or through the power 
of eminent domain as amended in the packet.  
 
Council Member Becker cautioned her colleagues that there were still many unknowns in 
regard to cost and she urged them to be able to step back and make the right decision if that 
means stepping away from municipalization if that was where the information lead them. 
 
Council Member Ageton commented that all of Council had the same goal in mind. The 
disagreement was about how to reach those goals. She noted that she would prefer to have 
more information before moving forward with condemnation. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum agreed with Council Member Ageton’s comments regarding the goals of 
Council. He reminded the public that the municipalization effort had been in progress for 
years and Council was not making decisions on the fly. He reminded the public that Boulder 
had not always taken the easy route to success, but had a history of doing the hard work to do 
the right thing. 
 
Council Member Karakehian commented that he did not believe city government was meant 
to take risks such as municipalization. He did not want to spend tax payer dollars on lengthy 
litigation. He preferred to continue pursuing a partnership with Xcel Energy that would still 
allow Boulder to meet its climate action goals. 
 
Vote was taken on the motion to approve Ordinance No. 7918 authorizing the acquisition of 
property interests owned by Public Service Company of Colorado d/b/a Xcel Energy by 
negotiation and purchase or through the power of eminent domain as amended in the packet. 
The motion carried 6:2 with Council Members Ageton and Karakehian opposed, at 10:49 
p.m. 

 
C. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 7919 

SETTING THE BALLOT TITLE FOR AN INITIATED AMENDMENT TO THE BOULDER 
CHARTER, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

Deputy City Attorney David Gehr presented on this item. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page     10



 
 

 
D. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 7920 

SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE 
GENERAL MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 
5, 2013, AN ALTERNATIVE BALLOT QUESTION AMENDING THE CITY CHARTER TO 
ADDRESS ISSUES PRESENTED BY THE PROPOSED INITIATED CHARTER AMENDMENT THAT 
ADDS A NEW SECTION 188 ON LIMITATIONS ON ELECTRIC UTILITY DEBT AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS 
 

Deputy City Attorney David Gehr presented on this item. 
 

The combined public hearing on items 5C and 5D was opened at 11:45 PM.  
 

1. Steve Haymes – Spoke in favor of allowing voters in Boulder to decide if there needed 
to be a limit on debt in creation of an electric municipal utility. 

 
2. Mark Grueskin – Spoke on behalf of Voter Approval of Debt Limits reminding 

Council that they must set a ballot title based on the language in the initiative petition. 
He warned Council against placing an alternative measure on the ballot. 

 
3. Micah Parkin – Spoke on behalf of 350 Boulder against the Xcel Energy initiative 

petition. 
 
4. Tom Wilke – Spoke in favor of allowing Boulder voters to approve limitations on 

acquisition of the electric utility. 
 

5. Leslie Glustrom – Spoke in opposition to the citizen lead initiative petition that would 
put debt limits to a vote of the people. 

 
6. Karey Christ-Janer – Urged Council to honor the opinions and feelings of everyone on 

both sides of municipalization and debt limits. 
 

7. Angelique Espinoza – Spoke about the importance of differentiating the two counter 
ballot measures if Council chose to place both on the ballot.  

 
There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed at 12:06 AM. 
 
Discussion of Ordinance No. 7919: 
 
City Attorney Tom Carr pointed out that the petitioners had not proposed a ballot question, 
but had added a question mark to the end of the petition language. He suggested not creating 
a short title for the citizen lead initiative. 
 
Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to approve 
Ordinance No, 7919 setting the ballot title for an initiated amendment to the Boulder Charter, 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page     11



 
 

as amended to strike the short ballot title and changing the Ordinance title to be consistent 
with the ballot question.  
 
Council Member Ageton expressed concern that voters would be confused that there was no 
short title attached to this one question put before them. 
 
Vote was taken on the motion to approve Ordinance No, 7919 setting the ballot title for an 
initiated amendment to the Boulder Charter, as amended to strike the short ballot title and 
changing the Ordinance title to be consistent with the ballot question. The motion carried 8:0 
with Council Member Wilson absent, at 12:15 a.m. 
 
Discussion of Ordinance No. 7920: 
 
Council Member Ageton reiterated her concern that two competing ballot measures would 
confuse voters.  
 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to approve Ordinance No. 
7920 submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the general municipal 
coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 5, 2013, an alternative ballot question 
amending the City Charter to address issues presented by the proposed initiated Charter 
amendment that adds a new section 188 on limitations on electric utility debt as presented in 
option four with the debt limit established at $214,000,000. 
  
Council Member Karakehian agreed with Council Member Ageton’s comments. He noted 
that he would prefer to state what the debt limit would be rather than leave it open-ended. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum commented that if there was a number on the debt limit it would only be 
linked to acquiring assets because there were so many unknowns. 
 
After further discussion the following direction was provided to staff for inclusion in 
Ordinance No. 7920: 
 

1. Out of city customer choice charter change to be added to ballot title 
2. Direction regarding short title language to include : 

• Debt limit for acquisition of assets 
• measure will supersede any other measure; 
• included the light and power utility language 

 
Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Mayor Appelbaum, to take up agenda item 8B 
while staff worked on incorporating the amendments to Ordinance No. 7920. The motion 
carried 8:0, Council Member Wilson absent, at 12:53 a.m.   
 
(See action on item 8B under that section of the agenda) 
 
Council then returned to discussion on the motion to approve Ordinance No. 7920 with 
amendments. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 8Packet Page     12



 
 

 
Vote was then taken on the motion to approve Ordinance No. 7920 as amended. The motion 
carried 8:0 with Council Member Wilson absent. Vote was at 1:13 a.m. 
 

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   
 
None 

 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
  

None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL – 12:55 AM 

 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

 
1. LANDMARK ALTERATION CERTIFICATE TO DEMOLISH A NON-CONTRIBUTING 

BUILDING AT 1023 WALNUT ST. IN THE DOWNTOWN HISTORIC DISTRICT AND IN ITS 
PLACE CONSTRUCT A NEW FOUR STORY COMMERCIAL BUILDING TO BE CONNECTED 
VIA A BRIDGE TO THE PROPOSED BUILDING AT 1048 PEARL ST. INFORMATION 
PACKET DATE: JULY 30, 2013 LAST OPPORTUNITY FOR CALL-UP: AUGUST 6, 2013 
 

No action was taken on this item. 
 

2. VACATION OF A UTILITY EASEMENT IN THE KALMIA ESTATES SUBDIVISION 
INFORMATION PACKET DATE: JULY 16, 2013 LAST OPPORTUNITY FOR CALL-UP: 
AUGUST 6, 2013 

 
No action was taken on this item. 

 
B. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS – 12:53 A.M. 

 
Environmental Advisory Board: 
  
Nominations were opened: 
Council Member Morzel nominated Ann Livingston. 
 
Council Member Cowles nominated Morgan Lommele. 
 
Morgan Lommele was appointed to the Environmental Advisory Board to fill a vacancy 
expiring March 31, 2013; vote was 7:1, with Council Member Morzel voting for another 
nominee. 
 
Board of Zoning Adjustment: 
 
Nominations were opened: 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 9Packet Page     13



 
 

Council Member Karakehian nominated Christopher Lane to the Board of Zoning 
Adjustment (BOZA).  
 
There being no further nominations Christopher Lane was appointed to BOZA by 
acclamation to fill a vacancy expiring March 31, 2015. 

 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Ageton, to ratify the Board 
Appointments to the Board of Zoning Adjustment (BOZA) and the Environmental Advisory 
Board. 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  

 
There being no speakers present Public Comment was closed opened at 1:19 AM. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS  
 

Vote was taken on the motion to ratify Appointments to the Board of Zoning Adjustment 
(BOZA) and the Environmental Advisory Board (EAB). The motion carried 8:0 with Council 
Member Wilson absent, at 1:20 a.m. 

 
11. DEBRIEF  -None 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION 
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on August 7, 2013 at 1:20 
AM. 
 
Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2013. 

 
 
        APPROVED BY: 
 
ATTEST:      ______________________ 

      Matthew Appelbaum 
________________________   Mayor  
Alisa D. Lewis 
City Clerk 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 10Packet Page     14



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

Tuesday, August 20, 2013 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

Mayor Appelbaum called the regular August 20, 2013 City Council meeting to order 
at 6:00 PM in Council Chambers. 

 
Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Ageton, Becker, 
Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, Morzel, Plass and Wilson.  

 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE  
 

1. Ruth McHeyser and Susan Osborne – Spoke about a grant received for 
renovating and restoring the Hannah Barker House. 

 
2. Anna Salim – Spoke as a member of the Arts Commission about the 

importance of arts in the community. 
 
3. Angelique Espinoza – Spoke on behalf of the Chamber to support the proposed 

taxes that Council would be placing on the ballot. 
 
4. Carla Selby – Spoke favorably about the Civic Area Plan effort. 
 
5. Tim Thomas – Asked Council why they would move forward with 

municipalization while placing a moratorium on hydraulic fracturing. He also 
commented on Council having dinner behind closed doors. 

 
6. Euvaldo Valdez – Spoke as Hispanic, a former resident of Boulder, and a 

current Niwot resident in favor of the rededication of Canyon Park as Emma 
Martinez Park. 

 
7. Janet Heimer – Spoke as a long time Boulder resident in support of removing 

requirements for serving on boards and commissions. 
 
8. Loren Weinberg – Spoke in favor of rededicating Canyon Park and naming it 

for Emma Martinez. 
 
9. Jaime Shuey – Spoke about the installation of public art at the Boulder County 

Housing Partner’s 1175 Lee Hill Road location. 
 

City Attorney Tom Carr briefly explained how the Open Meetings Act specifically 
excludes social occasions and that the Supreme Court has made it clear that a group 
gathering convened for a purpose other than conducting public business was not a 
meeting under the Open Meetings Act. He went on to say that security concerns 
require that the door be kept closed.  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page     15



 
 

 
Council Member Jones thanked the speakers and the Arts Commission for bringing so 
many exciting things forward. 
 
Council Member Morzel thanked speakers for coming forward to inform Council 
about what was happening in the arts community. She also called attention to the 
fracking moratorium that will be on the ballot. 
 
Council Member Wilson commented that he enjoyed the information on Emma 
Martinez Park. He noted that Fort Collins had a very large budget for art due to a 
surcharge on water utility construction projects.  
 
City Manager Jane Brautigam explained that the additional funding for art in Fort 
Collins was related to the 1% of construction costs associated with CIP projects being 
set aside to fund art in public places and while Boulder did set funding aside for the 
arts, it was not 1%. She also recalled that Fort Collins owned a performing arts center 
they had to run and maintain. She noted that Boulder spent more on services for the 
homeless than many others. She commented that she would like to have a plan in 
place before funding the program at a higher level and changing the priorities of the 
city. 
 
Council Member Ageton praised the installation of public art at 1175 Lee Hill Road. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA  

 
A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES FROM JULY 16, 2013 
 
B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES FROM JULY 23, 2013 
 
C. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES FROM JULY 24, 2013 
 
D. THIRD READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT THE FOLLOWING 

ORDINANCES:  
 
1. ORDINANCE NO. 7912 PLACING ON THE NOVEMBER 5, 2013 BALLOT A 

MEASURE EXTENDING AND DEDICATING TO OPEN SPACE, TRANSPORTATION 
AND THE GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES A 0.33 CENT SALES TAX; AND 

 
2. ORDINANCE NO. 7913 PLACING ON THE NOVEMBER 5, 2013 BALLOT A 

MEASURE IMPOSING A NEW 0.15 CENT SALES TAX TO BE DEDICATED TO 
TRANSPORTATION; AS ADOPTED AND AMENDED AT THE AUGUST 5, 2013 
COUNCIL MEETING AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 

 
E. THIRD READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 

7916 SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page     16



 
 

THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, 
NOVEMBER 5, 2013, THE ISSUE OF WHETHER CITY OF BOULDER TAXES SHOULD 
BE INCREASED BY AN EXCISE TAX OF UP TO 10 PERCENT OF THE AVERAGE 
MARKET VALUE OF UNPROCESSED RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA FROM A 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA CULTIVATION FACILITY AND A SALES AND USE TAX 
OF UP TO 10 PERCENT ON RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS 

 
Amended to change the sales tax range to begin at 3.5 percent in 2014, up to 15 
percent thereafter and adopted as an emergency ordinance. 

 
F. THIRD READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT THE FOLLOWING 

ORDINANCES:  
 
1. ORDINANCE NO. 7919 SETTING THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUBMITTING TO THE 

VOTERS AT THE NOVEMBER 5, 2013 ELECTION AN INITIATED AMENDMENT TO 
THE CITY CHARTER TO REQUIRE VOTER APPROVAL OF THE ELECTRIC UTILITY 
DEBT LIMIT AND TOTAL COST OF DEBT REPAYMENT PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF 
ANY DEBT, PROHIBITING SERVICE OUTSIDE OF THE CITY ABSENT A VOTE BY 
OUT-OF-CITY RESIDENTS IN THE SERVICE AREA, LIMITING DEBT ELECTIONS TO 
NOVEMBER IN ODD-NUMBERED YEARS, AND LIMITING BROKERAGE FEES ON 
SUCH INDEBTEDNESS; AND  

 
Council Member Wilson indicated he would vote in opposition to this item. 
 

2. ORDINANCE NO. 7920 (THIS ORDINANCE HAS BEEN MOVED TO 5B AS A PUBLIC 
HEARING) 

 
G. THIRD READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 

7917 FINDING THAT THE CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO FORMATION OF AN 
ELECTRIC POWER AND LIGHT UTILITY OF CHARTER SECTION 178(A) HAVE BEEN 
SATISFIED, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE 
SUMMARY OF THE JULY 23, 2013 PRESENTATION BY POWERSERVICES, INC. 

 
H. THIRD READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 

7918 AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY INTERESTS OWNED BY 
PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF COLORADO D/B/A XCEL ENERGY BY 
NEGOTIATION AND PURCHASE OR THROUGH THE POWER OF EMINENT DOMAIN 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 

 
Council Members Ageton, Karakehian and Wilson commented that they would be 
voting in opposition to this item. 
 
I. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT THE FOLLOWING 

ORDINANCES: 
 

1. ORDINANCE NO. 7910 REGARDING AMENDING SECTION 98, TERM OF BONDS-
DISPOSAL OF BONDS, OF THE CHARTER OF THE CITY OF BOULDER; 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page     17



 
 

 
This item was amended before adoption to reflect changes requested at the August 5, 
2013 meeting. 
 

2. ORDINANCE NO. 7914 REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO CHARTER SECTION 130 
AND OTHER RELATED CHARTER SECTIONS CHANGING THE REQUIREMENT 
FROM CITY ELECTORS TO CITY RESIDENTS TO SERVE ON CITY BOARDS; AND 

 
3. ORDINANCE NO. 7915 REGARDING EXTENDING ORDINANCE NO. 7907, THE 

MORATORIUM ON FRACKING, ALL AS APPROVED FOR ADOPTION ON CONSENT 
AT THE AUGUST 5TH COUNCIL MEETING AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS 

 
J. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND 
PROPERTY AT 3015 KALMIA AVE., TO BE KNOWN AS THE LUNDGREN-HARPER 
HOUSE, AS AN INDIVIDUAL LANDMARK UNDER THE CITY’S HISTORIC 
PRESERVATION ORDINANCE 

 
K. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A DEED OF VACATION TO VACATE A PORTION OF A 
TWENTY-FOOT EMERGENCY ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT IN ASSOCIATION 
WITH AN APPROVED USE REVIEW REQUEST TO LOCATE 68 ATTACHED MULTI-
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS IN AN INDUSTRIAL ZONING DISTRICT AT 6655 
LOOKOUT ROAD 

 
L. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTERS 10-2, 10-5, 10-
5.5, 10-6, 10-7, 10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 10-9.5 AND 10-10, B.R.C. 1981, ADDING NEW 
CHAPTER 10-8.5; ADOPTING BY REFERENCE, WITH AMENDMENTS, THE 2012 
INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE, BUILDING, RESIDENTIAL, ENERGY 
CONSERVATION, FIRE, WILDLAND-URBAN INTERFACE, MECHANICAL, FUEL GAS 
AND PLUMBING CODES, AND THE 2011 ELECTRICAL NATIONAL CODE, 
AMENDING SECTIONS 4-20-47, “ZONING ADJUSTMENT FILING FEES”, AND 2-3-4 
“BOARD OF BUILDING APPEALS,” B.R.C. 1981; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS 

 
M. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING FLOODPLAIN 
REGULATIONS IN ORDER TO CLARIFY EXISTING REGULATIONS AND TO PROTECT 
CRITICAL FACILITIES AND LODGING FACILITIES IN THE 100- AND 500-YEAR 
FLOODPLAINS, INCLUDING CHAPTER 9-3 “OVERLAY DISTRICTS,” SUBSECTION 9-
6-1(D) “USE TABLE,” AND SECTION 9-16-1 “DEFINITIONS: B.R.C. 1981 

 
N. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO AUTHORIZE THE DISPOSAL OF 

APPROXIMATELY 0.798 ACRES OF OPEN SPACE AND MOUNTAIN PARKS LAND 
DESCRIBED AS A PERMANENT EASEMENT TO PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page     18



 
 

COLORADO AND CENTURYLINK TO PLACE POWER POLES ON THE EAST RUDD 
PROPERTY FOR THE PURPOSE OF FACILITATING THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE 
PLANNED COMMUNITY DITCH TRAIL UNDERPASS AT STATE HIGHWAY 93. THIS 
IS A DISPOSAL OF OPEN SPACE LAND UNDER CITY CHARTER SECTION 177 

 
O. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO RESCHEDULE THE BUSINESS MEETING ON 

NOVEMBER 5, 2013 TO NOVEMBER 12, 2013 
 

City Attorney Carr reminded Council that the rules of procedure dictate specific dates 
for business required immediately following an election. He also noted that Council 
could choose to suspend their rules to allow for the change being requested. 
 
Council Member Ageton expressed concern that not all of Council would be available 
for a Thursday meeting.  
 
Council Member Cowles commented that he would not support the motion. His 
understanding was that Council’s meeting day was Tuesday. 
 
Council Member Plass agreed, he also noted that Council would be suspending rules 
they had yet to utilize. 
 
Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Cowles, to approve 
Consent Agenda Items 3A, B, C, 3D as amended on the errata sheet from the City 
Attorney’s Office (buff), 3E, F-1, G, H, I, J, K,L, M, N, and O. 
 
Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Cowles, to amend 3E, 
Ordinance No. 7916 by emergency to amend the sales tax amount to 3.5% in 2014. 
The motion carried: 9:0 at 6:08PM. 
Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Becker to amend Item 
3O to change the November 5 meeting to November 7. The motion failed 1:8 with 
Council Member Morzel in favor. The vote took place at 6:30 PM. 
 
Vote was then taken on the main motion to approve the Consent Agenda Items 3A, B, 
C, 3D as amended on the errata sheet from the City Attorney’s Office (buff), 3E as 
amended by motion, F-1 as amended  by the errata sheet, G, H, I - corrected by the 
errata sheets, 3J, K, L, M, N, and O. The motion carried,  
9:0 with Council Members Ageton, Karakehian and Wilson opposed to items 3G and 
3H. Vote was taken at 6:32PM. 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL- UP CHECK IN  
 

No interest was expressed in call-up items. 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS   
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page     19



 
 

A. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT EMERGENCY 
ORDINANCE NO. 7922 EXTENDING A 0.15 SALES AND USE TAX, WHICH IS 
CURRENTLY DEDICATED TO OPEN SPACE AND EXPIRES DECEMBER 31, 2019, TO 
REMOVE THE EXPIRATION DATE AND DEDICATE THE FUNDS TO 
TRANSPORTATION UNTIL DECEMBER 31, 2029 AND THEREAFTER DEDICATING 
THE FUNDS TO GENERAL IMPROVEMENT NEEDS AS INTRODUCED AND PASSED ON 
FIRST READING AT THE AUGUST 5, 2013 COUNCIL MEETING AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS 

 
City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 6:37 PM: 
 

1. Jessica Yates – Spoke as the chair for the Transportation Advisory Board 
(TAB) in support of placing the proposed tax on the ballot. 

 
2. Zane Selvans – Spoke as a member of TAB in favor of the proposed tax being 

dedicated to transportation needs. 
 
3. Sue Prant – Spoke on behalf of Community Cycles in favor of the proposed tax. 
 

There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed at 6:43 PM. 
 
Council Member Becker moved, seconded by Council Member Ageton to adopt 
Emergency Ordinance No. 7922 as presnted on the green handout from the City 
Attorney’s Office. The motion carried, 9:0 at 6:52 PM. 

 
B. THIRD READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 

7920, SETTING THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUBMITTING TO THE VOTERS AT THE 
NOVEMBER 5, 2013 ELECTION THE QUESTION OF SETTING A DEBT LIMIT FOR 
ACQUISITION OF ELECTRIC UTILITY ASSETS; AMENDING THE CITY CHARTER TO 
ALLOW UTILITY RELATED QUESTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED AT ANY ELECTION; 
ALLOWING OUT-OF-CITY SERVICE AND NON-RESIDENT CUSTOMERS TO BE 
REPRESENTED ON THE UTILITY ADVISORY BOARD; ADDING UTILITY SERVICES 
STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR THE ELECTRIC UTILITY BOARD RELATED 
TO RATES AND RATE MAKING; SETTING STANDARDS AGAINST DISCRIMINATION 
AND THE GRANTING OF PRIVILEGES AND ADVANTAGES; ADDING NEW SECTIONS 
OF THE CITY CHARTER RELATED TO ACQUISITION DEBT LIMITS AND CUSTOMER 
CHOICE FOR OUT OF CITY UTILITY CUSTOMERS; AND SUPERSEDING ANY 
INITIATED BALLOT MEASURE TO THE CONTRARY, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS 

 
City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item and recommended that Council not 
offer an alternative ballot question to that proposed by the citizen initiative. 
 
Senior Assistant City Attorney Kathy Haddock gave a brief explanation of the various 
options before Council on the multi-colored handouts. 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page     20



 
 

The public hearing was opened at 7:12 PM: 
 

1. Angelique Espinoza – Spoke on behalf of the Chamber in favor of giving voters 
the chance to answer whether or not the city should have a limitation on debt. 
She agreed with City Attorney Carr that the language had not been fully vetted 
and should not move forward. 

 
2. Chris Hoffman – Spoke against any measure that would halt efforts related to 

municipalization. He commented that the people had previously voted to move 
forward. 

 
3. Micah Parkin – Agreed with the previous speaker, the people had already 

approved efforts to move forward with municipalization. 
 

There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed at 7:16 PM. 
 
Council Member Cowles commented that when he received the call from the city’s 
attorneys to discuss the various proposals, it gave him pause. He noted that he would 
prefer not to attach a number to acquisition and stranded costs if a question were put 
on the ballot. He would support the version capping those costs at two hundred 
fourteen million as a complete payment. 
 
Council Member Morzel stated that she would like to set an upper limit for spending 
on acquisition and stranded costs. She stated that she wanted a competing ballot 
question. 
 
Council Member Plass expressed concern that by setting a limit on acquisition and 
stranded costs the city may be set up to pay more than they should have to for the 
infrastructure.  
 
Council Member Jones agreed that a cap on the cost for acquisition and stranded costs 
was risky, she noted that voters deserved to have a say in the decision of whether or 
not to continue with municipalization in relation to cost.  
 
Council Member Wilson agreed that people wanted to see a number, but he wasn’t 
sure that it was the right time to give a solid number that may prevent 
municipalization from moving forward. He would rather not add a competing 
question on the ballot with the initiative. He also commented that the language in the 
ordinance that would allow out of city residents to choose their provider may drive the 
city into the competitive market and municipalities in Colorado were not able to do 
such a thing. 
 
Council Member Becker agreed with Council Member Plass that the ballot question 
may cause unnecessary restrictions to be put in place. 
 
Council Member Ageton reminded her colleagues that they would not be having a 
discussion if the initiative had not made it on the ballot and she was concerned that 
staff had not had time to put a number together in response to the initiative. She stated 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 7Packet Page     21



 
 

that she was hearing from the community that they wanted to have a say in how much 
the city would spend to achieve municipalization and then vote on whether to 
continue. She did not want to move forward with any option that was not supported 
by the city’s financial advisors. 
 
City Attorney Carr pointed out that the city may have up to sixty days after a ruling in 
court to pay the amount due. Given those restrictions, there would not be time for a 
vote of the people on the amount of the judgment. 
 
Council Member Ageton stated she would support a motion to not put a competing 
measure on the ballot. 
 
Council Member Wilson suggested waiting until 2014 when more information was 
available before putting a number out to the public and asking them to vote on it. 
 
Council member Karakehian noted that he was not comfortable with the risks listed in 
the memo. He also commented that there would likely be another vote in the future 
related to municipalization. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum expressed a preference for not returning in 2014 with yet another 
ballot question. 
 
Council Member Morzel stated that voter burnout should not be taken lightly when so 
much was at stake. She commented that she would rather not delay any vote on a 
competing measure.  
 
Council Member Plass moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to adopt 
Ordinance No. 7920 by emergency with the changes provided on the buff handout 
version that included the acquisition price and stranded cost limits.  
 
Council Member Becker expressed concern that courts rarely side with government in 
condemnation cases. 
 
The motion passed 6:3, with Council Members Ageton, Karakehian and Wilson 
opposed. Vote taken at 8:45 PM. 
 

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   
 
A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT A RESOLUTION SETTING THE BALLOT 

ORDER FOR THE NOVEMBER 5, 2013 COORDINATED MUNICIPAL ELECTION 
 
City Attorney Tom Carr presented on this item. 
 
Council Member Plass moved, seconded by Council Member Plass, to adopt 
Resolution No. 1125 setting the ballot order presented as option #2 in the packet for 
the November 5, 2013 coordinated municipal election.  
 
B. UPDATE ON COUNCIL CHAMBERS AUDIOVISUAL UPGRADES 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 8Packet Page     22



 
 

 
City Manager Jane Brautigam presented on this item. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum expressed a desire to have monitors at the dais that would provide 
Council with a larger display than the iPads allowed. 
 
Council discussed the possibility of having monitors that could be set up and taken 
down based on the preferences of Council and Boards. 
 
Council Member Karakehian noted that the City Clerk’s screens were a constant 
problem for council members on her side of the dais. The screens blocked the ability 
of council members to see the audience. 
 
Council Member Jones expressed concerns about City Clerk staff both being up at the 
dais and how it would work when speakers needed assistance with presentations or 
microphones. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum inquired as to whether the City Attorney needed a printer in 
Council Chambers.  
 
City Attorney Carr responded that he did not. 

 
A majority of Council had a preference for using the library during construction of 
Council Chambers. 

 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY   
  

None 
 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL – 9:38 PM 

 
A. POTENTIAL CALL-UPS 

 
1. VACATION OF UTILITY EASEMENT IN THE HIGH MAR SENIOR HOUSING 

DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION PACKET DATE: AUGUST 20 LAST 
OPPORTUNITY: AUGUST 20 
 

No interest was expressed in calling up this item. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION TO RENAME CANYON PARK TO EMMA MARTINEZ PARK 
INFORMATION PACKET DATE: AUGUST 20 LAST OPPORTUNITY: AUGUST 20 
 

No interest was expressed in calling up this item. 
 

3. SITE REVIEW ON NE CORNER OF KALMIA AVE. AND 28TH ST. INFORMATION 
PACKET DATE: AUGUST 8 LAST OPPORTUNITY: AUGUST 20 
 

No interest was expressed in calling up this item. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 9Packet Page     23



 
 

 
B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION REGARDING 2013 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS, 

AND PERFORMANCE BASED SALARY ADJUSTMENTS FOR THE CITY MANAGER, 
CITY ATTORNEY, AND MUNICIPAL JUDGE 

 
Council Members Morzel and Plass presented on this item. 
 
Council Members expressed appreciation for the work done by their employees and 
all City employees. 
 
City Manager Jane Brautigam and City Attorney Tom Carr both expressed 
appreciation for the work of their employees and thanks for the opportunity to do the 
work they do. 
 
Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Council Member Plass, to approve the 
2013 performance evaluations for the City Manager, City Attorney and Municipal 
Judge giving each a 3% increase in pay.  

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  

 
Public comment was opened at 9:52 PM. There being no speakers, the public hearing 
was closed. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS  
 

Council Member Plass moved, seconded by Council Member Plass, to adopt 
Resolution No. 1125 setting the ballot order presented as option #2 in the packet for 
the November 5, 2013 coordinated municipal election. The motion passed 9:0. Vote 
taken at 9:53 PM. 
 
Council Member Cowles moved, seconded by Council Member Plass, to approve the 
2013 performance evaluations for the City Manager, City Attorney and Municipal 
Judge giving each a 3% increase in pay. The motion passed 9:0. Vote taken at 9:58 
PM. 

 
11. DEBRIEF  

 
Council Member Jones commented that the Council was more proactive regarding 
changes to items in the packet before the meeting. 
 
Council Member Morzel expressed appreciation for the efficiency of the meeting.  
 
Council Member Wilson stated that there were great people running for Council in 
the upcoming election that may not agree with the current Council and he did not 
want their skillsets to be ignored. 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 10Packet Page     24



 
 

There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION 
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on August 20, 
2013 at 10:05 PM. 
 
Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2013. 

 
        APPROVED BY: 
            
ATTEST:      ______________________ 

      Matthew Appelbaum 
________________________   Mayor  
Alisa D. Lewis 
City Clerk 

 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 11Packet Page     25



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 12Packet Page     26



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: Sept 17, 2013 

 
AGENDA TITLE:  Continuation of second reading and consideration of a motion to 
adopt Ordinance No. 7925 amending Chapters 10-2, 10-5, 10-5.5, 10-6, 10-7,10-7.5, 10-
8, 10-9, 10-9.5 and 10-10, B.R.C. 1981, adding a new Chapter 10-8.5; adopting by 
reference, with amendments, the 2012 International Property Maintenance, Building, 
Residential, Energy Conservation, Fire, Wildland-Urban Interface, Mechanical, Fuel Gas 
and Plumbing Codes, and the 2011 Electrical National Code, amending Sections 4-20-47, 
"Zoning Adjustment Filing Fees, and" 2-3-4 "Board of Building Appeals," B.R.C. 1981; 
and setting forth related details. 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney  
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Larry Donner, Fire Chief 
David Lowrey, Chief Fire Marshall 
David Thacker, Building Services Manager/Chief Building Official 
Kirk Moors, Senior Plans Examiner/Assistant Building Official 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
During the second reading and consideration of the proposed 2012 code updates, 
ordinance language changes necessary to facilitate effective implementation of the 
updated codes were identified.  In addition, further information was requested in regard 
to: 

• Clarification of possible impact of single family fire sprinkler systems on utility 
fees;  

• The cost impact of installing and maintaining sprinkler systems; 
• The mapping of the wildland-urban interface zone; and 
• Wildland-urban interface concepts such as defensible space, vegetation 

management and maintenance of defensible space. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page     27



A motion was passed to continue the meeting to ensure that council could review the 
ordinance changes and information requested prior to taking action on the proposed code 
update. 
 
At the second reading on Sept. 3, the following clarifications were provided: 
 

• The ordinance effective date would be Jan. 31, 2014; 
• Home Energy Rating System (HERS) point value change (linear vs. exponential) 

were described; 
• The proposed HERS values will not make renewable energy requirements 

unmanageable; 
• The LEED green point option does not affect the city’s energy efficiency 

requirements.  However, deleting this option will be part of the code update 
project planned for next year; 

• A path to net zero for both commercial and residential construction was 
identified; 

• Recognition that the collaboration between city staff and solar industry 
representatives successfully achieved a recommendation to amend the fire code 
related to solar panel roof coverage; and 

• The energy efficiency levels currently proposed were recognized as being aligned 
with the overall city goals. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff requests City Council consideration of this matter and the following actions: 
 

1. Continuation of the second reading of Ordinance No. 7925; 
 

2. Consideration of a motion to amend the main motion to include the following 
additional amendments to Ordinance No. 7925, as recommended in staff agenda 
memorandum: a modification to the Residential Building Code definition of “new 
dwelling unit” and modifications to Tables 1A and 1B of Section 10-7.5-3, 
“Mandatory Green Building Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981; and 
 

3. Vote on a pending motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7925 amending Chapters 10-2, 
10-5, 10-5.5, 10-6, 10-7,10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 10-9.5, and 10-10, B.R.C. 1981; 
adding a new Chapter 10-8.5, B.R.C. 1981; adopting by reference, with 
amendments, the 2012 International Property Maintenance, Building, Residential, 
Energy Conservation, Fire, Wildland-Urban Interface, Mechanical, Fuel Gas and 
Plumbing Codes, and the 2011 Electrical National Code; amending Sections 4-20-
47, "Zoning Adjustment Filing Fees,” and 2-3-4 "Board of Building Appeals," 
B.R.C. 1981; and setting forth related details; amended as proposed in the errata 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page     28



sheet minus the proposed amendments to the sprinkler system requirement, and 
amended to correct erroneous bold strikethrough language.1 

 
BACKGROUND 
Background information including board and commission, and public feedback can be 
found in the Aug. 20, 2013 first reading memo, and Sept. 03, 2013 second reading memo.  
 
FISCAL IMPACTS  
Staff and consultant costs for the update work have been included into the 2013 budget. 
The staff time needed to implement the updated codes is not expected to be higher than 
current code review requirements. 
 
ANALYSIS 
Detailed analysis of the energy and building code adoption proposal can be found in the 
Aug. 20, 2013 first reading memo.  Analysis for questions addressed at second reading 
can be found in the Sept. 03, 2013 second reading memo. 
 
At the second reading on Sept. 3, 2013, council had several questions regarding the 
adoption of IWUIC and IRC, along with some clarification items from the IECC.  The 
topic-specific discussion items are outlined below. 
 
IWUIC Wildland Code 
Concern was raised about the International Wildland Urban Interface Code (IWUIC) and 
the potential impacts related to defensible space and mature landscaping related to new 
residential structures.  A question was raised about existing trees on an undeveloped lot 
that is proposed to be developed.  In this instance, tree crowns extending to within 10 feet 
of any proposed structure would be required to be pruned to maintain a minimum 
horizontal clearance of 10 feet.  Trees that could not be pruned to meet this requirement 
would need to be removed. 
 
Groundcover is also allowed to be grown within the defensible space as long as it does 
not form a means of transmitting fire from the native growth to any structure. 
 
Detailed maps and a wildland area overview can be found in the Community Protection 
Plan.  
 
IRC Residential Fire Sprinklers 

                                                           
1 Please note that staff slightly edited the language of the pending motion.  The actual language of the motion was: 
“Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7925 amending chapters 10-2, 10-5, 10-5.5, 10-6, 10-7,10-7.5, 10-8, 10-9, 
10-9.5 and 10-10, B.R.C. 1981, adding a new chapter 10-8.5; adopting by reference, with amendments, the 2012 
International Property Maintenance, Building, Residential, Energy Conservation, Fire, Wildland-Urban Interface, 
Mechanical, Fuel Gas and Plumbing Codes, and the 2011 Electrical National Code, Amending Sections 4-20-47, 
"Zoning Adjustment Filing Fees, and" 2-3-4 "Board of Building Appeals," B.R.C. 1981; and setting forth related 
details, including the amendments to Ordinance No. 7925 proposed in the errata sheet minus what Council 
Member Cowles had suggested regarding a residential sprinkler system requirement, and including the corrections 
suggested by Hella with regard to the bold strikethrough language in the ordinance.” 

 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page     29

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/08.20.13_Final_Agenda_Packet_Electronic-1-201308191021.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/09.03.13_Final_Agenda_Packet_Electronic-1-201308291406.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/08.20.13_Final_Agenda_Packet_Electronic-1-201308191021.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/09.03.13_Final_Agenda_Packet_Electronic-1-201308291406.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/2012_COB_Structure_Protection_Plan-1-201309041356.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/2012_COB_Structure_Protection_Plan-1-201309041356.pdf�


Discussion was held concerning the proposal of the fire sprinkler requirement for new 
residential construction. This proposal would only affect new dwellings, not additions or 
renovations to residential dwellings.  Concerns included “tap fees” and “PIFs” and how 
they would affect the overall cost associated with adding the fire sprinkler system. 
 
Residential fire sprinklers were developed in the early-to-mid 1970s as a life safety 
system for homes to suppress fires long enough to allow the occupants to escape and 
allow time for the local fire department to arrive.  From the 1970s to present day, the 
number of home fires has dropped by almost 50 percent; however, the home death rate 
has only decreased by about 15 percent.  
 
Cost 
At second reading, the price of $1.61/square feet was provided as an estimate to equip 
residential homes with fire sprinklers.  This information was based on the national 
average determined by the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) document 
“Home Fire Sprinkler Cost Assessment.”  After the second reading, council requested an 
estimate of the costs to equip residential homes that was more area-specific. Five local 
fire sprinkler contractors were contacted to inquire what the average cost is to install a 
residential fire sprinkler system in a single family residence in Boulder. The pricing was 
based on the following assumptions: 
 

1.  Installation in a new home; 
2. System designed with CPVC piping (plastic pipe, most commonly used in 

residential); 
3. Water supply coming off a city water main; and  
4. No additives in system such as an antifreeze mix. 

 
Local Pricing: 

• Freedom Fire*: $2/sq. ft. 
• Fire Defense*: $2/sq. ft.  

o Specific example of actual pricing: Red Oak neighborhood located at 
Valmont and Folsom: $1.75/sq.ft. to $1.90/sq.ft.) 

• H2O Fire Protection: $1.50 to $1.60/sq. ft. (specializes in residential installation) 
• Western States Fire: $2 to $2.25/sq.ft.  
• Kobobel Fire Protection: $2 to $2.25/sq.ft.  

* In the last year, Freedom Fire and Fire Defense installed 1/3 of the fire sprinklers 
installed in Boulder last.  
 
Home builders and architects have quoted numbers in the $3 to $4 per square foot range.  
Often, this may be based on a difference between the “entire total square footage of a 
home” vs. “finished square footage.”  The fire sprinkler cost is typically based on the 
“entire square footage” including some unfinished areas.  An unfinished basement is 
probably the most typical “unfinished area” in a home that still requires sprinklers to be 
installed [Note: Attics and crawl spaces do not require sprinkler coverage if they’re not 
designed as storage or living space].  For example, a typical two story single-family home 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page     30



with an unfinished basement – difference per “entire square footage” and “finished 
square footage” can be as much as a third.  
 
Fire sprinklers do raise the cost for a new home. For a home between 2,000 and 3,000 
square feet with sprinkler costs between $4,000 and $6,000, the monthly mortgage 
payments would increase by about $5 per month (based on numerous variables i.e. 
interest rate, tax deductions and insurance discounts).  
 
The costs associated with connecting a single family residential fire sprinkler system to 
the municipal water system will vary substantially depending on the specific scenario.  In 
some cases, an existing domestic service line may be sufficient to meet both domestic 
and fire demands and result in no additional connection costs.  At the other end of the 
spectrum, construction costs to install a new service line connection between a single 
family dwelling and a water main located in a major street could potentially be in the 
range of $10,000 - $20,000. The proposed regulations allow for several different 
configuration options that are expected to provide some flexibility in allowing the 
selection of the most cost effective system.  
 
 The “Water Plant Investment Fee”, commonly referred to as a PIF, is not applicable to 
fire service lines under existing or proposed regulations.   The PIF for a single family 
residential dwelling is not based on service line or meter size and would not be impacted 
by an increase in size to meet fire sprinkler demands. 
 
While the terms “Plant Investment Fee” and “Tap Fee” are often used interchangeably, 
the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, specifically uses the term ‘tap fee’ to describe the labor 
and materials costs for a city water distribution crew to physically connect a privately 
owned service line to an active public water main.   
 
Estimated costs associated with the three proposed water service line configuration 
options are provided below: 
 
Dedicated Fire Service Line 
A dedicated fire service line is already permitted under existing codes and is the method 
used to connect multi-family and non-residential structures.  City fees for this type of 
connection would include: 

• Permit Fee (Review of Construction Plans)  - $127 
• Inspection Fee - $169 
• Tap Fee (labor and materials for city crew to physically connect line) - $124 to 

$216 to install 1” tap. 
• Right-of-Way Construction Permit Fee/Inspection Fee – based on specific 

infrastructure such as public streets, sidewalks, curbing, etc. to be removed and 
replaced.  Fees typically range from $400 - $1,000, but could be larger for 
significant excavation/restoration in major streets. 

 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page     31



Combination Fire/Domestic Service Line 
A combination fire/domestic service line is also already permitted under existing codes 
and is allowed only for single family residential structures.  A single tap to the city main 
is used and then split into a metered domestic service and unmetered fire service outside 
of the public right-of-way.  This approach allows for disconnection of domestic service 
for non-payment without impacting fire protection while minimizing the number of 
separate taps into city mains.  City fees for this type of connection above and beyond a 
standard domestic connection would include: 

• Tap Fee - $124 to $216 based on a new 1” tap if the existing tap cannot be reused. 
• Combination System Part and Labor (Standard Materials and Labor Provided by 

City) - $381.63 
• Right-of-Way Construction Permit Fee/Inspection Fee – based on specific 

infrastructure such as public streets, sidewalks, curbing, etc. to be removed and 
replaced.  Fees typically range from $400 - $1,000, but could be larger for 
significant excavation/restoration in major streets. 

Fire Sprinkler Integrated into Domestic Plumbing 
The option of a Fire Sprinkler integrated into Domestic Plumbing will be allowed under 
the proposed code changes.    This option is not allowed under the existing codes. No 
additional tap related fees would apply provided the system was designed to work with 
the existing domestic service line.  For a property with no existing service line, there 
could be an incremental cost increase between fees for a new service line and meter 
intended for domestic use and a larger service line designed for combined use.  For 
example, if a ¾” service line and meter was adequate for domestic use, but the fire 
sprinkler system required a 1” diameter, the incremental fee increase would be 
approximately $220. 
 
Adopted Fees 
All fees associated with water service are adopted by City Council and included in the 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981.  Water Plant Investment Fees are adopted under Sec. 4-20-
26.  Water Permit Fees are adopted under Sec. 4-20-23.  Additional information about 
applicability of specific fees is included in Chapter 11-1, “Water Utility,” BRC, 1981.  
The existing fee schedule is currently applied to both voluntary and required installations 
of fire sprinkler systems. 
 
Fire Sprinkler Installation Fees 
Fire sprinkler installation pricing estimates were obtained from contacting licensed fire 
sprinkler companies that have installed residential fire sprinkler systems within the City 
of Boulder.  Pricing was based on an average sized residential dwelling of approximately 
3000 sq. ft.  Fire sprinkler contractors were asked to provide an estimated cost per square 
foot for installation of a sprinkler system in a Boulder residence where the water was 
supplied from the a city water main.  The cost findings ranged from a low of $1.50 per 
square foot to a high of $2.25 per square foot, with the average local installation price 
being $1.87 per square foot for installation. 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page     32



Maintenance of Residential Fire Sprinklers: 
Inspection, testing and maintenance play a critical role in assuring that a system will 
function and perform properly and residential fire sprinklers are no exception.  As with 
all systems installed within a building, maintenance responsibility falls on the owners.  
Specifically, NFPA 13D 2013 ed., Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems in 
Low-Rise Residential Occupancies, states, “the owner shall be responsible for the 
condition of a sprinkler system and shall keep the system in normal operating condition.”  
Although the standard does list some recommendations they do not provide any 
mandatory requirements. 
 
Public Process 
The City of Boulder held five public meetings concerning the adoption of the 2012 
International Codes.   The dates and locations of the meetings were: 

• Dec. 13, 2012 - Acorn School  
• Jan. 9, 2013 - East Boulder Senior Center  
• Jan. 23, 2013 - West Boulder Senior Center  
• Feb. 5, 2013 - Acorn School  
• Feb. 20, 2013 - East Boulder Senior Center  

 
There were several questions asked about the sprinkler requirements, but the main 
concern seemed to be the effective date of the provision.  In preparing the code updates, 
staff proposed that the effective date be Sept. 1, 2014, for this specific code provision, to 
allow for more time for the implementation of this requirement. 
 
Status of residential sprinklers in Colorado 
Communities who have adopted residential sprinkler requirements: 

• Boulder County (in addition to new construction, they require systems to be 
retrofitted in additions/remodels over 4,800 sq. ft.); 

• Superior; 
• Westminster; 
• Golden; 
• Federal heights; 
• Cherry Hills Village; and 
• Snowmass Village. 

 
Communities who amended codes to only require multifamily to be sprinklered and not 
single family (Boulder already requires all new multifamily to be sprinklered): 

• Morgan County; 
• Greeley; 
• Colorado Springs; 
• Castle Pines; and 
• Grand County. 

 
Communities electing not to adopt residential fire sprinklers: 

• City and County of Denver; 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page     33



• Centennial; 
• Thornton; 
• Lone Tree; 
• Rifle; 
• Glenwood Springs; and 
• Longmont. 

 
Incentives – Green/Environmental aspects of fire sprinklers  
The City of Boulder is evaluating granting “green building/green points” for the 
installation of home fire sprinklers as part of the updates planned for Green Points in 
2014.  Specific point values have not been determined, but will be proposed prior to the 
implementation date of Sept. 1, 2014.  
 
Environmental Considerations include: 

• Water used to extinguish a fire is reduced between 50 and 91 percent; 
• Virtually no water runoff from fire sprinklers enters city storm water system when 

compared with manual firefighting water.  Runoff from a house fire contains a 
large amount of pollutants from normal household materials destroyed in a fire.  

• Sprinklers reduce the amount of burned material that enters a landfill; and 
• Energy and materials necessary to rebuild or repair a structure after a fire are 

reduced.  
 

Myths vs. Facts Concerning Fire Sprinklers 
 

1. Smoke alarms provide enough protection. Although smoke alarms do and will 
continue to provide early notification to the occupants when a fire occurs, they do 
nothing to suppress fire. If the occupant is unable to leave the home (disability, 
elderly, youth, sick), the smoke alarm does not help. The chance of dying in fire 
with working smoke alarms decreases by 50 percent. The chance of dying in a 
fire decreases by 80 percent with a residential fire sprinkler system.  
 

2. New homes are built safer than older homes. Studies conducted by Underwriters 
Laboratories (UL) and the National Research Council of Canada (NRC) have 
shown that new methods of construction negatively impact occupant and 
firefighter safety under fire conditions. The majority of these studies center on the 
performance of “lightweight construction” when exposed to fire. The UL has 
found that the synthetic materials in today’s home furnishings also increase fire 
risk by providing greater fuel loads. Larger homes, increased fuel loads and 
changing building materials contribute to faster fire propagation, shorter escape 
times and less time till structural collapse. Sprinklers offset these dangers.  The 
fact is that once a fire starts, it is irrelevant whether a home is old or new; people 
inside the home are at risk. 
  

3. Home fire sprinklers are expensive and will make the home unaffordable. The 
cost to install home fire sprinklers per square foot is actually less than most 
people realize.  Home fire sprinklers are affordable.  Please refer to cost 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page     34



information provided earlier in this memo. 
 

4. Expensive maintenance is required. Home fire sprinklers are simple systems. 
Homeowners should periodically check to ensure nothing blocks sprinkler heads, 
and the turn-off valve to the system remains open. No regularly scheduled 
maintenance is required by an outside company.  
 

5. Home fire sprinklers leak and accidentally go off. Home fire sprinkler systems are 
much like home plumbing systems – when installed and maintained properly, 
there is a low risk of leaks. Most leaks result from physical damage or freezing 
due to improper installation or lack of heat in a home.  Sprinklers are only 
activated by heat (not smoke) and only the sprinkler closest to the fire will 
activate, leaving the rest of the home dry.  
 

6. Water damage caused by the sprinkler is more extensive than the fire damage. 
Since residential fire sprinklers are so effective, actual fire damage is small. 
Home fire sprinklers significantly reduce property loss and damage due to a fire 
when compared to manual firefighting operations. Once in the open flame stage, 
fires grow very rapidly increasing both fire and water damage as firefighters are 
required to advance hose lines to extinguish the fire. 

 
IRC “New Dwelling” definition 
Concern was raised about the proposed definition for “new dwelling.”  As written, an 
addition to a home increasing the size by 200 percent or greater would require the entire 
structure to be brought up to current code standards.  This would include the existing 
portion of the structure.  As originally proposed this would also affect large and small 
scale homes differently.  Staff has revised the definition as follows: 

 
“NEW DWELLING UNIT.  A dwelling unit is considered to be a new dwelling 
unit when the entire structure is newly built and when the dwelling unit is built on 
top of an existing foundation, such as caissons, footings, and other foundations 
systems, that remains from a demolished structure”  

 
Energy Code Clarification 
Table 1A and Table 1B of BRC 10-7.5-3 have been adjusted to better reflect the proposed 
energy code requirements. (See ATTACHMENT C)  
 
The amendment language for IECC Section C401.1  Scope, was noted as only 
referencing the ASHRAE 90.1 standard and not the 2012 IECC.  Staff was asked to 
review the language to verify if the 2012 IECC should be referenced in that charging 
language.  Since adoption of the 2006 edition of the IECC, the ASHRAE/IESNA 
Standard 90.1 has been the referenced standard under Boulder’s Energy Conservation 
Code.  Boulder’s standard gives options to choose from and ultimately provides greater 
flexibility by allowing for approval of other equivalent design criteria that may include 
the other alternative design criteria established in the IECC.  The ASHRAE/IESNA 
Standard 90.1 is the most commonly and easily used by applicants and the standard that 
is most readily reviewed for compliance by staff.  The current language is consistent with 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 9Packet Page     35



the language previously adopted and staff recommends no changes to this section to 
allow flexibility in alternative designs. 
 
The changes to Ordinance No. 7925 proposed in this memo as well as the corrections 
regarding erroneous bold strikethrough in the ordinance that were proposed by the City 
Attorney’s Office during the Sept. 3, 2013 meeting and are included in Attachment C. 
 
Since the Sept. 3, 2013 meeting, council members have asked additional questions 
regarding Ordinance No. 7925.   
 
Council noted that the Colorado legislature recently raised the maximum fine amount a 
governing body of a municipality may set for enforcement of ordinances from $1000 to 
$2650.  With regard to fines, Title 10, “Structures,” B.R.C. 1981, refers to the general 
penalty provision of Section 5-2-4, “General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981, which currently 
lists $1000 as the maximum fine.  Section 5-2-4, “General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981, is not 
proposed to be amended as part of this ordinance.   In light of the recent raising of the 
maximum fine amount a municipality is allowed to set, the city will comprehensively 
review all fine provisions of the Boulder Revised Code and, in the future, may bring 
forward code changes to update maximum fine amounts. 
 
Council also noted that the Colorado legislature also recently raised the governmental 
immunity damage caps from $150,000 to $350,000 for injuries to one person in any 
single occurrence and from $600,000 to $990,000 for claims involving two or more 
person in a single occurrence.  The Fire Code requires a certificate of insurance “…in an 
amount deemed adequate by the fire code official…” An existing local amendment adds 
that the city manager require a certificate of insurance, including coverage of any liability 
of the city, in an amount of not less than the former governmental immunity damage 
caps.  The listed amounts will be updated as part of a comprehensive Boulder Revised 
Code updated relating to the raises of the governmental immunity damages caps.  In the 
meantime, the new governmental immunity damage caps may be used under the authority 
of the code to establish an adequate amount of coverage. 
 
NEXT STEPS 
Council support for the recommended changes will result in amendments at second 
reading, which will require a third reading.  If codes are adopted, staff will move forward 
with additional public education by offering code update workshops during the third and 
fourth quarters of 2013.  Updates to the Site Review criteria will be scheduled for 
Planning Board consideration during the fourth quarter of 2013.  An update to the city’s 
Green Building, Green Points program is scheduled for the fourth quarter of 2014. 

ATTACHMENTS 
• ATTACHMENT A:  Ordinance No. 7925. 
• ATTACHMENT B:  Errata Sheet from second reading 
• ATTACHMENT C:  Additional Proposed Amendments to Ordinance No. 7925. 

 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 10Packet Page     36



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

��&	'�'�(�'�#�����

�'���&	'�'�(��)('&	'*��+��,(�-��!��.��!��.��!��#�.�
�!�%.��!��.��!��#�.��!� .��!�.��!�#�.��'&��!��!.��#�#�#�� �/�
�&&	'*� �� '(0� �+��,(�� �!� #�/� �&��,	'*� �1�
�(2(�('�(.� 0	,+� �)('&)(',-.� ,+(� �!���
	',(�'�,	�'�������(�,1�)�	',('�'�(.��3	�&	'*.�
�(-	&(',	��.� ('(�*1� ��'-(�4�,	�'.� 2	�(.�
0	�&��'&�3���'� 	',(�2��(.� )(�+�'	���.� 23(��
*�-��'&���3)�	'*���&(-.��'&�,+(� �!���'�,	�'���
(�(�,�	���� ��&(/� �)('&	'*� -(�,	�'-� "��!�"�.�
56�'	'*� �&73-,)(',� 2	�	'*� 2((-.8� �'&� ��$�".�
5����&� �2� �3	�&	'*� ���(��-.8� � �#�#�#� � �/� �'&�
-(,,	'*�2��,+��(��,(&�&(,�	�-#�

�

� �(� 	,� ��&�	'(&� �1� ,+(� �	,1� ��3'�	�� �2� ,+(� �	,1� �2� ��3�&(�.�

������&���

-����
���#���9�������!��.��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�������	
��	�	��������	�����������	����	


���
	�����������	�������		

;�<�,9�����=��
>���?�@������

;�<�(����=��@@������=���A>���:�����@
��9
>�����������������=�B���>����

;�<����>����������9
>��������:����
�������C�������B>�?����������:������D���
�:�����9��
���=�
@��
>?���E���>������B�?��=��
�?�/�

;�<������?�9
>�����������������9��?��������>:B���
@��C�������9
>�����>���������9�����=/�
����

;�<�(@@
�����
�����B?��9��������D���@
��D
?>����=������=��@@������=�����
@������������?�
9
>�����9�D����
D����
�B�����@@����D�#�

;B<����>����������9
>��������:����
���9���B��������B?��9����������:�
�������>B?����
?��=�

BF����D������:��������B=��9�����=�
@��
>?�����>���
��

;�<�,9��G�??��
�>:������?��H�B��G�������>���
��
@��>�9��:����
��������>����������
��
F�������?�:�����9����/�����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 11Packet Page     37



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�,9����
@
>����>B?���9��?�9�������@��=��:������
@��>�9��:����
��.����?>�����B>���
��
?�:������
��

;�<�	������������H�
@��C���:��G���9����D����.�

;�<�	���������@?

����D����=.�

;�<�	������������H�������������=�
@��������
�9���G�?�@���.�

;&<�	������������������D���
�����>�����@
���������
@@�.�����

;(<�	������������H�
@���
>�9�#�

;�<�,9���>��
����
@��9����9�������������@
??
G���

;�<�,
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9.���@��=�����������?�G�?@����
@��9������������
@��9�����=�B=�
���>?�������C�����������������?������?��������D���?=�
��>���������������?����>��>���������
�
��
:
����
����D���
�������9���@@�������>���
@������=/�

;�<�,
�����B?��9�:���:>:������=��@@������=���A>���:�����@
���C������������?��������D���?=�

��>�����9
>���������9�����=�
@��
>?����G��9��9���
�?�
@����>����������9
>�������
�:����
��/�����

;$<�,
����������9��>��A>�������������9�??���������
�������G��9������=�����
@��������C�������
�����?��������D���?=�
��>�����9
>����#�

;�<�,9�����=��
>���?�9���B=���
�����9���!!��!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?���
����=�
)������������
�������9����
����=�)������������
���
@��9�����=�
@��
>?���#�,9����9������
����B?��9���:���:>:��
���������������?������
����:���������
�/���@�����
��/�������?���A>���:����/�
?��9�.�D����?���
������
��>����=�?�:�����
��/��?>:B����@���?����������@�C�>�����A>���:����/�
:��9�����?������?�������?��=���:�/�@������@��=���A>���:����/������?�?��������������C�������
����������?������?����>��>��������=��
����D���
�#�


���	� !"��!�	!#	�$�	����%����!���	�%!"�%�&	���������'�	�! �	(��$	�! �#�'���!���		

;�<�,9���!!��!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?���
����=�)������������
���;	�)�<�
@��9��
	��������
��?��
����
>���?����9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?������
����=�
)������������
�������9����9����:��@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.�
�C�������������@���??=��:������@
��?
��?����?�����
��B=��9����9�����#�

;B<�	�)���������C��9��������.�I�
�������-�������.I������.�I�����?�+
>�����	�������
��.I�����
��
����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 12Packet Page     38



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�2
�������
@���@������.��9��@
??
G����������@�����??��9������.������
������������������
@��9��
�>B?��9���������
�����	�)���������?>���������@����:���:�����@
��?
��?����?�����
�#��9�����.�
-����
�.�->B�����
��
���������C��>:B����
@���
D���
����
���:������������.�@
??
G���B=��9��
G
���.�I'
��9�����#I�,9���:��������C��
@������@���??=��:��������
D���
�����������B�?
G#�
�9�����.�-����
�.�->B�����
��
���������C��>:B����
@���=���
D���
����
����
�����������.�
@
??
G���B=��9��G
��.�I&�?����#I�

�������	
	
)����	���	������)��������

����	
	*	)����	���	������)��������

)������	
�
	
+�������


�
�
	�������,9�������>?���
����9�??�B��H�
G������9����
����=�)������������
���
@�
�9�����=�
@��
>?���.�9������@������@�������
����I�9����
��#I�


�
�	)'!"���,9����
����9�??����?=��
��??��C�����������������?�����>��>���������??��C�������
����������?����:����������
�����>���:���:>:���A>���:�������������������@
�����:����.�
���>��>���.��A>��:��������@���?������@
��?��9�.�D����?���
�.������.�9������.���������
�.�
�����=��
����D���
�.���
�����
��@�
:��9���?�:����.�?�@����@��=.���@��=�@�
:�@��������

�9���9�J����.�����@
����@�������������=�:����������/��9����
����?�
������@�����9��
����
���B�?��=�
@��9��
G����.�
�����
�������
��>��������?������
��
����
:�?�����/��9��

��>����=�
@��C����������>��>�����������:����.�������
D�����@
����:���������
�.�
?��������.���@
���:������������?����#�


�
��
	�""��'���!�	!#	������	��'�����	�! ���(C�����������������?����>��>����
>��?�J�����������?���
��������G�??��?�
�B���>BF�����
��9����A>���:�����
@��9�������!�
$.�I�����?���������.I��#�#�#�� �#�


�
�,	��������,9����
����9�??�B���
����>����
����>��������C��������������.�G9��9�����
�
���>����>B?���9��?�9.���@��=�����G�?@�������
@�������9�=������@@������B=��9���
����>���

��>����=�����:�����������
@����>��>�����������:����#�(C����������
D�����B�?
G.�
�C����������>��>�����������:������9����
��
���
:�?=�G��9��9������
D���
����9�??�B��
�?������
������������
���
D������:���:>:�?�D�?�
@�9��?�9�������@��=������A>�����9�����#�
(C����������>��>�����������:������9����
:�?=�G��9��??����?���B?���
�������@
��������9��
��:��
@��
����>���
��G�??�B�����:����
��
:�?=�G��9��9����
����C�����G9�����9���
���

@@����?������:������9�����D����
���@�
:��9����
����
�������������
��9��9��?�9.���@��=�
��
G�?@����
@��9���>B?���
��
��>�����.��������>������
�����@
���9��
G�����
��
�������9
���
�����@����
�����
���
���?������
��#�


�
�-	)���%�.����&��'
��9�����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 13Packet Page     39



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

)������	
�	
�������/������


��
	+���%����'
��9�����#�


��	���������'���(A>��:���.��=���:�.���D�����������@��>�������A>�����B=��9���
�
����9�??�B��:����������������
�������G��9��9���
�������@@����G9����9�����>��>���
��
���:�����G���?���??=��
����>����.��?������
����������������9�??�B��:��������������

��
G
�H����
����#�


��,	�""��'���!�	!#	��$�%	�! �����������.�������
���
���?������
����
������>��>��.�
��������
���
���9������
@�
��>����=.��9�??�B���
���������
�������G��9��9����
���>����
������
D���
���
@��9�����=�
@��
>?�����>�?������
��.����=�
@��
>?��������������?�
�
��.����=�
@��
>?����2>�?�*����
��.����=�
@��
>?����)��9�����?��
��.����=�
@�
�
>?�����?>:B�����
��.����=�
@��
>?����2�������D����
���
��.����=�
@��
>?����
(����=��
����D���
������	��>?���
���
����������=�
@��
>?����(?�������?��
��#�


��-	*	
��
��'
��9�����#�

����		*	������)�������	���	��0���������

�	�	��

)������	
�1	
2��������)�


�1�
	2�!����!���	

;�< *�����?���
D���
����
;�< '
�����
���9�??������.��
����>��.���?����.��?���.��C����.�������.�:
D�.���:
D�.�
�:��
D�.��
�D���.���:
?��9.��A>��.�>��.�
��>�=.�
��:����������=�B>�?�����
��
���>��>�������9�����=.�
����>���
�����:����9����:���
�B���
��.��C���������
�@
�:��=�
G��9��??�
@��9����
D���
���
@��9����
�����������
�@
�:��=�G��9��9�����:������
�
�����
���
@�����
D�?����>���>������9����
��.�
��
@���=��������D��
@��9���
���

@@����?#��'
�����
���9�??�D�
?��������
D���
��
@��9����
��.�
��@��?��
��
:�?=�
�9���G��9.�
��G��9���=�
@��9����A>���:������9���
@#��'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�
G��9���=�
��������>���B=��9���
���
@@����?�>������9����
��#�

;�< 	�����
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@������
��������.�5��
���>��
��
@�)>?���?��
�
>����@
��-�:�����.8��#�#�#�� �.����9���=��>�����G9��9��??���?��
����>���
�.�
�?������
�.�:����������.�
��>����=.�
��>����
����>��.��
�����>���������������
@@�����
��:����B?���9�
>�9��9����@
���:������
D���
���
@��9����
��#�
;$< ,9��
G���.�������.�����
��>�����
@������>��>���
��?���������9���������
@����9�
@�
�9�:�����F
���?=�������D���??=�?��B?��@
����=�D�
?���
��
@��9����
���G��9����������
�
�>�9����>��>���
��?���#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 14Packet Page     40



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;"< ,9����:������@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
@���=����:��.�
�����@�����.�
��
�9�������
D�?����>���>������9����
���
��
�9������=�
@��
>?�����
��.�

��
@���=��������D��
@��9���
���
@@����?.�:�=�B���>��>�������?=�
������
:B�����
�#��

;�< 	@���=�����
��@��?��
����@>�����
���=�G9����>����=��9������:�
����>������9���
�����
�.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=.����������
���
���H����
�9����
??����
����:�����.�
�����@=��>������>�������9�������
��9���
>?�����
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�����
��
D�����B=������
��������.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����
������:������
��
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;%< 	@����
�����>����������
���!������
���
:�?����G��9.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=�
������>�����=�����
���������
�����������?�G�
������A>��=��
���������.��
������
���B����
�>�9�D�
?���
�.�
���
���A>�����9����:
D�?�
�����:�����
��
@��9��>�?�G@>?�
��>����=�

@��9�����>��>������D�
?���
��
@��9����
D���
���
@��9����
���
���9��
�����
���������
��
:�����>��>�����9����
#��,9���
���
@@����?�:�=��9������9���
���
@���=�����
����H���
�
��
��������D�
?���
�.��?>��>���
�@�@�������������
@��>�9��
��.�@
����:���������
���
�
�9����
����=�
G���#��	@���=���
����=�
G����@��?��
����@>�����
���=�G9����>����=�
�9������:�
����>������9��������
�.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=.����������
���
���H����

�9����
??����
����:�����.������@=��>����=�>�������9�����.����?>�������������.��
��9��
�
>?�����
>��=�,����>���.��
�B��?�D�������������9������
�K����
����=�@
���
??����
��
B=��9���
>��=�����9����:��:�����������?��A>����������?���C���>�
���>�9���
����=�
�����
??�����.�>������9����
���>����������B���B=������
��������.�5���=�)�������
)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����������:������
��
>��=�,����>����@
��
�
??����
�.5��#�#�#�� �#�

;B< ��:���������D����
���>����������:�������
;�<�	@��9���
���
@@����?�@������9�����D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
@���=�
����
D�?���������>������9����
����C����.��9��:������.��@�����
������������

��
��>���=�@
��9�������>������9����
���>�����������B���B=��9��������$.�IL>����
7>�����?�+�������.I��#�#�#�� �.�:�=���H����=�
���
��:
���
@��9��@
??
G����
����
����
���:��=��9��D�
?���
���

;�<�	:�
�������D�?�����?�=����
�������
��9��@
??
G������9��>?���

;�<�2
���9��@�����D�
?���
��
@��9����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M�!!/�

;��<�2
���9�����
���D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M$!!/�����

;���<�2
���9���9����D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M�.!!!/�

;�<�2
����D�
?���
���
����������9��>���
@�������������?�B>�?�����>������������?��
?������.���D
H���>�9�?������/�

;�<���A>�����9��@�?����
@������?�����
��
@�>��������
D���������>B�����
��;�</�
��

;&<�	��>�����
���������
��B?=���?�>?������
����>����
:�?������G��9��9��
��
D���
���
@��9����
���
����=�����
D�?���������>������9����
��#�

;�<����
���
��9��9������.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=����>�����
������9����
�����
���9�??�
���@
�:���=�G
�H�
����=����>��>���
��?���.��C������
��
��������=�D�
?���
��@
>���
B=��9���
���
@@����?��
��C����G��9����������
��>�9����>��>���
��?���#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 15Packet Page     41



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;$<�	@��
����������D����
��9���
���
@@����?����?�����@
��=����9��9
>���B�@
����9����:��
�������������@
��9�����9���
�����
@�9�������
����=�D�
?���
���9����9��D�
?���
��9���
B�����
�������.��9���
���
@@����?�G�??������������9�����>��>���
��?���#�	@��9���
���

@@����?�@������9����9��D�
?���
��9���B�����
�������.��9��:�������:�=������?��9��
9������#�

;"<�'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9���=�����
����H���B=��9���
���
@@����?�>�����
�9��������
�#�

;�<����:���?�����?����#�4�
?���
���
@��9����
��������>���9�B?�������
D��������-����
����
��".�I*�����?�����?����.I��#�#�#�� �#�
;�<���9�����:�����#�,9�����=����
���=�:�=�:���������������
��@
����:����.�
���?����
�=���?��@.������@������@
�:����.���F>����
�.�
����=�
�9�������
���������?��@����
�9��&���������
>����������@
���9���
>��=�
@��
>?����@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��

@��9����
���
����=�����
D�?���������>������9����
��#�
;�<�&��?�����
��
@�3��#�	@��9���
���
@@����?������:������9���������
�����>����������>��>���
�����G�=��9���:��9��:��?����������
��B?������
���
�B�?��D���9����>�9�>��������>���B=�
���9��
��
�9��G�����>�9
��J���B=��9������?�.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=���A>�����>�9�����
���
�
�����>�����
��9������?�����
��
@�>����9�����@������9��?�:��������>���
@��9��>��������
�
���
����>�9����?�����
������9��
@@����
@��9���
>?�����
>��=��?��H��������
�������������
�9�����?���
��9��?���#�	��������
���
��??�
�9�����:��������������
����9����9���
���
@@����?�
����>�9
��J����
�>���>������9���
>?������D������
���
��
�9������?���B?��@�����?.�������

��?
��?�?�G���
���@
�����9����
D���
���
@��9����
��.��9���
���
@@����?�����>�9
��J����
�
G��99
?����=�����
D�?��@@��������>�9����>��>���
��?���.����?>����.�G��9
>��?�:�����
�.���
B>�?��������:��.�>�����D��G.��������D��G.��>B��D���
�.�@?

��?������D�?
�:�������:��.�

��G��?�������:��.�>���?��>�9���:������9������
���>B:���������?�����
��
@�>����9�����������
@
�:��������B?���
��9���
���
@@����?#�

�1�
	*	
�1�,�'
��9�����&�?����#�


�1�-	2�!����!�	�������������=�����
��G9
��9�??�D�
?��������
D���
��
@��9����
��.�
��
@��?��
��
:�?=��9���G��9.�
��G��9���=�
@��9����A>���:������9���
@.��9�??�B����
���>����
G��9����9��?�:������
D�����B=�������
��?
��?�?�G�#�(��9���=��9�����D�
?���
���
����>���
�@�����>���
�����9���B�������D����9�??�B�����:��������������
@@����#�4�
?���
���
@��9���
�
��������>���9�B?�������
D�������������
�������$��9�
>�9������.�
@��9���������.�
I(�@
���:���.I��#�#�#�� �#&�?����#�


�1�3	�.���4���	!#	2�!����!���'
��9�����#�

)������	
�5	
������)	���	�����)�


�5�
	�!��'�	�!	��%�!�	���"!���.����'
��9�����#�


�5��(C���������9
�������������G9���������
��$! .�I�3��	-+��'&�*����*(.I�
��
�����
��$!.�I�(-,�(�	)	'�,	�'.I����?����
���@���D�
?���
��
@��9�������!�$.�I�����?�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 16Packet Page     42



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

��������.I��#�#�#�� �.�����??����.�G9���D����9���
���
@@����?������:������9����9�������

��9���B������D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
��.��
������9�??�B����D���
@��>�9�
�����:�����
���
��9������
������
���B?���
��
�������9��D�
?���
�#�,9���
������9�??��

�#�������G�������

�#�	��?>��������������
��
@��9�����?���������>@@�������@
��������@�����
�#�

$#�	��?>����������:����
@��9��D�
?���
��
��D�
?���
�������G9=��9���
��������B�����
���>��#�

"#�	��?>������
������
��
������??
G����������
��B?����:���
�:�H���9��������������
�:��
D�:�������A>������
�B������9���G�??����>����
�����>��>������
��
:�?������G��9�
�9����
D���
���
@��9����
��#�

�#�	�@
�:��9����
����=�
G����
��
�9�������
������
���B?���
��
�������9��D�
?���
��
@�
�9�����9���
������?#�

%#�	��?>����������:����
@��9�����9���>����������
���!%#��;�<;%<��
�@�?����?�������
���
�������G��9������
���!%#$#�


�5�,	���$! 	!#	)�%��'���->�9��
������9�??�B�����:����
�B����
���?=����D����@����
�=�
�9���
@�����

�#�&�?�D���������
��??=�>�
���9������
���B?������
�.�
��B=�?��D�������
�=��9���
@�
����9������
�K��>�>�?��?����
@��B
��.�G��9���=�����
�����9�����=�����
@�����
��
?����
����G9
������:�:B���
@��9������
�K��@�:�?=/�
������9������
�E��>�>�?�G
�H�?���.�
G��9��9������
�E���>���D��
�.���������=.���:���������D�����������.�B

HH�����.�
9>:������
>�����������������D��
��:�������������/�
��B=���?�D���������
�=��
���
����
���>�9
��J���B=����
���:����
��B=�?�G��
������D�����D����
@���
����#�

�#�-����B=������@����
�������������:��?������������
��9��
G��������9��?����H�
G��
��������G��9����>�������������A>�����/�
��

$#�&�?�D����������=�
�9���:����������������B���B=�?�G#�	@��9���
�����������>�����
�9
G�����9����9��?������G����
����?�D����.����
�=��9���
@��9�??�B���
����������
�
�����>
>���?�������
���B
>���9�����>��>����@@������B=��>�9��
����#�-��D����
@��>�9�
�
���������9��@
���
����:������>�
���9��
G���E��������
��>�
���9������
��
����
���B?��@
���9�����>��>����9�??��
�����>������D����
@��
�����>�
���9��
G���#�


�5�-	*	
�5�3�'
��9�����#�


�5�3	����������	����?�����@
���
��
:�?������G��9�
�����������
�������9�??�B���������
@
��9���������
���!%#�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 17Packet Page     43



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���


�5�1�&�?����#�

�	�	��

)������	


	
����)	�0	������	




�
��""��'���!�	!#	�""�����

;�< ��=������?�>������9��������
���9�??�B��9�����B=��9���
����
@��>�?����������?��
����B?��9���>����������
����$�".�5�
����
@��>�?����������?�.8��#�#�#�� �.�>�?�����9��
���=�:������������:����.��>���
��9�����>���
@��9�����>��������������>?��������?.��
�
���
������9�������
@@����>����������
����$��.�5+������������&����:�����
��.8��#�#�#�
� �#�

;B<���=�����
��������?=��@@������B=���������
��
@��9���
���
@@����?�
��B=����
��������>���
>������9����
���:�=������?��9��������
��
��
�����
���9����
>����9����

;�< ,9��������
��
��
�����G���B�����
��������
��
@�@����
��
��������
��
>��
������������
��
@��9����
���
���9���>?���?���??=���
������9���>����/�

;�< ,9���
���
@@����?�9������
��
>�?=�@��?����
�����
D������?�������D��:������?�
��
:��9
���>��>�����
�-����
���!�#�����
���
����������??���
��
��>��#��	�������:������
�>�9���������?��9��B
�����9�??����?=��9������������
@�-����
���!�#�.�B>���9��B
����
�9�??�9�D���
�F>��������
���
��
��������@���:������?�
��:��9
���C�����?=���
9�B�����
B=��9����
����������������B?���?�������D�/�
��

;$< ,9���
���
@@����?�9������
��
>�?=�@��?����
���������:
��@�����
���>��>�����
�
-����
����!�#�����
���
����������??���
�#��	�������:�������>�9���������?��9��B
����
��
9�������
@@������9�??����?=��9������������
@�-����
���!�#�#��

,9���
���
@@����?�9����9��B>�����
@���

@�>�������������9��#��,9��
����??����9����9��B>�����
@���

@�
�������?��B�
>�9���>��>�����
���������9���#�
����$#��,9��B
����
��9�������
@@������9�??������:�����9�������?������������
G9��9����9���
���
@@����?K��������������
��
�����?�����
��
@��>�9��
���G����
������

��������
�������9�������>������9����
���>����������B�������9��������$.�5L>����
7>�����?�+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�������?�����
��@
�������?�:>���B��@�?������G�������G��9��9�����=�:�������G��9���
@
>��������=���@�����9��������9��������
��
��
�����G������D��#�

;�<�������?������@
����������?��9�??���=��9��@����������B���B=�-����
��"��!�"�.�
56
�������F>��:���������>�?����������?��2�?����2���.8��#�#�#�� �#��,9��@���@
�����
�����?�9�����B=���9�������
@@������9�??�B���9����:������9��@���@
����������?�9�����B=�
�9���
����
@��>�?����������?�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 18Packet Page     44



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�,9�����=�:�������:�=����?=��
��9���
����
@��>�?����������?�.�G��9
>��@��.�@
�����
��D��
�=�
����
���
����������?�������D��:��9
��.����?���B�?��=�
@������@���
��A>���:����.�����
D�?�
@��A>��:��������:������?�.��������������
@�������?����:����
��
����
���:�?��������-����
����!�#��
���!�#��
@��9����
����=�)������������
��#�

;@<�,9��B
����
��9�������
@@�����9�������9����>�9
���=��
������������9��������;�9��
��:���������D����A>���:����<�
@��9����
��.��C���������C�����?=���
D���������9��������
�.�
�
�.�B���>����9����
��������:���:>:����������.��
�G��D����=���A>���:����
@��9����
��#	

	
��=�����
��������?=��@@������B=���������
��
@��9���
���
@@����?�
�����
���������
�����
���>���>������9����
����9�??�9�D���9�����9��
@������?��
��9��B
����
@������?�.���
D�����
>������9����
���>�����������B���B=��9��������$.�IL>����7>�����?�+�������.I��#�#�#�
� �.��@���G����������?�����
��@
�������?����@�?���G��9��9���
���
@@����?�G��9���������=��
�@�����9����=��9��������
�.��
�����
��
�����G������D��#�������?�����
��@
�������?��9�??�
B��B�����
�����?��:��9����9����>���������
@��9����
���
���9���>?���?���??=���
�����
�9���>�����9�D��B�������
�����?=������������.��9����
D���
���
@��9����
����
��
��@>??=�
���?=.�
���9����A>���:�����
@��9����
����������A>���?=������@����B=�
�9���:����#�




�	��4.�%�$�"	!#	/!�% �	,9��B
����
@������?���9�??��
������
@��9���
����
@�
�>�?����������?�.�����B?��9���>����������
����$�".�I�
����
@��>�?����������?�.I�
�#�#�#�� �.�>�?�����9�����=�:������������:����.��>���
��9�����>���
@��9�����>��������
������>?��������?.��
����
������9�������
@@�����>����������
����$��.�I+������������
&����:�����
��.I��#�#�#�� �#&�?����#�




��
	����%����	��4.�%���&�?����#�



��	�$��%4����&�?����#�



��,	���67���#�'���!�	!#	��4.�%��&�?����#�



��-	)�'%���%&��&�?����#�



��3	�!4"������!�	!#	��4.�%���&�?����#�




�,	�!��'�	!#	���������&�?����#�




�-	�"��	���%�����&�?����#�




�-�
	�%!'� 7%���&�?����#�




�3	�!��"!�� 	���%�����&�?����#�




�1	/!�% 	��'���!���&�?����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 19Packet Page     45



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���




�1�
	��'!% �	�� 	�!"�����&�?����#�




�1�	� 4�����%���!���&�?����#�




�5	�!7%�	�����(��&�?����#�




�8	)��&�	!#	��#!%'�4�����&�?����#�




�9	0�����,9��@���@
��@�?������������?�����9����������B�����������
��"��!�"�.�I6
�����
��F>��:���������>�?����������?��2�?����2���.I��#�#�#�� �#�&�?����#�

)������	

	
)���	:��;	������



�
	*	

�,�'
��9�����#�



�-	0���7%�	�!	�!4"�&����=�����
��G9
��9�??��
����>����=�G
�H��@����9�D����B����
���D���G��9�����
��G
�H�
����.��C������>�9�G
�H�����9�������
���������������
����@
�:�
�
���:
D����D�
?���
��
��>���@���
�����
�.��9�??�B���>BF�����
��9������?�������������?���
��������
���!%#�.�I4�
?���
�������?����#I���������?�����������
���!%#"#�

�	�	��

�������	,	
+������	��<=�������)�

�	�	��

)������	1�3	
����������	�<=�������

1�3�
	*	1�3��'
��9�����#�

1�3��
	�!���%!7� ���	�&"�	���'�%�'��	%�'�"��'���	>�(!�"%!��	%�'�"��'���?��09����
�����9:�����
�����A>��:������
>�������
��>��
��;�G
�G��������>���<��
����
���C�������
�9����������?�����?
�>��.��9�������??���
���9�??��
:�?=�G��9��.���
��$�B�?
G#�

�#����G
���
�����������?���9�??�B�����:�������
�B�����?�����G��9���
�9����G
���
���
��������?�#�

�#����G
���
�����������?��:�=�B�����?�����G��9�����
>���@�>?������>���������>�����
�=���;*2�	<��9������
�����������?�#�,9������������?����9�??�B��:��H���I'
�
(A>��:����*�
>��#I�����A>��:������
>�������
��>��
���9�??��
��B���
��������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 20Packet Page     46



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

@�
:��9��*2�	��=�����������?���
���=�
>�?����>��?����@�
:��9��*2�	��=���
��������?�#�

$#����G
���
�����������?��:�=�B�����?�����G��9����9������
��.���
>�������=���
��������?��G9�����>��?�����9�
>�9���*2�	���D���#�,9������
��.���
>�������=���
��������?��.��>��?�����9�
>�9��9��*2�	��9�??�B��:��H���I*2�	���
������I�����I'
�
(A>��:����*�
>��#I�����A>��:������
>�������
��>��
���9�??��
��B���
��������
B��G�����9����
>�������=�����������?��#�

1�3�,	�74����%����&�?����#�

1�3�-�	:�%�����'
��9�����#�

1�3�-1�3�3	/%��'$	��%'7���	��	/7�� ����	(��$	�!%�	�$��	���	�''7"��'&��(��9�

��>������9�??�9�D������=���������
��??�����>���B���H������
���������9���
��>��
���
�>��?=�����9���
��>����=#�

1�3�31�3�1	0��@�.��	�!% 	=���	�!�	��%4���� ��2?�C�B?���
����������B?����9�??��
��B��
>�����

�#�������>B����>���@
���9��@�C���G������
@��9�����>��>��#�

�#�09�����>���9�
>�9�9
?������G�??�.����>��>��?����?����.��>�����������?����.�
��
��������?�����
��@?

��#�

$#�09�����>���9�
>�9��

�G�=�.�G���
G��
����:�?���
�������#�

A�

�������	5	
0���	)�0���	��<=�������)�

)������)	5�
	*	5�,	
'
��9�����#�

)������	5�-	
0���	����������	)�)���)�

5�-�
	*	5�-�-�'
��9�����#�

5�-�3	���� ������	������	)4!B�	���%4���	����
��>���������
D������B=��9�������!�
$.�I�����?���������.I��#�#�#�� �.��:
H���?��:���9�??�B�������??��������������������
��A>���������9��������
�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 21Packet Page     47



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

5�-�1	)4!B�	���%4	���"�'��!����-:
H���?��:���������
����9�??�B���
��>�����B=��9��
��
����=�
G����
����������������?���B�?
G#�

�#�-:
H���?��:���9��������D���9�������:��=��
G���@�
:��9��B>�?�����G�������9�??�B��
�9��H���@
���

��
����������
�����
��
�������9�=���������@��>��?����G��9�B�����=�
B��H>�.��9��B�����=��9�??�B�����?����������������=�@
����
����@>����
��
@��9���:
H��
�?��:#�

�#�������=��
G������:
H���?��:���9�??�B���������@
����
����@>����
��
��������>�?�
B����#������������9�??�B�����?����������������=�@
����
����@>����
��
@��9���:
H��
�?��:#�

5�-�5	0�%�	���%4���2�����?��:������C�����������������?����>��>�����9�??�B�������??������
���
�������G��9��9�������!� .������
��!�#$.�I2�������D����
���
��.I��#�#�#�� �#�

)������	5�3	
�����/��	0���	�C���+=�)���)�

5�3�
	:$�%�	��67�%� ���
���B?��@�����C����>��9�����9�??�B�������??��������A>�����B=�
�9�����=�
@��
>?����2�����
���-����
��!%#�

5�3�
�
�	����G������C����������.�����������"�
��>�������.��
���B?��@����
�C����>��9���������
�?=�B�������??���G9���������
���
����
��������
::
��������
�C����������
�������G��9������
��!%#��������B?��!%#$;�<�@
��?��9��;?
G<�9�J����

��>�����������������
���!%#$��9�
>�9�!%##�

�������C	�	
/������+	)��������

�
�
	*	�
�,�'
��9�����#�

�������C	/	
������	��=)��+	��)�������	���	�����)��+�

/
�
	)'!"����������C������������������@
����:������������9�������?�9
>�����
:����������.���������
������?�����������
����#�

/
�	������	��'�����������������?������?�?���������������?����@
����������G������
���
�������G��9��9�������!�$.�I�����?���������.I��#�#�#�� �#�

/
�,	���"�'��!����I����?���I�����I����G�?���������
��I��9�??�B�����@
�:�������
�����@����B=�?���������
������
�����������?�������9������"�".�I�>�?������
������
��
�������.I��#�#�#�� �#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 22Packet Page     48



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�������C	�		
����+�	�00�������	��<=��������

�C�)���+	��)��������	������	)��=��=��)	����+�	���)��2������

�
�
�

)�����

�
�
�
	)'!"����������C������������������@
������������?������?��G�??����>���������=�
�@@������=#�(@@����D��7��>��=��.��!�.��9�������=��@@������=���A>���:�����
@��9���
�����
���9�??����?=��
��??�����������?������?��G�??����>�����?�����������
�������
��#�#�#�
� �.��!�$��.������?���������.��C������

�#��>�?�������9�������B��D���@�������:�������
���C���������9�������=��@@������=�
��A>���:�����
@��9��(����=��
����D���
������	��>?���
���
��.��9�������!��.�
�#�#�#�� �#�

�#���=�:��>@���>����9
:�#�

$#�������
�=�&G�??����3��������������9����G����������
�=�3�������������?������
�����
���%�$.�I-����@���3���-�������������������?�3���#I��#�#�#�� �#�

�	�	��

-����
���#���9�������!��.��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�������	
��3	�	/=�����+	����	


��3�
	�����������	�������	

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9�������@��=�B=����>?�������9��
�
����>���
�.��?������
�.�������.�G���H���.�����:
D����
@����>��>��������9�����=#�,9�����=��
>���?�
9���B=���
�����9���!!%��!��������
��
@��9��International Building Code������9����������
��
@�
�9��Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings�G��9����������:���:���������
��?���
����9����
�@
>����
�B������9��B��������������
@��9������������
@��9�����=#�


��3�	� !"��!�	!#	����%����!���	/7�� ���	�! �	(��$	�! �#�'���!���	

;�<�,9���!!%��!��������
��
@��9��International Building Code�
@��9��	��������
��?��
����
>���?�
���9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?�����>�?������
�������9����9����:��@
��������
�@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.��C�������������@���??=��:������B=��9����
D���
���

@��9����9�����#�

;B<�,9���������C��9�������	.�5��,	����4(�-./8�����7.�5*��&	'*./8������.�
5�&)	'	-,��,	4(����4	-	�'-.8����������
����
���������9������������
����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 23Packet Page     49



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�-����
���!�#�.�5,��?�.8���������?������������������
�������

�!�#��,��?�#�,9�������>?���
����9�??�B��H�
G������9���>�?������
���
@��9�����=�
@��
>?����

��B>�?������
��.�9������@������@�������
����5�9����
��#8�09����
�9����
����������@�����������
�9����
����9
����
�����
D���
����9�??��
�����?=�>�?����
�9��G������
�����B=��9�����=�
@�
�
>?���#�09������@����������:������=G9��������9����
����
��9��5&�����:���8�
��
5&�����:����
@��>�?�����-�@��=8�����9�??�9�D���9����:��:�����������9��5&�D���
��
@�
�>�?�����-�@��=#8�

;�<�-����
���!�#".�5��@���������
���.8���������?������������������
�������

�9�������.�5��:���������
�.8�����9����
����9�??��?�
����?=��������D������9�������.�
5��:���������
�.8�����9��@
??
G�����
������
�����B=���@�����������9������?����9������
�!��#�.�	��������
��?�����������?��
��/��9�������!�.�	��������
��?�)��9�����?��
��/�
�9�������!�#�.�	��������
��?�2>�?�*����
��/������9�������!��!.�	��������
��?��?>:B����
�
��.��#�#�#�� �#�09������:���������D����
D���
��������C�����?=���
����.�
����
��������
����?������@
�:.�@
��>�������9
����9������.��9�=��9�??��>����������=��
�@?���������
D���
���
@�
�9����:���������D����
D���
���
@��9����9�����#�

,9��
�9����
����?���������-����
����!�#"#���9�
>�9��!�#"#��%�������@���������?��G9�������
�9����
����9�??�B���
�����������������
@��9����A>���:�����
@��9����
���������?���B?�#�

;�<�-����
���!�#"#�.�5��
����=�)����������.8���������?��#��-����
���!�#%.�5(C����������>��>���.8����
�:������B=�������
��
@��9��@
??
G������

(C����������>��>���������9�����=���:�.��A>��:���.���D����.������??���
���������@��>������9�??�
B��:���������������
����
����������
�����
��������
�������G��9��9��
������?�����������������
��@�������������=��
�����
�#��-��>��>���.��9�����=���:�.��A>��:���.���D����.������??���
�������
��@��>�������A>�����B=��9����
����9�??�B��:��������������
:�?������G��9��9���
�������@@����
G9����9�=�G���������??��#��,9��
G����
���9��
G���K��������������������9�??�B������
���B?��
@
���9��:�����������
@��9�����>��>���.��9�����=���:�.��A>��:���.���D����.������??���
�������
��@��>����#�,
������:�����
:�?������G��9��9�����
D���
�.��9�����=�:��������9�??�9�D��
�>�9
���=��
���A>���������>��>��.��A>��:���.��=���:.���D���.������??���
���
����@��>������
�B��
�����������#�

;@<�-����
���!$.�5&�����:����
@��>�?�����-�@��=.8���������?������������������
�������

-����
���!$�

5&�D���
��
@��>�?�����-�@��=8�:������9����:���������D��>��������B?��9���B=��9�����=�
:�������
���9��:������K����?������.������9������
���?�����������
��9��>����B=��9��:������#�

;�<��!"# .�5���B�?��=.8���������?������������������
�������

���B�?��=�

'
��:�?
=���
@��9�����=�G9
���@
����.�����:�����
���@
���.�
������>�9
��J����
���@
�����9���
�
�����������9�:�
��9����?@�
���9�����=�?��B?���
��9������������@
����=���:����
����F>�=��
��9��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 24Packet Page     50



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

����
��
����
����=�
@��>�9��9��������������������>?��
@��9����@
���:����
���
����@
���:����

@��9����
��#�,9�����=����>:����
��>�=�
@������B=�D���>��
@��9����
���
��
@��9����
��#�'
�
����
�����F>���@���������?=����>�
���9������
D�?�
@����?��.��9�����>?���
@������������
�.�
���9��
���>�����
@��������@������
@���������
��
��
��>����=.������>�9�����
D�?�.���������
��.�����
�����@������������
�����>���������9����9���?���
��G
�H��
�����
D��.����������.�
�������@�������
���@�����
:�?����G��9��??��9����A>���:�����
@��9����
��#�	������9���>�=�
@��9������
��
G����.�
�
���
??���.�
���
����>��������=�B>�?�����
�����>��>����
����>����9����9��G
�H�����
������
���
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9����
��.������������>�9�����
��������
���9�����=�G9
�
��������
���B?��@
����:�������>����B=����?������B����9�
@��>�9��>�=#�

;9<N->B�����
���!"#�!#�.�52?

��9�J���������.8���������?��#�

;9�<�-����
���!�#�.�50
�H��C�:���@�
:����:��.8���������?������������������
�������

�!�#��0
�H�(C�:���@�
:����:��#�(C�:���
���@�
:��9��B>�?��������:�����A>���:�����
@��9���
�
����
��
���������>�9
��J���
��@
����=�G
�H��
�B���
������D�
?���
��
@��9����A>���:�����
@�
�9����
���
����=�
�9���?�G��
��
����������
@��9�����=#��>�?��������:�����9�??��
��B����A>�����
@
���9��@
??
G�����

*�����?��

�#�������
�=������9����
���
�����
����B>�?������������
�=��
�������������?����>��>�������
�
��:
����9��� !��A>����@������������
������@�������9���9�������
��B��������D���B=���=�
�?�������?.�:��9�����?�
���?>:B����@�C�>����
���=���:�#�

�#�2�������
��
D����9������C�@����9��9#�

$#�����������G�??��G9��9������
��
D���$�@�������9���9��:���>����@�
:��9��B
��
:�
@��9��
@

������
��9���
��
@��9��G�??.�>�?�����>��
���������>��9�����
���:�
>�������?����	.�		.�
��
			���@?�::�B?��?�A>���#�

"#�-���G�?H���������D�G�=���
��:
����9����9���=����9����B
D�������������
��
D�����=�
B���:����
����
�=�B�?
G�����G9��9������
�������
@�����������B?���
>��#�

�#���������.���������.���?���.����������.���B�����.��
>�����
��.�������:�?���@����9�G
�H#�

%#�,�:�
���=�:
��
������>��.���?�D���
�.������9���������������������������=#�

�#����@�B���������G�::�����

?��������
�=��
���*�
>����$�
��>����=�G9��9�����?����
�9����"����9�������.��
��
���C������.!!!���??
��.��������������??���������?=��B
D����
>��#�

 #�-9�����?
�9����>��>�����
����>�����@
���>����=�
�������>?�>��?��>��
���������
��
���?>��������D�����=���:�#�

#�-G���������
�9����?�=��
>����A>��:����������
�=��
������9���
��������G
�@�:�?=�
�G�??����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 25Packet Page     51



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�!#�0���
G��G���������*�
>��������*�
>��3�
��>���������>��
�����������?=�B=����
�C����
��G�??�����G9��9��
��
����
F����:
����9����"����9���@�
:��9���C����
��G�??#�

��#�)
D��B?�������.��
>�����������������
����
��
D�����@��������9������9���9�#�

��#����?���:����
@�G���
G�����?
G����������������?�B>�?�������9��������9������
�����
��?����
���9���9�#�

�

�$#����?���:����
@��C����
���������
��?
G����������������?�B>�?�������9��������9������
�����

��?�������9���9�#�

�

�"#��>�?����������=��@@������=��
:�
�������9���;�<�������A>�������������
@������=������=�
�@@������=���
���:/�;B<��
��
�����?>�����=��?�������?.�9������.�D����?���
����������
�
�����
������A>��:���.��
?����9
�
�D
?����������
?���9
��G�����9��������=���:�/�����;�<�
��������������B=���+(�-�������;��+
:��(����=��������-=���:������������@�����9�
>�9�
����������?�(����=�-��D�����'��G
�H<�
�������=�?�������������=��������
�������@��������
�9������"�".�I�>�?������
������
���������.I��#�#�#�� �#�

�

(?�������?��

)��
�������������:�����������G
�H.����?>������9�����?���:����
@�?�:���
���9��
�
������
��
@�����
D����
���B?���?�������?��A>��:�����
�����
D������:�����?=������??���
��������?��.�����
�������?�D���
�������:������������
��.���:�
���=����������=���:��@
���9��
��������
�����D������
@��?�������?��=���:��
���������>�������9
������:����������?��!#��;�<�

@��9���?�������?��
��#�

*����

�#��
���B?��9����������?������#�

�#����?���:����
@���=�:��
��������9����
����
���?��������
D�?�
@��A>��:����
��:�H���>�9�
�A>��:����>���@�#�

)��9�����?��

�#��
���B?��9����������?�����.��
���B?���

?����>���.��
���B?���D��
����D���

?���
��
�
���B?��D����?���
���A>��:���#�

�#�-���:.�9
�.�
���9�??���G������������G��9�����=�9�������
���

?�����A>��:�������>?�����
B=��9����
��#�

$#����?���:����
@���=������G9��9��
����
���?�����������
D�?�
��?�������
��:�H����=�
���?������
���A>��:����>���@�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 26Packet Page     52



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

"#�-�?@��
����������@��������
���=���:��
��������������
>����;"#�"�H�<�
��?����
@�
��@����������������>�����B=�:
�
���
@�
���9
����
G���;�"%�0<�
��?���#�

�?>:B�����

�#�,9����
������
@�?��H�����������.�G����.��
�?.�G����.�
��D�����������
D����.�9
G�D��.��9���
�@���=��
����?�������.�����������.�G����.��
�?.�G�����
��D���������B��
:�����@����D���������
B��
:�����������=��
���:
D���������?�����9����:��G��9���G�:������?.��>�9�G
�H��9�??�B��
�
��������������G�G
�H����������:����9�??�B��
B�������������������
��:���������
D�����
����9����
��#�

�#�,9���?�������
@���
�������
���9������������
@�?��H����������.�D�?D��.�
��@�C�>���.������9��
���?���:����
@�G������?
����.���
D������>�9����������
��
����D
?D��
����A>�����9��
���?���:����
�����������:����
@�D�?D���
�������#�

;�F<�����������9�����������
�-����
���!�#$#�.�5����
��
�����?�����
�.8��
�������

'
�B>�?��������:����9�??�B�����>���>���?�����
D���B=��D��=�������:����
@��9�����=�
���
>?����
�
>��=��9���9������?���B?�����>?���
��.����?>����.�G��9
>��?�:�����
�.��9��@
??
G����
������:������B>�?����.�@?

���
���
?.�>��?�����.�G����G����.�9��?�9.�@���.������������.�J
����.�
�?������.����H�.��������=��?��H#�

;FH<�-����
���!�#$#�.�5,�:��?�:�����
��
@����?�����
�.8���������?������������������
�������

�!�#$#��,�:��?�:�����
��
@����?�����
�#�������?�����
��@
�������:���@
����=���
�
����G
�H�
�9�??�B�����:����
�9�D��B�����B���
����
���9>���������9�=���=���@�����9�������
@�@�?����
>�?�����9�����:���9���B�������>��/��C������9����9��B>�?�����
@@����?�����>�9
��J����
��������
��
:
����9����G
��C�����
���
@���:��@
��������
��?�����
����
���C�������������=�� !���=�����9#�
,9���C�����
���9�??�B����A>���������G�������B�@
����9���C������
�����������F>���@��B?����>���
��:
��������#�

;H?<�-����
���!�#�.�I(C������
�.I���������?������������������
�������

-����
���!�#��(C������
�#�(D��=����:������>����9�??�B��
:����D�?���>�?�����9��G
�H�
���9��
������>�9
��J���B=��>�9����:�������
::������G��9���
���9>���������9�=���=���@��������
���>����.�
���@��9��G
�H��>�9
��J���
���9�������B=��>�9����:�������>��������
���B���
����@
����
����
��
@�
���9>���������9�=���=���@�����9����:���9��G
�H�����
::�����#�,9��B>�?�����

@@����?�����>�9
��J����
����������G�������
���
��:
����C�����
���
@���:��@
������
����
��:
���
�9���
���9>���������9�=���=�����9#�,9���C�����
���9�??�B����A>���������G�����������
F>���@��B?����>�����:
��������#�(D��=����:������>���B=��9��B>�?�����
@@����?�>������9��
��
D���
���
@��9����
����9�??��C�����B=�?�:�����
������B��
:���>??�����D
����@��9��B>�?�����
��
G
�H��>�9
��J���B=��>�9����:�������
���
:�?�������������
D���@
��
��>����=�G��9����9����
=�����@�
:��9��������9�����:���G������>��#�,9�����:���@���@
������G�?��:�=�B����
������B�����

���9���:
>���
@�G
�H��
:�?�������������
D���>������9�����D�
>�����:��#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 27Packet Page     53



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;?:<�-����
���!%#��!�#�.�5->B:����?�&
�>:����*�����?.8���������?������������������
�������

�!%#��!�#��->B:����?�&
�>:����*�����?#�������?������@
����B>�?��������:����9�??��>B:�����
:���:>:�
@��G
������
@��?�������������@�����
���G��9����9����?�����
��G9�����A>�����B=�
�9��B>�?�����
@@����?�@
����@
���:����
@���=���
D���
���
@��9����
��#�

;�<������
@����
��?����������
�����9���������������������9��-�����
@��
?
���
��9�??���������
�9���?�������������@�����
���@
������
B���D���9���
����>���
��
@��??�B>�?�������C�����@
���9��
@
??
G�����

;�<�&����9����G�??���������������
?�?=�@
�����D����>��.�
��>����=.�
������?�.�
���?>�����������
�=�B>�?�������
::
�?=����
�������G��9��9����:�/�

;B<�2��:�B>�?����������B>�?������@
���9��:��H�����.���
����.�
����
��������
@�@��:�
��
�>���/�

;�<�)��
��������
��.��?������
��.�
�����������
��9��@
���
����B>�?�������9����
��
����>���
�9���
:�?�����B>�?�������
��C������9�����?���B?��?�:�����
���9����������@
��9/�
��

;�<�'
�����>��>��?��?������
���
@���=����>����
���=�B>�?����.��@��>�9��?������
����
��
��
�@@�����9����@��=�
@��9��B>�?����#�

;�<�&��G��������������@�����
���@
��@

����������@
>�����
����9�??�B�����9�����?�����
������>���
@�����
@����
��?����������
�����9���������������������
?
���
�����B��������������
�����@��������9������� �
@��9��B>�?������
���@
���??�
��>�������#��C������9
����?����@�������
��$�����3.�G9��9��9�??�B�������������������@��������9������"�
@��9������������?��
��#��

(C�����
�����

;�<�&����9������>��>�����
�����������@
��9>:���
��>����=/��

;B<�������
����
��C������������9����G�??������
���C����������!��A>����@���#�

�;:�<�!%#$#��!�#$#�.�5���D�
>�������
D�?�.8�����:�������
�������

�!%#$#��!�#$#�����D�
>������
D�?�#�,9����
����9�??��
����A>�����9����������9���
����>���
��
�
�>:����.��
����>���
��
�������������
��>����=�
@������>��>���@
��G9��9���?�G@>?����:���
9���9����
@
���B�������>���
��
�9��G����?�G@>??=��>�9
��J��.������9���
����������
@�G9��9�
9�D��B�����>��>�������

��@���9�G��9���
���9>���������9�=���=���@�����9���@@����D�������
@�
�9����
�������9����
��B�����B���
���#��'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9��??�
@��9��
�
�����
���
@��>�9�B>�?��������:��������9����
D���
��
@��9��B>�?������
���>�����G9��9��>�9�
B>�?��������:���9���B�������>��#�

;�
<�-����
���! #$�!#$.�5�>�?���������:���4D�?>���
��.8���������?������������������
�������

�! #$�!#$��>�?��������:���D�?>���
�#�,9��D�?>���
��@
��B>�?�������9�??�B���������@
��9����
�>B�����
���"��!�";�<�����;�<.��#�#�#�� �#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 28Packet Page     54



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;
�<�-����
�������$.�5�
����
@������?�.8���������?������������������
�������

� -����
�������$������?��������D��
�=������
��#�

;�< ��=������?�>������9��������
���9�??�B��9�����B=��9���
����
@��>�?����������?��
����B?��9���>����������
����$�".�5�
����
@��>�?����������?�.8��#�#�#�� �.�>�?�����9�����=�
:������������:����.��>���
��9�����>���
@��9�����>��������������>?��������?.��
����
������
9�������
@@�����>����������
����$��.�5+������������&����:�����
��.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;B<;�<�������
����@>������B>�?��������:���
����@>��������
D�?�
@�G
�H��
���>����������:���

���9����
>�����9����9����
�
����
���
:�?������
����>���
��@��?���
��
:�?=�G��9��9����
���

����=�
�9������=�B>�?������
���
�9����9����9��@�����
���:�=������?��9��������
���
��9��B
����

@�J
�������F>��:��������B>�?����������?��
���9����
>����9����

;�#<�,9�������?�G���B�����
��������
�����@����
��������
��
>��������������
��
@��>�9�
�
���B=��9�����=�:������/�

;�#<�,9�����=�:�������9������
��
>�?=�@��?����
�����
D������?��������:������?�
��
:��9
���>��>�����
�-����
���!"#������
���
����������??���
��
��>��#�	�������:�������>�9�
��������?��9��B
����
��9�������
@@������9�??����?=��9������������
@�-����
���!"#��.�B>��
�9��B
����
��9�������
@@������9�??�9�D���
�F>��������
���
��
��������@���:������?�
��
:��9
���C�����?=���
9�B�����B=��9����
����������������B?���?�������D�/�
��

;$#<�,9�����=�:�������9������
��
>�?=�@��?����
���������:
��@�����
���>��>�����
�
-����
���!"#�!����
���
����������??���
�#�	�������:�������>�9���������?��9��B
����
��
9�������
@@������9�??����?=��9������������
@�-����
���!"#�!/�
�#�

;"#<�,9�����=�:�������9������
��
>�?=�@��?����
�����
D������?�������D����������>��>����
�
�-����
����!�����
���
����������??���
��
��>��#��	�������:�������>�9���������?.��9��
B
����
��9�������
@@������9�??����?=��9������������
@�-����
����!�.�B>���9��B
����
��
9�������
@@������9�??�9�D���
�F>��������
���
��
��������@�����������C�����?=���
9�B�����
B=��9����
����������������B?���?�������D�#��

,9�����=�:�������9����9��B>�����
@���

@�>�������������9��#�,9������??����9����9��
B>�����
@���

@�
�������?��B�
>�9���>��>�����
���������9���.�����$�����"#�,9��B
����

��9�������
@@������9�??������:�����9�������?������������G9��9����9�����=�:������K��
������������
��
�����?�����
��
@��>�9��
���G����
������
��������
�������9�������>�����
�9����
���>����������B���B=��9��������$.�5L>����7>�����?�+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<;B<���=�����
��G9
���B>�?��������:���
�������@������
@�
��>����=�
�������@������
@�
�
:�?���
��9���B�����>��������
����D
H���:�=������?��>�9�����
��B=��9�����=�:��������
�
�9��B
����
@�B>�?����������?��
���9����
>����9����9���>������
��
����D
����
��G���B�����
��
������
�����@����
��������
��
>�����?�����
��
@��9����
����
��9��@����#�,9�����=�:�������9���
�9��B>�����
@���
D�����9��@�����>�
��G9��9��9��:���������?��������>�9���9������#�

;�<�������?�����
��@
�������?�:>���B��@�?������G�������G��9��9�����=�:�������G��9���@
>������
��=���@�����9�������
@���@>��?�
@��9��B>�?��������:���
������
D�?�
@�G
�H����@
�:���>�����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 29Packet Page     55



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�9�����:���
����D
����
��
���>������
��
@��9��B>�?��������:���
�������@������
@�
��>����=�
��
�����@������
@��
:�?���
�����������9��B�����@
�������?#�

;�<;�<�������?������@
����������?��
��9��B
����
@������?���9�??���=��9��@����������B���B=�
-����
��"��!�"�.�56
�������F>��:���������>�?����������?��2�?����2���.8��#�#�#�� �#��
,9��@���@
����������?�9�����B=���9�������
@@������9�??�B���9����:������9��@���@
����������?�
9�����B=��9���
����
@��>�?����������?�#�

;@<;�<�,9�����=�:�������:�=����?=��
��9��B
����
@������?��
����
@��>�?����������?�.�
G��9
>��@��.�@
�������D��
�=�
����
���
����������?�������D��:��9
��.����?���B�?��=�
@�
�����@�����A>���:����.�����
D�?�
@��A>��:��������:������?�.��������������
@�������?�
���:����
������
���:�?��������-����
����!"#�!�
���!"#���
@��9���>�?������
��#�

;�<;�<�,9��B
����
@�B>�?����������?�
��9�������
@@�����9����
��>�9
���=��
������������9������
��;�9����:���������D����A>���:����<������9������$"�
@��9����
����C���������C�����?=�
��
D���������9��������
�.��
�.�B���>����9����
��������:���:>:����������.��
�G��D����=�
��A>���:����
@��9����
��#�

;�A<�-����
����$��".�54�
?���
��.8���������?������������������
�������

4�
?���
���-����
����$��"�4�
?���
��##�
;�< *�����?���
D���
���

;�< �'
�����
���9�??�D�
?��������
D���
��
@��9����
��.�
��@��?��
��
:�?=��9���G��9.�
��G��9�
��=�
@��9����A>���:������9���
@#��'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9���=�
��������>���B=�
�9���
���
@@����?�>������9����
��#�'
�����
���9�??������.��
����>��.���?����.��?���.��C����.�
������.�:
D�.���:
D�.��:��
D�.��
�D���.���:
?��9.��A>��.�>��.�
��>�=.�
��:����������=�
B>�?�����
�����>��>�������9�����=�
����>���
�����:����9����:���
�B���
����C��������
�
�@
�:��=�G��9��??�
@��9����
D���
���
@��9����
�����������
�@
�:��=�G��9��9�����:������
�
�����
���
@���=����:��.������@�����.�
��
�9�������
D�?����>���>������9����
��.�
��
@���=�
�������D��
@��9��B>�?�����
@@����?#���

;�< 	�����
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@������
��������.�5��
���>��
��
@�)>?���?���
>����
@
��-�:�����.8��#�#�#�� �.����9���=��>�����G9��9��??���?��
����>���
�.��?������
�.�
:����������.�
��>����=.�
��>����
����>��.��
�����>���������������
@@�������:����B?��
�9�
>�9��9����@
���:������
D���
���
@��9����
��#�

;$< ,9��
G���.�������.�����
��>�����
@������>��>���
��?���.������9���������
@����9�
@�
�9�:.�����F
���?=�������D���??=�?��B?��@
����=�D�
?���
��
@��9����
���G��9����������
��>�9�
���>��>���
��?���#�

;"< ,9����:������@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
@���=����:��.�
�����@�����.�
��
�9�������
D�?����>���>������9����
���
��
�9������=�
@��
>?�����
��.�
��
@�
��=��������D��
@��9���
���
@@����?.�:�=�B���>��>�������?=�
������
:B�����
�#���

;�< 	@���=�����
��@��?��
����@>�����
���=�G9����>����=��9������:�
����>������9��������
�.�
�9�����=�:�������:�=.����������
���
���H����
�9����
??����
����:�����.������@=��>������
>�������9�������
��9���
>?�����
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�������
D�����B=������
����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 30Packet Page     56



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

����.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����������:������
��
>��=�,����>����
@
���
??����
�.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;B<;�<���:���������D����
���>����������:������
;�<�	@��9�����=�:�������@������9�����D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9������?���
���
����=�
����
D�?���������>������9������?���
����C����.��9��:������.��@�����
������������
��
��>���=�
@
��9�������>������9����
���>�����������B���B=��9��������$.�IL>����7>�����?�+�������.I�
�#�#�#�� �.�:�=���H����=�
���
��:
���
@��9��@
??
G��������
����
���:��=��9��D�
?���
���

;�<�	:�
�������D�?�����?�=����
�������
��9��@
??
G������9��>?���

;�<�2
���9��@�����D�
?���
��
@��9����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M�!!#!!/�

;��<�2
���9�����
���D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M$!!#!!/�����

;���<�2
���9���9����D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M�.!!!#!!/�

;�<�2
����D�
?���
���
����������9��>���
@�������������?�B>�?�����>������������?�?������.�
��D
H���>�9�?������/�

;�<���A>�����9��@�?����
@������?�����
��
@�>��������
D���������>B�����
��;�<�
@��9���
�����
�#��	@��9�����=�:������������:������9���������
�����>����������>��>��������G�=��9���
:��9��:��?����������
��B?������
���
�B�?��D���9����>�9�>��������>���B=����9��
��

�9��G�����>�9
��J���B=��9������?�.��9��:�������:�=���A>�����>�9�����
���
������>�����

��9������?�����
��
@�>����9�����@������9��?�:��������>���
@��9��>��������
����
����>�9�
���?�����
������9��
@@����
@��9���
>?�����
>��=��?��H��������
��������������9�����?���
�
�9��?���#�	��������
���
��??�
�9�����:��������������
����9����9�����=�:����������
�>�9
��J����
�>���>������9���
>?������D������
���
��
�9������?���B?��@�����?.�������
��
?
��?�?�G���
���@
�����9����
D���
���
@��9������?�.��9�����=�:�����������>�9
��J����
�
G��99
?����=�����
D�?��@@��������>�9����>��>���
��?���.����?>����.�G��9
>��?�:�����
�.�
��B>�?��������:��.�>�����D��G.��������D��G.��>B��D���
�.�@?

��?������D�?
�:����
���:��.�
��G��?�������:���>���?��>�9���:������9������
���>B:���������?�����
��
@�>���
�9�����������@
�:��������B?���
��9�����=�:������/�
��

;&<�	��>�����
���������
��B?=���?�>?������
����>����
:�?������G��9��9����
D���
���
@�
�9������?���
���
����=�����
D�?���������>������9������?��
��#�

;�<����
���
��9��9������.��9�����=�:�������:�=����>�����
������9����
�����
���9�??����@
�:�
��=�G
�H�
����=����>��>���
��?���.��C������
��
��������=�D�
?���
��@
>���B=��9��:�������
�
��C����G��9����������
��>�9����>��>���
��?���#�

;$<�	@��
����������D����
��9�����=�:����������?�����@
��=����9��9
>���B�@
����9����:������
���������@
��9�����9���
�����
@�9�������
����=�D�
?���
���9����9��D�
?���
��9���B����
�
�������.��9��:�������G�??������������9�����>��>���
��?���#�	@��9��:�������@������9����9��
D�
?���
��9���B�����
�������.��9��:�������:�=������?��9��9������#�

;"<�'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9���=�����
����H���B=��9��:�������>������9���
�����
�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 31Packet Page     57



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<;B<����:���?�����?����#�'
�����
���9�??������.��
����>��.���?����.��?���.�������.�:
D�.�
�:��
D�.���:
D�.��
�D����
����:
?��9.��A>��.�>��.�
��>�=.�
��:����������=�B>�?�����
��
���>��>�������9�����=�
����>���
�����:����9����:���
�B���
��.��
�����=��
�
�����D�
?���
��
@���=�

@��9����
D���
���
@��9��B>�?������
��#�4�
?���
���
@��9��B>�?�����9����
��������>���9�B?�����
��
D��������-����
������".�I*�����?�����?����.I��#�#�#�� �#�
;�<���9�����:�����#�,9�����=����
���=�:�=�:���������������
��@
����:����.����?����
�=�
��?��@.������@������@
�:����.���F>����
�.�
����=�
�9�������
���������?��@�����9��&���������
>������
����@
���9���
>��=�
@��
>?����@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
����=�����
D�?�
��������>������9����
��#�
;�<�&��?�����
��
@�3��#�	@��9�����=�:������������:������9���������
�����>����������>��>��������
G�=��9���:��9��:��?����������
��B?������
���
�B�?��D���9����>�9�>��������>���B=����9��
��

�9��G�����>�9
��J���B=��9������?�.��9��:�������:�=���A>�����>�9�����
���
������>�����
��9���
���?�����
��
@�>����9�����@������9��?�:��������>���
@��9��>��������
����
����>�9����?�����
�����
�9��
@@����
@��9���
>?�����
>��=��?��H��������
��������������9�����?���
��9��?���#�	��������
��
�
��??�
�9�����:��������������
����9����9�����=�:�����������>�9
��J����
�>���>������9���
>?����
��D������
���
��
�9������?���B?��@�����?.�������
��?
��?�?�G���
���@
�����9����
D���
���
@��9���
�
��.��9�����=�:�����������>�9
��J����
�G��99
?����=�����
D�?��@@��������>�9����>��>���
��
?���.����?>����.�G��9
>��?�:�����
�.���B>�?��������:��.�>�����D��G.��������D��G.��>B��D���
�.�
@?

��?������D�?
�:�������:��.�
��G��?�������:���>���?��>�9���:������9������
���>B:������
���?�����
��
@�>����9�����������@
�:��������B?���
��9�����=�:������#�

;�<��-����
����%#�.�5�
�����
��.8���������?������������������
�������
��%#���
�����
��#�����:����.����>��>����
���C��������A>��:�����9�������
��9����@����B��
:��
>���@�.����������=�
����@�������B���>���
@������A>����:�����
@��������@���?�����.������A>����
?��9������D����?���
�.�
��G9��9��
�����>�����@����9�J���.�
������
�9��G����������
>���
�9>:���
?�@��
���9���>B?���G�?@���.�
���9�����D
?D���??���?�
���:��
����
��>����=�
�������A>����
:����������.��9�??�B�����:������>���@���
�����
�#��3���@�����:������9�??�B��:������@������
>���@�����>��>�����9�??�B����H����
G��������:
D���
��:������@�.�����9��B>�?�����
@@����?�
���:����������=����������
D�����@
������9��������
�#����D���������>��>����9�������
�����>����
������������=��9�??�B�����:���>���@�#�

;�<��-����
����%#$.�5'
����.8���������?������������������
�������
��%#$�'
����#��	@����>���@���
�����
�����@
>��.��9��B>�?�����
@@����?��9�??����D��
���9��
G���.�
�����.�
������
������
���
?�
@��9�����>��>���
�����:����.���G��������
������9���������B����9��
�
�����
�����:���>���@�����������@�����9����A>������������.��:��
D�:����.�
��:
��@�����
���
�
�B��:�����
��B�����9��>���@���
�����
�.�
���9�����A>������9��>���@�����>��>����
�B��
��:
?��9���G��9���������>?�������:�#��->�9��
������9�??���A>�����9������
���9>���
��@�����
�
���?�����::������?=��
��9��B>�?�����
@@����?������������
����F����
��
@��9�����:��
@��9��
����#�

;�<��,9��?�����G
�����������
@�-����
����%#".�5)��9
��
@����D���.8������:�������
���������
@
??
G���

	@��9�������@����
�������������?������������>������9
G�����9����9��?������G����
����?�D����.����
�=�
�9���
@��9�??�B���
�����������
�����>
>���?����
���9�����:�����
�����
���B
>���9�����>��>���
�@@������B=��>�9��
����#�-��D����
@��>�9��
���������9��@
���
����:������>�
���9��
G���K��
������
��>�
���9������
������
���B?��@
���9�����:�����
�����>��>����9�??��
�����>������D����
@�
�
�����>�
���9��
G���#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 32Packet Page     58



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;><��-����
����%#�.�5����
����
�.8�����:������B=���������9��@
??
G��������������
,9���B���:����
@����>���@���
�����
��
@����:������9�??��
:�?=�G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9���
�
��#�

;AD<,9����@�����
��
@�5�>�?������@@����?8����-����
���!����������?������������������
�������

�3	�&	'*��22	�	�������9�����=�:������#�

;�G<�-����
���!�.�5&�@�����
��.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G������G���@�����
���

�(�)	,�	--3�'�(�����9��������9����9������
D���B>�?��������:�����������@
�����������D���
B��H�@�
:��9�����=�:�������B=��9�����?������
����������������D��
@��9�����?�����#�

;C<�����G��>B�����
��%#�����������
������
���! #�.�5*�����?#8��
��������

%#�0�??�������������:���F>������
G���.���
�����������������������
��>��������@�
:���F������

��>�������#�

;�<;=<�����������9�����������
�-����
��;2<�!$#�.�509������A>����.8��
�������

,9��:�C�:>:�@���������G��9
>������>�
:����������H?����=���:��9�??�B�������:�����B=�
-����
��!$#�!$#��
@��9��@�����
��#�

;�<�-����
���!!�#$.�5(C���-����G�=�8.���������?������������������
�������

�!!�#$�(C���-����G�=�#��	��
������
�B���
��������������
@�����������B?��:�����
@�������.�����C���
�����G�=��9�??�9�D�����?����G���9�
@�" ����9���;����::<�:���:>:�B��G����9������?�������9�??�
���9������
��
�������������
@���@>���G��9��������?������@?

��?�D�?�?�������
���9�??�B�����������
@�
:����9�����������
@���@>����
:�?=����G��9�-����
���!!�#%�
����9
��J
���?��C��#�

(C�����
����

,9�������
@���@>�������
����A>��������>����?
����������
���C��������G�=��������:������B=�-����
��
�!�!#�����B>�?������
��@���?�������9��������A>�������9�
>�9
>��G��9�����>�
:����������H?����=���:�
�����??���������
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$#�#��
��!$#$#�#�#�

,9���?����G���9�
@�" ����9���;����::<�B��G����9������?������
����A>���������C��������G�=�����
B>�?������
@�@���?�������A>�������9�
>�9
>��G��9�����>�
:����������H?����=���:������??������
���
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$#�#��
��!$#$#�#�#�

������
@���@>��������
����A>���������C��������G�=�����B>�?������
��@���?�������A>�������9�
>�9
>��
B=�����>�
:����������H?����=���:������??���������
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$#�#��
��!$#$#�#�#�

,9���?����G���9�
@�" ����9���;����::<�B��G����9������?������
����A>�����@
���C��������G�=��
���������@�
:���9
��J
���?��C��#�

������
@���@>��������
����A>���������C��������G�=�����D����
�������H�����������#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 33Packet Page     59



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

������
@���@>��������
����A>�����@
���:
H����
����������������������
:�?=����G��9�-����
��
�!��#%#�#�

,9��������
@���@>��������
����A>��������*�
>������
��>�������#�

;J<���-����
��!�#�#��.�5-���?�������:>?���?�������
���:
H���?��:�.8�����:������B=��9��������
��

@��9��@
??
G�����>B�����
����

!�#�#��#���?������
��.��������.�������?����:����#�;�<�09���B>�?������
�����>��>���.�
��
�
���
���
@�B>�?������
�����>��>�����?����@�������*�
>���������?�����.����������
����?����������
�9��G
�H���A>�������B>�?��������:���
��;�<�G9���
���
��:
����?��������

:������������
��
�������.��:
H���?��:���9�??�B�������??���@
�����9��G�??����
���?�������>�����@@������B=��>�9�
G
�H�������
�������G��9�-����
��!�#�#��.��C����������
D�����
�9��G��������9���-����
��
������
->B�����
��#�

(C�����
������

�# 0
�H���D
?D�����
?�?=��9���C����
���>�@�����
@��9��B>�?�����
�����>��>��.��>�9����
���?���:����
@��

@����
���������
���9��������
��
@����
��9�
�����H#�

�# 	����??���
�.��?������
��.�������������
@��?>:B����
��:��9�����?��=���:�#�

!�#�#��#�#��(C�����
���
�������
������
�#��-����
��!�#�#��#$����?�����C������9���
������
������
��
@��:
H���?��:������C��������������9�??��
��B����A>�����G9�����?������
���
�������������
��
�����?>�����:
D�?�
@�������
��G�??��������?����@����9����C�
������9��
���>��>���>�?������������.����G?�������
��B���:��������D��?�B?���
���
D�����������@
��
������
������
��G��9
>����:
D�?�
@�������
��@����9��#�

!�#�#��#�#��(C�����
���
��
G����
>���#��-����
��!�#�#��#"����?�����C������9���;�<�
�:
H���?��:��:�=�B��B�����=�
��������G9��������??��������B>�?�����G��9
>���
::�����?�
�
G�������;�<�9����G������:
H���?��:���9�??��
��B����A>���������C�������������G9����
�?������
���
�����������
��
�����>?������9����:
D�?�
@�������
��G�??��������?����@����9���
�C�
������9�����>��>���>�?������������.����G?������
��B���:��������D��?�B?���
���
D����
�������@
��9����G������G��9
>����:
D�?�
@�������
��@����9��#�

;�<;��<�-����
���"!�#$.�54��
�����������8�����:������B=���������G
��C�����
����

"#��
::�����?�����:>?���?������������B>�?�������
:�?=����G��9��9���!���	��������
��?�
(����=��
����D���
���
��������
���"!�#".�5����?��H����;:�����
�=<#8�

�#�����������?�B>�?�������
:�?=����G��9��9���!���	��������
��?�(����=��
����D���
��
�
��������
���"!�#".�5����?��H����;:�����
�=<#8�

;><;BB<�-����
����!�#�.�5*�����?.8���������?������������������
�������

��!�#��*�����?#��??��

@�����:B?���������

@��
D���������A>������
�B��?������B=��9��������
���
�9�??�B���������������
�������G��9��-,)�-��������(��! �
��3��-���������!#��?�������

@��
�����9���C�����
����
���������!�#$�@
���?�������

@�����������B�������9����9��������������9��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 34Packet Page     60



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���


�?=��

@�����:B?���������

@��
D��������??
G����
�B�������??���
����=���G�
���C�������
B>�?�����G��9����9�����=�
@��
>?���#�0

���9�H��.�G

���9���?�������G

���

@��
D������
:������?��������
9�B������C����������
D��������-����
���!����.�80

���

@��
D������
)������?����
9�B����.8��#�#�#�� �.�@
����������:���:�?��������#�

;D<;��<�-����
���%! #�.�5*�����?.8���������?������������������
�������

�%! #��*�����?#�,9��:���:>:��

@���
G�?
����9�??�B���9���=��
>���������A>����@

�.�B>���9��
��������

@�?
����9�??��
��B��?�����9����9��������:�����B=�-����
���%!�#�

;��<�-����
���%! #�.�5*�
>�����
G�?
���.8������?����#�

;G<;��<�-����
���%!#$#�.�5������0G�����������
�D����
�.8���������?������������������
�������

��%!#$#��0����D�?
������#�	��,�B?���%!#$#�.��9���9�������
����>���G����������@
���9�����=�
�9�??�B����!�:�?�������9
>�#�

�%!#$�������G���������#�,9��>?��:�����������G���������.�4>?�.����:�9.�@
���9�������:�����
��

@�G����?
���.��9�??�B��������
�������G��9�?
��?�F>��������
����A>���:����#��,9��>?��:����
�������G�����������.�4>?�.������:�����B=��9��?
��?�F>��������
���9�??�B��������
�������G��9�
-����
���%#�#��
@��-�(��#�������9���
?
���
�2�
���������0����,�B?�.��9��>?��:�����������
G�����������9�??�B���$!�:�9�@
��������G����
@���
��G�=�-������������!�:�9�@
�������������

@���
��G�=�-�����#�

;C<;@@<�-����
����%��#$.��%��#".������%��#�����������?��#�

;��<�-����
����!�.�5��A>�����4���@�����
������	�������
�.8�����:������B=��9��@
??
G����
->B�����
���

��!�#� #�-�����?���������
��@
��:�����?������=���:�#��)�����?������=���:���9�??�B������������
�����?�������9��������.�5-�����?������������-�
�����-=���:�.8�
@��9�����=�
@���
>?����
�?>:B�����
��#�

�;99<�-����
��7�!$.�5���:������A>����.8�
@��������C�7.�5*��&	'*.8�����:������B=���������9��
@
??
G�����>B�����
����

7�!$#$��
:�?������G��9��
����������:�����A>���:����#��'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
����@
�:�����
�
���
����=�
G�����9�??�@��?��
����@
�:�
��@��?��
���>����9�����@
�:�����
@��??������������
�
:�?������G��9��9����
��.��9���
>?������D������
��.������9���
�����
���
@��9����������
���:��#���

7�!$#"�'
���D������@@����#��'
�����
���9�??����@
�:������
���
����=�
G�����9�??����@
�:�
��
@��?��
����D������=����������9�����D����?=��@@������9����
����=�
@���
�9���G��9
>��@�����

B���������9���
������
@��9��
G����
@��>�9���
����=#�

7�!$#���3���@�����:����#��'
�����
���9�??����@
�:������
���
����=�
G�����9�??����@
�:�
��
@��?��
����D�������������9������>?��������=����:������9�������>���@�#��2
���>��
����
@��9���

Agenda Item 3C     Page 35Packet Page     61



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�������C�7.����:����������
���������>���@���@��9�=�����@
>����
�B��������
>���
�?�@�.�9��?�9.�
��
����=.�
���9����@��=�
@��9���>B?��#���

7�!$#%���B���:����
@�>���@�����:����#��	@��9�����=�:������������:������9���������������
��
���@
�:���������
�������G��9��9��?�G��������>?�������>���@�����:����.��9�����=�:�=��
��@=��9��

G����
@��9��>���@�����:����.������.�
��
�9�������
������
���
?�
@��9�����:�����������
�������
G��9�-����
����%#$�
@��9����
��#��	@��9������
���
��
��@����@��?���
��B�����9��>���@���
�����
��
�����A>�����B=��9���
����.��9�����=�:�������:�=��������9����
����=.��>��>�����
����
��:���������D��G����������>���B=��9��:>������?��
>��.������B�����9��>���@���
�����
�#��,9��
���=�:�������:�=��
??�����9��@>??��
���
@��9���B���:����������=��C�������
��9�����=���?������
�
�9���B���:�������������9����
����=�
G���.������.�
��
�9�������
������
���
?�
@��9�����:����.�
�������������9��@�������?��>����������
D�����>�����->B�����
��7�!$# #��,9�����:���9
?���.�
��
����=�
G���������>�����
���9�??�B��F
���?=�������D���??=�?��B?��@
���>�9��
��������
�C������#��	@��9����
����=�
G����@��?��
����@>�����
���=�G9����>����=��9������:�
����>�����
�9����>B�����
�.��9�����=�:�������:�=������@=��>������>�������9�����.����?>�������������.��
�
�9���
>?�����
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.������
D��������-����
��������.�5���=�)�������
)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����������:������
��
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.K��#�#�#�
� �#�

7�!$#��2�������?��>�������#�����
���
��9�����>�����
@������:���>������9����������C�7.�
5*������.8�@
����=�G
�H�
���������?
���?
���G��9��������������
�����������?
�������
����=�
��
F�����G��9����>�.�@�??.�
���C��D���
��
@�����@����
��:
���
���>�.�@�??.�
���C��D���
��?�����9���
�G
�@����@�
:��9����
����=�?���.��9�����:������
����
����=�
G�����9�??���
D������@�������?�
���>���=�����9��@
�:�
@������@
�:�����B
���
��
�9���@
�:�
@��>������������
D���B=��9�����=�
:��������9���G�??������@=��9��
BF����D���
@��9����>B�����
�.�@
���9��B���@���
@��9�����=��
����>���
�9���B���:����
@�����>���@���
�����
��
@���=����:������9���:�=����>?��@�
:���������G
�H#��
,9�����@
�:�����B
���
��
�9���@�������?��>���������9�??�B����
D�����@
��������
��
@��G
�
=����.�@
??
G�����9���C������
��
@��9�����:��.������9�??�B��@
��M�!.!!!�@
���
����>���
���
����
?�����9���M�!.!!!�����@
���9��D�?>��
@��9����
F�������:���@
���
����>���
���
�������������9���
M�!.!!!#������9����:��
@����:������?�����
�.��9�����:�������9�??��>B:����
�>:������
��
@��9��
��
F�����
���.��>BF�����
���D��G���������
D�?�B=��9�����=�)������#����B
����9�??�B�����>���B=�
���
:���=�?���������
��
�B>�����������
?
���
������9�??�B�������@
�:��������B?���
��9�����=�
���
���=#��,9�����=�:��������9�??���D��G��9�����@
�:�����B
���
��
�9���@�������?��>��������
���>�??=��
����>����9������:������9�����:���A>���:����������9��@>??��>�������
���
@��9��
�
:�?���
��
@��9��G
�H��9�������>�������������:�=���A>�����9�����:�������
��>�:�����9��
���@
�:�����B
���
��
�9���@�������?��>���������:
>����
�:�����>�9��
���#�������

�;=<;��<�����G���9�����������������
��9���>�?������
����
�������

�+��,(��#�2('�(-��'&�0���-#�

-����
��!�#�&�@�����
��#�

;�<����>����9�����.��9�����:�5G�??8�:�������@����������������>��>����>�9������@�����
��
����������G�??#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 36Packet Page     62



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<����>����9�������������-����
���$#$�%.�52�����.�+�����.�����0�??�.8��#�#�#�� �.��9��
���:�5@����9��������8�:������9���
���>�@�����
@�?�G��.�G�?H�.����D��.�
��
�9����:��
D���
�>�@������@�����
:�?���
��
@��
����>���
��
����������
������
��.�B>���
�����?>�����
D�������
����
G����
���9���>�@���#�

;$<�2
���>��
����
@������:�������9��:�C�:>:�9���9���??
G�B?��@
����=�@�����
��G�??�

�9����9���G����?
���9���9����������@��������>B�����
��;"<�
@��9��������
�.���@����
�-����
��
�$#$�%.�52�����.�+�����.�����0�??�.8��#�#�#�� �.������9��������:�B�?
G#�

O-���(�2���&	�*��)�+(�(P��#�#�#������;�<�

"<�2
���>��
����
@������:������G����?
��������������9�������
@���@��������������B
D����
����������G�??.��9��9���9��
@��>�9�@�����:������9�����������@�
:��9���
��
@��9������������
G�??��
��9���
��
@��9��@����.�����??>������������9��@��>���B�?
G��

O-���(�2���&	�*��)�+(�(P��#�#�#������;�<�

;�<�'
�9��������9��������
���������������
���
9�B����9�������??���
��
@����>������?�@
����@��=�
�>��
����G9��9�
�9��G�����
�@
�:���
��9����A>���:�����
@��9����
��#�

-����
��!�#��??�@����������G�??��9����@���������??�������9�����=��9�??��
:�?=�G��9�-����
���
$#$�%.�52�����.�+�����.�����0�??�.8��#�#�#�� �.������9��@
??
G������
D���
����

;�<��??�@����������G�??���9���=���C����9���9��9�����?
G����9�??�9�D����G����?
����������
@�
�����
>���������A>����@

��
���9�??��
�@
�:��
���������9�;$<�
@��9��������
�#�

;�<��??�@����������G�??���9���=���D����9�
>�9����9�=�@
>�����9���9��9��9�??�9�D����G����
?
����������
@��G���=��
>���������A>����@

��
���9�??��
�@
�:��
���������9�;$<�
@��9���
�����
�#�

;$<��������?�������D���
��9����A>���:�����
@���������9��;�<�
��;�<.���G

��@������9����
���
�
���C�������D���@�������9���9��:�=�B�������??����@��9��@
??
G������A>���:���������:����

;�<��??��
�����9�??�B�����?�����@
>�����9�B=�@
>�����9���:B���
���G
����9�-�9��>?��"!�
����������9�??�B���������?������G���=�@
>�����9�������9����
>�������
������/�

;B<��??�G

��B�?
G��������9�??�B�������.����G

�.�
�������������>�����������@��/�

;�<��
������������9�??�B������������
��9����9�������
@��9��@�����B��G�����
�����
����
��
�C�����$!��A>����@���/�

;�<�0

��@�������:
����9���@�@�=���������
����:�=��C������9��$!��A>����@

���
���
����������A>���:������@����������@
���������
>���G����?
��#�

;"<��9����?��H�@�����#�����??��9����?��H�@�����.��9��@������
�����9�??�B�����?�����
�������

���9�?@����9����:���������.������9�??�B���������?������G���=�@
>�����9�������9����
>������
�
������#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 37Packet Page     63



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�2
���9���>��
���
@�:���:�J�������@@���9�J�������������������������
���B=��:��
D����
D���B�?��=�@
���
�D�������D�9��?��.�
B���>���
���9��9����9����9���=����9����B
D���9��
��F�������
��
���>�B��?�D���
�������
�����:�������
�B���?�����.��?����.�
����������
����=�
�
�����?
��G��9����9��������>?����
���
��
@�?������������������5���������������8�����9��
@��>���B�?
G�
��
���9����F���������9��
@�G�=��

O-���(�2���&	�*��)�+(�(P�

%<�09�������:�����.�@�������C����������D���@�������9���9���9�??��
�@
�:��
��9��J
�����
��A>���:�����@
��������
�=����>��>���#�


��3�,	� !"��!�	!#	=��#!%4	�! �	#!%	�.���4���	!#	�����%!7�	/7�� ����	(��$	
�! �#�'���!���	 >�����?��<

,9����������
��
@��9��Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings�
@��9��
	��������
��?��
�@�������
@��>�?������@@����?�����9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@�
�
>?���K���B���:�����
�������9����9����:��@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9���
�9�����.��C�������������@���??=��:������B=��9����
D���
���
@��9��������
������@
��9�B�?
G��

;�<�-����
���!�#$.�5���9��
@�(���=.8���������?������������������
�������

-����
���!�#$����9��
@�(���=#��

;�<�09���D����9�����=�:�������9�����
B�B?����>����
�B�?��D���9����9�����C����������=�B>�?�����
��
>�
����=����:�������=��
�����
��
���
���D�
?���
��G9��9�:�H����>�9�B>�?�����
�����:�����
>���@�.�������
>�.�
��9�J���
>�.������9��:������������:������9��������������
��
@��9����
����=�
�����������=��
�����
D����9���C�����
@��9��9�J���������
�
������9������
��������
������
��.��9��
:��������9�??���A>��������=�@�
:��9��
��>������
�.��@��9��B>�?��������>�
��>����.�@�
:��9��
G����

����=�
�9�������
��9�D�����9�����
���
���
?�
D����9��B>�?�����
�����:����#�	@�����=������@>���.�
��
�@��9��:����������>��B?�.��@����:�H��������
��B?���@@
���.��
�?
�����������
������
���B?��@
�����
>�
��>�����B>�?����.�
���>�9�����
���
����
������
����
��9��:������K����A>���.��9��:�������
�9�??����?=��
���F>����
@��9��:>������?��
>���@
�������������
��G��������>��>�����
�->B�����
����
%�$;�<.��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�	��������
@��:������=�G9�����9��������::�������������
@���F>�=��
���=�����
��
��
@���:����
�
���
����=�
@���
�9��.��9��:�������:�=���������=���
����=��
�:�H����=���������=���������
���
>������9����
���
���
���H����=�
�9�������
���>�9
��J���B=��9����
���G��9
>�����:����
��
��G������#�

;B<�-����
���!$.�54�
?���
��.8���������?������������������
�������

4�
?���
���

-����
���!$#�;�<�'
�����
���9�??������.��
����>��.���?����.��?���.�������.�:
D�.��:��
D�.���:
D�.�
�
�D����
����:
?��9.��A>��.�>��.�
��>�=�
��:����������=�B>�?�����
�����>��>���
����>���
�����:���
�9����:���
�B���
������D�
?���
��
@��9���
���@
���B���:����
@�&�����
>���>�?�����#�;�<�'
�

G���������
�����
��9�D�����9�����
���
���
?�
D�����=�B>�?�����
�����:������9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�
G��9���=�
��������>����
��>�9�����
��>������9���
���@
���B���:����
@�&�����
>���>�?�����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 38Packet Page     64



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�-����
���!�#�.�5�
����
@������?�.8���������?������������������
�������

�����?��

-����
���!�#�#�

;�<�,9�����
���
G����
@���B>�?�����
���9��
G���K���>�9
��J���������
����=�����
��G��9���=�
�9���
?���?��������������9��B>�?�����:�=������?���=�
��������>����>��>�����
�-����
��"!�#���
��9��B
����

@�B>�?����������?��
���9����
>����9����>�9�
�����G���B�����
��������
��
>��������������
��
��
���?�����
��
@��9���
����=�
�9������=��
���B=��9�����=�:������#�,9�����=�:�������9����9��B>�����

@���

@�����>�9���������?#�,9��B
�����9�??������:����G9��9����9�����=�:������K��������������
��

�����?�����
��
@��>�9��
���G����
������
��������
�������9�������>������9����
���>����������B���B=�
�9��������$.�5L>����7>�����?�+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#�

O-���(�2���&	�*��)�+(�(P�;B<�������?������@
����������?��
��9��B
����
@�B>�?�����
�����?���9�??���=��9��@����������B���B=�-����
��"��!�"�.�56
�������F>��:���������>�?�����
�����?��2�?����2���.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�,9��B
����
@�B>�?����������?��9����
��>�9
���=��
������������9����:���������D����
D���
���
@�
�9����
����
��:�=��9��B
����G��D����=���A>���:����
@��9����
��#�

;�<�,9����@�����
��
@�59
>������
��8����-����
��$!�.�5*�����?.8���������?������������������
�
������

+�3-	'*���&(�:������9�������!��.�5+
>������
��.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�,9������
�>��
�=���������9�
@�-����
��$!�.�5&�����
>���>�?����.8���������?�����������������
�
�������

2
���9���>��
����
@��9����
��.���=�B>�?�����
�����>��>���G9��9�9�����=�
���??�
@��9���
�����
���
��
��@�����9������@����������B����9�??�B�����:����
�B����������
>��B>�?����#�

;@<���������9��"�������
@�-����
��"!�#�.�5'
��������������.8�����-����
���"!�#"�����"!�#������
�����?������������������
�������

"#�-����:�������D�������9����@���=���A>������������
����:
?���
��G
�H�;G��9
>��D�����
���?�
�
B�������A>����<�����
���
::������G��9����9����:�������@���.��9�����=�:��������

;	<�G�??�
������9��B>�?�����D������������
������
����D����@>��9���
��>����=�>���?��9��G
�H����
�
:�?����/�

;		<�:�=���
������
���>����9��G
�H��
�B���
��������9������9���
�����9���
@����������9����
����=�

������
G�����>��>�����
�-����
��������.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����
������:������
��
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.8��#�#�#�� �/�����

;			<�:�=���>������>::
��������
:�?������
�B�����D���>�
���9����
����=�
G����
����=�����
��
9�D�����9�����
���
���
?�
D����9��B>�?�����
�����:�����@
��@��?>����
�:�H����A>�������������
��
��:
?���
��G��9����9����:�������@���#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 39Packet Page     65



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�#�-����:�������D�������

;	<��9�����=�����
��9�D������=����
������?��
��?���?��������������9��B>�?�����:�=������?�@�
:��9��
�
���������
�����
����=�����
��
@��9�����=�:��������
��9��B
����
@�B>�?����������?�.���
D������9��
�����?����:�������G������������
D���������9����
�������@�?���G��9��9�����=�:�������G��9���������=��
@�
:��9�������
@����D����
@��>�9��
���������
����/�����

;		<��9���@��?>����
������?�G�??��
�����>�����G��D���
@��??����9���
������:���������D��9�����������
�����:�����
��
@��9��:�����#�

"!�#"�,9��:��9
��
@����D�����9�??�B������������B������-����
����$�$.�5'
�����
@������=�����
�.8�
�#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�,9��@���?���������9�
@�-����
���!�#����������?��#�

;9<��9������%.�5��
���>���@
���
��>���
@�+������������?�.8���������?������������������
�������

�9������%#�

�����?���
���>��#������?���9�??�B��9������>��>�����
�-����
�����$��.�5+������������
&����:�����
��.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;	<�-����
�� !�#�.�5�
���.8���������?������������������
�������

,9���
���
@��>�9�G
�H��?>���G���=���������@
����:���������D��
D��9�����9�??�B��B�??����
��9��
���
���
G����
@��9����
����=.������@��
�������G��9����9���=���=��
@�B�??����:�=�B���
??������
�>��>�����
�-����
��������.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����������:������
�
�
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<��9������.�5���
D��=�
@��
���
@��������
��&�:
?���
�.8���������?��#�


��3�-	,	/7�� ���	��%4��	0����	

�>�?��������:���@���������9
����������B���B=�->B�����
��"��!�";�<.��#�#�#�� �#�2����@
��
�9���
���:�������>����>��>�����
��9����9�����������9������@
�����D����������9
����������B���B=�
->B�����
��"��!�";�<.��#�#�#�� �#�


��3�3	-	:!! 	�!!#	�!��%���	����%����	�%!$�.��� �	

;�<�'
�����
���9�??������??�
����>����
�B�������??�����=�G

���

@��
D������:������?�.����?>����.�
G��9
>��?�:�����
�.�G

���9�H���
��G

���9���?��#�,9�����
9�B���
�����?>����G

���

@��
D������
:������?��G��9�@�������������������:�����
@���=�H���#�

;B<�	���9�??�B���������@�����@������
����9�����
@�D�
?���
��
@��>B�����
��;�<�
@��9��������
���9����9��
G

���

@��
D������:������?��G���������??���B�@
���7��>��=��.��!�".��
���������
���
���
@����
�C�������G

���

@.��9����9���������G

���

@��
D������:������?��G����@���
�=������>������������
�
����
�B��@��������������������������
D������:��������?����������������������
�������G��9�-����
��
��!�#��
@��9��B>�?������
��.������9����9��G

���

@��
D������:������?��G���������??��������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 40Packet Page     66



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

A>�����=��
���C��������@�@�=���������
@��9���

@��>�@���������=��9����9>��������C�=�@�D����=�
����
�#�

;�<;B<�'
�����
��
G�������B>�?�����G��9�G

���

@��
D������:������?���9�??�@��?��
���:
D��
��
��>����
�B����:
D���@�
:��9��B>�?������??�G

���

@��
D������:������?��B�@
���7��>��=��.��!�".�
�����
����?�����9����:
D����

@����G��9�����
D����

@��
D������:������?��G9��9��
�@
�:��
��9��
	��������
��?��>�?������
��������
����.������
�����
���9�??��9����@������H���
������
��
��

G����9���
@���B>�?�����G��9�G

���

@��
D������:������?�#�

;�<;�<�,9��@
??
G����������
��?���@�����
�����?�����
��9��������
�������
��9���������
@��9��
B>�?������
����

50

���

@��
D������:������?8�:���������C����
���>�@����:������?�>����������
���
D����������
:����
@�G

�#�50

�.8�@
���9���>��
����
@��9�����@�����
�.�:�������=����>��?�
���
:�
�����
:������?��
������������?�����@�@�=���������G

��B=�D
?>:�#�

-����
��$#���9�������!��#�.��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�������	
��3�3	�	��)��������	/=�����+	����	


��3�3�
	�����������	�������			

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9.���@��=.�����������?�G�?@����B=�
���>?�������9���
����>���
�.��?������
��:
D�:���.���?����:���.����?���:���.�������.��A>��:���.�
>�������
��>����=.�?
����
�.���:
D�?�������:
?���
��
@������9���
��������G
�@�:�?=��G�??�����
�����
G�9
>���.��
��:
����9����9������
������B
D�����������9���9��G��9������������:�����
@�
������.������9����������
�=����>��>���#��,9�����=��
>���?�9���B=���
�����9���!!%�!��������
��
@�
�9��	��������
��?�����������?��
���G��9����������:���:������9����
�@
>����
�B������9��B����
����������
@��9�����=#��


��3�3�	� !"��!�	!#	�$�	����%����!���	���� ������	�! �	(��$	�! �#�'���!���		

;�<�,9���!!%��!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?�����������?��
���
@��9��	��������
��?��
���
�
>���?����9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?��������������?��>�?������
�������9���
�9����:��@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.��C�������������@���??=��:������
B=��9����
D���
���
@��9����9�����#��

;B<�,9���������C��9�������&.�(.�*.�+.�7.��.�����������������
����
���������9������������
����#��

;�<�-����
����!�#��5,��?�8���������?������������������
��������

��!�#��,��?�#�,9������
D���
����9�??�B��H�
G������9������������?��
���
@��9�����=�
@��
>?����
��
����������?��
��������9�??�B������������>�9�����G�??�B����@�������
�9���������5�9����
��#8#��

;�<�-����
�����!���9�
>�9����"����������?��#�,9����
����9�??�B����:����������������
�������
G��9��9�������.�5��:���������
�.8�
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
��������
����.�G��9�
�:���:����.�B=�-����
���!����.�5��
���
��
@�	��������
��?��>�?������
���0��9�)
��@�����
��.8�
�#�#�#�� �#��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 41Packet Page     67



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�,9��@
??
G������@�����
��������������
�-����
����!�.�5&�@�����
��8��

'(0�&0(��	'*�3'	,#�����G�??����>��������
����������
�B������G��G�??����>����G9���
�9������������>��>��������G?=�B>�?������G9����9���G�??����>�������B>�?��
���
��
@�����C�������
@
>�����
�.��>�9���������
��.�@

�����.�����
�9���@
>�����
���=���:�.��9�����:�����@�
:���
��:
?��9������>��>��#�����������
���
����G�??����>��������
�������������G��G�??����>����
G9����9��@?

�������
@��9��������
���A>�?��
���C�������!!Q���������
@��9��@?

�������
@�
�9���C��������G�??����>���#�

-,���*(����)-����-���(-#�-�
������

:��
��������������

:��
���������G��9���
?�D�?�
@�@����9��>@@�������
�?=��
�:�H���9���

:�>��B?��@
���9�������������
������>��
���#��
�

:��
���������9����C������9����:���:>:��G�??�B���
���������9�B���B?������������G�??�
9�D���
�:�����9���
�����A>���:��������?���B?���
�9�B���B?�������#�

;@<�����G��������������������
��9������
@�-����
��$!�#�.�5���?�����
�.8����������

-��>��>��?���?�>?���
�����:
����������9
G��9����
�
�����
����>���
��:������9�����?���B?��
��A>���:�����@
��?
����>��
����:>���B����
D������
��9��B>�?�����
@@����?#�

;�<�;�<�,9���?�:�����������
����9����������������������?���B?���
�,�B?���$!�#��;�<�������

*�
>���-�
G��
���R��9���=��
>���������A>����@

��G��9���:���:>:��

@�-�
G��
���
@�
$!��
>���������A>����@

�#�

,9�������
���G�����>���D�?
���=�R���!�)�+���!�)�+������
@���
��G�=.��$!�)�+�G����

@���
��G�=�

-���:���&�����������
�=�R����

0���9������R���D�����

2�
���?��������9�R�$�����9����

,��:����R��?��9���

&���=�R��
����
��?��9��

0������&������,�:��R�����������2�9���9�����

	���B�������>����?�=:������A>�����R�'���

2?

��+�J�����R�-����#�#�#�� ��-����
����$�$��9�
>�9��$��

����@���J��������C�R�"���

)�������>�?���:��R���#���

Agenda Item 3C     Page 42Packet Page     68



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;@<;9<�-����
���$!�#�#".�52?

��?�����
����>���
�8������G��������������������
��9������
@��9��
�����
����������5�??�G
�H�
�����>��>��������9����
���
@��9�����
����9�??��?�
�:�����9��
��A>���:�����
@��#�#�#�� ��-����
����$�$��9�
>�9��$�.��#�#�#�� �#8��

;�<�,9���C�����
��?����������$!�#�.�5,
G�9
>���.8���������?������������������
�������

(C�����
������
::
����9
>��@���������������������G�??�����:B?=��������������
�������
G��9��-,)(����
��3���%$�������:������@
���
G�9
>�����A>�������9�
>�9
>��G��9����
�>�
:����������H?����=���:������??���������
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@�-����
��
��!"��@��>�9�G�??���
��
���
�������?>:B����
��:��9�����?��A>��:���.��>����
��D��������
�9����D��=�
@��9���
::
��G�??#��,9��G�??��9�??�B��������@
��@�����C�
�>���@�
:�B
�9�������
�����9�??��C������
�����B�����9�����������C����
��G�??�������9��>���������
@��9���

@�
�9���9���#�(?�������?������??���
����9�??�B�������??���������
�������G��9��9�������$"�
�9�
>�9�"�������9������"$#����������
���
@��?�������?�
>�?���B
C����9�??�B��������
�������
G��9�-����
���$!�#"#�2
���
G�9
>�����
�	�A>�������9�
>�9
>��G��9�����>�
:�����
�����H?����=���:������??���������
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@�-����
����!".���
�
::
����9
>��@���������������������G�??�������:�������@��>�9�G�??���
��
���
������
�?>:B����
��:��9�����?��A>��:���.��>����
��D���������9����D��=�
@��9���
::
��G�??#�
(?�������?������??���
����9�??�B�������??���������
�������G��9��9�������$"��9�
>�9�"������
�9������"$#����������
���
@��?�������?�
>�?���B
C����9�??�B��������
�������G��9�-����
��
�$!�#"#�

;F<�,9��@��������������
@��9��(C�����
���
�	��:������-����
���$!�#�#�.�5��������.8�����:������B=�
��?������5���:���:>:��?�������

@��
D�����8��������?���������G��9�5��:���:>:��?�������

@�
�
D�����#8�

;H<�-����
���$!�#�#�.�5����������
�����
�.8���������?������������������
�������

�$!�#�#������������
�����
�#����������@�
:����������������?=����
����

:�>����@
��
�?��������>��
�����9�??��
��B�����:�����#���9���
��������B��G�����9�������������
�����������9�??�B���A>������G��9�G���9�����������.��
?���G

���

����
��?�����9���������
$S ����9���;$��::<�����9��H����.��
?���
��9
��=�
:B��
�������?��

����
��?�����9��������
$S ����9���;$��::<�����9��H����.�
���!�:��>���@�����������

��.��A>������G��9�����?@�
�?
�������D���#�

�

;?<�-����
���$!#�.�52���������H?���.8������?����#�

�

;:<�-����
���$��#�.�5(�������

��.8���������?������������������
�������

�

�$��#��(�������

��#�����?�����
�����������

���9�??�B����
D�����@
�����9�dwelling unit. 
,9����������

���9�??�B�������9�����.������9�??���
D������:���:>:��?����G���9�
@�$��
���9���; �$�::<�G9���:���>����B��G�����9��@����
@��9���

�������9����
�.�G��9��9���

��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 43Packet Page     69



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���


����!���������;�#������<#�,9��:���:>:��?����9���9��
@��9���

��
��������9�??��
��B��
?�����9���� ����9���;� ��::<����9���9��:���>����@�
:��9���
��
@��9���9���9
?���
��9��
B
��
:�
@��9����
�#�

��

;�<�,9��@
??
G�������������������������
��9������
@��$��#�#�#�.�5������8��

09�����9��B
��
:�
���
����������F
�������?
������>B?���G�=.�G�?HG�=�
�����D�G�=�9�D����
�������B?��9����������������D���������?������.��9��B
��
:�
���
��������������:�������
�B��
���>�����?
����9���?
��.�G��9��9��D������
�����9���9��
@��9��B
��
:�
���
���������
���
�
�C�����
���>����D������?�������>�����9
��J
���?�; ����������?
��<�
@������G�=�G���9#�,9��
�
������
��?�������������
@������������>�9��
��>��@
�:�9���9����������9�??�9�D����
���������D��:��H����������.���@@������@�
:���=�
�9����
�����:��H������
D�����
���9��������
@?��9�#�,9�����������D��:��H������������9�??�B��D���B?�������������
@��9�������������9�??�9�D��
���?��������������>�@���#�)��H�������������9�??�9�D����G���9�
@����?����������9�;���::<�B>��
�
��:
����9��������9���;���::<#�

;
<�����G�-����
���$��#.�5��������
��C����
��B�?�
����.��
��9��.����H������
�9���G�?H����
�>�@�����@�
:��9��������
��
@��9��B>�?����.8���������.������������@
??
G���

�$��#���������
��C����
��B�?�
����.��
��9��.����H�.�����
�9���G�?H�����>�@�����@�
:��9��
������
��
@��9��B>�?����#���������
��C����
��B�?�
����.��
��9��.����H�.�����
�9���G�?H����
�>�@�����@�
:��9��������
��
@��9��B>�?������9�??�B���9�
>�9��������9������
���?�������?����
�

�������9�??���
D������:���:>:��?����G���9�
@��"����9���;%�!�::<.�G9���:���>����
B��G�����9��@����
@��9���

�������9����
�.�G9����9���

�.�
�9����9����9���?�������?����
�

�.����
����!���������;�#������<#�,9��:���:>:��?����9���9��
@��9���

��
��������9�??�
�
��B��?�����9���� ����9���;� ��::<����9���9�.�:���>����@�
:��9���
��
@��9���9���9
?���
�
�9��B
��
:�
@��9����
�#���������
��C����
��B�?�
����.��
��9��.����H�.�����
�9���G�?H����
�>�@�����@�
:��9��������
��
@��9��B>�?�����@
���9����A>�������������

���9�??�:�����9��
��
D���
���
@�$��#��@
����A>�����9���9������G���9#�

;�<�-����
���$�$#�.�5,
G�9
>����>�
:�����@���������H?����=���:�.8���������?������������������
�
��������@
??
G���

�$�$#��,
G�9
>����>�
:�����@���������H?����=���:�#�(@@����D��-����:B����.��!�".����
�>�
:���������������?������H?����=���:��9�??�B�������??�������
G�9
>���#�

(C�����
�������>�
:���������������?�@���������H?����=���:��9�??��
��B����A>�����
G9���������
���
���?������
�������:�����
��C��������
G�9
>�����9����
��
��9�D�����
�>�
:���������������?�@���������H?����=���:������??��#�������
���G9��9������������G�
�G�??����>���������
���C�:���@�
:��9����
D���
���
��-����
���$�$#�#�

;A<�-����
���$�$#�.�5����������G
�@�:�?=��G�??�����>�
:�����@���������H?����=���:�.8���������?���
���������������
�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 44Packet Page     70



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�$�$#������������G
�@�:�?=��G�??�����>�
:�����@���������H?����=���:�#�(@@����D��
-����:B����.��!�".�����>�
:���������������?������H?����=���:��9�??�B�������??������
����
�����G
�@�:�?=��G�??����#�

(C�����
�������>�
:���������������?�@���������H?����=���:��9�??��
��B����A>�����
G9���������
���
���?������
�������:�����
��C�������B>�?�������9����
��
��9�D�����
�>�
:���������������?�@���������H?����=���:������??��#�������
���G9��9������������G�
�G�??����>���������
���C�:���@�
:��9����
D���
���
@�-����
���$�$#�#�

;�<�-����
���$��#�.����B
��:
�
C�����?��:�.8���������?������������������
�������

�$��#�����B
��:
�
C�����?��:�#��2
����G��
����>���
�.��������
D������B
��:
�
C����
�?��:��9�??�B�������??���
>���������9��?����������������9���::�������D������=�
@�B���

:��
����G�??����>�����G��9���G9��9�@>�?�@��������?����������������??�����������G�??����>�����
����������
�=����>��>�����
���������9�B���B?���������9���9�D�������9����������#��??�
���B
��:
�
C�����?��:���9�??�B�������??����
�����
�:�����9����A>���:�����
@�-����
��
�$��.����B
��)
�
C�����?��:�.�����
@��9�����?���B?����
D���
���
@��#�#-#T$ �"���!��
�9�
>�9��!%#�09�����9����
D���
���
@��9����
��������9���#�#-#���������
�@?���.��9��:
���
���������D���9�??��
D���#�09�����9����������
�@?����B��G������������?���A>���:����������
�����@�����A>���:���.��9�������@�����A>���:�����9�??�B�����?���B?�#�

;�<�-����
���$��.�52?

�������������
����>���
�.8���������?������������������
�������

�$���2?

�������������
����>���
�#��>�?�������������>��>�����
����>��������G9
?��
�����
���������9��@?

��?����:>���B����������������
����>�����������
�������G��9��9��@?

��?����
���>?���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�..��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�,9��@�������������9�
@�-����
���"!�#�.�5���?�����
�.8���������?������������������
�������

�"!�#�����?�����
�#��,9����
D���
���
@��9����9�������9�??��
���
?��9�������������
�
����>���
��
@��9��@
>�����
������@
>�����
���������@
���??�B>�?�����#�	��������
���
��9��
��
D���
���
@��9����9�����.��9��������������
����>���
��
@�@
>�����
��������@?

��?�������
����B?��9������,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.��9�??�:�����9����
D���
����??�
���?���B?����
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�..��#�#�#�� �#�09���.������=�
�����@�������.��9����
D���
���
@��9����
��������9���#�#�#���������
�@?���.��9��:
���
���������D���9�??��
D���#�09�����9����������
�@?����B��G������������?���A>���:����������
�����@�����A>���:���.��9�������@�����A>���:�����9�??�B�����?���B?�#�0

��@
>�����
���
�9�??�B��������������������??���������
�������G��9��2U����02#�

;><�����G�-����
���"!�#�.�5�?���:����
@�B��H@�??.8�����������
�������

�"!�#���?���:����
@�B��H@�??#��,9����
D���
���
@�-����
��� !"#��
@��9���>�?������
���
@�
�9�����=�
@��
>?�����9�??����?=��
��9���?���:����
@�B��H@�??#�

;D<�-����
��"! #�.�52?

������������.8���������?������������������
���������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 45Packet Page     71



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

"! #��2?

������������#��>�?������?
�����������@?

��?�����������B?��9������,��?��.������
3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.��9�??��
:�?=�G��9��9�����?���B?����
D���
������,��?��.�
�����3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#�

;G<�(C�����
�������-����
����!$#�.�50������������D��B������.8���������?������������������
�������

(C�����
�����	�������9���������
�=�B>�?������G9��9������
������������
�B���
�����
����
����G9�����9��������
��G�??���D������G�??���:�����C�
��������>�@�??��#�

;C<�(C�����
��$�
@�-����
�� !%#�.�53�D����������������>�D���������?
������@��������:B?���.8����
��?����#�

;�<;=<�-����
���!�#�.�5�

@��
D������:������?�.8���������?������������������
��������

�!�#�#��

@��
D������:������?�#��??��

@��
D������:������?���9�??�B��?����������?����������������
������
�������G��9�3��-���������!�
���-,)�-��������(��! #��

@�����:B?����G��9��
D������

@�B���H.�:��
��=.��?���.��?�=�
���
��������

@���?�.��C�
�����
��������

@����H.�@���
>��
���
�����
�9���?���
���9���������:���?��9����������9���?��.��9�??�B���
����������?�������

@��
D������#�
3�?����
�9��G���������@��������9��������
�.��

@��
D��������9�??�B�������??����
���������9��
�
:�
����������?�������?
���������@���������B?���$!�#�;�<.���F>�����@
��9���9�������C�
�>������
���
�������G��9���B?���$!�#��;$<#���

;9<;J<�-����
���!�#�.�50

���9���?��.8���������?������������������
��������

�!�#�#�0

���9���?��#�0

���9�H��.�G

���9���?�������G

���

@��
D������:������?������
��
9�B������C����������
D��������-����
���!����.�50

���

@��
D������)������?����
9�B����.8�
�#�#�#�� �.�@
����������:���:�?��������#��

;�<;��<�-����
���!�# .�50

���9�H��.8���������?������������������
��������

�!�# #�0

���9�H��#�0

���9�H��.�G

���9���?�������G

���

@��
D������:������?������
��
9�B������C����������
D��������-����
���!����.�50

���

@��
D������)������?����
9�B����.8�
�#�#�#�� �.�@
����������:���:�?��������#��

;F<;BB<��9��������.�5(����=�(@@������=8#�

-����
���'��!���9�
>�9�'��!$�'��!�����������?��#�����G�-����
��'��!������������
�������

'��!�#�-�
��#����>?���
����
����������9��������������
����>���
��
@�B>�?������@
���9���@@����D��
>���
@������=�������A>���:�����@
��������B>�?����������������9�??�B����:����������������
�������
G��9��9���!!%��!���	��������
��?�(����=��
����D���
���
��������
����.�G��9��:���:����.�B=�
�9�������!��.�5(����=��
����D���
������	��>?���
���
��8.��#�#�#�� �������9�������!��#��
5*������
����8.��#�#�#�� �#�

;��<�-����
��)�$!�#�#�.�52?

�����������������??���
�.8���������?������������������
��������

)�$!�#���2?

�����������������??���
�#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.��9��:��9�����?����?������.��A>��:���������=���:���9�??�B��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 46Packet Page     72



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

?
������
�������??���������
�������G��9��9�����?���B?����
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#�

;��<�����G�-����
��)�$! #$.�5�

@�
���A>��:�����>��
��������?��������.8�����������
�������

)�$! #$��

@�
���A>��:�����>��
��������?��������#���

;�<�)��9�����?��A>��:�����?����.����?����.�
����������
D����

@�����9�??�B��
�>��
�����B=��>�B��
��?����G9��9��9�??�B��@?��9����
��9���

@��������:����
G�������9�#�)��9�����?��A>��:�������?>���.�B>������
��?�:������
.�9�������
�A>��:���.��

?����������@��������
���A>��:���.�D����?������@���.�B?
G���.�����

�9�����:�?�����D�����?
������
���9���

@#�

;�<�2?����

@�#�����

@��9�D����������9�
@�?�����9����������.�:��9�����?��A>��:����
�9�??�B���>��
�����
�����
?����>�B��������������J���9����9���A>��:����G9��9����
���D��#��>�B��:�=�B��:��>@���>����
��B>�?������?���#�	@�B>�?������?���.��9���>�B�
�9�??�B���
D�����G��9�:���?�
@����?������%���>��#�,9��:���?��9�??�B��G���9������9�#�
,9���>�B��9�??�B����:���:>:�
@�����9����B
D���9��@����9����

@#�

;�<�&>����?�����9���@
>�"�@�������G���9��9�??�9�D�����?������G�?D�������9���
�?��������@�
:��9��@����9����

@��>�@�����
��9��B
��
:�
@��9���>��#�

�

;�<�&>����B��G����@
>�"�@�����������9�� �@�������G���9��9�??�9�D�����?�����
�G���=�@
>��"����9����?��������@�
:��9��@����9����

@��>�@�����
��9��
B
��
:�
@��9���>��#�

�

;�<�&>����
D������9� �@�������G���9��9�??�9�D�����?������9���=���C$%����9���
�?��������@�
:��9��@����9����

@��>�@�����
��9��B
��
:�
@��9���>��#�

;$<�����9����

@�#�����

@��9�D�������

@�����9��C���������������.�:��9�����?�
�A>��:����:�=�B������
��?����G9��9���
D������:���:>:�
@�������9����?��������
B��G�����9��@����9����

@��>�@���������9���A>��:����@��:�#�

�

;��<�-����
��)�"!�#�.�52?

��9�J���.8���������?������������������
�����#����

)�"!�#��2?

��9�J���#��	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3������>?���
�.�
�#�#�#�� �.�9������������

?�����A>��:�����������?���������9�??�B��?
������
�������??���
������
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#��

;H<�-����
��)��!�#��5�>��

������9����8�����:������B=��������5������
����G9�������G�??��
��
����������>������8��
��9��@���������������
��������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 47Packet Page     73



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

,9��������:
D���B=��D��=�:��9�����?��C9�>����=���:��9�??�B������9�������
��9��
>��

��������
�
����G9�������G�??��
������������>������#��

;?<�����G��������������������
����:���
@�-����
��)�%!�#�#�.�5�B
D����
>����>����=���:�.8��
�
�������

2?�C�B?�������>����9�??��
���C�������@�������?����9�����@?�C�B?���
�����
�������?�:������
��
�?���
�

:������B��9�

:��C9�>����=���:��
�?=#��

;@@<�-����
��)�%!�#"#.�52?

��9�J���������.8���������?������������������
�����#����

)�%!�#"#�2?

��9�J���������#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.��>����=���:���9�??�B��?
������
�������??���������
�������G��9��9��
��
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#��

;:��<�����G��������������������
�-����
��)�%!�#�.�5���>������.8��
��������

0��9�������D��>�?��G�??����>������9�����9�??�B�����?�����
������>�������
�������
�����9�@?

�#��

;99<�-����
��)�!!�#".�52?

�����������������??���
�.8���������?������������������
�����#����

)�!!�#"�2?

�����������������??���
�#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.�B
�?���.�G�����9������������9�����
���
?��=���:���9�??�B��?
������

�������??���������
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�
� �#�

;��<�-����
��)��!�#%.�52?

�����������������??���
�.8���������?������������������
�����#����

)��!�#%�2?

�����������������??���
�#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.����H���9�??�B��?
������
�������??���������
�������G��9��9��
��
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#�

;FF<�����G�-����
��)�$!$.�5-
?����9
�
D
?������
G����=���:�.8�����������
�������

)�$!$�-
?����9
�
D
?������
G����=���:�#��-
?����9
�
D
?������
G����=���:���9�??��?�
�
:�����9����
D���
���
@�-����
��($ !".�����:�����#�

;HH<�-����
��*�"!"#�.�52?

��9�J���.8���������?������������������
�����#����

*�"!"#��2?

��9�J���#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3������>?���
�.�
�#�#�#�� �.��9�����?�����.��A>��:���.������=���:������??���
������>?�����B=��9����
��.�
�9�??�B��?
������
�������??���������
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�(C�����
����.�$.�����"��
�-����
��*�"!%#�.�5��
9�B�����?
����
��.8����������?��.�����
�C�����
��������:������B=��������5�9��:�??=���
?����8��
��9��@���������������
�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 48Packet Page     74



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

,9�����?��������������??���������9��:�??=���
?������

:�
���������9���
�����
�?=�
��
���B���

:�

��B��9�

:.������>�9��

:�
�����������>����@
���
�
�9����>��
������������
D�����G��9����
?���
G���9�������������

���A>������G��9��������
D�����?@��?
�������D���#�

;
<�����G��������������������
�-����
��*�"!�#%.�5�>��

���
:B>���
�����.8��
��������

,9���

:����G9��9��9�����?����������������D����
>��

���
:B>���
������:>���B���9��:�??=�
��
?�����@�
:��9���
�����
����������
@��9���G�??����>����
���>�9�
>��

������:>���B���
�����
����
���
���
�����������9���G�??����>����
���

:����G9��9��9�����?���������D��.����?
�����#��

;�<�*�"��#"���������?������������������
�������

*�"��#"���������9�
>�9�@
>�����
��G�??#��*�����������9�??��������9��B>�?������B
D��������
�9�
>�9��9��@
>�����
��G�??.�B>�?�����
�����>��>��#�

;A<�-����
��*�"��#.�5)���:>:�B>���?�����9.8���������?������������������
��������

*�"��#�)���:>:�B>���?�����9#�3������
>�����������=���:���9�??�B�������??��������:���:>:�
����9�
@�������9���B�?
G�������@
��:���??����������������:���:>:�����9�
@�� ����9���@
���
��
:���??���������#�09�����>�9�����9������
��B��
B������.��A>�D�?������
�����
��:>���B����
D�����
B=�
�9���:���������
D���B=��9��B>�?�����
@@����?#��

;�<�-����
��*�"��##����������?��#�

;�<�-����
��*�"��#"#�.�5,���������>��.8���������?������������������
��������

*�"��#"#�#�,���������>��#�,9������������>����
�B��>�����9�??�B���
�?�����9�����V���:����9��
��
�
����:�C�:>:�G
�H���������>��.�B>���
��?�����9����!�����#��

;??<�	��:��������$�
@�-����
��*�"��# .��54��������=���:����:�����
��?
����
�.8������:������B=�
�����������G�����������
��9������
@����9�	��:��������$����������

4������9�??����:��������:���:>:�
@�� ����9���;"%�::<��B
D��@����9�������������9��
�::�������D������=�
@����9�D���#�

;�<�-����
��*�"$�#�.�5&��
����D�����?�������@
�������??���
�����@����?����.8�����:������B=��������
����G����:��"$�#�#���
��������

*�"$�#�#�#�0��9�����D������@����?�����9����:����:>���B����:
D���
��G�?����
���������?����
�

��������??���
D����9��@����?����
������#��

;><�-����
��*�"$"#�.�54����������@����?����.8�����:������B=������������G����:�*�"$"#�#���
�
�������

*�"$"#�#�#�4����������@����?������9�??�B����
D�����G��9�
>�������
:B>���
�����������?�����

��#�

;D<�-����
��*�"$�#�.�54����������@����?����9������.8�����:������B=������������G����:�
*�"$�#�#���
��������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 49Packet Page     75



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

*�"$�#�#�#�4����������@����?����9��������9�??�B����
D�����G��9�
>�������
:B>���
�����#��

;G<�-����
��*�""�#".�5��
9�B�����?
����
��.8���������?������������������
��������

,9�������?��������9�??��
��B��>�������B���

:��
���

:�������?=�>����@
���?��������>��
���#�

;C<�-����
�����!$#%�50������>��?=��=���:��������.8�����:������B=���?�������9��G
����5@
��
��������=���:��
�9����9����?�����8�����9��@�������������9#�

;::<�-����
�����!$#�.�50������>��?=��=���:��������.8���������?������������������
�������

���!$#��0�������>��?=��=���:��������#�3�
���
:�?���
��
@��9��G������>��?=��=���:�
����
�
���
��
@���.��9���=���:�
���
���
���
:�?������9�??�B���������������
D������9��>�������
G����������>���
@��
��?�����9����9��G
�H���������>���
@��9���=���:�
��B=�������������
@��
��
?�����9����!!�����;% #��H��<#�,9��������>����9�??�B��9�?��@
���
��?�����9������:��>���#�
,9��G�����>����@
���������9�??�B��
B�������@�
:����
��B?��G������
>���#8�

�

;��<�,9��(C�����
���
���%!�#�.��
������
����
�����������=���:.8������?�������������������=#���

�

;

<�-����
����%!�#$.�52?

��9�J���������.8���������?������������������
�����#����

��%!�#$�2?

��9�J���������#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.��?>:B����@�C�>���.�������.��������?��������9�??�B��?
������
��
�����??���������
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#�

;��<�,9��@��������������
@�-����
����%!�#�.�52?

�����������������??���
�.8���������?�������
�����������
��������

	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� ���

	��:������������:����>��9�����#�

;=<�-����
����%!$#%#�������?�������������������=#�

;J<�-����
���� !�#�#��5�������@
����@��=�������������9�??�B��
@��9
���:������?��?���������,�B?��
��!"#�#8���������?��#�

;��<�-����
����!"#������:������B=������������G���������9��
�������

0��������D����?���������B��G�����9��G�����:���������B>�?������9�??�B��,=������
������@����������
�9���>B?������9��
@�G�=.����>B?���>��?��=�����:���.�
��
��
�9����>B?�����
����=#�

;AA<�-����
����$!!�#$.�52?

������������������??���
�.8���������?������������������
��������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 50Packet Page     76



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�$!!�#$�2?

������������������??���
�#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3���
���>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.��������.�G����������D�����=���:���9�??�B��?
���������������??���
�
����D������@�?�����
��
@�@?

�G���������
��9���=���:����������9������@�
:��9���=���:��
���
�@?

�G�����#�

;��<�-����
���$!!.�5*��=�0��������=�?����-=���:�.8������?�������������������=#���

;��<�-����
���$�!�#�.�52?

������������.8���������?������������������
�����#����

�$�!�#��2?

������������#�	��@?

��?����.��������B?��9������,��?��.������3������>?���
�.�
�#�#�#�� �.�D������9�??�B��?
������
�������??���������
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@�,��?��
.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#�

;BB<�-����
���$�!$#��5�

@��C�����
��8�����:�������
�������

�����D�����������9����C������9�
>�9����

@��9�??�B�����:����������?�����������9���;$!��::<��B
D��
�9���

@�
���9��9��9������
@��9��D���.��C������9���G9�������

@�����
�B��>����@
����=�
�9����>��
���

�9����9���G���9�����
�����
�.��9��D�����C�����
���9�??��>�����?�������@����;��$ �::<��B
D���9��
�

@#�

;��<�-����
��($�!�#%#�#�5-��D����&���
�������
����
�8#�����G��������������������
��9�������
�
������-��D��������������
��>��
����9�??��
���C���������@����:�C�:>:���D�?
����?����9�>���?�����
B��G�����9��:�����9
>����������9��:��������
�����#�,9����??
G���9�����D��������������
��>��
���
�
��>��G��9����9��B>�?�����>���
�����@���������
����:����������9������
���������:����#�

;��<�,9��?�������������
@������
��($�! #�#�#�.��
���������:���?�>������
>���G���������������
��
>�������?����
����=���:.���������?������������������
�������

,9���>��?�:����?��?����
����9�??�B�����:�������
�B��B
������
��9����
>�������?����
���
�
��>��
�.��9����
>��������D��������������
��>��
�.��9����
>��������D��������G�=.�
����=�
��
>��������D�������?
�>���B=�:�����
@��������������
>�������?����
����
��>��
�#�

;��<�����G�-����
��($ !".�5-
?����9
�
D
?������
G����=���:�.8�����������
�������

($ !"�-
?����9
�
D
?������
G����=���:�#��-
?����9
�
D
?������
G����=���:���9�??�:����
�9����
D���
���
@�-����
���%!�#����9�
>�9�%!�#��#$#�#$�
@��9�����=�
@��
>?����2�����
��#�

;��<�-����
��($ ! #�"���������?������������������
�������

($ ! #�"��
�����������������?����
>���������:���?��
�B
C#������A>��:����B
������F>:�����9�??�
B��>�����
��
�������9���
>������
@�����
>�������=�����������?���
�����
>�����B
C#�

;@@<�-����
��($!�#%8������8�.��9��?���������������������?������������������
�������

,9�=��9�??�B���
������??����9����9���������
@��9�������
@��9��
���������9���?��
@��9���G���9�
��
����>���B���H��.�G9����������9��9�����
����
�.�G�??��
��B��:
����9�����C�@������D������9����
��?����
�9����9����@�����B
D���9��@?

��
��G
�H�����?��@
�:��@�G��9�����B>�?����.�
���C����
��������
����
G
�H�����?��@
�:��@�
���9���C����
��
@���B>�?����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 51Packet Page     77



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;>><�-����
��("�!#$.�5�������B�?��=.8�����:������B=���������9��@
??
G�����
��9������
@��9��
-����
���

(A>��:�����9�??�B�����������B=�������?�G��9���:���:>:���J��
@�������9���;$!��::<#�

;��<�-����
���7�!�#"�����:�������
�������

���?���:����0���
G�#�������?����
@��9�������
�=�
@�G
�H.�G9�������C�������G���
G.����?>�����
���9������?�J����
���
��������?����.��9�����?���:����G���
G��9�??�B��������
�������G��9��9��
�!!%�	��������
��?�(����=��
����D���
���
��������
����.�G��9��:���:����.�B=��9�������!��.�
5(����=��
����D���
������	��>?���
���
��8.��#�#�#�� �������9�������!�����5*������
����8.�
�#�#�#�� �#��

;DD<�-����
���7�!�#�.�52?

��9�J���������.8���������?������������������
�����#����

�7�!�#��2?

��9�J���������#�0
�H����@
�:�������C�������B>�?������?
�����������
@?

��?���.��������B?��9���B=�,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �.��9�??�B���
������
���
�������G��9��9�����?���B?����
D���
���
@�,��?��.������3������>?���
�.��#�#�#�� �#�

;99<�-����
�����!�#�.�5���B
����-
>��.8�����:�������
��������

���B
�����
>������>?���
���@
��G�??�����@?

�����?��������:B?�����9�??�:������-
>���
,����:����
���?������������!�G9����������������
�������G��9��-,)�-��������(�!#����������
���

��
������������
����>���
������:B?����@
��������.��?�������?���D����.������������B�����.�B��9�>B�.�
�
@@���/�
��9������.�D����?�����.�
���C9�>����>�����9�??�B�����?��.�?����.�
�����>?����.�
��
�9��G����
���������
�:���������9����A>������������#�&G�??����>��������������

���G9��9��9�������
::
��
�������9�??�B�����9��@��������
��9��@��:��������??#�

;��<�-����
�����!$#�.�5-��>��>��?��
����-
>��.8�����:�������
��������

2?

�S���?��������:B?����B��G�����G�??����>�����
��B��G�������G�??����>�����������>B?���
��
���D���������G��9��������>��>����9�??�9�D������:��������>?���
���?����;		�<��������
@��
��?�����9���
�!�G9����������������
�������G��9��-,)�-��������(�"�#��

;FF<�-����
�����!�#�.�,9���G
����5����@
���>B�>�@����?�����������������
�8����������?��.�������
��G��������������������
��9������
@��9���C�����
���
�������

->�9��=���:���9�??�B����������������A>�����B=��9���
>?�����
>��=�+��?�9�&�����:���#��

;HH<�2��>�����!�#��;�<���������?��#�

;??<�-����
�����!$���������?�����������������=#�

;GG<�����G�@

��
����
����
��5B8�����������
��9��9���������������G�@

��
���5B8�����������
����
,�B?�����!$#$;�<.�5�
���D�?>�������������
�@�C�>���.8����������

B#�2
���9���>��
���
@������:�������9��?�����������������
>����:������A>��������
������
�
��J����G�����:����.�
��@
�������:�������9���:
>���
@��9���?������D���:����@��.��9�����B?�����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 52Packet Page     78



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�����?����������?�����B=��9��2�C�>���3���S*�)�&�:�����9���������	2��
:�>����
��
�9����@
>�������������C����
��9����������.�0�����3��?��=.��#�#�#�� �#��

-����
��"#���9�������!�%.��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�������	
��1	�	����������	����	


��1�
	�����������	�������	

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9�������@��=�B=����>?�������9��
�����??���
�.��?������
�.�
���������
@�
��������
���
��?�������?��
��>��
���
���A>��:���������??���
G��9���
��
����=����>��>�������9�����=#�,9�����=��
>���?�9���B=���
�����9���!!��!��������
��
@��9��
National Electrical Code�G��9����������:���:�����������?���
����9����
�@
>����
�B������9��B����
����������
@��9������������
@��9�����=#�


��1�	� !"��!�	!#	�$�	����!���	���'�%�'��	�! �	(��$	�! �#�'���!���	

;�<�,9���!!��!��������
��
@��9��National Electrical Code�
@��9��'���
��?�2������
�����
��
���
�����
�����9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?����(?�������?��
���
���?�������?�
�
�������9����9����:��@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.��C��������
�����@���??=��:������B=��9����
D���
���
@��9����9�����#�

;B<������?��!���������?��#�,9����
����9�??�B����:����������������
�������G��9��9�������.�
5��:���������
�.8�
@��9���!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
���������������C��.�
5��:���������D����
D���
��.8�
@��9���!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
��.������
����.�
��������D�?=.�G��9��:���:����.�B=�-����
���!����.�5��
���
��
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
���
G��9�)
��@�����
��.8��#�#�#�� ���9���!!%	��������
��?��
����
>���?�(?�������?��
���;	��(�<�
G��9��9����?���
��
@�	��(��-����
����!�#��'
�:���??����9���9�����B?�#��

;�<�,9��@
??
G������@�����
������������
������5	#�*�����?8�
@������?���!!.�5&�@�����
���8�

�%�� 	����,9��B>�?�����
�����>��>��������
�������@�
:�G���9�������9����??�
������������B��
�?
���.��9���

@����:������?���������??��.������9���C����
��G�??����
D�����9��B>�?�����
��
���>��>���G��9���G���9��������������C����
��G�??���D�?
��#�

;�<;�<�->B�����
����!�#�!;��<$���������?������������������
�������

;$<�-�
�����
��(A>��:����-�����#�2
��������.�>����@?

��������.�>��?��=��

:������
B���:����.����?�����
���?��9�����
>�?����
���
??���B=���G�??��G���9��9�??�B�������??���G9����
�9���������������>����@
����
�����
���
�������A>��:������A>���������D�����#�,9���
���
?�
G�??��G���9��9�??�B��?
����������9��>�>�?��
����
@�����=��
��>�9������#�,9��?��9�����
>�?���
�9�??�B����
D��������
��������9���A>��:������A>���������D�����#�

;�<;�<�,9��@��������������
@�-����
���$!#�.�5'>:B���
@�-��D����.8���������?������������������
�
������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 53Packet Page     79



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�$!#�#�'>:B���
@�-��D����#���B>�?�����
��
�9������>��>����9�??�B���>��?����B=�
�?=�
���
���D����>�?�������:����������$!#�;�<��9�
>�9�;&<���������
D������
���
����:������>�����

�����
���
��9��������
@���=��?�������?�G
�H�����������
���9�����:��#�

;�<;@<�����G����:�$�����������
�-����
���$!#�;�<.�-�����?����>�������.��
�������

;$<�2��������������������B=���:���:>:��G
�9
>��@����G�??������@�����B=��9��B>�?������
���
:�=�B���
���������������������B>�?������@
���9���>��
���
@���?�>?�������9���>:B���
@�
���D������@�����
D���B=��9��B>�?�����
@@����?#�

;@<;�<�����G����:�"�����������
�-����
���$!#�;�<.��������=���A>���:����.��
�������

;"<�09�����9���C����������D�������B�����>�����
��������=�����9���B������
���?=�
:���������#�

;�<;9<�->B�����
���$!�"!.��
����������9���>:B���
@����D��������������
��>��
������.�����:������
B=���?�������C�����
���$�����"#�

;9<;�<�->B�����
���$!�#�!;�<;�<;�<.��
����������9��?
����
��
@����D�����A>��:��������
���������
:����.���������?������������������
�������

;�<������?=��������B?���
����
�#�,9�����D��������
���������:������9�??�B�������??��������
�����?=��������B?��?
����
�����9����::������?=���F�������
�
�������9����
��9��
>������
@���
B>�?�����
�����>��>��.�
������������������9���
����
@����������
@��9�����D�����
��>��
��#�

;�<�-��D��������������
��>��
����9�??��
���C���������@����:�C�:>:���D�?
����
?����9�>���?�����B��G�����9��:�����9
>����������9��:��������
�����#�,9����??
G��
�9�����D��������������
��>��
����
��>��G��9����9��B>�?�����>���
�����@���������
�
���:����������9������
���������:����#�

;�<�(?�������?��

:���
���������B>�?�����:��������
�������?
������G��9�����
���>��>����9�??�B��?
������������9���
����
@����D�����������������
���9���C����
��
G�??�G��9����

��?�������������?=�
>�����#�,9���

���9�??�B��������@����G��9��9����
���9�9��9�?�����������������5(?�������?�(A>��:�����

:#8�

;�<;F<�-����
����!#�"%.��
����������
�����������������?����
>���������:���?��
�B
C.�����:�������
B=��9����?���������:��;�<.�;�<�����;�<#�

;F<�,9��?�������������
@��9��@�������������9�
@�->B�����
����!#�$;&<�.��
���������:���?�
>������
>���G�����������������
>�������?����
����=���:.���������?������������������
�������

,9���>��?�:����?��?����
����9�??�B�����:�������
�B��B
������
��9����
>�������?����
���
�
��>��
�.��9����
>��������D��������������
��>��
�.��9����
>��������D��������G�=.�
��
��=���
>��������D�������?
�>���B=�:�����
@��������������
>�������?����
����
��>��
�#�

;H<-����
��$�!#��;�<�����:������B=������@=�����9���
?
���
@�>���
>������
��>��
����
�B��B?��H.�
���.�B?>��@
����!S�! �D
?���=���:������B�
G�.�
�����.�=�??
G�@
�����S" !�D
?���=���:�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 54Packet Page     80



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;H<�����G������
��$�!#��.�5�
��>��
��	�����@�����
�.8�����������
�������

$�!#����
��>��
��	�����@�����
�#�,9���
?
���
@�>���
>������
��>��
����9�??�B��B?��H.�
���.�����B?>��@
����!S�! �D
?���=���:������B�
G�.�
�����.�����=�??
G�@
�����S" !�D
?��
�=���:�#�

;?<�����G����:�;%<�����������
������
��$$"#�!.�53�������:�����.8��
�������

;%<�,=���').�,=���')�.�����,=���')-��9�??��
��B�������??��������=�B>�?�����
����=�
���>��>���>���?��9��B>�?�����
�����>��>�������
:�?���?=���������#�

;?<�,9��@��������������
@������
��$$"#�!;�<�����:�������
�������

;�<�)>?��@�:�?=��G�??��������:�������
�B��
@��=����		.�			.�	4�����4��
����>���
���C��������
��
9�B��������$$"#��#���

;:<�,9��@��������������
@�-����
��$$"#�!;$<�����:�������
�������

;$<���9������>��>�������:�������
�B��
@�,=����		�.			�.�	4������4���
����>���
��
@�
�!.!!!��A>����@����
��?���#�

;�<;:<�,9��?�������
������������
@��9������
�>��
�=��
���
��
@�->B�����
��"!"# ;�<.��
���������
�9��?
����
��
@��G���9��.���������?������������������
��������

,9�=��9�??�B���
������??����>�9��9����9���������
@��9�������
@��9��
���������9���?��
@��9��
�G���9�
������>���B���H��.�G9����������9��9�����
����
�.�G�??��
��B��:
����9�����C�@������D���
���9����
��?�����9����9����@�����B
D���9��@?

��
��G
�H�����?��@
�:��@�G��9�����B>�?����.�
��
�C����
��������
����G
�H�����?��@
�:��@�
���9���C����
��
@���B>�?����#�

;
<;�<�->B�����
�����#��$;�<.��
�����������
>������
@���������?�������@�C����?��������A>��:����
���������������������.�����:������B=��������������������
�������

��������?��������?�������?�
>�?����G��9����C�:�������

:�.������:�����

:�.�������:�?���
������G9�����9����������:�=��
:������
������G��9��?�������?���D���������9�����

:���9�??�
B��?������9
�����?�����������������@��������>�9#�

;�<�->B�����
���� �";�<.��
���������'
���������
����>���
�.���������?������������������
��������

;�<�'
���������
����>���
�#�'
��:���??����9���9�����B?�.�,=��������B?�.��?�������?��
��
:���??����>B���.������������
��:���??����
��>����9�??�B�����:�������
�B�������??������B>�?������
��
�
���
���
@�B>�?������
@��
���������=����
@��
����>���
��������
�������G��9������
��$$"#�!;$<#�

;
A<�->B�����
��% !#�$.�5�������B�?��=.8�����:������B=���������9��@
??
G�����(A>��:�����9�??�
B�����������B=�������?�G��9���:���:>:���J��
@��G�?D�����9���B=��G�?D�����9��#�

;�<����G��>B�����
��;	<�����������
������
��%!#".�5	����??���
�.8��
�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 55Packet Page     81



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;	<��!4"����'�	(��$	0�%�	�! ���-
?����9
�
D
?������
G����=���:���9�??�B�������??������
���
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@������
���%!�#��#���9�
>�9�%!�#��#"�
@��9�����=�
@�
�
>?����2�����
��#�

;�<;A<�->B�����
��%!#�%�;�<��
����
��9
�
D
?�����-
>��������>���#��
�����������������>������
�
?����9
�
D
?������
>�����
��>��
���������������
���B>�?����������9��@
??
G������C�#���

;�<��

@�
��:
>������
?����9
�
D
?���������=��=���:��G9
����
>�����
��>��
������>����
��������������9��B>�?����������
�9�??�B����
���������������
D���>����������9�����
>����
���9��
�

@��G��9����?
���
@�"����9���
@���������������9���
@��>��
��?�����?
���B�@
�������������9��
B>�?����#��

;�<��

@�
��:
>������
?�������=��=���:��G9
����
>�����
��>��
������>������������������9��
B>�?����������
�B����
���������������
D���>����������9�����
>����B>���
�:
����9���!!�::�
;$�@���<�@�
:��9���

@���D��
���

@�G��9����?
���
@�:
����9���"����9���
@���������������9���

@��>�#�


��1�,	���'�%�'��	��%4��	0����	

(?�������?����:���@���������9
����������B���B=�->B�����
��"��!� ;�<.��#�#�#�� �#�

-����
���#���9�������!��.��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�������	
��5	�	����+�	���)��2�����	���	��)=������	����	


��5�
	�����������	�������	

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9.���@��=.�����G�?@����B=����
>��������9��
�
����D���
��
@�������������=����
>������9�
>�9��9�����>?���
��
@�B>�?������
����>���
������������
�
�:���:�J�������=��
��>:���
��@
��9������.��

?���.�?��9����.�����D����?���������>��>��������9��
���=������
����
>�����B>�?������������>��?�J����������B>�?��������9��A>��#


��5�	���%�&	�!���%����!�	�! ��	

;�<��
>���?���
����B=���@��������9���!!%��!���	��������
��?�(����=��
����D���
���
���
@��9��
	��������
��?��
����
>���?�G��9��9���:���:����������@����B�?
G#�,9����9�������9�??�B��
��:���������.����?���.�����������������������
�������G��9�������������
@��9�������!��.�5�>�?�����
�
��.8��#�#�#�� �#��,9����9����������?�
�����������
��
:�?=�G��9�����B������������������
��@
������
�����
��
:�?=�G��9�"��3#-#�#�-����
��%��;@<;$<�������=�
�9���@�����?���A>���:�����
�
��D
�������:���
�#��2
���>��
����
@�"��3#-#�#�-����
��%��;@<;$<.�5��G��
����>���
�8��9�??�B��
�������������
����?>����??�G
�H��9�������������9����A>���:���������B?��9�������9����9�����#�

;B<�-����
����!�#"#$�������
��.��?������
��.����
D���
��������������#�����G��>B������
�����������
���D�
>���
��9���C�����
����
���������@
??
G���

Agenda Item 3C     Page 56Packet Page     82



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

��!�#"#$#���??����:������?�����
�����D
?D������:
?���
�.���G��
����>���
��������:
��?�����S
��
������
���
@�����������?�B>�?���������������9����!!��A>����@�����9�??�:�����9����A>���:�����
@��9���
�
��������9�������!�����5*������
����8.��#�#�#�� ��������?���B?�#�

;�<;B<�(C�����
��$�
@������
����!�#"#$���������?��������������������@
??
G���

$#�#�2
�����������
����:
��?�
@�������������?����>��>��.�G9�����9��G
�H��>�9
��J���B=���
B>�?��������:���>������9�������!��.�5�>�?������
��.8��#�#�#�� �.��
����
���?����:
���
�9����!!��A>����@����
@��9���C��������
�����
���������.��C����������?���.�G�??.�
��@?

��
��D�������C�
�����>������
����>���
�������C�:���@�
:�:��������9����
D���
���@
����G�
�
����>���
����
D������9����C�
����G�??�@��:������D�������������>?������
��9����@>??����
����9.�B>���
�?�����9������$.�����������������C�
����
���������B?��@?

�S���?��������:B?����
������������
�����
�����������@�
:�>��
�����
������������������>?������
��9����@>??����
����9.�B>���
�?�����9�����$ �G9���D����
���B?�#��??����?���:����@���������
���9�??�:����
�9������������D����A>���:�����
@�,�B?���"!�#�#��
���"!�#�#$#��
���
���
@�B���:���������
���G?�������������������
�����
�����������@�
:�>��
�����
������������9�??�:�����9��
����������D����A>���:�����
@�,�B?���"!�#�#��
���"!�#�#$�@
���?�:����J
�����G9���D���
�
���B?�#�,9����
D���
���
@������
���"!�#���9�??����?=#�

$#�#�2
��������
����
�����������?����>��>����G9�����9��G
�H��>�9
��J���B=���B>�?��������:���
>������9�������!��.�5�>�?������
��.8��#�#�#�� �.��
����
������:
����9����!!��A>����
@���.�B>�?�������D�?
����
:�
�������9�??�:�����9����
D���
���
@��,�B?���"!�#�#��
��
�"!�#�#$.��������?���B?���
���
���
@��9�������!�����5*������
����8.��#�#�#�� �#�,9��
��
D���
���
@������
���"!�#���9�??����?=#�

$#$�#��:
��?��
@��
������������?����>��>����G9�����9��G
�H��>�9
��J���B=���B>�?�����
���:���>������9�������!��.�5�>�?������
��.8��#�#�#�� �.��
����
���?����:
����9����!!�
�A>����@���#�

;�<;�<�-����
����!�$#�#����������?��������������������@
??
G���

-����
����!$�#�#���B
D���
�����
���:�#�(C�����@
���9
�������������?����>��>��������
�
���
���
@����>��>�����C�:���@�
:��9����
��.��9����A>���:�����
@��9�������!��#���5*�����
�>�?���������*������
�������
���:8.��#�#�#�� ���9�??�B��>�����
���:
��������
�
:�?������G��9��9�������=��@@������=��
:�
������
@��9����
��#�

;�<;�<�-����
�(�,	�'��!"��!$#����������?������������������
���������@
??
G���

�!"��!$#����*�����?#��
����>���
���
�>:���������
�9����>��
������������9�??�B���>B:���������

���
��:
��������G��9����9����?�����
��@
�������:��#�,9���
����>���
���
�>:�����������������
�>B:������>������9����
D���
���
@��9����9�������9�??�B�����������B=�����B�����9�����:��
@���
�
?
���
�?����������
@����
��?����������
�����9�����#�&
�>:������>B:������@
���9���>��
����
@�
�����
��"!"�������!�%��9�??�B���>B:������B=����
?
���
�?����������������.����9������
����
��
@����
��?�G9
���:
����������9��H�
G?����������C����������
����@
�:��>�9���?�>?���
��#�
09����������?��
�����
����C���.��9���
���
@@����?�����>�9
��J����
���A>����������
��?��
����>���
��
�
�>:������
�B�����������B=���?����������
@����
��?#�

(C�����
����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 57Packet Page     83



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�#�,9���
���
@@����?�:�=�G��D���9���>B:����
��
@��
����>���
���
�>:���������
�9���
�>��
������������@��9��
@@����?�@������9����9�����>���
@��9��G
�H��
����
����A>������D��G�
@�
�9���
�>:�����
��������
�
B������
:�?�����#�,9���G��D����>�9
���=��
����
�����?=��
�
�
�>:�������A>������
�B�����������B=���?�����������9������
����������#�

;@<;�<��-����
�����!$#$��9�
>�9���!$#��������?����#�

;@<��-����
����!"�#$.�52���?�	�������
�.8�����:������B=������������G���������9��
�������

,9�����?������:>�����
D���������:��
@�@���?���������
��
@����
::�����?�B>�?�����G�������
D���@�����
��G9��9�B������9�����:��
@���?�����������9������
�����������
��������?��������
��
���������B�����������
���!�#$#"��
@��9���!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
���
�9����9�����>��>����
�@
�:��G��9��9����
D���
���
@��9�������"#�

;�<��-����
�����!"#���9�
>�9���!"# #��������?����#�

;9<��-����
����!�.�52���.8������?����#�

;�<��-����
����! .�5-�
��0
�H������.8������?����#�

;F<��-����
����!.�5�
����
@������?�.8������?����#�

;�<;H<�-����
����!�.��9����@�����
��
@�5�
����@@����?8���������?������������������
�������

�
���
@@����?�����9�����=�:������#�

;9<;?<�-����
���"!��!�#����������?������������������
�������

-����
����!�"!�#��-�
��#��

,9����A>���:������
������������9����9�������������?���B?���
���G��
::�����?�B>�?����������
������
����
�
����:
��?��
@��
::�����?�B>�?�����#��
::�����?�B>�?�������9�??��C������9�������=�
�@@������=���A>���:�����
@��-+��(S	(-'��-��������!#��(����=�-��������@
���>�?�����(C�����
@
���
G����������������?��>�?������B=����?�����$!���������
��
�9�������
D����A>�D�?�����������
��������#�

�!�"!�#�#���?�������D������
��9���@
���
:�?�����#��

,9��@
??
G����:��9
���
@��
:�?������:�=�B��>��������?����
@��9������
��9�������B�����������
��
�!�"!�#���B
D���

�#��>�?������
@��!.!!!��A>����@����
��?����:�=�B������������
�������������D��������������
�����?�������9����9������
���9�
>�9�
�9���:���>�����9������>?�������B>�?������9���������?�����
$!���������:
��������=��@@��������9����9���!!%��!���	(��#�

�#��
::�����?��
��������9�??�B>�?�������9���9�D���!���������
��?����@����9���@?

�������
:�=���D�����9��$!��������������=��@@������=���A>���:����B��G�����9���
��������9�??�
B>�?�����������������9��@>�>���������
���������@����9�������#�,9�������=��@@������=���D�����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 58Packet Page     84



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

����������������������
����9��?�:����
@��9��B>�?������9�??�B�����������������9����:��
@��9��
�>B:����?�
@��9��B>�?��������:���@
���9���
��������9�??����:��#�

$#�,9���
����>���
���
�>:�����@
����:
��?��������C��������
::�����?���D�?
��.�
:��9�����?�����?��9������=���:���9�??���:
���������
:�?������G��9��9��������
�����
���
@�
�9��@
??
G����G�=��������B���B�?
G#�,9���
����>���
���
�>:������9�??����?>���
�
:�?�������
�>:������
���9�����:
����������9����

�#�,9���?������B>�?����������
���=���:��G�??�:�����9����A>���:�����
@������
��
�!%�"!�.�I,
��?��>�?��������@
�:����I��!!%��!���	(��������9�����>?�����
�
:�?���������H�����9
G������?������B>�?����������
���=���:��9������$!���������
:
��������=��@@��������9����9���!!%��!���	(��/�

�#�,9����:
��?������G�??�:�����������
D�������
@�����������D����A>���:������9���
�������?�����$!���������:
����@@��������9����9���!!%��!���	(��#�������?������:�=�
>����9���-+��(���D������(����=�&������*>�����@
���>�9�����������D��
��A>���:����.�
���A>�D�?����:��9
���9����������
D���B=��9�����=�:������/�
��

�#�,9����:
��?������:������9���!!%��!���	(�����A>���:�������������>B:������
G��9���������=��@@������=��:�?�:������
���?������������B=���?�����������9������
��
�������������
@����
��?����������G9��9��9
G��9
G��9����
�����G�??��
����B>����
�
@>�>��������=��@@������=��:��
D�:������
�B������9��B>�?�����>���
�$!���������
�B
D���9���!!%��!���	(��#��

�
;:<�-����
���"!�#�.�5���?�����
�.8���������?������������������
�������

�"!�#������?�����
�#���

�#�>�?������?�������9����!.!!!��A>����@����:>�����:
���������
:�?�������9�
>�9��9����
����=����@
�:�����:
��?�����9����������
D���B=��9�����=�:������#��

�#��
::�����?�B>�?������
@��!.!!!��A>����@����
��?���.�:��������9����A>���:�����
@��9���
-����
���"!���9�
>�9��9���?������������
��9�
@��
:�?������@
>�������"!�#�.��
->B��������9��#�B=���:
�����������9�����B>�?�����
���=���:����$!���������:
��������=�
�@@��������9����9���!���	(��.��9�??��?�
��
:�?=�G��9��

�# ,9����A>���:�����
@�-����
����"!�.��"!$.��"!".��"!�.������"!%/�
��

B#����,9����A>���:�����
@�-����
����"!�.��"!�#".��"!$#�.��"!".��"!�#�.��"!�#$.�
�"!�#".��"!�#%.������"!�#�#���

;�<��-����
���"!�#�#�������?����#�

;
<��-����
����!�#"#$�������
��.��?������
��.����
D���
��������������#�����G��>B������
�����������
���D�
>���
��9���C�����
����
���������@
??
G���

��!�#"#$#���??����:������?�����
�����D
?D������:
?���
�.���G��
����>���
��������:
��?��
���S
��������
���
@�����������?�B>�?���������������9����!!��A>����@�����9�??�:�����9��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 59Packet Page     85



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

��A>���:�����
@��9����
��������9�������!�����5*������>�?���������*������
�����
��
���:8.��#�#�#�� ��������?���B?�#�

;�<�(C�����
��$�
@������
����!�#"#$���������?��������������������@
??
G���

$#�#�2
�����������
����:
��?�
@�������������?����>��>��.�G9�����9��G
�H��>�9
��J���B=���
B>�?��������:���>������9�������!��.�5�>�?������
��.8��#�#�#�� �.��
����
���?����:
���
�9����!!��A>����@����
@��9���C��������
�����
���������.��C����������?���.�G�??.�
��@?

��
��D�������C�
�����>������
����>���
�������C�:���@�
:�:��������9����
D���
���@
����G�
�
����>���
����
D������9����C�
����G�??�@��:������D�������������>?������
��9����@>??����
����9.�B>���
�?�����9������$.�����������������C�
����
���������B?��@?

�S���?��������:B?����
������������
�����
�����������@�
:�>��
�����
������������������>?������
��9����@>??����
����9.�B>���
�?�����9�����$ �G9���D����
���B?�#��??����?���:����@���������
���9�??�:����
�9������������D����A>���:�����
@�,�B?���"!�#�#��
���"!�#�#$#��
���
���
@�B���:���������
���G?�������������������
�����
�����������@�
:�>��
�����
������������9�??�:�����9��
����������D����A>���:�����
@�,�B?���"!�#�#��
���"!�#�#$�@
���?�:����J
�����G9���D���
�
���B?�#�,9����
D���
���
@������
���"!�#���9�??����?=#�

$#�#�2
��������
����
�����������?����>��>����G9�����9��G
�H��>�9
��J���B=���B>�?��������:���
>������9�������!��.�5�>�?������
��.8��#�#�#�� �.��
����
������:
����9����!!��A>����
@���.�B>�?�������D�?
����
:�
�������9�??�:�����9����
D���
���
@��,�B?��"!�#�#��
��
"!�#�#$.��������?���B?���
���
���
@��9�������!�����5*������>�?���������*������
�����
��
���:8.��#�#�#�� �#�,9����
D���
���
@������
��"!�#���9�??����?=#�

�;A<��-����
����!�#�#����������?��������������������@
??
G���

-����
����!�#�#���B
D���
�����
���:�#�(C�����@
���9
�������������?����>��>��������
�
���
���
@����>��>�����C�:���@�
:��9����
��.��9����A>���:�����
@��9�������!�����5*�����
�>�?���������*������
�������
���:8.��#�#�#�� ���9�??�B��>�����
���:
��������
�
:�?������G��9��9�������=��@@������=��
:�
������
@��9����
��#�

;�<��-����
����!$#����������?������������������
���������@
??
G���

��!$#��*�����?#��
����>���
���
�>:���������
�9����>��
������������9�??�B���>B:���������

���
��:
��������G��9����9����?�����
��@
�������:��#�,9���
����>���
���
�>:���������
���������>B:������>������9����
D���
���
@��9����9�������9�??�B�����������B=�����B�����9��
���:��
@����
?
���
�?����������
@����
��?����������
�����9�����#�&
�>:������>B:������@
��
�9���>��
����
@������
���"!���9�??�B���>B:������B=����
?
���
�?����������������.�
���9������
������
@����
��?�G9
���:
����������9��H�
G?����������C����������
����@
�:�
�>�9���?�>?���
��#�09����������?��
�����
����C���.��9���
���
@@����?�����>�9
��J����
�
��A>����������
��?��
����>���
���
�>:������
�B�����������B=���?����������
@����
��?#�

(C�����
����

�#�,9���
���
@@����?�:�=�G��D���9���>B:����
��
@��
����>���
���
�>:���������

�9����>��
������������@��9��
@@����?�@������9����9�����>���
@��9��G
�H��
����
��
��A>������D��G�
@��9���
�>:�����
��������
�
B������
:�?�����#�,9���G��D���

Agenda Item 3C     Page 60Packet Page     86



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�>�9
���=��
����
�����?=��
��
�>:�������A>������
�B�����������B=���?��������
���9������
����������#�

;�<��-����
�����!$#$��9�
>�9���!$#��������?����#�

;�<��-����
�����!"#���9�
>�9���!"# #��������?����#�

;><�-����
����!�.�52���.8������?����#�

;D<�-����
����! .�5-�
��0
�H������.8������?����#�

;G<��-����
����!.�5�
����
@������?.8������?����#�

;C<��-����
����!�.��9����@�����
��
@�5�
����@@����?8���������?������������������
�������

�
���
@@����?�����9�����=�:������#�

-����
��%#���9�������!��#�.��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�������	
��5�3	�	+����	/=�����+	���	+����	�����)	���+���	


��5�3�
	�����������	������	�� 	�7%"!���		

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9���@��=�����G�?@����B=����>?������
����������?��
����>���
��G��9��9����������
��
����D�������=.�G���������
�9������>��?����
>����.�
������D���9��9��?�9�
@�
>����D��
�:�����9�
>�9�
���
��?�����:�����
�=���A>���:�������?������
�
������.��
����>���
�.�
������
��.����=�?���.��������
����>���
��,9����9������9����9��@
??
G����
������
��?��>��
�����

;�<�	����
D��������������@
����������9����D��
�:����?����@
�:�����
@�����������?�
�
����>���
������������������
D������>���?�����@
���
�>:������
���9�����:
���������
�
�@
�:�����G��9��9����������/�

;B<�	�����
>�������
����@@����D�������>������B?������������?�B>�?�����:��9
��.�B=�
���
>��������
����D���
��
@�@
���?�@>�?�.�G���������
�9������>��?����
>����.����>���
��
@�
�����9
>��������:����
��.����=�?����
@��
����>���
��:������?�.����>������
?���G���������
�:��
D�������

������A>�?��=/�

;�<�	��������@�����9�������@�����A>���:�����@
���
:�?=����G��9��9��*������
�������
���:�
����9
G��9����
���:������@����������C�������9���!!%��!���	��������
��?�(����=�
�
����D���
���
�����
���������9�������!��.�I(����=��
����D���
������	��>?���
���
��.I�
�#�#�#�� �/�

;�<�	�����?>����:�����
�=�������B>�?�������A>���:������
����>����9����
����>���
��G�����
�������
����>���
��:������?���������=�?��.���>���.�
��
�9��G������D������@�
:�?����@�??�.�
����:���:>:���A>���:������
����>����9����G�??����������
����>������������@@�������
:�����/�����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 61Packet Page     87



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�	�����?>������
D���
�������������
���
D����@
��F
������:���������
��G��9��9����
��������

@�B>�?��������:����@
����:
��?���.��������
�.������
����>�������G�??����>����/����#�

;@<�	���������������
��
:�?=�G��9.�����B��������������������@
������
�����
��
:�?=�G��9.�"��
3#-#�#�-����
��%��;@<;$<�������=�
�9���@�����?���A>���:������
��D
�������:���
�#��2
��
�>��
����
@�"��3#-#�#�-����
��%��;@<;$<.�5��G��
����>���
�8��9�??�B���������������
�
���?>����??�G
�H��9�������������9����A>���:���������B?��9�������9����9�����#�


��5�3�	)'!"�	�� 	� 4�����%���!��	�

;�<�-�
��#�,9����
D���
���
@��9����9���������?=��
��9��@
??
G�����

;�<�'�G��
����>���
�.���:
��?�.�
��������
����
����G�??���.����?>�����G��9
>��?�:�����
��
����?��>�����G�??����.�:>?���>�����G�??����.������G�??�����G��9���:�C���>���
��D�?
�:����#�

;�<���=��G
�
��:
���B>�?��������:����@
���9����:�����>��>����9����������?����@
�������=����
:
��9�����
���9�??�B���
������������
������?�����
��@
���9���>��
���
@�:��������9��
��A>���:�����
@�-����
����!��#��$.�I)�����
�=�*������>�?�������A>���:����I������!�
�#��".�I���
>�����
����D���
��W�*������
����.I��#�#�#�� �#�

;$<�,9����A>���:�����
@��9����9�������9�??����?=��
��
����>���
������D������
@��??��=����
@�
�G�??�����>�?�����9���
���C���?���?=�����������
�9��G���#�

;"<�,9����A>���:�����
@��9����9�������������������
���
������
��
�����?�����9��
��A>���:�����G��9����9���
>?������D������
��.����?>�����G��9
>��?�:�����
���??�
@��9��?�@��
��@��=��
���.��9��9���
����������D���
��
��������.��9��?����>����
��������9�����=�
@�
�
>?����&�����������
����>���
��-��������#�

;B<���:���������
�#�,9��*������
�������
���:��9�??�B����:���������.����?���.��������������������
���
�������G��9��9�������.�I��:���������
�.I��9�������.�I&�@�����
��.I�
@��9��	��������
��?�
�>�?������
���;	��<������9��	��������
��?�����������?��
���;	��<������
�����G��9��:���:�����
B=�-����
����!����.�I��
���
��
@�	��������
��?��>�?������
���G��9�)
��@�����
��.I������!��#���.�
I��
���
��
@�	��������
��?�����������?��
���G��9�)
��@�����
��.I��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�	�������
�������
:�?�����#�'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9���
�9�����#�'
�����
���9�??��
����>������D�
?���
��
@���*������
���������
D�?#��??�����
D�?������
��������
���
@�*������
���E�����?�����
���������A>���:������9�??�B���
�������
�F>����
��G��9���
����������?�B>�?��������:������?�����
������@��?����������
��#�������?�����
���9�??�B��:����
����
@
�:��9����������
D���B=��9�����=�:������#�,9�����?�������9�??���:
���������
:�?������G��9��??�

@��9����
D���
���
@��9����9���������
���
��9�����>�����
@��������@������
@�
��>����=�B=��9�����=�
:������#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 62Packet Page     88



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�(C�����
��#���=����>��>����9������?>�����G�??������9��������>��>������3#-#�*������>�?�����
�
>���?E���((&,�;�������9������(����=�����(�D��
�:����?�&�����<�-�?D��������@�����
��
��
�
:����B?��������B>�?�����������������@�����
��
��9��9���G�??�B���C�:���@�
:��9��*������
�����
��A>���:����#�'
�����
���9������?����@
���9����C�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?�����9���((&�:�
�����@�����
����
��������������D���>�9������@�����
��G��9�����C�:
��9���@�����9��@���?���������
��
��
�9��B>�?��������:��#�,9�����=�:�������:�=�����������C�����
���
��9�����:������
���@�����A>�������
:����B=��9�����?�����������9�����?��������:
������������

����>�������
�G9=�������
��?���:�����
��������
��
:�?�����9�������@�����
�#�


��5�3�,	��� ��!%&	+%���	/7�� ���	��67�%�4�����	�

;�<�(����=�(@@������=�W�'�G�&G�??����3����#�������?������@
����B>�?��������:���@
�����9���G�
�G�??�����9�??���:
���������9����9��B>�?��������:
��������=��@@��������9�����B>�?������9���:�����
�9��:���:>:���A>���:�����
@��9�������!��.�I	��������
��?�(����=��
����D���
������	��>?���
��
�
��.I��#�#�#�� �#�,�B?����?������9��:���:>:������=��@@������=���A>���:����#�

,���(������,�����@
��(����=�(@@������=�,9���9
?���

�&"�	!#	�%!D�'�	 )67�%�	
0!!����	 ���%�&	�##�'���'&	�$%��$!� �	�.!��	�! �	

'�G��
����>���
���� 3���
�$.!!!� $!��!���������:
��������=��@@��������9����!!%��!���
	(���

$.!!���.!!!� �!"!���������:
��������=��@@��������9����!!%��!���
	(���

�.!!������>�� ��%����������:
��������=��@@��������9����!!%��!���
	(���

)>?���3����
&G�??����� ���?�����
��??� $!�!���������:
��������=��@@��������9����!!%��!���

	(���

;B<�,9���9
?���@
�����?�����
��
@�'�G��
����>���
��-����������
�(�������>�?���������9�����>?��
@�
���������
�#���=�������
��G9��9�:�������=�
@��9���9���9
?���������B���B�?
G�G�??���A>�����9���
�9���
�����
����@?

�������
@��9���������B>�?�����B��>���������
�:������G��
����>���
������������
@
�������=��@@������=����->B�����
���!��#��$;�<.��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�,9��������
������!!���������
��:
����9����9���
�����
����@?

�������
@��9���C�������
�G�??����>���������9���G�??����>����G�??�9�D�����
��?��
�����
����@?

��������@�����9��
������
���
��9���G�??����>�����9������>���
�$.!!!��A#�@�������J�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 63Packet Page     89



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�,9��������
������!���������
��:
����9����9���
�����
����@?

�������
@��9���C�������
�G�??����>���������9���G�??����>����G�??�9�D�����
��?��
�����
����@?

��������@�����9��
������
���
��9���G�??����>�����9������@�
:�$.!!���
��!!!��A#�@�������J�#�

;$<�,9��������
����������������
��:
����9����9���
�����
����@?

�������
@��9���C�������
�G�??����>���������9���G�??����>����G�??�9�D�����
��?��
�����
����@?

��������@�����9��
������
���
��9���G�??����>�����9������
D����!!���A#�@�������J�#�

;�<�(����=�(@@������=�W�������
���������:
��?�#�������?������@
����B>�?��������:���@
����
��:
��?�
�����������
���
����G�??�����9����
����
���C������9���9���9
?�������>B�����
��;B<��B
D��
�9�??���:
���������9������:������9�������=��@@������=���A>���:�����
@��9��������
�#���B>�?�����
���:���@
�����������
���
�
������:
��?�
@����G�??����>�����9�??�:����
���
@��9��@
??
G����
�����������

;�<���A>���:�����@�>����������9�������=��@@������=�
@��9������������>��>��#�,9�����?������
:�=���:
���������9����9���������B>�?�����:������9��+(�-���A>���:������9�������������B���
���,�B?�����B�?
G/�
��

;�<���A>���:����@
���9����G�������
��
���9�������
@��9��9
>����9�������>BF�����
�����:
��?#�
,9�����?������:�=���:
���������9����9��������
��
���9�������
@��9��B>�?������>BF�����
���
��:
��?�:������9����A>���:����
@��9��	(���@
���9����:
��?������
��������
�����������B���
���,�B?�����B�?
G#��>�?��������:����>������9�����A>���:�����9�??��?�
�:�����9��
@
??
G�����

;�<��
:�?������B?
G����

�������B�@
������?�����
��@
���9��B>�?��������:����
�
�����:����G9��9����9��B>�?�����9�����@���9�������@�?�����
�������
@��
�:
����9���!#��
���>��?������9����������9
>��;'��+<��
:�?������������#�	@��9���������������
�C������.��9����9�����?�������9�??�:�����9����A>���:����
@���������9�;�<#�

;�<�	:��
D�.���������������?��9���G�??����>���.�D���@����B=����>B��A>����B?
G���
�

��������������
���
��������@������
@�
��>����=�
���
:�?���
���9�����:
���������
�9����

;�<�@
��B>�?�������9���9������������@�?�����
�������
@��#!�'��+�
���������.�
�9����9��B>�?������9�??�9�D����'��+��!���������
��?�����9����9��
������?�
B?
G����

������.�

;��<�@
���??�
�9���B>�?�����.��9��B>�?�����9������������@�?�����
�������
@��
��
���������9���!#��'��+��
:�?������������#�

,���(������,�����@
��(����=�(@@������=�,9���9
?���

�!���	�!� ���!�� 	�%��	 ���)	������	 ��'%���� 	�##�'���'&	�.!��	�$�	�
	����	

Agenda Item 3C     Page 64Packet Page     90



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

3���
�$.!!!� �!!� �����������

$.!!��W��.!!!�  �� $!���������

�.!!������>�� �!� �!���������

�

;$<���:
��?��W���:�����
��#�����:
��?��9����
����
���>B�������??=���:
D���9��������
��
@����9�
@��9���9��:�?���D�?
���
@��9���
�����
��������������
����A>������
�:�����9�������=�
�@@������=���A>���:�����
@�,�B?����#��

;�<��
:�?������G��9�(����=�(@@������=���A>���:����#����G�??�����9��������A>������
�:�����9��
�����=��@@������=���A>���:�����@
����G��
����>���
���9�??���:
���������9������:������>�9�
���������B=��

;�<�3������9��+
:��(����=��������-=���:�;+(�-<#�,9��+(�-��������G�??�B��>����@
��
�9��D���@�����
��
@������=����@
�:�����
@���G��
����>���
�#���+(�-���������9�??�B��
���@
�:���B=��������������������B=��9������������?�(����=�-��D�����'��G
�H�;�(-'(,</�

;�<�2
��:>?���G�??������
F����.��9�
>�9���+(�-����������:�?������
�
�
?��>�9
��J�������
����
D���B=��9�����=�:������/�
��

;$<�2
��:>?���G�??������
F����.�B=���:
�����������9����9�������=��@@������=�9���B����
��9��D���B=�>������9��:��9
�
?
�=���������
���"!��"!".�I-�:>?��������@
�:�����
�?�������D�I�
�������
���!%�"!�.�I,
��?��>�?��������@
�:����I�
@��9���!!%��!���
	��������
��?�(����=��
����D���
���
��#�

;�<�(����=��>���#�������?������@
����B>�?��������:���@
�����������
���
����G�??����
������:
��?�
@�
���G�??�����9�??�B����A>������
�
B�������������=��>���#�,9�����?�������9�??���
D������

@�
@��9��
�
:�?���
��
@��9�������=��>����G��9���B>�?��������:������?�����
�#�,9�������=��>����
@��9��9
>���
�9�??�A>����@=��9�����>�?������=����@
�:�����
@��9��B>�?��������
�������
�������??=����������
����������@
�������=��>���������
D���B=��9�����=�:������#���������=��>����
�����
���
��?�+(�-�
����������
���G�??����������9
G��@@������?=��9��B>�?��������
�������������G9�������@@��������������

��>�����#�

;@<����9�����(@@������=#����
���
�@���?���������
��@
�����������
���
����G�??����
������:
��?�
@���
�G�??�����9�����?�������9�??������??������=��@@�������?�:���;?��9��B>?B�<�G��9���?>:��
>���@@����=�

@�"!�?>:��������G����
���B
D��������?������!���������
@��9���C�������9
:�E��?��9��@�C�>���#�

�;�<�&������4����2>�����#�09����9����
���
@��9��G
�H�
@����������
���
����G�??����
������:
��?�

@����G�??������A>��������?���:����
@���@>�����.��9��@>�������9�??�B�����?�����G��9����������D����
>�����9���9�����:���:>:�!����������23(#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 65Packet Page     91



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;9<�&������4�����
�?��#�09����9����
���
@��9��G
�H�
@����������
���
����G�??����
������:
��?�
@���
�G�??������A>��������?���:����
@���B
�?��.��9��B
�?����9�??�B�����?�����G��9����������D����>�����9���
9�����:���:>:� �����������23(#�

;�@<��
����>���
��0��������=�?���#�������?������@
����B>�?��������:���@
������G��G�??����
�����
������
���
����G�??�����9�??���:
���������9�����:���:>:�
@��!���������
@��
����>���
��G��������
���=�?��#�0�������D����
����?�>?���
�����������H�����������9����@
�:�:>���B����
D����������
F����
�
:�?���
��G9��9��9
G���9����9��:���:>:����=�?������A>���:�����9�D��B����:��#�'
�����
��
�9�??�@��?��
��
:�?�����9����D����
����?�>?���
�����������H�����������9����
�����=�?���
����>���
��
G����������A>�����B=��9��������
�#�

;F�<�&�:
?���
��)�����:���#�������?��������
�
������
���:
?��9��9���G�??���.�����9������:����
��@��������-����
���!��#���.�I&�@�����
��.I��#�#�#�� �.��9�??���:
���������9�
>�9���
���
����>���
���?����9������?�����%����������
@�:������?�B=�G���9��@�
:����
����>���
��
@��9��
�C����������>��>��.����?>������
��������������9�?�.�G�??�B����D������@�
:��9��?���@�??#�4���@�����
��

@����
����>���
���?����
:�?������:>���B����
D��������
���
�@���?���������
�#�'
�����
���9�??�
@��?��
�@
??
G�
��
�9��G�����:�?�:�����������
D������
����>���
���?��#�


��5�3�-	���!7%'�	�!���%����!�	�	+%���	�!�����	�

�	�	�	

-����
���#���9�������!� .��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�������	
��8	�	0�%�	�%������!�	�! �	


��8�
	�����������	�������	

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������>B?���9��?�9�������@��=�B=����>?�������9��>��.��
�����
�.�
�
����>���
�.��?������
�.������������
@���
����=.����>��>���.�����
��>������������9�����=����
������
�
���D�����9��������
�������������
@�@�����������H�
@�9��:��
�����
���
����
����=�@�
:�@��������
�9���
��>���#�,9�����=��
>���?�9���B=���
�����9���!!%�!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?�2�����
���G��9�
���������:���:����.�������
��.�������?���
����9����
�@
>����
�B������9��B��������������
@��9�����=#�
,9��������������
D���������9����9�������9�??�B��>���.����
@�������9�=��������?���B?�.����
�����:������G9��9������
�����
�������9�J���
>��
��.�G9��9�����=�G
�H��9���9���B�������@
�:���
9���B�����
�������������
D���:�����.�
��G9��9�����=��A>��:�������
@��������
D����=���
��
A>�?��=.����������=������:�����
���
���������@����9�J���������@������@��=�����9�����=�B>�?������
���
�
�������@���??=���
D�����@
���9�����#�


��8�	� !"��!�	!#	����%����!���	0�%�	�! �	(��$	�! �#�'���!���	

;�< ,9���!!%�!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?�2�����
���
@��9��	��������
��?��
����
>���?�����
��
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?����2�����
�������9����9����:��@
���������@@�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 66Packet Page     92



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.��C�������������@���??=��:������B=��9����
D���
���
@��9���
�9�����#�

;B< ,9��2�����
�����
�����B=��>B�����
��;�<�
@��9��������
������:����������9��@
??
G�����?������

;�< -����
���!�#$���������?������������������
�������

�!�#$��9�����
@�>���
��
��>����=#��'
��9������9�??�B��:��������9��>���
��
��>����=�
@�
��=����>��>����9���G
>?���?�����9�����>��>����������@@��������D���
��
@��9����:����
>��
��

��>����=�
���������@@��������
>��
@�
��>�������.�>�?�����>�9����>��>������:�����
�
�
:�?=�G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9����
��������9��	��������
��?��>�?������
��#�

;�< -����
���!$#����������?������������������
�������

�!$#��&�D���
��
@�2����-�@��=�

��&�D���
��
@�2����-�@��=��������B?��9���G��9����9��@����������:����>������9���������
��
@�
�9��:������.�G9��9��9�??��
������
@��>�9�@����������:��������
���?����:�=�B�����������
�9����
�B=��9��:������#�,9��@>����
��
@��9�����D���
���9�??�B���
���������9��:�����������9��
��:���������
��������@
���:����
@��9����
D���
���
@��9����
��#�

;$< -����
���!$#".���������?������������������
�������

�!$#"����B�?��=�

,9��@�����
����9�??��
��B���
����>����
�9
?���9�����=�
@��
>?����
����=�
@������:�?
=����

�������������
���B?��@
����=���:�����
�����
���
����
����=�B=�����
��
@���������
��
��
����������
��
��@��?>����
���������
���������������9��������
D�����
��B=�����
��
@��9��
����
D�?�
���������
D�?�
@���=��A>��:�������9��������
D����#�

'
��:�?
=���
@��9�����=�G9
���@
����.�����:�����
���@
���.�
������>�9
��J����
���@
�����9��
@�����
�����������9�:�
��9����?@�
���9�����=�?��B?���
��9������������@
����=���:����
����F>�=�
�
��9������
��
����
����=�
@��>�9��9��������������������>?��
@��9����@
���:����
���
��
��@
���:����
@��9��@�����
��#�,9�����=����>:����
��>�=�
@������B=�D���>��
@��9����
���
��

@��9��@�����
��#�'
�����
�����F>���@���������?=����>�
���9������
D�?�
@����?��.��9�����>?���

@������������
�.�
���9�����>�����
@��������@������
@���������
��
��
��>����=.������>�9�
����
D�?�.���������
��.����������@������������
�����>���������9����9���?���
��G
�H��
�
����
D��.����������.�
�������@����������@�����
:�?����G��9��??���A>���:�����
@��9��@����
�
��#�	������9���>�=�
@��9������
��
G����.��
���
??���.�
���
����>��������=�B>�?�����
��
���>��>����
����>����9����9��G
�H�����
���������
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9��@����
�
��.������������>�9�����
��������
���9�����=�G9
���������
���B?��@
����:�������>����B=�
���?������B����9�
@��>�9��>�=#�

;"< �!"#"�	�����@�����
�.���������?������������������
��������

�!"#"�	�����@�����
�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 67Packet Page     93



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

2
���9���>��
����
@��9��������
�.��9�����:�5@�����
���
@@����?8����?>�����??�@���@��9�����
���
�������>��>�����
�-����
������".�5	�����@�����
�������@
��2���@��9����.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�< -����
���!�#%���������?������������������
�������

�!�#%���A>�����
������
��?����:���#��,9��@�����
���
@@����?�:�=����>�����
������
��?�
���:���@
���9��@
??
G����
������
����

;�< �!�#%#�".�(C�?
��D���

;B< �!�#%#$!.�������>������

;�< �!�#%#$�.������2?�:�����������?���

;�< �!�#%#$%��=�
���9����������?��@@�����:������?�

;�< �!�#%#"$"�����:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G�����

�!�#%#"$� ,�:�
���=�)�:B�����-��>��>���.��������������
����#�����
������
��?�
���:���:�=�B�����>���G��9��9���
����>���
�����:����9���G�??�B�����>���B=��9��
B>�?�����
@@����?#�

;%< -����
���!�#����������?������������������
�������

�!�#����A>������
����>���
�����:���#���??��
����>���
�����:����G�??�B�����>���B=��9��
B>�?�����
@@����?#��,9��&�D���
��
@�2����-�@��=�G�??�B���9������
D�����>�9
���=�@
��
@
??
G�����

;�< �!�#�#���>�
:�����@�����C����>��9�����=���:��

;B< �!�#�#%"�2�����?��:������������
���=���:��������?������A>��:����

;�< �!�#�#���2�����>:���������?������A>��:����

;�< �!�#�#����-����������=���:��

;�< -����
����! .�5�
����
@������?�.8���������?������������������
�������

�! ��
����
@������?��

;�< ��=������?�>������9��������
���9�??�B��9�����B=��9���
����
@��>�?����������?��
����B?��9���>����������
����$�".�5�
����
@��>�?����������?�.8��#�#�#�� �.�>�?����
�9�����=�:������������:����.��>���
��9�����>���
@��9�����>��������������>?��������?.��
�
���
������9�������
@@�����>����������
����$��.�5+������������&����:�����
��.8��#�#�#�
� �#�

;�<;B< �����?�
@���@>��?��
�����
D��G
�H�
��B>�?��������:��#��������
����@>������B>�?�����
���:���
����@>��������
D�?�
@�G
�H��
���>����������:���
���9����
>�����9����9��
��
�
����
���
:�?������
����>���
��@��?���
��
:�?=�G��9��9����
���
����=�
�9������=�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 68Packet Page     94



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

B>�?������
���:�=������?��9��������
���
��9��B
����
@�J
�������F>��:��������B>�?�����
�����?��
���9����
>�����9����

�# ,9�������?�G���B�����
��������
��
>��������������
��
@��>�9��
���B=��9�����=�
:������/�
��

�# ,9�����=�:�������9������
��
>�?=�@��?����
�����
D������?��������:������?�
��
:��9
���>��>�����
�-����
���!"#�
@��9��@�����
������
���
����������??���
��
��>��#�	��
�����:�������>�9���������?��9��B
����
��9�������
@@������9�??����?=��9������������

@�-����
���!"#�
@��9��@�����
��#�

,9�����=�:�������9����9��B>�����
@���

@�>�������������9����B
D�#�,9������??����9���
�9��B>�����
@���

@�
�������?��B�
>�9���>��>�����
���������9��#�,9��B
����
��9�������

@@������9�??������:�����9�������?������������G9��9����9�����=�:������E��
������������
��
�����?�����
��
@��>�9��
���G����
������
��������
�������9�������>�����
�9����
���>����������B���B=��9��������$.�5L>����7>�����?�+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;B<;�< �����?�
@��>������
��
����D
����
��
@�B>�?��������:���
�������@������#����=�����
��
G9
���B>�?��������:���
�������@������
@�
��>����=�
�������@������
@��
:�?���
��9���
B�����>��������
����D
H���:�=������?��>�9�����
��B=��9�����=�:��������
��9��B
����

@������?��
���9����
>����9����9���>������
��
����D
����
��G���B�����
��������
�����
@����
��������
��
>�����?�����
��
@��9����
����
��9��@����#�,9�����=�:�������9����9��
B>�����
@���
D�����9��@�����>�
��G9��9��9��:���������?��������>�9���9������#�

;�< ������?�����
��@
�������?�:>���B��@�?������G�������G��9��9�����=�:�������G��9���
@
>��������=���@�����9�������
@���@>��?�
@��9��B>�?��������:���
������
D�?�
@�G
�H�
���@
�:���>������9�����:���
����D
����
��
���>������
��
@��9��B>�?��������:���
��
�����@������
@�
��>����=�
�������@������
@��
:�?���
�����������9��B�����@
�������?#�

;�< �����?���
���������(C��������
�����
����

�# ����=�������D�������
��G9
�9���B�������>������
�����
��
�9����
�����
@�
D�
?���
��>������9���@�����
��.�
�9����9������>::
��������
:�?����.�>�����-����
��
�!�#�������!�#���
���������?���??=��C��������
�����
�����������>��>���B�����>�
���9��
���=�:������K�������:�����
���9����>�9��
�����
����
�����>��������������9�J�����
�?�@��

����
����=.�����G9
�B�?��D����9���??�����D�
?���
���
�B��@���>�??=�
��?���??=�
�
�����=��
��9����A>���:�����
@��9���@�����
���
���>?����������>?���
������>���
�>��>�����
��9���@�����
���:�=������?��9��
�����
���
����#��������??�����9�??�@�?���9��
�����?�G��9��9��B
����G��9����9���=���=��@�
:��9�������
@����D����
@��9���
�����
@�
�??�����D�
?���
�#�,9������??����:�=���A>������?����:����
@���:���
�@�?���@��>�9�
��A>�������:����B�@
����9������
@��9����:������
�#�,9�����=�:�������:�=��C�����@
��
������
��B?������
���9����:���
�@�?��G��9��9��B
�����@��9�����?�������9
G���

����>���
�9���@
�#�

��# ���=�����
��������D���B=���������
��
@��9�����=�:�������>�
��������������
��
�9�����=�
���??�
@��9��D�
?���
����??���������9���
�����
@�D�
?���
��9�D���
��B����
���A>���?=��
��������:�=������?��>�9������:�����
��B=�@�?�������
�����
@������?�
G��9���@
>��������=��
@��9�������
@��9������������
�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 69Packet Page     95



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

���#�����,9�������?�G�??�B���
��>�����>������9����
���>����
@��9��������$.�5L>����
7>�����?�+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#�,9��B>�����
@���

@����
���9�����=�:��������
�
����B?��9�����??�����D�
?���
�#�

�D# 	@��9��B
����
@������?��
��9�������
@@������@@��:���9�������:�����
��B=��9�����=�
:������.�����9�??��������9������
��������
��B?������
��
@���:���
��
�������9��
D�
?���
�������?��#���=��>B��A>���������:�����
��B=��9��:�����������
�G9��9����9��
D�
?���
����??���������9���
�����
@�D�
?���
��9�D��B�������A>���?=��
�����������@���?#�

D# 	@��
�����
�������?�����
�����
@�D�
?���
��>������9��������
�.��9����
D���
���
@�
�9���
�����B��
:���@���?�G9����9����:��@
��@�?������������?�G��9��9��B
����9���
�C�����#����
����������?����
��
>������@���?�>�?���������=��������@@���#�

D�# 	@�������
���
�G9
:��9�����=�:�������9������>������
�����
@�D�
?���
���
����
��
�����?�>������9��������
�.��>�9�����
��:�=��
���������������@������
���=��>B��A>����
��
���>��
�����:>������?��
>���@
����D�
?���
��
@����
������9����9���
�����
����??�����
�
�B��D�
?���
�������9���
�����
@�D�
?���
��G�����
�����@����
��?�G�D�
?���
��#�

;�<;@<������?������@
����������?��
��9��B
����
@������?���9�??���=��9��@����������B���B=�
-����
��"��!���.�52�����
������:�������	�������
��2���.8��#�#�#�� �#��,9��@���@
��
��������?�9�����B=���9�������
@@������9�??�B���9����:������9��@���@
����������?�9�����
B=��9���
����
@��>�?����������?�#�

;�<;�< ,9�����=�:�������:�=����?=��
��9��B
����
@������?��
����
@��>�?����������?�.�
G��9
>��@��.�@
�������D��
�=�
����
���
����������?�������D��:��9
��.����?���B�?��=�
@�
�����@�����A>���:����.�����
D�?�
@��A>��:��������:������?�.��������������
@�������?�
���:����
������
���:�?��������-����
����!"# �
���!"#�
@��9��@�����
��#�

;�<;9< ,9��B�
����
@��>�?�����������?��
��9�������
@@�����9����
��>�9
���=��
�����������
�9��������;�9����:���������D����A>���:����<�
@��9����
����C���������C�����?=���
D�����
����9��������
�.��
�.�B���>����9����
��������:���:>:����������.��
�G��D����=�
��A>���:����
@��9����
��#�

; < ������?���
���������(C��������
�����
����

;�< ��=�������D�������
��G9
�9���B�������>������
�����
��
�9����
�����
@�D�
?���
��>�����
�9���@�����
��.�
�9����9������>::
��������
:�?����.�>�����-����
���!�#�������!�#��
�
���������?���??=��C��������
�����
�����������>��>���B�����>�
���9�����=�:������K��
�����:�����
���9����>�9��
�����
����
�����>��������������9�J�����
�?�@��
����
����=.�����
G9
�B�?��D����9���??�����D�
?���
���
�B��@���>�??=�
��?���??=��
�����=��
��9��
��A>���:�����
@��9���@�����
���
���>?����������>?���
������>����>��>�����
��9���@�����
���
:�=������?��9��
�����
���
������
��9��B
����
@�B>�?����������?�������:��������
D�����
B=��9��B
����>������9����
���>�����������B���B=��9��������$.�5L>����7>�����?�
+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#��������??�����9�??�@�?���9�������?�G��9��9��B
����G��9����9���=�
��=��@�
:��9�������
@����D����
@��9���
�����
@��??�����D�
?���
�#�,9������??����:�=�
��A>������?����:����
@���:���
�@�?���@��>�9���A>�������:����B�@
����9������
@��9����:��
����
�#�,9�����=�:�������:�=��C�����@
��������
��B?������
���9����:���
�@�?��G��9��9��
B
�����@��9�����?�������9
G���

����>����9���@
�#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 70Packet Page     96



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;��< ��=�����
��������D���B=���������
��
@��9�����=�:�������>�
��������������
���9�����=�

���??�
@��9��D�
?���
����??���������9���
�����
@�D�
?���
��9�D���
��B�������A>���?=�
�
��������:�=������?��>�9������:�����
��B=�@�?�������
�����
@������?�G��9��9��B
����

@������?��G��9���������=��
@��9�������
@��9������������
�#�

;���< ,9�������?�G�??�B���
��>�����>������9����
���>����
@��9��������$.�5L>����7>�����?�
+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#�,9��B>�����
@���

@����
���9�����=�:��������
�����B?��9����
�??�����D�
?���
�#�

;�D< 	@��9��B
����
@������?���@@��:���9�������:�����
��B=��9�����=�:������.�����9�??�������
�9������
��������
��B?������
��
@���:���
��
�������9��D�
?���
�������?��#���=�
�>B��A>���������:�����
��B=��9��:�����������
�G9��9����9��D�
?���
����??���������9��
�
�����
@�D�
?���
��9�D��B�������A>���?=��
�����������@���?#�

;D< ,9��@���@
��@�?������������?�����9����������B���B=�-����
��"��!���.�52�����
������:���
����	�������
��2���.8��#�#�#�� �#�

>#?>�? ��	���%���� 	"�%�!�	���B���	D7 �'���	%����(	!#	�	 �'���!�	!#	�$�	./!�% 	!#	
/7�� ���	��""����	!%	$��%���	!##�'�%	4� �	7� �%	�$��	��'��!�	�$���	#���	�	
'!4"�����	#!%	�7'$	%����(	(��$��	�$�%�&	 �&�	�#��%	�$�	 ���	!#	�$�	 �'���!�	
7� �%	�!�!%� !	�7��	!#	�����	�%!'� 7%�	
�1>�?>-?�	

;�< 	@��
�����
�������?�����
�����
@�D�
?���
���
��9��B
����
@������?�.��9����
D���
���
@�
�9���
�����B��
:���@���?�G9����9����:��@
��@�?������������?�G��9��9��B
����9���
�C�����#����
����������?����
��
>������@���?�>�?���������=��������@@���#�

;9< 	@�������
���
�G9
:��9�����=�:�������9������>������
�����
@�D�
?���
���
����
��
�����?��
��9��B
���.��>�9�����
��:�=��
���������������@������
���=��>B��A>����
��
���>��
�����:>������?��
>���@
����D�
?���
��
@����
������9����9���
�����
����??�����
�
�B��D�
?���
�������9���
�����
@�D�
?���
��G�����
�����@����
��?�G�D�
?���
��#�

;�<;F< 	@��9�����=�:������������:������9����9���>BF����
@����
�����
���
��������>���>�����
�9���@�����
����
�����>��������::�������9�J�����
��9���>B?���9��?�9.���@��=.�
��
G�?@���.��9��:�������:�=�
������::��������
:�?�����#�����
����>BF�����
��>�9�

�������9�??��
:�?=�@
��9G��9.�B>���9�??�B�������?����
�����
:����
����
:�?������
�����?�9�������B�@
����9��B
����
@�B>�?����������?��
����9�������
@@�����>������9��
��
���>���������@��������9��������
�#�

; < �-����
���!#�.�53�?�G@>?�����.8���������?������������������
�������

�!#���4�
?���
��#�

;�< *�����?���
D���
����
;�< �'
�����
���9�??�D�
?��������
D���
��
@��9����
��.�
��@��?��
��
:�?=��9���G��9.�

��G��9���=�
@��9����A>���:������9���
@#��'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9���=�

��������>���B=��9�����=�:�������>������9����
��#�'
�����
���9�??������.��
����>��.�
��?����.��?���.��C����.�������.�:
D�.���:
D�.��:��
D�.��
�D���.���:
?��9.��A>��.�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 71Packet Page     97



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

>��.�
��>�=.�:�������.�
��>��?�J����=�B>�?����.����>��>��.�
��>����=.����:����.�
��
�=���:�����9������=�
����>���
�����:����9����:���
�B���
����C���������
�@
�:��=�
G��9��??�
@��9����
D���
���
@��9����
�����������
�@
�:��=�G��9��9�����:������
�
�����
���
@�����
D�?����>���>������9����
��.�
��
@���=��������D��
@��9���
���

@@����?#���

;�< 	�����
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@������
��������.�5��
���>��
��
@�
)>?���?���
>����@
��-�:�����.8��#�#�#�� �.����9���=��>�����G9��9��??���?�
�
����>���
�.��?������
�.�:����������.�
��>����=.�
��>����
����>��.��
�����>������
���������
@@�������:����B?���9�
>�9��9����@
���:������
D���
���
@��9����
��#�

;$< ,9��
G���.�������.�����
��>�����
@������>��>���
��?���.������9���������
@�
���9�
@��9�:.�����F
���?=�������D���??=�?��B?��@
����=�D�
?���
��
@��9����
���G��9�
���������
��>�9����>��>���
��?���#�

;"< �,9����:������@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
@���=�
���:��.������@�����.�
��
�9�������
D�?����>���>������9����
���
��
�9������=�
@�
�
>?�����
���
��
@���=��������D��
@��9��@�����
���
@@����?�:�=�B���>��>�������?=�
��
����
:B�����
�#��

;�< 	@���=�����
��@��?��
����@>�����
���=�G9����>����=��9������:�
����>������9���
�����
�.��9��@�����
���
@@����?�:�=.����������
���
���H����
�9����
??����
����:�����.�
�����@=��>������>�������9�������
��9���
>?�����
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�����
��
D�����B=������
��������.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����
������:������
��
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;%< ,9��@�����
���
@@����?�:�=��9������9���
���
@���=�����
����H����
��
������
��
�B������D�
?���
�.�����>�9
��J���B=��9����
��.��?>��>���
�@�@�������������
@��>�9�
�
���@
����:���������
���
��9����
����=�
G���#��	@���=���
����=�
G����@��?��
��
��@>�����
���=�G9����>����=��9������:�
����>������9��������
�.��9��@�����
���

@@����?�:�=.����������
���
���H����
�9����
??����
����:�����.������@=��>����=�
>�������9�����.����?>�������������.��
��9���
>?�����
>��=�,����>���.��
�B��?�D����
���������9������
�K����
����=�@
���
??����
��B=��9���
>��=�����9����:��:���������
��?��A>����������?���C���>�
���>�9���
����=������
??�����.�>������9����
���>����
������B���B=������
��������.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����
������:������
��
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.5��#�#�#�� �#�

;B< ��:���������D����
���>����������:�������
;�<�	@��9��@�����
���
@@����?�@������9�����D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
��=�����
D�?���������>������9����
����C����.��9��:������.��@�����
������������

��
��>���=�@
��9�������>������9����
���>�����������B���B=��9��������$.�IL>����
7>�����?�+�������.I��#�#�#�� �.�:�=���H����=�
���
��:
���
@��9��@
??
G����
����
����
���:��=��9��D�
?���
���

;�<�	:�
�������D�?�����?�=����
�������
��9��@
??
G������9��>?���

;�<�2
���9��@�����D�
?���
��
@��9����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M�!!/�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 72Packet Page     98



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;��<�2
���9�����
���D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�
M$!!/�����

;���<�2
���9���9����D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�
M�.!!!#�

;�<�2
����D�
?���
���
����������9��>���
@�������������?�B>�?�����>�������
�����?�?������.���D
H���>�9�?������/�

;�<���A>�����9��@�?����
@������?�����
��
@�>��������
D���������>B�����
��;�</�

��

;&<�	��>�����
���������
��B?=���?�>?������
����>����
:�?������G��9��9��
��
D���
���
@��9����
���
����=�����
D�?���������>������9����
��#�

;�<����
���
��9��9������.��9��@�����
���
@@����?�:�=����>�����
������9����
�����
��
�9�??����@
�:���=�G
�H�
����=����>��>���
��?���.��C������
��
��������=�D�
?���
��
@
>���B=��9��@�����
���
@@����?��
��C����G��9����������
��>�9����>��>���
��?���#�

;$<�	@��
����������D����
��9��@�����
���
@@����?����?�����@
��=����9��9
>���B�@
����9��
��:���������������@
��9�����9���
�����
@�9�������
����=�D�
?���
���9����9��D�
?���
��
9���B�����
�������.��9��@�����
���
@@����?�G�??������������9�����>��>���
��?���#�	@��9��
@�����
���
@@����?�@������9����9��D�
?���
��9���B�����
�������.��9��:�������:�=�
�����?��9��9������#�

;"<�'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9���=�����
����H���B=��9��@�����
���
@@����?�
>������9��������
�#�

;�<����:���?�����?����#�4�
?���
���
@��9����
��������>���9�B?�������
D��������-����
������
".�I*�����?�����?����.I��#�#�#�� �#�
;�<���9�����:�����#�,9�����=����
���=�:�=�:���������������
��@
����:����.����?����
�=�
��?��@.������@������@
�:����.���F>����
�.�
����=�
�9�������
���������?��@�����9��&��������
�
>����������@
���9���
>��=�
@��
>?����@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
��=�����
D�?���������>������9����
��#�
;�<�&��?�����
��
@�3��#�	@��9��@�����
���
@@����?������:������9���������
�����>�������
���>��>��������G�=��9���:��9��:��?����������
��B?������
���
�B�?��D���9����>�9�>��������>���
B=����9��
��
�9��G�����>�9
��J���B=��9������?�.��9��@�����
���
@@����?�:�=���A>�����>�9�
����
���
������>�����
��9������?�����
��
@�>����9�����@������9��?�:��������>���
@��9��>���
�����
����
����>�9����?�����
������9��
@@����
@��9���
>?�����
>��=��?��H��������
�����
���������9�����?���
��9��?���#�	��������
���
��??�
�9�����:��������������
����9����9���
���

@@����?�����>�9
��J����
�>���>������9���
>?������D������
���
��
�9������?���B?��@�����?.�
������
��?
��?�?�G���
���@
�����9����
D���
���
@��9����
��.��9�����=�:�����������>�9
��J����
�
G��99
?����=�����
D�?��@@��������>�9����>��>���
��?���.����?>����.�G��9
>��?�:�����
�.���
B>�?��������:��.�>�����D��G.��������D��G.��>B��D���
�.�@?

��?������D�?
�:�������:��.�
��
G��?�������:���>���?��>�9���:������9������
���>B:���������?�����
��
@�>����9�����������@
�:�
�������B?���
��9��@�����
���
@@����?#�

;<�-����
���!#$#$.�5��
���>��
��
@�D�
?���
��.8���������?��#�

;�!<�-����
���!#".�54�
?���
������?����.8���������?������������������
�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 73Packet Page     99



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�!#"��B���:����
@�D�
?���
�#���

	��������
���
��9���:�
����
��
@��9������?�����������B������-����
���!#��4�
?���
��.��9��@����
�
���
@@����?�����>�9
��J����
�������>�������
�����������
���
����D����>�?�G@>?��
����>���
��
��
�
���������.��
������
���B������D�
?���
�/�
���
����D�����??���?�
��>����=�
@������>��>���
��
���:����/�
���
���
������??���?����.��
��>���
@�B>�������
��
��>����=�
@������>��>���
��
��
�B
>����=����:����#�

;<;��<��9�������.�5&�@�����
��.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G����������
��?�
��@�����
����

5�������B?�����D����&��D�8�:��������G���=�@

��>�
B���>������?����G���9�G��9����G�?D��
@

��9�����??�G���9������D�B?���>�@����G9��9������>��
���@
��=��
���
������G9��?������9���
��-3�$!��>����������>��@
���9��@����������:���K��@�����������>�#��

E����'$� 	�(������	=���F	4����	�	��%7'�7%�	($�'$	'!������	4!%�	�$��	!��	 (������	

7���	%���% ����	!#	��&	#�%�	��"�%���!�	#���7%���		

52�����
���
@@����?8�:������9�����=�:�������
���9��:������E����?�����#�

E����'$� 	�(������	=���F	4����	�	��%7'�7%�	($�'$	'!������	!��&	!��	 (������	7���	

�!���$�%	(��$	��&	.7�� ���	�''���!%&	�!	�$�	 (������	7���G	�� 	��	��%7'�7%���&	

�� �"�� ���	!#	!�$�%	��%7'�7%��	!%	!''7"��'���G	�� 	$��	�	#�%�	��"�%���!�	 �����'�	!#	

�!�	����	�$��	��@	#���	#%!4	!�$�%	��%7'�7%���	

5(:������=�4�9��?���������-�����8�:��������������:��������9����A>���:�����
@��9����
���
�����9�����=�
@��
>?����&�����������
����>���
��-�������#�

E0�%�	�''���	������'�F	4����	�$�	 �����'�	.��(���	�(!	$& %����G	!%	�$�	 �����'�	

#%!4	�	$& %���	�!	��&	�@��%���	"!%��!�	!#	��&	.7�� ���	!%	.7�� ����	!%	�$�	 �����'�	

#%!4	�$�	'����%	����	!#	�	�!�� �� ��� 	�4�%���'&	��$�'��	�''���	��%���	�!	�$�	"!���	

!�	�$�	'7%.	!�	�7'$	��%���	#%!4	($�'$	�''���	�!	�7'$	.7�� ���	��	����� G	4���7%� 	

��!��	"7.��'	!%	"%�����	>.7�	�''����.��	�!	#�%�	�67�"4���?	%!� (�&�	!%	#�%�	�����G	��	

(!7� 	.�	�%����� 	.&	4!�!%�H� 	#�%�#��$����	�67�"4����	

52����&�����:���8�
��5)>������?�2����&�����:���8�:������9��2����&�����:����
@��9��
���=�
@��
>?���.��
?
���
#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 74Packet Page     100



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

5+
>�����9������+
>��8��C������@��9���G�??����>�������
����?
��G9��9��
����
��@�
���
�����
�:������=�D�9��?����������������:��������9����A>���:�����
@�-����
����!$#�������!$#�.�
��
�9���G�??����>��������
�����D���B=���@����?����:��������9����A>���:�����
@�-����
���!�#��
@�
:�����:������=�D�9��?�����������������
��������������
��9���G�??����>���.������������
@�
:��9���:������=�D�9��?�����������������
��9��>�������
B���>�����B=���=����>��>��#�

5�
���B?�����?�����8�)�������=����?�������9����������������
�B��:
D���
����?
������
����
���?=�B�����G��9
>����=�������?�H�
G?����#��,9������?>���.�B>���
��?�:������
.�B
C�
��

���??������@���.��
G����

?�.�D��>>:���?�����������@?

���
?��9���#���

5,��H�,�>�H8�:�������=�����?��������C?�.���?@���
��??���:
�
��D�9��?�.��A>������G��9���
����
����H�:
>������9���
�.�����>����@
���9��������
�����
��
@�@?�::�B?������
�
:B>���B?��?�A>���.�B>���9������:��C�?>������=��
:B�����
��
@�>����.��>�9��������:��
����?��#�-�������H���>�H��9�??��
���C�����$�.!!!�*40.����������
��?��������=��9�??��
��
�C�����$.!!!���??
��#�

5,�����
����
>��8�:������

;�<�&��D����
>?����,>����H��;3#-#�$%<�@�
:��9���
>�9����=�?�:�����
�����?����
�
��#�

;�<�2

�9�??�����HG�=�;�
?
���
����<�@�
:�3#-#�$%��
��9���
��9����=�?�:���#�

;$<�� �9�-������@�
:�����?�����
����
��9���
��9����=�?�:���#�

;"<������9
���D��>��@�
:�2
?�
:� �9�-�������
��9����������=�?�:���#�

;�<����=
���
>?�D����@�
:�� �9�-�������
��9��G�������=�?�:���#�

;%<�����?�-�����S����?����HG�=�@�
:�2
?�
:� �9�-�������
��9����������=�?�:���#�

;�<��
��:
���&���
��?�+��9G�=�;�
?
���
���<���������������9�
>�9��9�����=�
?�:���#�

; <�4�?:
����
���@�
:�2
?�
:�-������9��2

�9�??�����HG�=�;�
?
���
����<��
�
���9�-�����#�

;<�����
����
�����������
����
>?�D����
��#�

;�!<;<�����?�����
���@�
:��9������������
@�� �9�-������;3#-#�$%<���9�0�=��
�
2

�9�??�����HG�=�;�
?
���
����<#�

;��<����9�-������@�
:�4�?:
����
����
������9
���D��>�#�

;��<�$!�9�-������@�
:������9
���
�&���
��?�+��9G�=�;�
?
���
���<#�

;�$<��
��:
���&���
��?�+��9G�=�;�
?
���
���<�@�
:�� �9�-�������
�����
�
���������G��9�2

�9�??�����HG�=�;�
?
���
����<#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 75Packet Page     101



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�"<�-
>�9�2

�9�??��+��9G�=S��
��G�=�;�
?
���
�$<�@�
:��9���
>�9����=�?�:����
�
����9�0�=������
����������
�����?�����
��#��

53�
B���>������=���=�-��>��>����B
D��*����8�:������9����
����>��>���B?
�H���9��D��G�
�
��9����9��������
�����?�����
����������@����
@��9��B>�?������>B�������??=�D���B?��������������
?����
D����9��?
��>�
��G9��9��9��B>�?����������@�
:��9�����������:������=�D�9��?���������
������.������
����>��>���G
>?�������@�����?=������@����G��9��������:�
@�G�����B���������=���

���9��B>�?�����B=����
JJ?��:
>�����
����@������>�H����H���
���9�����������:������=�
D�9��?���������������#�2
���9���>��
����
@��9�����@�����
�.���?���?�@������9�??��
��B��
�
������������
B���>���
���@����9����������G9��9�
��������?������9����@����G���.�G9��9����
�
��?
�H��.������9�
>�9�G9��9�@���@��9�����
��@

��9�D������=���������
��9��B>�?�����
G��9����9�����������?�:�����
��#�

;�!<;��<�-����
��$!�.�5������>�����.���������
��?�2����������
���B?���>��

��2����?����.8�
��������?������������������
�������

$!��������>������������������
��?�2����#��

;�< '
�����
���9�??�H���?��
��:��������
>������
@���9�B���B?��B>�?�����
��
>������
@����
�C����
��@����?����B>�?��������
�������G��9��9�����=�
@��
>?�����>�?������
�����=�
B
�@����
��B>���
�����:����
�B��B>�������=�����9.������.��>BB��9.�G���������.�G

�.�
G����.�B�>�9.��?����.�
��
�9����
:B>���B?��
��@?�::�B?��:������?���=G9����G��9����9��
���=�?�:����
����=G9����
�����=���
����=�
>������
@��9�����=�?�:���.��C�����G9����

;�< ,9��B>������ ��� ��� �9�� �
>����
@� ��� �����>?�>��?� 
������
�� ��� �9�� ��
G����
@�
��
������������@>?�
��>����
����������������
�@����9�J�����
�
�9�����
����=�����9��
D������=/�

;B< ,9�� B>������ ��� �� �:
H�?���� @?���� 
�� �� ��@��=� @?���� >���� �
� ��������� �
:��
��������
��9���>B?��/�

;�< ,9�� B>������ ��� �� ��������� @���� �
��>����� B=� �9�� @���� ������:���.� 
�� ��� ��
��������� @���� �
��>�����B=� ��
�9��� @����������:���.� 
�����D���?=� @
�� ���>�����?� 
��
�
::�����?�@��������������>��
���/�
��

;�< ,9��B>����������
?�?=�@
���9���>��
���
@�@>�?��:�������
���
��??�D�����G�?�?����
@�����
������?.�
��G�����B���:�����
������������
����
��
@�����D���?����.����#�

;�< )
B�?��
���
���B?���=���
>��

��@�����?�����������
9�B�����G��9����9�����=�?�:����
��
��=G9����
�����=���
����=�
>������
@��9�����=�?�:���#�

;��<��-����
��$! ���������?������������������
��������

$! ������2?�:��#�������@?�:���������
9�B�����G��9����9�����=�?�:���#��

(C�����
����09���������:������
B��������9�
>�9��9���
>?����2����&�����:���.�&�D���
��
@�
2����-�@��=#��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 76Packet Page     102



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;��<;�$<�(C�����
������������
�-����
��$��#�#�#.�52������
�����
�.8����������?��#�

;�$<;�"<�����G�-����
���"!�#$#�#��"!�#.�52�����?��:�2���.8�����������
�������

;�< �@�����9��@����������:����9�������
������
��G
��?��:��
@�@����@�
:���=���
����=�
��
�������������=���?������=���.��9�����=�:�������:�=��:�
������9�����@
�����9�
������
��?�����
�����
�����?��:�G9��9�
����������@�
:��9����
����=��>������9����:��
��?������=���.�������
�������G��9��9����9��>?���������B���B=�-����
��"��!���.�52����
�
������:�������	�������
��2���.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;B< ,9�����=�:�������:�=�G��D�����9������:�
����@
����@�����?��:�����
�����@��9��
��
����=�
G����
@����
�����:
����������9����>�9��?��:�G�����>����B=���@����
���9��
�9�����
@���@���.�
���9����>�9��?��:�G����
��>������9����
����=�
G������
���
?#�	���9�??�
�
��B������@������9����9���?��:��=���:����:�?@>����
����.�>�?�����9��
G����
��
:�����������B?���
���:
���������9���������?��:��=���:�����>�����?=�B��������D������
�
��:��=��9����
B?�:��B��������
>������#�

>'? �#	��&	#��	��	�!�	"�� 	(��$��	�$�%�&	 �&�	�#��%	 �4�� 	�$�%�#!%	$��	.���	4���� 	�!	
�$�	%�'!% 	!(��%	!#	�$�	.7�� ���G	�$�	'��&	4�����%	4�&	'�%��#&	�$�	�4!7��	 7�	
�!	�$�	�!7��&	�%���7%�%	"7%�7���	�!	)�'��!�	��
G	E���&	������%	��&	��%��#&	
��@��G	�$�%���G	�� 	������4����	�!	�!7��&	�%���7%�%	#!%	�!���'��!�GF	/�����	

98
�	

;�"<;��<-����
���!$#�#�.�5&�:����
��.8���������?������������������
�������

�!$#�#��&�:����
��#�2�����������>����������
�����9�??�9�D�����>�
B���>�����G���9�
@��
��?����
�9����!�@����;%.!%�::<.��C�����@
������
D������>���=�������������
�������G��9�-����
��
�!$#%.��������>�
B���>�����D������?��?��������
@��
��?�����9������@����;".����::<#���

;��<;�%<�-����
���!� #�#�.�509������A>����.8���������?������������������
�������

�!� #�#��09������A>����#���
����
��������������
@�@����9=�������G�??�B��������
�������G��9�
�9�����=�
@��
>?����&�����������
����>���
��-��������#�

;�%<;��<�-����
��%!$#".�5�
���B?��>�D������9������.8���������?������������������
�������

%!$#"��
���B?��>�D������9������#���
���B?��>�D������@>�?���@�����9��������A>��:��������
��
9�B����#�

;� <�->B�����
��%!�#��#$#�#�.�5����������?�B>�?������G��9�9����

@�?�=
>��8.���������?�������
�����������
�������

%!�#��#$#�#������������?�B>�?������G��9�9����

@�?�=
>��#������?�S:
�>?��������??���
��
����������?�B>�?������G��9�9����

@�?�=
>����9�??�B��?
�����������:�������9�����
D�������$�
@

��G����;�"�::<��?��������������9G�=�@�
:��9����D���
��9��������
�����9��

@��?
���
G9��������?�S:
�>?�������?
�����#���

(C�����
����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 77Packet Page     103



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

� �#�,9������A>���:������9�??��
�����?=��
��

@��G��9��?
����
@���>�������

�������������������������������������D������?�������>�����9
��J
���?�;����<�
��?���#�

�

� �#�,9������A>���:������9�??��
�����?=��
��

@��G9�������9�����?S:
�>?��
����=������
���9���

@�����.!!!��A>����@����;�#!�:X<��
��?����������J�.��
�
�
����>
>�������
��
@�����?�S:
�>?������?�������9�����!�@�������?����9�
��
G���9.����?��������������9G�=�
@��
��?�����9���������9�G���9������
D�����
�?
������9������
@��??�9
��J
���?�������.��������?��������������9G�=�
@��
��
?�����9���$!����9�G���9������
D�����@�
:��9����D���
��9��������
@�
����

@�
�?
���G9��������?�S:
�>?�������?
�����#���

$#�,9������A>���:������9�??��
�����?=��
��

@��G9�������9�����?S:
�>?��
����=������
���9���

@�����.!!!��A>����@����;�#!�:X<��
��?����������J�.��
�
�
����>
>�������
��
@�����?�S:
�>?������?�������9�����!�@�������?����9�
��
G���9.����?��������������9G�=�
@��
��?�����9���������9�G���9������
D�����
�?
������9������
@��??�9
��J
���?�������.����.�G9��������?�S:
�>?��������
�
B���?�����
��B
�9�������
@���9��.����?��������������9G�=�
@��
��?�����9���
� ����9�G���9������
D������?
������9������
@��>�9�9��#���

"#��,9������A>���:������9�??��
�����?=��
��

@���G9�����9���
��?��
:B�����
�����
@��
?�������=��
����
���C�����$$������������:���>��������?���D��G�
@�
�9���
��?��

@������
@��9�����>��>��.�

;�<��->B�����
���%!�#��#$#�#�.�5����������?�B>�?������G��9�������?�������.8���������?�������
�����������
�������

%!�#��#$#�#�������������?�B>�?������G��9�������?�������#������?�S:
�>?��������??���
��
����������?�B>�?������G��9�������?���������9�??�B��?
�����������:�������9�����
D������G
.�
$�@

��G����;�"�::<��?��������������9G�=��@�
:��9����D���
��9��������
�����9��

@�
�?
���G9��������?�S:
�>?�������?
�����#���

(C�����
����

�# �,9�����A>���:�����9�??��
�����?=��
��

@��G��9��?
����
@���>�����D������?�
������>�����9
��J
���?�;����<�
��?���#�

�# ,9�����A>���:�����9�??��
�����?=��
��

@��G9�������9�����?S:
�>?��
����=������
���9���

@�����.!!!��A>����@����;�#!�:X<��
��?���������J�.��
�
�
����>
>�������
��
@�����?�S:
�>?������?�������9�����!�@�������?����9�
��
G���9.��������?��������������9G�=�
@��
��?�����9���������9�G���9����
��
D������?
������9������
@��9��9
��J
���?���������
D������9����

�# ,9���
��?��
:B����������
@��
?�������=��
����
���C�����$$���������
���:���>��������?���D��G�
@��9���
��?��

@������
@��9�����>��>��/�
��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 78Packet Page     104



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

B# ��$!����9�G�����?��������������9������
D�����@�
:��9����D���
��9��
������
@����

@��?
���G9��������?�S:
�>?�������?
�����#�

;�!<��->B�����
��%!�#��#$#�#$.�5����������?�B>�?������G��9��

@�9��������D�??�=�.8���������?���
���������������
�������

%!�#��#$#�#$������������?�B>�?������G��9��

@�9��������D�??�=�#������?�S:
�>?���
�����??���
������������?�B>�?������G��9��

@�9��������D�??�=���9�??�B��?
�������
��?
����
�9���� ����9���;"���::<��
���9���
����D�??�=�G9��������?�S:
�>?��������
�B���?�����
��
B
�9�������
@���9���
��D�??�=#��09��������?�������
�B��?
������
��
�?=�
��������
@���9���

��D�??�=��9������
@��A>�?�?����9.��9������?���9�??�B�����:�������
�B���?�����������?=�
��F�������
��9��9���
��D�??�=#��	��������
�.���������9�G�����?��������������9G�=��9�??�B��
��
D������?
������9������
@���=�9
��J
���?������#�

(C�����
����

�# �,9�����A>���:�����9�??��
�����?=��
��

@��G��9��?
����
@��G
��>�����
D������?�������>�����9
��J
���?�;����<�
��?���#�

�#�� ,9������A>���:������9�??��
�����?=��
��

@��G9������$!����9�G����
�?��������������9G�=������
D�����@�
:��9����D���
��9�����������G�??�������
���9�G�����?��������������9G�=���?
������9������
@���=�9
��J
���?������#�

;��<��->B�����
��%!�#��#$#�#".�5����������?�B>�?������:
H��D����?���
�.8���������?�������
�����������
�������

%!�#��#$#�#�"�����9G�=�#���??�����������9G�=����A>�����>������9���-����
��%!�#��#$#��
�9�??�B����
D�������������>��>��??=����
���?
����
��
���9��B>�?���������B?��
@��>��
������
�9��?�D��?
���
@�@����@��9����������������9���

@#�

�;��<;��<-����
��!�#%.�5	�������
�.�������������:����������.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@�
�9��@
??
G�����

�#	��&	.7�� ���G	��%7'�7%�G	!%	"!%��!�	!#	�$�	��4�	��	"%!��'�� 	.&	�	#�%�	 ���'��!�G	

���%4	�� 	�@����7��$���	�&���4	!%	�$�	!(��%	$��	��%�� 	(��$	�$�	'��&	4�����%	�!	

�!	"%!��'�	�$�	.7�� ���	!%	��%7'�7%�	!%	"!%��!�	�$�%�!#G	�$��	�!	"�%�!�	�$���	�$7�	

!##	!%	 ���.��	�7'$	�&���4	�@'�"�	��	�7�$!%�H� 	7� �%	)�'��!�	

�
�-3G	:���%	�!	/�	

)$7�	�##	#!%	0���7%�	�!	��&G	/�����	
98
G	�� 	�!	!(��%G	4�����%G	!%	������	!#	

�7'$	�"�'�	�$���	#���	�!	"%�����	�$�	�$7�����	!##	!%	 ���.����	!#	�7'$	�&���4�		��	��	�	

�"�'�#�'	 �#����	�!	�	'$�%��	!#	��!����!�	!#	�$��	��'��!�	�$��	�$�	�&���4	(��	�$7�	!##	

��	!% �%	�!	"�%#!%4	4��������'�	(!%B	!�	�$�	�&���4G	�$��	��	(��	�$7�	!##	#!%	�$�	

Agenda Item 3C     Page 79Packet Page     105



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

4���474	"�%�! 	!#	��4�	��'����%&	�!	"�%#!%4	�7'$	(!%BG	�� 	�$��	4��������'�	

"�%�!����	(�%�	!�	�$�	"%�4����	"�%#!%4���	�7'$	(!%B	 7%���	�$�	����%�	��4�	�$�	

�&���4	(��	�$7�	!##�	�$�	4���474	"�����&	#!%	��!����!�	!#	�$��	��'��!�G	�!	"!%��!�	

!#	($�'$	4�&	.�	�7�"�� � G	��	�	#���	!#	I
G�������	

;� <;�$<�-����
��!$�����:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G�����

��=���G�B>�?�����
���9�����
@�
��>����=�
@�����C�������B>�?����� �9����
����
��9�D��
����
D���@����������:����������������A>�����B=��9��@�����
���:�=�B����A>�����B=��9��@����
�
��� 
@@����?� �
� 9�D�� ��� �>�
:����� @���� �����H?��� �=���:� �����??��� ������?���� 
@� �9��
B>�?�������J�#�

;�<;�"<�-����
��!$#�.���������?������������������
�������

-����
��!$#��*�����?#�����>�
:����������H?����=���:��9�??�B�������??�������9��

��>������������?
����
����������@
��9�����9��������
�#��9���������>��.������@��������
-����
���!����.�5��
���
��
@�	��������
��?��>�?������
���G��9�)
��@�����
��.8��#�#�#�
� �.��9�??��
:�?=�G��9��9����
D���
���?������B�?
G#�

;��<�,9��@��������������
@�-����
��!$#����������?������������������
�������

����
D����>�
:����������H?����=���:�������G�B>�?�������������>��>�����9�??�B����
D����
����9��?
����
���������B������-����
��!$#�#���9�
>�9�!$#�#��#�

;�!<;�%<�-����
��!$#�#������:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G�����

!$#�#��*�
>���#��??�B���:������?����@������.�
���������
@.���*�
>����
��>����=��9�??�
B����
D�����G��9�����>�
:����������H?����=���:�������?����
@��9����
����A>����@

����#�

;�< -����
��!$#�#�#��*�
>�����.�Y�����������?������������������
�����#�

�# ,9��@����������C�������.!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<�

;B< -����
��!$#�#�#��*�
>�����.�Y�����������?������������������
�����#�

�#��,9��@����������C�������.!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<�

;�< -����
��!$#�#�#$�*�
>����$.�Y�����������?������������������
�����#�

�#��,9��@����������C�������.!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<�

;�<�� -����
��!$#�#�#"�*�
>����".�Y�����������?������������������
�����#�

�#��,9��@����������C�������.!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<�

;��<;��<�����G��>B�����
������������
�-����
��!$#�#������������
�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 80Packet Page     106



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

!$#�#�#%.�*�
>����
��>�������#.�������������
������������>�
:����������H?����=���:�
�9�??�B����
D������9�
>�9
>���??���G�*�
>����
��>�����������������9����.!!!���
���
�A>����@����;� �# :�<#�

;��<;� <�-����
���!$#�#$�.�*�
>��(#�Y���������?������������������
�������

;�< ,9�
>�9
>���??�*�
>��(�@�������������������9����!!!�;� �# :�<��������#�

;B< (C�����
����������?��#�

;�< �??�B���:������?����@������.�
���������
@.���*�
>��(�
��>����=��9�??�B����
D�����
G��9�����>�
:����������H?����=���:�������?����
@��9����
����A>����@

�����

;�$<;�<�-����
��!$#�#"$.�*�
>��2�����������?������������������
�������

����>�
:����������H?����=���:��9�??�B����
D������9�
>�9
>���??���G�*�
>��2�
��>��������
���������9����!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<#�

;$!<�(C�����
���$�����"��
�-����
��!$#�#%.�*�
>��	.����������?��#�

;�"<;$�<�-����
��!$#�#�%.�*�
>��)���������?������������������
�������

����>�
:����������H?����=���:��9�??�B����
D������9�
>�9
>���??���G�*�
>��)�

��>�����������������9����!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<#�

;��<;$�<�,9��@��������������
@�-����
��!$#�# �.�B>���
��->B�����
���!$#�# #������!$#�# #�.�
��������?������������������
������:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G������

(@@����D��-����:B����.��!�".�����>�
:����������H?����=���:�������
�������G��9�-����
��
!$#$��9�??�B����
D������9�
>�9
>���??�B>�?������G��9���*�
>����@��������/�������9���
����
�����G
��@�:�?=��G�??���������:>?���?������?��@�:�?=��G�??�����;�
G�9
>���<��
��:
���
�9����9������
������B
D���������?�������9���9��G��9������������:�����
@�������������9����
������
�=����>��>�����9�??��
:�?=�G��9��9��@���������H?����=���:���A>���:�����
@��9�����=�

@��
>?��������������?��>�?������
��#�

���

���
���
�-����:B����.��!�".��9��@
??
G�����������������?=����

����>�
:����������H?����=���:������??���������
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$��9�??�B��
��
D������9�
>�9
>���??�B>�?������G��9���*�
>����@��������#�

;�<�(C�����
�����&����9��������G
�>���������9����G�??����>����������
����A>������
�
9�D������>�
:�����@���������H?����=���:��@��9�=������
��>�����������������?�B
����
���������
��>�������.������9����������.�>�
B���>�����B=���=����>��>����B
D��
�����.�?�����������
���
�
����9���?�
B���>���
��.�@�
:��9���>�B�@����
@��9��
�:������=�D�9��?����������������
��G9��9��9�����>��>���������������.��
���@����
@�
�9��>�����
��������������������.�����
�����������9���
���9>������@���#��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 81Packet Page     107



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;B<�(C�����
���#��������9����G�??����>��������
����A>������
�9�D������>�
:�����
@���������H?����=���:��@��������
��>�������������������?�B
�������������
��>����=.�
�������?
������
����?
��?�������9����".�!!��A>����@���.����G9��9��9�����D�G�=�:�����
�9����A>���:�����
@���@����������:�����������B?�����D�������D�.������C������
G��9
>��������>���
��@�
:��9�����������:������=�D�9��?����������������
��G9��9�
�9�����>��>���������������.��
��9�������
@��9��B>�?�����G9��9��
��������9��:����
��������#���

;�<�	@�:
����9���
�����������?�B>�?���������
����>�����
����?
���>��>�����
��9��
�C�����
���?���������-����
���$#���%.�5,G
�&����9���&G�??����3�����
����-���?��
�
�.8��#�#�#�� �.��9������9�B>�?�����
�9����9����9��B>�?������?
������
����
�:������=�D�9��?����������������
��G9��9��9�����>��>���������������.��9�??�B��
��
�������B=��������
D��������>���D������>�
:����������H?����=���:����
���
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$#�

(C�����
���	@���?
��9���@�
������
���G
����������������9���������������:������=�
D�9��?���������������.��9����G
�B>�?�����.����9��?
������
��9������������D���������.�
�9�??��
��B����A>������
�B���
���
�������B=��9����>B�����
�#�

;�<�+
>����B�9����9
>�����9�??�B����
��������9�
>�9
>��B=��������
D����>�
:�����
�����H?����=���:�������
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$#�

;�%<;$$<�-����
��!$#�# �*�
>��-��.���������?������������������
�������

����>�
:����������H?����=���:��9�??�B����
D������9�
>�9
>���??���G�*�
>��-���

��>�����������������9����!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<�.����?>����.�B>���
��?�:������
.�
��������������#�

;��<;$"<�-����
��!$#�#�!�*�
>��-��.���������?������������������
�������

����>�
:����������H?����=���:��9�??�B����
D������9�
>�9
>���??���G�*�
>��-���

��>�����������������9����!!!��A>����@����;� �# :�<#�

;� <;$�<�����G������
�-����
�.�!$#�#�$�5*�
>��3�
��>�������.8�����������
�������

-����
��!$#�#��#$�*�
>��3��
��>�������#�����>�
:����������H?����=���:��9�??�B��
��
D������9�
>�9
>���??���G�*�
>��3�
��>�����������������9����.!!!���
����A>����@����
;� �# :�<#�

;�<;$%<����G�-����
��!$#�#��#"�����������
�������

-����
��!$#�#�"���=�
��>����=.����>��>���
��>������A>������
�B����
�������B=���
�����H?����=���:�B=�
�����
D���
��
@��9��@�����
���
���9��B>�?������
��.�����@�??����
G��9�������C�����
���
�����A>���:����
@��>�9���
�����
���
���=�
�9�����
D���
��
@��9��
@�����
���
��B>�?������
��.��9�??�B���
���
������#�

;$!<;$�<�����G�-����
��!$#�#��#������������
�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 82Packet Page     108



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

-����
��!$#�#����	@��9��@?

�������
@����������
���
���=��C�������
��>����=����
������B������!$#���9�
>�9�!$#�#��#$��B
D��������������9������9���@�@�=���������
@��9��
�C���������
���@?

�������
���.!!!��A>����@���.������9���
��?��?���������>��>���G
>?��B��
��A>������
�B����
�������B=��������H?����=���:�B=��9��������
���@����G������G�
�
����>���
�.��9����9���������������
���9�??�B����
��������9�
>�9
>��B=��������
D�������
�>���D������>�
:����������H?����=���:.������??���������
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$#�#�
-���������H?����=���:��9�??�B���
����>
>���9�
>�9
>���9��������
��>���
���@����B�������
B>�?��������
�������G��9��9��B>�?������
���@
���9���
��>����=#�

;$�<;$ <�-����
��!$#$#�#�#��(C�����
��"���������?����

>,?	)�'��!�	9�,�,�3�
	��	%�"���� 		

;$$<;$<��-����
��!$#$#�#�#����������?������������������
�������

!$#$#�#�#������������?��
:B�����
�����D����#���
:B�����
��
@��
:����������@����
���D����?������9�??�B��������
�������G��9��9�����=�
@��
>?����&�����������
����>���
��
-�������#�

;$"<;"!<�-����
��!$#"#�.�5)
���
����.8���������?������������������
�������

!$#"#��-����?)
���
����#��?��:.��>���D��
�=�������
>B?�������?���9�??�B����������?=�
��@@�����������9�??�B���>�
:�����??=������:�������
����3����G���������B
���
�=�?������
������?�>���D�����������
�#��

(C�����
����

�# 3������
>���H�=�
��9>B�D�?D�������
��G�=�B
C�����
D�����B=��9��
:>������?��=�
���>B?���>��?��=�������
��B���>���D����#�

�#���-=���:�������??���������
�������G��9�'2����$&#�

;$�<;"�<�-����
��!$#"#�.�5�?��:�.8���������?������������������
�������

!$#"#���?��:�#������
D����>��B?������D��>�?���D������9�??�B���
���������
��D��=���G�
�>�
:����������H?����=���:#��->�9������H?���G�����@?
G��?��:���D������9�??�B��
����D�����B=�G�����@?
G��A>�D�?�����
��9��@?
G�
@�������?�������H?���
@��9���:�??����

��@������J�������??�������9���=���:#���?��:���D������9�??�B����
D���������9��������
��
@�
�9��B>�?�����������
�������G��9�'2����������
���9���C����
��
@��9��B>�?�����������
����
D���?
����
�#��09������@�����?��:��=���:���������??��.����>���
��
@��9���>�
:�����
�����H?����9�??����>�����9��B>�?�����@�����?��:��=���:#���

;$%<;"�<�����G�-����
��!$#�.�5����
������:�������H?�����A>���:���.8������
������
�������

!$#������
������:�������H?�����A>���:���#�

;�< 	������9�����=E���
�?.������@?����������9���
>?����4�??�=��
:���9����D���?��E��
>�B���@�������D������������.��9���?�����
��B������C���>�?�����9������
������:��@
��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 83Packet Page     109



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

���D��������
�:�??=���C�:��>����
��?���#�'
���9�?���.��9����:�=�B��
�����
���G9���
����C���
��
>�������9���C���������C�:��>���?�:���B>��G��9������9��:��>����
��?������.�
�>���
�������?�����>:�������.�����9�����=E��B������������#���@
����>�9�?�������
����C��.��
���������
��:>���B����D����
��9�������@
��������
D���
��
@�������
��?�
@���������
��������A>��:�����
����D����
���?=��9�������B���������C��������
�B�����
���G��9����9����C�:��>���?�:����D���>�??=#���
�����
��B=��������H?����=���:����
��A>�����B=��>B�����
��;�<�B�?
G��������:�
���=��>B����>��.���������
������������
�
�?�:�������9����A>���:����@
��������
��?�@���������
��������A>��:���#��

;B< �����>����
���
�B��>����@
������������?��>��
����G�??��
���
�:�??=�B������C���
�@�������
>�������9����C�:��>���?�:���>�?�����C�������@�
:��9����
?��=�B=��>B�����
��
;�<�B�?
G#���??���G��G�??����>����
��?��������C���
>�������9����C�:��>���?�:���
�9�??�B����
�������B=�����>�
:�����@���������H?����=���:#�

;�< ���?��������C����@�����9���@@����D�������
@��9����9�����������
���C�������
>������>B�����
��;�<�B�?
G.��??���G��
������������?��
����>���
��������=��C�������
�
������������?����>��>�����9�??�B����
D������9�
>�9
>��G��9��������
D�������
�>���D�����@���������H?����=���:������??���������
�������G��9�-����
��!$#$#��
��
���������9�������!� .�52�������D����
���
��.8��#�#�#�� �.��@��>�9�?�������

>������
@��9����C�:��>������=�
@��
>?����@��������
������:��@�
:����=�@���������
���
9
>��������?�����
����>:����G9��9�������������
����9
>�������??
�������:��>���
�>:������������=�
���������.�����G9��9���A>����������G�
@��9����
��:
���@
��
��
����
������
�#�

;�< ,9����A>���:�����
@��9���-����
��:�=�B��G��D���B=��9�����=��
>���?�B=���
��
D���
���
�����
�����������C���
�������:�������
��
���������
��������C���
��

����������@.�����9��
����
��
@��9�����=��
>���?�����������9�����=E��B��������������
��
�
�
�B���>����

;�<��@��9������
��������?��
�����
��/�

;�<�,9��?�����
�B������C������?
������
�������9
���D��>��G����
@��9��
���=/�
��

;$<�,9��?�����
�B������C������B�?
G��9��B?>��?���.�G����
@���
��G�=.��
>�9�

@�'
�G

���D��>�.������
��9�
@�,�B?��)����&��D�#�

(C�����
���;�<�����;$<��B
D����@?�����9��@�����9����������
���������������9���
��G�@���������
���G�??�B���
����>������
�B������9����������G��9����9����C�
:��>���?�:��#�	��
�9����������������������������9�����G�@���������
���G�??�
�D���>�??=�B���
����>�����
��>���������
�B������9�����D���������G��9����9���
?�:��#�

;$�<;"$<�����G�-����
��!$# .�52�����>�������
���=���:�.8�����������
�������

!$# ��2����->�������
��-=���:��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 84Packet Page     110



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�??��C����������>��>��������9��@
??
G���������
������9�??�B����
��������9�
>�9
>��B=����
����
D��������>���D������>�
:����������H?����=���:������??���������
�������G��9��9��
��
D���
���
@�-����
��!$#$#��(C������9�����=����>��>���
���
���
���9���
@���A>�����B=�
�9��������
���
�B���
���
����������
���
��9���@@����D�������
@��9���
����������9�??�B��
�::������?=��
���
��������

;�< ������������
��>�����������������9���@�@�=�@�D��@����9��9#�

;B< +
��?������:
��?�#�(C�����
��������������G
���
�=����>��>���.������9����
��
�=����>��>����G��9�����C����
���C���B�?�
�=�@
���??��

:���B
D�������#�

;�< �
���������������������?����@�������*�
>����"#��

;�< *�
>��	�������	���
��>�������������@���������9��@�����
��#�

;�< ����:��������������9����.!!!���
����A>����@���#��

(C�����
���#�����:�����B�?
G���
��>�������#�

(C�����
���#�����:�����>�����C�?>��D�?=�@
��5���D������
��9��B>�?����.8�
�>�9�����?�������:�����.��
:�����
��.������
�@
��9#��>��5���D������
��9��
B>�?����8��9�??��
�����?>�����=���
�����;���9����
:B>���B?��
���
��
�
:B>���B?�<.��
���
>�����9>:���
��>����=#�

(C�����
��$#�����:�����G9�����9���������
D��������?������!��A>����@����
@�

�������������?=��B
D���9����F
��������
>���?�D�?�������9�@�@�=�?����?�@����

��@�����
���9���
@�
@��C����
��G�??�����9��B���:����
�����?�����
��������
@�
�9��B>�?����#�����������9�??�9�D����:���:>:���:����
��
@��
��?�����9���
$!����9��.������9�??�B���������B?���
��9��@����������:����@�
:��9���C����
��
�����9�??��
��B��
B���>����������:�������9���@���@��9�����
������>������
��
B�����
:�?��9���@�
:��9���C����
�#�

09���
��������������
D�����
��
�?=�
�������������9��
��
�����G�??�
@�
�����B���:�������:
����9�����D���=�@�D��@����@�
:��>�9�
�������.������
B���:�����9�??�B����
D�����G��9��������
D����>�
:����������H?����=���:.�

��
����������������@�����B
D���9�??�B����
D�����
�����?������G
�������
@����
�C����
��G�??�
@��9��B���:���#�

;@< �??�*�
>����
��>��������>�������:���?=�@
��������.�����H����
��:
��
��
����>���D��G���.��9�??�B����
��������9�
>�9
>��B=��������
D��������>���D�����
�>�
:����������H?����=���:������??���������
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@�
-����
��!$#$#��G9��������*�
>����
��>����=�������������9����.!!!���
���
�A>����@���������J�#�

2
��*�
>����
��>��������������B�������9��������;@<��
���>�����?=���
D�����G��9�
�
:�?�����>�
:����������H?�����
�����
�.��9�����������9��9�??���H���@@����
�>���������:
��?�
�����
D���
��G9��9��<���A>�����
���
��:
���B>�?�����
���:����G��9����
:B�����D�?>���
��;?�B
������:������?�<�
@�M$!#!!������A>����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 85Packet Page     111



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

@

��
��:
���G��9�����=���?������=���.������<��������������B>��������?
�>���@
��
���
:B���������
��
@�@�D����?��������=��
��:
��.�����9���@
��:����
����
��?������=���#�

;$ <;""<�-����
��!�#%#���.���������?������������������
�������

-����
��!�#%#����)
���
����#�2�����?��:��=���:���9�??�B���>���D�����B=����
3����G���������B
���
�=�?������������?�>���D�����������
�#�

;"�<�-����
����!$#�.�5-����H?����=���:�.8���������?������������������
�������

��!$#�#�-����H?����=���:�#�,9���>�
:����������H?����=���:���A>���:���������@
��9����
-����
���!$#������!$#��
@��9����
����9�??�B���
:�?����G��9�����C�������B>�?������G9����
�9��
��>����=�
��>��.������@���������9������$�
@��9���>�?������
���
@��9�����=�
@��
>?���.�
�9�����������@����������C���������.!!!��A>����@���#���

;$<;"%<�-����
��$$�%!�#�#"#�.�52���G
�H�.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G�����

�$�	'��&	4�����%	�$���	%�67�%�	�	'�%��#�'���	!#	���7%��'�	�!	"%!��'�	"�%�!��	�� 	

"%!"�%�&	#%!4	 ���$	!%	��D7%&	��	�	%��7��	!#	�$�	#�%�(!%B�	 ��"��&G	��	��	�4!7��	�!�	

����	�$��	I
3�G������	"�%	"�%�!�	��D7%� 	�� 	I1��G������	"�%	��'� ����	�$�	���7%��'�	

�$���	'!��%	��&	���.����&	!#	�$�	'��&	!%	��&	�4"�!&��	!%	�����	�$�%�!#	�%�����	!7�	!#	!%	

'!���'�� 	(��$	�$�	"�%4��	�� 	�$�	#�%�(!%B�	 ��"��&	"�%4���� 	�$�%�7� �%�	/�#!%�	

��&	"�%4��	#!%	�	#�%�(!%B�	 ��"��&	��	���7� G	�$�	�""��'���	�$���	'!4"�&	(��$	�$�	

"%!����!��	!#	�$��	)�'��!��	

;"!<;"�<�-����
��$"��!�#".�5���:���.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G�����

;�< �����>?������:����??
G�������:������
����������
����
>����
���H����?�D��=�
@�@?�::�B?��
�����
:B>���B?��?�A>����@�
:���=���?�D��=�D�9��?��
��@�
:������H���>�H�G9�����9�����:�����
�����
��?
������
����������
����
>��#�3�
����=:����
@��9��@�����
D��������-����
��"��!���.�
52�����
������:�������	�������
��2���.8��#�#�#�� �.��9�����=�:��������9�??����>���
����
���?�������9���@
�������:����
������D����?�D������
@�@?�::�B?�������
:B>���B?��?�A>���������
������>?���?
����
��
��
>�?����@��9��:�������@������9����

;�< ,9��
>�?���
��?
����
���
��������>@@��������

:��
����
::
������9����?�D��=�
D�9��?�.��
��9����9����?�D��=�D�9��?���������B?��
@�B��������H���������?=�G��9����9��
��
����=�B
>����=�?�����
@��9��
>�?���
��?
����
����������>�9���:�������9����
������
@�
�9��D�9��?���C���������
���=�������.�����G�?H.�
���??�=�G9�?���9��D�9��?�����
@@�?
������
�����
�B��H����
@��9��D�9��?�����9������
�
��
>��
@������
����
����=������������=/�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 86Packet Page     112



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;B< ,9����������������C����������G�=��@
���9����?�D��=�D�9��?�������
�����������9����
�

B���>���
��
@����@@���G�??����>?��@�
:��9��D�9��?�����������
��?��D�����9��
>�?���
��
?
����
�/�����

;�< ,9����
��������H��@
��@?�::�B?�������
:B>���B?��?�A>��������?
������>������
>���
�����
����>�����������
�������G��9��9�����?���B?����
D���
���
@��9����
��.�>�?����
�����@���??=��??
G����
�B�������??����B
D����
>���B=�
�9��������
���
@��9����
��#�

;�< ��������?����:����??
G�������:�������
���H����?�D��=�
@�@?�::�B?�������
:B>���B?��
?�A>����
�����:�����
>������
@�������
����
>����@�
:������@������?�D��=�D�9��?���
�9����9�����
���H���>�H#�,9��
G����
������
������
���
?�
@���=�
>�?���
��?
����
��9
?����������>?������:���
:�=.�>�
����=:����
@��9��@�����
D��������-����
��"��!���.�52�����
������:�������
	�������
��2���.8��#�#�#�� �.����?=��
��9�����=�:�������@
����������?����:����??
G����
��?�D��=�G��9���D�9��?��
�9����9��������H���>�H������@��������-����
�����#�,9�����=�:�������
�9�??���9��>?��G��9��9�����?����������:>?�������:
�������
��G��9�����:��=�D�9��?��
@��9��
��J��������������9����9�����?������G�??�>���>������9�����:��#�,9�����?�������9�??�@>����9��9��
D�9��?���������D�����������
��#�,9����:>?�����������9�??�B��
B���D���B=��9�����=�:�������G9
�
�9�??����>���9��������?����:����@��9��:�������@������9����

;�< ,9��
>�?���
��?
����
���
��������>@@��������

:��
����
::
������9����?�D��=�
D�9��?�.��
��9����9����?�D��=�D�9��?���������B?��
@�B��������H���������?=�G��9����9��
��
����=�B
>����=�?�����
@��9��
>�?���
��?
����
������>�9���:�������9����
������
@��9��
D�9��?���9�??��C��������
���=�������.�����G�?H�
���??�=�G9�?���9��D�9��?�����
@@�?
�����.�
�����
�B��H����
@��9��D�9��?�����9������
�
��
>��
@��9�������
����
����=������������=/�

;B< ,9����������������C����������G�=��@
���9����?�D��=�D�9��?��������
�����������9���
�
�
B���>���
��
@����@@���G�??����>?��@�
:��9��D�9��?�����������
��?��D�����9��
>�?���
��
?
����
�/�

;�< ,9���
���������������������������B?���
�@����@��9������A>��:��������D�9��?��/�

;�< ,9���
�
����9=�
���
�@��>����
��
@��9���
�����������������
����
����D
?D��
�
������?���@@��>?���������
��������.�@��9����.�
���>������������@����
�����??������
����
��
�:������9���B�?��=�
@���������
���D�9��?���
�:���>D�����@�?=/�����

;�< ,9�����@@����
������
������@?
G�
@�D�9��?���>������9���
����������������G�??��
��
��������
������?�9�J������
�������
���D�9��?��#�3�
�����>����.��9�����:���G�??�
�����������������@����
>����
�B��@
??
G���@�
:��9����������������
����
>����
��9�����:���
?
����
�������
����>����
��9��������
����
>��#�,9�����:���G�??������@=���D�9��?��
�������=#�-�����?����:��������D�?���
�?=�B��G����$�!!��#:#�����%�!!��#:#��>�.�@
���9��
��?�D��=�
@����
?����
�������?�@>�?�
�?=.��@��9�����:���?
����
��������������>�����?�J
��.�
��������
���������
���������
����
>���B=���@
�:���������
����
>�������B?��9���B=�

���������"%$%�;� �<.������9�����?��������:
����������9����9����G�����
�����������
��D
?D�����9������9�����
@����
?����
�������?�@>�?�@�
:���?�D��=�D�9��?���>������9��
��?�D�����
���
��
@��>�9�@
�:����
>��.��9����9�����=�:�������:�=����>���9��������?�
���:���@
���>�9�
�9���9
>�������9�����?����������B?���
���:
�����������������
�:
���
9�J�����9�����?�D��=��>������9��9
>���
@�$�!!��#:#��9�
>�9�%�!!��#:#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 87Packet Page     113



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;$< ��D
����
��
��->������
��
@����:���#�

;�< (��9�
@��9��@
??
G�����������
>���@
����D
����
��
@���������?����:����

�# 2��?>���
@���������
���D�9��?���
����H�������?=�
���9�������G9�?��>�?
�����/�

�# �B���>������
@�����G�?H��G9�?��>�?
�����/�

$# ���H�����9��D�9��?��
��
�
��
@@�
@��9������/�

"# �B���>���
��
@����@@���G9�?�����������
��?��D���/��

�# 2��?>���
@���������
������D����
�@
??
G��9���������B����
>����
�
��@�
:��9��
���:���?
����
�/�
��

%# 2��?>����
�:�����������
�=�
@��9��������?����:���
���9�����:����#�

�# 2��?>���
@���������
������D����
�B����������G9�?��
@@�?
�����#�

;B< (��9�
@��9��@
??
G�����������
>���@
���>������
��
@������>?������:���@
��>���
�
@
>��������=���

�# 2��?>���
@���������
���D�9��?���
����H�������?=�
���9�������G9�?��>�?
�����/�

�# �B���>������
@�����G�?H��G9�?��>�?
�����/�

$# ���H�����9��D�9��?��
��
�
��
@@�
@��9������/�

"# �B���>���
��
@����@@���G9�?�����������
��?��D���/�
��

�# 2��?>���
@���������
������D����
�@
??
G��9���������B����
>����
�
��@�
:��9��
���:���?
����
�#�

%# 2��?>���
@���������
������D����
�B����������G9�?��
@@�?
�����#�

;�< 09���:�����������B�
>�9���
��9���������
��
@��9�����=�:������.�G9��9��@�
�>B�����������G
>?��B����
>����@
����D
����
��
@���������?����:���
���>������
��
@���
���>?������:��.��9��:��������9�??����>����G��������
������9���
@��
��9�����:������
�
������������
������G������������:����
@��9��D�
?���
���
�����>�������
>����@
��
��D
����
��
���>������
������������������9����9����D
����
��
���>������
���9�??���H��
�@@����@
>��������=���@�����9�����>�����
@�������
�����>�?�����9�����:�����������?�����
���
�������G��9��9�����:��
@�-����
���! $#�#"#�

;�< �??�������?����:�����D
����
����9�??�B��@
��������
��
@���C�:
��9�.��@����G9��9�
��:���9�����:������:�=������?=�@
����������?����:��#�&>������9������
��
@���D
����
�.�
�9��
>�?���:�=��
����>���
�
�������G��9��������
�������
��9�����:��
@������>?������:��#�

;"< 	@.��>���
��9�������
�����
��.����?>�����G��9
>��?�:�����
���9����������9��������
���
�
>���.��9��:�������9�����
B�B?����>����
�B�?��D���9�������C����������>?���
��������?����:���

Agenda Item 3C     Page 88Packet Page     114



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�
�?
�����:������9�����������@
�����>����.��9��:�������:�=���A>��������G���:>?�����
��:
�������
�#�2
���>��
����
@��
��������������?.��>�9���
����������9�??�B�����:�������G�
���?�����
�.�B>���
�������
��?�@����9�??�B���9�����#��

;"�<;" <�����G�-����
��$"��!�#%.�5��
9�B���������.8������
������
�������

;�< '
�
G���������
�����
������
���
?�
@���=�
>�?���
��?
����
���9�??����������?�D������
@�
@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��?�A>���.�>�?�����>�9�����
��9������?����@
������9���B�������>�����
���:����9���@
��B=��9�����=�:������#�

;B< '
�
G���������
�����
������
���
?�
@���=�
>�?���
��?
����
��@
��G9��9������:����
�
���������?�D������
@�@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��?�A>����9���B�������>����9�??��������
��?�D������
@��>�9�?�A>����>�?������?�D��=��������
:�?������G��9��??��9����
D���
���
@��9���
�
���������=��
�����
���
���9�����:��#�

;�< '
�����
���9�??����??�:
����9����9���=��G
�@?>���
>�����
@�@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��
?�A>���>�
���9����
>��#�

;�< '
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
��@=��9��@����������:����
@���=����??�
@�@?�::�B?��
��
�
:B>���B?��?�A>���
@�:
����9����9���=��G
�@?>���
>���������9�����?�������������B?��:
:����
�@������������??�9���
��>����#�

;�< (C������
����?�����C����������H�.��
�����
���9�??������??���=����H��>����@
���9����
�����

@���=��=���
@�@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��?�A>��.�
��
�9���9�J���
>��:������?�
��G���������9��
@?

��?���������@��������-����
�����.�5&�@�����
��.8��#�#�#�� �#�,9�����
9�B���
������
��
����
����D�.�B>���
�����
���9�??�>���
��:����������=����H������??������D�
?���
��
@��9���
��
9�B���
�#�

;@< '
�����
���9�??�G�?��
���>��B=��
��9�
���9�����:�����
@������D���������
��
���??
G�
��
��>�������H����������������
�B�����??���
���
>����
��
��9����
>��#�'
�����
���9�??�����
���

@�9�J���
>��:������?��B=��>:�����
���
>�����
���9����
>���
�����
�����
�:�������
��
�������=���G���
����=��
������
���9����
#�

;"�<;"<�-����
��$"��!"#�.�5,��H�-��
����.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@��9��@
??
G���#��

;�< (C�����@
��@>�?���������
�����H���>�H�.��B
D����
>�����
�����
@��??��?����	.�		.�����			�
@?�::�B?�������
:B>���B?��?�A>������������������:
>����
@�:
����9����!!���??
���
@��>�9�
?�A>����
��������?��?
������??
G���
�?=�����9
���������
@��9�����=�J
����5���>�����?#8��??�
�����??���
����9�??��
:�?=�����??����������G��9��9��������$"#���=����H����������@
���9��B>?H�
��
�����
@���=��?����	.�		�
��			�@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��?�A>���:�=�B����
�����B
D��
��
>���
�?=�����9
���������
@��9�����=�J
�������>�����?#��

;B< �??����D���������
��.������@���������9��������.�������?����
@�J
����.��9�??������??��??�
B>?H�@>�?���
��������H�.�
�?���
��������H�.�����G�����
�?���
��������H��>������
>�������:����
�??���A>���:�����
@��9��������������9������$"#��??�B>?H�@>�?���
��������H�.�
�?���
�����
���H�.�����G�����
�?���
��������H�����������������?�J
����9�??�B�������??���>������
>�������
:�����??���A>���:�����
@��9������$"#���A>�@�������>��?�����;�'*<�
��?�A>�@��������
?�>:�
����;���*��<�:�=�B����
�����B
D����
>������������
@��9�����=�J
����5���>�����?8�����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 89Packet Page     115



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

��������������>�9�������B=������D���������
�.��@��9�����=�:�������@������9����>�9������??���
��
:������??��9����A>���:�����
@����?���B?��@�����
����B�@
�����=������������
@��>�9�@>�?�����
��
����������������=�
�������@�����
���
?���D�����������
D����#�,9��@���@
����D��G�����
��������
��
@��>�9���������?�J��������??���
���9�??�B�������
D��������-����
��"��!���.�52����
�
������:�������	�������
��2���.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�< �??�>������
>������H��>����@
�������������
��B>?H���
�����
@���=�@?�::�B?��
��
�
:B>���B?��?�A>����9�??��
:�?=�G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9��������$".�52?�::�B?������
�
:B>���B?����A>���.8���=�
�9����������������=��
���.����?>�����G��9
>��?�:�����
���9
���
�
���������@��������@?

�.��9���
?
���
�-�������?�&�D���
�.������9��:��>@���>���E��
�����@�����
���@
�������??���
�#��?����@
�������??���
���9�??�B������
D���B=��9���
?
���
�-�����
��?�&�D���
�������9�����=�@?

���
���
?�
@@���.�B�@
����9�����=�:�=����>�����:����@
��
�
����>���
�.������??���
�.�����>���
@��9�����H�#�'
�����
���9�??������??���>�������H#�

;�< '
�����
���9�??������??������H�
�����H��@
���9�������������
��B>?H���
�����
@���=�
@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��?�A>��.����?>�������:�
���=������??���
���
���
����>���
�������.�
>���?��>�9�����
��9���@������>B:�������?����@
���9�������??���
���
��9�����=�:�����������9���
�����D�������
D�?�
@��>�9��?��������
@��9�������??���
�#�

;"$<;�!<�����G�-����
��$"��!%#�# #�.�5-�@��=���D�������A>�����@
��
>�?����
��?
����
�������������
��?�D������
@�@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��?�A>���.������
������
�������

'
�
G���������
�����
������
���
?�
@���=�
>�?���
��?
����
���9�??����������?�D������
@�
@?�::�B?�������
:B>���B?��?�A>���.������
�����
���9�??�:�H����?�D������
@��>�9�?�A>����
�
���=�
>�?���
��?
����
�.�>�?�����9��@
??
G�����
�����
�������:����>������>�9���?�D��=��

;�< ,9��9
����
������
���:�?
=������:�H��������?�D��=�
@�@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��
?�A>�����
��������9����@��=���D����H�
G�������5�?�����?B
G8��
��??
G���������
��
@��9��
�
�������
@��9����?�D��=�9
��/�����

;B< ��=�9
���>�������:�H������?�D������
@�@?�::�B?��
���
:B>���B?��?�A>�����
�������
�9���������>���
::
�?=�H�
G����������9��@�??��
������
����D�����
����>����9��
@@�
?
��������D����
@��9����?�D��=�D�9��?���
��9������H�����>��>���
@��9����
��������H#�

;�< (C�����
����
�;�<�����;�<��B
D��:�=�B����������B=��9�����=�:�������@
�����>�����?�
�����??���
����@��
�����
���G������#�

;""<;��<�����G�-����
��$"��!%#�# #$.�2>??��
:����:�����>:�����A>����.8������
������
�������

��=�����
����?�D������@?�::�B?�������
:B>���B?��?�A>���������D�9��?���9����
�������
�
:����:�����?�������9�����C�9>��������??
����9�??��:��=����9��>�9��
:����:���������
����?����
�.��@���=���?�D��=�
@�?�A>�������:���������=�
>�?���
��?
����
��@�
:���=��>�9�
�
:����:���#�

;��<�	���9������ !.�5��@��������-��������.8��9��'2��������������@��������>:B����@
���$.��$&.�
�$�.�����������������?������������������
�������

�$��$�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 90Packet Page     116



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�$&��$�

�$���$�

����$�


��8�,	2�!����!���	

��=�D�
?���
��
@��9��	��������
��?�2�����
��.���=��������C��9����
���
�����B=��9����9�����.�
��
@�
��=�
��������>���B=��9�����=�:��������9���>���������>���9�B?�������
D��������-����
������".�
5*�����?�����?����.8��#�#�#�� �#�(D��=��G���=�@
>��9
>������
�����G9��9���D�
?���
���C�����
�
�����>���������������D�
?���
�#�

)�'��!�	8�		�	��(	�$�"��%	
��8�3G	/�����	
98
G	��	���'�� 	�!	%�� J	

�$�"��%	
��8�3	:�� ��� 	�! �	

	


��8�3�
	�����������	�������	

�

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������>B?���9��?�9�������@��=�B=����>?�������9��>��.��
�����
�.�
�
����>���
�.��?������
�.������������:�����������
@�B>�?�����.����>��>�����������:�����G��9����9��
G�?�?����>�B��������@��������������9�����=����
������
����D�����9���������
@�@�����������H�
@�9��:�
�
�����
���������
����=�@�
:��9������>��
��
@�@����@�
:�G�?�?����@�����C�
�>��������@����
�C�
�>����@�
:���F���������>��>�������G�??�����
����D�������>��>���@�����@�
:������������
�
G�?�?����@>�?�#�,9�����=��
>���?�9���B=���
�����9���!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?�0�?�?����
3�B���	����@�����
���G��9����������:���:����.�������
��.�������?���
����9����
�@
>����
�B�����
�9��B��������������
@��9�����=#�

�


��8�3�		� !"��!�	!#	�$�	����%����!���	:�� ��� �=%.��	����%#�'�	�! �	(��$	
�! �#�'���!���	

�

;�<�,9���!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?�0�?�?����3�B���	����@������
���
@��9��	��������
��?�
�
����
>���?�������
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?����0�?�?�����
�������9����9����:��
@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.��C�������������@���??=��:������B=��9��
��
D���
���
@��9����9�����#�

;B<��������C��.�54�������
��)�����:�����?��8������������C��.�52����+�J����-�D����=�2
�:8�
���������
����
���������9������������
����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 91Packet Page     117



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�-����
���!�#"#�.�5�
�@?����.8������:�������
�������

�!�#"#���
�@?����#��09�����
�@?������C����B��G������
D���
���
@��9����
��������9��
��@������������������
���9��B>�?����.�����������?.�
��@�����
��.��9��:
������������D��
��
D���
����9�??��
D���#��

;�<�-����
���!$#�.�5������
��
@������@
���:���������=.8���������?������������������
�������

�!$#��&�D���
��
@��>�?�����-�@��=#��5&�D���
��
@��>�?�����-�@��=8�:������9��
��:���������D��>��������B?��9���B=��9�����=�:�������
���9��:������K����?������.������9��
����
���?�����������
��9��>����B=��9��:�����#��,9��&�D���
��
@��>�?�����-�@��=�
��:����������9�����=�
@��
>?����0�?�?�����
������������B=���&�D���
��
@�2����-�@��=.�
����B?��9���G��9����9��@����������:���.�>������9���������
��
@��9�����=�:������#���

;�<�-����
���!"#$.�5���B�?��=�
@��9���
���
@@����?.8���������?������������������
�������

�!"#$#�����B�?��=#��,9��0�?�?�����
����9�??��
��B���
����>����
�9
?���9�����=�
@��
>?����

����=�
@������:�?
=����
�������������
���B?��@
����=���:�����
�����
���
����
����=�B=�
����
��
@���������
��
������������
��
��@��?>����
���������
���������������9��������
D�����
��
B=�����
��
@��9������
D�?�
���������
D�?�
@���=��A>��:�������9��������
D����#�

'
��:�?
=���
@��9�����=�G9
���@
����.�����:�����
���@
���.�
������>�9
��J����
���@
�����9��
0�?�?�����
�����������9�:�
��9����?@�
���9�����=�?��B?���
��9������������@
����=���:����
��
��F>�=��
��9������
��
����
����=�
@��>�9��9��������������������>?��
@��9����@
���:����
���
��
��@
���:����
@��9��@�����
��#�,9�����=����>:����
��>�=�
@������B=�D���>��
@��9����
���
��

@��9��0�?�?�����
��#�'
�����
�����F>���@���������?=����>�
���9������
D�?�
@����?��.��9��
���>?���
@������������
�.�
���9�����>�����
@��������@������
@���������
��
��
��>����=.�����
�>�9�����
D�?�.���������
��.����������@������������
�����>���������9����9���?���
��G
�H��
�
����
D��.����������.�
�������@����������@�����
:�?����G��9��??���A>���:�����
@��9��0�?�?����
�
��#�	������9���>�=�
@��9������
��
G����.��
���
??���.�
���
����>��������=�B>�?�����
��
���>��>����
�����>����9����9��G
�H�����
���������
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9��@����
�
��.������������>�9�����
��������
���9�����=�G9
���������
���B?��@
����:�������>����B=�
���?������B����9�
@��>�9��>�=#�

;@<�-����
���!%.�5�����?�.8���������?������������������
�������

-(�,	�'��!%����(��-�

�!%#�������?�#�

;�< ��=������?�>������9��������
���9�??�B��9�����B=��9���
����
@��>�?�����
�����?������B?��9���>����������
����$�".�5�
����
@��>�?����������?�.8��#�#�#�
� �.�>�?�����9�����=�:������������:����.��>���
��9�����>���
@��9�����>��������
������>?��������?.��
����
������9�������
@@����>����������
����$��.�5+������������
&����:�����
��.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;B<���=�����
��������?=��@@������B=���������
��
@��9���
���
@@����?�
�����
�����
���>���>������9����
���:�=������?��9��������
��
��
�����
���9����
>����9����

Agenda Item 3C     Page 92Packet Page     118



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�# ,9��������
��
��
�����G���B�����
��������
��
@�@����
��������
��
>��
������������
��
@��9����
���
���9���>?���?���??=���
������9���>����/�
��

�# ,9���
���
@@����?����
��
>�?=�@��?����
�����
D������?�������D��:������?�

��:��9
���>��>�����
�-����
���!�#$����
���
����������??���
��
��>��#��	��
�����:�������>�9���������?��9��B
�����9�??����?=��9������������
@�-����
��
�!�#$.�B>���9��B
�����9�??�9�D���
�F>��������
���
��
��������@���:������?�
��
:��9
���C�����?=���
9�B�����B=��9����
����������������B?���?�������D�/�
��

$# ,9���
���
@@����?�9������
��
>�?=�@��?����
���������:
��@�����
��
�>��>�����
�-����
����!�#�#��	�������:�������>�9���������?��9��B
����
��
9�������
@@������9�??����?=��9������������
@�-����
���!�#�#��

,9���
���
@@����?�9����9��B>�����
@���

@�>�������������9��#��,9��
����??����9����9��B>�����
@���

@�
�������?��B�
>�9���>��>�����
�
��������9���#�����$#��,9��B
����
��9�������
@@������9�??������:�����9��
�����?������������G9��9����9���
���
@@����?K��������������
��
�����?�����
��

@��>�9��
���G����
������
��������
�������9�������>������9����
���>����
������B�������9��������$.�5L>����7>�����?�+�������.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�������?�����
��@
�������?�:>���B��@�?������G�������G��9��9�����=�:�������G��9���
@
>��������=���@�����9��������9��������
��
��
�����G������D��#�

;�<�������?������@
����������?��9�??���=��9��@����������B���B=�-����
��"��!�"�.�
56
�������F>��:���������>�?����������?��2�?����2���.8��#�#�#�� �#��,9��@���
@
����������?�9�����B=���9�������
@@������9�??�B���9����:������9��@���@
����������?�
9�����B=��9���
����
@��>�?����������?�#�

;�<�,9�����=�:�������:�=����?=��
��9���
����
@��>�?����������?�.�G��9
>��@��.�
@
�������D��
�=�
����
���
����������?�������D��:��9
��.����?���B�?��=�
@������@���
��A>���:����.�����
D�?�
@��A>��:��������:������?�.��������������
@�������?�
���:����
������
���:�?��������-����
����!�#�.�5��������?���@@��>?����.8�
��-����
��
�!�#$.�5�?�������D��:������?��
��:��9
��.8�
@��9��0�?�?�����
��#�

;�@<�,9��B
����
��9�������
@@�����9����
��>�9
���=��
������������9��������;�9��
��:���������D����A>���:����<�
@��9����
����C���������C�����?=���
D���������9���
�����
�.��
�.�B���>����9����
��������:���:>:����������.��
�G��D����=���A>���:����

@��9����
��#	

;�<�-����
���!�.�5���:���.8���������?������������������
�������

�!�����:���#�,9����
D���
���
@�-����
���!�.�5���:���.8�
@��9�����=�
@��
>?�����>�?�����
�
��.�-����
���!�.�5���:���.8�
@��9�����=�
@��
>?����2�����
��.�����-����
���!�.�
5���:���.8�
@��9�����=�
@��
>?��������������?��
��.����?=.����
�9��G�������?���B?���
��9��
G
�H���A>�������9�����:��#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 93Packet Page     119



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;9<�-����
���! #�.�5*�����?.8���������?������������������
�������

�! #��*�����?#�,9����A>���:�����
@�-����
���!%#�.�5->B:����?�&
�>:����.8�
@��9�����=�
@�
�
>?�����>�?������
������?=#�

;�<�-����
���!#"#%.�5��
���>��
��
@�D�
?���
�.8���������?������������������
�������


�9�-�1	2�!����!��	

;�< *�����?���
D���
���
;�< '
�����
���9�??������.��
����>��.���?����.��?���.��C����.�������.�:
D�.���:
D�.�
�:��
D�.��
�D���.���:
?��9.��A>��.�>��.�
��>�=.�
��:����������=�B>�?�����
��
���>��>�������9�����=�
����>���
�����:����9����:���
�B���
����C���������
�@
�:��=�
G��9��??�
@��9����
D���
���
@��9����
�����������
�@
�:��=�G��9��9�����:������
�
�����
���
@�����
D�?����>���>������9����
��.�
��
@���=��������D��
@��9���
���

@@����?#��'
�����
���9�??�D�
?�����9����
D���
���
@��9����
��.�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9�
��=���A>���:������9���
@.�
��@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9���=�
��������>���B=��9���
���

@@����?�>������9����
��#�

;�< 	�����
�������G��9��9����
D���
���
@������
��������.�5��
���>��
��
@�)>?���?��
�
>����@
��-�:�����.8��#�#�#�� �.����9���=��>�����G9��9��??���?��
����>���
�.�
�?������
�.�:����������.�
��>����=.�>��.�
��D�
?���
���
����>��.��
�����>������
���������
@@�������:����B?���9�
>�9��9����@
���:������
D���
���
@��9����
��#�

;$< ,9��
G���.�������.�����
��>�����
@������>��>���
��?���������9���������
@����9�

@��9�:�����F
���?=�������D���??=�?��B?��@
����=�D�
?���
��
@��9����
���G��9���������
�
��>�9����>��>���
��?���#�

;"< ,9����:������@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
@���=����:��.�
�����@�����.�
��
�9�������
D�?����>���>������9����
���
��
�9������=�
@��
>?�����
���

��
@���=��������D��
@��9���
���
@@����?�:�=�B���>��>�������?=�
������
:B�����
�#��

;�< 	@���=�����
��@��?��
����@>�����
���=�G9����>����=��9������:�
����>������9���
�����
�.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=.����������
���
���H����
�9����
??����
����:�����.�
�����@=��>������>�������9�������
��9���
>?�����
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�����
��
D�����B=������
��������.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����
������:������
��
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;%< ,9���
���
@@����?�:�=��9������9���
���
@���=�����
����H����
��
������
���B����
��D�
?���
�.�����>�9
��J���B=��9����
��.��?>��>���
�@�@�������������
@��>�9��
���@
��
��:���������
���
��9����
����=�
G���#��	@���=���
����=�
G����@��?��
����@>�����
�
��=�G9����>����=��9������:�
����>������9��������
�.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=.����
������
���
���H����
�9����
??����
����:�����.������@=��>����=�>�������9�����.�
���?>�������������.��
��9���
>?�����
>��=�,����>���.��
�B��?�D�������������9��
����
�K����
����=�@
���
??����
��B=��9���
>��=�����9����:��:�����������?��A>����
������?���C���>�
���>�9���
����=������
??�����.�>������9����
���>����������B���B=�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 94Packet Page     120



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�����
��������.�5���=�)�������)�=������@=�,�C��.��9�����.�����������:������
�
�
>��=�,����>����@
���
??����
�.5��#�#�#�� �#�

;B< ��:���������D����
���>����������:������
;�<�	@��9���
���
@@����?�@������9�����D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
����=�
����
D�?���������>������9����
����C����.��9��:������.��@�����
������������

��
��>���=�@
��9�������>������9����
���>�����������B���B=��9��������$.�IL>����
7>�����?�+�������.I��#�#�#�� �.�:�=���H����=�
���
��:
���
@��9��@
??
G����
����
����
���:��=��9��D�
?���
���

;�<�	:�
�������D�?�����?�=����
�������
��9��@
??
G������9��>?���

;�<�2
���9��@�����D�
?���
��
@��9����
D���
��
������
D�?.�M�!!/�

;��<�2
���9�����
���D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�
M$!!/�����

;���<�2
���9���9����D�
?���
��
@��9����:����
D���
��
������
D�?.�
M�.!!!/�

;�<�2
����D�
?���
���
����������9��>���
@�������������?�B>�?�����>�������
�����?�?������.���D
H���>�9�?������/�

;�<���A>�����9��@�?����
@������?�����
��
@�>��������
D���������>B�����
��;�</�

��

;&<�	��>�����
���������
��B?=���?�>?������
����>����
:�?������G��9��9��
��
D���
���
@��9����
���
����=�����
D�?���������>������9����
��#�

;�<����
���
��9��9������.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=����>�����
������9����
�����
���9�??�
���@
�:���=�G
�H�
����=����>��>���
��?���.��C������
��
��������=�D�
?���
��@
>���
B=��9���
���
@@����?��
��C����G��9����������
��>�9����>��>���
��?���#�

;$<�	@��
����������D����
��9���
���
@@����?����?�����@
��=����9��9
>���B�@
����9����:��
�������������@
��9�����9���
�����
@�9�������
����=�D�
?���
���9����9��D�
?���
��9���
B�����
�������.��9���
���
@@����?�G�??������������9�����>��>���
��?���#�	@��9���
���

@@����?�@������9����9��D�
?���
��9���B�����
�������.��9��:�������:�=������?��9��
9������#�

;"<�'
�����
���9�??�@��?��
��
:�?=�G��9���=�����
����H���B=��9���
���
@@����?�>�����
�9��������
�#�

;�<����:���?�����?����#�4�
?���
���
@��9����
��������>���9�B?�������
D��������-����
������
".�I*�����?�����?����.I��#�#�#�� �#�
;�<���9�����:�����#�,9�����=����
���=�:�=�:���������������
��@
����:����.����?����
�=�
��?��@.������@������@
�:����.���F>����
�.�
����=�
�9�������
���������?��@�����9��&��������
�
>����������@
���9���
>��=�
@��
>?����@
����=�D�
?���
��
@���=���
D���
��
@��9����
���
��
��=�����
D�?���������>������9����
��#�
;�<�&��?�����
��
@�3��#�	@��9���
���
@@����?������:������9���������
�����>����������>��>������
��G�=��9���:��9��:��?����������
��B?������
���
�B�?��D���9����>�9�>��������>���B=����9��
��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 95Packet Page     121



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���


�9��G�����>�9
��J���B=��9������?�.��9���
���
@@����?�:�=���A>�����>�9�����
���
������>�����

��9������?�����
��
@�>����9�����@������9��?�:��������>���
@��9��>��������
����
����>�9�
���?�����
������9��
@@����
@��9���
>?�����
>��=��?��H��������
��������������9�����?���
��9��
?���#�	��������
���
��??�
�9�����:��������������
����9����9���
���
@@����?�����>�9
��J����
�
>���>������9���
>?������D������
���
��
�9������?���B?��@�����?.�������
��?
��?�?�G���
�
��@
�����9����
D���
���
@��9����
��.��9���
���
@@����?�����>�9
��J����
�G��99
?����=�
����
D�?��@@��������>�9����>��>���
��?���.����?>����.�G��9
>��?�:�����
�.���B>�?��������:��.�
>�����D��G.��������D��G.��>B��D���
�.�@?

��?������D�?
�:�������:��.�
��G��?�������:���
>���?��>�9���:������9������
���>B:���������?�����
��
@�>����9�����������@
�:��������B?���
�
�9���
���
@@����?#�

;F<�-����
���!#"#�.�54�
?���
������?����.8���������?��#�

;H<,9����@�����
��
@�5�
����@@����?8����-����
���!�.�5&�@�����
��.8���������?������������������
�
������

��&(��22	�	��#���
���
@@����?�:������9�����=�:�������
���9�����=�:������K����?�����#�

;?<�-����
��"!$#�.�5&��D�G�=�.8���������?������������������
�������

"!$#���&��D�G�=�#��&��D�G�=���9�??�B����
D�����G9�����=��
���
��
@�����C����
��G�??�
@�
�9��@�������
�=�
@���B>�?��������?
������:
����9����!!�@����;$!�" !�::<�@�
:���@����
�������>����������
��#�

;:<�-����
��"!$#�#�.�5&�:����
��.8���������?������������������
�������

"!$#�#��&�:����
��#��&��D�G�=���9�??�B����
D����������@��������-����
���!$#�#�#�
5&�:����
��.8�
@��9�����=�
@��
>?����2�����
��.�����?
��??=��:���������-����
���!� ��;��<.�
�#�#�#�� �..�@
�����5�������B?�����D�������D�8�����G��9���:���:>:�>�
B���>�����9���9��
@�
���@����;"����::<#�

;�<�-����
��"!$#�#".�5,>����
>���.8���������?������������������
�������

"!$#�#"�,>����
>���#��&��D�G�=��>����
>�����9�??�9�D�����>����������>���
����
::
��������
-3�$!�D�9��?�#��&��D�G�=���9����
������G��9����
���
���
�������:
����9���
����
�����9�??�B��
�
������������9�D�������>����
>����@��??��9����������������
��:�����9����������A>���:�����@
��
���D�G�=��>����
>��#��

;
<�-����
��"!$#$.�52�����������>����������
��.8���������?������������������
�������

"!$#$�2�����������>����������
��#��09�����A>����.�@�����������>����������
�����9�??�:�����9��
��A>���:�����
@��9�����=�
@��
>?����&�����������
����>���
��-�������#��

;�<�-����
��"!"#�.�50������
>����.8���������?������������������
�������

"!"#��0������
>����#��0������
>������9�??�B��������������������??���������
�������G��9��9��
���=�
@��
>?����&�����������
����>���
��-�������#���

;A<�-����
���!�#�.�5�

@��
D�����.8���������?������������������
�������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 96Packet Page     122



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�!�#����

@��
D�����#���

@���9�??�B�������??���������
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9��
���=�
@��
>?�����>�?������
��������9�����=�
@��
>?��������������?��>�?������
��#.����
���?���B?�#�

;�<�-����
���!%#�.�5�

@��
D�����.8���������?������������������
�������

�!%#���

@��
D�����#���

@���9�??�B�������??���������
�������G��9��9����A>���:�����
@��9��
���=�
@��
>?�����>�?������
��������9�����=�
@��
>?��������������?��>�?������
��#.����
���?���B?�#�

;�<�-����
���!�.�5���?���:����
���������
@��

@��
D������.8���������?������������������
�������

�!������?���:����
���������
@��

@��
D������#�����?���:����
���������
@���=�G

���

@��9�??�
:�����9����A>���:�����
@������
���!����.�0

���

@��
D������)������?����
9�B����.��#�#�#�
� �#���

;�<�-����
��%!�#��5-�
��8���������?������������������
�������

%!�#��-�
��#��,9����
D���
���
@��9����9����������B?��9�������?���A>���:�����@
����G�
B>�?�����.����>��>���.��������:�����?
������G��9���G�?�?����>�B��������@���������#����?=��9��
��A>���:�����
@�-����
���%!�#�..�5*�����?.8�����%!�#�.8-�
�����@
��
@@������>��.8��9�??����?=�
�
���G������C�������B>�?�����.����>��>�����������:�����?
������G��9���G�?�?����>�B���
�����@���������#�

;><�,9��@��������������
@��������C��.�52����+�J����-�D����=�2
�:.8���������?������������������
�
������

,9����������C�:�=�B��>��������?����
@�,�B?���!�#���
������:�����9��@����9�J������D����=#�

�

)�'��!�	9�		�$�"��%	
��9G	/�����	
98
G	��	�4�� � 	�!	%�� J	

�$�"��%	
��9	��'$���'��	�! �	


��9�
������������	������#�	

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9�������@��=�B=����>?�������9��
�����??���
�.��?������
�.������������
@�9������.�D����?�����.��

?���.�������@��������
����D��������
���>��>��������9�����=#�,9�����=��
>���?�9���B=���
�����9���!!%�!��������
��
@��9��International 
Mechanical Code�G��9����������:���:�����������?���
����9����
�@
>����
�B������9��B��������������

@��9������������
@��9�����=#�


��9��� !"��!�	!#	�$�	����%����!���	��'$���'��	�! �	(��$	�! �#�'���!��#�

;�<�,9���!!%�!��������
��
@��9��International Mechanical Code.����?>�������������������9����
�

@��9��	��������
��?��
����
>���?.����9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9��)��9�����?��
���
@��9��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 97Packet Page     123



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

���=�
@��
>?����
��:��9�����?��
�������9����9����:��@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9����
�9����9�����.��C�������������@���??=��:������B=��9����
D���
���
@��9����9�����#�

;B<�(C�������������@����B�?
G.��9����������������?��#�,9����
����9�??�B����:�������������
���
�������G��9��9�������.�5��:���������
�.8�
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
��������
����.�
G��9��:���:����.�B=�-����
���!����.�5��
���
��
@�	��������
��?��>�?������
���G��9�
)
��@�����
��.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�-����
���!�#�.�5-�
��.8������
�������������:���������D����
D���
�#�

;�<�-����
���!�#�#�.�5����������.8������
�������������:���������D����
D���
�#��������C�
�������
���������������
@��9����
��#�

;$<�-����
���!�#$.�5	�����.8������
�������������:���������D����
D���
�#�

;�<�-����
��$!�#�!��5(?�������?8���������?������������������
�������

$!�#�!��(?�������?#�(?�������?�G�����.��
���
?�������
������
����
��A>��:�����������?�������
���>?�����B=��9����
����9�??�B��������
�������G��9��9�������!�%.�5(?�������?��
��.8��#�#�#�
� �#�

;�<�-����
��$!%#��5(A>��:�����������?�������
���

@��
���?�D��������>��>���8���������?�������
�����������
�������

$!%#��(A>��:�����������?�������
���

@��
���?�D��������>��>���#�09�����A>��:��������
���?���������A>����������������������??���
���

@��
���?�D��������>��>���������9���9���C���������%�
@����;" ��::<.��>�9���������9�??�B����
D�����B=������:����������
D���:�����
@�������#�,9��
:�����
@���������9�??�����������
�:
����9��� �@����;�"$ �::<��B
D��@����9���������
��@?

��?�D�?�
�����
����>��>�
B���>������
��9���A>��:�����������?�������?�D�?����D���������#��

;�<;�<������G�-����
��$!%#%.��

@�
���A>��:�����>��
��������?��������.�����������

$!%#%��

@�
���A>��:�����>��
��������?��������#�

;�<�)��9�����?��A>��:�����?����.����?����.�
����������
D����

@�����9�??�B���>��
�����B=�
�>�B��
��?����G9��9��9�??�B��@?��9����
��9���

@��������:����G�������9�#�)��9�����?�
�A>��:�����9�??����?>��.�B>���
��B��?�:������
.�9��������A>��:���.��

?��������
��@��������
���A>��:���.�D����?������@���.�B?
G���.�����
�9�����:�?�����D�����?
������
��
�9���

@#�

;�<�2?����

@�#�����

@��9�D����������9�
@�?�����9����������.�:��9�����?��A>��:�����9�??�B��
�>��
�����
�����
?����>�B��������������J���9����9���A>��:����G9��9�������D��#��>�B������B��
:��>@���>����
��B>�?������?���#�	@�B>�?������?���.��9���>�B��9�??�B���
D�����G��9�:���?�
@�
���?������%���>��#��??����:������:������
������
@��9��:���?��9�??�B����D����������
?������
�
�����
�B��G���9�����9�#�,9���>�B��9�??�B����:���:>:�
@�����9����B
D���9��@����9���
�

@#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 98Packet Page     124



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�&>����?�����9���@
>��@�������G���9��9�??�9�D�����?������G�?D�����9����?��������
@�
:��9��@����9����

@��>�@�����
��9��B
��
:�
@��9���>��#�

;�<�&>����B��G����@
>��@�����������9��@�������G���9��9�??�9�D�����?������G���=�@
>��
���9����?��������@�
:��9��@����9����

@��>�@�����
��9��B
��
:�
@��9���>��#�

;�<�&>����
D������9��@�������G���9��9�??�9�D�����?������9���=���C����9����?��������
@�
:��9��@����9����

@��>�@�����
��9��B
��
:�
@��9���>��#��

;$<�����9����

@�#�����

@��9�D�������?
���
D�������������.�:��9�����?��A>��:����:�=�
B������
��?����G9��9���
D������:���:>:�
@�������9����?��������B��G�����9��@����9����

@�
�>�@���������9���A>��:����@��:�#�

;@<;�<�-����
��%!$#%#�#��5&>���?����98���������?������������������
�������

%!$#%#�#��&>���?����9#�����
D����?����!������?������@?�C�B?�������>����9�??��
���C�����
��D��@
>������@�������?����9#�

;�<�-����
��%!$#%#�#��5�
�����
��?����98����:
��@�����
������?�:��������?����9��
���@����;��$"�
::<#�

;9<;@<-����
��%!%#$.�5	����??���
�8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@�����G�����������
�������

-:
H��������
���:>���B������B?��
@�B������������@�
:�����:
������������?=��������B?��
?
����
�#�


��9�,	��'$���'��	��%4��	0���#�

)��9�����?����:���@���������9
����������B���B=�->B�����
��"��!��$;�<.��#�#�#�� �#�

)�'��!�	
��		�$�"��%	
��9�3G	/�����	
98
G	��	�4�� � 	�!	%�� J	

�$�"��%	
��9�3	07��	+��	�! �	


��9�3�
	�����������	�������		

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9�������@��=�B=����>?������@>�?�����
�=���:����������@��������?�����������9�����=#�,9�����=��
>���?�9���B=���
�����9���!!%�!��������
��

@��9��	��������
��?�2>�?�*����
����������G��9�������!�#��G��9����������:���:������9����
�
@
>����
�B������9��B�������������
@��9�����=#�


��9�3�	� !"��!�	!#	�$�	����%����!���	07��	+��	�! �	:��$	�! �#�'���!���		

;�<�,9���!!%�!��������
��
@��9��	��������
��?�2>�?�*����
���
@��9��	��������
��?��
����
>���?����
9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?����2>�?�*����
���
��@>�?������
�������9����9��

Agenda Item 3C     Page 99Packet Page     125



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

��:��@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.��C�������������@���??=��:������B=�
�9����
D���
���
@��9����9�����#�

;B<�(C�������������@����B�?
G.��9����������������?��#�,9����
����9�??�B����:�������������
���
�������G��9��9�������.�I��:���������
�.I�
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
��������
����.�
G��9��:���:����.�B=�-����
���!����.�I��
���
��
@�	��������
��?��>�?������
���G��9�
)
��@�����
��.I��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�-(�,	�'��!�.�I*('(���.I������
�������������:���������D����
D���
��G��9��9��@
??
G����
�:���:������

;�<��!�#�.�I,��?�.I�����:�������
�������

�!�#��,��?�#�,9�������>?���
����9�??�B��H�
G������9��2>�?�*����
���
@��9�����=�
@�
�
>?����
��@>�?������
��#�

;�<�-(�,	�'��!�.�I	'-�(�,	�'-��'&�,(-,	'*.I������
�������������:���������D��
��
D���
�#�

;$<�(C�����
����.�$�����"����-����
��$!$#$.�I��
9�B�����?
����
��.I����������?��#�

;"<�-����
��"!"#"���������9�
>�9�@
>�����
��G�??���������?������������������
�������

"!"#"���������9�
>�9�@
>�����
��G�??#�*�����������9�??��������9��B>�?������B
D��������
�9�
>�9��9��@
>�����
��G�??.�B>�?�����
�����>��>��#�

;�<�-����
��"!"#�I)���:>:�B>���?�����9I���������?������������������
�������

"!"#�)���:>:�B>���?�����9#�3������
>�����������=���:���9�??�B�������??��������
:���:>:�����9�
@�������9���B�?
G�������@
��:���??����������������:���:>:�����9�

@�� ����9���@
���
��:���??����������
��G9�����>�9�����9������
��B��
B������.�
�9���
�A>�D�?������
�����
��:>���B����
D����#�

;�%<��-����
��"!"##����������?��#�

;%�<�-����
��"!%#"#��I,���������>��I���������?������������������
�������

,9������������>����
�B��>�����9�??�B���
�?�����9������S����:����9����
�
����
:�C�:>:�G
�H���������>��.�B>���
��?�����9����!�����#�

; <�-����
��"!%#"#��I,�����>����
�I���������?������������������
�������

,�����>����
���9�??��
��B��?�����9������:��>���#�

; <�-����
��%!�#��I*�����?I�����:������B=������������G�����������
�������

0��9�����D������@����?�����9����:����:>���B����:
D���
��G�?����
���������?����
�

��������??���
D����9��@����?����
������#�

;�!<�-����
��%!"�I4(',(&�*�-�2	�(����(-I�����:������B=������������G������
���
�
������

Agenda Item 3C     Page 100Packet Page     126



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

%!"#$��
:B>���
�����#�4����������@����?������9�??�B����
D�����G��9�
>�������
:B>���
������
�����?�����

��#�

;��<�-����
��%!��I4(',(&�*�-�2	�(����(�+(�,(�-I�����:������B=������������G�
�����
���
�������

%!�#��4����������@����?����9��������9�??�B����
D�����G��9�
>�������
:B>���
�����#�

;��<�-����
��%��#"�I��
9�B�����?
����
��I�����:������B=������������G�����������
�������

,9�������?��������9�??��
��B��>�������B���

:��
���

:�������?=�>����@
���?�������
�>��
���#�

	

)�'��!�	

�		�$�"��%	
��
�G	/�����	
98
G	��	�4�� � 	�!	%�� J	

�$�"��%	
��
�	��74.���	�! �	


��
��
	�����������	�������	

,9���>��
���
@��9����9����������
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9�������@��=�B=����>?�������9��
�����??���
�.��?������
�.������������
@��?>:B������D�����������>��>��������9�����=#�,9�����=��
>���?�
9���B=���
�����9���!!%�!��������
��
@��9��International Plumbing Code�G��9���������
�:���:�����������?���
����9����
�@
>����
�B������9��B��������������
@��9������������
@��9�����=#�


��
��	� !"��!�	!#	�$�	����%����!���	��74.���	�! �	(��$	�! �#�'���!���	

;�<�,9���!!%�!��������
��
@��9��International Plumbing Code.��>B?��9���B=��9��	��������
��?�
�
����
>���?.����?>������������������*��=�0��������=�?����-=���:�.�����������C�(.�5�-�J����

@�0������������-=���:.8����9���B=���
�����B=���@�����������9�����=�
@��
>?�����?>:B�����
���

���?>:B�����
��.�����9����9����:��@
���������@@��������9
>�9�@>??=�����@
��9�����9����9�����.�
�C�������������@���??=��:������B=��9����
D���
���
@��9����9�����#�

;B<�(C�����@
��-����
����!�.��!�.������!�.��9����������������?��#�,9����
����9�??�B����:����������
������
�������G��9��9�������.�5��:���������
�.8�
@��9��	��������
��?��>�?������
��������
����.�
G��9��:���:����.�B=�-����
���!����.�5��
���
��
@�	��������
��?��>�?������
���G��9�
)
��@�����
��.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;�<�-����
���!�#����������?������������������
�������

�!�#��,��?�#�,9�������>?���
����9�??�B��H�
G������9���?>:B�����
���@
���9�����=�
@��
>?����
��
�?>:B�����
�������G�??�B����@��������9���������5�9����
��#8�

;�<�,9��(C�����
���
�-����
��$!�#$.�5�
������
����
�����������=���:.8������?�������������������=#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 101Packet Page     127



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<-����
��$��#�.�50������>��?=��=���:�����.8�����:������B=���?�������9��G
����5@
���������
�=���:��
�9����9����?�����8�����B=�:
��@=�����9������������>�����A>�����@�
:��!�����;$""�H��<��
�
�!!�����;%  �H��<#�

;�<;@<�-����
���!"#�#��5�������@
����@��=�������������9�??�B��
@��9
���:������?��?���������,�B?��
%!�#"#8���������?��#�

;@<;�<�-����
��%�!.�5&����@����
��
@��
��B?��G������=���:.8���������?��#�

;�<;9<�-����
��%!�#$"�����:������B=������������G���������9��
�������

0��������D����?���������B��G�����9��G�����:���������B>�?������9�??�B��,=������
������@����������
�9���>B?������9��
@�G�=.����>B?���>��?��=�����:���.�
��
��
�9����>B?�����
����=#�

;9<;�<�-����
�����#"#�.�5�������=.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@�����G�����������
�������

-�G�����>:���������G�����F���
������D�����>B?���@�C�>�����9�??�B����
D�����G��9��>�?��>:���
�����F���
�������������
�
������������������?=���������
@�
D��?
���
��@��?>��#�

;F<�-����
��!$#�.�5�

@��C�����
�.8���������?������������������
�������

�����D�����������9����C������9�
>�9����

@��9�??�B�����:��������
��?�����9���%����9���
�B
D���9���

@.��C������9���G9�������

@�����
�B��>����@
����=��>��
���
�9����9���G���9���
��
�����
�.��9��D�����C�����
����9�??����:�������
��?�����9�����@�����B
D���9���

@#�

;H<-����
���!!$#�.�509������A>����.8�����:���:����B=���������9��@
??
G�����

� *�����.�
�?.�������������������
����9�??�9
?����:���:>:��������=�
@���!���??
���
�����9�??�B����:
��?=�?
�����#���

;?<�-����
���!!$#$.�5*���������������
��.8�����:������B=���������9��@
??
G�����

*���������������
����9�??��
�������D���9�����������������������������@�
:�:
����9���@
>��
@�C�>���#��������������������
���9�??��
��B���
���������
��9������G�����@�C�>���.����?>����.�
G��9
>��?�:�����
�.����9G��9���.������9�??��
��B���
��������B�@
���G���������
��?�>����.�
���?>�����G��9
>��?�:�����
�.����B��������
��?��������������#�

;:<�-����
���!!$#".�5��?��������
�����A>����.8���������?��#�

;�<;�<�-����
����!�#$.�5��
9�B�������������.8���������?������������������
�������

'
�����.��>�@���.�
���>B�>�@����G������9�??�B���
���������
�
������9���������
���=����������
�=���:.�>�?����@���������
D���B=��9����:���������D���>�9
���=�
���
@@����?#�

;F<;
<�-����
����!%#�.�5*�����?.8���������?������������������
�������

��!%#��*�����?#�,9����J��
@��9��D������?��
��>��
�������?������.�B>�?�������
�:�������.�B>�?�����
��
�:���G���.�������=�9
��J
���?�B����9���
@��>�9��������
����G�����9�??�B��B�����
���9���!!�
=����9
>�?=�����@�??������
@��#�����9�������9
>��
��
�9�������
D���?
��?�G���9�������#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 102Packet Page     128



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;H<;�<��9�������$.�5*��=�0��������=�?����-=���:�.8������?�������������������=#��

�������C��.�-����
����!�.�?�������������
@��C�����
����������?������������������
�������

->�9��=���:���9���:�=��:������>B?���9��?�9�����
::�����?�����:>?���?��������������
F������9�??�
B����������������A>�����B=��9���
>?�����
>��=�+��?�9�&�����:���#�

;?<;A<�,�B?��(�!$#$;�<.�5�
���4�?>�������������
�2�C�>���.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@�����G�
����������
�������

2
���9���>��
���
@������:�������9��?�����������������
>����:������A>��������
������
���J����G�����
:����.�
��@
�������:�������9���:
>���
@��9���?������D���:����@��.��9�����B?����������?�������
���?�����B=��9��2�C�>���3���S*�)�&�:�����9���������	2��
:�>����
��-9����@
>�������������C�
���
��9����������.�50�����3��?��=.8��#�#�#�� �#�

;:<;�<�,�B?��(�!$#$;$<.�5,�B?��@
��(���:������&�:���.8�����:������B=��9��������
��
@�����G�
����������
�������

2
���9���>��
���
@������:�������9��?�����������������
>����:������A>��������
������
���J����G�����
:����.�
��@
�������:�������9���:
>���
@��9���?������D���:����@��.��9�����B?����������?�������
���?�����B=��9��2�C�>���3���S*�)�&�:����(A>���
��������	2��
:�>����
��-9�����@
>������
�������C����
��9����������.�50�����3��?��=.8��#�#�#�� �#�

)�'��!�	
�		)�'��!�	-���-5G	EK!����	� D7��4���	0�����	0���GF	/�����	
98
G	��	

�4�� � 	�!	%�� J	

-���-5�	K!����	� D7��4���	�� 	/7�� ���	�""����	0�����	0����		

;�<�,9��@���@
��@�?������������?��
�
����A>���������D��������@�
:��9��B
����
@�J
�������F>��:����
>������>B�����
������;�<�
�������
���!�$�.�I,�:�
���=��������������?�.I��!����.�5��
���
��

@��9��	��������
��?���
����=�)������������
���G��9�)
��@�����
��.8��!����.�I��
���
��
@�
	��������
��?��>�?������
���0��9�)
��@�����
��.I��!�%��.�I��
���
��
@��9��'���
��?�(?�������?�
�
���0��9�)
��@�����
��.I��!� #���.�5��
���
��
@��9��	��������
��?�0�?�?����3�B���	����@����
�
���G��9�)
��@�����
��.8��!���.�I��
���
��
@��9��	��������
��?�)��9�����?��
���0��9�
)
��@�����
��.I��!�#���.�5��
���
��
@��9��	��������
��?�2>�?�*����
���G��9�)
��@�����
��.8��!�
�!��.�I��
���
��
@��9��	��������
��?��?>:B�����
���0��9�)
��@�����
��.I�
���!�����".�I�����?��
����4��������.I��#�#�#�� �.����M�!%#!!.��C������9����9��@���@
������:������=������?����M��!#!!#�

;B<�,9��@���@
����A>���������D��������@�
:��9��B
����
@�J
�������F>��:����>������>B�����
����
��;�<.��#�#�#�� �.����M��!#!!#�

;�<�,9��@���@
����A>������������B��H�D��������
��@
����D��������@
�����H��������������@�
���=����
���B��H��@�
:��9��B
����
@�J
�������F>��:����>����������
�����$.�I4�������������
	�����������
��.I��#�#�#�� �.����M��!#!!#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 103Packet Page     129



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

;�<�,9��@���@
��@�?������������?��
��9��B
����
@�J
�������F>��:����>����������
���!�����".�
I�����?������4��������.I��#�#�#�� �.����M��!#!!#�

� -����
���$#��-����
����$�".��
����
@��>�?����������?�.��#�#�#�� �.�����:�������
�������

�,�-�	/!�% 	!#	/7�� ���	�""�����	

;�<�,9�����=�
@��
>?�����
����
@��>�?����������?���
�������
@��9��@�D��:�:B����
@��9���
����
@�
6
�������F>��:���.�G9
��9�??���������9���
����
@��>�?����������?�#�

;B<�,9���9��@����=�B>�?�����
@@����?������9�����=�@�����9��@��9�??�B����D��
�=�:�:B����
@��9��B
����
G��9
>��D
��#�,9�����=�:��������9�??�B����������=�
@��9��B
���#�

;�<�	��������
���
���=�
�9����>������9���
>���?�:�=��������B�.��9������
���B�?��=�
@��9��B
��������
�
9���������?��B=���=�����
�������
D�������������
������.�I-����.I��9��������!��.�I��
����=�
)������������
��.I��!��.�I�>�?������
��.I��!�%.�I(?�������?��
��.I��!��.�I(����=��
����D���
��
����	��>?���
���
��.I��!� .�I2�������D����
���
��.I��!� #�.�50�?�?�����
��.8��!�.�
I)��9�����?��
��.I��!��!.�I�?>:B�����
��.I������!���.�I)
B�?��+
:��.I��#�#�#�� �#�

-����
���"#��,9�����=��
>���?�
�������������������9�����=�:��������
�:�H����=�������
��?�

������
��������@��������9�������
�����?>��������9���
����������9���������������=��
���
���?=�

�:�?�:�����9����
���
��
@��!���������
���
@��9��	��������
��?��
���������9����
���
��
@��9���!���

�����
��
@��9��'���
��?�(?�������?��
��������??���?�����?
��?��:���:����#�

-����
����#��,9���
����������9�??�B��
:���@@����D���9���=���=���@��������@���?���������B=�

���=��
>���?#��	���9�??�B�����?�����
�B>�?��������:������?�����
����>B:�������@�����9���@@����D��

����#���>�?��������:�������?����@
��B�@
����9���@@����D��������9�??�B���
���������>������9��

��
���:�����@@��������9����:��
@����?�����
�#�

-����
���%#��,9���
��������������������=��
���
������9���>B?���9��?�9.���@��=.�����G�?@����


@��9������������
@��9�����=.������
D����:�������
@�?
��?��
�����#�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 104Packet Page     130



�

������	�
�����	����
������
���
����������������������������� !"�!!!�#�
��

� � �

��

��

$�

"�

��

%�

��

 �

�

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

�%�

���

� �

��

�!�

���

���

�$�

�"�

���

-����
����#��,9�����=��
>���?����:���������
��������9����9���
���������B���>B?��9���B=����?��


�?=�����
�������9����
�����
@��9���
���������B��:�����D��?�B?������9��
@@����
@��9�����=��?��H�@
��

�>B?�����������
��������A>�����
�#�

� 	',��&3�(&.� �(�&� �'� 2	�-,� �(�&	'*.� �'&� ��&(�(&� �3��	-+(&� �1�

,	,�(��'�1��9����!�9���=�
@��>�>��.��!�$#�

�

� � � � � � � � NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN� �

� � � � � � � � )�=
��

��������

�

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN�

���=��?��H�

�

�

� �(�&� �'� -(��'&� �(�&	'*.� �)('&(&.� ��--(&.� �'&� ��&(�(&�

�3��	-+(&��1�,	,�(��'�1��9���NNNNNNN���=�
@�-����:B��.��!�$#�

�

� � � � � � � � NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN� �

� � � � � � � � )�=
��

��������

�

�

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN�

���=��?��H�

Agenda Item 3C     Page 105Packet Page     131



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 106Packet Page     132



Council Meeting 
Tuesday, September 3, 2013 

ERATTA SHEET  
ITEM 5B  ORDINANCE NO. 7925 

Packet 
Page #        Change/Addition 

1 
 

309 Change to Subsection 3 of the local amendment to Section 401.1.1 to read as follows with the newly 
proposed amendments shown in bold strikethrough and bold underline:  

3. The construction documents for remodeling an existing commercial envelope, mechanical 
and lighting systems shall demonstrate compliance with this section in one of the following 
ways described below. The construction documents shall include compliance documentation 
that demonstrates that: 

A. The altered building area or systems will meet the requirements of section 506C407, 
"Total Building Performance" 2006 2012 IECC and the resulting compliance package 
shows an altered building area or system that is 30 percent more energy efficient than 
the 2006 2012 IECC; 
B. The remodel area will meet a an approved set of prescriptive requirements 
approved by the city manager that are at least 30 percent more efficient than the 2006 
2012 IECC. An applicant may use the ASHRAE Advanced Energy Design Guides 
for such prescriptive requirements, or equivalent method that is; or 
C. The remodel area meets the 2006 2012 IECC requirements and is submitted with an 
energy efficiency implementation plan prepared by a licensed architect or registered 
professional engineer which shows how the process will contribute to future energy 
efficiency improvements to bring the building up to 30 percent above the 2006 2012 
IECC.  

Exception:  If the work is limited to mechanical equipment replacement, the replacement 
equipment shall meet the requirements of Sections C403 and C404. 
 

309 Change subsection (o) of Section 10-7-2, “Energy Conservation Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to add the 
following local amendment to Section C407.3: 
 

(o)  The first sentence of Section C407.3 is repealed and reenacted to read as follows: 
 
Compliance based on total building performance requires that a proposed building 
(proposed design) be shown to have an annual energy cost that is at least 85 percent less 
than the annual energy cost of the standard reference design. 

 
The addition of this local amendment to Section C407.3 will also change the local amendments 
proposed in subsections (o) through (x) of Section 10-7-2, “Energy Conservation Code,” B.R.C. 1981,  
to subsections (p) through (y): 
 

(p)  Section R101.4.3 Additions, alterations, renovations and repairs. A new sub-section is 
added previous to the exceptions to read as follows: 

R101.4.3.1 All permit applications involving demolition, new construction and 
remodels and/or additions of residential buildings greater than 500 square feet shall 
meet the requirements of this code and Chapter 10-7-5 “Green Building and Green 
Points Program”, B.R.C. 1981 as applicable. 

(q) Exception 3 of section R101.4.3 is repealed and reenacted as follows: 
3.1. For an interior remodel of a residential structure, where the work authorized by a 
building permit under Chapter 10-5, “Building Code,” B.R.C. 1981, does not alter more 

Attachment B: Eratta sheet from 2nd Reading

Agenda Item 3C     Page 107Packet Page     133



Council Meeting 
Tuesday, September 3, 2013 

ERATTA SHEET  
ITEM 5B  ORDINANCE NO. 7925 

Packet 
Page #        Change/Addition 

2 
 

than 500 square feet of the existing conditioned space, existing ceiling, wall, or floor 
cavities exposed during construction are exempt from meeting the provisions for new 
construction provided that exposed wall framing cavities are insulated to their fullest 
depth, but no less than R-13, and attics and exposed or accessible floor/ceiling 
assemblies separating conditioned spaces from unconditioned spaces are insulated to 
their fullest depth, but no less than R-38 wherever possible. All replacement 
fenestration shall meet the prescriptive requirements of Table R402.1.1 or R402.1.3. 
Portions of basements and crawlspaces separating conditioned spaces from 
unconditioned spaces shall meet the prescriptive requirements of Table R402.1.1 or 
R402.1.3 for climate zone 5 wherever possible. The provisions of Section R402.2 shall 
apply. 

3.2. For additions to residential structures where the work authorized by a building 
permit under Chapter 10-5, “Building Code,” B.R.C. 1981, does not add more than 500 
square feet, building envelope components shall meet the provisions of  Table 402.1.1 
or 402.1.3, and applicable portions of Chapter 10-7-5 “Green Building and Green Points 
Program”, B.R.C. 1981. The provisions of Section 402.2 shall apply. 

 (r)  Section R102.1.1 is repealed and reenacted as follows: 
Section R102.1.1 Above Code Programs. Except for those residential structures and 
portions of structures exempt from this code, the requirements of Chapter 10-7-5 
“Green Building and Green Points Program”, B.R.C. 1981 shall be used to demonstrate 
compliance with the energy efficiency components of this code. 

(s)  Section R103.1 is repealed and reenacted to read as follows: 
R103.1 General. Construction documents and other supporting data shall be submitted 
in one or more sets with each application for a permit. The construction documents and 
designs submitted under the provisions of this chapter shall be prepared by and bear the 
stamp of a Colorado licensed professional engineer or architect. Documents submitted 
for the purposes of Section R405 shall be submitted by a Colorado licensed engineer, 
architect or a professional who demonstrates the knowledge and experience to perform 
such calculations. Where special conditions exist, the code official is authorized to 
require additional construction documents to be prepared by a licensed professional. 
Exceptions: 

1. The code official may waive the submission of construction documents and 
other supporting data if the official finds that the nature of the work does not 
require review of the documents or data to obtain compliance. This waiver 
authority does not apply to documents required to be prepared by a licensed 
architect or engineer. 

(t)  Sections R103.3 through R103.5 are deleted. 

(u)  Sections R104.5 through R104.8.1 are deleted. 

(v) Section R107, “Fees,” is deleted. 

(w) Section R108, “Stop Work Order,” is deleted. 

(x)  Section R109, “Board of Appeal,” is deleted. 

(y)  Section R202, the definition of “Code Official” is repealed and reenacted to read: 

Attachment B: Eratta sheet from 2nd Reading

Agenda Item 3C     Page 108Packet Page     134



Council Meeting 
Tuesday, September 3, 2013 

ERATTA SHEET  
ITEM 5B  ORDINANCE NO. 7925 

Packet 
Page #        Change/Addition 

3 
 

Code official is the city manager. 

 

 
311 Add a new Section 10-7-3, “Regulations,” B.R.C. 1981, to read as follows: 

10-7-3 Regulations. 
 
The city manager may make reasonable interpretive and administrative regulations to aid 
in applying this chapter under the procedures of Chapter 1-4, “Rulemaking,” B.R.C. 1981, 
including rules establishing methods for showing compliance with the requirements of this 
chapter. 
 

  
354 Change the effective date of the ordinance in the first sentence of Section 15 to be January 31, 2014. 
  
  
294 Change the local amendment in Subsection (p) to Section 10-5.5-2, “Adoption of the International 

Residential Code with Modifications,” B.R.C. 1981, to read as follows, showing the new changes in 
bold underline: 
 

(p) Section R313.1, “Townhouse automatic fire sprinkler systems,” is repealed and reenacted to 
read as follows: 
 
R313.1 Townhouse automatic fire sprinkler systems.  Automatic sprinkler systems shall be 
installed in townhouses in accordance with the requirements of Section 903.2.8 of the City 
of Boulder Fire Code. 
 

294 Change the local amendment in Subsection (q) to Section 10-5.5-2, “Adoption of the International 
Residential Code with Modifications,” B.;R.C. 1981, to read as follows, showing the new changes in 
bold underline: 
 

(q) Section R313.2, “One- and two-family dwelling automatic fire sprinkler systems,” is 
repealed and reenacted to read: 
 
R313.2 One- and two-family dwelling automatic fire sprinkler systems. Automatic sprinkler 
systems shall be installed in one- and two-family dwellings in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 903.2.8 of the City of Boulder Fire Code. 
 

331 The proposed amendments to the local amendment in new Subsection (32) (former Subsection (25)) of 
Section 10-8-2, “Adoption of the Fire Code,” B.R.C. 1981, shall not be adopted and the text of the local 
amendment shall remain unchanged with the exception of the correction of the Section number, and 
read as follows: 

Section 903.2.78 is amended by the addition of the following: 
 

(a) Exception 1: Detached and two unit attached dwelling units are not required to have 

Attachment B: Eratta sheet from 2nd Reading

Agenda Item 3C     Page 109Packet Page     135



Council Meeting 
Tuesday, September 3, 2013 

ERATTA SHEET  
ITEM 5B  ORDINANCE NO. 7925 

Packet 
Page #        Change/Addition 

4 
 

an automatic fire sprinkler system if they are not used as residential board and care 
occupancies, and the distance, unobstructed by any structure above grade, landscaping 
or topographical obstructions, from the curb face of the emergency vehicle access street 
on which the structure is addressed, to a face of the unit containing an entrance, is not 
greater than one hundred feet.  

(b) Exception 2. A detached dwelling unit is not required to have an automatic fire 
sprinkler system if it is not used as a residential board and care occupancy, and is 
located on a lot larger than 14,500 square feet, in which the driveway meets the 
requirements of a fire department accessible private drive, and extends without 
interruption from the nearest emergency vehicle access street on which the structure is 
addressed, to the side of the building which contains the main entrance.   

(c) If more than one principal building is constructed on a lot pursuant to the exceptions 
listed in Section 9-3.2-16, “Two Detached Dwelling Units on a Single Lot,” B.R.C. 
1981, then each building other than the building closest to an emergency vehicle access 
street on which the structure is addressed, shall be protected by an approved and 
supervised automatic sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3. 
Exception: If a lot has frontage on two streets and each street is an emergency vehicle 
access street, then two buildings, each closest to their respective streets, shall not be 
required to be so protected by this subsection. 

(d) Houses behind houses shall be protected throughout by an approved automatic 
sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3. 

 
  

 

Attachment B: Eratta sheet from 2nd Reading

Agenda Item 3C     Page 110Packet Page     136



September 17, 2013 City Council Meeting 
2012 ICC Code Adoption 

Additional Proposed Amendments to Ordinance No. 7925 
 

1 
 

ICC Code 
and B.R.C. 
Section 

Change/Addition 

IRC, in 
Subsection 
10-5.5-2(e) 

Modify the proposed definition for NEW DWELLING UNIT by deleting the last sentence stating: “An 
addition to a dwelling unit is considered a new dwelling unit when the floor area of the addition equals 
or exceeds 200 percent of the floor area of the existing dwelling unit.” The ordinance is instead to read 
as follows: 
 

 NEW DWELLING UNIT.  A dwelling unit is considered to be a new dwelling unit when the 
entire structure is newly built and when the dwelling unit is built on top of an existing 
foundation, such as caissons, footings, and other foundation systems, that remains from a 
demolished structure.   
 

IECC, in 
TABLE 1A 
of 
Subsection 
10-7.5-3 (a), 
B.R.C. 

Modify TABLE 1A – Tiers for Energy Efficiency Threshold to read as follows with the newly 
proposed modifications being shown in bold underline: 

TABLE 1A - Tiers for Energy Efficiency Thresholds 

Type of Project Square 
Footage Energy Efficiency Thresholds Above Code 

New Construction   Up to 3,000 3014 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 
IECC (HERS 60) 

3,001-5,000 5043 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 
IECC (HERS 50) 

5,001 and up 7564 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 
IECC (HERS 25) 

Multi-Unit 
Dwellings Applies to all 3014 percent more energy efficient than 2006 2012 

IECC (HERS 60) 
 

IECC, in 
TABLE 1B 
of 
Subsection 
10-7.5-3(c), 
B.R.C. 

Modify TABLE 1B – Tiers for Energy Efficiency Thresholds to read as follows with the newly 
proposed modifications being shown in bold underline and bold strikethrough: 

TABLE 1B - Tiers for Energy Efficiency Thresholds 

Total Conditioned Area HERS Rating Increased efficiency above the 2012 IECC 

Up to 3,000 10070 15 percent 

3,001 – 5,000 8560 3015 percent 

5,001 and up 7050 5030 percent 
 

  

Attachment C: Additional proposed amendments to Ord. No. 7925

Agenda Item 3C     Page 111Packet Page     137



September 17, 2013 City Council Meeting 
2012 ICC Code Adoption 

Additional Proposed Amendments to Ordinance No. 7925 
 

2 
 

ICC Code 
and B.R.C. 
Section 

Change/Addition 

 
IFC, in 
Paragraph 
10-8-2(b)(7), 
B.R.C., 
Subsection 
(i) of  
Section 108, 
“Appeals,” 
(i) 

 
Remove bold strikethrough so as to read as follows: 

 
(i) An aggrieved person seeking judicial review of a decision of the bBoard of Building 
aAppeals or hearing officer made under this section shall file a complaint for such review 
within thirty days after the date of the decision under Colorado Rule of Civil Procedure 
106(a)(4). 

 

IFC, in 
Paragraph 

10-8-
2(b)(11), 
B.R.C., 

Chapter 2, 
“Definitions” 

Remove bold strikethrough so that the definitions for “Attached Dwelling Unit,” “Detached Dwelling 
Unit,” and “Fire Access Distance” read as follows: 

 
“Attached Dwelling Unit” means a structure which contains more than one dwelling unit 

regardless of any fire separation features. 

“Detached Dwelling Unit” means a structure which contains only one dwelling unit together 
with any building accessory to the dwelling unit, and is structurally independent of other 

structures or occupancies, and has a fire separation distance of not less than six feet from other 
structures. 

“Fire Access Distance” means the distance between two hydrants, or the distance from a 
hydrant to any external portion of any building or buildings or the distance from the center line 
of a non-dead-end emergency vehicle access street to the point on the curb on such street from 

which access to such building is gained, measured along public or private (but accessible to 
fire equipment) roadways or fire lanes, as would be traveled by motorized firefighting 

equipment. 

IFC, in 
Paragraph 
10-8-
2(b)(14), 
B.R.C., 
locally added 
Section 
401.9, “Fire 
Alarm Fees” 

Remove bold strikethrough from Subsection (c) of locally added Section 401.9, “Fire Alarm Fees,” so 
as to read as follows: 
 

(c) If any fee is not paid within thirty days after demand therefor has been mailed to the record 
owner of the building, the city manager may certify the amount due to the County Treasurer 
pursuant to Section 2-2-12, “City Manager May Certify Taxes, Charges, and Assessments to 
County Treasurer for Collection,” B.R.C. 1981. 

 
 

IFC, in 
Paragraph 
10-8-
2(b)(22), 
B.R.C. 

Remove bold strikethrough from Paragraph (22) of Subsection 10-8-2(b), B.R.C. to read as follows: 
 

(39)(22)Section 901.6, “Inspection, testing and maintenance,” is amended by the addition of the 
following: 

If any building, structure, or portion of the same is protected by a fire detection, alarm and 
extinguishing system or the owner has agreed with the city manager so to protect the building 
or structure or portion thereof, then no person shall shut off or disable such system except as 

Attachment C: Additional proposed amendments to Ord. No. 7925

Agenda Item 3C     Page 112Packet Page     138



September 17, 2013 City Council Meeting 
2012 ICC Code Adoption 

Additional Proposed Amendments to Ordinance No. 7925 
 

3 
 

ICC Code 
and B.R.C. 
Section 

Change/Addition 

authorized under Section 11-1-45, Water to Be Shut Off for Failure to Pay, B.R.C. 1981, and 
no owner, manager, or tenant of such space shall fail to prevent the shutting off or disabling of 
such system.  It is a specific defense to a charge of violation of this section that the system was 
shut off in order to perform maintenance work on the system, that it was shut off for the 
minimum period of time necessary to perform such work, and that maintenance personnel 
were on the premises performing such work during the entire time the system was shut off. 
The minimum penalty for violation of this section, no portion of which may be suspended, is a 
fine of $1,000.00. 

IFC, in 
Paragraph 
10-8-
2(b)(46), 
B.R.C.  

Remove bold strikethrough from Paragraph (46) of Subsection 10-8-2(b), B.R.C. to read as follows: 
 

(39)(46) Section 335601.2.4.2, “Fireworks,” is amended by the addition of the following: 

The city manager shall require a certificate of insurance to protect persons and property from 
death or injury as a result of the fireworks display, in an amount not less than $150,000.00 per 
person injured and $600,000.00 per incident. The insurance shall cover any liability of the city 
or any employee or agent thereof arising out of or connected with the permit and the fireworks 
display permitted thereunder. Before any permit for a fireworks display is issued, the applicant 
shall comply with the provisions of this Section. 

 
 

Attachment C: Additional proposed amendments to Ord. No. 7925

Agenda Item 3C     Page 113Packet Page     139



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 114Packet Page     140



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 17, 2012 

  

AGENDA TITLE: 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only an 
ordinance designating the building and property at 2205 Broadway, to be known as the 
Boulder Masonic Lodge, as an individual landmark under the city’s Historic Preservation 
Ordinance.    
   
Owner/Applicant: Boulder Historical Society and Boulder History Museum 

 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner  
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The purpose of this item is for City Council to determine whether the proposed individual 
landmark designation of the building at 2205 Broadway meets the purposes and standards of 
the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981).  The 
property owner submitted the landmark application and is in support of the designation.   
  
If approved, this ordinance (see Attachment A) would designate the property as an 
individual landmark.  The findings are included in the ordinance.  The landmark designation 
application was submitted by the property owner on June 3, 2013 and was heard by the 
Landmarks Board on Aug. 7, 2013. The board voted 5-0 to recommend the designation to 
City Council. The second reading for this designation will be a quasi-judicial public hearing.   
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page     141



 

BACKGROUND: 
On June 3, 2013 the city received an application from the Boulder Historical Society and 
Boulder History Museum, for individual landmark designation of the property at 2205 
Broadway. The property is located within the Mapleton Hill Historic District.  
 

 
 

Figure 1: Location Map,2205 Broadway  
 
 

 
Figure 2: Masonic Lodge, 2205 Broadway, c.1950. 

Photograph Courtesy the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History 
 

The property is located on the northwest corner of Pine Street and Broadway. The building 
encompasses the majority of the lot, with lawn covering on the south and east sides, and 
pavement on the north and west sides. A flagpole and time capsule are located on the 
southeast corner of the lot.  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page     142



 

Designed by prominent Boulder architect James M. Hunter for the Boulder Chapter of the 
Royal Arch Masons, the two-story, flat-roofed building was completed in 1950 and remains 
largely unchanged from its original construction. The monolithic massing of the building is 
interrupted by the use of deeply grooved concrete at the foundation, cantilevered concrete 
overhangs and banding between the first and second levels, and a concrete cap at the roofline 
of the building. The upper portion of the building is clad in local stone while the east 
(Broadway facing) elevation is asymmetrical, with a large, unadorned volume at the north 
portion and a recessed volume on the south portion.  
 

 
Figure 3: Masonic Lodge, 2205 Broadway, 2013. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
 
Motion to introduce and order published by title only an ordinance designating 
the building at 2205 Broadway, to be known as the Boulder Masonic Lodge, as an 
individual landmark under the City of Boulder’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.   
 

 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
Economic:  Owners of locally designated landmarked properties are eligible for state and 
local tax credits for approved rehabilitations and repairs, and studies have found that historic 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page     143



 

preservation adds to economic vitality and tourism.  Exterior changes to individually 
landmarked buildings require a Landmark Alteration Certificate, issued by the Community 
Planning and Sustainability Department at no charge.  The additional review process for 
landmarked buildings may, however, add time and design expense to a project.  

 
Environmental: The preservation of historic buildings is inherently sustainable. Owners of 
individually landmarked buildings are encouraged to reuse and repair as much of the original 
building as possible when making exterior alterations, thereby reducing the amount of 
building material waste deposited in landfills.  City staff can assist architects, contractors and 
homeowners with design and material selections and sources that are environmentally 
friendly.  Also, the Historic Preservation website provides information on improving the 
energy efficiency of older buildings. 
 
Social:  The Historic Preservation Ordinance was adopted to “…enhance property values, 
stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s 
living heritage.”  Section 9-11-1 (a), B.R.C., 1981.  The primary beneficiaries of historic 
designation are the property owners of a historic landmark and adjacent neighbors, who are 
ensured that the character of the immediate area will be protected through the design review 
process.  The greater community also benefits from the preservation of the community’s 
character and history.  
 
OTHER IMPACTS: 
Fiscal:  The designation of individual historic landmarks is an anticipated and ongoing 
function of the Historic Preservation program.   
 
Staff Time: This designation application is within the staff work plan. 
 
LANDMARKS BOARD ACTION:  
On Aug. 7, 2013, the Landmarks Board voted 5-0 to recommend to City Council that the 
building at 2205 Broadway be designated as a local historic landmark, finding that it meets 
the standards for individual landmark designations in sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 
1981 and is consistent with the criteria specified in section 9-11-5(c), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK:  
Abby Daniels, Historic Boulder, 1123 Spruce St., spoke in support of the landmark 
designation. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
Criteria for Review 
Section 9-11-6(b), B.R.C. 1981, specifies that during the review for an application for local 
landmark designation, the council must consider “whether the designation meets the purposes 
and standards in subsection 9-11-1(a) and section 9-11-2, “City Council May Designate or 
Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, in balance with the goals and 
policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan” and provides that the City Council 
“shall approve by ordinance, modify and approve by ordinance, or disapprove the proposed 
designation.” 
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page     144



 

Historic, Architectural, and Environmental Significance 
Staff and the Landmarks Board find that the proposed designation of the building at 2205 
Broadway maintain an appropriate setting and environment for the building, to enhance 
property value, stabilize the neighborhood, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster 
knowledge of the city’s living heritage” (Section 9-11-1, B.R.C. 1981) (Attachment B).  
Staff considers that the application meets the historic, architectural, and environmental 
criteria for individual landmarks (Attachment C) as outlined below: 
 
HISTORIC SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary: The building located at 2205 Broadway has historic significance under criteria 1, 2, 3 
and 4. 
 
1. Date of Construction: 1950    
 
2. Association with Persons or Events: Boulder Masonic Association, Inc. 

Elaboration: On May 16, 1875, 22 Royal Arch Masons living in the vicinity of Boulder, 
Colorado Territory, petitioned the Most Excellent Grand High Priest of the Grand Royal 
Arch Chapter of Colorado to organize the Boulder Chapter of the Royal Arch Masons. 
The Grand High Priest, William N. Byers, granted a dispensation on May 21, 1875 and 
four months later a Charter was granted Sept. 23, 1875. 
 
The original meeting location of the fraternal lodge was located on the upper floor of the 
building at 1206 Pearl Street. In 1895, the Boulder Chapter of the Royal Arch Masons 
moved to their newly erected temple at 1344 Pearl Street. At this time records indicate 
that in addition to the 22 original petitioners, 519 members had been admitted to this 
chapter since its’ Charter. This grand Masonic Temple at 1344 Pearl Street remained the 
meeting location for the chapter until a fire destroyed much of the original building in 
1945.      
 
In 1948, the Masons commissioned Boulder architect James M. Hunter to design plans 
for a new building to be located at 2205 Broadway. The majority of the construction 
labor for this building was donated by members of the lodge, as was the electrical work, 
initial clearing of the site and much of the actual construction materials. When the 
building was completed in 1950, the estimated cost for the building and furnishing was 
$160,000 and it was described by many members as being one of the finest temples in the 
Rocky Mountain region.  

 
3. Development of the Community:  

Elaboration: This building demonstrates the development of the Modern Architectural 
Movement in the Post-World War II era and promotes community awareness of our 
cultural, economic and social heritage.    
 

4. Recognition by Authorities: Survey of Modern Architecture, 2000. 
 
 
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  Staff and the Landmarks Board consider that the building at 2205 Broadway has 
architectural significance under criteria 1, 2, 3 and 5.   

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page     145



 

 
1. Recognized Period or Style: Modern Architecture 

Elaboration:  The Masonic Lodge was built in 1950 using the design of locally 
prominent architect, James M. Hunter, in a Modern Architectural style. Its horizontal 
and concrete construction is characteristic of a number of notable buildings built 
during the post-World War II period in Boulder.        

 

2. Architect or Builder of Prominence: James M. Hunter 
Elaboration: Some of Hunter’s key architectural designs in Boulder include the 
Boulder Municipal Building, the Nelson House, the original Boulder Public Library, 
and Boulder Medical Center. During his illustrious career, Hunter served as planner 
and architect for Colorado State University and Fort Lewis College in Durango. He 
also held similar posts with Regis College in Denver and Tarkio College in Missouri. 

 
3. Artistic Merit: Embodies the characteristics of the International style. 

Elaboration: This building is an excellent example of the International Style 
influenced regional design, as reflected in its asymmetrical façade, flat roof, 
horizontal orientation, vertical windows and use of concrete throughout. Lacking in 
ornamentation, Hunter felt that the structural qualities of the building’s form and 
materials were key artistic elements.  

 
      4.  Example of the Uncommon: None observed 

 
5. Indigenous Qualities: Yes 

Elaboration: This building is significant for the high quality of stone work which 
reflects masonry found throughout Boulder. Although buildings of the Modern 
Architecture period often utilized simple, smooth surface materials, architects in 
Boulder successfully adapted the native stone into these modern applications.   

 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  Staff and the Landmarks Board consider the building at 2205 Broadway has 
environmental significance under criterion 3 and 5. 
 

1. Site Characteristics: None observed 
 

2. Compatibility with Site: None observed 
 

3. Geographic Importance: Downtown Boulder 
Elaboration:  The building is significant for its location on a prominent corner in 
Boulder. It is situated on the northwest corner of Pine and Broadway, forming a 
readily recognizable landmark in the surrounding landscape. 

 
4. Environmental Appropriateness: None observed 
 
5. Area Integrity: The property is located on the eastern edge of the Mapleton Hill 

Historic District. The intersection of Broadway and Pine Street features many large, 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page     146



 

historically significant buildings including First Congregational Church, Trinity 
Lutheran Church, and Hotel Boulderado. The Carnegie Branch for Local History is 
located directly west of the Masonic Lodge. 

 
 
OPTIONS:  
 
City Council may approve, modify or not approve the first reading ordinance.   
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A: Ordinance No._____  
B: Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 
C: Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Packet Page     147



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Packet Page     148



Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ______ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 
ORDINANCE  NO. ____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND THE 
A PORTION OF THE PROPERTY AT 2205 BROADWAY, 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, ALSO KNOWN AS THE 
BOULDER MASONIC LODGE, A LANDMARK UNDER 
CHAPTER 9-11, “HISTORIC PRESERVATION” B.R.C. 1981, 
AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section l. The council enacts this ordinance pursuant to its authority under Chapter 9-11, 

“Historic Preservation,” B.R.C. 1981, to designate as a landmark a property having a special 

character or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value. 

Section 2. The council finds that: 1) on or about June 3, 2013, property owner Boulder 

History Museum and Boulder Historical Society, applied to the City of Boulder to designate the 

building and property at said property as a landmark; 2) the Landmarks Board held a public 

hearing on the proposed designation on August 7, 2013; and 3) on August 7, 2013, the board 

recommended that the council approve the proposed designation. 

 Section 3. The council also finds that upon public notice required by law, the council held 

a public hearing on the proposed designation on September 17, 2013 and upon the basis of the 

presentations at that hearing finds that the building and a portion of the property at 2205 

Broadway does possess a special character and special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest 

or value warranting its designation as a landmark. 

Section 4. The characteristics of the subject property that justify its designation as a 

landmark are: 1) its historic significance is relevant to its construction in 1950 by local 

architect James M. Hunter,  its association with the Boulder Chapter of the Royal Arch 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Packet Page     149



Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ______ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Masons, and its connection with the development of the Modern Architectural Movement in 

the Post-World War II era that was significant to the Development of Boulder; and 2) its 

architectural significance indicative of the International Style, and is significant for its cubic 

massing, flat roof, lack of ornamentation, horizontal concrete banding, articulated windows, 

high quality stone work and its association with prominent architect James M. Hunter and 3) 

its environmental significance for its geographic importance as an existing visual landmark at 

the corner of Pine Street and Broadway, and for its location within the Mapleton Hill Historic 

District, which maintains a high level of historic integrity. 

 Section 5. The council further finds that the foregoing landmark designation is necessary 

to promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the city. 

 Section 6. There is hereby created as a landmark the building and property located at 

2205 Broadway, also known as the Boulder Masonic Lodge, whose legal landmark boundary is 

identical to the boundary of the legal lots upon which it sits:  

LOTS 10-11-12 BLK 150 BOULDER O T, BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO 
as depicted in the proposed landmark boundary map, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
 
Section 7. The council directs that the department of Community Planning and 

Sustainability give prompt notice of this designation to the property owner and cause a copy of 

this ordinance to be recorded as described in Subsection 9-11-6(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8. The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Packet Page     150



Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ______ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE 
ONLY THIS 17TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

       Mayor 

 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this ____ day of _________, 2013. 

 
     
    
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 11Packet Page     151



Attachment A 
Ordinance No. ______ 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 
 
 

Exhibit A – Landmark Boundary Map for 2205 Broadway 
 

LOTS 10-11-12 BLK 150 BOULDER O T 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 12Packet Page     152



Attachment B 
Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 

 

 

9-11-1 & 9-11-2 Purposes and Intent 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 

 
9-11-1: Purpose and Legislative Intent states: 

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare by protecting, 
enhancing, and perpetuating buildings, sites, and areas of the city reminiscent of past eras, 
events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or providing significant 
examples of architectural styles of the past. It is also the purpose of this chapter to develop 
and maintain appropriate settings and environments for such buildings, sites, and areas to 
enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and 
foster knowledge of the city’s living heritage. 

(b) The City Council does not intend by this chapter to preserve every old building in the city but 
instead to draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest in 
preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage by ensuring that demolition 
of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be carefully weighed with other 
alternatives and that alterations to such buildings and structures and new construction will 
respect the character of each such setting, not by imitating surrounding structures, but by 
being compatible with them. 

(c) The City Council intends that in reviewing applications for alterations to and new 
construction on landmarks or structures in a historic district, the Landmarks Board shall 
follow relevant city policies, including, without limitation, energy-efficient design, access for 
the disabled and creative approaches to renovation.  

 

9-11-2:  City Council may Designate or Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts states: 

(a) Pursuant to the procedures in this chapter the City Council may by ordinance: 
(1) Designate as a landmark an individual building or other feature or an 

integrated group of structures or features on a single lot or site having a 
special character and historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value 
and designate a landmark site for each landmark; 

(2) Designate as a historic district a contiguous area containing a number of 
sites, buildings, structures or features having a special character and 
historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value and constituting a 
distinct section of the city;  

(3) Designate as a discontiguous historic district a collection of sites, buildings, 
structures, or features which are contained in two or more geographically 
separate areas,  having a special character and historical, architectural, or 
aesthetic interest or value that are united together by historical, architectural, 
or aesthetic characteristics; and 

(4) Amend designations to add features or property to or from the site or district. 

(b) Upon designation, the property included in any such designation is subject to all the 
requirements of this code and other ordinances of the city. 

  
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 13Packet Page     153



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 14Packet Page     154



Attachment C 
Significance Criteria 

 
 

SIGNIFICANCE CRITERIA 
Individual Landmark 

September 1975 
 

On September 6, 1975, the City Council adopted Ordinance #4000 providing procedures 
for the designation of Landmarks and Historic Districts in the City of Boulder.   The purpose of 
the ordinance is the preservation of the City’s permitted cultural, historic, and architectural 
heritage.  The Landmarks Board is permitted by the ordinance to adopt rules and regulations as it 
deems necessary for its own organization and procedures.  The following Significance Criteria 
have been adopted by the board to help evaluate each potential designation in a consistent and 
equitable manner.   
 
Historic Significance 
 

The place (building, site, area) should show character, interest or value as part of the 
development, heritage, or cultural characteristics of the community, state or nation; be the 
site of a historic, or prehistoric event that had an effect upon society; or exemplify the 
cultural, political, economic, or social heritage of the community. 
 
Date of Construction: This area of consideration places particular importance on the age 
of the structure. 

Association with Historical Persons or Events: This association could be national, state, 
or local. 

Distinction in the Development of the Community of Boulder: This is most applicable to 
an institution (religious, educational, civic, etc) or business structure, though in some 
cases residences might qualify.  It stresses the importance of preserving those places 
which demonstrate the growth during different time spans in the history of Boulder, in 
order to maintain an awareness of our cultural, economic, social or political heritage. 

Recognition by Authorities: If it is recognized by Historic Boulder, Inc. the Boulder 
Historical Society, local historians (Barker, Crossen, Frink, Gladden, Paddock, 
Schooland, etc), State Historical Society, The Improvement of Boulder, Colorado by F.L. 
Olmsted, or others in published form as having historic interest and value.  

Other, if applicable.  

Architectural Significance 
 

The place should embody those distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type 
specimen, a good example of the common; be the work of an architect or master builder, 
known nationally, state-wide, or locally, and perhaps whose work has influenced later 
development; contain elements of architectural design, detail, materials or craftsmanship 
which represent a significant innovation; or be a fine example of the uncommon. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 15Packet Page     155



Attachment C 
Significance Criteria 

 
Recognized Period/Style: It should exemplify specific elements of an architectural 
period/style, i.e.: Victorian, Revival styles, such as described by Historic American 
Building Survey Criteria, Gingerbread Age (Maass), 76 Boulder Homes (Barkar), The 
History of Architectural Style (Marcus/Wiffin), Architecture in San Francisco (Gebhard 
et al), History of Architecture (Fletcher), Architecture/Colorado, and any other published 
source of universal or local analysis of a style. 

Architect or Builder of Prominence: A good example of the work of an architect or 
builder who is recognized for expertise in his field nationally, state-wide, or locally. 

Artistic Merit: A skillful integration of design, material, and color which is of excellent 
visual quality and/or demonstrates superior craftsmanship. 

Example of the Uncommon: Elements of architectural design, details, or craftsmanship 
that are representative of a significant innovation. 

Indigenous Qualities: A style or material that is particularly associated with the Boulder 
area. 

Other, if applicable. 

Environmental Significance 
 

The place should enhance the variety, interest, and sense of identity of the community by 
the protection of the unique natural and man-made environment. 
 
Site Characteristics: It should be of high quality in terms of planned or natural vegetation. 

Compatibility with Site: Consideration will be given to scale, massing placement, or 
other qualities of design with respect to its site. 

Geographic Importance: Due to its unique location or singular physical characteristics, it 
represents an established and familiar visual feature of the community. 

Environmental Appropriateness: The surroundings are complementary and/or it is 
situated in a manner particularly suited to its function. 

Area Integrity: Places which provide historical, architectural, or environmental 
importance and continuity of an existing condition, although taken singularly or out of 
context might not qualify under other criteria. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 16Packet Page     156



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 17, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of the following ordinances related to the purchase of the 
ERTL property located at 8323 Valmont Road:  
 

1) Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only, an ordinance approving and authorizing the issuance of Boulder Municipal 
Property Authority Lease Purchase Revenue Note, Series 2013A, in the aggregate 
amount of $5,000,000, and approving and authorizing a Lease Purchase Agreement 
for the purchase of 685 acres of land, oil and gas mineral estate interests and water 
rights for the ERTL property located at 8323 Valmont Road, Boulder, CO from 
Energy Resource Technology Land, Inc. for Open Space and Mountain Parks 
purposes. 
 

2) Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only, an ordinance approving the addition of the ERTL property as part of the 
Lower Boulder Creek Habitat Conservation Area. 

 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
Michael D. Patton, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks  
Jim Schmidt, Property Agent 
Heather Swanson, Wildlife Ecologist 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Acquisition considerations: The Energy Resource Technology Land, Inc. (ERTL) property 
is a large holding in eastern Boulder County on which the city acquired conservation 
easements/developments rights in 1982 and 1984. These agreements essentially stripped the 
land of its former development potential and sought to preserve and protect the natural 
resources found on the property, but did not prohibit the drilling of new oil and gas wells. 
The ERTL property borders four other Open Space lands and its acquisition would give the 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page     157



city fee ownership of the entire two and a half mile reach of Boulder Creek between 75th 
Street and 95th Street, forming a land assemblage of over 2,700 contiguous acres.  
Staff had the ERTL holdings (land, water rights and oil and gas mineral estate) appraised to 
assist both parties in negotiations for a possible acquisition by Open Space. The subsequent 
appraisal indicated that the land value, exclusive of the water rights, is $1,113,000; the water 
rights are valued at $4,693,500; and the oil and gas mineral estate (seller’s royalty interest) 
at $2,164,000, for a total valuation of $7,970,500. The negotiated purchase price, based 
upon this appraisal information, became $7,575,000. A down payment of $2,575,000 dollars 
will be made at the closing by the City Open Space Fund; for this down payment the city 
will be deeded 464 acres of land north of the old railroad tracks (the most environmentally 
sensitive and important habitat on the property); the oil and gas mineral estate on the entire 
property and a minor portion of the water rights being acquired. The $5,000,000 balance of 
the purchase price will be paid  by a Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) note 
with BMPA receiving title to the remaining 221acres lying south of the railroad tracks and 
the majority portion of the water rights.  The land and water being conveyed to BMPA will 
be encumbered by the BMPA deed of trust as security for the note. 
 
If this purchase is approved by council, the city will thus be:  
1) Acquiring approximately 685 acres on which it currently holds either a conservation 
easement or a development rights agreement;  
2) Extinguishing ERTL’s leasehold interest on the city’s 325 acres acquired back in1984;  
3) Acquiring all water rights used to irrigate the land being acquired in this transaction; and  
4) Acquiring all the oil and gas mineral estate owned by ERTL (on both the land acquired in 
1984 and the new 685 acres being proposed for purchase herein) except for the royalty 
interest in the five currently producing wells which ERTL will continue to own.   
 
HCA designation considerations: With the purchase of the ERTL parcel, located east of the 
Weiser property and west of Hartnagle and Culver Open Space properties along Boulder 
Creek (Attachment B), Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) has a contiguous 
ownership and the opportunity for consistent management of the Boulder Creek Floodplain 
and White Rocks ecosystems.  The property has never been open for public access and will 
remain closed until a management plan is developed. This memo describes the rationale for 
designating ERTL as a Habitat Conservation Area (HCA) to provide guidance for future 
management of the property. 
 
The location, topography and geology of the ERTL property create a variety of different 
habitats that support an exceptionally diverse suite of wildlife and plant communities 
including rare and protected species. Many of these features are shared with the adjoining 
Windhover Ranch property immediately to the west.  Restoration potential and ecological 
value is very high in this area.  
 
Two of the rarest species OSMP manages breed on or near the ERTL property.  A pair of 
bald eagles has nested just west of ERTL since 2002 and northern leopard frogs have bred 
on the property for at least the last several years. Bald eagles are very sensitive to 
disturbance during the nesting season and will rarely initiate nesting in an area where they 
experience disturbance.  The extensive riparian and wetland complexes on ERTL provide 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page     158



ideal breeding, foraging and over-wintering habitat for northern leopard frogs, a species in 
decline in Colorado and throughout the western U.S.  Crevices on the cliff face of the White 
Rocks harbor the black spleenwort fern which is one of the rarest ferns in North America, 
and wet meadows provide habitat for the federally-listed Ute ladies’-tresses orchid. In 
recognition of these and other significant resource values, staff is proposing the ERTL 
property be managed similar to the Windhover Ranch property.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motions: 
 

1. Motion to approve the purchase of 685 acres of land, the oil and gas mineral 
estate and water rights for the ERTL property located at 8323 Valmont Road, 
Boulder, CO from ERTL, Inc. for $7,575,000 for Open Space and Mountain 
Parks purposes. 
 

2. Motion to introduce and order published by title only, the attached BMPA 
Ordinance No. 7933. 

 
3. Motion to introduce and order published by title only, the attached Habitat 

Conservation Area Ordinance No. 7934.  
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Environmental:  Open Space and Mountain Parks is a significant community-
supported program that is recognized worldwide as a leader in preservation of open 
space lands contributing to the environmental sustainability goal of the City Council. 
The department's land acquisition, land and resource management and visitor service 
programs help preserve and protect the Open Space values of the surrounding 
publicly-owned lands.  

• Economic: Open Space and Mountain Parks contributes to the economic vitality goal 
of the city as it provides the context for the diverse and vibrant economic system that 
sustains services for residents.  The land system and the quality of life it represents 
attract visitors and help businesses to recruit and retain quality employees.  

• Social: Because Open Space and Mountain Parks lands, facilities and programs are 
equally accessible to all members of the community, they help to  support the city's 
community sustainability goal because all residents "who live in Boulder can feel a 
part of and thrive in" this aspect of their community.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal: the purchase price for the ERTL property interests being acquired is 
$7,575,000 payable as follows: $2,575,000 down payment at the time of closing 
(scheduled for Oct. 31, 2013).  The balance of the purchase price shall be paid by 
BMPA executing a note and deed of trust in the principal amount of $5,000,000, 
with a 3.25 percent interest rate, payable over 10 years with yearly payments of 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page     159



$593,655.37.  There are sufficient monies in the Open Space Fund for this 
acquisition; a Cash Flow Projection is included as Attachment C. 

• Staff time – This acquisition is part of the normal work plan for the OSMP real estate 
property agents. 
 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its July 10 and Sept. 11, 2013 meetings, the Open Space Board of Trustees unanimously 
recommended that City Council approve this purchase. At its Aug. 14, 2013 meeting, the 
Open Space Board of Trustees unanimously approved the HCA boundary adjustment to 
incorporate the ERTL property and further recommended that City Council pass an 
ordinance designating the ERTL property as an addition to the Lower Boulder Creek HCA.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS 
This item is being heard as part of this public meeting advertised in the Daily Camera on 
Sept. 15, 2013.  This item was also heard at the Open Space Board of Trustees meetings 
held on July 10, Aug. 14 and Sept. 11, 2013. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The ERTL property is a large holding in eastern Boulder County along Boulder Creek 
bordered roughly by Valmont Road on the south, the Boulder Valley Farm Open Space on 
the east, Heatherwood subdivision on the north and the Weiser (Windhover Ranch) Open 
Space property on the west.  In the early 1980s, the OSMP Department acquired interests in 
this property to preserve its unique ecological habitats and the rare species of flora and fauna 
found thereon.  A series of acquisitions resulted in Open Space acquiring a conservation 
easement on the northerly 195.5 acres (which included the White Rocks area) in 1982 along 
with a fee purchase of 325 acres (which fee land was leased back to the Ertls for the life of 
Mrs. Ertl plus 20 years); another conservation easement was acquired in 1984 on the 230 
acres in the lakes area; and also in 1984 a “Development Rights Agreement” was placed on 
the 221 acres lying south of the railroad right-of-way. The total purchase price for the three 
acquisitions came to $1,488,000 (in today’s dollars that would equate to $3,378,000).   
 
These agreements reserved for ERTL the right to explore, drill and produce oil and gas on 
the property; there are 16 more potential and yet undeveloped well sites on the property.   
These agreements were drafted at the dawn of the conservation easement era and the 
language employed in these documents leave much to be desired when viewed from a 2013 
perspective, e.g. the agreements do not acknowledge or enumerate the existence of water 
rights being appurtenant to the property.  During the years immediately succeeding  this 
series of acquisitions, a number of informal “side-agreements” (for lack of a better phrase) 
were entered into between the City Open Space Department and the ERTL representatives 
which modified, interpreted and/ or elaborated on how different issues that had arisen 
concerning usage of the property would be handled.  Some of these side agreements were 
reduced to written correspondence – usually unilaterally by only one of the parties – but 
many of these were simply verbal “understandings.”  As the years went by and the people 
who actually made and knew of all these “side agreements” were no longer present or 
involved in the day to day operations of their respective organizations, the context of the 
agreements began to take on an “oral history” flavor.  

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page     160



 
The Open Space Real Estate group approached the ERTL management team in 2010 to 
attempt to consolidate all of the old agreements – the conservation easements, the 
development rights agreement, and the written and verbal “side agreements” into one all-
encompassing conservation easement using a modern-era format that would be readily 
understandable by future staff for both organizations.  This consolidation attempt proved 
ultimately futile as the two sides could not reach agreement on the current status on a 
number of very substantive issues, each believing that the other was seeking to change the 
agreements to benefit their organization and to the detriment of the other side.  The ERTL 
organization ultimately proposed that the city buy its interests out but for a price which the 
city found to be out of line with the property’s actual market value.  When the city rejected 
the price demanded, the ERTL organization listed the property for sale with a local realtor 
and sold off some of its extensive water rights on the land (entering into a dry-up covenant 
on some 29 acres of its irrigated fields along Valmont Road).  Open Space staff realized that 
the existing agreements and arrangements vis-à-vis the city and the ERTL organization (or a 
new purchaser) were not sustainable into the future and had ERTL holdings (land, water 
rights and oil and gas mineral estate) appraised to assist both parties in  negotiations for 
acquisition by Open Space. 
 
The appraisal of the property being acquired indicated that the land value, exclusive of the 
water rights, is $1,113,000; the water rights are appraised at $4,693,500; and the oil and gas 
mineral estate (royalty interest only) is $2,164,000, for a total valuation of $7,970,500. The 
negotiated purchase price, based upon this appraisal information, is $7,575,000. 
 
In this transaction, the city will be acquiring: 1) approximately 685 acres on which it already 
holds either a conservation easement or a development rights agreement; 2) all water rights 
used to irrigate the land being acquired in this transaction; 3) all the oil and gas mineral 
estate owned by ERTL except for the royalty interest in the five currently producing wells 
on the property (which ERTL will continue to own); and extinguishing ERTL’s leasehold 
interest on the city’s 325 acres acquired back in 1984.  
  
There is a farmstead on the property consisting of a two-story home, a smaller auxiliary 
home, a mobile home, an equipment shed, corrals, loafing sheds and workshop which are 
occupied by the extended family of Drake and Brene Sullivan pursuant to a life estate which 
ERTL had given to the Sullivans (their predecessor in title).  This life estate runs for the life 
of Brene Sullivan, who is in her mid-eighties. 
 
Ecological Significance  
Staff has carefully reviewed the unique characteristics of the ERTL property and believes it 
fulfills the characteristics, goals and criteria for HCA designation established in the Visitor 
Master Plan.  In recognition of the significant resource values, staff is proposing the ERTL 
property be managed similar to adjoining properties and be included as part of the Lower 
Boulder Creek HCA. 
 
The ERTL property contains an unusual outcropping of Fox Hills Sandstone, a unique 
geologic formation known locally as the White Rocks.  It is a continuation of the formation 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page     161



found on the Windhover Ranch property to the west. In addition, one of the largest relatively 
undeveloped remnants of the Boulder Creek floodplain sets the stage for the 
extremely rich diversity of plant and animal life found there. This property is one of the last 
remaining private parcels in the Boulder Creek floodplain and its acquisition will create 
nearly seven miles of publicly-owned and protected riparian habitat from 75th Street to the 
confluence of Boulder and Coal Creeks. 
 
Rare Plants and Plant Communities  
Sandstone cliffs: At the top of the White Rocks cliffs where soil has collected between 
rocks, habitat for the forktip three-awn grass (listed by the Colorado Natural Heritage 
Program as critically imperiled in Colorado) occurs along with an unusual mix of tallgrass 
prairie and sand prairie plant species.  Crevices on the cliff face harbor the black spleenwort 
fern which is one of the rarest ferns in North America.  Seeps in the White Rocks cliff face 
provide habitat for moisture-loving Great Plains species including great blue lobelia and 
American groundnut, as well as an uncommon liverwort (Phaeoceros laevis).  Sandy soils at 
the base of the cliffs support some of the farthest western occurrences in Colorado of sand 
prairie species like sand sage, narrowleaf four o’clock, silky sophora, lemon scurfpea and 
the plains black nightshade.  Native shrub stands and a large grove of western hackberry add 
to the plant diversity and provide important structure and food for birds and other wildlife 
species. 
 
Floodplain wet meadows and agricultural vegetation: The Boulder Creek floodplain portion 
of the property is a mosaic of riparian forest, native wet meadow vegetation in old stream 
channels, artificial lakes and fields dominated by European pasture grasses.  The plains 
cottonwood was historically the dominant canopy species along plains streams in the 
Boulder Valley and still occurs in remnant stands along Boulder Creek.  Nonnative Russian 
olive and crack willow trees now occupy much of the floodplain. The Ute ladies’-tresses 
orchid, a federally protected wetland species, occurs on the ERTL property in an area that 
has not been gravel mined.  Additional habitat for the rare orchid and other native wetland 
species could be restored on the ERTL property through prescriptive cattle grazing, 
irrigation water management and nonnative tree removal. Gravel mining has created 
artificial aquatic habitat in two large lakes and approximately seven smaller ponds in the 
floodplain.  While these are not natural features in the landscape, they provide open water 
habitat with aquatic vegetation and marsh-like wetland habitat along their shorelines. 
 
Wetland communities dominated by native species support the prairie gentian, an 
uncommon species in Colorado with declining habitat across the Great Plains. The prairie 
gentian habitat is concentrated in wet meadows south of the railroad tracks.  The Weiser and 
ERTL prairie gentian population represents the farthest western occurrence of this species in 
Colorado. 
 
Wildlife Resources  
Bald eagles have nested on the adjacent Weiser property since 2002.  Because the currently-
occupied eastern nest is very close to the ERTL/Windhover Ranch property line, a large 
portion of the area directly surrounding the nest lies on ERTL.  The eagles have experienced 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page     162



nest failures twice during the last nine years, making it important to manage the property in 
a way most likely to support successful nesting.  
 
The cliffs of the White Rocks support multiple uncommon species including four rare ants, 
one of which (Aphaenogaster huachucana) is considered globally imperiled; a species of 
solitary bee that burrows into the soft sandstone of the rocks and feeds on prickly pear 
pollen; tiny fairy shrimp and crawling water beetles both of which live in ephemeral pools in 
depressions on top of the cliffs; and six-lined racerunner lizards, found locally only on the 
White Rocks, that live in the saltbush at the base of the cliffs.  The White Rocks cliffs on 
ERTL have also provided one of the county’s only natural nesting sites for barn owls and 
have been the center of recent prairie falcon activity during the nesting season.  The 
extensive wetland and aquatic habitat on ERTL provide ideal breeding, foraging and over-
wintering habitat for northern leopard frogs, a species in decline in Colorado and throughout 
the western U.S.  Boulder Creek provides habitat for uncommon species like the American 
dipper and wood duck and may support extremely rare species like the northern river otter.  
The artificial lakes and ponds on the property provide open water habitat for waterfowl and 
shorebirds and shoreline emergent marshes for wading birds such as little blue and great 
blue herons and great egrets.  
 
The diversity of habitats on the property supports a wide variety of bird communities during 
summer and winter.  According to the annual Boulder Christmas Bird Count, one of the 
highest species richness and total bird counts is consistently recorded on the survey route 
that includes ERTL.  In the summer, American bitterns, Virginia rails, marsh wrens and 
yellow-headed blackbirds are some of the rare/uncommon species that have been seen on the 
property.  Because of this, the Colorado Office of the National Audubon Society is in the 
process of officially designating the lower Boulder Creek area, including ERTL, as an 
“Important Bird Area.”   
 
The exact location and extent of prairie dogs on the property, although known to be limited, 
is not certain.  If acquired, prairie dog colonies will be mapped and assigned a management 
designation according to the criteria in the OSMP Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan.   
 
Threats and Sensitivity of Resources 
Previous intensive grazing on the property has likely had a negative impact on grassland- 
and shrub-nesting birds.  Habitat for these species can be improved through initiating 
prescriptive grazing techniques and removing nonnative species.  Improving habitat 
conditions, along with minimizing human disturbance, can increase bird community 
diversity and lead to higher nesting success.  Organisms such as the boring bees, fairy 
shrimp and six-lined racerunner occupy small, restricted and fragile habitats that could be 
impacted by extensive use of the area.  In addition, the presence of New Zealand mudsnails 
in Boulder Creek requires restricted access to the creek in an effort to avoid further spread of 
the snails to other waterways.  
 
Bald eagles can be very sensitive to disturbance during nesting.  The pair nesting at Weiser 
has been accustomed to an area with minimal human presence, making them more likely to 
respond negatively to even low levels of disturbance.  Protection under the Federal Eagle 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7Packet Page     163



Protection Act prohibits disturbance to birds that could result in nest abandonment or 
negative impact to their reproductive success.  U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
recommendations to protect nesting eagles in open landscapes such as those on the ERTL 
property are based on Colorado Parks and Wildlife buffers for protecting nesting raptors.  
These recommendations include no surface occupation within ¼ mile of nest sites at any 
time and no human presence within ½ mile of the nest seasonally during the nesting season 
(November - July).   
 
White Rocks in the Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan 
In recognition of the unique ecological importance of the White Rocks cliffs, staff included 
the White Rocks (on both the ERTL conservation easement and the Windhover Ranch 
property to the west) as one of eight conservation targets in the Grassland Ecosystem 
Management Plan approved by OSBT and City Council. Within the Grassland Plan 
framework, issues, threats, management considerations and strategies were identified for 
each conservation target.   
 
Agricultural Values 
There is a long history of agricultural activity on the ERTL property.  The Sullivan family 
farmed and ranched the property for more than 60 years before the current agricultural 
tenants began farming the property.  The Sullivans generally operated a traditional family 
farming and ranching operation.  They grew various grain crops, hay and forage crops and 
had a small cow herd to utilize the grazing land.  The Schwartz family has been leasing the 
irrigated agricultural land on the ERTL property for approximately 10 years and have 
recently taken over the grazing land as well.  The Schwartz family also leases the OSMP 
Manchester and King Hodgson properties located in the same vicinity as the ERTL property.  
Their agricultural operation primarily focuses on grass and alfalfa hay production, although 
they have recently added cattle to their operation. 
 
The soils underlying the irrigated land of the ERTL property are primarily sandy loam in 
texture with gentle slopes and are well suited for agricultural production.  The irrigated lands 
are considered to be of high quality when evaluating the soil texture and the water rights 
associated with the property.  OSMP will be acquiring water rights from the Green, Jones 
and Donnelly, Cottonwood No. 2 and the Andrews-Farwell ditches.  The Jones and 
Donnelly Ditch has the longest average operational season of 174 days.  The Andrews-
Farwell Ditch has the shortest operational season of 52 days.  OSMP will be acquiring 199 
acres of irrigated land, much of which will be most suited to livestock grazing because of 
previous mining activities.  There are about 65 acres of productive cropland suitable for a 
wide variety of agricultural activities including the production of organic vegetables for 
local sale. 
 
Restoration and Weed Management  
Historic land management, including disturbance related to mining, site hydrology and 
presence of invasive species on adjacent lands, lead to known and likely populations of 
various invasive species on the ERTL property.  Russian olive currently occupies over 60 
acres of the property.  Purple loosestrife, a Colorado List – A noxious weed, occupies 15 
acres of the property, but was managed by the landowner in 2010 and 2011.  Eurasian 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8Packet Page     164



watermilfoil is common in Boulder Creek, the Green Ditch and likely some of the ponds that 
receive water from the Green Ditch.  Other species likely present on the property include 
common teasel, perennial pepperweed, perennial sowthistle, whitetop, crack willow, Canada 
thistle, musk thistle, yellow toadflax (mandatory eradication), garlic mustard, diffuse 
knapweed, houndstongue, reed canarygrass, yellow iris and tamarisk.  Additional mapping 
and monitoring of the property to obtain estimates of cover and occupied area for the above 
and other invasive species is required.  Given past mining operations, it is likely that 
planting and seeding of native plants species is needed in areas following invasive species 
management.   
 
Cultural Resources 
While no professional cultural resource inventories have been conducted on this property, it 
is adjacent to the White Rocks/Weiser property where numerous Native American and 
historical archaeological sites are located.  It is expected that similar resources would be 
located on the ERTL property. 
 
Visitor Use  
As with all OSMP property acquisitions not previously open to the public, the ERTL 
property will be closed until a property inventory and site management plan are developed.  
This plan will recommend how to provide appropriate visitor infrastructure and services 
while protecting the natural and cultural resources on the site.  OSMP intends to complete 
this plan over the next 12 months, and the acquisition budget will fund the development of 
this plan. Given what staff knows about the property, actions to protect resources will be 
especially important. Staff is recommending that the property be designated as an HCA. 
This designation recognizes the known resource values of the property and is consistent with 
the HCA designation of the surrounding and nearby lands in the Boulder Creek floodplain.  
Given the seasonality of nesting bald eagles, the property has been, and will be 
recommended to be closed to the public and most staff from November 1 to July 31. 
However, with OSMP’s purchase of this property, a new opportunity for the public would 
exist in the seasonal window of August to October, when staff would lead scheduled, guided 
hikes on subjects ranging from wildflowers to geology. These visits would be carefully 
arranged to protect vulnerable biological and cultural resources on the property.  The East 
Boulder-White Rocks Trail is located on the eastern edge of the property. There are no plans 
for further trail development. 
 
Open Space Charter Purposes 
This acquisition meets all of the following Charter purposes: 

• Preservation of natural areas characterized by or including terrain, geologic 
formations, flora, and fauna that are unusual, spectacular, historically important, 
scientifically valuable, or unique. 

• Preservation of agricultural uses and land suitable for agricultural production. 
• Preservation of water resources in their natural or traditional state, scenic areas or 

vistas, wildlife habitats, and fragile ecosystems. 
• Preservation of land for its aesthetic and passive recreational value and its 

contribution to the quality of life of the community. 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 9Packet Page     165



ATTACHMENTS: 
A.  Vicinity Map 
B.  Location Map 
C.  Cash Flow Projection 
D.  Map of Proposed Habitat Conservation Area   
E.  Ordinance No. 7934 (HCA) 
F.  Ordinance No. 7933 (BMPA Note) 
G.  Lease Purchase Agreement 
H.  Lease Purchase Revenue Note, Series 2013A 
I.   Visitor Master Plan HCA Designation 
J.   Location Map – ERTL Mineral Estate (oil & gas ownership interests) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 10Packet Page     166



AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

E:\Mapfiles\Property\   \vicinity-  .mxd

Approximate property boundaries from 
Boulder County Assessor’s data.

VICINITY MAP -  ERTL  Property
ATTACHMENT A - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

BoulderBoulder

LouisvilleLouisville

LongmontLongmont

I
0 1 2 3 4 50.5

Miles

!(

!(

City of Boulder OSMP

Proposed Purchase

Leasehold Termination Area

SUBJECT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 11Packet Page     167

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 12Packet Page     168



Valmont  Dr.

Valmont  Dr. 9
5

th
  

S
t.

Boulder Creek

Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\ERTL\ERTLLocationMap10.mxd

AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

ERTL Purposed Purchase

ERTL Leasehold Termination Area

ERTL Irrigation Dry-Up Area

Seasonal Bald Eagle Closure  - Nov 1 - July 31

Bald Eagle Nest 1/2 Mile Buffer

OSMP Managed Multi-Use Trail

OSMP Fee Property

OSMP Conservation Easement

0 0.25 0.50.125 Miles

ATTACHMENT B - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

LOCATION MAP - ERTL Property

Agenda Item 3E     Page 13Packet Page     169

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 14Packet Page     170



ATTACHMENT C
Projected Open Space Cashflow 2013-2019

ERTL
7/10/2013

 

 
PROJECTED SALES TAX GROWTH

1 2010-2017 Sales Tax forecast 06/06/2011
2 2011-2018 Sales Tax forecast 05/08/2012
3 2013-2019 Sales Tax forecast 04/05/2013
4 BEGINNING CASH BALANCE

SOURCES OF FUNDS
5 OS Sales Tax Revenue
6 OS Fund - Investments/Leases/Misc.
7 Proceeds from RE sale
8 Funds from CDOT for Granite acquisition
9 General Fund Transfer for Mountain Parks:
10 General Fund Appropriation for Real Estate Services:
11 Lottery Fund Appropriation for CIP Purposes:
12 Unexpended Lottery Funds Carried Over from Previous Year
13 Grants
14 Total Annual Sources of Funds:
15 Total Sources of Funds Available:

USES OF FUNDS
16 Total Debt Service for Bonds & Notes:
17 BMPA Payment ERTL (2014-2023)

18 Capital Available for Land Acquisitions & Preservation
19 Unexpended Acquisition Funds Carried Over from Previous Year
20 Capital Available for Land Acquisitions & Preservation:

21 RE Acquisition 2013
22 ERTL
23 Dagle property and water acquisition by 8/14/2014
24 Remaining Land Acquisition Capital Available:

   
25 Capital for Visitor Infrastructure:
26 Unexpended Visitor Infrastructure Funds Carried Over from Previous Year
27 Highway 93 Underpass
28 Capital for Water Rights Acquisition:
29 Unexpended Water Rights Funds Carried Over from Previous Year
30 South Boulder Creek Flow In Stream Flow:
31 Capital for Mineral Rights Acquistion:
32 Unexpended Mineral Rights Funds Carried Over from Previous Year
33 Lottery Capital for MP Restoration:
34 Unexpended Lottery Funds Carried Over from Previous Year
35 Total CIP Expenditures:

36 Management Operating Expenditures - OSMP Program:
37 Operating Supplemental and Carryover
38 Management Operating Expenditures - RE Services:
39 Sub Total Management Operating Expenditures:
40 Administrative Budget Transfer - Cost Allocation:
41 Total Management Operating Expenditures:
42 Total Uses of Funds:

43 ENDING CASH BALANCE:
44 Less Reserves:
45 Less Reserve for 27th Pay Period
46 Sick/Vacation/Bonus Reserve
47 Property and Casualty Reserve
48 South Boulder Creek Flow Reserve
49 ERTL BMPA Post Sales Taxes Sunsetting Reserve
50 Vehicle Acquisition Reserve
51 Facility Maintenance Reserve
52 UNRESTRICTED CASH BALANCE AFTER RESERVES:

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

4.22% 3.42% 3.30% 3.30% 3.14%
3.90% 3.48% 3.28% 3.29% 3.20% 3.15% 3.15%
2.27% 3.50% 3.35% 3.35% 3.25% 3.20% 3.20%

$18,917,725 $13,034,089 $13,244,713 $15,971,741 $17,565,600 $22,061,257 $27,187,569

$25,406,420 $26,295,672 $27,176,894 $28,088,010 $29,000,132 $29,928,588 $30,887,634
$810,909 $810,909 $810,909 $810,909 $650,000 $650,000 $650,000

$1,300,000
$1,072,174 $1,103,480 $1,114,515 $1,125,660 $1,136,917 $1,148,286 $1,159,769

$152,346 $156,062 $157,623 $159,199 $160,791 $162,399 $164,023
$343,000 $343,000 $355,300 $355,300 $355,300 $355,300 $355,300
$144,094

$25,500
$29,254,443 $28,709,123 $29,615,241 $30,539,078 $31,303,139 $32,244,573 $33,216,725
$48,172,168 $41,743,212 $42,859,953 $46,510,819 $48,868,739 $54,305,829 $60,404,295

$8,667,232 $6,722,082 $4,907,955 $4,786,103 $4,188,804 $3,975,045 $2,094,597
$593,655 $593,655 $593,655 $593,655 $593,655 $593,655

$3,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000
$5,571,422 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
$8,971,422 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000

$6,825,000
$2,500,000

$525,000
($878,578) $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000

$850,000 $1,210,000 $900,000 $900,000 $900,000 $950,000 $800,000
$803,712

$1,100,000
$200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000
$187,817
$100,000 $100,000 $150,000 $2,000,000
$100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000
$261,184
$343,000 $343,000 $355,300 $355,300 $355,300 $355,300 $355,300
$144,094

$13,061,229 $7,353,000 $7,105,300 $8,955,300 $6,955,300 $7,005,300 $6,855,300

$11,930,231 $12,565,300 $12,959,859 $13,228,951 $13,625,820 $14,034,594 $14,455,632
$260,087
$152,346 $156,062 $157,623 $159,199 $160,791 $162,399 $164,023

$12,342,664 $12,721,362 $13,117,482 $13,388,150 $13,786,611 $14,196,993 $14,619,655
$1,066,954 $1,108,400 $1,163,820 $1,222,011 $1,283,112 $1,347,267 $1,414,630

$13,409,618 $13,829,762 $14,281,302 $14,610,161 $15,069,723 $15,544,260 $16,034,285
$35,138,079 $28,498,499 $26,888,212 $28,945,219 $26,807,482 $27,118,260 $25,577,837

$13,034,089 $13,244,713 $15,971,741 $17,565,600 $22,061,257 $27,187,569 $34,826,457
$5,475,000 $3,500,000 $2,500,000 $2,400,000 $2,000,000 $2,000,000 $1,100,000

$0 $45,000 $95,000 $145,000 $195,000 $0 $0
$490,000 $490,000 $490,000 $490,000 $490,000 $490,000 $490,000
$400,000 $400,000 $400,000 $400,000 $400,000 $400,000 $400,000

$1,450,000 $1,750,000 $2,000,000 $0 $0 $0 $0
$593,655 $1,187,310 $1,780,965 $2,374,620

$150,000 $300,000 $300,000 $300,000 $300,000 $300,000
$100,000 $200,000 $300,000 $400,000 $500,000 $600,000

$5,219,089 $6,809,713 $9,986,741 $12,936,945 $17,088,947 $21,716,604 $29,561,837

Agenda Item 3E     Page 15Packet Page     171



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 16Packet Page     172



E
a

s
t

B
o

u
ld

e
r

-
T
e
l l

e
r

F
a

rm

East Boulder - Gunbarrel Farm

E
a
s

t
B

o
u

l d
e

r
-

W
h

it
e

R
o

c
k

s

!i

!i
Teller Farm - North

East Boulder Trail at White Rocks

H.BIXLER

BROS.

WOOD

DEXTER

MARBLE

KNAUSCOSSLETT

HALEY

JENIK

FELL

KAUFMANN

KOLB II

EDDY

ERTL II

KOLB II

OVERFELT

R BIXLER

GUNBARREL
RANCH

KOLB

KING HODGSON

CULVER

H
A

R
T

N
A

G
LE

BELL II

TELLER FARM

MANCHESTER

HILL

WEISER

BELL I

ERTL II

WARNER

ERTL I

ERTL II

ERTL II

ERTL II

Valmont  Dr.

Valmont  Dr. 9
5

th
  

S
t.

Bould er Creek

Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\ERTL\ERTL_ProposedHCA_AttachD.mxd

AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

Proposed HCA

!i OSMP Trailhead with Designated Parking

OSMP Managed Multi-Use Trail

OSMP Conservation Easement

Habitat Conservation Area

Habitat Conservation Area - Conditional

Passive Recreation Area

Agricultural Area

0 0.25 0.50.125Miles

I

ATTACHMENT D - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

Proposed Habitat Conservation Area - ERTL

Agenda Item 3E     Page 17Packet Page     173

fenic1
Rectangle

fenic1
Rectangle

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 18Packet Page     174



 
ORDINANCE NO. 7934 

 
AN ORDINANCE ORDERING THE DESIGNATION AND ADDITION OF APPROXIMATELY 655 
ACRES TO THE LOWER BOULDER CREEK HABITAT CONSERVATION AREA UNDER 
SECTION 8-8-2, “HABITAT CONSERVATION AREA DESIGNATION,” B.R.C. 1981, AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 
 
Section 1. Purpose and Findings. 
 
(A) The purpose of this ordinance is to implement the policies and recommendations approved 
by the City Council on April 12, 2005 in the Open Space and Mountain Parks Visitor Master Plan. This 
ordinance is subject to referendum as provided in the City Charter. 
 
(B) Pursuant to Section 8-8-2, “Habitat Conservation Area Designation,” B.R.C. 1981, the city 
manager has identified and proposed the areas described in this ordinance for restricted public use 
because those areas would appropriately constitute habitat conservation areas within the city’s open space 
and mountain parks system based upon the criteria set forth in the Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Visitor Master Plan. 
 
(C) The city manager has sought and received advice and comments from the Open Space Board 
of Trustees /on the areas included in this ordinance. 
 
Section 2. Under section 8-8-2, B.R.C. 1981, the property described as ERTL -- Proposed 
HCA on Exhibit "A" to this ordinance is designated as an addition to the Lower Boulder Creek HCA, 
as described on Exhibit “B” to this ordinance. 
 
Section 3. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 
the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 
 
Section 4. The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 
only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 
public inspection and acquisition. 
  

ATTACHMENT E 
HCA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 19Packet Page     175



 
 
 
 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 
TITLE ONLY this 17th day of  September, 2013. 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
_______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this  1st day of October, 2013. 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

ATTACHMENT E 
HCA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 20Packet Page     176



E
a

s
t

B
o

u
ld

e
r

-
T
e

l l
e

r
F

a
rm

East Boulder - Gunbarrel Farm

E
a
s
t

B
o

u
l d

e
r

-
W

h
it

e
R

o
c

k
s

!i

!i
Teller Farm - North

East Boulder Trail at White Rocks

H.BIXLER

BROS.

WOOD

DEXTER

MARBLE

KNAUSCOSSLETT

HALEY

JENIK

FELL

KAUFMANN

KOLB II

EDDY

ERTL II

KOLB II

OVERFELT

GUNBARREL
RANCH

KOLB

KING HODGSON

CULVER

H
A

R
T

N
A

G
LE

BELL II

TELLER FARM

MANCHESTER

HILL

WEISER

BELL I

ERTL II

WARNER

ERTL I

ERTL II

ERTL II

ERTL II

87

18 17

19 20

Valmont  Dr.

Valmont  Dr. 9
5

th
  

S
t.

Bould er Creek

!i OSMP Trailhead with Designated Parking

OSMP Managed Multi-Use Trail

OSMP Ownership

OSMP Conservation Easement

City of Boulder Parks/Recreation

Gunbarrel Open Space

Boulder County Open Space

County Zoning

PLSS Quarter Quarter Sections (~40acres)

PLSS Quarter Sections (~160 acres)

PLSS Sections (~640 acres)
0 0.25 0.50.125

Miles

I

EXHIBIT A - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

Proposed Habitat Conservation Area - ERTL

ATTACHMENT E 
HCA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 21Packet Page     177



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 22Packet Page     178



GunbarrelGunbarrel

9
5

th
 S

t.

Teller Farm North

East Boulder Trail at White Rocks Trailhead

7
5

th
 S

t.

Valmont Dr.

9
5

th
 S

t.

Jay Rd.

Legend

Habitat Conservation Area - Active

No Public Access

OSMP Ownership

Multi-Use Trail

Hiking Trail
0 0.5 10.25

Miles F

Exhibit B

Lower Boulder Creek

Habitat Conservation Area

ATTACHMENT E 
HCA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 23Packet Page     179



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 24Packet Page     180



              ORDINANCE NO. 7933 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER, COLORADO, APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 
THE ISSUANCE OF A $5,000,000.00 BOULDER MUNICIPAL 
PROPERTY AUTHORITY'S LEASE PURCHASE REVENUE 
NOTE, SERIES 2013A, AND APPROVING AND 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Boulder, Colorado (the "City"), has been duly organized and is validly 
existing as a home rule city under the Colorado Constitution and the home rule charter of the 
City (the "Charter"); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has previously authorized the creation of a nonprofit corporation as an 
instrumentality of the City for certain purposes, which corporation is known as "The Boulder 
Municipal Property Authority" (the "Authority"); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Authority is established for the purpose of facilitating the acquisition of real 
property, and the construction, installation, and acquisition of public improvements thereon, if 
any, or maintaining such property as Open Space, and the acquisition of personal property, as 
may from time to time be determined by the City to be in the best interests of the residents of the 
City; and 
 
WHEREAS, contingent on the passage of this Ordinance, the Authority intends to issue its 
$5,000,000.00 Lease Purchase Revenue Note, Series 2013A (the "Note") for the purpose of 
acquiring certain property described in Exhibit A hereto to be maintained as Open Space (the 
"Property"); and 
 
WHEREAS, that portion of the Property described in Exhibit A to the Agreement is to be leased 
by the Authority to the City pursuant to a Lease Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement"), the 
form of which has been presented to the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City that the Note be issued and that the City enter 
into the Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the rental payments required to be made by the City under the Agreement are 
subject to appropriation each year by the City Council, and neither the Note, the Agreement, nor 
any deed of trust of the Authority in connection with the Note constitute an indebtedness of the 
City within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory, or home rule charter provision or 
limitation. 
 

ATTACHMENT F 
BMPA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 25Packet Page     181



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER, COLORADO, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. It is hereby found and determined by the City Council of the City that the 
issuance of the Note by the Authority and the execution and delivery of the Agreement by the 
City, for the purpose of acquiring the Property, is necessary and appropriate for the furtherance 
of the general welfare, order, and security of the City and its residents and property owners. 
 
 Section 2. The issuance of the Note by the Authority to acquire the Property is 
hereby authorized and approved. 
 
 Section 3. The Agreement, in substantially the form presented to the City Council, is 
in all respects hereby authorized and approved by the City Council of the City, and the findings 
and determinations made therein are hereby incorporated in this Ordinance as findings and 
determinations of the City Council. 
 
 Section 4. The mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver the Agreement in substantially the form approved, and the city clerk is hereby authorized 
to attest and affix the seal of the City on the same. 
 
 Section 5. The Note, the Agreement, and any deed of trust of the Authority shall 
never constitute the debt or indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional, 
statutory, or Charter provision or limitation, and shall not constitute nor give rise to a pecuniary 
liability of the City or a charge against its general credit or taxing powers, nor may the City ever 
be called upon to pay any of the principal of or interest on the Note. 
 
 Section 6. The approval of the Note and the Agreement and the execution and 
delivery of the Agreement are hereby found to be a matter exclusively of local concern, and the 
adoption of this Ordinance and the provisions hereof are in furtherance of the City's powers as a 
home rule city under Colorado law. 
 
 Section 7. All actions not inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance 
heretofore taken by the City Council or officers of the City in furtherance of the undertakings 
herein described are hereby ratified, approved, and confirmed. 
 
 Section 8. All prior acts, orders, or resolutions, or parts thereof, by the City in 
conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed, except that this repealer shall not be construed 
to revive any act, order, or resolution, or part thereof, heretofore repealed. 
 
 Section 9. If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this Ordinance shall be 
adjudged to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, 
paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining sections, paragraphs, 
clauses, or provisions of this Ordinance, it being the intention that the various parts hereof are 
severable. 
 

ATTACHMENT F 
BMPA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 26Packet Page     182



 Section 10. The council finds that this ordinance is necessary to protect the public 
health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and covers matters of local concern. 
 
 Section 11. The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 
only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 
public inspection and acquisition. 
 
 
 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 
TITLE ONLY this 17th day of September, 2013. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 

Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY 
THIS ______DAY OF ___________, 2013. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 

Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT F 
BMPA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 27Packet Page     183



 EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE NO. 7933 
 
 
 LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
 
Outlots: N, ERTL Farm N.U.P.U.D., and Revised Outlot Q1, Replat A ERTL Farm N.U.P.U.D. 
and the following water rights: 13.0 shares of Jones & Donnelly, 8.0 shares of Green Ditch, .22 
shares of Cottonwood No. 2, 6.75 shares of Butte Mill, and 19.5 shares of Andrews-Farwell. 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT F 
BMPA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 28Packet Page     184



 
 
 
[Attach proofs of publication regarding public hearing prior to Ordinance and adoption of 
Ordinance afterwards.] 

ATTACHMENT F 
BMPA ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 29Packet Page     185



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 30Packet Page     186



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 31Packet Page     187



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 32Packet Page     188



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 33Packet Page     189



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 34Packet Page     190



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 35Packet Page     191



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 36Packet Page     192



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 37Packet Page     193



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 38Packet Page     194



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 39Packet Page     195



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 40Packet Page     196



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 41Packet Page     197



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 42Packet Page     198



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 43Packet Page     199



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 44Packet Page     200



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 45Packet Page     201



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 46Packet Page     202



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 47Packet Page     203



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 48Packet Page     204



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 49Packet Page     205



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 50Packet Page     206



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 51Packet Page     207



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 52Packet Page     208



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 53Packet Page     209



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 54Packet Page     210



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 55Packet Page     211



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 56Packet Page     212



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 57Packet Page     213

fenic1
Rectangle

fenic1
Rectangle



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 58Packet Page     214



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 59Packet Page     215



ATTACHMENT G 
LEASE AGREEMENT

Agenda Item 3E     Page 60Packet Page     216



 
 

THIS NOTE HAS BEEN PRIVATELY PLACED BY THE BOULDER 
MUNICIPAL PROPERTY AUTHORITY; ANY REGISTERED OWNER 
HEREOF, INCLUDING ANY TRANSFEREE, IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 
MAKING ITS OWN INVESTMENT DECISION, AND ANY SUCH 
REGISTERED OWNER IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON THE AUTHORITY 
OR THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, FOR PURPOSES OF 
DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO SAID REGISTERED OWNER'S 
DECISION IN PURCHASING THIS NOTE.  BY ITS OWNERSHIP OF THIS 
NOTE, THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF ACCEPTS THE FOREGOING 
PROVISIONS. 

 
 
 Lease Purchase Revenue Note, Series 2013A 
 
For value received, The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (the "Authority") promises to pay 
to Energy Resources Technology Land, Inc., a Colorado Corporation, in the manner and only 
from the sources hereinafter provided, the principal sum of $5,000,000, together with interest on 
unpaid principal from the date hereof until paid, at the rate of 3.25% per annum, said principal 
and interest to be payable pursuant to the following schedule (said schedule to be conclusive 
with respect to the interest payments hereon notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this 
Note), provided however, that should any payment date set forth below not be a business day on 
which the Authority’s Paying Agent, which shall initially be U.S. Bank National Association (the 
“Paying Agent”), shall be open for business, then such payment shall be made on the succeeding 
business day that the Paying Agent is open for business. Such monthly payments shall first be 
applied to interest payable on this Note with the remainder applied to the payment of the 
outstanding principal.   
 
 PAYMENT SCHEDULE 
 
 

October 31 Principal  Interest    Total 
  Year    Payment  Payment  Payment 

 2014  431,155.37  162,500.00  593,655.37 
 2015  445,167.91  148,487.46  593,655.37 
 2016  459,635.87  134,019.50  593,655.37 
 2017  474,574.04  119,081.33  593,655.37 
 2018  489,997.69  103,657.68  593,655.37 

2019  505,922.62    87,732.75  593,655.37 
2020  522,365.10    71,290.27  593,655.37 
2021  539,341.97    54,313.40  593,655.37 
2022  556,870.58    36,784.79  593,655.37 
2023  574,968.88    18,686.49  593,655.37 

 
 

ATTACHMENT H 
LEASE REVENUE NOTE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 61Packet Page     217



The principal of and interest on this Note are payable in lawful monies of the United States of 
America without deduction for collection charges. The principal of and interest on this Note are 
payable to the registered owner hereof by wire transfer according to the instructions provided by 
the person in whose name the Note is registered, or, if requested by the Authority, by wire 
transfer according to the instructions provided by the person in whose name this Note is 
registered, on the registration books of the Authority at the close of business on the day 
preceding such principal and interest payment date, whether or not a business day (the "Record 
Date"); provided, however, that the final payment of the principal of and interest hereon shall be 
made solely upon presentation and surrender of this Note at the office of the Authority, 1777 
Broadway, Boulder, Colorado 80302. 
 
If the wiring instructions for the registered owner change during the course of the payment of 
this Note, it is the responsibility of the registered owner hereof to notify the Paying Agent and 
provide the Paying Agent with new wiring instructions.  If such wire transfer is rejected, the 
Paying Agent shall hold such payment (without accruing additional interest) until it has been 
provided with new wire instructions from the registered owner hereof.  If, due to the registered 
owner’s failure to provide the Paying Agent with proper wiring instructions, payment is 
received by a party other than the registered owner hereof, neither the Authority nor the Paying 
Agent shall be held responsible for such payment(s) to the registered owner hereof. 
 
This Note is a note of the Authority denominated as "Lease Purchase Revenue Note, Series 
2013A " issued in the aggregate principal amount of $5,000,000 (the "Note").  As provided in the 
resolution of the Authority authorizing this Note (the "Resolution"), this Note is issuable solely 
in the form of one fully registered note without coupons and in the denomination of $5,000,000.  
The Note is issued to acquire certain open space property (the "Property"), to be leased to the 
City of Boulder, Colorado (the "City").   The Property so leased (the "Leased Property") shall be 
leased pursuant to a Lease Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement") dated October 31, 2013. 
 
This Note may be prepaid by the Authority at any time without penalty. 
 
The Authority may deem and treat the registered owner of this Note as the absolute owner hereof 
for all purposes (whether or not this Note shall be overdue), and any notice to the contrary shall 
not be binding upon the Authority. 
 
This Note is transferable by the registered owner hereof in person or by his attorney, duly 
authorized in writing, at the principal office of the Paying Agent designated above, but only in 
the manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment of the charges, provided in the 
Resolution.  This Note may be transferred upon the registration books by delivery of this Note to 
the Paying Agent together with a written instrument or instruments of transfer in form and with 
guarantee of signature satisfactory to the Paying Agent, duly executed by the registered owner of 
this Note or his or her attorney-in-fact or legal representative, containing written instructions as 
to the details of the transfer of the Note, along with the social security number or federal 
employer identification number of such transferee and wire instructions, if applicable, for 
principal and interest payments on the Note to such transferee executed by the transferee.  In the 
event of the transfer of this Note, the Paying Agent shall enter the transfer of ownership in the 
registration books.  The Authority and the Paying Agent shall charge the registered owner of this 

ATTACHMENT H 
LEASE REVENUE NOTE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 62Packet Page     218



Note for every such transfer an amount sufficient to reimburse the Authority and the Paying 
Agent for their reasonable fees and for any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid 
with respect to such transfer.  The Authority may replace a lost, stolen or destroyed Note upon 
receiving indemnity satisfactory to the Authority from the registered owner thereof. 
 
EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PAYABLE FROM NET PROCEEDS OF FORECLOSURE AND 
SALE OF THE LEASED PROPERTY PURSUANT TO A DEED OF TRUST DATED 
OCTOBER 31, 2013 (THE "DEED OF TRUST") FROM THE AUTHORITY TO THE PUBLIC 
TRUSTEE OF BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO, FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE 
REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, THIS NOTE SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM 
RENTALS TO BE PAID BY THE CITY UNDER THE AGREEMENT.  ALL PAYMENT 
OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY UNDER THE AGREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT 
LIMITATION, THE OBLIGATION OF THE CITY TO PAY RENTALS, SHALL ONLY BE 
MADE FROM THE CITY'S OPEN SPACE AND STREET FUND MAINTAINED UNDER 
SECTION 3-2-39, BOULDER REVISED CODE 1981, ARE FROM YEAR TO YEAR ONLY, 
AND DO NOT CONSTITUTE A MANDATORY PAYMENT OBLIGATION OF THE CITY 
IN ANY FISCAL YEAR BEYOND A FISCAL YEAR IN WHICH THE AGREEMENT 
SHALL THEN BE IN EFFECT.  THE AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ANNUAL RENEWAL 
AT THE OPTION OF THE CITY AND SHALL BE TERMINATED UPON THE 
OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT OF NONAPPROPRIATION.  IN SUCH EVENT, ALL 
PAYMENTS FROM THE CITY UNDER THE AGREEMENT SHALL TERMINATE, AND 
THIS NOTE, AND THE INTEREST THEREON SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM 
MONIES AVAILABLE, IF ANY, FROM FORECLOSURE ON THE LEASED PROPERTY 
PURSUANT TO THE DEED OF TRUST. 
 
None of the Agreement, this Note, or the Deed of Trust constitute a general obligation or other 
indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory, or home rule charter 
debt provision or limitation.  None of the Agreement, this Note, or the Deed of Trust of the 
Authority have directly or indirectly obligated the City to make any payments beyond those 
appropriated for any fiscal year in which the Agreement shall then be in effect. 
 
The obligations of the Authority under the Resolution and the Deed of Trust shall be discharged 
as and to the extent provided in the Resolution upon deposit of cash and/or United States 
government securities with an escrow agent, in which case the registered owners of this Note, 
shall promptly release the lien of the Deed of Trust and shall be secured solely as provided in the 
Resolution. 
 
Upon receiving written notice of a default from the registered owner hereof, the Authority shall 
have 30 days to cure such default, whereupon if such default is not cured, then the entire 
principal amount hereof, together with interest hereon, shall, at the election of the registered 
owner hereof, become due and payable, but only from the sources hereinabove described.  
Failure to exercise this election or any other remedies upon a default shall not constitute a waiver 
of that right in the event of a subsequent or continuing default. 
 
The rights or remedies of the registered owner hereof as provided in this Note and the Deed of 
Trust shall be cumulative and concurrent and may be pursued singly, successively, or together 

ATTACHMENT H 
LEASE REVENUE NOTE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 63Packet Page     219



against the Leased Property at the sole discretion of the registered owners hereof.  The failure to 
exercise any such right or remedy shall in no event be construed as a waiver or release of said 
rights or remedies, or of the rights to exercise them at any later time. 
 
This Note may not be amended, modified, or changed, nor shall any waiver of any provision 
hereof be effective, except by an instrument in writing and signed by the party against whom 
enforcement of any waiver, amendment, change, modification or discharge is sought. 
 
It is hereby certified and recited that all the requirements of law have been fully complied with 
by the proper Authority officers in the issuance of this Note, and that this Note was duly and 
lawfully authorized by the Resolution duly adopted and approved by the Board of Directors of 
the Authority prior to the issuance hereof. 
 
The registered owner of this Note, by acceptance hereof, acknowledges and agrees to be bound 
by all provisions of the Resolution relating hereto. 
 
This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Resolution, or become valid or obligatory 
for any purpose until the Paying Agent, as registrar, shall have signed the certificate of 
authentication hereon. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Directors of the Authority has caused this Note to be 
executed with the signature of the President of the Authority and attested by the signature of its 
Secretary-Treasurer and has caused the seal of the Authority to be impressed or imprinted 
hereon. 
 
Date:  October 31, 2013 
 
 
 
[SEAL]    THE BOULDER MUNICIPAL PROPERTY 

AUTHORITY, a Colorado non-profit corporation 
 
 

By: _______________________________________ 
Matt Appelbaum,  President 

 
ATTEST: 
 

By: _______________________________________ 
Bob Eichem, Secretary-Treasurer 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT H 
LEASE REVENUE NOTE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 64Packet Page     220



CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 
 

 
This Note is one of the Notes described in the within mentioned Resolution of the Authority. 
 
Date of Authentication: __________________  
 
 

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Registrar 
 
 
                                                        By: ___________________________________ 

       Authorized Officer 
 

 

ATTACHMENT H 
LEASE REVENUE NOTE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 65Packet Page     221



 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT OF NOTE 
 
 

ASSIGNMENT 
 
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers 
unto__________________________________________________________________________
(please print or type name and address of transferee) (Tax Identification or Social Security No. 
____________________________________) the within Note and all rights and title hereunder, 

and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 
_____________________________________________ 

attorney to transfer the within Note on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of 
substitution in the premises. 

 
 

Dated: ______________________________________________________________________ 
Signature 

 
 

Assignor must attach notarized acknowledgment. 
 
 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Signature must be guaranteed by a 
member of a Medallion Signature Program. 
 
 

 
NOTE:    PLEASE RETURN ORIGINAL NOTE WITH THIS ASSIGNMENT.   

The signature on this assignment must correspond with the name as it 
appears on the face of this original note. 

 
 

ATTACHMENT H 
LEASE REVENUE NOTE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 66Packet Page     222



ATTACHMENT I 

Visitor Master Plan: Habitat Conservation Area Designation 
 
 
Characteristics 
Tend to be located in more remote areas. 
Typically represent the largest blocks of an ecosystem type with few, if any, trails or roads. 
Lower level of visitor use; no or few trials and trailheads. 
Naturally functioning ecosystems (but may contain areas with evidence of human use and impacts). 
 
Goals 
Maintain, enhance and/or restore naturally functioning ecological systems. 
Maintain, enhance and restore habitat for species of concern indentified in the Boulder County and 
Boulder  Valley Comprehensive Plans. 
Provide pubic access and passive recreational opportunities that foster appreciation and understanding 
of ecological systems and have minimal impacts on native plant communities and wildlife habitats or 
other resources. 
Eliminate all undesignated trails, unless they are made part of the designated trails system or provide 
specialized access to appropriate low‐use destinations. 
Where sustainable infrastructure exists, continue to allow public access to appropriate destinations. 
 
Criteria for Inclusion of Management Areas in the Habitat Conservation Area Designation 
Large habitat blocks with a low density of trails, roads or development. 
High potential for restoration of natural ecosystems (including areas= with restoration underway). 
Plant communities that are rare or unique on Open space and Mountain Parks lands. 
Habitat for species of concern such as threatened, endangered, rare and other species. 
Areas with high biodiversity such as wetlands and riparian areas (especially un‐trailed  riparian reaches). 
Comparatively lower visitation levels. 
Compatibility with adjacent land (i.e., opportunities for coordinating habitat protection and connections 
and recreational activities/trail linkages). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT I

Agenda Item 3E     Page 67Packet Page     223

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 68Packet Page     224



BROS.

WOOD

DEXTER

MARBLE

KNAUSCOSSLETT

HALEY

JENIK

FELL

N

EDDY

ERTL II

GUNBARREL
RANCH

KING HODGSON

CULVER

H
A

R
T

N
A

G
LE

BELL II

TELLER FARM

WEISER

BELL I

ERTL II

WARNER

ERTL I

ERTL II

ERTL II

ERTL II

a
rm

East Boulder - Gunbarrel Farm

E
a
s
t

B
o

u
l d

e
r

-
W

h
it

e
R

o
c

k
s

Lookout Rd.

Valmont  Dr. 9
5

th
  

S
t.

Boulder Creek

5-18

4-18 3-17
2-18

1-17

20-10

Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\ERTL\ERTLMineralAttachmentJ.mxd

AGENDA ITEM#_____PAGE_____

ERTL New Purchase

ERTL Leasehold Termination Area

Minerals Being Acquired

Minerals Not Being Acquired

1984 Fee Purchase Area

Producing Oil Well

Additional 120 Acres  of Mineral Rights

OSMP Managed Multi-Use Trail

OSMP Fee Property

OSMP Conservation Easement 0 0.25 0.50.125
Miles

I

ATTACHMENT J - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

LOCATION MAP - ERTL MINERAL ESTATE

Agenda Item 3E     Page 69Packet Page     225

fenic1
Rectangle

fenic1
Rectangle



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 70Packet Page     226



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 17, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:   
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, 
an ordinance amending Title 6, Chapter 13, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags,” 
B.R.C. 1981 regarding the Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Program, and Title 4, 
Chapter 20, Section 61, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Fees,” B.R.C. 1981, 
regarding fees for Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags and setting forth related 
details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Michael D. Patton, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Eric Stone, Resource Systems Division Manager 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This memorandum presents the recommended Boulder Revised Code 1981 (B.R.C.) changes 
resulting from an 18-month evaluation of the Voice and Sight Tag (Tag) Program. Program 
enhancements integrate City Council, Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT), community and 
staff recommended changes to the Tag Program. This memo covers the enhancements that 
require City Council adoption of ordinance changes to the B.R.C.  The following components of 
the enhancements require amending the B.R.C. regarding: 
 

1. Program Application Prerequisites 
a. Attendance at an information class or session; and 
b. Verification of City of Boulder dog license or rabies vaccination 

2. Fees and Annual Program Renewal Requirement 
3. Fines 
4. Violations Affecting Suspension of Privileges 
5. Reinstatement  

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page     227



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only an ordinance 
amending Title 6, Chapter 13, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags,” B.R.C. 1981 
regarding the Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Program, and Title 4, Chapter 20, 
Section 61, “Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Fees,” B.R.C. 1981, regarding fees 
for Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags, and setting forth related details. 
  
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS  

• Economic: Overall economic impacts on the business community are unknown.  
Businesses and organizations providing dog training services may benefit from dog 
guardians seeking training services to increase skills beneficial to voice and sight control. 

• Environmental: The Tag Program was identified in the Visitor Master Plan (VMP) as a 
way to reduce adverse effects to Open Space and Mountain Parks’ (OSMP) ecological 
and agricultural resources by increasing the level of compliance with voice and sight 
requirements.   

• Social: Enhancements to the Tag Program are intended to both support enduring changes 
that will sustain a high-quality visitor experience retaining valued voice and sight control 
opportunities and reducing behaviors that contribute to visitor conflict. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal: Budgetary impacts to the city will depend upon enrollment in the program, which 
is designed to be “cost-neutral” based upon enrollments of approximately 16,000 
individuals and their dogs, and fee structures contained herein. 

• Staff time: Additional and significant staff resources would be required by the proposed 
program enhancements. Those additional FTEs are included in the “cost-neutral” 
projections and fee structure. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The OSBT heard staff’s proposed enhancements to the Tag Program at a public hearing on April 
10, 2013 and fee changes on May 8, 2013. All proposed enhancements passed unanimously 
except for two changes.  A change passed by split vote (two dissenting votes) regarding 
suspension after a single conviction of aggressive animal prohibited (Title 6, Chapter 1, Section 
20, “Aggressive Animals Prohibited, B.R.C. 1981), failure to protect wildlife (or livestock) (Title 
8, Chapter 3, Section 5, “Wildlife Protection,” B.R.C. , 1981), or a violations of the City 
Manager’s rules involving wildlife protection(Title 8, Chapter 3, Section 3, “City Manager May 
Issue Rules,” B.R.C. 1981),. A split vote (one dissenting vote) was also involved with the board 
recommendation on consideration of suspension of voice and sight privileges following two 
convictions in a period of two years for the following: dog at large (Title 6, Chapter 1, Section 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page     228



16, “Dogs Running at Large Prohibited,” B.R.C. 1981), failure to remove excrement (Title 6, 
Chapter 1, Section 18, “Removal of Animal Excrement Required,” B.R.C. 1981), guardians not 
displaying a tag on off-leash dogs (Title 6, Chapter 13, Section 2, Subsection (b), “Voice and 
Sight Control Evidence Tag Required,” B.R.C. 1981) and violations of the City Manager’s rules 
not involving wildlife protection (Title 8, Chapter 3, Section 3, “City Manager May Issue Rules,” 
B.R.C. 1981). 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
OSMP has received over 300 responses from the public about the Tag Program and has held two 
open houses (May 24, 2012 and May 30, 2012), as well as five public hearings for community 
members to provide input on the evaluation and program enhancements. A compendium of these 
comments can be found at: https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/compendium-v-s-tag-
program-evaluation-comments-1-201306110943.pdf.   
 
Attachment B contains a “timeline” of all significant OSBT, council and community 
considerations of this matter. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Tag Program was included in the VMP in 2005 as a trial program. The purpose of the Tag 
Program was to increase dog guardians’ awareness of the requirements of voice and sight control 
and proper dog management. A monitoring component was included to inform program 
assessments and adaptive management. Staff evaluation of the Tag Program was based on 
monitoring results and subsequent discussion with OSBT and council, as well as feedback from 
the public and stakeholder groups. That evaluation and feedback led to the development of 
several program enhancement options that will require changes to relevant sections of the B.R.C. 
 
In addition to coordinating with the Parks and Recreation, Finance, Municipal Courts and the 
Police departments, OSMP and the OSBT have undergone an extensive process to review 
potential program enhancements and provide opportunities for community input. The process has 
included two community open houses, four OSBT study sessions, a study session with City 
Council and three public hearings where the OSBT took action on recommendations to City 
Council. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The enhancements to the program proposed by staff and resulting from City Council feedback at 
the public hearing on May 21, 2013 include the following Tag Program changes: 

1. Information Session: Required Tag Program participants to attend an information session 
ensuring greater awareness of the program requirements, goals and objectives. 

2. Proof of Rabies Vaccination: Required current rabies vaccination as a requirement for a 
dog’s participation in the Tag Program and require City of Boulder residents to provide a 
valid Boulder dog license as proof of vaccination and compliance with the city’s license 
requirement. 

3. Education and Outreach Strategies: Implement education and outreach strategies to 
encourage compliance with the program requirements and share information about how 
guardians can successfully manage dogs under voice and sight control. 

 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page     229

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/compendium-v-s-tag-program-evaluation-comments-1-201306110943.pdf�
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/compendium-v-s-tag-program-evaluation-comments-1-201306110943.pdf�


4. Modifications to Fines and Violations Causing Privilege Suspension: 
a. Increase fines for failure to have a voice and sight tag on an off-leash dog and for 

voice and sight and off-leash dog violations. 
b. Specify dog-related violations that contribute to the loss of Tag Program 

privileges including violations that cause suspension of privileges after one or two 
convictions. 

c. Clarify the process for reinstatement after privileges have been suspended. 
5. Participant Registration and Renewal Fees: Revise program fees including different fees 

for those residing outside of the City of Boulder and Boulder County and the addition of 
an annual renewal fee to cover program costs. 

 
Numbers 1, 2, 4, and 5 above require council action in the form of ordinance amendments to the 
B.R.C.  On May 21, 2013 council requested that staff provide those specific B.R.C. changes in a 
form from which council could make a final decision. Therefore, staff requests council approval 
of the following B.R.C. amendments summarized below and provided in detail in Attachment A. 
 
B.R.C. Section Recommendation 
4-20-60. Voice and Sight 
Control Evidence Tag 
Fees. 
 
 

• Changes program application fees to $13 for a City resident, 
$33 for a Boulder County resident outside the city, and $75 
for a resident outside Boulder County. 

• Adds a fee of $5 for each additional guardian and $10 for 
each additional dog and includes a provision for fees to be 
waived for those who meet income criteria consistent with 
the City of Boulder Food Tax Rebate Program or the Parks 
and Recreation Reduced Rate Program. 

• Annual renewal rates of $5 (city resident), $20 (county 
resident), and $30 (out of county). 

6-13-2 Voice and Sight 
Control Evidence Tag 
Required. 
 
 

• Increases maximum penalties to $100 (1st conviction), $200 
(2nd conviction), and minimum $300 (3rd conviction) within 
a two-year timeframe. 

• Allows for affirmative defense for first violation when lawful 
participant in the Tag Program inadvertently fails to display 
tag on their dog(s). 

6-13-4 Voice and Sight 
Control Evidence Tag 
Requirements. 
 
 

• Requires valid City of Boulder dog license for city residents, 
or proof of vaccinations for non-residents. 

• Requires attendance at an informational session for all 
guardians prior to applying for participation in the Tag 
Program and within the past five years for renewing 
participation. 

6-13-4.5 Terms of Voice 
and Sight Control 
Evidence Tag. 

• Establishes an annual renewal requirement and a December 
31, 2014 enrollment deadline for current tag program 
participants to comply with enhanced program requirements. 

6-13-5 Suspension and 
Reinstatement of Voice 
and Sight Control 
Evidence Tags Upon 

• Establishes immediate suspension of privileges after one 
conviction of any of the following violations: 

o Aggressive Animal Prohibited 
o Failure to Protect Wildlife (or Livestock) 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page     230



Violations. 
 
 

• Establishes suspension after 2nd conviction within two years 
for any of the following violations: 

o Title 8, Chapter3, Section 3 “City Manager May Issue 
Rules,” B.R.C. 1981, pertaining to dog management and 
specifically enacted for protection of wildlife and a dog 
off-leash in a leash-required or dog-prohibited area. 

o Title 6, Chapter 1, Section 16, "Dogs Running at Large 
Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981, pertaining to dogs running at 
large on OSMP or on other city lands where voice and 
sight control is allowed. Excludes violations for not having 
possession of a leash. 

• Revises reinstatement by removing requirement to repay 
application fee, continue requiring the reinstatement fee and 
successful completion of an evaluation test and adds the 
requirement to repeat attendance of the information session. 

• Establishes a minimum one-year suspension for continued 
violations of Title 6, Chapter 1, Section 16, “Dogs Running at 
Large Prohibited,” B.R.C. 1981,when privileges have already been 
suspended. 

6-1-16 Dogs Running at 
Large Prohibited. 
 
 

• Establishes, within a two-year timeframe maximum penalties 
of $100 (1st conviction), $200 (2nd conviction), and 
minimum of $300 (3rd conviction). 

• Establishes minimum $300 penalty for having dog off-leash 
while under suspension. 

• Includes violations of the City Manager’s rules that affect 
program privilege suspension so that staff can feasibly assess 
prior violations. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
 

A. Proposed  Ordinance  
B. Voice and Sight Tag Program Enhancement Timeline 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page     231



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page     232



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�'()*�*�+�*�#�,,,,,�

�

�*� �'()*�*�+� ��+*()*-� �+�.)�*�� $	��	 �/� 0
�)�+�
�*(� �)-1.� ��*.'�2� +
)(+*�+� .�-� 3++�/4�  	�	� /�
0(�-��'5**)*-��.�2�'-+��'�1)6).+(/4� 	��	�/�0
�)�+�
�*(��)-1.���*.'�2�+
)(+*�+�.�-�'+75)'+(/4� 	��	
$/� 
�)�+� �*(� �)-1.� ��*.'�2� +
)(+*�+� .�-�
'+75)'+�+*.�/4� �*(�  	��	%/� 0�5��+*�)�*� �*(�
'+)*�.�.+�+*.� �3� 
�)�+� �*(� �)-1.� ��*.'�2�
+
)(+*�+� .�-�� 5��*� 
)�2�.)�*�/4� 6#'#�#� �&"�/�
'+-�'()*-� 
�)�+� �*(� �)-1.� ��*.'�2� +
)(+*�+�
.�-��/��*(��+..)*-�3�'.1�'+2�.+(�(+.�)2�#�

�

6+� ).� �'(�)*+(� 68� .1+� �).8� ��5*�)2� �3� .1+� �).8� �3� 6�52(+'/�

��2�'�(���

��������#���������$	��	 �/�6#'#�#��&"�/������������������

4-20-60. Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Fees. 

����99�������:�����
����������������������+;�����.���������9�<����:����=������=<����
���<� ������� '>�� 9>��>���� ��� ������� "	�	�/� 0���<� ������� ��<� )��>� '>��/4� 6#'#�#�
�&"�#�?����������������:�������<��:�6�>����������9�<�����99���������:��:�@�%#��/�������
���������� ������ 9�<� ��� �99��������� :� �:� @�"#!%#� ����������� 
���� ���� ������ ��������
+;�����.������<�=�9��;�������9������?��������������������>�������������99�������
>9���9�<�����:����>9����������:��:�@%#��#�

A�=B� .�� �>99������� :� 9>��>���� ��� �������  	��	%/� C�>�9������ ���� '���������� �:�

���� ���� ������ �������� +;����� .����59��� 
���������/C� 6#'#�#� �&"�/� ������ =� @%�#��/�
����������:�������<#�

�

��������#��������� 	��	�/�6#'#�#��&"�/������������������

6-13-2 Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Required. 

A�B�)������������������������D>�������?��������E>��������:�������� 	�	� /�C(����'>���������
2���������=���/C�6#'#�#��&"�/���<������>�������?�����������������9��<�������?����>����

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page     233

fenic1
Typewritten Text

fenic1
Typewritten Text
7935



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

���������=<���9������������99�<�:��������=�������
����������������������+;�����.���
9>��>����������9����>��������E>����������=������=<���������9��#�

A=B���<������>�������?��������9�����������?����>�������������=<���9�������������>���>���
�������?�������;���=�<����9��<����>����/���?:>��<��=�������������9��<��
��������������
�������� +;����� .��� ��� ���� ����� ?��� ��� ���� ��� 9����� ��� �9�� �9��� ���� ��>������
9��F����<��:�6�>����������?���;�������������������������9�������>����������� 	�	� /�
C(����'>���������2���������=���/C�6#'#�#��&"�#�

A�B� .�� ���<� ������� ��<� 9���>����� �>������/� :����/� ��� ��:����������� ��������� ����� ���
������<���������=������������?������9�����������:���������9������������������;������#�

A�B� .�� ��G��>�� 9����<� :��� �� :����� ���;������� ��� �� :��� �:� @%�#�����#��#� 3��� �� ������
���;�������?�������?��<���/�=����>9�����������:����:�����;��������/������G��>��9����<�
������ =� �� :��� �:� @���#�����#��#� 3��� �� ������ ���� ���� �>=�E>��� ���;������/�?������ �?��
<����=����>9��� ��������:� ��� :�����;��������/� �����G��>�������>��9����<� ������=� ��
:����:��������������@���#��#���#��#�

AB�)���������::������;��:���������������:�;��������������������������������������>�������?��
�>�����<���������9������9�����������
����������������������9����������������������?���
����>������H��:�����;���������:����������9��<������
����������������������+;�����.��#�

�
��������#��������� 	��	$/�6#'#�#��&"�/������������������

6-13-4 Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag Requirements. 

A�B�6:�����
����������������������+;�����.���������=����>�/�����99�����������������:</�
>����9����<��:�9�D>�</����:����?����:������

A�B����;�����;��������<��:�6�>�������������/�����:�����99�������������������<��:�
6�>����������/�9��;���9���:��:��>�������=���;��������������9��;��������������
 	�	�/�0'�=���
�����������/4�6#'#�#��&"�/�:�����������=�����������I��

�
A�B�.���99�����������?������A��������������:�;��>���<���9����B���;������;���9���:�

�:���������/�?���������9�������:�;�<���/��:���9�������������;��������������
���������:������/�9�9����=<�������<�����9��;�����������99�������=<�������<��������
��������������I�����

A��B�����.���99�������������������������<����������9��<��������99�������?����>����
���������=<���9����������������9���9���������>������9��F����<��:�6�>����
������?���;�������������������������9�������>����������� 	�	� /�0(����
'>���������2���������=���/4�6#'#�#��&"�/������������������=��������;����
9�������������;�����������������������:���������������������?��������E>�������
�:����6�>����';�������#�

�

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page     234



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�������$#����9��� 	��/�6#'#�#��&"�/��������������������:����?������������

6-13-4.5 Terms of Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag.  

.��
����������������������+;������������>��>����������� 	��	$�������=�;�����:���������
�:������������<�������G9������(��=����#��'�?����:�
����������������������+;�����
.��������>=D���������:�����=������>�����������$	��	 �/�0
����������������������+;�����
.���3�4�6#'#�#��&"�#� �.���99��������������99�<�:��� ��?����:����
����������������������
+;�����.����������������3=�>��<����:����<�����������<��>����������<������?��������
������G9���#��
����������������������+;�����.�������>��9��������(��=����/������������
G9������(��=����/����$#�

�
�������%#��������� 	��	%/�6#'#�#��&"�/������������������

6-13-5 Revocation Suspension and Reinstatement of Voice and Sight Control Evidence 

Tags Upon Violations.

A�B 59��������������;�������:�����<�;����������:�������� 	�	� /�0(����'>���������2����
�����=����������� 	�	��/�0�������;�������������=���/4�6#'#�#��&"�/�����������"	�	%/�
03���>������������J�����:�A���2�;����FB/4�6#'#�#��&"�/����>���������������?���=<����
���<������������>�����9��F����������9���9��������?�������?��<�����:���������:����:�����
;��������/����������������9��<���<�
����������������������+;�����.���������=��>�9����
�>����������<#/�=>����<�=��������������>������:����?����9����>�����

A=B 59��������������;�������?�������?��<�����:���������:����:��������;�������:�����<��:�����
:����?����;���������/����������������9��<���<�
����������������������+;�����.���=<����
��������>�������������=��>�9�����>����������<��

A�B �������"	�	�/�0���<�������H��'>��/4�6#'#�#��&"�/�?������>���9��:�����<�
������:������9����������:�?�����:�9����=������������������������::�����I��

A�B �������"	�	�/�0���<�������H��'>��/4�6#'#�#��&"�/�?������>���9��:�����<�
������:������9����������:�?�����:����������������	�E>����������������������
�::�����I����

A�B ������� 	�	� /�C(����'>���������2���������=���/C�6#'#�#��&"�/����>����������9��
�9����������������������<�9��9�����?���
����������������������9��;��������
�>�����K��=<������������#���;����������:�������� 	�	� /�0(����'>���������2����
�����=���/4�6#'#�#��&"�/�=��������<������������9��<�����>����������F9������
��;���������������>���9����H��9��������/�����������=����>����:����>�9�������:�

����������������������9��;����#�

A$B �����:��������=<�����99�������:���������������������������������������������<�
���������9��<��������>�������?����>�������������=<���9����������������9��

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page     235



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�9���������>������9��F�������������������������=��������;����9�������������
;�����������������������:������#�

A�B�.��������������9��<���
����������������������+;�����.�����<�=��������������>������
:����?����9����>����

A�B���<�����:����>99�������:����=����������>=�������$	��	 �A=B/�=<����<��������
'>��9>��>��������������"	�	�/�0���<����������<�)��>�'>��/4�6#'#�#��&"�/����
���������������:�����=������=<�������� 	��	�/�0
����������������������+;�����
.����99��������/4�6#'#�#��&"�/�����9�����=��=<��>=�������$	��	 �A�B/�6#'#�#�
�&"�/�:���������������99���������A���������������������<�:������9����>����������� 	
�	� /�0(����'>���������2���������=���/4�����>=������� 	��	�A�B/�6#'#�#��&"�BI�

A�B����;������?������9���:��:������������������<��:�6�>���������������������������
���?�����:����;����9�������������;�����������������������:������I�

A�B����;������?������9���:��:������������������>����:>�����9�������:���;��������
��������������;��>����������:����������>����99��;��=<�������<��:�6�>���I�����

A$B�����:��������=<�����99�������:���������������������������������������������<�
���������9��<��������>�������?����>�������������=<���9������������������<��:�
6�>����������?���;�������������������������9�������>����������� 	�	� /�0(����
'>���������2���������=���/4�6#'#�#��&"�/ �����������������=��������
;���9�������������;�����������������������:������#�

A�B���<��>�������?�����������������
��������������.����>�9�����?����������<�������?���
���������>�9�������������=�������=��:��������������:�����9������:��������=�
������������������������>�������9��;��������:����9����	�/�07>���	L>�������1������/4�
6#'#�#��&"�#�

������� #��������� 	�	� /�6#'#�#��&"�/������������������

6-1-16 Dogs Running at Large Prohibited.  

A�B�*��9������?��������F9������<�����������:�������F9��������������9�������:����
�>����������F9��>����������������

A�B���������������=<���9����I����

A�B�J��������;����������������<�9�<������<����:��������?����>�����������9�����	=<#�
A=B�*��9������?��������F9������<�����������:�������F9����������������������=<���9�����

?��������<�����?������>��������=<�������<��������:������9����������:�?�����:�
9����=����������::�����#�

�
A�B�*��9������?��������F9������<�����������:�������F9����������:�������������<�����

?������>��������=<�������<��������:������9����������:�?�����:�������>�������>����
9����=��������#�

�

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page     236



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

A=�B�.����G��>��9����<�:�����:��������;������������:����:�@���#�3������������������;�������
?������ �?�� <���/� =���� ��� ���� �:� ;��������/� �����G��>�� 9����<� ������ =� � ��� �� :��� �:�
@�%��#��#�3��������������������>=�E>������;�������?�������?��<����=����>9����������
�:� ��� :����� ;��������/� ��� �����>�� 9����<� ������ =� �� :��� �:� ���� ���� ����� @���#��#� .��
�����>��:���:��������;�������>������������������:������>�������?������������
��������
������ .��� �>�9���� >���� �������  	��	%/� 0�>�9������ ���� '���������� �:� 
���� ����
������ �������� +;����� .����59���
���������/� 6#'#�#� �&"�� ������ =� @���#��#� ��� ������
9����<� 9��;������� �:� ������� %	�	$/� C-����� �������/C� 6#'#�#� �&"�/� ������ �99�<#� .��
��G��>��9����<�:�����:��������;����������>���������������?���=<�������<������������>�����
9��F����������9���9�������������:����:�@%�#��#�3��������������;�������?�������?��<���/�
=����>9�����������:�;��������/������G��>��9����<�������=���:����:�@���#��#�3�����������
���� ���� �>=�E>��� ���;������/� ��� ��G��>�� 9����<� ������ =� �� :��� �:� ���� ���� �����
@���#��#�

A�B�)���������::������;��:�� �������������:�;����������:�������������������������?����

A�B�������A�B��>������:�������9�������������:�������<I����

A6B��)�����������<��������?��������<��:����:����?������������������?���=<����
���<������������>�����9��F����������9���9���������

A�B�.����������G��=<����������*��#�$�  /�$� !/�$�!!/�$�!"/�$�!&/�
$�"�/�$�"�/�$�"�/�$�"�/�$�"$�����$%!!!I�

A��B�.��:����?����9���������:��9���9���������<�������������*�����
3���������.����/���������������������?�����������<M�������������::������
���������9/�?������>���������:����2�1����'����:�����99��G�����<�
�������?����:�6����?�<������>�����������������5#�#�� ����������
?�����=�?�����������:����:����2�1����'��������������?���������
���������������������=�>����<��:�����������G��=<����������
*��#�$�$������$� �/����/�����������:����������:�����/�����������������
����>�����:��?����:��������������G���������������������������
������=�>����<�:����:������������G��=<����������*��#�$�$�/�
$�$!/�$� ������$� $/����������>������������?����������>�����:��
�������<��:��������������������������?��������D>���>��?����5#�#�� I�

A���B�.��9�����:�1>��������F��������>�������>���<������������	�������:�
���9��F������<����?����:����=����:�������9�����������?����:����
9������������������������:���������/�����:����=<��������������F���
�����=<�������<��������������������������;����A����:�������
������� 	�	��C(:��������/C�6#'#�#��&"�B����������������������I�

A�;B���9������:���������������������>������?��<�����/�����������/����
���������/�.���'!�J��:���� ����#�#/���������=�����������
�������3=�>��<��"/��&!�/������9������>�=���%%&$ /�6�>����
��>��<�������#������9���������������<�F��?�����C*��'����FC�����
�����������:�6�����F/������:����*����	��>������������:������
���������/�����?����:����?�����=�>����<��:����*�������������:���

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 11Packet Page     237



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�����9�����'������9��9��<I�������9��������:����9������������<�
F��?�����C6�������C������=���������+�N��:����*+�O��:���������/�
.���'!�J��:���� ����#�#��<�����>��������=�>����<��:����>��>E>��
���F#������9�������������=��������������������<�%/��"&"/����
6��F��� /������$/�6�>������>��<��������������?������9��������:����
9������������<�F��?�����C�>����	'>����C������=��������������
9��������:����J�N��:����*+�O��:���������/�.���'!�J��:���� ���
�#�#/������=�������������������9������/��&��/����6��F��!�/�����
$�/�6�>������>��<�������/��������?������������<���������:�6�>���/�
��������I�������9������:��������������������+�O��:����*J�O��:�
��������%/�.���'!�J��:���� ����#�#/���������=�����������
�����������=����/��&&%/������9������>�=����%%$�&!/�6�>����
��>��<�������#������9���������������<�F��?�����C�;����(�<�
��;�����C�������?������9������:��������������������+�O��:����*J�O�
�:���������%/�.���'!�J��:���� ����#�#/���������=�����������
�������������&/�����/������9������>�=����� �%�/�6�>������>��<�
������#������9���������������<�F��?�����C����>���<�1��9����C�
������?������9��������:���9������������<�F��?�����C6�>����
��������1��9����C������=����������9�����:����*�N��:����*J�O��:�
����J�O��:���������%/�.���'!�J��:���� ����#�#/��������*��:�
��>��<�'����%��A�>������'���B���������>�����2����%/�6���F���/�
��>�����������1�������>=��;�����/�����������������6�>������>��<�
������I������>�����(/����������'������G/���9�����:����*J�O��:�
��������!/�.���'!�J��:���� ����#�#/�������?�����9�����������L>�<�
��/��&!!/���������3����	 	3	�	��/������9������>�=�������$/�:����
& &/�6�>������>��<�������I�������9������:��������������������+�O�
�:����*+�O��:����*J�O��:��������� /�.�*�'!�J��:���� ����#�#/����
�����=�������������������9��=����/��&&�/������9�����
�>�=����� �&%�/�6�>������>��<�������#������9���������������<�
F��?�����C��#�-�����C�������?������9��������:���9������������<�
F��?�����C����/�����P�(�����C������=�����������������9��������:�
��9�����������*+�O��:��������� /�.�*�'!�J��:���� ����#�#/�
�����=�������������������9�����!/��&"!/������9������>�=��
��"$��$&/�6�>������>��<�������/��������?������������<���������:�
6�>���/���������#������9���������:����������C������"C�������?������
9��������:���9������������<�F��?�����C����/�����P�(�����C�
�����=���������������9��������:���9������������������*+�O��:�
�������� /�.�*�'!�J��:���� ����#�#/������=������������������
�9����"/��&" /������9������>�=����!%���&/�6�>������>��<�������/�
�������?������������<���������:�6�>���/���������#������9��������
�:����������C������!C�������?������9��������:���9������������<�
F��?�����C�;����FC������=���������������9��������:�.������$�!�
����$�"�������?��������6�>������>��<���������9�������9�:���
�������� /�.�*�'!�J��:���� ����#�#/��������?������������<���������:�
6�>���/���������I�

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 12Packet Page     238



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

A;B���9��������:���9������:�������������<�F��?��������C*��'�����
���C������=������������������J��� %�M��:����*������ �M��:����+�N�
�:����*+�O��:����������/�.���'!�J��:���� ����#�#/��������������
���*������ �M��:����J�N��:����*+�O��:����������/�.���'!�J��:����
 ����#�#����������9������������=������������������3=�>��<��"/�
�&!�/������9������>�=��%%&$ /�6�>������>��<�������#�������������
��������������������������:�����F>�F����<���.����/��������:��F>�F�
��FI����

A;�B���9��������:���9������:�������������<�F��?�����C6>�F�))/C�
�����=�������9��������:����+�N��:�����J�O��:���������$/�.�*�
'!�J��:���� ����#�#/���������=������������������3=�>��<� /�
�&"�/������9������>�=�����"�!" /�6�>������>��<�������I�����

A�B�)���������?�������������=��9�����=<�������<������������E>���������I�����

A�B������9�����=<����>����������F9�/�9��;��������������������

A�B��J������;�����������������������:��>���9����I�����

A6B��
���=�<�?��������
����������������������+;�����.������������=��
��?:>��<��=������9>��>����������9��� 	��/�C
����������������������
+;�����.���/C�6#'#�#��&"�I�����

A$B�.�������9��<�����>����������F9�����������������>���9����M����������
9���������������������������=�������������������?����>��>��>����<#�

A%B�.�����::������;��:�����������99����=���:���������9��<�����>����������F9������
����������?����������>�����>��<�>����������>���������#�

�
�������!#��.����������������������<����9���������9>=���������/���:�</�����?�:����:�

������������:�������</�������;�����������:�������������#�

�������"#��.�����<���>�������������99��9������������������������=�9>=������=<������

���<������������������9����:���������������=������;����=���������::����:�������<����F�:���

9>=�������9������������E>�������#�

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 13Packet Page     239



�

���������	
���������������������������������������������������������	� !"#���� � �

��

��

��

$�

%�

 �

!�

"�

&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

�!�

�"�

�&�

���

���

���

���

�$�

�%�

� �

)*.'�(5�+(/� '+�(� �*� 3)'�.� '+�()*-/� �*(� �'(+'+(� �562)�1+(� 68�

.).2+��*28������,,,,���<��:�,,,,,,,,,,/���,,#�

�
�

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,�
��<���

�������
�
�
�
���<����F�
�

'+�(� �*� �+��*(� '+�()*-/� ����+(/� �(��.+(/� �*(� �'(+'+(�

�562)�1+(�68�.).2+��*28������,,,,,���<��:�,,,,,,,,,/���,,#�

�

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,�
��<���

�������
�
�
�
���<����F�
�

ATTACHMENT A 
V&S ORDINANCE

Agenda Item 3F     Page 14Packet Page     240



Sept July — Dec.  Jan.— June 

City Council  
Meeting  

OSBT 
 Meeting 

OSBT 
 Meeting 

OSBT 
Study 

Session 

Voice and Sight Tag Program Enhancement Timeline 
 

OSBT 
 Meeting 

Jan.— March  April — Aug.  

2012 —2013 

  

 
 

 
City Council  

Study Session 

  

OSBT 
 Meeting 

OSBT 
Study 

Session 

OSBT 
Study 

Session 

 

 

Open 
Houses 

PRAB 
Update  

2013 

PRAB 
Meeting 

 
 

2012 

 

City Council 
Meetings  

(ordinance changes)  

 

 

City Council  
Information 

 Packet 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3F     Page 15Packet Page     241



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 16Packet Page     242



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 17, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published, by title only, 
an ordinance adopting the Intergovernmental Agreement with Boulder County for 
Hazardous Materials Management.  
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
Bret Linenfelser, Water Quality and Environmental Services Manager 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this agenda item is for City Council to consider approving Ordinance 
XXXX (Attachment A), an update to the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) between 
the City of Boulder and Boulder County for Hazardous Materials Management 
(Attachment B). 
 
In March 2005, City Council met with Boulder County Commissioners and agreed to 
contribute $400,000 to the construction of the new Hazardous Materials Management 
(HMM) facility, in addition to the city’s annual operating expense contribution.  The new 
HMM facility was proposed to provide disposal and recycling services focusing on 
appropriate management and disposal of household hazardous wastes and hazardous 
wastes generated by businesses that are defined by the State of Colorado as 
“conditionally-exempt small quantity generators” (CESQG). 
 
Boulder County completed construction of a new HMM facility in 2011, located at 1901 
63rd St., in Boulder, replacing the old facility formally located at the Western Disposal 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page     243



transfer station in Boulder.  The proposed IGA between the City of Boulder (city) and 
Boulder County effective Jan. 1, 2014 through Dec. 31, 2018, replaces the existing IGA 
for hazardous materials collection and management, which expires Dec. 31, 2013.  The 
new IGA includes a $20,000 per year payment towards the city’s $400,000 portion of the 
new HMM facility construction cost, plus annual operating fees, which are based on 
facility usage by city residents and businesses.  The IGA assures city residents and 
businesses have a long-term option for the proper disposal of hazardous materials. 
 
The Boulder County HMM IGA also includes the following entities:  City and County of 
Broomfield; cities of Lafayette, Longmont and Louisville; and, the towns of Erie and 
Superior.  A cost breakdown by each entity is provided in the IGA (Attachment B). 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to order published, by title only, an ordinance adopting the Intergovernmental 
Agreement with Boulder County for Hazardous Materials Management, dated XX, 2013 
(Attachment A). 
 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 

• Economic - The HMM facility provides residents a free disposal option to 
properly dispose of hazardous materials and provides a low-cost alternative for 
CESQG businesses that would otherwise be required to contract with a special 
waste hauler at a higher cost. 

 
• Environmental – The HMM facility provides an opportunity for, and encourages, 

proper disposal of hazardous wastes by residents and local businesses.  Proper 
management of hazardous wastes reduces or eliminates the potential for 
environmental contamination from improper hazardous materials disposal and 
minimizes risks to the public, wildlife and aquatic systems.  Participation in 
funding the HMM facility also supports regulatory compliance requirements 
within the city’s State of Colorado issued Municipal Separate Storm Sewer 
System (MS4) stormwater permit. 

 
• Social – The new HMM facility has improved customer service through 

additional hours and days of operation and a more efficient hazardous materials 
drop-off process.  Additional focus on education, such as waste reduction 
methods and alternative, less toxic, products, provides the public and businesses 
with free educational materials and resources. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page     244



 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal – The city contributes $20,000 annually towards the city’s $400,000 
portion of new HMM facility construction cost.  This payment began in 
December 2009 and will terminate after 20 years.  The city also pays an annual 
fee for the operation and maintenance of the HMM facility.  For 2013, the city’s 
portion of the annual HMM facility operation and maintenance cost is $258,830.  
This cost is covered by $1,800 from the General Fund (through LEAD) with the 
remainder split between the Wastewater Utility and Stormwater Utility. 

 
• Staff time – No additional staff resources are required. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The HMM IGA has not been presented to any city boards. 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
There is not public feedback to date. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In 1994, Boulder County started operating the Household Hazardous Waste Facility 
(HHWF), which was located at the Western Disposal transfer station in Boulder.  The 
facility was originally built by Boulder County and operating costs were funded through 
an IGA with multiple cities and towns in Boulder County, as well as Broomfield.  Under 
the IGA, each city and town, and Broomfield, paid for operational costs based on use.  
 
Since 1994, HHWF use increased substantially and the facility became too small to 
operate effectively.  In 2002, Boulder County initiated conversations about the concept of 
building a new, expanded facility that would serve the county into the future.  In March 
2005, City Council and Boulder County Commissioners held a joint study session to 
discuss the $1.7 million estimated construction cost for the new facility and options for 
paying for the facility.  From this study session, council agreed to contribute $400,000 
towards the cost of the new facility, with payments to be equally spread out over 20 years 
($20,000/year), with no interest.  The city also agreed to pay for operation and 
maintenance costs for the new facility, based on use by city residents and businesses.  
The current IGA, which was initiated in January 2009, expires Dec. 31, 2013. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The current HMM facility is a state of the art facility for disposal and recycling of a 
broad range of hazardous materials from residents and businesses.  Boulder County 
considers the HMM facility a “safe, convenient place where county residents and 
businesses can dispose of hazardous wastes and, further, to provide for the safe and 
environmentally sound recycling and disposal of these wastes.” 
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page     245



By jointly funding the construction and operation of the HMM facility, through an IGA, 
communities in Boulder County, and Broomfield City and County, can more cost 
effectively provide options to both residential households and local businesses for 
hazardous materials disposal.  This joint agreement assists in achieving the following 
goals, which are outlined in the IGA (Attachment B): 
 

• Protect public health and the environment from the consequences of improper 
storage and disposal of hazardous wastes; 

• Promote an environmentally knowledgeable and concerned public and business 
community; 

• Promote a multi-jurisdictional hazardous materials management collection 
program; 

• Solicit community support; and 
• Encourage the purchase and use of less toxic or harmful products, encourage 

waste minimization and promote reuse and recycling. 
 
The HMM facility continues to expand the type and quality of wastes it accepts and now 
accepts business waste from CESQG businesses for a fee.  City residents, with valid 
identification, can drop off household hazardous wastes at the facility at no charge. 
 
If adopted, the new IGA would become effective Jan. 1, 2014 and expire Dec. 31, 2018.  
As with the current IGA, the city funds the operation and maintenance of the HMM 
facility based the level of participation from city residents, which can vary each year, and 
revenue generated from CESQG businesses.  In a joint effort between Boulder County 
and each IGA entity, the HMM annual operation and maintenance budget is developed 
annually.  The annual HMM facility budget is approved each year by City Council as part 
of the Utilities and LEAD budget process.  Funding for 2014 is included in the draft 2014 
budget. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
 
Attachment A:  ORDINANCE XXXX 
Attachment B:  INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR HAZARDOUS 
MATERIALS MANAGEMENT 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page     246



 

K:\CMEN\Ordinance for IGA re mulit-year HMM-382.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BOULDER COUNTY; THE CITY 
AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD; THE CITIES OF 
BOULDER, LAFAYETTE, LONGMONT AND LOUISVILLE; 
AND THE TOWNS OF ERIE AND SUPERIOR, RELATING TO 
THE MANAGEMENT OF HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The City Council adopts and approves the intergovernmental agreement, 

entitled, “Multi-year HMM IGA Intergovernmental Agreement for Hazardous Materials 

Management,” effective January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2018,  attached as Exhibit A and 

incorporated by this reference. 

 Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern.  

 Section 3.  The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

  

 

 

 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page     247



 

K:\CMEN\Ordinance for IGA re mulit-year HMM-382.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of September, 2013. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 20__. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page     248



 1  

 
Multi-year HMM IGA 2014 to 2018 

 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR 
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS MANAGEMENT  

 
This Intergovernmental Agreement for Hazardous Materials Management (this “Agreement”)  is 

made and entered into this _____ day of _________, ______ by and between BOULDER COUNTY, a 
body politic and corporate (referred to hereinafter as the “County”), the CITY AND COUNTY OF 
BROOMFIELD and the cities of BOULDER, LAFAYETTE, LONGMONT and LOUISVILLE, and the 
towns of ERIE and SUPERIOR; each a municipal corporation (each of the above may be referred to 
hereinafter as a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties.”)   The City and County of Broomfield and the 
cities and towns may also be referred to hereinafter individually as a “Municipality” or jointly as the 
“Municipalities”.  

 
WHEREAS, the Parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to C.R.S. §29-1-201 

et seq.; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Parties wish to encourage proper disposal of household hazardous wastes and 

hazardous wastes generated by businesses that are defined by the State of Colorado as “conditionally-
exempt small quantity generators” (hereinafter “CESQGs”), and increase public awareness of the 
importance of waste avoidance, waste reduction, and sound waste management practices in protecting 
public health and the environment, particularly water quality; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County has initiated a hazardous materials management program (hereinafter the 
“HMM Program”) to provide a safe, convenient place where residents and businesses of the County can 
dispose of Hazardous Wastes and, further, to provide for the safe and environmentally sound recycling 
and disposal of these wastes; and 

 
WHEREAS, significant cost, organizational and promotional efficiencies can be realized if the 

HMM Program is implemented jointly by the Parties; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Parties have determined it is in the best interest of their residents and businesses, 
and a recognized common goal, to provide for the conduct of a coordinated HMM Program; and 

 
WHEREAS, the goals of this Agreement are: 

 
1. To protect public health and the environment from the consequences of improper storage 

and disposal of Hazardous Wastes as defined below; 
2. To promote an environmentally knowledgeable and concerned public and business 

community; 
3. To promote a multi-jurisdictional hazardous materials management collection program; 
4. To solicit community support; and 
5. To encourage the purchase and use of less toxic or harmful products, encourage waste 

minimization and promote reuse and recycling; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Parties wish to enter into a multi-year intergovernmental agreement for the operation of 
the hazardous materials management facility (the “HMM Facility”) located at 1901 63rd Street, Building 
C. Boulder, CO 80301, and the HMM Program.    
 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 7Packet Page     249



 2  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and commitments made herein, 
the Parties agree as follows: 
 

I.  DEFINITIONS 
 
A. For the purposes of this IGA, the “Town of Erie” refers to the entire Town of Erie, and is not 
limited to the portions of the Town of Erie that are located in Boulder County. 
 
B. CESQG BUSINESS WASTES are hazardous wastes generated by businesses that meet the 
definition of “Conditionally-Exempt Small Quantity Generators” as defined by State of Colorado 
Hazardous Waste Regulations, 6CCR-1007-3. Colorado regulations are congruent with Federal 
Regulations with respect to CESQG status. CESQG businesses generate hazardous waste in amounts 
below state and federal regulatory thresholds. As of the date of this Agreement, these thresholds are: 
 

1. A monthly hazardous waste generation rate of less than 1 kilogram (approximately 1 
quart) of acutely hazardous waste  
2. A monthly hazardous waste generation rate of less than 100 kilograms or 220 lbs of 
hazardous wastes (approximately ½ of a 55 gallon drum or about 27 gallons)  
3. A maximum accumulation of less than 1 kilogram hazardous waste (approximately 1 
quart) of acutely hazardous waste 
4. A maximum accumulation of less than 1000 kilograms or 2,200 pounds of hazardous 
waste (approximately 5, 55 gallon drums)  

 
C.  HAZARDOUS WASTE CONTRACTOR shall mean the entity(s) selected and employed by the 
County to categorize, package, transport, recycle, treat or dispose of selected Household Hazardous 
Wastes collected by the HMM Program. 
 
D.  HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTES are solid and liquid wastes, discarded from homes or 
similar sources (including single and multiple residences) that are best described by lists of hazardous 
wastes in federal or state regulations.  Household hazardous wastes may also exhibit the characteristics of 
toxicity, ignitability, corrosivity or reactivity as described in those rules. Household hazardous wastes are 
not currently regulated by either the federal or state government.  Products that may be considered 
household hazardous wastes include many pesticides and herbicides; drain openers; oven cleaners; paint 
thinners, strippers and removers; adhesives; wood preservatives; automotive and fuel additives; grease 
and rust solvents; refrigerants; carburetor cleaners; and other products.  Although waste paint and motor 
oil are not usually considered hazardous wastes under current federal or state regulations, they are 
included as household hazardous wastes for purposes of the HMM Program because of their ubiquity in 
the waste stream and the toxicity of some of their constituents. 

 
E.  HAZARDOUS WASTES, as used in this Agreement refers collectively to Household Hazardous 
Wastes and CESQG Business Wastes, and includes Universal Wastes (excluding electronic wastes as 
these are not accepted by the HMM Facility), Used Oil, Recyclable Wastes, and Non-Hazardous Liquid 
Wastes.  
 
F. NON-HAZARDOUS LIQUID WASTES as used in this Agreement refers to latex paints, water-
based paint products, non-hazardous cleaners, and cooking oil.   
 
G. NON-HAZARDOUS LIQUID WASTE CONTRACTOR shall mean an entity selected and 
employed by the County to receive and dispose of Non-Hazardous Liquid Wastes collected by the HMM 
Program. 
 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 8Packet Page     250



 3  

H. PROGRAM SERVICE AREA, as used in this Agreement refers to the geographic area 
encompassing Boulder County, Broomfield City and County, and the Town of Erie.  

 
I. RECYCLABLE WASTES as used in this Agreement refers to wastes that may or may not be 
Universal Wastes that can be recycled, including antifreeze, lead-acid batteries, and used oil.  
 
J. RECYCLING CONTRACTOR shall mean an entity selected and employed by the County to 
receive and recycle Recyclable Wastes collected by the HMM Program. 

 
K. WASTE CONTRACTOR shall mean an entity selected and employed by the County to receive 
non-hazardous, solid wastes collected by the HMM Program and transport to a landfill for disposal. 
 
L. UNIVERSAL WASTE is as defined in 6 CCR 1007-3, Part 273 and shall mean waste batteries 
(except lead acid batteries), certain pesticides, mercury-containing devices, aerosol cans that contain 
hazardous waste when discarded, lamps or the bulb or tube portion of an electric lighting device, 
electronic devices and components derived from the disassembly of electronic devices.   
 
M. USED OIL is as defined in 6 CCR 1007-3, section 279.1. and shall mean any oil that has been 
refined from crude oil, or any synthetic oil that has been used, and as a result of such use, is contaminated 
by physical or chemical impurities.  
 

 
II. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

 
A.   The membership of the Hazardous Materials Management Committee (the HMM Committee) 
shall be comprised of one or more designated staff members from each of the Parties. 

 
B. The HMM Committee shall act by consensus to provide guidance to County staff concerning 
decisions that affect the operations of the HMM Facility, the development and use of educational outreach 
materials and the operating budget of the HMM Program, including decisions regarding the expenditure 
of funds for outreach and education, future expansion and replacement of the HMM Facility, hours of 
operation, the acceptance of new materials, and the assessing of future business surcharges.  
 

III.  PROGRAM DESCRIPTION 
 
A. The Parties enter into this Agreement for the primary purpose of funding the HMM program to 
collect and recycle and/or appropriately dispose of Hazardous Wastes generated by residents and 
businesses in the Program Service Area. The County shall employ trained personnel to manage and 
operate the HMM Facility. Such operation shall include, at a minimum, providing residential drop-off 
four days per week and business drop-off by appointment.  
 
B. A Hazardous Waste Contractor(s) shall be employed to assist the County HMM Facility staff to 
categorize and package hazardous wastes and to transport and properly dispose of the Hazardous Wastes 
collected at the HMM Facility. A Non-Hazardous Liquid Waste Contractor(s) shall be employed by the 
County to receive and dispose of Non-Hazardous Liquid Wastes collected by the HMM Program. A 
Recycling Contractor(s) shall be employed by the County to receive and recycle Recyclable Wastes 
collected by the HMM Program. A Waste Contractor(s) shall be employed by the County to receive and 
dispose of non-hazardous, solid wastes collected by the HMM Program. 
 
C.  Waste from CESQG businesses may be processed at the HMM Facility subject to the business 
paying for the cost of waste handling, including any additional handling or labor changes if applicable, 
plus surcharges set by the County for operating costs (30% of waste management costs) and construction 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 9Packet Page     251



 4  

costs (40% of waste management costs), and future equipment and facility replacement or expansion 
(10% of waste management costs) (collectively “Surcharges”).  
 
D.  The HMM Program can also assist CESQG Businesses by arranging for the HMM Program’s 
Hazardous Waste Contractor(s), Non-Hazardous Liquid Waste Contractor(s) or Recycling Contractor(s) 
to pack and ship Hazardous Waste directly from the business location, subject to the business paying for 
the cost of waste handling, including any additional handling or labor changes if applicable, plus a 
surcharge for operating costs (30% of waste management costs).  Surcharges for construction, and for 
future equipment and facility replacement or expansion are not applied to direct ship loads.  
 
E.  CESQG Business Waste generated by the County or one of the Municipalities may be received at 
the HMM Facility, or directly shipped from the County or a Municipality to the processing facility if the 
the County or Municipality pays the cost of processing, including any additional handling or labor 
changes if applicable. No Surcharges shall be applied to Hazardous Waste generated by the Parties.   
 
F.  Future changes to the Surcharges will be determined by written agreement of the Parties.   
 
G.  Any Municipality may request that the HMM Program assist with the planning and 
implementation of special one-day collection events. The HMM Program will provide assistance with 
events, subject to the Municipality agreeing to reimburse the HMM Program for all costs incurred with 
the event, including staff time, temporary labor, supplies, Hazardous Waste disposal, etc. 
 
H. Any Municipality wishing to implement a more frequent satellite collection program (periodic or 
regular events during the year) in its community may contract for satellite collection program services 
separately with a contractor of its choice, or work with the HMM Program subject to approval by Boulder 
County.  The HMM Program will provide assistance with community satellite collection programs, 
subject to the Municipality agreeing to reimburse the HMM Program for all costs incurred with the 
satellite collection, including staff time, temporary labor, supplies, Hazardous Waste disposal, etc. 
 
I. In the event of a man-made or natural disaster occurring within the geographic limits of one or 
more of the Municipalities, the HMM Program will assist the Municipality(s), as practicable, with the 
collection and disposal of Hazardous Wastes resulting from the disaster.  Such assistance may include 
setting up temporary collection areas for Hazardous Wastes.  The HMM Program will provide disaster-
related assistance subject to the Municipality agreeing to reimburse the HMM Program for all costs 
incurred for such assistance to the Municipality, including staff time, temporary labor, supplies, waste 
disposal, etc. 
 
 

IV.  DISPOSAL AND RECYCLING SERVICES 
 
A.   The County shall contract with one or more companies for Hazardous Waste collection, recycling 
or disposal services.  Specific responsibilities and performance requirements of these Contractors shall be 
included in separate contracts with the County.  These agreements shall include indemnification of the 
Municipalities, and are available to the HMM Committee upon request. The County shall provide its 
Hazardous Waste Contractor(s) with a copy of this Agreement.  
 
B.        The Parties understand and agree that the Boulder County Administrative Services Department, 
Resource Conservation Division, will administer Hazardous Waste disposal and recycling contracts for 
the HMM Program on behalf of all Parties. The County assumes responsibility for the negligent actions 
and/or omissions of its agents and its employees in the performance or failure to perform with respect to 
management and operations affecting the HMM Program and the HMM Facility.  Except as set forth in 
Section II, above, the Parties disclaim the right to be involved in management or operational decisions 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 10Packet Page     252



 5  

affecting the HMM Facility, and rely on the expertise of the County and the County's Hazardous Waste, 
Waste and Recycling Contractor(s) for such purposes, however, the zoning and land use decisions by a 
Municipality with jurisdiction over the HMM Facility are not disclaimed. 
 
C. By entering into this Agreement, neither the County nor the Municipalities waive or intend to 
waive, as to any person not a Party to this Agreement, the monetary limitations or any other rights, 
immunities, and protections which are provided to the County and the Municipalities under the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act, Section 24-10-101 et.seq., C.R.S. 
 
D. Any information or materials developed by the HMM Program, Hazardous Waste, Waste or 
Recycling Contractors shall be made available to all Parties through the HMM Committee. 
 

V. RESIDENTIAL OPERATING COSTS 
 
A. The cost of providing residential Household Hazardous Waste collection services at the HMM 
Facility is estimated each year based upon historic use and growth rates in residential participation and on 
unit costs per household. Residential costs include labor, operating supplies and packing materials, 
transportation, recycling and/or disposal and education materials, minus revenues for the sale of 
recyclable materials (lead-acid batteries, motor oil), CESQG Business Waste handling fees or operational 
surcharges, collection event reimbursements, donations, and any other deductions.  It is the intention of 
the Parties that each Municipality will fund a pro-rated share of quarterly residential program costs based 
on the number of residents from each Municipality that use the HMM Facility each quarter.   
 
B.  During the term of this Agreement, the County Administrative Services Department, Resource 
Conservation Division, will provide HMM Committee members with a budget projection for the 
following year substantially in the form attached hereto as Attachment A. The projection will estimate the 
amount of each Party’s contribution for the following year. Budget projections for the following year will 
be provided to each Party on or before May 1 of the preceding year for each year this Agreement is in 
effect.  This budget shall become final unless any Party objects by June 30th of the preceding year.  
 
C. During each year this Agreement is in effect, the County Administrative Services Department, 
Resource Conservation Division, will supply regular information on participation levels in each 
community and actual operating costs, and will make best efforts to ensure that operating costs are not 
incurred above the agreed-upon estimate without prior approval from the affected Municipality. 
 
D. After all program expenses through each quarter of the current year have accrued (or have been 
estimated for the month of December only), the County shall calculate the share of costs for each Party as 
follows:  
 

Each Party’s contribution for the quarter = actual program costs for the quarter, 
plus estimated program costs for December only if applicable, minus any 
deductions as described in VI A. above,, for the quarter, multiplied by the actual 
residential percentage participation for the County or Municipality for the quarter 
based on the HMM Program’s customer database. 
  

The share of costs for the first quarter of the following year will include an adjustment to reconcile 
estimated versus actual expenses for the previous December.  
 
E. Each Party pledges to appropriate funds for its pro-rated share of operating expenses as specified 
in this Section V and annual budget projections, but no Party shall be liable for any such amounts unless 
and until the governing body of such Party has appropriated funds pursuant to this Agreement.  However, 
each Party shall be liable for payment of monies so appropriated, and any of the remaining Parties may 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 11Packet Page     253



 6  

take any action appropriate to compel payment of appropriated funds.  When subsequent year budgets are 
available for years 2015-2018, each Municipality shall consider the appropriation of funds. 
 
F. If, during any year this Agreement is in effect, either the community participation level in a 
community is expected to exceed projections, thereby raising the Party’s percentage of contribution, or 
operating costs for the HMM Facility will exceed the original estimates such that a Party’s obligation for 
operating expenses during the calendar year will exceed the amount appropriated for such year, the Party 
affected by such increase may take either of the following actions or some combination thereof: 
 

1. The Party may appropriate additional funds to support such additional participation by its 
residents. 

2. The Party may choose not to appropriate additional funds and request that the County 
restrict use by its residents so as not to exceed the funding appropriated. 

 
G. In the event that HMM Program operating costs are expected to be higher than anticipated, the 
HMM Committee may recommend appropriate action to help reduce the costs of operating of the HMM 
Facility, such as recommending that Boulder County staff reduce the hours of operation.  
 
H. In the event that one or more of the Parties fails to contribute its share of costs, and in a manner 
consistent with this Agreement, the Party in default will refrain from further participation in the HMM 
Program, its residents will not be permitted to bring Hazardous Wastes to the HMM Facility and its rights 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be suspended, but the terms and obligations of this Agreement will 
continue for the remaining Parties, and any of the remaining Parties may take appropriate action to 
enforce this Agreement. 
 
I. In the event that one or more Municipalities fail to ratify this Agreement or initially ratify this 
Agreement and thereafter default, the remaining Parties reserve the right, following suspension of the 
Party or Parties in default, to re-estimate the cost of the HMM Program in consultation with the 
Hazardous Waste, Waste and Recycling Contractors and to adjust each Party's funding allocation on a 
pro-rated basis to total 100% of the revised cost. 
 
J. If this Agreement is extended beyond 2018, the HMM Committee shall consider past usage of 
each participating community to evaluate methods of pro-rating costs, and make recommendations to the 
Parties.  
  

VI.  PAYMENT OF ANNUAL OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
A. The County will be the paying agent for the HMM Program and Facility. 
 
B. The County will request payment of each Party’s contribution to HMM Program costs based on 
the participation by households of each Party, on a quarterly basis. Contributions will be based on the 
previous quarter’s operation.  Each Municipality will pay its contribution within 30 days of billing. 
 
C. Each Municipality’s payment obligations hereunder are subject to and limited by the 
appropriation of sufficient funds for each year this Agreement is in effect.   
 

 
VII. FUNDING FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE HAZARDOUS MATERIALS MANAGEMENT 

FACILITY 
 
A.  Boulder County finished construction of the HMM Facility in 2011 on County-owned property 
located at 1901 63rd Street, Boulder, the same site occupied by the Boulder County Recycling Center. The 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 12Packet Page     254



 7  

original Parties to this Agreement contributed to the construction costs. In addition, funds for construction 
were allocated from the Boulder County Sales and Use Tax Fund, and the Parties estimated that future 
business surcharges would help to fund the project. The Parties also agreed to fund equipment and start-
up costs over ten years beginning in 2011. The breakdown of contributions was as follows:  
 

Contributor 
Contribution to 
construction expense 

Estimated 
Contribution to 
equipment and start-
up expense **** TOTAL  

Boulder County $864,020* $42,734 $906,754 

City of Boulder $400,000** $68,888 $468,888 

City and County of 
Broomfield $22,800* $6,319 $29,119 

Town of Erie $10,720*** $3,501 $14,221 

City of Lafayette $33,200* $10,494 $43,694 

City of Longmont $58,880* $11,780 70,660 

City of Louisville $43,920* * $8,992 $52,912 

Town of Superior $14,880* $2,292 $17,172 
County Recycling Sales 
and Use Tax Fund $762,500 NA $762,500 
Future businesses 
surcharges $189,080 NA $189,080 
Total $2,400,000 155,000 2,555,000 
         
             
*One-time contribution 
** Paid over 20 years, interest free 
*** Paid over 5 years, interest free 
**** Paid over 10 years, interest free, based on previous year’s percentage participation  
 
B. The City of Boulder will pay the County Recycling Sales and Use Tax Fund equal payments of 
Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000) per year for twenty (20) years, beginning by December 31, 2009, 
and thereafter by December 31st each year through and including 2028.  The City of Boulder’s payment 
obligations hereunder are subject to and limited by the appropriation of sufficient funds by the Boulder 
City Council for each year including but not limited to those years that this Agreement is in effect.   

 
C. The City of Louisville will pay the County Recycling Sales and Use Tax Fund equal payments of 
Two Thousand One Hundred Ninety-Six Dollars ($2,196) per year for twenty (20) years, beginning 
December 31, 2009, and thereafter by December 31st each year through and including December 31, 
2028.  The City of Louisville’s payment obligations hereunder are subject to and limited by the 
appropriation of sufficient funds by the Louisville City Council for each year including but not limited to 
those years that this Agreement is in effect.   
 
D. In the event that a Party to this Agreement fails to contribute its share of costs, and in a manner 

consistent with this Agreement, the Party in default will refrain from further participation in the HMM 
Program, its residents will not be permitted to bring Household Hazardous Wastes to the HMM Facility, 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 13Packet Page     255



 8  

and its rights pursuant to this Agreement shall be suspended, but the terms and obligations of this 
Agreement will continue as to the remaining Parties, and any of the remaining Parties may take 
appropriate action to enforce this Agreement. 

 
VIII.           FUTURE FACILITY REPLACEMENT OR EXPANSION 

  
A. The HMM Facility is expected to serve the needs of Boulder County for the next twenty years 
and beyond. In anticipation of future equipment needs, or facility expansion or replacement needs, the 
Parties each agree, subject to appropriation of sufficient funds therefor, to pay an additional 5% above 
actual quarterly operational expenditures for each quarter of each year for the term of this Agreement, 
which shall be placed by the County into a restricted fund and used only for future equipment needs or 
facility expansion or replacement. This is expected to generate approximately One Hundred Forty-Four 
Thousand and Five Hundred Dollars ($144,500) over 5 years. Any expenditures from the restricted fund 
shall be approved by the Parties in writing. 
 
B. The surcharge for future equipment and facility replacement or expansion, noted in 
Section III C. above, will ensure that business customers also contribute to future capital 
expenditures.  
 
C. The Parties also agree that during the term of this Agreement all donations received by the 
HMM Program, whether the donation is designated for a particular community or not, will be 
added to the restricted funds as set aside for future equipment needs or facility expansion or 
replacement.  
 
D.  With regard to future facility replacement or expansion, the Parties further agree that:   
 

1. The County will remain the sole owner of the building and property asset represented by 
the HMM Facility.  The Parties anticipate that they will share proportionally in any future 
replacement or expansion of the HMM Facility.  To the extent that such costs are shared 
proportionally by the Parties, such additional capital contributions by the Municipalities 
should be recoverable in the event the County is in default of this Agreement. 

2. Producers and retailers of hazardous products benefit from the sale of such products, bear 
significant responsibility for the recycling or proper disposal of unwanted hazardous 
products or associated wastes, and will be asked to contribute to the capital costs of any 
expansion or replacement of the facility.  

3. Generators of CESQ Business Waste will benefit from any expansion or replacement of 
the HMM Facility and should also share in the capital cost of any expansion or 
replacement of this facility. 

 
IX. DEFAULT 

 
A.   The County shall be in default of this Agreement if it uses the HMM Facility for a purpose other 
than Hazardous Waste management, as specified in this Agreement, or for any other waste reduction 
purposes not previously approved by the Parties.  The 20-year restrictive covenant herein attached as 
Attachment B (the “Restrictive Covenant’) is hereby incorporated into this Agreement.  

B. In the event of the County’s default pursuant to Paragraph A of this Section IX, any Party may 
give the County written notice of default.  If the County has not remedied the complained of default 
within sixty days of receiving such notice of default, then the complaining Party may demand repayment 
of its “Adjusted Financial Interest,” defined in Paragraph D, below, as well as its contribution to the 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 14Packet Page     256



 9  

restricted fund as referenced in Section VIII A., excluding its proportionate share of the restricted fund 
that has been spent or encumbered.  

C.   The County agrees that upon receipt of such written notice pursuant to Paragraph B above, it will 
promptly repay the Party requesting such repayment.  

D.   “Adjusted Financial Interest” shall mean a value determined as follows:   

1. An “Initial Party Investment” shall be the amount specified in Section VIII A. of this 
Agreement. 

2. Upon the issuance of the certificate of occupancy for the HMM Facility, the County shall 
provide evidence of the total cost of constructing the HMM Facility.  The Parties shall 
review such evidence and agree on the percentage of the total costs of construction 
contributed by each Party (the “Investment Percentage”). 

3. A Party’s Adjusted Financial Interest shall equal the then-existing fair market value of 
the HMM Facility multiplied by the Party’s Investment Percentage. 

 
E.  If the Parties cannot agree on the fair market value of the HMM Facility, its fair market value will 
be determined by an appraisal.  The appraiser shall be selected jointly by the Parties and shall be a 
Member of the Appraisal Institute (M.A.I.) or a person with equivalent professional expertise.  The cost 
of the appraisal shall be borne equally by the County and those Parties seeking the return of their 
Adjusted Financial Interest. 

To the greatest extent practicable, the fair market value of the HMM Facility shall not include any 
sums attributable to Significant Improvements to the HMM Facility made solely by the County after its 
initial construction.  A “Significant Improvement” shall mean a permanent alteration, addition, or 
enhancement to the HMM Facility that increased its fair market value by ten percent or more as of the 
time of the valuation required by the Agreement. 

Maintenance expenses and expenditures to preserve or strengthen the structural integrity of the 
HMM Facility, such as, for example, new roofing, siding or windows, or to bring the HMM Facility into 
compliance with County building, electrical, plumbing, fire and similar codes shall not be considered to 
be Significant Improvements.     

Appraisal of the HMM Facility shall only be of the capital improvements funded by the Parties 
and shall not include any appreciation or depreciation of the land upon which the HMM Facility is 
constructed.   

The County shall be responsible for maintaining sufficient records to enable an appraiser to 
determine whether a particular expenditure for the HMM Facility constituted a Significant Improvement.  
If sufficient contemporaneous records are unavailable to clearly establish that a particular expenditure 
constituted a Significant Improvement and to establish the amount by which the fair market value of the 
HMM Facility should be reduced because of that expenditure, then it may not be considered to be a 
Significant Improvement.  

F.   If the County defaults before the City of Boulder or the City of Louisville has paid its full Initial 
Party Investment, its Adjusted Financial Interest shall be recalculated to reflect only its actual payments to 
the County Recycling Sales and Use Tax Fund and its liability for any future payments pursuant to 
Section VII A. shall be extinguished.   

 

 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 15Packet Page     257



 10  

X.  DURATION AND WITHDRAWAL 
 
A. This Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1st of each year until December 31, 2018; 
provided, however, that each Party’s obligation to pay its required financial contributions hereunder and 
each other Party’s right to take action to compel payment hereunder shall continue until such obligation 
has been discharged. Any Municipality may withdraw from this Agreement, which withdrawal shall be 
effective ten (10) days after the Municipality mails by certified mail, return receipt requested, a written 
notice to Boulder County of the Municipality's intent to withdraw.  The withdrawing Municipality will be 
discharged from its obligations hereunder, provided that it has paid all outstanding financial obligations 
for which it is liable under this Agreement.  The terms and obligations of this Agreement shall continue as 
to the remaining Parties. 
 
B. In the event that any Municipality withdraws from this Agreement, such Municipality may again 
become a Party only with the majority consent of the remaining Parties, after satisfying all obligations for 
which it was liable upon date for withdrawal, and subject to such further conditions as may be required by 
the Parties. 
 
C. This Agreement may be renewed for future years beyond 2018, subject to written approval by all 
Parties, and provided the Parties appropriate estimated costs for the future years. 
 
 
 
 

XI. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
A. This Agreement shall be effective as to each Party upon ratification by that Party. 
 
B. The waiver by any Party of any breach of any term, covenant or condition of this Agreement by 
another Party shall not be deemed a waiver of such term, covenant, or condition for any subsequent 
breach of the same or of any other term, covenant, or condition of this Agreement. 

          
C. Any Party hereto shall have the right to enjoin any substantial breach or threatened breach of this 
Agreement by any other Party, and, to the extent permitted by law, shall have the right to specific 
performance of this Agreement. 
 
D. This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the Parties hereto and no third party shall be entitled to 
claim or enforce any rights hereunder except as specifically provided herein. 
 
E. If any provision of this Agreement or application thereof to any Party or circumstance is held 
invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this 
Agreement which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the 
provisions of this Agreement are declared to be severable. 
 
F. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the Parties, and shall not be amended or 
modified in any manner without such amendment or modification being agreed to and executed in writing 
by all the Parties. 
G.  Nothing herein shall constitute a multiple fiscal year obligation pursuant to Colorado Constitution 
Article X, Section 20. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the financial obligations of 
each Party under this Agreement are subject to annual appropriation by the governing body of such Party.  
 
H. This Agreement may be signed in multiple parts by the Parties.  
 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 16Packet Page     258



 11  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above. 

 
 
BOULDER COUNTY BOARD OF    
COMMISSIONERS 
 

 
________________________________ 
Cindy Domenico, Chair 
 

       Date: __________________________ 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 
CLERK TO THE BOARD 

 
 

 
 
 

CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD 
 

By: ____________________________ 
 

Title: _________________________ 
 

       Date: __________________________ 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 
 

 
 
 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 17Packet Page     259



 12  

 CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO   
        
 
 
 By:  _______________________________  
             Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
              1777 Broadway 
               Boulder, CO  80302   
  

Attest:        
 
 
        
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 City Attorney 
 
 

 
CITY OF LAFAYETTE 

 
By: ____________________________ 

 
Title: _________________________ 
 

       Date: __________________________ 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 
 

 
 

 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 18Packet Page     260



 13  

CITY OF LONGMONT 
 

By: ____________________________ 
       Dennis J. Coombs, Mayor 

 
 

       Date: __________________________ 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 
City Clerk 
 

 
 
CITY OF LOUISVILLE 

 
By: ____________________________ 
 
Title: __________________________ 
 

       Date: __________________________ 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 

 
TOWN OF ERIE 

 
By: ____________________________ 

 
Title: __________________________ 
 

       Date: __________________________ 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 

 
 

 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 19Packet Page     261



 14  

 
TOWN OF SUPERIOR 

 
By: ____________________________ 

 
Title: __________________________ 
 

       Date: __________________________ 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 20Packet Page     262



 15  

ATTACHMENT A 
 

Boulder County Hazardous Materials Management (HMM) Program 
  

Projected Budget for the 2014 Calendar Year 
 
 

 
*Estimated based on actual households served in 2012 (12,523) plus 5% growth.  
** Total projected cost per community is based on number of households to be served multiplied by 
$44.00. 
 
In accordance with Section V of the 2014 to 2018 Intergovernmental Agreement for Hazardous  

 
Materials Management (the “IGA”), member communities, through their representative on the 
HMM Committee, will be provided with a projected budget for the following year, each year by 
May 1 of the preceding year. As noted in Section V. D. of the IGA, actual contributions to HMM 
Program costs will be calculated quarterly, based on actual participation by each community’s 
residents, and actual costs incurred by the County. The projected budget shall become final unless any 
community objects by June 30th of year of the preceding year. 
 
   

Community 
Percentage 
Participation 

Number of 
Households Served 

Estimated Contribution 
Toward 2014 Program 

Costs 
Boulder County 19.73% 2,594 $114,149 

Boulder 49.35% 6,489 $285,517 
Broomfield City and County 4.13% 543 $23,894 

Erie 2.43% 320 $14,059 
Lafayette 7.20% 947 $41,656 
Longmont 8.84% 1162 $51,144 
Louisville 6.44% 847 $37,259 
Superior 1.88% 247 $10,877 

 100.00%  13,149  $578,556 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 21Packet Page     263



 16  

ATTACHMENT B  replace with signed covenant (PDF) 
 

 
 

Attachment B: IGA for HMM

Agenda Item 3G     Page 22Packet Page     264



 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: Sept. 17, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 7926, amending floodplain regulations in order to clarify existing regulations and to 
protect critical facilities and lodging facilities in the 100- and 500-year floodplains, 
including Chapter 9-3 “Overlay Districts,” Subsection 9-6-1(d) “Use Table,” and Section 
9-16-1 “Definitions” B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
Bob Harberg, Principal Engineer–Utilities  
Heidi Schum, Public Works Development Review Manager 
Annie Noble, Flood and Greenways Engineering Coordinator 
Katie Knapp, Utilities Project Manager 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
As a component of the city’s comprehensive floodplain management program, a Critical 
Facilities and Lodging Facilities Ordinance (Attachment A) is being proposed to help protect 
critical infrastructure and the people most vulnerable to flood hazards, including the elderly, 
children, and visitors who may not be aware of local flood risks. 
 
The proposed ordinance would regulate two categories of facilities within the 500-year 
floodplain: critical facilities and lodging facilities. 
 

Critical facilities provide essential services, serve at-risk populations or contain 
hazardous materials. Critical facilities would be required to develop emergency plans and 
implement flood protection measures when constructing new facilities or undergoing 
significant renovations.  Emergency plans include either an evacuation plan or a shelter-

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page     265



 
 

in-place plan.  Flood protection measures include elevating a structure above the flood 
protection elevation or floodproofing the structure.   
 
Lodging facilities provide temporary accommodations and include hotels, motels, 
dormitories, bed and breakfasts, and overnight shelters.  These facilities would be 
required to develop emergency plans.   

 
The proposed regulations would apply to only the specific uses outlined above.  As these uses 
would be required to meet the proposed regulations, the requirements were included in Table 6-
1: Use Table, located in Chapter 9-6, B.R.C., for all applicable critical facilities and lodging 
facilities uses.  The Use Table indicates which uses are allowed in the different zoning districts 
and includes additional regulations that are applicable to specific uses. 
 
The proposed ordinance also provides clarification of the flood protection requirements for 
mixed-use structures and lodging facilities within the 100-year floodplain.  Under the proposed 
revisions, mixed-use structures and lodging facilities must be elevated or floodproofed to the 
flood protection elevation, with all lodging units and residential units elevated above the flood 
protection elevation.   
 
Additional background information and details about the proposed ordinance can be found in the 
first reading memo, available online at: 
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/123452/Electronic.aspx  
 
FIRST READING QUESTIONS 
On August 20, 2013 the proposed ordinance was introduced to City Council for first reading. 
There was a question raised about why there are so many floodplain studies and why the 
floodplain maps continue to change. 
 
The proposed critical facilities and lodging facilities ordinance does not include updates to 
existing floodplain mapping.  It does propose new regulations for a limited number of uses in the 
500-year floodplain, but the mapping already exists as part of previously adopted studies. 
 
Separate from this effort, floodplain maps are updated based upon new floodplain studies.  One 
of the key reasons for updating floodplain mapping is to take advantage of improved 
technologies that more accurately predict where water will go when it overtops the banks of a 
creek.   Updates to floodplain mapping allow for removal of restrictions on areas that have 
benefited from mitigation work, allow for better prioritization of mitigation work, and provide 
the ability to better understand the cumulative impact of changes in a drainage area over time.  
They also help ensure that property owners are aware of risks, receive outreach materials, and 
have appropriate insurance since standard policies generally do not cover flood damage.  The 
proposed critical facilities and lodging facilities ordinance will not impact flood insurance rates 
or requirements.  Additional flood protection measures would help reduce losses from a flood 
event and help the city recover more quickly. 
 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page     266

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/123452/Electronic.aspx�


 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that City Council pass the proposed ordinance in the form of the 
following motion: 
 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 7926, amending floodplain regulations under 
Chapter 9-3 “Overlay Districts,” Subsection 9-6-1(d) “Use Table,” and Section 9-
16-1 “Definitions” B.R.C. 1981 as proposed in Attachment A with an effective 
date of Jan. 1, 2014. 

 
ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A:  Critical Facilities and Lodging Facilities Ordinance  
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page     267



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page     268



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

�"	#$�$�%�$�������

�

�$� �"	#$�$�%� �&%$	#$'� �(��	)(�#$�
"%'*(�+#�$,� #$� �"	%"� +�� �(�"#�-� %.#,+#$'�
"%'*(�+#�$,��$	� +�� )"�+%�+� �"#+#��(� ���#(#+#%,�
�$	�(�	'#$'����#(#+#%,�#$�+/%��$%�/*$	"%	�-%�"�
�$	� �#0%� /*$	"%	�-%�"� �(��	)(�#$,1� #$�(*	#$'�
�/�)+%"� ��1� 2�0%"(�-�	#,+"#�+,13� ,*4,%�+#�$� ���
�5�61� 2*,%� +�4(%13� �$	� ,%�+#�$� �����1� 2'%$%"�(�
	%�#$#+#�$,13� 4�"���� �!�1� �$	� ,%++#$'� ��"+/�
"%(�+%	�	%+�#(,��

�

4%� #+� �"	�#$%	� 4-� +/%� �#+-� ��*$�#(� ��� +/%� �#+-� ��� 4�*(	%"1�

��(�"�	���

,����
�����,����
������1�4�"�����!�1�����7���������8
��
9���

��������		
��������

5�6�� (�:������;��#�������+<��=>�=
���
8��<��������
���<�=��������
���:>�������������������
8��<�����?�
�>@A�����
�8�

���:����
������
�=�
������<��=>@����<����<1���8��?1�����9��8����@?��

5�6�� "���������:�
��=�
<�@����:���������>�����<�������<�B���
>���
���8��
��=�
=���?������7��
8�
8�

�C�

5�6�� "���������:��<���
����
��
8����>��>�������������8
��<>7���
��>=���?�������:>�����:�
�<��7���������9<��<��>�<����>��>����7�?�@��@>�������
������
�7���7�B�����:����
�
<>7�����8��9��<���������
>����>�<����>��>���C�

5�6�� "�D>����:��<����<
������>��>�������
9�������<��8�

�=�����@���E=������
�������:��1�
�����D>�=7��������8�E�>����@������������
����=�����1������7����������:�����
�=��;����
�<����@���:�9��<����9�?������
����>����<����=�
�����
��8�
7���;������7�:�C�

5�6�� "�:>�����:��<��7��<
��
8��
����>���
��������=����7����
8�9������>==�?�����
��������
���?���7�����
������
�=��;�����������1��
���7�����
�1�����>��������?�
�
�����
��C�

5 6�� &���������:�8
��=>@�������=����
���;����@���7�=������������:��������>@A�����
��>�<�
=�
;���
������
������
�=�
���������;��>����8�
7�=>��<����:�
��>���:�������8
��=>�=
����
�<��������
���>���@��C�

5�6�� )�
������:�����=�����;��:��<��9���������?��:�����9������������
���<������������������
��=��������
8�9�����
>�����>����8
���
�;�?��:�������������:�8�

�9�����C�����

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page     269



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5�6�� �@������:�����7���������:��<��@���8�����
��<���
77>���?�
8�=������=����:�����<��
$���
������

��#��>������)�
:��7��

5@6�� ��

���:�&�?����>���+<����:����
8�8�

��=�
�����
��=�
;�����@?��<�����7��
8��<��������
��
�<�=����<���@���������7������
�@������
��@���8
����:>���
�?�=>�=
�������

���
8�:�������
7�:���>���9����
��>�1�����8�

��<��:<���7�?�@��������������������>���
8����>����
��<>7���
7������>�����+<��=�
;���
���
8��<��������
���<�=�����
��
���7=�?��<���������
>������
8��<��
8�

�=�����
�������>����=��7������9��<����<��8�

�=���������8����8�
7�8�

���:1�8�

��<�B���1�

��8�

����7�:������:�����
���==�
;���@?��<�����?�>������<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
��
�<�=�����
����
���
�����>�������=���������
�1�:>�������1�
��9������?�
8���?�F����
�����>���@?�
�<�����?�
����?����?�
88������
���7=�
?���
8��<��=�������@����?�
����8��?�
8���?����>��>���
��
=�
=
����>��1�����������������
����@����?��
�
����>���
8�����
���:�������<�����?�
����?����?�

88������
���7=�
?���8
����?���7�:���8�
7�8�

��
��
�<��9�����<���7�?����>���8�
7��>�<�
���>��>���
��>����

5�6�� ,�
=�������==������
���

5�6�� +<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
���<�=�����>==��7�����<
����7=
����
���<����7��������
@?���?�>�����?��:�B
���:�=�
;���
���
8��<����
���
��
�<���
���������
8��<�����?��#8�
�<����������
�8�����@��9�����>�<���D>���7����1��<��7
������������;���
���
����

5�6�� #8����
��
��=������
8�����������=����?�9��<����<��<�:<�<�B����B
��1�
���<���
�;�?�����
B
��1��<��
���<>������?����8�

�=����1�
���<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����8�

��
8���:������1��<��=���5�6�
8��>�<��
��
��=�������?��:�9��<����>�<������
���������<����7����
�����<������������������D>���7�����
8��>�<����=����;����������=������@���@?��<���
�����
��<�=������
���<��=>�=
����
8���9��
����>���
�1��#8���?�=
���
��
8������>��>���
�����=����?�9��<����<��<�:<�<�B����B
��1�
���<���
�;�?�����B
��1��<��
���<>������?����
8�

�=����1�
���<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����8�

��8���:������1������<����������������
��D>���7�����
8��<��������
���>�<����=����;������5�6����=������@���@?��<����<�=�����<����
�==�?��
��<������������>��>���>�������������
�<��9�����

5�6�� #8��������
������
>�������<�����?���7������������>����9��<����<��8�;��<>������?����
8�

�=����1��<��
���<>������?����8�

�=����8�

��8���:�1��<���
�;�?�����B
��1�
���<��
<�:<�<�B����B
��1��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
��<�=�����<�����==�?��
��>�<�������
>=
������E���
���

5�6�� ��7���������
���+<�����?�7���:����<������7���������<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
��<�=����
�����<�����

5�6�� 	����7�����<����<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
��<�=����<�;��@����7���@�8
������>��:�
��?�=��7���8
����;��
=7��������<��8�

�=����C�

5�6�� �@���������7��������8
��=>@�������=����
����?������8�������
8�8�

�=�

8��:���D>�����
@?��<��������
��<�=���1�������?���8
�7���
��
���<�����;���
��5���������
���
�7��������
��;��6�
8��<����;���
8��<���
9����8�

��5����>���:�@���7���6�
8�������9�
���>@���������?�
�7=�
;������>��>���1�������8
�7���
���=���8?��:�9<��<���
���
���>�<����>��>����
�
��������@���7���1����1��8��<�����>��>���<���@����8�

�=�

8��1��<�����;���
��5���
������
���
�7����������;��6��
�9<��<��<�����>��>���9���8�

�=�

8��C�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page     270



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5�6�� $
��8?�4
>������
>��?������<���
�
���
�G������
����;���
��4
����@�8
���
=��7�����:���?��<��:�������9�����
>���������>@7����;�������
8��>�<��
������
��%&�C�

5�6�� ��
=���>���������=�����:������7=��7�����:��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
��<�=���1�
����>���:1�9��<
>����7�����
�1��==������
��=�
���>����8
��8�

�=�������;��
=7����
=��7���1C������=���8�����
���8
���<��8�

�=�

8��:�
8����>��>���1��>@���������
�7=�
;�7����1�����>��������1C������=���8�����
���8
���<���
������
8������==������
��
=�
���>����8
���7��:���?�7���:�7����=����C�

5 6�� ���>����<����<��4
>�����0����?��
7=��<����;��)��������
���������9��<��<��8�

�=�����
7���:�7����
@A����;���
8��<��������
���<�=���������<����:>����
���
8��%&�C�

5�6�� &�F����������?������=������
���
8��<���E�����
����
��
8��<��@
>��������
8��<��
8�

�=����1��<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����1��<��
���<>������?����8�

�=����8�

��
8���:�1��<���
�;�?�����B
��11������<��<�:<�<�B����B
��C�

5�6�� �7�����<��@
>��������
8��<��<�:<�<�B����B
��������<���
�;�?�����B
���=>��>�����
�
�>@�����
��586�
8��<��������
�C�

5!6�� 	����7�����<���������������?�=��7����<�;��@����
@�������8�
7������1�8������1�
���
����
�:��������<���==�
;���
8�9<��<������D>�����@�8
������>��:���?�=��7���8
����;��
=7����
����<��8�

�=����C�

56�� "�D>�����<���=���
����<��:��:���9�����
>����7���������<��9�����
>�����
��<�������
8�

������?��:���=����?�����
����7����<��C�

5��6��"�D>�����<�����9�������=����7����9������>==�?��?���7������<��8�

�=�����@������:����
�
�7���7�B��
�����7��������8�������
��
8�8�

�9���������
��<���?���7�C�

5��6��"�D>�����<�����9�������=����7�����������?���9�:���?���7��9��<����<��8�

�=�����@��
����:�����
�7���7�B��
�����7��������8�������
��
8�8�

�9���������
��<���?���7������
����<��:���8�
7��<���?���7�����
�8�

�9�����C�

5��6��"�D>�����<���
�������9��������=
�����?���7��@���
�������
��;
����7=���7�����
��<�7�
��
�
���7�����
��8�
7��<�7��>���:�8�

���:C�����

5��6���@����1���;��91���������
��@�?�>����B����?�@����8�

�����;���
������8�

�9�?������
�;����@���8�
7�8������1������1�����
�<����
>����1�����>���:��������;��
=���=>��>�����
�
��<�=�������1�H,>@��;���
�1H�4�"�����!�1�������������8
����D>����:��<���������9�
��;��
=7����7�����<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
��<�=�����

5�6�� �==��������?�=���
���
�������:��<�����?�7���:��I�������=������
��
8���@
>����?��
����
��
>�����=���:��=<�5�65�6�
8��<��������
�1�
����?�=���
���::���;���@?��<��:������:�
���������
8�
��8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7��1�7�?��==�����>�<������7�����
���
��<��=������:�@
����
�<�
>:<��<��=�
�����������@������,�����
������1�H�==����1������*=������)>@����/�����:�1H�
4�"�����!���+<����D>�����<��������8
��<��<������
������@�����8
���<���==���������>�<�
�<���
��8
�7���
������<��7���:���7�?�=������@��@?��>����

586�� &�=��7���7���������9�����
>����
��8�

���<�������7=�
;�7�����
��7�==��:��
������
���
����7���1��<�����?�7���:���7�?��7�����<��8�

����:>���
�?������7�=���
����
:��B���<��
�<��:����
�����
���=�
�>����@?��>�<��7=�
;�7�����
���
������
��1�=�
;������<����
��>�<�
�7���7�����
���
������
���7�?��<��:�����%&��H�����
8��=������8�

��<�B���H�
��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page     271



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

H��:>���
�?�8�

�9�?H�>�������<�����?������������=��
8����������
8�7�=��7���7����
�����������

8�7�=���;���
�����>���@?��%&���

5:6�� ��

��"�:>���
�?��������

5�6�� +<��=�
;���
���
8��<��������
���<�=�����==�?��
��<��������<
9�����8�

�=�����
���<��
7
����������7�=����
=����@?��<�����?��
>����1�����7������8�
7���7���
���7��@?��<��
���?�7���:���=>��>�����
��>@�����
���5�61�5�61�����586�
8��<��������
���+<����:>���
�?�
8�

�=��������
7=�������<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����1��<��
���<>������?����
8�

�=����1��<��8�

��8���:�1��<���
�;�?�����B
��1������<��<�:<�<�B����B
����+<��
8
��
9��:���:>����
���:
;�����:����<�=
���
��
8��<��8�

�=����������>7>����;�������
��
�E��>��;���

5�6�� #��������
���
��<����:>���
�?�������������8�������=���:��=<�5:65�6�
8��<��������
�1��<��
���?�<�����
=�����<��������
8��=������8�

��<�B����������8��������<����

��#��>������
,�>�?�8
��4
>������
>��?1��88����;��	���7@����!1�����1����������������
���<����

��
#��>������"����&�=�8
��4
>������
>��?������<�����?�
8�4
>����������
=����@?��<��
���?�����
7=�������9��<��������"���<�=�������#���
��;����9�����<����:>����
���
�
������������<��������
���<�=����@�������=�������
�=��7�����?�����
���
��=��7������
>������<
�����:>����
���=�
7>�:�����@?��%&��8
���<����:>����
��
8�������
8��=������
8�

��<�B����������:>���
�?�8�

�9�?���

5<6�� ��

�=�

8��:��G<���;����<����<�=������D>�����8�

�=�

8��:���@>�����:�
�����>��>���
����
=
���
���<���
81��<��8
��
9��:������������<����@��7����
5�6�� ,>�<�@>�����:�
�����>��>���
��=
���
���<���
8��<����@��8�

�=�

8���������
��������

9��<���?��>������
=����@?��<�����?�7���:���8
��8�

�=�

8��:�����9��<��>������������
����8���������9��������:>����
���:
;�����:�8�

�=�

8��:C�

5�6�� ,>�<�@>�����:�
�����>��>���
��=
���
���<���
8��<����@��8�

�=�

8����
��<��8�

��
=�
�����
�����;���
������>�<���7�������<����<��@>�����:�
�����>��>������9������:<��9��<�
9������>@���������?��7=��7��@����
��<��=����:��
8�9��������������7��������D>����:��
�
<>7��������;����
�C�

5�6�� ,>�<�@>�����:�
�����>��>���
��=
���
���<���
8��<����<�;�����>��>�����
7=
��������=�@���

8���������:�=�
A������<?��
�����������<?��
�?��7����
���������<���88�����
8�
@>
?���?C�����

5�6�� ,>�<�8�

�=�

8��:��<����@�������8����@?����
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
������:������

����:�����������<�������
��
7=�?�9��<��<���=���:��=<��,>�<������8�����
����<����@��
=�
;������
��<�����?�7���:����������8
��<����)���:��=<�����5�65�61�4�"�����!���

5�6�� ,���������8
��������������������������(
�:��:����������������<����;��/>������-����
��

�=������

5�6�� ��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7�����#���<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����1��
�=���
���<����
�
����>���
������@���<�����9����������8������?�
��7�F����?���;��
=7�����
������>��>���
<
>���:�����E�����:����������8������?�=��
���
����>�����
8���8�

�=�������;��
=7����
=��7���=>��>�����
�,����
������1�2��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7���13�4�"�����!�1�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page     272



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

>�������<������;��?�����E�7=��>�����,>@�����
������5�61�2����;������%E�7=��8�
7�
��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7���"�D>���7���13�4�"�����!���

5�6�� "�D>���7������==�?��
�%������4>�����:���#8���?�=
���
��
8������>��>���<
>���:���
���������8������?�
���
�:��:�8������?������=�������?�9��<����<��8�;��<>������?����
8�

�=����1��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
���<�����==�?��
��<�������������>��>����

5�6�� %7��:���?�&���:�7����)�������

5�6��� %7��:���?�&���:�7����)����"�D>�������$
�
9����
��
=����
��
8������������
8������?�
���
�:��:�8������?�����<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=������<����8�����
�
��;��
=�����<�;���==�
;�������7��:���?�7���:�7����=����7�����:��<��
��D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
��=��
���
����>�����
8���?�8�

�=�����
��;��
=7����=��7���8
����?���;��
=7������D>����:���8�

�=�������;��
=7����
=��7���@>���
��������<����J��>��?��1����1�
��8�;��?������8�����<���88����;�������

8���7�=��<��:���<���=�������<��8������?����
��<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����1�
�8��<������������������<���J��>��?��1����1���

546��� ��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7�����+
�
@������<����D>������==�
;���
8����
�7��:���?�7���:�7����=���1����
9����
��
=����
��
8������������8������?�
��
�
�:��:�8������?�����<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=������<����8��������==������
��8
��
8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7���=>��>�����
�,����
������1���

�=�����
	�;��
=7����)��7���1�4�"�����!���

5�6��� )>�=
�����+<��=>�=
���
8��<���7��:���?�7���:�7����=������D>���7���������
8
��<�����<��������
��������

5�6� �� +
�=�
������<��<����<1���8��?1�����9��8����
8��<��=>@��������
8�
�7=�
?���1�;����
��1����������1�:>����1��
������
��1�����
�<����������F�
8�
7�<�B���������<��8������?C�

5��6��� +
�7���7�B��������>=��
���
������>=��
���
8�
=�����
���
8����������
8���������C�

5���6�� +
�=�
�����@>�����:�1�=<?������������1�����������
������8
�7���
�C������

5�;6��� +
�=��;������;��
�7�������
���7�����
���

5	6��� %7��:���?�&���:�7����)����"�D>���7�������G��<��<���E��=��
��
8�
��D>���7������<�����?�7���:���8��������==����@����
���=�����>����8������?1�����
�7��:���?�7���:�7����=������<�����
�����1�9��<
>����7�����
���

5�6� �� ���������7����@?����
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
������:������
�����
#��������
�����������?�&���:�7�������
�����
�������8���������������
&���:���
8��<�����F���
�=���
�������<��8������?�����
�<����������F�8�
7�
<�B���������<��8������?1��
��<��8������?������81�����=<?������������1���������

=�����
�1������
��<����;��
�7�����>���:�8�

���;����C�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page     273



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5��6��� ���������7����
8��<�����
>������������8
�����=
����:��
��<�����F�
8�
8�

���;���������8
���
����>��:�@>�������
=�����
�������8
��
�
77>�������:��>���:������8���������������C�

5���6�� ��=����8
��
@������:�����7���������:��<�����
>�����������8�������
�����������>@�����
��5�65�65�65��6��@
;�C�

5�;6���������=�����
�=�
������7=�
?���1�;����
��1����������1�:>����1��
������
��1�
����
�<����������F�8�
7�<�B���������<��8������?��>���:�8�

���;�������
,>�<�=�����<��������>�������;��>���
��=����
�����<���������=�����=���1�
>������@
�<�������������?��
�=�
������<��<����<1���8��?�����9��8����
8�
�<��=���
���������F�����<��8������?��

��� %;��>���
��=������<����@�������8����@?����
�
���
���:��������
=�
8����
������:������
�����#��������
�����������?�&���:�7����
���
�����
�������8���������������&���:�� �����<����=�
;������7�����
8
����8��?��;��>����:�
��>=������
����
����
��
>������
8��<��8�;��
<>������?����8�

�=�����
���
�����==�
;����<���������=�����
�
����
���

@�� ,<���������=�����=������<����@�������8����@?����
�
���
���:��������
=�
8����
������:�����1��<������7
���������<����<�����>��>���9����@��
��8���
�
��>=?��>���:���8�;��<>������?����8�

���;���1������<����
����:���������8���<���������=������
����
��9��<����<��@>�����:�����
��8���
>�����
��>�<��
����
���

5;6��� ���?���7�����������:�����
��
77>�������9��<��7=�
?���1��>��
7���1�
���������1�:>����1��
������
��1�����
�<����������F�����<��8������?��>���:���
8�

���;�����

5;�6��� ,�����:�����
�7���7�B������D>��F�?�
;���
7����?�����>=��
��
��
������>=��
��
8�
=�����
���
8��<��8������?��>���:���8�

���;���C�

5;��6� ������������7���:�7�����?���7��<�����8��������=
���@������������
�

�������������;������@�8
��1��>���:1������8������8�

���;���C��

5;���6� ��=�
:��7��
�������=���
���9��<���8������
��������<��7���:�7����=����
�
��
��<��������:�������F�������
������������7=�
?��������
�<�����:>����

��>=�����
8��<��8������?��
��<�?�������F���==�
=������=�
�����;������
���
�>���:���8�

���;���C�����

5�E6��� ��?�
�<���������:���1����<��D>��1��?���7�1�=�
:��7�1�
��=������<�����?�
7���:��������7�����������������?��
����;���<��<����<1���8��?1�����
9��8����
8��<��=>@����������?�=���
������
��������<��8������?��

5%6��� )
����:�
8�%;��>���
��"
>��������"
>�����
�,<������#��)�����(
����
�����+<��
�==�
;����;��>���
���
>���������
>�����
��<���������=������
����
����<����@��
=
�����
���<���������
8����<��

�9�?�������:��
�����=������>����������
�:��:�
8������?�����@�����=��?��������=�
7�������
����
��
�����
����
������:�����
�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page     274



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

=�
;������8
�7���
���
�=���
���9��<����<�����������8������?��<�������==�
;���@?�
�<�����?�7���:����

5�6��� #7=��7������
��
8�%7��:���?�&���:�7����)�������$
�
9����
��
=����
��
8���
���������8������?�
���
�:��:�8������?�����<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=������<����8����
�
��7=��7���������
����>���?���;��9�����>=����1��8���������?1�����==�
;���
�7��:���?�7���:�7����=���������<����7�F���<��=�����;����@����
��<�����?�
7���:���8
����;��9�>=
����D>������

5�6�� �
����>���
��"�D>���7�����8
��������������������������<����;��/>������-����
��

�=�������+<��8
��
9��:������������==�?��
����������8�����������
����������<��8�;��
<>������?����8�

�=�������

5�6� $
�
9����
��
=����
��
8������������8������?��<�����
����>��1�7
��8?1�
������@���<1�

����>����
�@���
����>����1�7
��8���1�
������@���<��������������8������?�9��<���
�<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=������E��=������
7=�������9��<��<����D>���7�����

8��<����>@�����
���

546�� ��?�=���
��7�F��:�����E=����
��
����������:�7�����
������>��>���<
>���:����
�E�����:�������F�=
=>����
��8������?�
���������������;����8������?��<����8�

�=�

8�

�����;�����<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1�
8��<���E=������
��
�����:���=
���
���
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5�6� ��?�=���
��7�F��:����>@���������7
��8�����
��
�����>@����������7=�
;�7�����
�
�����>��>���<
>���:�����E�����:�������F�=
=>����
��8������?�
���������������;����
8������?��<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;�����<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1�
8�
�<���>@���������?�7
��8����
���7=�
;���=
���
���
�
���@
;���<��8�

��
=�
�����
�����;���
�������<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;�����<����7�������
8��<��
�E�����:����>��>����
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5	6�� ��?�=���
���
����>����:�
������@���<��:�����9�������F�=
=>����
��8������?�
��
�������������;����8������?��<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;�����<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:�
�<��@���7���1��
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5%6�� ��?�=���
���
����>����:�
������@���<��:�����9�<�B���
>��7��������8������?�
�<�������>�������<�B���
>��7���������8�
7�8�

���:�����8�
7�@���:����������
�>���:���8�;��<>������?����8�

���;����
���<����8�

�=�

8��<��8������?�����?�
=���
��7�F��:����>@���������7
��8�����
��
�����>@����������7=�
;�7�����
���
���>��>���<
>���:�����E�����:�<�B���
>��7���������<�������>����<��<�B���
>��
7���������8�
7�8�

���:�
��
�<��9����@���:�����������>���:���8�;��<>������
?����8�

���;�����+<��
9����
��
=����
���<������7
���������
7=�������9��<�
�<������������@?�=�
;����:��������8�����
��8�
7����
�
���
���:��������
=�
8����
������:�������<����
�>7������<���<�B���
>��7��������9�����
��@��
������������
��8�
7��<��8������?��>���:���8�;��<>������?����8�

���;�����

5�6� $
�=���
��
9���:1�
=������:1�
��
�<��9����>���:���<�B���
>��7��������8������?�
�<����8�����
1�
��8�����
1���>����
����>�������<�B���
>��7���������8�
7�8�

���:�
����8�
7�@���:�����������>���:�8�;��<>������?����8�

���;�����
���
�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page     275



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

8�

�=�

8��<��8������?�@�8
���J��>��?������
��8�;��?������8�����<���88����;��
�����
8���7�=��<��:���<���=�������<��8������?����
��<��8�;��<>������?����
8�

�=����1�9<��<�;����������������������

�5'6��� G<���;�����?��
����>���
�1�7
��8�����
�1��7=�
;�7����
��
�<�������;��?�
���������
������������8������?����::������?�8�

�=�

8��:�
�����;���
��
��D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
��5�61��<���
����>���
������������������@������
,>@�����
���5�65�61�2�
����>���
��&�������������&��<
��13�5�65�61�2*��������13�
5�65�!61�2%���
�>���13�����5�65�61�24��
9�'��������9��,=�����
����>���
�13�

8�,����
������1�2"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<������/>������-������

�=����13�
4�"�����!�1��<�������
�@���
7=�����9��<��

5/6�� %E�����:�*������+<��>���
8���?������
�����>��>����<���9�����98>��@�8
����<��
�==������
��
8��<����>@�����
��5�65�61��
����>���
��"�D>���7�����8
�����������
���������������<����;��/>������-������

�=����1�
����?��7���7�����<����
�@>��
�<����
����
���
�8
�7��
��<����D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
��7�?�@���
����>���
�>@A�����
��<����D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
����#8��>�<���>����
���
�8
�7��:��
�
�<����D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
���������
����>���8
���9��;���
����>��;��
7
��<�1��
�=���
���<����>����<�������
�����>��>����<����8����>�������>�<�>���
�
�8
�7���
��<����D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
���

5 6�� %E�7=��
��8
����������������������)�
�������@?�(�;���,?���7������������8����������
=�
�������@?�����;����?���7�9��<����<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����������E�7=��8�
7�
�<����D>���7�����
8��>@�����
��5�65�6�
8��<��������
������1�=�
;������<����<��8
��
9��:�
��D>���7��������������8�����

5�6� +<��
9����
��
=����
��
8�����9�
���E�����:����������8������?��
����������9����
8�
����;����?���71�
>������
8��<��
���<>������?����8�

�=����1�@>��9��<����<��8�;��
<>������?����8�

�=����1���7
����������<����<����;����?���7�=�
;�����
=�
�����
���:��������8�;��<>������?����8�

���;����@?��

5�6� 7�����:��<����;��������;�������:�����������
8��������"��K�� ���1����
�7������8�
7���7���
���7�1��E��=���<����<��7���7>7���;��������;���
8���@
�����<����@��
���8

���@
;���<��9������>�8�������;���
��
8���8�;��
<>������?����8�

�1����<����<����<���C�����

5��6�� =�
;����:����
=������:�����7�����������7��>���8
���<����;����<���
���
�=
����������
=������:�����7�������������D>���7�����
8��������"��
K�� ��������">������
8��<���
�
���
�">��������"�:>����
���8
��
"�:>���
�?���

�=����������
�
���
�5������"����!�����1����������8
��
	����7����:�%88�����
8�(�;����
��"�:>���
�?���

�=�����61����
�7������8�
7���7���
���7�1��
����>����
����>��:�=�
=���8>����
��
8�
�<�����>��>����

546� +<��
9����
��
=����
��
8�����9�
���E�����:����������8������?��
����������9����
8�
����������������;���
����=�
;���
����?��������������;���9��<���������7�==���
L
���.�5�<����6��<������7
���������<����<����;����?���7�7������<����;������

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page     276



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

��;�������:�1�
=�����
�1�����7��������������������
8��������"��K�� ��������
">������
8��<���
�
���
�">��������"�:>����
���8
��"�:>���
�?���

�=���������
�
�
���
�5������"����!�����1����������8
��	����7����:�%88�����
8�(�;����
��
"�:>���
�?���

�=�����6��

5�6�� #8��<����;������
9����@?���=���
��
�<����<����<��
9����
��
=����
��
8��<��
���������8������?1��<��
9����
��
=����
�1����=����;��?1�7>�����7
���������<�����
8>��?��E��>�����:���7�����E�����@��9�����<����;���
9���������<��
9����
��

=����
��
8��<�����������8������?����>���:��<����<����D>���7�����
8��>@�����
����
���5�65 65�6�
��546�����5�6�8
���
����>���
=�����
������7�����������
8��<��
��;����?���7�9����@��7����

5	6� +<���E�7=��
���>������<����>@�����
��5�65 6�8
�����������8�����������
������
����9����
8������;����?���7�9�����==�
;���@?��<�����?�7���:����<�
>:<��<��
���>�����
8���8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7���=>��>�����
�,>@�����
������1�
2��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7���13�4�"�����!�1��8����8�����:��<�������
��D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
��5�65 6�<�;��@����7��1����

5%6�� #8�����;����?���7�=�
������:�����E�����:����������8������?�����<��8�;��<>������
?����8�

�=�����8������
�7�����<��8���@
������D>���7����
8��>@�����
��5�65 65�6�

8��<��������
���
���?�@���>����%&����;��������#"&1�7���������������>���
8�
�<������������8������?�7�?�
��>��8
���9
�?������8�����<����;���
��@�8
���<�;��:��
�
7�����<����D>���7�����
8��>@�����
���5�65�6�����5�65�6�
8��<��������
�����

5�6�� $
�=���
���<����8�����
��
����>��1�
=�����1�
��7��������
��8�����
���>����<��
�
����>���
�1�
=�����
�1�
��7�����������
8�����;����?���7�=�
������:������������
8������?������==�
;���@?��<�����?�7���:��������8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7���
�������E�7=��
���
��<����D>���7�����
8��>@�����
���5�65�6�����5�65�6�
8��<���
�����
��������
�������9��<�������:���������
=������:�����7�����������7��>���
7�����:��<����D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
��5�65 6��

�5�6�� ����<��
���<>������?����8�

�=����1��
�;�?�����B
��1�����<�:<�<�B����B
�����������
�
������9��<���
8��<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����1��<����D>���7�����
8��<����>@�����
��
����5�61�2,���������8
��������������������������(
�:��:����������������<����;��/>������
-������

�=����13����
��==�?��
����������8���������������
�:��:�8��������������<��
���
<>������?����8�

�=����1��
�;�?�����B
��1�����<�:<�<�B����B
���>���������������
��D>���7������==�?�����<��
���<>������?����8�

�=����1��
�;�?�����B
��1�
��<�:<�
<�B����B
��1�����==����@�����

,����
������,����
������1�4�"�����!�1�����7���������8
��
9���

�������������	����	������������������
��
��������		
�������
5�6�� '�������)�
;���
����#���<���������
���<>������?����8�

�=����1��<��8
��
9��:�����������
�==�?��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page     277



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5�6�� ��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7����%E��=������=���8�������=���:��=<�
5�65�65�6,>@�����
������5�61�2����;������%E�7=��8�
7���

�=�����	�;��
=7����
)��7���"�D>���7���13�4�"�����!�1��
���;��
=7��������<��
���<>������?����
8�

�=�����7�?�
��>��=��
���
��<�����>�����
8���8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7���
=>��>�����
������
������1�H��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7���1H�4�"�����!���
�5�6������;�������E�7=��8�
7���8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7����+<��8
��
9��:�
����;�������������
9���9��<����<��8�

����:>���
�?�����������
��
����D>������8�

�=�����
��;��
=7����=��7����

5�6�� H&����������H������8���������<�=��������H	�8�����
��H��<����
����
��
�
�����>������>@����������7=�
;�7���������
����
���88�����<���88������?�
��
��=����?�
8��<���
�;�?�����B
���
��<�:<�<�B����B
����

5��6�� ,���9��F�1��
������1���=<����
����
���8���9
�F��<����
����
�����>�������<��
����@���<7����
���E=����
��
8�=��F��:�����������
����
��7
��8?��E�����:�
:�����@?�7
����<�����E����<����

5���6�� *����:�
>���>����������<����
��
��7
��8?��E�����:�:������

5�;6�� )
���1������1���@���1���:��=
���1��������=��:��������9
�F��<����
��
���88����
�<���88������?�
����=����?�
8��<���
�;�?�����B
���
��<�:<�<�B����B
����

5;6�� +�7=
���?�8�����������<��������
��=��7������?������<����
��<��:�
>����>�<�
��������1����88����
���
����;�����������9��8>����>���=�
;������<����<�?�9����
�
���88�����<���88������?�
����=����?�
8��<���
�;�?�����B
���
��<�:<�<�B����
B
��1�
���<�?�9������7�������=�����8
���
�7
����<����<���?���?���

5�6�� ���<
���:��
5�6�� ������9��
����>���
�������>@����������7=�
;�7�����
���>@���������7
��8�����
���

�<����@�����<
�����
�=��;����8�
����
�1��
���=��1�
����������7
;�7����
8��<��
���>��>�������@����=�@���
8���������:��<��<?��
�����������<?��
�?��7����
�����

546�� ����7��>8���>����<
7���7>���@�����;������������<
�����
��������8�
����
�1�
�
���=��1�
����������7
;�7����������=�@���
8���������:��<��<?��
�����������
<?��
�?��7����
�����&��<
���
8����<
���:�7�?�����>��1�@>�������
����7������
1�
>���
8�
;����<���
=�
��8��7��������
�������:��
�=��7������:�
>������<
��1����
������
���
���?����<
���:���D>���7�����8
����������:�9����8
�����������?�����
�
9����D>���7�����
8��<�=���������1�H&
@����/
7��1H�4�"�����!���
"�D>���7������<��������>��1�9��<
>����7�����
�1��<��8
��
9��:��

5�6�� �;����<���
=�������<����@��=�
;�����������<�
8��<��8
>���
������
8��<��
7��>8���>����<
7�����
��7��>8���>����<
7���8�8�?�8����
���
�:��1��9
�
������
���������=��������������D>�������������7��������
����
�����
��
7��>8���>����<
7���������<���8�8�?�8�����
�:1�
���������
��������=�����������
��D>����C�

5��6�� ���7��������<����@��=�
;�����������<�
8��<��8
>���
������
8��<��
7��>8���>����<
7�����
��7��>8���>����<
7���8�8�?�8����
���
�:��1�8�;��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page     278



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

������
���������=��������������D>�������������7�������=
�������
��
7��>8���>����<
7���������<���8�8�?�8�����
�:1�8
>��������
���������=��������
������D>����C�

5���6�� �����
7=
������
8��<�����<
���:��?���7��<����@����=�@���
8�����?��:���
8
����
8�8
>���<
>�������:<��<>������=
>���C�����

5�;6�� ��?�������
����
�7��>8���>����<
7����<����@����7�����?����<
�����

5�6�� �
����>���
��&�������������&��<
����
5�6�� ������9��
����>���
�1��>@����������7=�
;�7����1������>@���������7
��8�����
���

�<����@���
����>�����9��<�7�������������>�����?��D>�=7���������������
�8�

��
��7�:�����
>�����������<��7
����>�������%&��+��<������	
�>7����
����1��
��

��"���������&���������"�D>���7������

546�� ������9��
����>���
�1��>@����������7=�
;�7����1������>@���������7
��8�����
���
�<����@���
����>�����>���:�7��<
�������=����������<���7���7�B��8�

����7�:���

5�6�� ������9��
����>���
�1��>@����������7=�
;�7����������>@���������7
��8�����
���
�<����@���
����>�����9��<�����������1�<�����:1�;��������
�1�=�>7@��:1���������
�
�����
���:��D>�=7��������
�<������;����8�����������<�����������:���������
������
5@?����;����:�
��8�

�=�

8��:��<���
7=
�����6��
�����
�=��;����9�����8�
7�
�������:�
�����>7>�����:�9��<����<���
7=
�������>���:�8�

���:��
�����
����

5�6�� *����������
5�6�� ������9�������=����7����9������>==�?��?���7���<����@������:�����
�7���7�B��
��

���7��������8�������
��
8�8�

�9���������
��<���?���7���

546�� ������9�������=����7�����������?���9�:���?���7���<����@������:�����
�7���7�B��

�����7��������8�������
��
8�8�

�9���������
��<���?���7����������<��:��8�
7��<��
�?���7�����
�8�

�9�������

5�6�� ��������9��������=
�����?���7���<����@���
�������
��;
����7=���7����
��
�
���7�����
���>���:�8�

���:��

5 6�� ,>@��;���
��)�
=
������
5�6�� �����>@��;���
��=�
=
������<������7
���������88
�����
�7���7�B��8�

����7�:���

546�� �����>@��;���
��=�
=
������<����<�;��=>@����>�������������8�����������>�<������9��1�
:��1�����������1�����9������?���7���
�����������
����>������
�7���7�B��8�

��
��7�:���

5�6�� �����>@��;���
��=�
=
������<����<�;�����D>����������:��=�
;������
����>���
�E=
�>����
�8�

����7�:���

5	6�� 4����8�

�����;���
��������<����@��=�
;�����8
���>@��;���
��=�
=
���������
�<���
=�
=
������;��
=7�����

5%6�� $
��>@��;���
��=�
=
�����<��������������
��9<��<����>�@>����@���=>��>�����
��<���
�����
���

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page     279



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5�6�� ��

�=�

8��:��G<���;����<��������
����D>�������@>�����:�
�����>��>����
�@��
8�

�=�

8��1��<��8
��
9��:��������������,>@�����
������5<61�2��

�=�

8��:13�
4�"�����!�1��<����@��7�����

5�6�� ,>�<�@>�����:�
�����>��>����<����@��8�

�=�

8���������
�������9��<���?��>����8
��
8�

�=�

8��:�=�
7>�:�����@?��<�����?�7���:���=>��>�����
��<�=�������1�
H">��7�F��:1H�4�"�����!�1�����9��<��>�������%&��$���
������

��#��>������
)�
:��7�5$�#)6�+��<������4>�������C�

546�� ,>�<�@>�����:�
�����>��>����<����@��8�

�=�

8����
��<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
�����
�>�<���7�������<����<��@>�����:�
�����>��>������9������:<��9��<�9������>@���������?�
�7=��7��@����
��<��=����:��
8�9��������������7��������D>����:��
�<>7���
�����;����
�C�

5�6�� ,>�<�@>�����:�
�����>��>����<����<�;�����>��>�����
7=
��������=�@���
8���������:�
=�
A������<?��
�����������<?��
�?��7����
���������<���88�����
8�@>
?���?C�����

5	6�� ,>�<�8�

�=�

8��:��<����@�������8����@?����
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
������:������

����:�����������<�������
��
7=�?�9��<��<���=���:��=<��,>�<������8�����
����<����@��
=�
;������
��<�����?�7���:����������8
��<����=���:��=<�����5�65�61�4�"�����!���

5�6�� /�B���
>��&��������,>@���������$
�=���
���<������
�����<�B���
>���>@����������
��
@��
9��<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
��8
���<�������
8��<��8�

�=��������9<��<�������
�
�����1��E��=��8
���<����
��:��
8�:��
�����8>�������E�����:�������=����7����
>����:�
>������F������E�����:�:��
�����8>����:����;���������
����������;����:���:��1�
9<��<����F����������:�����
�=��;������8�������
����������<��:�����
�8�

�9����������
9<��<��������D>����?����<
���������<��������:�������>=�>�����
��=>�=
����
8��<���
=���:��=<1�H�E�����:H�7��������=������������>���
��J��>��?��1��!��

5!6�� �>�
7
@����)��F��:��$
�9��<�������:�
�<���=�
;���
���
8��<��������1��
�=���
���<����
����@���<���������8
���>�
7
@����=��F��:������?�=
���
��
8��<��8�

�=�����9<����8�

��
��=�<���E�������:<��������<����

56�� ��

��G�����:�,?���7��$
�
9����
8���<
���1���7
���1����
�7��
�?1����

7��:�<
>��1�
��<
����1�����<

�1���@�������@���F8���1�����?�����������1���:�
>=�<
7�1�
����
������������
���
�:��:���������8������?��
����������<��4
>���������F�
���<>������?����
8�

�=������<����8�����
�=�
;������8�

��9�����:��?���7��==�
;���@?��<�����?�7���:���
�<�������
���������
���=
����
8����������
77>������
������<��@>�����:�9��<��9���?�
8
>��<
>��7
���
���:��$
��>�<�=���
���<����8�����
�7���������>�<���8�

��9�����:�
�?���7��

5��6�"������)�
=���?��$
�
9����
8�=�
=���?��<�������
�����������
���<>������?����8�

�=�����
�����>@A�����
������?����������������>������<�=��������1�H"������(�������1H�4�"����
�!�1��<����8�����
�=
���
���<���E����
��
8��<��=��7���������<���������������:���==�
;���
@?��<�����?�7���:���������:��<����<��=�
=���?�����>@A�����
�8�

��<�B���������
�������:�
�>�<�8>��<�����8
�7���
������=
���������>�<�
�<����
����
�����������<��@>�����:�����<��
���?�7���:���7�?���D>�����

5��6�&��>8���>����/
>���:������7��>8���>����<
7���=����������<�����?��8����J>�?��1��!1�
��������7��>8���>����<
7���9<��<������>@���������?��7=�
;���
���>@���������?�
7
��8�����<����@�����;�����
����=��7������8
>�����
���
��<����<���
9����8�

��
8��<��
7��>8���>����<
7��������
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
������������>���?�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page     280



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���<
�����
�������D>����?����<
����8
>�����
���?���71������<����7�����<�����<
��:��
���������
9����D>���7�����
8�=���:��=<�5�65�6�
8��<��������
���

5��6�"�������
����0�<�������#��
������
����>�����@��������<�B����=
�������1���������
����
;�<�������<�������<�����6�@������<��
���<>������?����8�

�=�����8
��8�9����<���
���
<>��������:<�?��
����>��;����?�1�@6�@��8>��?������������������?�8
��<�:<9�?�>��1�
���6�
7�����<��=��7�����D>���7������������;���
���������<
���:���D>���7�����8
��
7��>8���>����<
7����

5��6�,��>��>������������
���#��
������
�7���7�B���<��
@���>���
���
�8�
9���>����@?�
@>�����:�1��
��<���E������
���������9��<�
�<������?�=
���������:�����:��
����������1���9�
���>��>�����<����@��=������9��<��<�����
�:��>�������E���=���������
��<��=���������
�������
��
8�8�
9�
8�8�

�9������
��@��=�������
��<����<�����
�:��>�������E�������
��
������=���������
��<
���
8���A
����:����>��>�����

5��6�%E�����:�*�����+<��>���
8���?������
�����>��>����<���9�����98>��@�8
����<���==������
��

8��<��������
��
����?��7���7�����<����
�@>���<����
����
���
�8
�7��
��<��
��D>���7�����
8��<��������
��7�?�@���
����>����>@A�����
��<����D>���7�����
8��<���
�����
���#8��>�<���>����
���
�8
�7��:��
��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
�����
����
����>���8
���9��;���
����>��;��7
��<�1��
�=���
���<����>����<�������
�����>��>���
�<����8����>�������>�<�>����
�8
�7���
��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
���

5� 6�$�9�*���������>�������
9���@?��<��>�����?��:�B
���:����������7�?�@������@���<��1�
�>@A�����
��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
�1��E��=��8
���<��
>��

��
��>��
��������
��
��:��
8�7
;��@���
@A�����@��
9��<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5��6�%E�����:�,��>��>�������?����>��>�������E��������@�8
����<�������7����
8��<��������
��
��
��?��7���7�����<����
��<����
����
���
�8
�7��
��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
��7�?�
��7����
��7�?�>����:
���<�@�������
���>@A�����
��<����D>���7�����
8��<��������
���
�>��<��1���?��>�<����>��>���7�?�@��
�<��9�����7=�
;������8
��
9���
5�6�� ��?�=���
��7�F��:�����E=����
��
����������:�7�����
�����E�����:�������������

���>��>����<�������;�����<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1�
8��<���E=������

�������:���=
���
���
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

546�� ��?�=���
��7�F��:�����E=����
��
����������:�7�����
�����E�����:�
�
����������������>��>����<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;�����<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:�
�<��@���7���1�
8��<���E=������
�������:���=
���
���
�
���@
;���<��8�

��
=�
�����
�����;���
���E��=���<�����?��
�:��:�>�����9��<����<���E=������
��
�����:���=
���
��
8��>�<����>��>����<����@�����;������
�
���@
;���<��8�

��
=�
�����
�����;���
���

5�6�� ��?�=���
��7�F��:�����E=����
��
����������:�7�����
�����E�����:�7�E���>���
���>��>����<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;�����<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1�
8�
�<���E=������
�������:���=
���
���
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
������
�<�������;�����<���������������
�:��:�>�����9��<����<���E=������
�������:���
=
���
���
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5	6�� ��?�=���
��7�F��:����>@���������7
��8�����
��
�����>@����������7=�
;�7�����
�
��?��E�����:��
����������������>��>����<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;�����<���
9����8�

�1�
����>���:��<��@���7���1�
8��<����>@���������?�7
��8����
���7=�
;���=
���
��������

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page     281



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���>��>����
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
�������<����8�

�=�

8��<��
��7�������
8��<���E�����:����>��>����E��=���<�����?��
�:��:�>�����9��<����<��
�E=������
�������:���=
���
��
8��>�<����>��>����<����@�����;������
�
���@
;���<��
8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5	%6���?�=���
��7�F��:����>@���������7
��8�����
��
�����>@����������7=�
;�7�����
�
��?��E�����:����������������>��>����<�������;�����<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:��<��
@���7���1�
8��<������������������������>��>����
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
��
���;���
���

5�6�� ��?�=���
��7�F��:����>@���������7
��8�����
��
�����>@����������7=�
;�7�����
�
����E�����:�7�E���>������>��>����<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;�����<���
9����8�

�1�
����>���:��<��@���7���1�
8��<������������>��>��������<�������;��������������������
�����
�:��:�>�����9��<����<�����>��>����
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5��6��$�9�,��>��>������
����>���
��
8���9����>��>�����<����7�����<��8
��
9��:�
��D>���7������
5�6�� ��?�=���
���
����>����:�����9����������������>��>����<�������;�����<���
9����

8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1��
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
�C�

546�� ��?�=���
���
����>����:�����9�7�E���>������>��>����<����8�

�=�

8�
�����;����
�<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1�
8��<������������>��>��������<�������;����
���������������������
�:��:�>�����9��<����<�����>��>����
�
���@
;���<��8�

��
=�
�����
�����;���
�C�

5�6�� ��?�=���
���
����>����:�����9��
����������������>��>����<�������;���������
�:��:�
>�����9��<����<�����>��>����
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
�������<����
8�

�=�

8������7��������D>����:��
�<>7��������;����
��
�����;�����<���
9����
8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1��
�
���@
;���<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
��9��<�
�<��8
��
9��:��E��=��
����

5�6�� �=����������9��<��C�

5��6�� *�<������=�;���
��C�

5���6�� *�8����<���
��8�

������������@>�����:�����?9�?��
��������������C�

5�;6�� '��������
��:���<���C�

5;6�� ,���9��F�1�=�;��:1�
����=<���1��
������1�
����
���8���9
�FC�

5;�6�� ������C�����

5;��6� )
���1������1���@���1�
��
�<��������7����
��
��������@>��
��8����������
8�=>@����
>����������

5�	6���?�=���
���
����>����:�����9����>��>���
����=�
=���?���7
;���8�
7��<��
�����
<>������?����8�

�=������<�
>:<����%&��(������
8�&�=�"�;���
��4�����
�������
5(�&"��6��<����=�
������<���
9����8�

�1�����>���:��<��@���7���1��
�
���@
;��
�<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���<����E������@�8
���=����7����
8�8���1����8
��
9���

5�6�� "��������������>��>�����@?����;����:��<�����>��>��C�
��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18Packet Page     282



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5��6�� $
����������������>��>�����@?����;����:�
��8�

�=�

8��:��<�����>��>����

,
���?�8
���<��=>�=
����
8��<����>@=���:��=<�5�65��65�61�=��;�
>��?�����:������
8�

�=������������<���<�;��@������7
;���8�
7��<��
���<>������?����8�

�=�����
�<�
>:<���(�&"����<����@���
����������
�@��9��<����<��8�

�=������$
�=���
���<����
�
����>�������9����>��>����>@A�����
��<����>@=���:��=<�5�65��65�6�=��
���
��<�����>�����

8���8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7���=>��>�����
�,�����
������1�H��

�=�����
	�;��
=7����)��7���1H�4�"�����!���

5�!6��%���
�>�����%���
�>����@��
9��<���
9����8�

���<�������>�8����<���
��8�

�����������1�
>��@����
���?�8
��=��F��:�
8�;�<�����1����9���=����1�@>�����:��������
����
��:�1�������
������<�������
����@���7���1������<��������
��8�

�=�

8����������8
��<�����<��������
��
�<����7�����<��8
��
9��:���D>���7������
5�6�� �
7=�������9��<��<��=�
;���
���
8�=���:��=<��5�65�61�5�65�61�����5�65�6�
8��<���

�����
�C�����

546�� 	���:�������
����>���
���<����>�
7�������?��D>���B���<?��
�������8�

��8
�����
��
�E����
��9�����@?����
9��:�8
���<������?������E���
8�8�

�9�������

5�6�� 	���:���8
��7�����:��<�����D>���7�����<����7����
���E������<��8
��
9��:�
7���7>7�������������7���7>7�
8��9
�
=����:��<�;��:����
�������������
8�
�
��������<���
����D>�������<�8
���;��?��D>����8

��
8�����
����������>@A����
�
�8�

���:��<����@��=�
;������+<��@
��
7�
8�����
=����:���<����@���
�
<�:<����<���
���8

���@
;��:�������=����:��7�?�@���D>�==���9��<�
�������1��
>;���1�;��;��1�
��
�<����
;����:��
����;�����=�
;������<����<�?�
=��7����<���>�
7���������?������E���
8�8�

�9�������

5��6�� ��?�����:����
������
�8
�7�����9��<��>@=���:��=<�5�65�!65465�6��@
;�1�
�<����@�������8����@?�����:��������=�
8����
������:������
��������������<������
�����<�����
�8
�7�9��<��<��7
����>�������%&��+��<������4>�������
���
�1��=����:������
>�����
��G������

5�6�� �>��?�����
����������@��
9��<���
9����8�

���>@A�����
��<���=�
;���
������>����<��
8
��
9��:��

5�6�� "�����������:���:���=���������
���@
;��:����C�

5��6�� %���
�>����
��;����@>�����<������������<����
����>��>���������<�������>����B���
8
����
��:��
������?9�?�C�

5���6�� ���9���=����C�����

5�;6�� �>��

��=�;���
�������=���
�����
�>����9��<���7
;�@���9������
���
������
����<��<�:<�<�B����B
����

5�6��4��
9�'��������9��,=�����
����>���
���$�9��
����>���
�1��E=����
��
��
�����:�7���1��>@����������7=�
;�7���������>@���������7
��8�����
��
8���?�@��
9�
:��������9���=�����<����7�����<��8
��
9��:���D>���7������
5�6�� #�����
��:��������;���
���<������@��
9��<��@����8�

�����;���
���<����@���
��
9���

�<����9
�8����@��
9��<���
9������A������:����C�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 19Packet Page     283



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

546�� +<��<��:<��
8��<��@��
9�:��������9���=����7���>����8�
7��<��������
��:�����
8�
�<�����9���=�����
��<���
=�
8��<��8
>�����
��9�����<�����
���E�����8
>��8�������
��?�=
���C�

5�6�� ���D>����������:���?���7���<�������
9�8�

�9�������
�������8�
7��<��������
��
�����
8��<�����9���=����8
��
9��:���8�

�C�����

5	6�� +<��=�
;���
���
8�=���:��=<��5�65�61�5�65�61�5�65�6�����5�65�!6�
8��<��������
��
�<����@���
7=�����9��<��

5��6��������������������������(
�:��:��������������+<����D>���7�����
8�,>@�����
������5�61�
2,���������8
��������������������������(
�:��:����������������<����;��/>������-����
��

�=����13�4�"�����!�1��==�?��
����������8���������������
�:��:�8��������������<��
���
<>������?����8�

�=�������G<�������
�8������E����@��9�����<����D>���7�����
8��<���
�����
�������<��=�
;���
��
8�,>@�����
������5�61�4�"�����!�1��<��7
������������;��
��D>���7������==�?���

�
,����
������,����
������1�4�"�����!�1�����7���������8
��
9����

�������������	����	������������	������ ��!	�����
#���<���
�;�?�����B
��1��<��8
��
9��:������������==�?��

5�6�� +<��=�
;���
���
8������
������1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<������/>������-����
��

�=����1H�4�"�����!���

5@6� �+<��=�
;���
���
8������
����� 1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<��/�:<�/�B����L
��1H�4�"����
�!�1��8��<�������������
��
����������<��<�:<�<�B����B
����

5�6�� ����>�������
9���>������<��=�
;���
���
8������
������1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<��
��

�=����1H�4�"�����!�1��8��<�?������
��=�
<�@�����@?��<��>�����?��:�B
���:����������
��
��?�
���������
8��<������?1�7�?�@������@���<����E��=���<����
�=���
���<��������@���<�
��
�<��:����?�>����<������>���������?����������<�����;���
��
8��<��
���<>������?����8�

���

5�6�� �������>��>�������
9���>����������
������1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<������/>������-����
��

�=����1H�4�"�����!�1�7�?�@������@���<����E��=���<����
�=���
���<�����

5�6�� )�������?����>��>�������<���
�;�?�����B
����<���9�������>��������?����������<�����;���
��

8��<��
���<>������?����8�

�C�
��

5�6�� )�������?�
@���>���
������<���
�;�?�����B
��1��E��=������;��������
��@�?���������?�
8
��8�

��7���:�7�����8��<����;�����������:���������
����>������
�7���7�B���<��
=
��������<�B������
���8������=�
=���?��

5�6�� $
�=���
���<��������?�
>����?�
�<�����;��
=7�����<������>���������?����������<�����;���
��
8�
�<��
���<>������?����8�

���

Agenda Item 5A     Page 20Packet Page     284



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

586� (
����B���������9��<���8�

���<�������
��
�����=���8���=�������<������@���:���;��
=�������
=��7����@����8��<��������
���;������7=����
������@?�=�
=������������<��������
�������������
�<���;���:��9������>�8�������;���
�����
�:��<����
��������
���
8��<��8�

�=������

5:6� (
����B���������
�������
9����
���
���
�����@?���:
;���7����
��:
;���7�����>@��;���
��
��
�:���?1�
��9��<���=>@����������:��
��8�

���
���
������7����1�����=��7����@����8��<��
8
��
9��:���D>���7�����<�;��@���������8�����

5�6�� +<���==�������<�����������?�=�
=���?�����������
��=��7����
���
�>���������
����
9��<��
��������������?�9������>��8�������;���
��
���<��������
���;������7=�����
��>�<�����C�

5�6�� +<���������
����>��@������>��>����>������<���%&��$���
������

��#��>������)�
:��7�
�88������@?��<���
����B�������C�

5�6�� +<���==�������7���7�B����<���7
>���
8��<���
����B�������������8�

�����;���
�C�����
5�6�� +<���==��������
7=�����9��<�������������?��%&����D>���7����1�����>���:1�9��<
>��

��7�����
�1�
@������:����
������
����(������
8�&�=�"�;���
��5�(�&"6�=��
���
�
��;��
=7����������(������
8�&�=�"�;���
��5(�&"6�>=
���
7=����
��
8���=�
A����
��>���:����
����B�����������8�

�����;���
���

�
,����
������,����
����� 1�4�"�����!�1�����7���������8
��
9���

����"��������	����	�����������������#��
�!	�����

#���<��<�:<�<�B����B
���
8��<��8�

�=����1��<��8
��
9��:������������==�?��

5�6�� +<��=�
;���
���
8������
������1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<������/>������-����
��

�=����1H�4�"�����!���

5@6�� +<��=�
;���
���
8������
������1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<���
�;�?�����L
��1H�4�"����
�!�1��8��<�������������
��
����������<���
�;�?�����B
����

5�6�� ����>�������
9���>������<��=�
;���
���
8������
������1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<������
/>������-������

�=����1H�4�"�����!�1��8��<�?������
��=�
<�@�����@?��<��>�����?��:�
B
���:����������
����?�
�<���
���������
8��<�����?1�7�?�@������@���<��1��E��=���<����
�=���
��
�<�����

5�6�� �<��:���<��>���
8�����E�����:����>��>������������8
��<>7���
��>=���?�8�
7���
�
�������������>����
���������������>���
��>����������<

�1���?�����������1�:�
>=�<
7�1�
�����������������8������?1�
���
�:��:���������8������?��

5�6�� %���@���<���?���9�=��F��:��
��8
��7
�
��;�<�������
5�6�� %���@���<���?���7=:�
>����

5�6�� �������>��>�������
9���>������<��=�
;���
���
8�,�����
������1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<��
����/>������-������

�=����1H�4�"�����!�1�7�?�@������@���<��1��E��=���<����
�=���
��
�<�����

Agenda Item 5A     Page 21Packet Page     285



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5�6�� �
����>���
��=�������?���9����>��>������������8
��<>7���
��>=���?��
5�6�� %E=���1������:�1�
��7�F�����>@���������7
��8�����
��
���>@����������7=�
;�7�����
�

��?��E�����:����>��>������������8
��<>7���
��>=���?��$
�9��<�������:��<���=�
;���
�1�
��=���
��7�?����
����>������
��8�

����7�:������>��>���
��=
���
���<���
81�9<��<�

�<��9�����
����
�����>������>@����������7=�
;�7���1�>������<��=�
;���
���
8�
,�>@=���:��=<������5�65��65�6�����5�65��65	61�4�"�����!���

5�6�� *��
�����
���1�>�����
����@>�����:����7������>�<����@���
����1��9���:�������

8�

;��<��:��7�?��E�����>=��
�8
>��8�������
��<��<�:<�<�B����B
����8��
7=�����?��
�������@
;��
�<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
�������<����7�������
8��<�����>��>����
7=�����9��<��<����<�=�����

�

,����
�� ���,����
������1�4�"�����!�1�����7���������8
��
9���

����$���		
�����%����	�&����'��&�����
����� ����;������%E�7=��8�
7���

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7���"�D>���7�����+<��8
��
9��:�

����;�������������
9���9��<����<��
���<>������?����8�

�=�������������<��8�;��<>������?����
8�

�=����������
��
����D>������8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7����

5�6�� H&����������H������8��������,����
�������1�H'�������	�8�����
��1H�4�"����
�!�1��<����
����
���88�����<���88������?�
����=����?�
8��<���
�;�?�����
B
���
��<�:<�<�B����B
����

5��6�� ,���9��F�1��
������1���=<����
����
���8���9
�F��<����
����
�����>�������<��
����@���<7����
���E=����
��
8�=��F��:�����������
����
��7
��8?��E�����:�
:�����@?�7
����<�����E����<����

5���6�� *����:�
>���>����������<����
��
��7
��8?��E�����:�:������

5�;6�� )
���1������1���@���1���:��=
���1��������=��:��������9
�F��<����
��
���88����
�<���88������?�
����=����?�
8��<���
�;�?�����B
���
��<�:<�<�B����B
����

5;6�� +�7=
���?�8�����������<��������
��=��7������?������<����
��<��:�
>����>�<�
��������1����88����
���
����;�����������9��8>����>���=�
;������<����<�?�9����
�
���88�����<���88������?�
����=����?�
8��<���
�;�?�����B
���
��<�:<�<�B����
B
��1�
���<�?�9������7�������=�����8
���
�7
����<����<���?���?���

5@6�� ����==�������8
����8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7����<����=�?��<��8���=������@���@?�,�����
��
�������1�H��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7����������

���
���
��0������������1H�4�"����
�!�1������<�����
7=���������==������
��8
�7�=�
;�����@?��<�����?�7���:����<����<����
����>��1�9��<
>����7�����
�1��<��8
��
9��:��

5�6�� +<��9��������
������
8��<��
9�����
8�����=�
=���?��>@A�����
��<����;��
=7������D>���C�
5�6�� ��9������������7�������������:��<�����������8
���==�
;��C�
5�6�� #�8
�7���
��
���<���
����
��
8�<�B���
>��7������������<
9����9����@�����>�����
�

=��;�����������������>���:���8�;��<>������?����8�

���;���1��8��<��8�

�=�����
��;��
=7����=��7����==������
�����8
�������������8������?�9<��<�9�����
������<�B���
>��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 22Packet Page     286



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

7����������>�8����;��9�=�����<
9��:����;���
��������
��
>���
8��<��:�
>��C�=���������
���>��>���1�8���1�������
��:�����;���
��C���B��1��
����
��1������=�����������:�7�����
8�����
=�
=
���1�������=����1������E�����:����>��>����
���<������C��
����
���������;���
���
8�
�������1�9������>==����������������?�8���������C������
����?=��C�����

5�6�� ���
=?�
8��<���7��:���?�7���:�7����=���1��8��<��8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7���
�==������
�����8
�������������8������?�
���
�:��:�8������?C����,=���8�����
���8
��@>�����:�
�
����>���
������7��������1�8�����:1�����:��:1�:�����:1��<�������7=�
;�7���������
�<��:��1���
��:��
8�7��������1�9������>==�?1������������?�8�����������

5 6�� ��9������������7����@?����
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
������:�����������8?��:��<����<��
=�
=
������;�������:������
=������:�����7�����������7��>���7�����<����D>���7�����

8�,>@�����
������5�65 61�2%E�7=��
��8
����������������������)�
�������@?�(�;���
,?���713�4�"�����!�1��8��<��8�

����;��
=7����=��7����==������
�����8
�������������
8������?�
���
�:��:�8������?�8
��9<��<�����E�7=��
������
>:<��>�����,>@�����
�����
�5�65 6��

5@�6�� +<��7���:���7�?���D>�����<���==��������
�8>����<�������
������8
�7���
��������������
���7�����������?��
��;��>�����<���88�����
8��<��=�
=
�����
����>���
��>=
���<��8�

�=�����

���
������7����9<��<����<����D>���7�����
8��<����<�=����<�;��@����7��1�����>���:1�9��<
>���
��7�����
���

5�6�� ���>�8����;��9�=�����<
9��:����;���
��������
��
>���
8��<��:�
>��C�=���������
���>��>���1�8���1�������
��:�����;���
��C���B��1��
����
��1������=�����������:�7�����
8�����
=�
=
���1�������=����1������E�����:����>��>����
���<������C��
����
���������;���
���
8�
�������1�9������>==����1������������?�8���������C������
����?=��C��

5�6�� ,=���8�����
���8
��@>�����:��
����>���
������7��������1�8�����:1�����:��:1�:�����:1�
�<�������7=�
;�7����������<��:��1���
��:��
8�7��������1�9������>==�?1������������?�
8����������C�

5�6�� 0����?���
��������
����<
9��:��<��8�

�=������>��
>����:��<��9�����
>���1���
���
�����
���
8��<��������
�@��
��>=����@?��<��=�
=
������;��
=7���1�����
���<>������
?����8�

��7�E�7>7�9������>�8�������;���
����8
�7���
�1����1�8
�����������8����������
�����
�:��:�8���������1�8�;��<>������?����8�

��7�E�7>7�9������>�8�������;���
��
��8
�7���
�C�

5��6����=�
8�����<
9��:��<����
=��
8��<��@
��
7�
8��<���<������
���<��9�:�
8��<��
9�����
>���C�

5� 6����8�

�=���������?����@?����
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
������:������
8��<��8�

��
=�
8���1����;���
�1�����;��
���?1�>���:�7��<
�
�
:?�����=��@����
��%&�1�����>���:�
�E�����:�����������=�����>��������7�F��:��������7�����
���<����<��=�
=
����
�
����>���
��
����;��
=7����9�����
����>��������������<�����;���
��
8��<��9������>�8����

8���
���<>������?����8�

�C�����

5��6�������>��>��������?����@?����
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
������:�������<
9��:��<�����?�
=�
=
�������>��>����9����@�����D>����?�����:���������
����>������
�=��;����8�
����
�1�
�
���=��1�
����������7
;�7����
8��<�����>��>������>����:�8�
7�<?��
�?��7�������
<?��
��������
���1�����>���:��<���88�����
8�@>
?���?�������
>���:��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 23Packet Page     287



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5��6��G<�����;��9��:�����==������
��8
����=��7��1��<�����?�7���:����<���������7����9<��<�
=
���
��
��=
���
���
8��<��8�

�=����������88������@?��<��=�����>������;��
=7������D>��������
�<�����<����==�?��<��=�
;���
���
8�,�����
�������1�2��

�=�����13�����1�H"�:>����
���
'
;�����:��<������/>������-������

�=����1H�����1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<��
�
�;�?�����L
��1H�������� 1�H"�:>����
���'
;�����:��<��/�:<�/�B����L
��1H�4�"����
�!�1�����==����@����+<��7���:������
��<���������7����9<��<����<���==������
��7������<��
�������
8��<����<�=����=������@���@?�,�>@�����
������5�61�4�"�����!�1��8�����
��������:��<��
8
��
9��:�8���
����

5�6�� +<���88�����>=
���<���88������?�
����=����?�
8��<���
�;�?�����B
�������<�:<�<�B����
B
��C�

5�6�� +<���88�����>=
��������>=�����71��
9������71���������<���77�������;������?C�
5�6�� +<���88�����>=
���<��
���<>������?����8�

��=�
8���C�
5�6�� +<���88�����>=
����?����@>��������
��<��7���������71�������:������<��1�������?�
�<���

������:��8����������
���?���7�C�
5 6�� G<��<���������
����=>@�����E=�����>����8
��8�

��=�
�����
��
��=��;����
��9����@��

��D>����C�
5�6�� G<��<����<��=�
=
����>������8
��<>7���
��>=���?C�
5�6�� +<��=
�����������:����
�=���
���>=�����71��
9������71���������<���77�������;������?C�
5!6�� G<��<�����?�=�
=
�����<��:��������9�����
>����9����<�;�������;�������;��
�7������

�88����
���<��9�����
>���1�����>���:1�9��<
>����7�����
�1������7�@��F�����������7�����
����������;�:�����
�C�

56�� G<��<�����?�=�
=
����9������>==�?�������������
���?���7������
�<���>�����?��?���7��
����=��;�����������1��
���7�����
�1�����>��������?�
��<�B���
>���
�����
����>���:���
8�

�C�

5��6��G<��<�����?�=�
=
����8������?����������
�������9����@���>���=��@����
�8�

����7�:��
�����<���88����
8��>�<���7�:�C�

5��6��+<��������
��<�=�
8��<��=�
=
������;��
=7�����
��<��4
>�����0����?��
7=��<����;��
)����������?��==����@���8�

�=�����7���:�7����=�
:��7�C�

5��6� G<��<�����8�������������;����@����
��<��=�
=���?������7���
8�8�

��8
��
������?�����
�7��:���?�;�<�����C�

5��6��G<��<����<���==�������9����=�
;����8�

��9�����:��?���7���
��
��8?�8�

�=�����

��>=�����
8��7=�����:�8�

��C�

5��6��G<��<����<���>7>����;���88����
8��<��=�
=
������;��
=7����9��<�
�<����E�����:�����
������=�����>����9�������������8�

��<��:<��C�����

5� 6��G<��<����<���E=������<��:<��1�;��
������1��>����
�1������
8�����1���������7���������=
���

8��<��8�

�9�������E=����������<�������9������;�����?��88�����<����;��
=7����
��
�>��
>����:�=�
=���?��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 24Packet Page     288



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5��6�� #8��<�����?�7���:��������7������<����<���==�������7������<��=>�=
����������D>���7�����
8�
�<����<�=���1��<��7���:����<�������>���<��=��7�������7�?������<��>�<��
�����
���������7���
��������?��
�8>��<����<��=>�=
����
8��<����<�=�����

5�86�� ��%;��?�=��7������>���
��
���8�����=�����1��! 1��<����@��
7����;������E=������<����?�����
�8�������������
8����>����1��8��<��=��7������<����
���
77�������
����>���
��>������<��
=��7�����8��<��9
�F��>�<
��B���@?��>�<�=��7�������
���
7=�����������==�
;���@?��<�����?�
7���:���9��<����<����?�����8�
7��<��������>�<�=��7���9������>������*=
�������=��
8���
��D>�������9�����:��<�����7
���������A>���8��@�����>���������������;���=��
���
��E=�����
��
8�
�<��=��7��1��<�����?�7���:���7�?�:��������9�����:�
���
��7
����E�����
���
8���7��8
��
=���
����
��7
����<����!����?�����<������=����
8�����==�
;���
8��E�����
��
8���=��7��1��<��
���?�7���:���7�?��7=
���������
�����
�����
���
���<���==����������
������
����>���
�
7=�������9��<���?��7���7������
��<����<�=����
���<��8�

�=�����7�==��:��88����;���8����
�<�������
8��<��
��:�����=��7����==�
;�����+<�����7�H�
77�������
����>���
�H��<����7����
�<��8�����=����7����
8�=��7�������
����>���
��
8������>��>���
��������1��>�<�����<��=
>���:�
8�
���@��
��8

���:�1��<������������
��
8�=����1��<���
����>���
��
8��
�>7��1�
����?�9
�F�@�?
���
�<�����:��
8��E��;���
�C�
���<��=����7����
8���7��>8���>����<
7��
����8
>�����
�C�@>��
�
����
������>��������=��=�����
�1�:�����:�����8�����:1�
������������
��
8���������
������9��F���

58:6�� $
�=���
��9<
�<���
@���������=��7����<����8�����
��
����>���������
�������9��<��<����
�==�
;����==������
����������:���

5:<6����

�=�������;��
=7����=��7�����<������
9�8
����;��
=7��������<���
�;�?�����B
���
���<��
<�:<�<�B����B
��1�
��9<��<�9������;
�;�����<��:��
8�9�����
>���1��<����@����������@?��<��
���?�7���:����+<��������
��
8��<�����?�7���:����<����@���>@A�����
������>=�@?��<��=������:�
@
���1�
���==����@?���?��::���;���=���?��
��<��=������:�@
���1��>@A�����
��<�������>=�����
�==����=�
���>���
8�,�����
������1�H�==����1������*=������)>@����/�����:�1H�4�"����
�!���

5�<6�� ��8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7���8
����?�
8��<��8
��
9��:����7������88����;��>=
���<�������

8��������>������

5�6�� ,���9��F�1�=��F��:��
��1�
��
�<����
������1���=<���1�
����
���8���9
�F��<����
��
��
7
��8?��E�����:�:����C�

5�6�� *���<�@�����
;��<�������>��>����=�
A����
��1��
�=
���
��
8�9<��<��E������@��
9��<��
8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
�C�
��

5�6�� "�<�@�������
��
8�����E�����:����>��>���������
�������9��<��<����8�����
��������<�=����
���1�H	�8�����
��1H�4�"�����!���#��������
�1�8
��=�
=�����������<��<�:<�<�B����B
��1�
�<����<�@�������
���<�����
�����>��������=�
<�@������<��:�����>����������8
��<����
,�>@�����
����� 5�61�4�"�����!���

5A�6�� $
�=���
���<���������������?�>����8����
@������:���=��7���>������<��������
��9��<
>��8�����
�>@7�����:��
��<�����?�7���:����������8�����
��@?����
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
����
��:�������<����<����;��
=7����<���@�����
7=����������
7=�������9��<��<���==�
;���=��7���
�==������
�������<��������
�����
���<�;��@����8>�8�������

Agenda Item 5A     Page 25Packet Page     289



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5AF6�� ���������
�����;��?��<����?����1��<��
9����
��
=����
��
8������������8������?�=�
�������@?���
��;���8
��9<��<��<�����?�7���:����==�
;�������E�7=��
��>�����)���:��=<�����5�65 61�
2%E�7=��
��8
����������������������)�
�������@?�(�;���,?���713�4�"�����!�1������
8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7��1��<����8����9��<��<�����?�7���:�����9������������8�����
��8�
7�
���
�
���
���:��������=�
8����
������:�������<����<����;���7������<��7���7>7�8���@
����
��D>���7���������8
��<����,>@�����
������5�65 6������<����<����;����==����1�
��;��>���
���=����
�1��
�@�����>��>����?��
>����������D>����?�7������������+<�����?�7���:���7�?�
��D>�����<��
9����
��
=����
���
��>@7����>�<������8�����
��7
���8��D>����?��<���
�����;��?�
�<����?������8�9���������@?��������8�

���
�����
���
������>7���������<���7�?�������
�
�<��:�������<����;����?���7�����<�����������8������?���+<��=��7����E=������8��<�������8�����
��
��D>�����=>��>�����
��<����>@�����
������
��8�����9��<��<�����?�7���:������������8�

�=�����
��;��
=7����=��7���<���@�������>���:������:�����E�7=��
��>�����)���:��=<�����5�65 61�
2%E�7=��
��8
����������������������)�
�������@?�(�;���,?���713�4�"�����!�1�8
�������������
8������?�=�
�������@?�����;����?���71�8>�>�����;��
=7����
���<�������=�
�������@?��<����;���
�?���7��<����
����
�������?�9�?��88�����<����;����?���7�
������
=�����
������7�����������
�<�����
����D>������8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7����
��
�:�����<����D>���7�����
8��<���
�>@�����
��5F6�����)���:��=<�����5�65 61�4�"�����!�1�����7����

�

,����
������,����
������1�4�"�����!�1�����7���������8
��
9���

����(�)���� �����

5�6�� ��=���
��9��<��:��
��E=����
�������:������E�����:����>��>����<����
����
���
�8
�7��
��<��
��D>���7�����
8��<����<�=������������
��@��7�����
��
�8
�7�9��<
>��>�����
��@����E=�����

��>�����
��@����7=����
���<���E�����:����>��>���7�?��==�?��
��<�����?�7���:���8
����
;��������8�
7��<����D>���7�����
8��>@=���:��=<������5�65��65�6�����5�65��65	6+<�����?�
7���:���7�?�:�������;��������8�
7��<����D>���7�����
8�,>@�����
������5�6�����,����
��1�
����1�����1�������� 1�4�"�����!�1��E��=���<����
�;���������<����@��:�������8
���E=����
��

�������:�7����
8���?����>��>����
����>������8����J>�?���1���!1�>�������>�<��E=����
��
��
�����:�7�����
�8
�7���
��<��8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
����D>���7��������88��������<����7��
8�
�<��
��:������
����>���
���

5@6�� +<�����?�7���:����<�����
��:�������;��������>������<��������
��>�������<��7���:���
�����7������<����

5�6�� �
��������:��<��8�

��<�B���1��<��;������������<��7���7>7���������?��
��88
��������8C�
5�6�� +
��
��
�9
>����
�����>������������
�����<�������
�=>@������8��?1��E���
������?�=>@����

�E=����1��>������1�8��>�1�;����7�B���
��
8��<��=>@���1�
��8
��;�������������<��
�
�;�?�����B
��������������<�����;���
��
8��<��9������>�8����
8���
���<>������?����
8�

�1�
��@������
�8�����9��<��E�����:�=�
;���
���
8��<����
��1�
����?�
���������
8��<��
���?1�
����?�
�<����==����@�����9�C�����

Agenda Item 5A     Page 26Packet Page     290



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

5�6�� ����>����
�:������<��;��������9
>������>�������E��=��
����<����<�=��
��<���==������1�
�E��=���<�����<����<�=�������
��@���<
9��8
����;���������
>:<���
��<����D>���7�����
8�
)���:��=<�5�65�6�
8�����1�4�"�����!�1�8
�����=>@�����������������;�����8������?�����<��
8�;��<>������?����8�

�=������8��<���==���������7
����������
��<�������8����
��
8��<��
���?�7���:����<����<��8������?����������7����
8������>�������?���7�8
��9<��<����;�����
9�����
��@��������>=�����>���:���8�

����������7���7>71��<���==��������<����
��7
���������<���
���
��7
������>������8���������������;����@��1����<���
9����@?��<��
��7��=>@���������?�
���;����@����<�
>:<���������:
;���7�������:���7����
��
�<���
�
������1����������
�������C��<����<�����������;��8�����������������<����
������
>������
8�
�<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=�����
�������
7=������9��<��<����D>���7�����
8��<���
�<�=���1C������<������
=�����
���=�����������88�����<����������<
9����>�������?���7��
9����=�
;�������;�����
��<���88���������������<���;����
8���8�

����%;�������
8�
�:
��:�
���>�����?��<����@��=�
;������
��<�����?�7���:���@?��<��
9����
��
=����
��
8��<��
8������?�>=
����D>����@?��<�����?�7���:����

5�6�� +<��7���:����<�����E�7�����<��8
��
9��:�8���
�����������7����:�9<��<���
���
���
�:�������
;��������>������<��������
���

5�6�� +<�����:����
���8������=�
=���?��>���
�8�

���:�
����
��
����7�:�C�
5�6�� +<����F���<

���<����<��=�
=
������;��
=7���1�����
�A>����
��9��<��E�����:�����

������=�������;��
=7���1�7�?����������8�

��<�B����C�
5�6�� +<��������
��<�=�
8��<��=�
=
������;��
=7�����
��<��4
>�����0����?��
7=��<����;��

)����������?��==����@���8�

�=�����7���:�7����=�
:��7�C�����
5�6�� +<���
��������@����?�
8�=�
;����:��������������;������>�<����7���������:�����=�
������:�

=>@����>�����?��?���7�1��
���1�����@���:��������
8�����
���:��
�7���
=�����
���8
���<��
�
77>���?��>���:������8����8�

����

5�6�� +<�����?�7���:����<�����
��:��������>7>����;���
����
8�;����������<������������������>��>��I��
8�

�������@?�7
����<�������=�������
8��<�����>��>����<�
>:<
>���<����8��
8��<�����>��>����

5�6�� ����==�������8
����;���������<�����==�?�
��8
�7��=�
;�����@?��<�����?�7���:�������=�?��<��
8���=������@���@?�,�����
���������1�H��

�=�����	�;��
=7����)��7����������

���
���
��
0������������1H�4�"�����!�1�>��������8�

�=�������;��
=7����=��7��������D>��������9���1�
���9<��<�������
�8��������D>�����8
���<��;���������

586�� ��?�������
��@?��<�����?�7���:����
��==�
;����;������������>@A�����
������>=�@?��<��
=������:�@
����
���==����@?���?��::���;���=���?��
��<��=������:�@
�������������@���@?�
,�����
������1�H�==����1������*=������)>@����/�����:�1H�4�"�����!���

5:6�� G<���:������:���?�;���������<������
9��8
���
����>���
��@��
9��%&�I��
���<>������?����
8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
�1��<�����?�7���:����<����=�
;�����
��<������=�����
8��<��;��������
9��������
������<����<��=�
=
�����
����>���
���
����
���
�8
�7�9��<��%&��:>�������������
�<����<��=�
=
�����
����>���
�������<��
��:��������>��>���7�?�@���>@A�����
�����������8�

��
���>������=��7�>7���

�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 27Packet Page     291



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

,����
������+�@��������*,%�+�4(%�
8�,>@�����
������5�61�4�"��������7���������

8
��
9���

��$�*�+ ��
����	,�'��&���
�-��
�.����

/�

5�6�*���+�@����

TABLE 6-1: USE TABLE�

Use Modules R1 R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 MH M1 M2 M3 M4 B1 B2 B3 B4 B5 D1 D2 D3 I1 I2 I3 I4 P A

Specific 

Use 

Standard

Residential Uses�

����	
����������
������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������

����	
����������
��������
�����
���	
����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������	��

���� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� "� �� �� ������

����	
����������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� "� �� �� ������

#�$���
�%����&��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

'���
������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� "� �� �� ������

(�)����&�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�����&���)��
�������
������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������$��

*++�	���	,��)���������-�

�.�/+�0123��+������
������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� "� �� �� ��

4.�/+�5123��+������
������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�		����&,������-�

�.��		����&,�
������������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

4.�6���&7��
�		����&,������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

�.�(�%�����
�		����&,������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

��&�����&��������
����� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�
!&����8��&��&�-�

�.�����&������	�&��
+�	������� �� �� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� �� ��� ��� ��� �� ��� �� ��� �� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������+��

����1����

Agenda Item 5A     Page 28Packet Page     292



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

4.����������	�&�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�.�!&����
�%��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������
����1����

�.�9����������	�&��
+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������+��

����1����

*.�:&���&������;�
��&�&�����;�����
��&%���&����

�� �� �� �� �� ��� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� !� ��� �� ��� �� �� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �����1����

:.�4��&�����
������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

<�%���		�������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

'&����������
������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������
��

Dining and Entertainment�

�&���&�	&�+���������
���	��=1;222�
�8��&��+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�&���&�	&�+���������
���	��>1;22?�
�8��&��+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

4&���&���;�
������&�����&�
����&����0?@;222�
�8��&��+�����������
�
��&�����&����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����
@�$���.@��

4&���&���;�
������&�����&�
����&����0?@;222�
�8��&��+��������
���
������&�����&����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����
@�$���.@��

4&���&���;�
������&�����&�
����&�������
��&�
���
������&�����&����
>?@;222��8��&��+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����
@�$���.@��

��%%�&	���
���	
��������
	���&����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

/����&��%���%����
����$��
%���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

#�$���:����A�
�	��
���B&�)����B&���&�,� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����@����

#�$���:����A�
�	��
���B�$�	�9��
���+�
C�,�

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����@����

#����%�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

9�����&�����
�����&��� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� ����@�$��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 29Packet Page     293



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

9�����&����;�
$&����$������
��)�&�������&��&�
�
���?;222��8��&��
+�������+��&��&��;�
�
�	
�%�,�
�)��
%�����&)�	��������
������������������
%�&���
���E��
��
+��&��&��;�����
�
�	
�	����������&�
�
���??-22��.%.�

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� ��

9�����&����;�
$&����$������
��)�&�������&��&�
�
���?;@22��8��&��
+�������+��&��&��;�
�
�	
�%�,�
�)��
%�����&)�	��������
������������������
%�&��
���E��
��
+��&��&��;�����
�
�	
�	����������&�
�
���??-22��.%.�

�� �� �� �� �� �D�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� ����@�$��

9�����&����;�
$&����$������
��)�&����)�&�?;222�
�8��&��+�������+��&�
�&��;��&��
�	
�	����
�+��&�??-22��.%.;��&�
���
����������&�
���������&����+��22�
�8��&��+�����&�%�&��

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� ��

9�����&����;�
$&����$������
��)�&����
����&�-�
�)�&�?;@22��8��&��
+�������+��&��&��;�
���������+��
��
���)�&���,�<��
����&��
�%�&�)�%����
����&�	�F��)�&��;222�
�8��&��+�������
���
�
�����)�&���,�<��
����&��
�%�&�)�%����
����&�	�F��&��
�	
�
	�����+��&�??-22�
�.%.�

�� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� ��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 30Packet Page     294



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

9�����&����;�
$&����$������
��)�&�������
��
���)�&���,�<��
����&��
�%�&�)�%��������&�	��
�
����&���&����&��
���
?;@22��8��&��+����
������������ 	����
�;222��8��&��+�������
+��&��&��;�����
�
�	
�	����������&�
�
���??-22��.%.�

�D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� ����@�$��

9�����&����;�
$&����$������
��)�&������
����
������&����������&���
�+��22��8��&��+����
�&�%�&�����
���@22�
+�����+���&����������
G����������&�	��

�D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� ��

H%���
����&��&�
&�
��&������	�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

'�)�&��������&��� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �D�� �� �� �� �� �D�� �D�� ��

'�%��&�&,�������&�
����&����%���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����@�	��

(�����������-�

<������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� �� !� �� !� ��� �� ��� !� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �����1����

4�������$&���+����� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� �� �� �� ��� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����@����
����1����

#���������
����� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� �� ��� ��� �� ��� ��� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �����1����

Public and Institutional Uses�

��&��&�������

����&��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �����1����

��%���&���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

��,	�&�;�
�%�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

��,	�&��	����&����
�
=@2�	
��&��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� �� �� �� ��� �� ��� ��� ��� �� ��� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

����1����

��,	�&��	����&����
�
>@2�	
��&��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� �� ��� ��� ��� �� ��� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

����1����

��,��
���&� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������$��

*%�&���	,��
���&� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������$��
����1����

*��������%���	����
������$�	������,�
��&)�	���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� �� �� �����1����

!�)�&�%�����
+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� �� �� �����1����

#�&���&��������
+���&��	
����� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 31Packet Page     295



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

"���&�+���
%�%$�&�
���	�$�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

6)�&���
���
���&� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������$��
����1����

B&�)������%����&,;�
I����&;����������&�

��
��	
����

�� �� �� �� �� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� ���!� ��� ��� ��� �� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �����1����

B�$�	���%����&,;�
I����&;����������&�

��
��	
����

��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� �� �����1����

B�$�	�	����������
���)�&������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

B&�)����	����������
���)�&������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

B�$�	������&�)����
�++�	��������&�)������
��	�����&)�	���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

9��������
����%$���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

��������	�������
+�	���,����
�012;222�
�8��&��+�����+�+��&�
�&���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

��������	�������
+�	����������
�
512;222��8��&��+����
�&�%�&���+�+��&��&���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

A�	������������&����
�	
���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Office, Medical and Financial Uses�

������&�	�������
+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J�

:����	���������������� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� #� #� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

<�������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��� �� �����1����

#���	���&�������
	���	���&��++�	����&�
����	�����&�	�)�&,�
+�	�������

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� �� ��� ��� ��� �� ���!� ��� ��� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J�
����1����

#���	������������
�$�&���&���� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� #� #� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

6++�	��;�
��%�����&���)�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J�

6++�	��;��&�+�������� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� #� #� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J�

6++�	��;���	
��	�F�
���
�0@;222��8��&��
+�����+�+��&��&���

�� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� #� #� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J�

6++�	��;���	
��	�F�
���
�>@;222��8��&��
+�����+�+��&��&���

�� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� #� #� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J�

6++�	�������
�&� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� �� �� #� #� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 32Packet Page     296



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

Parks and Recreation Uses�

��%��&������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

6�����&�
����&����%���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

B�&������&�	&�������
����� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

/����&�&�	&��������
�&���
���	�+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Commercial, Retail and Industrial Uses�

H�&)�	������-�

���%��
��������&�
)���&���&,�	���	� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

���%�������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

���������+�&�
��&�����
���	�%%���	�������
��&)�	���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

4&���	�����������
&�	�&�����+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� #� #� ��� ���!� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��� �� �� �����1����

4�������������&��
��&)�	���0?2;222�
�8��&��+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

4�������������&��
��&)�	���5?2;222�
�8��&��+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

/�����&�����&)�	��
	����&� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

"���)�
�	��&�&����&�
����&�������&)�	���
���
����������&�
���&����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

"���
$�&
����
$��������	����&� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������+��

B�&�������&)�	��
����� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

9�����H��������-�

�		����&,������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��?��

���)�����	��&�����
�����=1;222��8��&��
+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

���)�����	��&�����
�����>1;222��8��&��
+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� #� #� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

9�����+�������������
��	��������&)�	��
����������

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

9����������=@;222�
�8��&��+���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 33Packet Page     297



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

9����������>@;222�
�8��&��+����$���
=12;222��8��&��+����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

9����������>12;222�
�8��&��+���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

4�������%���&���
�����=?@;222�
�8��&��+�����+�+��&�
�&���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

4�������%���&���
�����>?@;222�
�8��&��+�����+�+��&�
�&���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

'�%��&�&,������ �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����@�	��

A�
�	��9����������-�

����%�$�����&�����
���;���&����;��&�	�&�
�������������
�&��	��������

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������$��

��&����
��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�&�)���
&������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������	��

:�����&)�	�����������
�&�&�����+�������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

H��������&������+�
)�
�	��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

H��������&������+�
)�
�	������
���@22�
+�����+���&����������
����%�����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

H�&)�	���+�)�
�	���
���
����������&�
���&����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

H�&)�	���+�)�
�	���
���
��%�����������&�
���&����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

/�����&�������-�

4�����������
����	������
	���&�	��&��

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

������������
����&,������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�������&�����	��&�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

��%����&��������
������)���%����
+�	�������

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ����J����

*8���%����&����&�
����&��������
�
������&����&����

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

(�%$�&�,�&��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 34Packet Page     298



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

#���+�	��&���������
=?@;222��8��&��+���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

#���+�	��&���������
>?@;222��8��&��+���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

#���+�	��&���������
���
�����������++������
�%��	���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

6�����&����&���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

6�����&����&�����+�
%�&	
������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

B&����&������$����&�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

9�	,	����	����&�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

9�	,	����	��	�����
+�	����������&��� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������
��

9�	,	����	��	�����
+�	����������%�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������
��

9�	,	����
�&�	�������+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ������
��

H�+���&)�	�����&����
+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

'��	�%%���	�������
���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� !� �� !� �� �� �� !� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

C�&�
������&�
����&�$�������+�	������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

C
������$�������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Agriculture and Natural Resource Uses�

6�������	�;�
�&�G��������
�����&���

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

��%%����,���&����� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ���������

�&����&���	����� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

#������������&���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

:�&���������&������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

!&���
���������
�������&��&���� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Accessory�

�		����&,�$��������
��������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��?��

A-����������.�
C-���������������.�H���,����
�������+�&���%�����&���)��&�)�����&�	���&��.�
*-������&�
�$����.�
U-�����&�)���.�H���,����
������ �+�&�����&�)�����&�	���&��.�
G-������������&�)������
����������	������$�)���&�$�����
���&�����+��&.�
M-������������&�)�������������@23��+��
��+��&��&������+�&�&�������������������
�����&�����������������
�����
���J;222��8��&��+������&�$������;���
�&���������&�)���.�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 35Packet Page     299



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

N-������������&�)�������������@23��+��
��+��&��&������+�&����&�������������;���
�&�����$,�����&�)���.�
n/a-�"�������	�$�F�%�&�����	�+�	���������	����������,.�

,����
��!���,����
�������1�4�"�����!�1�����7���������8
��
9���

��*$�*���������%�,��	�����

5�6�� +<����8�����
����
������������<�=�������1�H	�8�����
��1H�4�"�����!�1��==�?��
��<���������
>�����������7������8�������88������?�����<����<�=�����

5@6�� +��7��������8����9��<��<����8���������<
9��@��
9��8�����<����8�����
��������7������
��<
���
�=���8��������
���
���<�=�����
8��<����������

5�6�� ���=
�����8�>�����B
���5�#L6��
5�6�� ��

�=�������:>����
���5��

�=����6��
5�6�� /���
����=�����;���
��5/���
���6��
5�6�� #���>��
���?�<
>���:�5#���>��
���?�/
>���:6��
5 6�� "�����������:�
9�<�7���:�7�����?���7�5"'&,6��
5�6�� ,
�����������5,
���6��
5�6�� G��������)�
�����
��5G�������6��
5!6�� ,�:���5,�:��6��

�5�6�� +<��8
��
9��:����7�����>��������<���������<�;���<��8
��
9��:�7�����:��>�������<���
���E��
������?�����������
�<��9�����

/�

2�������������;���
��=�
;���
����?��������������;��3�7��������?���7�
8�����8�������7@��F7���5�6�

��8�

���
���
�����>��>��5�6�>����8
��=�
=���?�=�
�����
�1�8�

���
���
�1�����8�

��<�B����
7���:���
���<�����������������
��=�
;���
����?����������������7�==���L
���.�5�<����6�@?��<��
��������%7��:���?�&���:�7�����:���?�5�%&�6�>������<��$���
������

��#��>������)�
:��7�
5$�#)6��5��

�=����6�

����

H�����
8��=������8�

��<�B���H�7������<�����������<��8�

�=������>@A�����
���
���=�������
��
:��������<�����
8�8�

���:������?�:�;���?�����,>�<�������7�?�@������:���������L
�����1���1�
�/1��%�����������
���<���#"&�8
���<�����?�
8�4
>������5��

�=����6�

/�

2������F�=
=>����
��8������?3�7�������=�����<

�1�=>@����
��=��;����=��7��?�
�����
����?���<

�1�
@�8
��������8������<

��������������9��<��9��;��
��7
�����>�����1���?������������9��<��9��;��
��
7
����<��������<��=�������
��:>��������
8�9<��<��
��
����7��������<����7��@>�����:�
8��<��
8������?1�:�
>=�<
7�1�
��������������
���
�:��:���������8������?�9��<��9��;��
��7
���������������
5��

�=����6�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 36Packet Page     300



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

����

24����8�

�����;���
�3�7������<���
7=>�������;���
���
�9<��<�8�

�9��������������=������
������
�>���:��<��
���<>������?����8�

���5��

�=����6�

H4���7���H�7�������?�����
���������
8���@>�����:�<�;��:������
9����8�

����7���7>7�
8��9
�8����
@��
9�:�������;���
�������������5��

�=����6�

/�

H�<��:�������9�����
>���H�7�������?��<��:���������E�����:��<��9�:1�@��1�
��@��F�
8���
9�����
>�����5��

�=����6�

/�

H�
�;�?�����B
��H�7������<
���=
���
���
8��<��8�

�=�������D>�����8
���<��=����:��
��
�
�;�?�����
8��<��
���<>������?����8�

���+<���
�;�?�����B
�����������������@�����
������D>���
����
��<7����7��<
�
�
:?�57���>�������;
�>7��
8�9����61�9<��<�����==������
��<��8�

�=�����
8�
7��<����:���
8��<��8�

���<�������
���=
����9<�����<��
���<>������?����8�

��=�
8����9����@��
��������
�7
����<�����E����<��1��8�����
��������:�������
��@����E=������
��
8�@�
�F�:�����@���:���
����
�<���
@���>���
���@?�8�

��@
������@�����+<�����?�7�?1����������������
�1������������<��
�
�;�?�����B
���
�����?�
9���������
����:<��
8�9�?�@�����
��>��D>�������
��<7�����
�
7���7�B�����������
��
��
�<���=�
=��������+<���
�;�?�����B
�������D>�;�������
���8�

�9�?�
���������
��@�����
������E����<�������5��

�=����6�

/�

H���9���=���H�7������<������
����������
����������������<��8
>�����
��9���������@��
9��<��
<�@���@���8�

��
8������>��>�������9���=�����<�;��:��<���
9����8�

����7���7>7�
8��9
�8����@��
9�
:�������;���
�������������<����@���
�����������@���7���1������
�������9���=�����5��

�=����6�

2���������8������?3�7�������?����>��>���
������������8�����>��>��1��<���
���
8�9<��<�7�?����>������
��;����<�B������
�=>@����<����<�������8��?�
��7�?�������>=���������������;���������
=�����
���8
��
�<���
77>���?������?���7��@�8
��1��>���:1������8������8�

�������������8��������������������8�������
8
��
9���5�6��������������;�����8������?1�5�6�<�B���
>��7��������8������?1�����5�6�������F�=
=>����
��
8������?��5��

�=����6�

/�

H	�?�����������H�7�������8������?��

5�6�� (��������@?��<�������1��8��==����@��C�
5�6�� )�
;����:������8
���<�������
����>����9<
��
��
�������������<��8������?1�����=�������

=��7����?��>���:���?��7��<
>��1������
��
����:>����?����?�
;����:<�C�����
5�6�� G<��<�7�?�����>����
7�������>���
���
5�6�� G<��<�����
���
������9��<������9�����:�>�����

Agenda Item 5A     Page 37Packet Page     301



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

H	�?�����<
7�H�7�������8������?��

5�6�� (��������@?��<�������1��8��==����@��C�
5�6�� G<��<�����
������9��<������9�����:�>���C�
5�6�� )�
;����:������8
���9��;��
��8�9����<�������
����>����9<
�5�E��=��8
��8�7��?�

7�7@���6��
��
�������������<��8������?1�����=�������=��7����?��>���:���?��7��<
>��1�
�����
��
����:>����?����?�
;����:<�����7��?�7�7@����9<
������;�����������<��8������?�
��������>��������<���
�����

/�

H	�;��
=7���H�7�������?��<��:���
��7=�
;���
��>��7=�
;��������������1�����>���:1�9��<
>��
��7�����
�1��
����>����:1����
�����:1���<�@��������:1����
����>����:�
���E=�����:�
�������:��:�5@>��
�
��7���������:6���@>�����:�
��
�<������>��>���
��=
���
���<���
81�
������@���<��:�
���<��:��:���
>��1�
��7����:1�����:��:1�8�����:1�:�����:1�=�;��:1�
���E��;���
���5��

�=����6�

2%������������;����8������?3�7�������?�8������?�=�
;����:�����������������;�����<��1��8�8�

���1�7�?�
���>��������;����<�B������
�=>@����<����<�������8��?�
��������>=���������������;���������
=�����
���
8
���<���
77>���?������?���7��@�8
��1��>���:1�
���8������8�

����%E�7=����
8��������������;����
8��������������>���9��<
>����7�����
���<��8
��
9��:��

�

5�6� )>@������8��?�8�����������>�<����=
����������
��1�8������������>�������
��1�����
�7��:���?�
=�����
���������C�

5�6� %7��:���?����=
����8���������1��>�<�����7��:���?�;�<����������D>�=7������
��:�1�
��������������:
;���7������9
�F���������8
���
����>��?�
8�:
;���7����
=�����
��C�

5�6� %7��:���?�7�������8���������1��>�<����<
�=�����1��7��:���?�����1�>�:��������1�����
�7@>���������;����1�@>���E��>���:��������1��
��
���
88����1������
��>�:���������
7�������8���������C�

5�6� ,<�����������:������@?��<�����?�7���:����<���9����@��>�����>���:�
���8������8�

��
8
�����=������=���
��C���

5 6� �
77>������
��8���������1��>�<����7����<>@��8
������=<
����?���7�1�7����
@�
��������:��D>�=7����8
������;���
���?���7�1�����
�����
�<����7��:���?�
9�����:��?���7�1�@>���E��>���:��
9���1�=
���1������1���@���1������
��>���C�

5�6� )>@����>�����?�=�����8�������������������������D>�=7����8
�������7���1�:�������
�1�
��
��:�1�=>7=��:1�����������@>��
�1��>�<����<>@��8
��9����1�9����9����1�=
9��1�
����:��1�@>���E��>���:�<?��
����������8���������1��
9���1�=
���1�=
9��������1�@>�����
=�=������1������7����
�������1�������@>��
�������1��������;���������C���

5�6� %���������:
;���7������8���������1�����>���:1�9��<
>����7�����
�1�8����������9<�����
=��7���������
���1������8�����@?�����:���?M��������������
��=
���?1�������
���1C�
�
>���1�����A����1C�@>�����:�=��7�����:��������=����
�����;����1C���=���7������<���
7���:��>������������������=
�����
���?���7�1C���8
�7���
�����<�
�
:?���=���7����1�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 38Packet Page     302



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

8���������=���7����1�����<����<���=���7����1C��<���
>��?��
77����
���M��
88���1�
�<�����?�7���:��M��
88���1�����7����������������D>�=7�����������C�����

5!6� ���������=
�����
����8������1��>�<����������=
���
��<���=
��1��������>��>�������;��:�
�7��:���?�8>����
��1��������
���������8�����>��>��1��>�<�����;����
���
���
��
�
9���1��������88����
���
���������1������7��:���?��D>�=7����������8��<��:������

�5��

�=����6��

�

/�

H%E��=��
����<����<�=H�7��������>@���������?����=�
=
���
�����@>��������������
��<�=��
��<��
@���8����
�@������;���8�
7��
�8
�7�����9��<��<����D>���7�����
8��<����������5��

�=����6�

/�

H%E=����
��
�������:�7����
8������>��>��H�7�������?�������
��
8�����E����
��9�����
��<�����>��>���

����?�������
���
��<��8�

�������
8��<�����>��>��1�9<��<���>����1���1�
���@
;��:����1�����9<��<���

���
���<���E���������7����
���
8��<�����>��>��������<��:��1�
���<�����
����>���
��
8���8�

��
��7�:���=
���
��
8������>��>��1��
��
�:�����>�<��E=����
�1������:�7����
�����
����>���
���
���
�
���
�����>�����H�>@���������7
��8�����
�H�
����H�>@����������7=�
;�7����H�5��

�=����6�

/�

H�%&�H�7������<����������%7��:���?�&���:�7�����:���?��5��

�=����6�

/�

2��;��<>������?����8�

�3�7�������8�

��<�;��:�������=��������<�����
8�
��>����:������?�?�����
5��

�=����6�

H��

�H�
��H8�

���:H�7�������:�������
����7=
���?��
�����
��
8�=�������
���
7=�������>�����
��

8��
�7���?���?������������8�
7���9�����
>�����<�����7=
�����?�
;��8�
9���<��@
>��������9��<���
9<��<�������
��������?��
�8�����
��8�
7��<����=������>7>����
��
8��>�
88�
8��>�8����9�������>����
@?�����1���
9�7���1�8�
9�@�
�F�:�1�
����?�
�<����
>�����5��

�=����6�

H��

���<�����H�7����������>����
������8������9�����
>����9��<�����8������@�������@��F��9<��<�
=���
������?�
���
����>
>��?��
��>����8�
9��:�9�������������<
9��
���<����

���<������
#�;���
�?�&�=�=��=�����@?��<�����?I��*�����?�	�;���
��
8��<��)>@����G
�F��	�=���7�����
5��

�=����6�

H��

��8���:�H�7������<
���=
���
���
8��<��8�

�=������<��������
������<���
�;�?�����B
���
�����
�<��<�:<�<�B����B
����5��

�=����6�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 39Packet Page     303



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

H��

��#��>������"����&�=�5�#"&6H�7������<��
88������7�=�
��9<��<��%&��<��������������
@
�<��<��������
8��=������8�

��<�B���������<�����F�=��7�>7�B
�����==����@����
��<���
77>���?��
5��

�=����6�

H��

�����>��������>�?�5�#,6H�7������<��
88��������=
���=�
;�����@?��<����������%7��:���?�
&���:�7�����:���?��<�������>����8�

��=�
8����1��<����

��4
>����?���

�9�?�&�=1������<��
9������>�8�������;���
���
8��<��@����8�

���5��

�=����6�

H��

��=�
8���H�7�������:��=<��<
9��:��<�����;���
���
8��<��8�

�9������>�8���������<��
���;���
���
8��<��>�����?��:�����������8>����
��
8������������
�:���=��<�
8�8�
9��5��

�=����6�

H��

��=�
�����
�����;���
�H�7�����������;���
��
8���

� 5�6�#���<��
���<>������?����8�

�=����1�������;���
��
8���

�5�6��+9
�8�����@
;���<�����;���
��
8��<��9������>�8����
8���
���<>������?����
8�

����������7�����=>��>�����
��,����
���������<�
>:<����!1�4�"�����!�1�
�1��8�
�
��>�<����;���
����������7����1��9
�8�����@
;���<��<�:<����:�������A�������
���
���>��>��1C�
���

546� ��+9
�8�����@
;���<��@����8�

�����;���
������%�B
����
���9
�8�����@
;���<��
8�

����=�<��>7@�������������8
�����B
����
���<���#"&�8
���<�����?�
8�4
>����C1�
9<��<�;������<�:<�����

5�6�#���<��8�;��<>������?����8�

�=����1��<���
9���
8��<��8
��
9��:����;���
����

5�6������8

���@
;���<��9������>�8����
8���8�;��<>������?����8�

��>������<��
�������������,����
���������<�
>:<����!1�4�"�����!�C�
��

546�+<��
���<>������?����8�

��=�
�����
�����;���
���

5��

�=����6�

H��

�=����H�7������<��������<�������>���=��@����
�@���:���>�������@?���8�

���5��

�=����6�

H��

�=�������;��
=7����=��7��H�7�������?�=��7���:�������>������<�����7�������
�����
���
8�
,�����
���������<�
>:<����!1�4�"�����!�1�8
����;��
=7����
������������8�

�=������
5��

�=����6�

H��

�=����1�8�;��<>������?���H�7������<�������
8��<��8�

�=�������>�������@?���8�

��<�;��:���
����=�������
��:��������<�����
8�
��>����:�8�

���:������?�:�;���?�����5��

�=����6�

H��

�=����1�
���<>������?���H�7������<�������
8��<��8�

�=������>�������@?���8�

��<�;��:���

���=�������
��:��������<�����
8�
��>����:�8�

���:������?�:�;���?�����5��

�=����6�

H��

�=�

8��:H�7�������?��
7@�����
��
8����>��>���������
����>��>�����<��:��1�7
��8�����
��1�

����A>��7������
����>��>����
�������=�
=���?�9<��<����>���
�����7������8�

����7�:���
��7=�
;���

Agenda Item 5A     Page 40Packet Page     304



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �


��>��7=�
;��������=�
=���?1�9����������������?�8���������1����>��>���������<�����
��������
5��

�=����6�

H��

�9�?1��%&����:>���
�?H�7������<���<�������
8�9�����
>����������<����A�����������������
�<���7>���@�������;������
������
�����<��:���<��@����8�

��9��<
>���>7>����;��?����������:��<��
9������>�8�������;���
��7
����<���
���8

���5��

�=����6�

/�

2/�B���
>��7�������3�7�������?�7��������>���1�:��������1�
����
���������8������?�
8����?=���������
��D>�����?��<���9
>���������8?��<��8������?������<�B���
>��7���������8������?���5��

�=����6�

2/�B���
>��7��������8������?3�7����������>��>���5
��:�
>=�
8����>��>���6��<�������

5�6� ,>@A�����
�,����
������
8��<��%7��:���?�)������:������
77>���?�"�:<���
�
��
9����1����*�,����K�����1�����7������8�
7���7���
���7�1�@���>������<������
2%E���7��?�/�B���
>��,>@������3�
����������D>����������<���7����
���E������<��
2+<���<
���)������:�N>��������3�����@���<���@?��<��*������,������%�;��
�7������
)�
�����
���:���?����������������������"��)�����  1��==����E��������==����E�41�
���7�?�@���7������8�
7���7���
���7�C�

5�6�� *�������
;�����@?��>@=����5�6��@
;�1���
���:�<�B���
>��7�������������8�����@?�
	�=���7����
8�+����=
�����
����:>����
������������"��)����������!�1����7�?�@��
�7������8�
7���7���
���7�1�@>��
��?��
��<���E������<����<��8������?������
���:��<��
<�B���
>��7������������<��24>�F�)��F�:��:3��
�����������9<��<����9�������;��������
�<������7������8��������������"������!1����7�?�@���7������8�
7���7���
���7�C�

5�6� ,�
���:���<�B���
>���>@�������
8��<���?=������D>�����?��������@?�K��������1�
��"�,�1����7�?�@���7������8�
7���7���
���7�C�
���

5�6� "�:>����������������8���8������?�>������
�
���
�<�B���
>��9�������:>����
��������
����"��������1�)�������1����7�?�@���7������8�
7���7���
���7����

�5��

�=����6�

H/�B���
>���>@������H�7�������?��>@������1���������7�����8�
7���7���
���7��@?��<�����?�
7���:���=>��>�����
��<���>���7�F��:��>�<
���?�:�������@?�,�>@�����
������5�61�4�"�����!�1�
�<������8��77�@��1�����
����;�1��
E��1�
���E=�
��;�1������<��������7���
8�8�

���:��
>���@�����������
����>88�������D>����������
�@��<��78>���
�<>7���1����7���1�
��=�������8���5��

�=����6�

/�

H/�:<�<�B����B
��H�7������<
���=
���
���
8��<��8�

�=�����9<�������>�����=��@�?�<�:<�<�B�����
�
<>7�����8��?��E�������8���������<
���������9<�����<��=�
�>����>7@���
8�8�
9�;��
���?�57���>����
���8��O����6���7���8�
9���=�<�57���>�������8���6��D>����
���E������8
>�1�
��9<����8�
9���=�<��
�D>���
���E�����8
>��8�����5��

�=����6�

/�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 41Packet Page     305



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

H/
����H�7�������8������?�8
������������
8�>�����
���7
��<��<���=�
;�������7=����
�7��
�?�
��
����=��:��

7�������
77
���

7��8
���

F��:1�7�����:1���������
���1�������>����
����>��C��<���
����<��������
���==�
;���@?��<��#��������
����/
�������������
��
����������
����
����:�
����
�88�������1�
����7�����
�:���B���
��C������<�������>=��;�����@?����������<
>���=�������
��7���:����
9<
���������<��:>����I�=������=���
������<���
7�������>�������������;������
8��<��<
������

H/
���O7
���H�7������������@���<7�����<���
88������7=
���?��
�:��:�����

7�1�8
��������<���
���
7
��<1�����7�?�����>����������>����1�7�����:��

7�1�����������
�?�>�����������;����1�����>���:1�
9��<
>����7�����
�1���9�������1�:�8���<
=�1�������7����������������>�����
��>������������?�9��<���
�<��=�����=���@>�����:�@>���E��>������H@�������@���F8���1H������8���������<��������
���

/�

H#��������8
��<>7���
��>=���?H�7����1�����==������
����>��>���1���=�@���
8�������F��?��
�@��>����
8
��������������<�@�����
�1�
��8
���
77������1����>�������
��:
;���7������
��>=���
��@?�=���
���

������:>����@������%E�7=����
8����>��>�����
�7���?��
�����������8
��<>7���
��>=���?�����>��1�
9��<
>����7�����
�1�:���:���>���@����
���?�8
���<��=��F��:�
8�;�<������
����
��:�1�
=�������
���9��<��1�>�<������=�;���
��1�=
��<���
��=���
��
;���1����9���=����1�8�

����������������
�>����
>���@����
���?�8
��@>�����:�������1�@���������
�<����:���>��>����@>�����:�1�:��������
��:���<���1�
�+&�1�����7�>�
��>7���5��

�=����6�

/�

2(
�:��:�8������?3�7�������<
���1�7
���1��
�7��
�?1�@�������@���F8���1�<
����1��7��:���?��<�����1�
����
;����:<���<�����������8���������<��4
>�����"�;������
����5��

�=����6�

����

H(
9����8�

�H�7������<���
9����8�

��
8��<���
9��������
���������5����>���:�@���7����
�����9��
�=���6�����>�8����<���
��8�

����������������
�>��1�>��@����
���?�8
��=��F��:�
8�;�<�����1�@>�����:�
�������
����
��:�1������������
�<����<�����@���7��������1�����
���
�����������@>�����:I���
9����
8�

�1�=�
;������<����>�<�����
�>�������
��@>�����
�����
���������<�����>��>������;�
����
��
8��<��
�==����@�������:����D>���7�����
8�,�����
���������<�
>:<����!1�4�"�����!���5��

�=����6�

/�

H&����������H�7�������?�����;��?�>������F����
���=����
��=��;�����<��������
����
�1��7=���7����

��8���>���
8���?������71�=��;�
>��?��
����>������7=�
;�7����
�����>��>��1�����>���:1�9��<
>��
��7�����
���<����7
;���
8�����7����������@���1�����������
��
8���
��
����������7�����
���
��
��;����������<����=����7����
8����>��>�����
7=
�������&������������
����
������>����E=����
��

�������:�7����
8������>��>��1��>@���������7
��8�����
��1��>@����������7=�
;�7����1��
����
��=����7����
8��E�����:�8����������
���
�������
����>���
��
8���8������?��5��

�=����6�

/�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 42Packet Page     306



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

H&��>8���>����<
7�H�7����������>��>��1������=
���@������
���
��7
��������
��1�9<��<����@>����
��
��=��7�������<�����������������:����8
��>���9��<�
��9��<
>����=��7������8
>�����
��9<���
�
���������
��<����D>�����>����������+<�����7�H7��>8���>����<
7�H��
����
������>�����
H��������
����;�<�����H�5��

�=����6�

H&��>8���>����<
7��=��F�
��7��>8���>����<
7���>@��;���
�H�7�������?��
��
��������
8������
����:���1�>���1�
������������
�=�
;�������
����
��
�����
77
����
��8
��
���
��7
���
7��>8���>����<
7�������>=
��9<��<���?�7��>8���>����<
7��
��<
7�������=��F���
���
�����1�
9<��<���
���
���<���
��
��������
����?�=�����<���
8����<����
��
=�������8
��=�
8��1�
��9<��<�
�
����>���
��9����
7=������
��
���8����J>�?���1���!��5��

�=����6�

/�

2&�E���>������>��>��3�7�������?����>��>���9��<�@
�<�������������>���������
�������������>����
9<�����
�������<����9���?�8�;��=�������
8��<��8����<���8�

��������
��������
�������������>�����
5��

�=����6�

/�

H&
;��@���
@A���H�7�����������7�
��7���������
�����<
�����
��<��:�
>����<�������>@A�����
�@���:�
�����=
�����@?�9����1�����>���:1�9��<
>����7�����
�1���7��>8���>����<
7���
�����<
�����
���
=��7������8
>�����
�1������F1�������<��>7=����1��>7@��1�����
�<���7��������1�@>���
����7
�
��
;�<������5��

�=����6�

/�

H$�9��
����>���
�H�7��������>��>����8
��9<��<��<��H������
8��
����>���
�H��
77������
��
���8����
J>�?���1���!1���������>������?��>@��D>�����7=�
;�7������
��>�<����>��>�����5��

�=����6�

H$�9�7��>8���>����<
7��=��F�
���>@��;���
�H�7�������7��>8���>����<
7��=��F�
���>@��;���
��
8
��9<��<��<���
����>���
��
8�8����������8
�����;����:��<���
���
��9<��<��<��7��>8���>����<
7���
�����
�@���88�E���5����>���:1������7���7>71��<������������
��
8�>��������1��<���
����>���
��
8��������1�
8����������:�����:1�
��=
>���:�
8��
�������=���6�����
7=������
��
���8����J>�?���1���!��
5��

�=����6�

/�

H$
����������������>��>��H�7�������?����>��>���
����?�=
���
��
8������>��>���>�����E��>��;��?�8
�1�

������:�������������=�@���
8�@���:�>����8
�1�
88���1��
77������1����>������1�
��:
;���7������

��>=���
�1�
���<����7=
���?��
�:��:�
8�=���
���8
��=���
���
8�������<�����E�7
��<������>���:�
<
����1�7
����1��7��:���?��<������1�����
;����:<���<�������@>���E��>���:��
�7��
����1�8�����������1�
����@�������@���F8������5��

�=����6�

/�

H�@���>���
�H�7�������?����7�
��7���������
���
�����>���:���7
;��@���
@A������1���
�:1����
��1�
��
=�
A�����:����
��<��8�

�=������<���7�:<���7=���1�������1�
���<��:���<���������
��
8���8�
9�
8�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 43Packet Page     307



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

9����1����<���@?������8�
��@?�����<��:�
���
�������:���@������������@?��>�<�9����1������9�?��<����<��
���?�7���:��������7�����9
>�������������<��8�

��<�B�����
���A������=�
=��������5��

�=����6�

/�

H����<>������?����8�

�H�7�������8�

��<�;��:���
���=��������<�����
8�
��>����:������?�?�����
5��

�=����6�

/�

H"��������������>��>��H�7�������?����>��>���
����?�=
���
��
8������>��>����<������>����8
�1�
��
����:�������������=�@���
8�@���:�>����8
�1��<����7=
���?�
��=��7�������
7������
8�=���
���8
��
=���
���
8���E�7
��<��
��7
��1�����>���:1�9��<
>����7�����
�1����9�����:1���@
�����:�<
>��1����
�
�7��
�?1���8��������?1���@�������@���F8���<
���1���7
���1�������7�����?�>�������>��>�����
5��

�=����6�

/�

H"��
����>���
�H�7������E������=����7����
8�����E�����:����>��>���
��=
���
���<���
8�
���E����
���>��>������=����
8�����7�:������>��>����5��

�=����6�

H"�������
����;�<����H�7�������;�<�����9<��<������6�@>����
�������:����<�����C��6�8
>��<>������
�D>����8����
�������9<���7���>��������<�����:����<
��B
�����=�
A����
��C��6�����:�����
�@�����8�
=�
=������
��=��7������?��
9�@���@?�����:<���>�?���>�FC������6�����:����=��7����?��
��8
��>������
��=��7�������9�����:�@>�������7=
���?���;��:�D>�������8
����������
���1���7=��:1����;��1�
��
����
����>����5��

�=����6�

/�

/�

H,�����
8��
����>���
�H�7������<��������<��@>�����:�=��7���9������>��1�=�
;������<�����>���������
8�
�
����>���
�1���=���1����
����>���
�1���<�@�������
�1�������
�1�=����7���1�
��
�<����7=�
;�7����
9���9��<���
���<>��������:<�?���?��
8��<��=��7���������+<�����>���������7��������<����<��8�����
=����7����
8�=��7�������
����>���
��
8������>��>���
����������>�<�����<��=
>���:�
8����@�
��
8

���:�1��<������������
��
8�=����1��<���
����>���
��
8��
�>7��1�
����?�9
�F�@�?
����<�����:��
8�
�E��;���
�C�
���<��=����7����
8���7��>8���>����<
7��
����8
>�����
���5��

�=����6�

/�

H,��>��>��H�7�������@>�����:�
��
�<����

8����
����>���
�1���@���7���1���9���1���8����1���
7��>8���>����<
7�1�
������
��:�����F��5��

�=����6�

/�

H,>@�����������7�:�H�7�������7�:��
8���?�
��:����>��������@?������>��>���9<���@?��<���
���
8�
����
���:��<�����>��>����
�����@�8
�����7�:����
�����
��9
>����D>���
���E�����8�8�?�=�������
8��<��
7��F���;��>��
8��<�����>��>���@�8
����<����7�:��
��>������5��

�=����6�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 44Packet Page     308



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

H,>@����������7=�
;�7���H�7�������?���=���1����
����>���
�1���<�@�������
�1�������
�1�
��
�7=�
;�7����
8������>��>��1��<���
���
8�9<��<��D>����
���E������8�8�?�=�������
8��<��7��F���;��>��

8��<�����>��>���@�8
����<��H������
8��
����>���
�H�
8��<���7=�
;�7�����+<������7�����>����
���>��>����9<��<�<�;�����>�����H�>@�����������7�:�1H���:��������
8��<�����>�����=����9
�F�
=��8
�7�����
���<��=>�=
����
8��<�����8�����
�1�H�>@����������7=�
;�7���H�����
����������
�
��>��
9<����<��8�������������
��
8���?�9���1�������:1�8�

�1�
��
�<������>��>����=����
8��<��@>�����:�
�
77�����1�9<��<���
���
���<�����������
���88������<���E���������7����
���
8��<�����>��>����+<��
���7��
����
�1�<
9�;��1�����>������<�����6���?�=�
A����8
���7=�
;�7����
8������>��>����
��
7=�?�
9��<��E�����:�������
���
����<����<1��������?1�
����8��?��
����=���8�����
���9<��<������
���?�
��������?��
����>�����8����;��:��
�����
���
���6���?���������
��
8������>��>����������
���<��$���
����
"�:������
8�/���
����)������
���<���
�
���
�#�;���
�?�
8�/���
����)������
������:������������
����;��>�������7��F�>�����,�����
�������1�H���?��
>�����&�?�	���:���������7����(���7��F��
����/���
����	��������1H�4�"�����!���5��

�=����6�

H,>@���������7
��8�����
�H�7�������?��E=����
��
�������:�7����
8������>��>���9<��<��D>����
��
�E������8�8�?�=�������
8��<��8�

�������
8��<�����>��>������������8
��<>7���
��>=���?1��
���������
�>7>����;��?1��
77�����:�J>�?���1���!��5��

�=����6�

/�
� �

,����
�����+<���
����������<����@��
7���88����;��
���<��������
8�J��>��?��1�����1�
�����

��?���8��������8�����=����:��@?��<�����?��
>�������+<���
����������<�����==�?��
�����=��7��������

��;��
=7�����==������
����>@7�������
��<�����?��8�����<���88����;�������
8�����=����:���

,����
��������+<���
��������������������?��
�=�
������<��=>@����<����<1���8��?1�����9��8����


8��<������������
8��<�����?1������
;����7�������
8��
�����
�������

,����
�������+<�����?��
>��������7������==�
=�������<����<���
���������@��=>@���<���@?�������


��?�����
�������<����
=����
8��<���
���������@��7�����;����@�������<��
88����
8��<�����?�����F�8
��

=>@�������=����
��������D>�����
��

Agenda Item 5A     Page 45Packet Page     309



�

������	�
�����������������������������������������
�� � �

��

��

��

��

 �

��

��

!�

�

���

���

���

���

���

� �

���

���

�!�

��

���

���

���

���

���

� �

#$+"�	*�%	1� "%�	� �$� �#",+� "%�	#$'1� �$	� �"	%"%	� )*4(#,/%	� 4-�

+#+(%��$(-��<������<���?�
8��>:>��1�������

�
�

PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP�
&�?
��

��������
�
�
�
���?�����F�
�
�

"%�	� �$� ,%��$	� "%�	#$'1� )�,,%	1� �	�)+%	1� �$	� �"	%"%	�

)*4(#,/%	�4-�+#+(%��$(-��<������<���?�
8�,�=��7@��1�������

�

PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP�
&�?
��

��������
�
�
�
���?�����F�
�

Agenda Item 5A     Page 46Packet Page     310



 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 17, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the 2013 Boulder Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan and approve the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) 
Parks and Recreation Master Plan Summary 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Kirk W. Kincannon, CPRP, Parks and Recreation Director 
Jeff Dillon, Parks and Planning Superintendant  
Alice Guthrie, Recreation Superintendant 
Abbie Poniatowski, Business Services Manager 
Jeff Haley, Planning Manager 
Alison Rhodes, Master Plan Project Manager 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Master Plan (master plan) provides guidance and 
policy direction on Boulder Parks and Recreation Department’s (BPRD) role in the 
community.  The master plan shapes the delivery of department-provided parks and 
recreation services in a manner that is consistent with city sustainability goals and that 
meets the community’s level of service standards.   
 
This master planning process began in January 2012 and included an extensive public 
engagement program, resulting in a master plan that has been thoroughly vetted by the 
community and approved by both the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (PRAB) and 
Planning Board (see Attachment A: 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Master Plan).  In 
implementing the master plan, BPRD can ensure that current available resources are 
directed to meeting the highest community priorities as expressed in this planning 
process.  The alignment of the department’s work as outlined by the strategies of the 
master plan with the city’s Sustainability Framework demonstrates the department’s key 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page     311



 
 

role in providing a wide variety of important civic services and achieving community 
goals.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to accept the 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Master Plan and approve the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Master Plan Summary. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic - Boulder’s parks and recreation facilities are a source of positive 
economic benefits to the community. Many of the initiatives reflect the 
department’s efforts to be good stewards of public assets, ensuring that the 
community’s highest priorities are served with available funding. 

• Environmental - Sustainable Practices is one of the department’s guiding 
principles presented in this master plan, indicating the department’s commitment 
to being a leader in environmentally sustainable practices in all areas of service.  
As the master plan is implemented, BPRD will serve as a leader in using and 
promoting sustainable practices in every aspect of providing parks, facilities and 
programs.  

• Social - Community Health and Wellness and Building Community and 
Relationships are two key themes of this master plan, reflecting the community’s 
desire for the department to be a leader in promoting the community’s physical 
and mental well-being.  Civic spaces and close-to-home parks are an important 
component of building strong neighborhoods, providing space for people to 
connect and interact in a shared environment.  Master plan goals will ensure that 
parks and recreation services are utilized to foster social connections and promote 
a healthy community.   
 

OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal - The master plan includes scenarios for three levels of funding (page 81).  

The fiscally constrained plan is based on current funding levels ($25 million), 
targeting funding for renovations and capital improvements related to existing 
facilities and for focusing services on the highest community priority health and 
wellness programming.  The full action plan requires annual funding of $42 
million, an increase of $17 million above current levels.  The department can 
implement the proposed action plan scenarios when additional funding is 
available.  The vision plan, representing the complete set of services desired by 
the community, requires annual funding of $61.3 million. 

• Staff time - Implementation of the master plan will be part of the department’s 
annual action plan, as outlined in chapter nine (pages 92-93). 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page     312



 
 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
This master planning process has included engagement with several of the city’s advisory 
and policy making boards.  PRAB has been instrumental in shaping the policy and 
direction of this master plan through discussions at regular meetings and through eight 
study sessions.  PRAB reviewed the research and needs assessment which provided the 
foundation of the master plan.  In addition, four members of the PRAB participated in a 
community leader Pathfinders℠ workshop. PRAB participated in discussions related to 
the mission and vision, the six key themes and the policy statements that will enable 
BPRD to focus on the community’s priorities as expressed in this master planning 
process. At the June 2013 PRAB meeting, PRAB recommended acceptance of the master 
plan to City Council (5-0, My. Conroy and M. Guzek absent). 
 
On July 25, 2013, the city’s Planning Board discussed the master plan and recommended 
acceptance (4-0, A. Brocket, B. Bowen, L. May absent) of the master plan to City 
Council (see Attachment B: July 25, 2013 Planning Board Minutes).  Planning Board 
also approved (4-0) the proposed BVCP Boulder Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
Summary.  The recommendation was given with a friendly amendment to add a 
paragraph about the changing demographics, similar to the section found in the Police 
Master Plan.  The draft master plan was revised to include more detailed information on 
population make-up (see page 34-35), and further detail can be found in the master plan 
research report Community Trends. 
 
City Council participation in the master planning process included two study sessions.  In 
November 2012, a joint study session with the PRAB and City Council focused on the 
policy guidance the department was seeking related to four policy issues: BPRD’s role 
and priority services, adjusting services to trends, balancing community benefit 
programming with revenue production and also balancing maintenance of existing assets 
with the desire for new development (see Attachment C: Summary of the November 27, 
2012 City Council-PRAB Study Session).  The City Council also provided input at a May 
28, 2013 study session (see Attachment D: Summary of the May 28, 2013 City Council 
Study Session).  This study session focused around the purpose of the plan, the key 
themes of the plan, the department’s levels of service, the department’s funding and the 
key policy issues of the master plan.  Council was supportive of the master plan and, in 
the course of the discussion; there were recommendations from council to clarify the 
shifts the department will make to ensure effective use of resources.  Staff clarified that 
partnerships, for both assets and programs, will be balanced with community values and 
will ensure that the department is overseeing public assets in a manner that is consistent 
with the highest levels of community priority.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
A critical and ongoing part of the master plan is the community engagement process, which 
is necessary to effectively deliver a community-oriented park and recreation system.  The 
extensive public engagement process is balanced, open, and collaborative to build 
community-wide trust in the plan and the process.  It also provides a framework for 
confirming core values and goals.  This process involved stakeholder interviews, public 
open houses, public surveys, online engagement, and other significant efforts to target 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page     313

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/trends-1-201307021541.pdf


 
 

outreach to important, under-participating groups.  The engagement program also included 
a community leader PathfindersSM Workshop and staff interactions.   A summary of the 
public engagement methodologies and findings can be found at http://bit.ly/10gLDWu. 
 
In addition to the PRAB, Planning Board and City Council, staff also met with the Youth 
Opportunities Advisory Board and Human Relations Commission in the Needs 
Assessment phase of the master planning process, soliciting and receiving valuable 
suggestions from both groups on outreach to those that do not typically participate in 
community engagement efforts (e.g. youth and minorities). 
 
BACKGROUND 
The BVCP provides the overall policy framework for departmental master planning, 
including a general statement of the community’s long-term desired future.  Department 
and system master plans take the goals and policies of the BVCP and provide specific 
guidance for delivering city services.  Master plans establish detailed policies, priorities, 
service standards, facility and system needs and capital budgeting for the delivery of 
services. 
 
This master plan is an update to the 2006 Parks and Recreation Master Plan that (a) 
provides standards for levels of park and recreation services and facilities in the city, (b) 
identifies development priorities, a Capital Improvement Program (CIP), and an 
implementation strategy, and (c) guides the city in equitably allocating services and 
meeting identified deficiencies and shortfalls in the system as improvements are made for 
the future.  
 
The master plan is intended to be strategic in focus to help the department respond to three 
important questions: What do we do? For whom do we do it?  How do we excel?  The 
primary focus is on the short-term strategies that will build success over the long-term.  
The master plan also focuses on high level initiatives rather than more specific and detailed 
actions. The specific actions will be identified and assigned in the annual action plan.   
 
ANALYSIS 
The extensive master planning process revealed strong public support for maintaining 
and improving Boulder’s parks, recreation facilities and programs in order to enhance 
residents’ quality of life.  The department’s streamlined mission clarifies the 
department’s role as a provider of public service in the Boulder community: 
 

BPRD Mission Statement 
BPRD will promote the health and well-being of the entire Boulder community by 
collaboratively providing high-quality parks, facilities and programs. 
 

This mission statement reflects the needs of the community and public expectations of 
the department. A successful outcome of the master planning process is the alignment 
among community members, policy boards, and the city organization as to BPRD’s role. 
In implementing the master plan, the department can ensure available resources are 
utilized to meet the highest community priorities. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page     314

http://bit.ly/10gLDWu


 
 

 
Six key themes, which emerged from the research and community engagement process, 
have shaped the strategies that are the focus for future action and decision-making for 
Boulder’s Parks and Recreation Master Plan: 

• Community Health and Wellness 
• Taking Care of What We Have 
• Financial Sustainability 
• Building Community and Relationships 
• Youth Engagement and Activity 
• Organizational Readiness 

 
Sustainability Framework 
These key themes were evaluated within the context of the Sustainability Framework, a 
tool created to ensure department master plans align with and advance the goals and 
priorities of the City Council and community.  The tool is comprised of seven categories: 

• Safe Community 
• Healthy and Socially Thriving Community 
• Environmentally Sustainable Community 
• Economically Vital Community 
• Livable Community 
• Accessible & Connected Community 
• Good Governance 

 
At the intersection of the seven categories is the city’s ability to best serve the community.  
The strategies of the master plan align with the Sustainability Framework, demonstrating 
the department’s key role in providing a wide variety of critical civic services and 
achieving community goals. 
 
Examples of this alignment include: 
Safe Community:  In developing a formal Asset Management Plan (page 61), the 
department will enhance its ability to maintain quality and safe urban parkland, supporting 
frequent, casual contact among neighbors and leading to the formation of strong 
neighborhood social ties, the building blocks of strong, secure neighborhoods where people 
tend to support, care about, and protect one another. 
 
Healthy and Socially Thriving Community: Ensuring that all BPRD services are mission-
driven, as directed by the policy of this master plan, will allow the department to most 
effectively contribute to the community’s physical and mental well-being and cultivate a 
wide-range of recreation and social opportunities (page 58).  The development of health 
measures will facilitate the effectiveness of department programs in enhancing and/or 
improving participants’ health (page 59) 
 
Environmentally Sustainable Community:  BPRD’s forestry division is charged with the 
stewardship of the city’s urban canopy to ensure that the expansive tree inventory is 
healthy and contributes to climate action goals through reduction of urban heat island effect 
and carbon sequestration. The master plan recommends an update of the urban tree 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page     315



 
 

inventory and the development of a forest management plan to ensure that these valuable 
resources are protected and can continue to contribute to the community’s sustainability 
(page 61).   
 
Economically Vital Community:  In exploring partnerships with other organizations, the 
department will foster public/private collaboration with key institutions and organizations 
that contribute to economic sustainability (page 63).  In addition, by  investing in Boulder’s 
parks, as recommended by the financial strategies of the master plan (pages 80-89), the 
parks will continue to enhance property values, increase municipal revenue, bring in 
homebuyers and workers, and attract retirees. 
 
Livable Community:  The maintenance of parkland and facilities as outlined in the master 
plan will ensure the department is promoting and sustaining a safe, clean and attractive 
place to live, work and play.  Meeting and/or exceeding proximity standards will support 
and enhance neighborhood livability for all members of the community (page 59). 
 
Accessible and Connected Community:  In partnering with the city’s Transportation 
Department and Greenways Program, the department can enhance connectivity and safe 
routes to parks, schools and shops (page 59). 
 
Good Governance:  In developing and implementing the Recreation Program Index, the 
department will enhance and facilitate transparency in our program portfolio and pricing 
(page 63). 
 
Prioritization and Implementation 
The BPRD is responsible for an average of $25 million annually in operating and capital 
expenditures with access to other funding sources for one-time capital expenses.  As is the 
case for other city departments, the inflationary costs of personnel, energy and materials 
coupled with the increasing costs of aging assets, and operations and maintenance costs for 
new facilities, department expenses are projected to outpace available funding (pages 72-
78).  
 
In order to ensure that the BPRD operates within its funding allocations and revenue 
generated, it must continue to adjust service provision and facility maintenance and 
operations levels. The master plan emphasizes the importance of ensuring that the highest 
community park and recreation priorities (as defined by the six themes of the master plan) 
are met. With a maintenance backlog estimated at approximately $27 million, difficult 
trade-off decisions must be made by the department about how to manage and operate 
facilities and provide programs.  The city’s CIP guidelines prioritize the maintenance of 
current assets over the development of new facilities.  The community, through this 
planning process, has indicated strong support for this concept of prioritization. Based on 
current economic conditions, revenue and expenditure projections, funding is not sufficient 
to maintain all existing system assets and build new park and recreation facilities unless 
comparable trade-offs occur.  
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page     316



 
 

Development of any new facilities will require additional funding.  The policy guidance 
provided by the master plan requires the (a) completion of a full feasibility study to clarify 
demand and current facility supply, and (b) identification of the Total Cost of Facility 
Operations (TCFO) before any new facilities can be considered.  The master plan – which 
identifies areas for further investigation - clarifies that development of new facilities, 
cannot occur without additional funding or comparable trade-offs.  
 
At the same time, BPRD must respond to the community’s values related to recreation 
programs and activities by providing adequate facilities and programs accessible to the 
entire community to meet those needs.  In order to focus programming on health and 
wellness and ensure programs are accessible to all community members, the department 
will need to shift service delivery and resource allocation as well as implementation of best 
practices in program lifecycle management and evaluation. Programs that align with the 
highest community values will be prioritized for direct delivery, and others will be 
evaluated for the most effective manner of delivery.   
 
In some cases, high-quality programs will be best delivered by a community partner.  The 
practice of facilitated delivery of programs is in line with national trends in parks and 
recreation. In collaborating with other organizations, the department can balance the best of 
the private sector with the good governance and focus on community benefit of municipal 
parks and recreation. With limited funding, the master plan lays a framework for the 
department to serve as a leader in evaluating recreation program availability in the 
community as a whole and reducing redundancies and addressing service gaps.  Equitable 
participation will always be a focus, and the master plan includes several initiatives to 
develop an enhanced financial aid program.  In addition, the plan lays the foundation for 
improved program management and evaluation to ensure that department-delivered 
programming is highly effective in achieving outcomes. 
 
Key trade-offs must occur to ensure the department aligns services within existing 
funding.  Support from the PRAB and City Council will be critical in ensuring the 
department is able to respond to special interest groups and community members whose 
interests may not align with those of the broader community as identified in this 
extensive process. 
 
Funding Plan Scenarios 
To address this challenge, the master plan presents three alternatives for the parks and 
recreation system to meet critical needs, to maintain relevance with the community, and to 
continue to provide a strong quality of life in the city (pages 80-89).  The three alternatives 
listed below follow the city’s business planning approach which requires departments to 
prepare for a future without increased revenue. This approach acknowledges the potential 
for a stark fiscal reality leading to the rebalancing of priorities (and their associated 
expenditures) using three-tiers of fiscal alternatives. Each alternative reflects different 
assumptions about available resources.  The investment required for the action and vision 
alternatives depends upon the nature of the additional funding.   
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page     317



 
 

1. The FISCALLY CONSTRAINED alternative plans for prioritized spending 
within existing budget targets. This targets funding for renovations and capital 
improvements related to existing parks. The master plan ensures unallocated 
funding (from retired debt service and unallocated CIP) reduces the deferred 
maintenance backlog and increase annual operations and maintenance (O&M) to 
levels required to properly maintain assets. Recreation and administration would be 
largely funded at current levels necessitating the redirection of existing resources, 
over time, from current programs to the highest priority community programs. 
 

2. The ACTION alternative describes the additional services or capital 
improvements that could be undertaken when additional funding is available. The 
additional capital investment required to accomplish this varies depending on the 
projects that are funded and must also include funding for O&M as well as annual 
repair and renovation to maintain facilities for the full life-cycle costs.   

 
3. The VISION alternative represents the complete set of services and facilities 

desired by the community. This scenario increases Levels of Service (LOS) to 
comparable levels of surrounding benchmark communities, replaces aging facilities 
such as Scott Carpenter Pool with a modern aquatics center, and upgrades existing 
recreation centers to expand use and increase programs for youth and health-
wellness. The costs for these investments vary widely and require both increases in 
CIP funding and operating funds to cover the full life-cycle costs. 

 
Each of the alternatives is described for the system’s three inter-related elements: 

• Park Land – the land base that provides areas for active and passive recreation as 
well as the location for park and recreation assets.  

• Recreation Facilities – these are the major park assets that provide both active and 
passive recreation opportunities, from playgrounds to picnic shelters to major 
recreation centers. 

• Recreation Programs – these are the planned activities that provide instruction, 
socialization, competition, and learning to a wide range of community members and 
visitors to Boulder. 

 
At the intersection of these elements, as shaped by the master plan, is a modern parks and 
recreation system that can provide the community’s desired level of civic services and 
contribute to community physical and mental well-being.   
 
MASTER PLAN SUMMARY 
The following updated summary of the Boulder Parks and Recreation Master Plan for the 
BVCP is recommended by approval: 
 

The 2013 Parks and Recreation Master Plan guides the Boulder Parks and 
Recreation Department’s (BPRD) investments and strategies through 2018, 
shaping the delivery of services in a manner that is consistent with city 
sustainability goals and level of service standards.  The master plan includes the 
department’s mission, vision and guiding principles and incorporates initiatives 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page     318



 
 

that provide the framework for the department’s annual action plan and are 
structured around six key themes: Community Health and Wellness, Taking Care 
of What We Have, Financial Sustainability, Building Community and 
Relationships, Youth Engagement and Activity and Organizational Readiness.  
This framework will help the department ensure that available resources are 
focused on the community’s park and recreation priorities. 

 
The Planning Board approved this summary on July 25, 2013.  If approved by City 
Council, this summary will be incorporated into the BVCP document. 
 
NEXT STEPS 
On Sept. 17, 2013, if City Council accepts the 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan, implementation will take place over a number of years to even out budgetary 
impacts.  BPRD anticipates incorporating new initiatives into the future budget processes, 
including CIP, as city resources allow. If City Council does not accept the Boulder Parks 
and Recreation Master Plan on Sept. 17, 2013 and instead provides direction about 
clarifying issues, then staff will address those issues and return to City Council at a later 
date for final acceptance. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
B July 25, 2013 Planning Board Minutes 
C  Summary of the November 27, 2012 City Council-PRAB Study Session 
D Summary of the May 28, 2013 City Council Study Session 
  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page     319



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page     320



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department

Master Plan
2013

1915 Chautauqua Park Playground
Boulder’s Chautauqua opened on July 4, 1898 and continues today as a testament to the 
community’s long-standing support for education, cultural activities and recreation.

100 Years of Excellence CI
TY

OF BOULDER

Parks & Recreation

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History/Boulder Historical Society Collection

August DRAFT

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page     321



2 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        

City Council 
Matt Appelbaum, Mayor
Lisa Morzel, Mayor Pro Tem
Suzy Ageton
KC Becker
Macon Cowles
Suzanne Jones
George Karakehian
Tim Plass
Ken Wilson 

City Manager’s Office
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager

Parks and Recreation
Advisory Board Members
Richard Thayer, Chair
Mike Conroy, Vice Chair
Myriah Conroy
Michelle Estrella
Martin Gorce
Michael Guzek
Kelly Wyatt
Special Thanks to Bob Yates, Past Chair

Parks and Recreation Department
Kirk W. Kincannon, CPRP,  Director
Jeff Dillon, Parks and Planning Superintendent 
Alice Guthrie, Recreation Superintendent
Abbie Poniatowski, Senior Business and Finance Manager
Jeff Haley, Planning Manager
Alison Rhodes, Master Plan Project Manager

Staff Technical Advisory Group
Kathleen Alexander
Paul Bousquet
Tina Briggs
Sherri Brown
Stacy Cole
Doug Cook
Colleen Fitzgerald
Callie Hayden
Matt Hickey
Lisa Martin
Teri Olander
Derrick Tripp
Steve Whipple
Catherine Williams

Acknowledgements
PathfindersSM

City of Boulder Parks and Recreation staff along with:
Jeff  Arthur, City of Boulder Public Works-Utilities
Brea Bond, MD, Clinica - Peoples Clinic 
Heidi Brinkman, BCI
Katherine Buckley, Growing Up Boulder
Nicole Cavalino, VIA Mobility Services
Louise Chawla, University of Colorado Environmental Design
Ramona Clark, Growing Gardens
Chris Coker, YMCA of Boulder Valley
Leisha Conners Bauer, Boulder County Community Services 
Susan Connelly, Colorado Chautauqua Association 
Mike Conroy, Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
David Driskell, City of Boulder Community Planning and Sustainability 
Sophie Duncan, Youth Opportunities Advisory Board
Lesli Ellis, City of Boulder Community Planning and Sustainability
Paul J. Fetherston, City of Boulder
Renae Foxhoven, South Boulder Little League
Crystal Gray, Community Member
Michael Guzek, Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
Kenneth Hotard, Boulder Area Realtors Association
Stephen Jones, Boulder County Audubon Society
Cheryl Kent, University of Colorado  Recreation Services
Colleen King, PLAY Boulder Foundation 
Morgan Lommele, Boulder Moutainbike Alliance
Valerie Maginnis, City of Boulder Library and Arts 
Mary Ann Mahoney, Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau
Mike Patton, City of Boulder Open Space and Mountain Parks
Karen Rahn, City of Boulder Human Services 
Randall Rutsch, City of Boulder Public Works-Transportation
Lee Shainis, Intercambio 
Simon Smith, Clinica - Peoples Clinic
Bridger Tomlin, Youth Opportunities Advisory Board
Molly Winter, City of Boulder DUHMD
Kelly Wyatt, Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
Bob Yates, Parks and Recreation Advisory Board

Master Plan Project Consultants
The Eppley Institute for Parks and Public Lands, 
    Indiana University, Bloomington, IN   
Studio Terra, Louisville, CO
Danica Powell and Associates, Boulder, CO   
BBC Research and Consulting, Denver, CO

Special thanks to other City of Boulder departments who shared 
input and guidance throughout the project:  Communications, 
Community Planning and Development Services, Finance, Open 
Space and Mountain Parks, and Public Works.

Recommended by the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board on June 24, 2013.

Recommended by the Planning Board on July 25, 2013 

Accepted by CIty Council on September XX, 2013.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page     322



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 3August DRAFT

Table of Contents
Executive Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Chapter 1 - Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .11

Chapter 2 – Planning Framework  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .19

Chapter 3 – BPRD System  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .25

Chapter 4 – Community Trends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .33

Chapter 5 – Needs Assessment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .39

Chapter 6 – Vision and Goals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .53

Chapter 7 – Financial Framework . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .71

Chapter 8 – Plan Elements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .79

Chapter 9 - Implementation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .91

Maps/Figures/Tables
ES.1 Gap Growth . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

ES.2  2016 Uses of Funding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7

ES.3  Annual Action Plan Process . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

1.1  Master Plan Process . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .15

2.1  BVCP Framework . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .21

2.2  Benefits Approach . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .23

3.1  Parkland Classification . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .26

3.2  Parkland Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .27

3.3  BPRD Facility Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .28

3.4  BPRD Recreation Programs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .29

3.5  Other Parkland Providers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .30

4.1  Boulder Population Growth  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .34

4.2  Boulder Occupancy Chart . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .36

4.3  BPRD’s Contribution . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .36

4.4  BPRD’s Role . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .37

4.5  BVSD Statistics . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .38

5.1  Benchmark Communities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .40

5.2  Parkland LOS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .42

5.3  Urban Park Acreage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .42

5.4  Recreation Facility LOS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .43

5.5  Benefit and Fee Balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .44

5.6  BPRD Prioritization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .44

7.1  PBB Results and Criteria . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .73

7.2  Funding Sources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .74

7.3  Funding Sources and Uses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .76

7.4  Gap Growth . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .77

7.5  Community Budget Allocation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .77

7.6  2016 Uses of Funding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .78

8.1  Plan Alternatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .81

8.2  Total Cost of Facility Ownership. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .83

8.3  Parkland LOS Alternatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .84

8.4  Recreation Facility LOS Alternatives . . . . . . . . .86

9.1  Annual Action Plan Process . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .93

Appendix 

A  Glossary and Abbreviations  94

B  List of BPRD Parks and Facilities  98

C BPRD System Map              100

Master Plan Online:  Complete background 
documents related to this master planning process 
may be found online at http://bit.ly/110lAWq.  
Documents include full research reports, the complete 
needs assessment, and details on public engagement 
methodologies and findings including the master plan 
community survey.

Coot Lake

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page     323



4 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        

Letter from the Director
Dear Boulder community members,

Our parks and recreation system is a reflection of the community’s long held values and support for parkland, 
green space, fitness and wellness. Today’s system of urban parks, trails, plazas, recreation facilities and programs is 
a major contributor to Boulder’s nationally acclaimed high quality of life and the result of the community support 
and investment. For over 100 years, the City of Boulder has promoted the community’s access to nature, health and 
wellness in the areas of parks and recreation.

It is in this tradition that we are proud to submit the final 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master 
Plan. This plan presents the framework and policy that will assist and guide the department in the stewardship of 
our parks, recreation facilities and programs. The master plan includes broad policies and initiatives that will help 
shape the services that the department will provide to the community over the next several years. The strategic 
direction is focused around six key themes that emerged from research and throughout the comprehensive 
community planning process:

• Community Health and Wellness
• Taking Care of What We Have
• Financial Sustainability
• Building Community and Relationships
• Youth Engagement and Activity

• Financial Sustainability

The plan also includes an outline for an annual strategic planning process that will ensure that the initiatives of the 
plan become a reality. It is in the implementation of the plan that the community will see a parks and recreation 
department that is modern, results-driven and collaborative. Reshaping parks and recreation services will require 
the focused energy and commitment of the department, as well as support from the community. Available funding 
will be focused on the highest community priorities and, through the support and collaboration of the community, 
the complete set of desired facilities and services can be achieved.

The 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan is the culmination of 18 months of public outreach 
with community members, user groups and partners that help provide many of our community’s services. These 
conversations with the community will continue as we work together to accomplish the ambitious but necessary 
steps to ensure the parks and recreation system continues to enhance the lives of Boulder’s community members.

Sincerely,

Kirk W. Kincannon, CPRP

Director, City of Boulder Parks and Recreation

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page     324



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 5August DRAFT

Executive Summary

Executive Summary

Executive Summary
The 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan will guide the Boulder Parks and Recreation 
Department’s (BPRD) investments and strategies 
over the next five years, shaping the delivery of 
services in a manner that is consistent with city 
sustainability goals and that meets the community’s 
level of service standards. The master plan is 
intended to be strategic in helping the department 
respond to three important questions: (1) What do 
we do? (2)For whom do we do it? and (3) How do 
we excel? 

The primary focus of the master plan is on the short-
term strategies that will build success over the long-
term.The master plan also focuses on high level 
initiatives rather than more specific and detailed 
actions. Specific actions will be identified and 
assigned in the annual Action Plan. 

The master plan is divided into two parts:  

• Part One: The Setting summarizes the planning 
process, including background research 
and community engagement. The research 
included benchmark comparisons to similar 
cities, a needs assessment to identify the 
department’s strengths and challenges, and 
a review of local and national trends and 
practices (Chapters 1 to 5). Full research 
reports may be found online. A critical and 
ongoing part of the master plan has been 
the community engagement process, 
which is necessary to effectively deliver a 
community-oriented park and recreation 
system. A summary of the public engagement 
methodologies and findings may also be found 
online.  

• Part Two: The Plan outlines the mission, vision and 
guiding principles born out of engagement with 
the community, boards and city staff. The plan 

also includes the broad goals and initiatives that 
will help the department establish the systems 
and processes to best improve service delivery 
and modernize the parks and recreation system 
(Chapters 6 to 9). 

This master plan is an update to the City of Boulder 
Parks and Recreation 2006 Master Plan and(a) 
provides standards for levels of park and recreation 
services and facilities in the city, (b) identifies 
development priorities, a Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) and an implementation strategy, 
and (c) guides the city in equitably allocating 
services and meeting identified deficiencies and 
shortfalls in the system as improvements are made 
for the future. 

The 2013 master planning effort fulfills a key 
implementation strategy under the city’s 
primary planning document, the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). The city’s sustainability 
framework is a tool based on the BVCP and 
created to ensure that departmental master 
plans align with and advance the goals and 
priorities of the city council and the community. 
The Sustainability Framework is comprised of seven 
categories that provide the context to develop 
strategies and initiatives to better serve the Boulder 
community:
• Community Character 
• Natural Environment
• Energy and Climate
• Economic Vitality
• Community Well-Being and Safety
• Mobility and Connectivity
• Good Governance

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page     325



100 Years of Excellence        6 August DRAFT

Funding
The BPRD is responsible for an average of 
$25 million annually in operating and capital 
expenditures along with other funding sources 
for one-time capital expenses. As is the case for 
other city departments, the inflationary costs of 
personnel, energy and materials coupled with the 
increasing costs of aging assets and operations 
and maintenance for new facilities, department 
expenses are projected to outpace available 
funding (Figure ES.1). In order to ensure that the 
BPRD operates within its funding allocations and 
generated revenue, the department must continue 
to adjust service provision and facility maintenance 
and operations levels (Chapter 7). The master plan 
emphasizes the importance of ensuring that the 
highest community park and recreation priorities—
as defined by the six themes of the master plan—
are met.

With a maintenance backlog estimated at 
approximately $27 million, difficult trade-off 
decisions must be made by the department 
about how to manage and operate facilities 
and provide programs. The city’s CIP guidelines 
prioritize the maintenance of current assets over 
the development of new facilities. The community, 
through the planning process, has indicated strong 
support for this concept of prioritization. Based 
on current economic conditions, revenue and 
expenditure projections, funding is not sufficient to 
maintain all existing system assets and build new 
park and recreation facilities unless comparable 
trade-offs occur. 

Beginning in 2016, an opportunity exists to address 
high priority park and recreation needs as a result 
of retiring debt service. Considerations for use of this 
funding include but are not limited to:  
• Funding deferred maintenance 
• Improving or increasing service standards for 

maintenance operations
• Focusing programming on health and wellness, 

and youth 
• Increasing financial assistance for underserved 

populations
• Maintaining adequate contingency funds

Table ES.2 shows the projected 2016 funding levels 
for current practices and the recommended use for 
a fiscally constrained plan.

Development of any new facilities will require 
additional funding if existing deficiencies are 
expected to be improved. The policy guidance 
provided by the master plan recommends (a) 
completion of a full feasibility study to clarify 
demand and current facility supply and (b) 
identification of the Total Cost of Facility Operations 
(TCFO) before any new facilities are to be 
considered. The master plan, which identifies areas 
for further investigation, clarifies that development 
of new facilities should not occur without additional 
funding or comperable trade-offs. 

Executive Summary

2000Year

$26.6 $25.4

$8.3 Capital
Improvement Bond

Adjusted
Budget

(million)
2013

Expanding Cost of Business

* Gap Growth
3-5% each year

*Adjusted to Consumer Price Index for 2013. Actual 2000 budget was $19.4 million.

Gap Growth
- Backlog Increasing
- Operation Costs Increase
- New Parks (ex. Valmont)
- New Sustainable Operation Practices 
  (ex. Integrated Pest Management)

Figure ES.1   Gap Growth

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page     326



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 7August DRAFTExecutive Summary

Table ES.2   2016 Uses of Funding (in millions)

At the same time, BPRD must respond to the 
community’s values related to recreation programs 
and activities by providing adequate facilities and 
programs accessible to the entire community to 
meet those needs. In order to focus programming 
on health and wellness and to ensure programs 
are accessible to all community members, the 
department will need to shift service delivery and 
resource allocation as well as to implement best 
practices in program life cycle management and 
evaluation. 

The Path Ahead
At two PathfindersSM workshops, the community and 
staff laid the foundation for the future, contributing 
to a new mission and vision for the department. The  
PathfindersSM  also identified six guiding principles to 
shape all aspects of the department’s services.

BPRD Mission Statement
BPRD will promote the health and well-being of 
the entire Boulder community by collaboratively 
providing high-quality parks, facilities and programs.

BPRD Vision
We envision a community where every member’s 
health and well-being is founded on unparalleled 
parks, facilities and programs.

Guiding Principles
• Sustainable Practices   
• Partnerships
• Health as Our Fundamental Purpose
• The Common Good
• Service Excellence
• Continuous Improvement

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 17Packet Page     327



100 Years of Excellence        8 August DRAFT Executive Summary

Key Themes
Six key themes, which emerged from research 
and community engagement, have shaped the 
strategies that are the focus for the future action 
and decision-making outlined in the master plan:
• Community Health and Wellness
• Taking Care of What We Have
• Financial Sustainability
• Building Community and Relationships
• Youth Engagement and Activity
• Organizational Readiness

The policies, goals and initiatives of the master plan 
are organized around these six key themes to guide 
BPRD as it shifts course to achieve the community 
vision (Chapter 6).

Plan Alternatives
The master plan includes three scenarios, following 
the city’s business planning approach that requires 
departments to prepare for a future without 
increased revenue. This approach acknowledges 
the need for an effective organization to rebalance 
priorities—and their associated expenditures—using 
three tiers of fiscal alternatives. Each alternative 
makes different assumptions about available 
resources (Chapter 8).

1. The Fiscally Constrained alternative plans for 
prioritized spending within existing funding. 
This targets funding for renovations and 
capital improvements related to existing 
parks and facilities. The master plan ensures 
unallocated funding (from retired debt service 
and unallocated CIP) reduces the deferred 
maintenance backlog and increases annual 
operations and maintenance (O&M) to levels 
required to maintain assets. Recreation and 
administration would be largely funded at 
current levels necessitating the redirection 
of existing resources, over time, from current 
programs to the highest priority community 
programs.

2. The Action alternative describes the additional 
services or capital improvement that could 
be undertaken when additional funding is 

available. The additional capital investment 
required to accomplish this varies depending on 
the projects that are funded and must include 
funding for O&M as well as annual repair and 
renovation to maintain facilities for the full life 
cycle costs.  

3. The Vision alternative represents the complete 
set of services and facilities desired by the 
community. This scenario increases Levels 
of Service (LOS) to comparable levels of 
surrounding benchmark communities, replaces 
aging facilities such as Scott Carpenter Pool 
with a modern aquatics center, and upgrades 
existing recreation centers to expand use 
and increase programs for youth and health-
wellness. The costs for these investments vary 
widely and require both increases in CIP funding 
and operating funds to cover the full life cycle 
costs.

The Future BPRD
The final outcome of the master plan is important 
in that it identifies for the department, the city 
organization and the community that BPRD needs 
to recreate itself as a results-oriented, collaborative 
organization that is creative, innovative and 
capable of measured risk-taking.

The master plan clearly frames the major policy 
issues for the department and reinforces the 
importance of ensuring resources are aligned 
with the highest community park and recreation 
priorities. To do this, BPRD will gradually make two 
shifts in current service delivery: 

1. Shift to a practice where available funding is 
focused on the operations and maintenance 
of existing parks and facilities. Development 
of new facilities to provide the expanded LOS 
desired by the community will occur with a 
full needs assessment that identifies TCFO and 
funding.

2. Shift to a practice that facilitates the delivery of 
high-quality programs with community partners, 
where most effective, and limits the direct 
delivery of programs to those that align with the 
highest community values.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 18Packet Page     328



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 9August DRAFTExecutive Summary

Figure ES.3   Annual Action Plan Process

With the acceptance of this master plan update, 
BPRD commits to the new mission, vision and 
guiding principles, as well as the initiatives 
contained in the fiscally constrained plan. 
Implementation of the initiatives will require 
incremental action planning and follow-through 
on a one to five year basis. The most immediate 
actions and priorities will be identified in the annual 
action planning process, as depicted in Figure ES.3 

(also Chapter 9).  The purpose of this deliberate 
process, started prior to budget formation and in 
concert with Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 
(PRAB), is to make mid-course adjustments in the 
three-year action plan in order to make the most 
effective use of resources that meets community 
need. In order to succeed, BPRD will identify 
specific tasks as well as individuals responsible for 
leading them as projects move forward.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 19Packet Page     329



10 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        

PART ONE
The Setting

PART ONE

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 20Packet Page     330



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

11

1887 Baseball Field
Community members enjoy the 4th of July baseball game at one of the town’s first fields at 17th and Pearl, 
which replaced the first park at 13th and Pearl when the land was given to the County for the building of a 
courthouse.

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence
Carnegie Branch Library for Local History/Boulder Historical Society Collection

1: Introduction

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 21Packet Page     331



100 Years of Excellence        12 August DRAFT

Setting
For over 150 years, since Boulder’s earliest days as a mining town, 
access to nature and parks and recreation have played a vital role 
in the community’s transition from an outpost to a metropolitan 
center. Today, the city’s system of urban parks, open space, trails, 
plazas, recreation centers, programs, and special events are major 
contributors to Boulder’s nationally acclaimed high quality of life.

Boulder’s parks and recreation system developed into a vibrant 
network of diverse parks and facilities as a direct result of decades 
of work, leadership, and investment by community members and 
leaders. The city’s parks and recreation system is a major community 
asset that repays those investments every day. The system enhances 
Boulder by increasing property values; improving neighborhoods, 
families and community members; and enhancing lives and job 
performance as individuals exercise, play and relieve stress. The 
green, beautiful and sustainable urban environment augments 
Boulder’s majestic natural setting and helps to attract tourists and new 
businesses and retain a highly qualified workforce.

The 2013 Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan is 
intended to help today’s leaders and community members make 
sound and fruitful decisions that will help the community maintain and 
enhance our system of urban recreational assets and opportunities for 
years to come.

Chapter 1

Foothills Community Park

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 22Packet Page     332



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 13August DRAFT

Overview of Boulder

Location
With a population of approximately 97,000, Boulder is the 11th most 
populous city in the state of Colorado. Located in north-central 
Boulder County at an elevation of 5,430 feet, the city is 25 square 
miles and approximately 25 miles northwest of Denver. Boulder sits 
within the Boulder Valley, the meeting point of the Rocky Mountains 
and the Great Plains. The Flatirons rock formation to the west of the 
city is a recognizable feature, and a part of Boulder’s wide variety of 
protected natural and recreation areas.  

History
Boulder Valley was originally home to the Southern Arapaho tribe of 
Native Americans; several other tribes routinely visited the area. In 
1858, gold seekers established themselves in the area, and, in 1861, 
the Territory of Colorado was created by Congress to support the 
growing mining industry. To encourage economic stability, the town 
campaigned to bring railroad service and the University of Colorado 
to Boulder. In 1871, the town of Boulder was incorporated.  

Also developing in the late 1800s was the concept of the 
Chautauqua, a movement focusing on adult education and 
enlightenment.  Boulder is home to one of the few remaining 
Chautauqua institutions in the United States, a testament to the 
community’s long-standing value of the arts and recreation. After 
World War II, the Boulder population grew, but not without an eye 
toward managed growth, preserving historic and natural treasures, 
and building a strong economy. In 1959, Boulder voters approved 
the “Blue Line” city-charter amendment, which restricted city water 
service to altitudes below 5,750 feet in an effort to protect the 
mountain backdrop from development. 

In 1961, residents overwhelmingly voted in favor of amending the 
city charter to combine the long-standing parks and recreation 
divisions and establish a Boulder Parks and Recreation Department 
(BPRD).  Today, BPRD manages over 1,800 acres of urban parkland 
and 138,000 square feet of recreation center space, plus many other 
recreation facilities.  

Chapter 1

Chautauqua Park

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 23Packet Page     333



100 Years of Excellence        14 August DRAFT

In 1967, Boulder voters became the first in the nation to tax 
themselves in order to acquire open space and to preserve buffer 
areas, natural areas and the mountain backdrop. As a result, today 
the Open Space and Mountain Parks Department (OSMP) manages 
a system of 45,000 acres of open-space lands surrounding the 
city, as well as an extensive trail system visited by walkers, hikers, 
bicyclists, dog walkers, runners and others.

Boulder Today
Today Boulder is widely regarded as a progressive community with 
a vibrant arts, recreation and entertainment scene. It is known 
for its high quality of life, physically active community members, 
and many options for fine dining, as well as for being a top tourist 
destination. Boulder is home to the University of Colorado, which 
enrolls approximately 30,000 students. Sustainable initiatives 
and environmentalism are key components to the overarching 
environmental ethic of the city. The community is home to 
many “green” initiatives ranging from transportation to building 
construction to water and energy conservation.

The Planning Process
The Master Plan
This plan provides an update for the City of Boulder Parks and 
Recreation 2006 Master Plan. The plan provides standards for levels 
of park and recreation services and facilities in the city, along 
with development priorities, a Capital Improvement Program, and 
an implementation strategy. The Boulder Parks and Recreation 
Department Master Plan (master plan) will help the City of Boulder to 
more equitably allocate services and to meet identified deficiencies 
and shortfalls in the parks and recreation system in the future.

Besides providing an inventory of the facilities, properties and 
programs and an analysis of use and demand, the plan also 
documents the extensive public and stakeholder input obtained 
throughout the master planning process (Figure 1.1). This community 
input provides a framework for confirming core values and goals. 
The synthesis of information, public feedback, and measurable and 
definable goals and objectives can help the community act and 
invest in the parks and recreation system in a rational, system-wide 
approach that aligns with community priorities.

Chapter 1

Master Plan Benefits

• Ensure the public health, welfare, and 
safety of the community

• Assess the current state of the park 
and recreation system

• Guide the development of the park 
and recreation system within a 
community

• Provide a foundation for financial 
security of the department

• Develop a tool for rational decision-
making

• Engage the public in discussing issues 
and developing solutions

• Coordinate the various functions of 
the department and other municipal 
agencies

• Create feasible actions to translate the 
strategic concepts of the plan into 
actual implementation

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 24Packet Page     334



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 15August DRAFTChapter 1

Figure 1.1   Master Plan Process. Development of the master plan was based on a 
balanced planning process.

FINAL
PLAN•Benchmarking

•Research Reports
•Public Input
•Stakeholder 
   Involvement

Phase I
Jan 2012 - Nov 2012

Phase II
Nov 2012 - Feb 2012

Phase III
Feb 2013 - Aug 2013

Key
Themes

Fin
dings Public

City Counci l

Finally, the plan describes the political and administrative processes 
that can be instituted to make public funding dollars for parks and 
recreation go further and to make the city’s Parks and Recreation 
Department and PRAB stronger and more transparent to the public. 
Altogether, this refocusing of priorities can engage the community’s 
passion for recreation and improve the City of Boulder’s capacity for 
action to provide a better future.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 25Packet Page     335



100 Years of Excellence        16 August DRAFT

Community Engagement
A critical and ongoing part of the master plan is the community 
engagement process, which is necessary to effectively deliver a 
community-oriented park and recreation system. A balanced, open, 
and collaborative engagement process builds community-wide trust 
in the plan and the process. Community engagement is carefully 
planned in order to create an outcome that will secure support for, 
and the ultimate approval of, the master plan by the city council, 
advisory groups, city management, department staff, and the diverse 
groups that utilize BPRD’s services.  Community engagement during 
the planning process included the following key elements.

Stakeholder Interviews
Starting in January 2012, the project team conducted interviews 
with key stakeholders representing a wide variety of user groups, 
community leaders, city staff, the PRAB, and special interest groups. 

Public Open Houses 
In late October 2012, BPRD staff hosted public meetings focused on 
the master plan. Staff hosted an additional public open house in April 
2013 to review research findings and preliminary recommendations.

Public Surveys
A survey drew from a random, stratified sample of the community 
to provide statistically representative results. Consultants distributed 
surveys in September 2012. A total of 663 useable surveys yielded 

Chapter 1

Community Open House

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 26Packet Page     336



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 17August DRAFT

a response rate of 20.7% and a confidence interval of 3.8% at a 
confidence level of 95%. An identical survey was made available to 
any member of the community as an additional tool for engagement, 
however, results were kept separate.

Online Engagement
Several web-based materials kept the public informed about the 
master planning project. The Eppley Institute managed a non-
city website to share information and collect feedback. Staff also 
maintained a webpage on BPRD’s public website. In addition, the 
department hosted discussions on the master plan on the City of 
Boulder’s virtual town hall: www.inspireboulder.com.

Targeted Outreach
In an effort to connect with underparticipating groups, BPRD engaged 
youth, minorities, and other special populations in conversations and 
focus groups. Staff met with the Youth Opportunities Advisory Board 
(YOAB), the Human Relations Commission, the Fairview High School 
Student Council, members of Intercambio, Compañeras, and others. 
This outreach is ongoing.

PathfindersSM Workshops
Two workshops led by the Eppley Institute in February 2013 helped 
refine consensus and develop specific strategies for the master plan. 
One workshop involved community leaders, including representatives 
from other city departments and the other involved BPRD staff 
representatives.

Technical Advisory Group (TAG)
Comprised of staff members from across the department, TAG 
members served as subject matter experts to verify information and 
research.

Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (PRAB)
The PRAB played a significant role in the master plan by attending 
public meetings, reviewing background research, advising on the 
master plan’s direction, and recommending the plan to the city 
council. In addition, PRAB held eight study sessions related to the 
master plan from February 2012 through May 2013. The PRAB’s 
guidance has been highly instrumental in shaping the policies of the 
master plan.

City Council
As the final body to accept the master plan, the city council engaged 
in the project at several key junctures. PRAB and the city council 
convened for a three-hour study session on the master plan in 
November 2012. Two council members also attended the community 
PathfindersSM workshop in February 2013. In May 2013, a follow-up study 
session allowed  city council to discuss the draft plan.

Chapter 1

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 27Packet Page     337



18 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        Chapter 1

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 28Packet Page     338



1919

2: Planning Framework

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

19

1930 Hygienic Swimming Pool-Interior
Boulder’s first pool opened in 1923 using warm water produced from the manufacture of ice by the Hygienic Ice 
and Cold Storage Company. The spring-boards, slides, trapeze, rings are gone, but the Hygienic Swimming Pool  
was purchased by the city in 1945 and is known these days as Spruce Pool and still a facility many enjoy.

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History/Boulder Historical Society Collection

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 29Packet Page     339



100 Years of Excellence        20 August DRAFT

Comprehensive Planning
The master planning effort is a key implementation strategy under 
the city’s primary planning document, the 2010 Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). According to the BVCP, Boulder’s park 
and recreation programs are tangible ways to shape neighborhoods 
and to move the community toward the vision of becoming one of 
the most sustainable and livable communities in the world.

The master plan reflects that Boulder is continuously evolving in ways 
that reflect ongoing changes to economic, political, social, and 
environmental processes. Community members, local organizations, 
and city governments are collaborating to produce plans to inform 
and guide that evolution and thus pursue the best future possible. 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan
As with all city master plans, this plan takes its overall policy direction 
from the BVCP. The BVCP outlines core values and guidance to 
achieve sustainability, intergovernmental cooperation, organized 
urban development, expansion of utilities services, and other 
initiatives. The sustainability framework is particularly critical to the 
2013 Parks and Recreation Master Plan and focuses on principles of 
environmental, economic, and social sustainability along with an 
emphasis on community engagement. 

Sustainability Framework
In addition to other planning documents, it is important to consider the 
city’s Sustainability Framework, which was built upon the foundation 
of the BVCP and Priority Based Budgeting results. The Sustainability 
Framework is a tool to help ensure that each departmental master 
plan aligns with and advances the goals and priorities of the city 
council and community. Applying Boulder’s Sustainability Framework 
to planning requires consideration of seven strategy areas.

The seven categories provide the context to develop strategies 
and initiatives to continue to better serve the Boulder community 
as depicted in Figure 2.1. At the intersection of all these areas is the 
community’s ability to sustainably meet its needs now and in the 
future. 

Chapter 2

City of Boulder  City of Boulder  
Parks and Recreation Parks and Recreation 

2006 Master Plan2006 Master Plan
Accepted by City Council on December 19, 2006

Related Plans

The Boulder Valley 
    Comprehensive Plan
The Boulder Valley 
    Comprehensive Plan

20102010

Environmental

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 30Packet Page     340



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 21August DRAFTChapter 2

Figure 2.1   BVCP Framework. The community sustainability framework helps to advance 
the goals and priorities of the city council and community.

Community SustainabilityFramework

Priority-
Based

Budgeting

Department
Strategic/

Master Plans

Subcommunity
and

Area Plans

Operating
Budget

Capital Improvements
Program

Development
Standards
and Zoning

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

Accessible and
Connected

Community 

Good
Governance

Safe 
Community

Livable 
CommunityHealthy and

Socially Thriving
Community

Environmentally
Sustainable
Community Economically 

Vital Community

Safe Community
Boulder’s strategies for a safe community include fostering a 
climate of safety for individuals in neighborhoods and public 
places. Boulder’s green residential spaces are gathering places where 
neighbors form social ties that produce stronger, safer neighborhoods. 
In addition, Boulder’s well maintained parks create a perception of 
safety. 

Healthy and Socially Thriving Community
Boulder strives to promote a healthy community and to 
address social and cultural inequities, recognizing that 
environmental, economic, and social sustainability are built upon 
full community involvement. Boulder’s park and recreation system 
provides one of the most effective ways to build a sense of community 
and improve quality of life. The community can participate in 
activities that strengthen the mind, spirit, and body. In turn, parks and 
recreation programs build social capital, the backbone of a strong 
and engaged community.  

Livable Community
Boulder’s compact, interconnected urban form helps ensure 
the community’s environmental health, social equity, and 
economic vitality. An urban park system helps to define the shape 
and feel of a city and its neighborhoods. Boulder’s urban parks, which 
include parkland, plazas, greenways, landscaped boulevards, public 
malls, and civic spaces, help define the community’s layout, real 
estate value, traffic flow, public events, and the civic culture. 

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 31Packet Page     341



100 Years of Excellence        22 August DRAFT Chapter 2

Accessible & Connected Community
BPRD works to maintain and develop a balanced and well-
connected system of parks and recreation facilities that is 
linked to all modes of travel. Linking parks, greenways, river corridors, 
and other natural or restored lands to create an interconnected 
green-space system provides benefits for people, wildlife, and the 
economy. It helps connect people and neighborhoods, provides 
opportunities for exercise that can counter today’s trends in obesity 
and adult-onset diabetes, and enhances emotional well-being by 
bringing nature “close to home.”

Environmentally Sustainable Community
Green infrastructure is an interconnected system of green 
spaces that conserves natural ecosystem values and functions, 
sustains clean air and water, and provides a wide array of benefits 
to people and wildlife. Urban parks cool and clean the air, improve 
and modify local wind circulations, and better regulate precipitation 
patterns. Recreation centers and other facilities also have a major 
role in implementing energy policies. Recycling, composting, and 
high-efficiency lighting and heating/cooling systems can dramatically 
reduce the city’s carbon footprint and contribute to the financial and 
environmental sustainability of the Boulder community.

Economically Vital Community
Boulder parks are a source of positive economic benefits; they 
enhance property values, increase municipal revenue, and 
attract homebuyers, workers, and retirees. When linked properly with 
local visitor service providers, parks and recreation often emerges as 
an “engine” that drives tourism in the community by providing access 
to unique features, programs, and experiences such as special events 
and festivals. Recreation facilities provide sites for sports tournaments 
and athletic events, which can be major sources of tourism and 
economic benefits.  

Good Governance
Supporting the community’s strategic decision-making with 
timely, reliable, and accurate data and analysis based 
on current research is critical for meeting all sustainability goals. 
Managing assets for the full lifecycle cost and maintaining existing 
infrastructure promote a healthy and safe community while 
contributing to financial sustainability. In addition, using a lifecycle 
management approach for recreation services that calls for 
planning, implementing, and evaluating programs is imperative to 
effectively meet diverse and changing community needs. Utilizing 
best management practices and new technology and providing 
professional development are necessary to effectively and efficiently 
manage all operations and provide good customer service.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 32Packet Page     342



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 23August DRAFTChapter 2

Figure 2.2   Benefits Approach

Community

Economy Environment

Individual

Individual In
di

vi
du

al

The Benefits Approach
Boulder’s park and outdoor recreation opportunities, along with 
natural open space, greenbelts, trails, mountain views, and access 
to thousands of acres of wilderness, lend character to the city. Urban 
parks add charm to neighborhoods, increase property values, and 
provide a balance between nature and development.

A parks and recreation master plan that adopts a wide perspective, 
viewing BPRD as one provider in the context of a broader community-
wide parks and recreation system, will be most effective in serving the 
city’s holistic interests. The four distinct elements illustrated in Figure 
2.2 and listed below should be fostered and balanced within the 
community-wide parks and recreation system.

• Benefit #1: Individual Development
Parks and recreation facilities and programs provide for a 
well-balanced and healthy community. In the resident survey, 
respondents pointed to health benefits as the top reason for 
recreating. Recreation provides the individual with a renewed 
sense of self-worth. Play provides an opportunity to engage our 
creative self, regardless of age.

• Benefit #2: Community Building
Park and recreation systems are one of the most effective tools 
for building a sense of community and improving quality of life. 
Parks channel positive community participation by getting diverse 
people to work together toward a shared vision. Volunteer 
participation is an important part of community-building through 
our parks and recreation system.

• Benefit #3: Economic Enhancement
Parks improve property values, attract people to live and work 
in the community, and persuade retirees to stay in the area.  
Economic revitalization of neighborhoods and town centers 
is enhanced by investment in parks that in turn attract private 
investment capital. Our parks and recreation facilities and 
programs are not only enjoyed by community members but also 
attract visitors and contribute to the local tourism markets.

• Benefit #4: Environmental Stewardship
Our natural areas retain and filter storm water, serve as buffers 
between incompatible land uses, lend definition to neighborhood 
areas, provide links between residential areas, parks, and schools, 
and protect wildlife and fish habitat while providing recreation 
opportunities close to home.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 33Packet Page     343



24 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        Chapter 2

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 34Packet Page     344



2525

3: BPRD System

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

25

1890-1926 Boulder Creek
Since Boulder’s earliest frontier days, Boulder Creek has been a center of activity and development. Today, the 
creek is lined with park land bought in increments by the city throughout the 20th century as part of the Olmsted 
Plan.

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History/Boulder Historical Society Collection

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 35Packet Page     345



100 Years of Excellence        26 August DRAFT Chapter 3

Boulder’s Premier System
Boulder Parks and Recreation Department (BPRD) manages a premier 
system of over 1,800 acres of parkland in approximately one hundred 
parks and offers more than 2,500 programs for community members 
of all backgrounds, ages, and abilities. The department is responsible 
for approximately $274 million in park facilities. This includes 288 acres 
of managed turf and irrigated park lands, 15 miles of greenway 
trails, 38,500 urban trees, 43 athletic fields, 40 playgrounds, 36 park 
shelters, 40 tennis courts, and an additional 47 mixed courts used 
for basketball, handball, or skate parks. In addition, the department 
manages the Flatirons Golf Course, Boulder Reservoir, Valmont City 
Park, Pearl Street Mall, and numerous other public facilities. 

Parkland
Urban park systems generally provide a wide array of diverse settings 
for diverse uses, and this is certainly the case for the community of 
Boulder. Of the 1,800 acres of parkland within the city limits, 1,490 
acres are developed for use and an additional 313 acres are reserved 
for future parkland development. Over half of these acres are natural 
areas that connect with larger open spaces and greenbelts. A park 
classification system, based upon industry best practices, community 
engagement and benchmark communities illustrates an equitable 
system of parks for the city (Table 3.1). Table 3.2 demonstrates the 
current distribution of Boulder’s parkland as well as the distribution 
when total pakland is developed.

Neighborhood Parks
Neighborhood parks typically range in size between five and 20 acres 
and are usually located within walking distances of neighborhood 
residences. In Boulder, smaller parks with playgrounds sized between 
one and five acres are also included in the neighborhood parks 
classification.  Neighborhood parks are often considered the most 
fundamental park type in a city’s system. Examples of Boulder’s 
neighborhood parks include North Boulder Park and Melody Park. 

Table 3.1   Parkland Classification. Boulder’s system is categorized by park type.

Park Type

Neighborhood Parks 306.74 acres 19.42 acres 326.16 acres

Community Parks 149.66 acres 19.00 acres 168.66 acres

City/Regional Parks 716.88 acres 274.68 acres 991.56 acres

Civic Spaces 316.79 acres 0.00 acres 316.79 acres

Total 1,490.07 acres 313.10 acres 1,803.17 acres*

*Park acreage in 2030 if undeveloped land is improved

Current Undeveloped Total

North Boulder Park

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 36Packet Page     346



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 27August DRAFTChapter 3

Community Parks
Community parks are larger than neighborhood parks and can be 
up to 100 acres. Community parks generally include a mix of natural 
areas and developed facilities. They provide space for recreational 
activities that serve a wider population than the surrounding 
neighborhood and are intended to serve a larger geographic area 
of the city. Boulder’s three community parks are Foothills, East Boulder 
and Harlow Platts Community Parks.

City and Regional Parks
City and regional parks are large, often up to 300 acres, and serve the 
entire community. They provide space for high-intensity recreational 
activities as well as large tracts of open space. These areas frequently 
attract visitors from outside of the community. Valmont City Park and 
the Boulder Reservoir are examples of this type of park in Boulder.

Civic Spaces
BPRD also manages other land types for various uses not 
characterized by the classifications above. These include areas like 
Columbia Cemetery, the historic Harbeck House, Pearl Street Mall and 
the Civic Area around the Municipal Complex, including the library 
grounds and City Hall. Civic spaces also include the Boulder Creek 
Bike Path and several community garden sites.

Natural Areas
BPRD also manages natural areas and urban forests along stream 
corridors and on open parcels that are still undeveloped and reserved 
for future park sites. In addition to these natural areas, many of the 
existing developed parks have acres that have been left natural or 
are adjacent to natural areas, including Valmont City Park and Harlow 
Platts Community Park. These areas attract wildlife and invasive plant 
and aquatic species that require management similar to that required 
on open space property.

Life Cycle Asset Management or Asset 
Management is the systematic process 
of maintaining, upgrading and operating 
physical assets cost effectively.  It 
combines engineering principles with 
sound business practices and economic 
theory, and it provides tools to facilitate 
a more organized logical approach to 
decision-making.
 
The Asset Management Topical Report 
contains a full inventory of parkland.

Table 3.2  Parkland Inventory

Current Acres Total Acres

Neighborhood

Community

City/Regional

Other

21%21%

48%

10%

18%
18%

55%

9%

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 37Packet Page     347



100 Years of Excellence        28 August DRAFT

Recreation Facilities 
BPRD operates $200 million in major facilities and equipment, of which 
$50 million is managed in cooperation with the Facilities and Asset 
Management (FAM) division of the Public Works Department. These 
facilities support both general informal use by the public as well as 
specialized or scheduled use for athletic competitions, recreation 
programs, or other events (Table 3.3). Recreation facilities have highly 
specialized maintenance and management requirements and are 
subject to different standards than urban parkland. 

Active Recreation Facilities
Active recreation facilities operated by BPRD include tennis courts, 
recreation centers, aquatic facilities, ball diamonds, and rectangular 
fields. While some of these facilities can be used for different activities, 
many are single or narrow purpose. Active recreation facilities are 
typically more costly to develop and operate over time. Community 
decisions about the provision of these facilities generally take into 
consideration the extent of the user base, life cycle management 
costs, and existence of similar facilities in or near the community.

Passive Recreation Facilities
Passive or community recreation facilities include playgrounds, picnic 
shelters, community gardens, and some open rectangular fields for 
use that is unstructured and informal. These facilities play a significant 
role in giving parks their character, and as a result of their broader use, 
a wider segment of the general public tends to access them. While 
passive or community recreation facilities are usually less expensive 
to develop and maintain, they also have notable life cycle costs 
associated with their management.

Specialized Recreation Facilities
Some specialized recreation facilities such as the Flatirons Golf Course, 
dog parks, the Valmont Bike Park, and skate parks are suited only for 
specific uses. While these facilities can garner visibility and community 
support, they may serve only a narrow slice of the community and can 
be the most costly facilities to maintain and operate over time. City 
parks and recreation departments typically conduct thorough needs 
assessments before committing to the development and ongoing 
maintenance of specialized facilities, carefully vetting plans with the 
community, advisory boards, and governing bodies.

Recreation Programs
BPRD is a major—and, in some ways, the dominant—provider of 
recreation services in Boulder. It offers over 2,500 individual recreation 
programs each year to both Boulder residents and non-residents. 

Chapter 3

BPRD Facility Inventory

Aquatic Facility      5 
Recreation Center      3
Golf Course       1
Diamond Ball Field     24
Rectangular Field     20
Playground      40
Skate Park       1
Bike Park       1
Dog Park       4
Picnic Shelter      34
Tennis Court      40
Community Garden      4

Table 3.3   BPRD Facility Inventory. The 
Asset Management Topical Report 

contains a full inventory of recreation 
facilities.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 38Packet Page     348



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 29August DRAFT

Major program areas are listed in Table 3.4, along with their average 
number of registrations and annual revenue. These figures tell only part 
of the story, however. Not all programs require advance registration; 
there are many that are open to drop-in participation. Also, not all 
programs generate income, though they may provide community 
benefits. BPRD’s processes for tracking program participation and 
outcomes are currently being revised to improve their effectiveness, 
and this master plan provides several strategic recommendations on 
how to collect and evaluate recreation program data.

Most programs are held at one of the three recreation centers 
managed by BPRD: however, programs are conducted at other 
department facilities as well. Some aquatics programs take place 
at Scott Carpenter Pool and Spruce Pool. All pottery programs and 
services are held at the City of Boulder Pottery Lab. Several sports 
programs are held at East Mapleton Ball Fields, Pleasant View Fields, 
Martin Park, and Stazio Softball Fields. The Iris Studio is used for some 
dance, Pilates, and mind and body programs such as yoga and chi 
kung. Through partnerships, other programs take place at non-BPRD 
locations such as the East Boulder Senior Center and The University of 
Colorado.

Aquatics, dance, fitness, mind and body, Pilates, pottery, sports, 
and weight training all offer both adult programming and youth 
programming. Special interest activities such as drawing, painting, 
cooking, and drama are also available for all ages. In addition, the 
Boulder Reservoir programs include sailing lessons, water sports and 
summer day-camps. 

Many programs, like those that introduce participants to basic fitness 
activities or teach people to swim, are offered not only to serve the 
individual, but also to provide a community benefit. These community 
programs offered by BPRD include EXPAND (Exciting Programs and 
New Dimensions) and YSI (Youth Services Initiative). EXPAND provides 
a variety of therapeutic recreation services to community members 
with disabilities. The YSI program provides youth ages six to 18 with 
after-school and summer programs as well as special events and trips.

A number of special events are also offered by BPRD, sometimes in 
collaboration with other city departments or organizations. These 
events include community cleanup days, father and daughter 
dances, special nature programs, art fairs, races and parades.

Chapter 3

BPRD Recreation Programs
          Registrations Revenue

Aquatics  2,735 $191,855 
Dance  2,316 298,988 
EXPAND  1,331 86,664 
Fitness  997 81,907 
Gymnastics 5,631 652,045 
Mind and Body 1,890 146,666 
Pilates  790 78,201 
Pottery  1,024 178,583 
Reservoir  450 84,521 
Special Interest 342 49,790 
Sports  5,052 1,167,336 
Weight Training 985 164,358 
YSI  694 2,398 
Average, 2009-2011

Table 3.4   Recreation Programs. The 
Recreation Programs and Services 

Topical Report contains a full listing 
of all BPRD programs.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 39Packet Page     349



100 Years of Excellence        30 August DRAFT

Other Providers
The BPRD is not the only provider in the overall system of park and 
recreation services in the community. Organizations from the public, 
private, and nonprofit sectors all play a role in offering programs and 
facilities that relate to parks and recreation. 

Other Providers of Parkland
The Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) maintains land around school 
properties, and these lands are frequently used as de facto parks—
especially those with playgrounds, athletic fields, and pathways. The 
Boulder Library manages small parcels of land that host concerts and 
events. The Transportation Division of the Public Works Department 
maintains many of the city’s urban greenways and trails. 

The dominant provider of open space in Boulder is the Open Space 
and Mountain Parks Department (OSMP), which manages the city’s 
45,000 acres (Table 3.5). Boulder County Open Space (BCPOS) 
provides an additional 35,000 acres of open space and 110 miles 
of trails. The United States Forest Service (USFS) manages Arapaho 
and Roosevelt National Forests, which provide outdoor recreational 
opportunities. Rocky Mountain National Park, managed by the 
National Park Service (NPS), is approximately one hour from Boulder. 
Also, Colorado Parks and Wildlife (CPW) has several state parks near 
Boulder, including Eldorado Canyon, Golden Gate Canyon, and St. 
Vrain State Parks. 

Other Providers of Recreation Facilities and 
Programs
In addition to providing small outdoor spaces for events, the 
Boulder Library occasionally offers film screenings, art shows, and 
literary events. In addition to operating part of the East Boulder 
Community Center, the Department of Human Services offers cultural, 

Chapter 3

   Nearby Parkland   
   Providers  Acreage

OSMP 45,000
BCPOS 35,000
USFS 1,500,000
NPS 266,000
CPW 14,000
Other 1,000

TOTAL 1,861,000

Table 3.5   Other Parkland Providers. BPRD 
is part of a larger system of parkland 

providers.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 40Packet Page     350



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 31August DRAFT

recreational, wellness, and educational programs for youth, families, 
and seniors. Boulder County Public Health provides programs that 
promote positive health behaviors and environmental practices.

Most other providers of recreation facilities and programs are from 
the nonprofit or private sector. The YMCA of Boulder County and 
the University of Colorado manage recreation centers comparable 
to those provided by BPRD. In addition, there are many private 
businesses that provide specialized programs and facilities for activities 
such as yoga, Pilates, golf, and fitness. Nonprofit athletic organizations 
coordinate seasonal schedules and tournaments and often utilize the 
facilities of BPRD. Other special-interest organizations also play a role in 
conducting programs. 

Organizational Structure
The Department of Parks and Recreation is led by a director, who 
is appointed by the city manager. There are three divisions to 
accomplish the department’s mission: the Administrative Division 
manages functions such as budgeting, marketing, communications, 
information systems, and technology management; the Parks and 
Planning Division is responsible for the day to day operations of 
the parks system, planning and development of new parks, and 
renovation of existing parks and facilities; and the Recreation Division 
operates the department’s recreation facilities and manages 
recreation programming.

An overarching goal of the master plan is to investigate the 
department’s role as a provider of park and recreation services in 
the community and to make recommendations about the structure 
of the department to allow for greater effectiveness. The city charter 
articulates the most fundamental expectations of the department 
and directs PRAB to advise BPRD staff on parks and recreation matters.

Chapter 3

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 41Packet Page     351



32 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        Chapter 3

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 42Packet Page     352



3333

4: Community Trends

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

33

1919 Boulder Fire Station #2
In the mid-1950s, the Pottery Lab moved to the decomissioned Fire Station #2, built in 1908.  A city sign shop 
operated upstairs until early in the 1960s, when pottery programming occupied the entire building as it does 
today.

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History/Boulder Historical Society Collection

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 43Packet Page     353



100 Years of Excellence        34 August DRAFT Chapter 4

Planning Backdrop
Examining the key issues and evolving trends of the community 
provides a critical backdrop to other research findings and helps 
compose an accurate, comprehensive depiction of community 
needs. Exploring the key issues and trends relevant to parks and 
recreation in Boulder sets the stage for the meaningful strategic 
recommendations of this master plan. 

Boulder’s Population
In the past forty years, Boulder’s population has grown at a rate of 
about 1.6% annually, from 66,870 residents in 1970 to 97,706 residents 
in 2010. With an estimated 97,385 residents in 2013, the population has 
remained steady since 2006, representing the lowest rate of growth 
in a generation. However, growth is predicted to occur between 
now and 2030 at a rate of about 1% each year, bringing the city’s 
population to approximately 114,000 residents (Table 4.1). The growth 
rate of Boulder County is expected to increase at a noticeably higher 
rate than that of the City of Boulder. As a result, the percentage of 
the county’s population living in the City of Boulder will continue to 
decrease, with more growth likely to occur in neighboring Longmont 
and surrounding areas.

According to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, changes to 
the composition of the population by age and income levels will 
likely result in an additional demand for human services.  Boulder’s 
population is aging, and the county’s population of age 60 and 

Table 4.1   Boulder Population Growth Chart. Boulder’s current population of 99,700 is 
expected to climb to 114,000 residents by 2030.

400,000

350,000

300,000

250,000

200,000

150000

100,000

50,000

0

60%

% of County

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Year 200019801970 1990 20302010 2020

Source: 2010 Census and City of Boulder Planning

Boulder County
City of Boulder

131,889 291,288225,339189,625 332,107294,567 366,960
66,870 99,09383,31276,685 110,00097,706 114,000
50.7% 34.0%37.0%40.4% 33.1%33.2% 31.1%

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 44Packet Page     354



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 35August DRAFTChapter 4

over is expected to nearly double by 2020.  The majority of Boulder 
households are now non-family households, and the povery rate 
for local households continues to increase.  The growing Latino 
population is another notable trend in demographics, doubling 
between 1990 and 2000.

Boulder Development Patterns
Areas of the city are becoming less suburban and more urban. Over 
the past decade, over 3,000 new housing units have been developed. 
Approximately five million square feet of commercial and industrial 
space have been built as well. However, the city limits have not 
expanded significantly, contributing to the trend of infill and the 
urbanization of Boulder.

Boulder has undertaken several initiatives to control urban sprawl and 
has adopted policies to manage growth. The city has instituted taxes 
and ordinances to preserve open space and prevent urban services 
like water and sewer from expanding outside of a defined boundary. 
Additionally, Boulder is home to many “green” initiatives ranging 
from transportation and building construction to water and energy 
conservation.

Land Use and Housing Trends
Municipal policies restricting urban sprawl have had the intended 
effect of maintaining a distinct urban edge and community 
separation focusing development in urban areas. Areas where 

BPRD developed Dakota Ridge in 2009 to provide recreation opportunities near new 
development in North Boulder.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 45Packet Page     355



100 Years of Excellence        36 August DRAFT

significant change is anticipated are the Gunbarrel area, East Boulder, 
and Boulder Junction. New infill developments in residential zones 
will likely include a variety of housing types across a range of prices, 
including more affordable units than currently exist in most Boulder 
neighborhoods. The 2010 American Community Survey reports that 
more than half of the homes in Boulder are occupied by renters as 
opposed to owners, a trend that is commonly found in university 
communities (Table 4.2). This trend differs from trends across Boulder 
County, the State of Colorado, and the United States, where more 
than 50% of homes are owner-occupied. 

In their analysis of data from the 2010 Decennial Census, the City 
of Boulder Department of Community Planning and Sustainability 
observed that the number of individuals per household in Boulder 
has decreased almost continuously since 1970. Since that time, 
Boulder has been below the national, state, and county averages 
for people per household. In 2000, the national average was 2.59 
individuals per household; Boulder was 2.20 individuals per household. 
At the time of the 2010 Census, the national average was 2.58, and 
Boulder was 2.16. In recent years the neighborhoods of North Boulder, 
Williams Village, East Boulder and Central Boulder added more new 
households than any other part of the city. Most future housing is 
anticipated to be attached housing and the demand for high quality 
urban parks and open space will continue.

Chapter 4

Figure 4.3   BPRD’s Contribution. 
According to the 2012 Master Plan 

Community Survey, parks and recreation 
facilities and programs are an important 
component of Boulder’s healthy lifestyle.

 Table 4.2   Boulder Occupancy Chart. More than half the homes in Boulder are 
occupied by renters as opposed to owners.

80%

70%

90%

100%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

City of
Boulder

Home
Occupancy

Boulder
County Colorado

United
States

53.1% 37.7% 34.1% 34.6%
46.9% 62.3% 65.9% 65.4%

Renter-Occupied
Owner-Occupied

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 46Packet Page     356



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 37August DRAFT

Additionally, if rezoning and residential development of infill sites 
occurs, this may eventually require the city to acquire and develop 
new parkland for urban open space and recreation. Considering 
growth patterns, these sites may not be large enough to provide 
larger parks, so smaller neighborhood parks, pocket parks, or urban 
plazas will likely need to be considered. 

Wellness Culture 
Boulder is a highly active community that cares deeply for both 
individual and community wellness. Additionally, there is a community 
mentality to promote healthy living in all aspects of service provision, 
including environmental health. Sustainable initiatives are key 
components to the overarching environmental ethic of the city.

Issues related to public health bear significant relevance to the 
provision of parks and recreation in Boulder, especially in terms of 
social and environmental sustainability (Figure 4.3). Residents of 
Colorado, particularly Boulder, are more active than many other 
people in the country. The Center for Disease Control and Prevention 
reports that 53.9% of Coloradans get the recommended amount of 
physical activity, compared to only 48.1% of the national population. 
While Colorado is the healthiest state, its residents are growing less 
healthy by the year. Many Coloradans, particularly today’s youth, are 
increasingly sedentary. As a result, state childhood obesity rates (14.2% 
in 2009, an increase of 4.3% from 2007) are a cause for attention 
among park and recreation professionals. 

Recreation Trends
Boulder is renown for its abundance of recreational opportunities 
available to those who reside or visit the city. Recreation providers 
span the public, private and nonprofit sectors and represent an ever-
growing array of activities. Among the most popular active recreation 
pursuits in the community are swimming, yoga, Pilates, running and 
fitness activities. According to the 2012 Sporting Goods Manufacturers 
Association report, fitness sports remained the most popular physical 
activity in the nation. The national participation rate is approximately 
60%, and activities such as boot camp style training have led this set 
of activities. In addition, activities such as spinning (stationary cycling) 
are growing in popularity. Health and wellness have been pushed to 
the forefront of park and recreation agencies in recent years, and, 
in 2012, the National Recreation and Park Association established a 
health and wellness pillar, thus recognizing it as a critical area to focus 
their efforts (Figure 4.4).

Chapter 4

Figure 4.4   BPRD’s Role. Results of the 
2012 Master Plan Community Survey 

indicate strong support for promoting 
health through BPRD parks, facilities and 

programs.

North Boulder Recreation Center

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 47Packet Page     357



38 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        Chapter 4

Boulder residents’ tendency to prefer individual, non-team activities 
such as fitness activities is consistent with broader trends, which have 
shown a decrease in team sports and athletics, especially for adults. 
Nationally, with the exception of soccer, team and individual sports 
participation has decreased since 2001. In the last two years, indoor 
volleyball, slow-pitch softball, and tackle football have experienced 
a decline of at least 10% in overall participation. Sports such as 
baseball, basketball, flag football and soccer have experienced a 
smaller decline. Ultimate Frisbee, beach volleyball, rugby, lacrosse, 
field hockey and most racquet sports have seen the only participation 
increase over the last two years. National trends confirm that 
traditional pastime sport activities have a declining participation while 
nontraditional sporting activities are on the rise.

Like much of the United States, Colorado is experiencing declining 
youth participation in outdoor recreation activities. In his book, Last 
Child in the Woods: Saving Children from Nature Deficit Disorder, 
Richard Louv coins the term “nature deficit disorder” to describe 
the phenomenon of many of today’s youth not experiencing the 
social, mental and physical benefits of being outside and recreating. 
Moreover, young adults become significantly less active as they enter 
adulthood, from about the ages of 17 to 22. Figure 4.5 demonstrates 
the extent of local youth participation in sedentary indoor activities.

1 in 5 BVSD high school students 
watch 3+ hours of TV each day. 

  

1 in 3  BVSD high school boys 
use computer games for 

3+ hours each day.  

 

Figure 4.5   BVSD Statistics. In Boulder, as 
elsewhere, youth are spending significant 

time engaging in sedentary, indoor 
activities.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 48Packet Page     358



3939

5: Needs Assessment

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

39

1950 Band Shell Seating in Central Park
The Civic Area and Band Shell have played a significant role in the social and 
cultural life of the city for over a hundred years. Built in 1938, the Band Shell is an 
established, familiar and prominent visual landmark for community members.

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 49Packet Page     359



100 Years of Excellence        40 August DRAFT

Berkeley, CA

Tempe, AZ

Naperville, IL
Ann Arbor, MI

Bloomington, IN
Asheville, NC

Chapter 5

Needs Assessment Methods 
Accurately assessing needs is one of the fundamental parts of 
a planning process. Informed by data about the situation and 
environment, timely and appropriate decisions need to be made 
about how to meet the community’s demand with a supply of 
the right mix of services. Demand is derived from multiple sources: 
community engagement, research on trends, findings from 
benchmark communities and related research. Supply is informed 
by policy guidance, organizational structure, available resources 
and other factors. As such, conducting a needs assessment requires 
a synthesis of a wide array of inputs that ultimately yield valuable 
information about how to establish Level of Service (LOS) standards.

This needs assessment utilized a triangulation approach to derive 
findings that inform service levels for the BPRD. The community 
engagement activities discussed in Chapter 1, which included open 
houses, stakeholder meetings, the community survey and PathfinderSM 
meetings provided information about service needs. Research drawn 
from topical reports developed as part of the planning process 
provided another source. Benchmarking provided a mechanism 
to compare Boulder’s park and recreation facilities, programs and 
administration to other cities.

Eleven benchmark communities provided 93 data points on a variety 
of parameters pertinent for comparison to the Boulder parks and 
recreation system (Figure 5.1).

The Needs Assessment should be validated by department staff 
on an annual basis. This validation should include reviewing local 
participation data, national park and recreation trends, data from 
future community surveys and program evaluation reports.

Findings on Recreation Demand
Access to close-to-home parks, playgrounds and picnic areas is 
highly valued by residents according to the community survey and 
public meetings. This value aligns with research suggesting that 
neighborhood parks in close proximity to homes provide opportunities 
for children to experience nature and engage in physical activity.

Natural areas are important to the community. Approximately nine 
out of ten community survey respondents indicated that it was “very 
important” to have forests and natural areas in Boulder.

Benchmark Communities
Benchmark Scale Pop.

Boulder, CO -- 97,385
Broomfield, CO Regional 55,889
Foothills PRD, CO Regional 90,000
Fort Collins, CO Regional 143,986
S. Sub PRD, CO Regional 150,000
Westminster, CO Regional 106,114
Ann Arbor, MI National 113,934
Asheville, NC National 83,393
Berkeley, CA National 112,580
Bloomington, IN National 80,405
Naperville PRD, IL National 143,000
Tempe, AZ  National 161,719

Figure 5.1   Benchmark Communites. The 
master plan compared Boulder’s parks 
and recreation system to that of similar 
communities. The Benchmark Analysis 

Topical Report contains an analysis of all 
data points.

Fort Collins

Boulder

Westminster
South
Suburban PRD

Foothills PRD

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 50Packet Page     360



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 41August DRAFTChapter 5

The community also requested flexible and adaptable spaces for 
diverse forms of recreation. Specific comments cited the importance 
of providing spaces that can be used for playing athletic sports on an 
informal basis and open fields that can be used for special events or 
passive recreation. 

Fitness is the most popular recreation activity according to local 
participation estimates and national trend research. Activities such 
as running, aerobics, stationary cycling, yoga and exercising to 
music have shown increases nationally in recent years. Community 
engagement input placed a very high importance on promoting 
physical and mental well-being, and the community expressed 
a strong desire for BPRD to continue to provide fitness programs 
regardless of whether they are offered elsewhere in the community.

Outdoor activities like hiking and recreational canoeing and kayaking 
are increasing in popularity nationwide. Other activities such as wildlife 
viewing and camping are relatively popular in the Front Range region, 
including Boulder. BPRD’s overall use at the Reservoir has increased 
since 2009 with some of the highest growth recorded in the north 
shore, Coot Lake area.

Nontraditional sports such as ultimate Frisbee and lacrosse have seen 
modest participation increases both locally and nationally in recent 
years. However, participation in traditional team and individual sports 
such as football, baseball, softball, and basketball has decreased 
nationally since 2007. BPRD’s sport programs have followed the 
national declining trend. 

Concern about the availability of recreation facilities such as 
ball diamonds, rectangular fields and pools emerged as an issue 
and appears to be a result of a number of conditions, including: 
scheduling conflicts and high demand during prime times; lack of 
multi-use fields; lack of coordination with Boulder Valley School District 
(BVSD) and Boulder County Parks and Open Space (BCPOS); and a 
slightly lower Level of Service than surrounding communities. Better 
active and strategic facility scheduling along with improvement of 
multi-use fields and coordination with other providers are likely to 
resolve this issue. In addition, needs assessments of athletic fields and 
aquatic needs are necessary in order to assess the demand of specific 
facilities. These specialized needs assessments should include studying 
the financial and operational implications of new development.

East Boulder Community Park

Boulder Reservoir

Gerald Stazio Ballfields

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 51Packet Page     361



100 Years of Excellence        42 August DRAFT Chapter 5

Level of Service Analysis
Needs are expressed through an LOS analysis that considers all 
findings. Numeric LOS metrics are most commonly used when 
analyzing parkland and recreation facilities so as to express acreage 
or availability in per capita terms. However, effective assessments of 
recreation programs often rely more heavily on other factors, such as 
specific programming trends.

Parkland
The analysis and projections of future parkland needs are based 
upon industry and community standards in addition to other needs 
assessment research. Table 5.2 provides an overview of the LOS for 
the urban parkland provided by BPRD, and Figure 5.3 demonstrates 
Boulder’s urban Park acreage LOS in relation to other communities.

Given Boulder’s existing acreage and high LOS for urban parkland, the 
community is well poised to meet future needs. In fact, with the total 
supply of acreage available for development, the amount of open 
space supplied by OSMP and other providers, and the availability of 
land associated with schools, it is anticipated that there will not be 
any additional requirements to acquire new lands. This assumption 
is dependent on BPRD developing existing undeveloped lands in 
balance with growing recreation needs and maintaining a balance of 
developed and natural areas in urban parks. It also assumes:

• BPRD will target new single-use or specialized facilities to the larger 
city or community park sites, freeing up neighborhood parks for 
more appropriate uses that currently have single-use facilities that 
are often reserved for leagues or team play.

• BPRD will  plan South Valmont City Park for development with 
a balance of active and passive multi-use facilities, assuming a 
fiscally constrained outlook.

• BPRD will plan Area III Park Reserve for long-term future needs if 
funding is available for the vision plan.

Total urban parkland includes all 
classifications, both current acreage 
and those planned for development. 

It also includes an additional 316.79 
acres of other land types managed by 
BPRD by not tracked for benchmarking 
purposes, such as the the Flatirons Golf 
Course, Stazio Softball Complex, the 
Civic Area and Pearl Street Mall.

Table 5.2   Parkland LOS. Given existing undeveloped parkland, BPRD will continue to 
provide more than enough parkland to meet demand through 2030.

Figure 5.3   Urban Park Acreage. 
Boulder exceeds benchmark 

communities’ LOS.

Park Type

2006 LOS Standard
in

Benchmark Cities

Current LOS
in

Boulder

Neighborhood Parks 3.00 3.15 2.71 +21.84 acres

Community Parks 1.50 1.54 1.45 +5.34 acres

City/Regional Parks 1.00 - 3.00 7.36 8.55 -643.56 acres

Total 5.50 - 7.50 12.05 12.71 -616.38 acres

2030 Projection
(Full Development)

Level of Service (LOS)
 (Acres per 1,000 residents)

Acres Needed by 2030
to Maintain 2006 Standard

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 52Packet Page     362



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 43August DRAFTChapter 5

• BPRD will establish partnerships with BVSD for joint use of 
elementary schools and potential use of athletic fields.

Recreation Facilities
The following recreation facilities classifications are intended for use as 
guidelines to analyze and plan for a recreation facility inventory. This 
inventory reflects the interests of the Boulder community, accounts for 
relevant national trends, provides direction for future recreation facility 
management and fit within current and future funding levels. Table 5.4 
provides a summary of the current and projected LOS for each facility 
type based on the current population (i.e., 97,385) and provides a 
summary of the benchmark communities.

The greatest demand for LOS increases are likely related to aquatics, 
fitness, athletic fields and close-to-home outdoor nature activities. 
Research indicated that swimming is one of the top-ranked 
aspirational sports for people of all ages, and according to community 
engagement, scheduling time for the use pool lanes is difficult. Further 
analysis should be conducted to determine if this demand issue can 
be addressed through alternative scheduling arrangements.

Because fitness activities in general remain popular, the LOS for fitness-
oriented recreation facilities should be maintained. While many other 
providers can be found in Boulder, survey results indicated a strong 
desire for BPRD to continue to provide fitness programs and facilities 
regardless of whether they are offered elsewhere in the community.  

Table 5.4   Recreation Facility LOS.

* TPL LOS Median refers to the Trust for 
Public Land’s (TPL) City Park Facts 
Median for 2012. City Park Facts is a 
project of The Trust for Public Land, the 
nation’s largest national nonprofit 
organization working to create and 
improve neighborhood parks. Through 
an annual survey, TPL’s Center for City 
Park Excellence maintains the nation’s 
most complete database of park facts 
for the 100 most populous U.S. cities

Facility Type LOS per Quantity Current LOS
National LOS 

Median
Colorado LOS 

Median TPL LOS Median

Diamond Ball Field 10,000 24 2.46 2.45 2.89 1.6

Picnic Shelter 10,000 34 3.49 2.71 4.73 n/a

Playground 10,000 40 4.11 3.96 3.96 2.2

Rectangular Field 10,000 20 2.05 1.32 5.22 n/a

Tennis Court 10,000 40 4.11 2.44 2.44 1.8

Aquatic Facility (Outdoor) 100,000 2 2.05 2.49 1.79 n/a

Aquatic Facility (Indoor) 100,000 3 3.08 1.94 2.08 n/a

Community Garden 100,000 4 4.11 1.22 0 n/a

Dog Park 100,000 5 5.13 1.54 1.56 0.6

Golf Course 100,000 1 1.03 1.4 2.08 0.7

Recreation Center 100,000 3 3.08 n/a n/a 3.5

Skate Park 100,000 1 1.03 1.24 1.33 0.4

Benchmark Cities ComparisonExisting

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 53Packet Page     363



100 Years of Excellence        44 August DRAFT

This desire is in conflict with the department’s limited funding and 
national trends and the type of service provision can be changed to 
reflect fitness trends. With the growing number of private fitness clubs 
such as yoga studios, BPRD can continue to provide fitness programs 
(as desired by the community); however, a shift to more drop-in and 
facilitative service provision may be necessary.

Ensuring close-to-home opportunities for community members to 
enjoy nature may be associated with parkland levels of service, but 
it is also important to plan for adequate facilities to facilitate outdoor 
recreation in an urban setting. Therefore, there is a need to continue 
to provide playgrounds, picnic shelters and community gardens. 

Recreation Programs
Determining LOS adjustments for recreation programs relies on much 
of the same research and data used for the recreation facility LOS 
analysis. However, quantitative level-of-service metrics are used less 
frequently when assessing recreation programs. In fact, a needs 
assessment often addresses issues regarding the management and 
administration of programming. 

In terms of the programs themselves, fitness, yoga, swimming, weight 
lifting and nature programming are likely to be the most popular in 
coming years. Service levels for these program areas should be closely 
monitored. Fitness sports remained the most popular physical activity 
in the nation, with a national participation rate of approximately 60%. 
Yoga participation has increased over the last several years, and 
swimming remains one of the top aspirational interests for individuals 
of all ages. The number-one aspirational interest for ages 13 to 44 is 
working out with weights. This interest is reflected in the nationwide 
positive trend of weight training participation.

A major priority of the BPRD is to make informed management 
decisions based on budgeting and financing metrics. In particular, 
policy decisions regarding specific recreation programs often consider 
the extent to which the cost to deliver a program can be recovered. 
However, decisions are increasingly informed by another factor: 
the degree of benefit that the program provides to the community. 
Community benefit programs differ from individual benefit programs 
in that the latter provide benefits that are generally exclusive to the 
individual while the former enhance the health, safety and livability of 
the community. Examples of BPRD community benefit programming 
include EXPAND and YSI. It is necessary to identify how programs and 
services compare in terms of community versus individual benefit as 
well as high versus low degree of cost recovery (Figure 5.5). Figure 
5.6 demonstrates the populations the community supports for BPRD 
program delivery.

Chapter 5

Disa
dvan

tag
ed

Fam
ilie

s

& Se
niors

Adults

Tourist

5%
18% 30% 40% 55%

Children 

&Teens

Figure 5.5   Benefit and Fee Balance. The 
2012 Master Plan Community Survey 

indicates  that tax subsidy should focus 
on programs for those with low incomes 

and/or disabilities.

Figure 5.6   BPRD Prioritization. According 
to the 2012 Master Plan Community 

Survey, BPRD should prioritize programs 
for youth and disadvantaged 

populations.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 54Packet Page     364



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 45August DRAFTChapter 5

Another need observed during the process involves the life cycle 
management of programs and services, particularly after programs 
have been implemented. Program evaluations play a vital role in 
informing management decisions and currently are underutilized at 
BPRD. A life cycle management approach to recreation programs 
involves establishing clear, measurable program objectives and then 
measuring how well the program achieved those stated objectives. 

The method of delivering recreation programs and services is 
changing, and a recent international trend has been to leverage 
partnerships to conceive, design, implement, evaluate and retire 
programs. Boulder has innumerable opportunities to pursue public-
private, public-nonprofit and public-public partnerships. In fact, 
many of BPRD’s existing programs have a critical dependence upon 
partnerships. In order to sustain the provision of programs over the long 
term, a number of key partnership relationships must continue to be 
cultivated and strategically managed. 

It may be particularly valuable to examine the provision of so-called 
traveling competitive programs, which we define in this plan as either 
team or individual recreation activities provided by BPRD that have 
been established to compete with teams within leagues in a broader 
geographic area. Certain BPRD dance and gymnastics programs 
participate in tournaments and travel to other communities during 
a competitive season. These are worthy of review because they are 
generally provided by non-governmental organizations, including 
other organizations in the Boulder community. While it may indeed 
be appropriate to continue this model of service delivery in Boulder, 
additional policy guidance and analysis are warranted before 
developing recommendations for alternative methods for providing 
these activities.

Organizational Assessment
Organizational assessments are a typical component of park and 
recreation master plans. They are frequently complex and represent 
the opinions of many sectors of the community, and importantly, the 
employees, leaders, managers and executives of the organization. 
This complexity creates a tapestry of approaches to assess and then 
make recommendations to improve the organization. Findings and 
recommendations from the BPRD organizational assessment are 
summarized below.

The complete Organizational 
Assessment contains four parts:

Position analysis: a competency analysis 
for individual positions and the 
organization as a whole.

Organizational culture: results of 
qualitative assessments and an 
organizational survey.

Department alignment: strategies, 
including staffing structures, position 
gaps, and realignment of duties to 
improve culture and external 
relationships.

The Future BPRD Organization: 
observations for strategic actions that 
move BPRD toward becoming a more 
effective organization.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 55Packet Page     365



100 Years of Excellence        46 August DRAFT

Competency Focus
BRPD has position descriptions and requirements to perform the 
duties in programs, parks and facilities but some are not current or 
do not reflect published professional or agency standards. That is not 
to say that BPRD staff are not qualified to perform duties required of 
them, however, it does suggest that an internal focus on technical-
professional competencies of the staff, as they are hired, developed,  
trained and promoted, needs to be more externally focused on 
standards than on the evolution of employee abilities within the 
department. 

Culture
An organization’s culture is made up of many parts, both visible and 
invisible. BPRD’s culture is a complex combination of past department 
structures (including from Mountain Parks), different leadership 
patterns provided by past directors, long tenured employees who 
have been through many changes and declining funding and 
resource availability over the past years. The existing culture presents 
many challenges to current BPRD employees and leaders and can 
be addressed by a deliberate and careful internal focus to enhance 
the culture. In turn, this will improve organizational performance 
and effectiveness. A priority commitment is needed at BPRD to; a) 
align BPRD staff priorities with those of the community; b) enhance 
communication throughout BPRD; c) develop organization behaviors 
that reinforce desirable cultural themes of collaboration, teamwork, 
high performance, trust, measured risk taking, innovation and 
staff development; and d) improved employee understanding of 
governance and public policy decision making.

Alignment
As in any organization, alignment adjustments need to be made to 
improve effectiveness and better meet changing community need as 
identified in master plans. BPRD has experienced many reorganizations 
in the last 10 years and while these have, in part, been needed, there 
is a need to better align the organization with the trends, needs and 
standards identified in the master plan. 

To this end, no significant reorganization is found to be necessary. 
The challenges needed are a gradual repurposing of positions, 
realignment of priorities that may affect positions and adjustments 
to grade and compensation. These changes are recommended for 
implementation over the next three fiscal years and efforts were made 
to reassign staff where possible to similar higher priority duties. These 

Chapter 5

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 56Packet Page     366



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 47August DRAFT

recommendations ultimately create no additional budget impact. The 
recommendations do, if followed, create a more flexible and agile 
organization that can better adjust to rapidly changing and clearly 
visible community need. It is clear from the assessment that BPRD does 
need to quickly implement matrix team structures that allow groups of 
people to work outside current hierarchy and chain of command to 
meet emerging community needs in parks, recreation and facilities.

The Future BPRD
The Boulder community values and expects a great deal from their 
park and recreation department. In order to meet these demands, 
BPRD will have to focus on becoming a high performing organization 
that meets specific requirements including:

1. Establishing clear visions that are supported by flexible and 
achievable strategic plans, and clearly articulated philosophies 
that set the standards for everyone’s behavior. 

2. Emphasizing customer retention in their BPRD programs and 
business processes.

3. Clarifying the leadership role, the behaviors employees must 
exhibit to execute the organization’s strategies and the difference 
between the management and leadership activities each 
individual performs. 

4. Implementing processes that reinforce strategy; setting up work 
flows and tasks; and using a wide variety of metrics to measure 
work. 

5. Creating a set of well-established values that are the deep drivers 
of employee behavior and are well understood by the vast 
majority of the employees. 

In the end, BPRD needs to create employees and an overall 
organization that is a results-oriented, collaborative organization that is 
creative, innovative and capable of measured risk-taking and provide 
a team framework of support and trust.

Conclusion: Key Issues and Observations
While Boulder’s parks and recreation system is strong, there are 
challenges to be met to maintain the quality and accessibility of the 
system. Through research, observation, community engagement and 
analysis, the following six themes emerged that frame the key issues 
facing BPRD and the parks and recreation system.

Chapter 5

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 57Packet Page     367



100 Years of Excellence        48 August DRAFT Chapter 5

Valmont Bike Park

Boulder Reservoir
Take Care of What We Have
• Maintenance of existing facilities should be improved and use of 

existing facilities should be prioirtized over building new facilities.

• Asset and facility operations only marginally reflect a life cycle 
approach; it is difficult to account for the total cost of facility 
ownership (TCFO).

Community Health and Wellness
• The community recognizes strongly that parks and recreation 

contribute to Boulder being a physically healthy community, to the 
quality of life of community members, and to a sense of place.

• According to public input, the department should focus on public 
health, community engagement, and cultural activities.

• Programming should be accessible to all members of the 
community, especially youth and those with low incomes or 
disabilities. 

• Programs should address changing trends such as the aging 
population and the desire for more flexibility in programming to 
meet today’s lifestyles.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 58Packet Page     368



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 49August DRAFTChapter 5

Pearl Street Mall
Financial Sustainability
• Department resources are limited. They do not support all current 

demands for services and cannot meet all needs under an “all 
things to all people” approach.

• BPRD should shift from developing new parks and facilities 
with existing funding to prioritizing the ongoing operations and 
maintenance of existing parks and facilities with existing funding.

• Recreation programs lack a consistent methodology for 
tracking the total costs of service delivery, including allocating 
the appropriate costs to the appropriate facilities; adequately 
budgeting program inception and evaluation; and systematically 
reviewing programs for sunset.

• Cost recovery for certain programs is an identified goal, but 
additional consensus is needed on cost-recovery methods. 
Specifically, more guidance is needed about cost-recovery 
targets for different program types and consistency in calculating 
cost recovery.

• The low-income scholarship and subsidy program does not have 
dedicated funding. There has been little evaluation regarding the 
effectiveness of the program.

• Data on facilities is incomplete, preventing an accurate depiction 
of their condition and utilization. Lack of data has also hampered 
prioritization and decision-making.

• Direction and a long-term planning framework are needed in 
order to balance demand for new and/or highly specialized 
facilities with sustaining maintenance and operations of existing 
facilities.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 59Packet Page     369



100 Years of Excellence        50 August DRAFT

Tree Planting

East Boulder Community Park

Chapter 5

Youth Engagement and Activity
• BPRD should more actively engage youth with places, facilities 

and programs.

• Access to nature should be facilitated through connectivity to the 
parks.

• Access to programming could be maximized through partnerships, 
an enhanced scholarship program and improved use of 
technology and social media.

Building Community and Relationships
• Civic spaces and close-to-home parks are important components 

of building strong neighborhoods and making social connections.

• The public desires more parks and facilities events to engage the 
community,such as block parties and local celebrations.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 60Packet Page     370



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 51August DRAFT

PathfindersSM Meeting

Chapter 5

Organizational Readiness
• Some duplication of service delivery among other providers is 

appropriate in order to provide adequate coverage but the 
existing degree of duplication is too high.

• BPRD should shift from delivering recreation programs directly to a 
role where BPRD facilitates program delivery among community 
partners.

• Outcome evaluation for programs is limited to rudimentary 
assessment due to IT limitations and business practices.

• Facilities and programs do not track attendance with consistent 
methods. In many cases, it is difficult or impossible to differentiate 
between registration and actual attendance statistics.

• Departmental operations are limited by inefficiencies in 
organizational structure and communication.

• No consistent formal mechanism exists to create, maintain or 
evaluate partnerships with similar providers in the community.

In summary, the department has the need to ensure that resource 
allocation is focused on these six key themes and the challenges 
related to each.  As the department aligns existing funding with 
community priorities (as defined by the six themes), two gradual shifts 
will occur:

1. Shift to a practice where available funding is focused on the 
operations and maintenance of existing parks and facilities.  
Development of new facilities to provide the expanded LOS 
desired by the community will occur only with a full needs 
assessment that identifies TCFO and funding.

2. Shift to a practice that facilitates the delivery of high-quality 
programs with community partners where most effective and limits 
the direct delivery of programs to those that align with the highest 
community values.

As these shifts are implemented, the department will be able to ensure 
that available funding is focused on community values and oversee 
public assets in a manner that ensures responsible stewardship.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 61Packet Page     371



52 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        PART TWO

PART TWO
The Plan

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 62Packet Page     372



5353

6: Vision and Goals

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

53

1950 Recreation Tennis Program
The recreation division has been providing activities for community members since the formation of the 
Department of Public Welfare in 1918. Activities have ranged widely over the years; however, community health 
and wellness has always been a priority.

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 63Packet Page     373



100 Years of Excellence        54 August DRAFT

Banner       Service Excellence for a Healthy Community

Chapter 6

Boulder Park and Recreation Strategic 
Foundation 
There is strong public support for maintaining and improving Boulder’s 
parks, recreation facilities and programs in order to enhance residents’ 
quality of life. Public support, however, is defined around residents’ key 
concerns and priorities. Based on the findings from the research and 
community engagement, a number of strategic directions for BPRD 
are proposed to begin the process of reshaping parks and recreation 
services to meet community expectations.  These strategic directions 
are intended to empower the full capacity of the Boulder parks and 
recreation system; to resolve the issues revealed in the research 
process; and to set the stage for development of a high quality, 
equitable system of parks and recreation land, facilities and services. 
To be successful, the master plan will require the focused energy, 
commitment and resources of the city, other government agencies, 
local businesses, user groups and the general population.  

The foundation of BPRD is built on the department’s mission, vision, 
banner and guiding principles. Each of the principles and strategies 
are based on the public involvement process and inform individual 
goals, objectives and specific actions and recommended policies 
that have emerged through this process and will be necessary to carry 
out the intent of the master plan. 

Implementation of the recommendations presented in this chapter will 
require incremental action planning and follow-through on a one- to 
five-year basis. Together, these goals provide a framework for BPRD 
to work toward effective implementation of BPRD plans including 
the master plan.  To succeed, specific tasks as well as individuals 
responsible for leading those tasks will need to be identified as 
initiatives are moved forward.

VISION

We envision a community where every member’s health and well-
being is founded on unparalleled parks, facilities and programs.

MISSION

BPRD will promote the health and well-being of the entire Boulder 
community by collaboratively providing high-quality parks, 
facilities and programs.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 64Packet Page     374



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 55August DRAFT

There are several overarching principles that guide all aspects of the 
department’s services.  These principles form the basis for service 
excellence in implementing the master plan.

Chapter  6

Sustainable Practices
Ensuring an environmentally, economically and 
socially sustainable future is an overarching 
priority for the Boulder community. BPRD will 
serve as a leader in using and promoting 
sustainable practices in every aspect of 
providing parks, facilities and programs.

Photovoltaic solar panels on the Silver LEED certified
North Boulder Recreation Center

Boulder County Youth Corps performs trail maintenance 
at the Boulder Reservoir

Boot camp brings people together to enjoy Harlow Platts Park
and push each other to stay fit

Guiding Principles

Health as Our Fundamental Purpose
Physical activity and leisure contribute to our 
individual health, and the presence of park 
and recreation services enhance the quality of 
health in our community. BPRD’s fundamental 
purpose is to provide an excellent infrastructure 
of parks, facilities and programs that makes 
healthy lifestyles for all members of the 
community possible.

Partnerships
Providing a high-quality parks and recreation 
system for the Boulder community requires 
constant collaboration with stakeholders and 
other service providers. BPRD will actively foster 
and maintain partnerships within the community 
to provide the most effective and efficient 
facilities and services possible.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 65Packet Page     375



100 Years of Excellence        56 August DRAFT Chapter 6

The Common Good
BPRD provides programs and facilities that 
strengthen the community through physical 
wellness, environmental health, economic 
vitality and social equity. Ensuring that park and 
recreation services promote the public good 
and are accessible to all community members 
is not always easy but is critical to the welfare of 
the entire community.

BPRD’s nationally recognized EXPAND program provides 
recreation opportunities to people with disabilities

Swim lessons help kids socialize and also encourage the life-long 
(and sometimes life-saving) skill of swimming

Frasier Meadows residents discuss the design of Burke Park 
with CU Environmental Design students

Guiding Principles

Continuous Improvement
Identifying and applying emerging best 
practices makes programs and services more 
effective and helps maintain relevance and 
legitimacy as our community and work evolves. 
BPRD emphasizes the continuous improvement 
of parks, facilities and programs through 
ongoing evaluation and enhancement.

Service Excellence
Providing high-quality programs and facilities 
yields high-quality experiences and outcomes. 
Founded on a passion for offering excellent 
services and carrying out the City of Boulder’s 
vision, BPRD staff are committed to providing 
outstanding experiences for all users.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 66Packet Page     376



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 57August DRAFT

Themes
From the community engagement process, six core themes emerged 
as the basis for future action and decision-making for Boulder’s 
parks and recreation plan. These themes are the product of a 
comprehensive, on-going public engagement process. The six themes 
are:

• Community Health and Wellness

• Taking Care of What We Have

• Financial Sustainability

• Building Community and Relationships

• Youth Engagement and Activity

• Organizational Readiness

The public input, extensive research and best practices review in the 
master plan have resulted in strategic directions that will reshape 
Boulder’s parks and recreation system to reflect community need 
and emerging issues. The master plan expands Boulder’s vision of a 
high quality, equitable system of parks and recreation land, facilities 
and services. The resulting strategic direction will focus energy, 
commitment and resources of the municipality, other departments, 
local businesses and user groups to revitalize—where necessary—and 
maintain—where appropriate—our parks, recreation facilities and 
programs to be one of the best in the world.

Strategic Framework
Clearly, parks and recreation facilities, in the public’s opinion, are 
not just a luxury; they are important building blocks to creating a 
healthy community. Parks are one of the most visible and positive 
public services. They affect the lives of all age groups, contribute to 
quality of life and are participated in voluntarily. In addition, the park 
system balances individual growth, community building, economic 
development and environmental stewardship at the local level 
through the following strategic framework. BPRD’s commitment to 
public engagement in this master plan has been rigorous and has 
included broad segments of the community. Continued commitment 
is critical to the strategic framework.

These six key themes directly inform the development of strategic 
recommendations for the BPRD. Policy statements are presented for 
each theme, along with a set of long-range goals that describe the 
desired future condition of the Boulder parks and recreation system 
and possible initiatives for achieving long-range goals. Implementation 
methodology and the department’s annual strategic action planning 
process are described in Chapter Nine.

Chapter  6

Valmont City Park

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 67Packet Page     377



100 Years of Excellence        58 August DRAFT Chapter 6

Theme 1 Community Health and Wellness

Valmont Bike Park

Overview
Parks provide measurable health benefits, from encouraging direct contact 
with nature and a cleaner environment, to opportunities for physical activity 
and social interaction. Throughout the master planning process, the Boulder 
community has indicated a desire for BPRD to focus on public health and 
wellness through parks, facilities and programs. National trends indicate 
that obesity rates, especially among children, are rising in Colorado and in 
Boulder, emphasizing the important role that parks and recreation services 
can continue to play in keeping Boulder a healthy and vibrant community.

Policies
• All BPRD services will emphasize the important and unique 

mission of the department to enhance the public health and 
wellness of the community.

• The department shall provide for Boulder community 
members’ health and wellness through deliberate and 
thoughtful design of programs, facilities, parks and services.

• The department shall serve as a facilitator, collaborator and 
leader with local organizations in efforts to improve the 
community’s health and wellness.

• BPRD shall use a life cycle management approach in 
recreation programming and facility asset management to 
ensure service provision remains aligned with community 
interests.

• Park and recreation services shall be available and 
accessible to all.

Primary Sustainability Categories for This Theme

Accessible and
Connected

Community 

Good
Governance

Safe 
Community

Livable 
CommunityHealthy and

Socially Thriving
Community

Environmentally
Sustainable
Community Economically 

Vital Community

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 68Packet Page     378



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 59August DRAFTChapter  6

A. Park and recreation services 
remain aligned with the public 
interest in health and wellness.

Long-Range Goals Initiatives

C. Analyze health impacts of 
department services.

a. Review Health Impact Assessment (HIA) best practices with 
service provider roundtable members and together develop health 
measurements for Boulder.  Link to program objectives.

b. Communicate annual data findings to community members and 
partners.

a. Annually review research on best practices, local and national trends.

b. Develop and implement standardized measurement and evaluation 
processes based on identified and measurable program objectives.

c. Enact a best practice that requires partners to record and report 
information and data that is compatible with BPRD evaluation 
frameworks.

a. Partner with the city Transportation Division and Greenways Program 
to enhance connectivity and safe routes to parks and schools.

b. Review population data to determine distribution by age, gender, 
income and ethnicity.

c. Partner with other agencies (e.g. BVSD) to ensure parks and 
playground facilities are within ½ mile of residents.

B. Parks and facilities will be 
provided to meet and/or exceed 
proximity standards.

D. Use data to evaluate services 
through a life cycle approach.

E. Leverage partnerships with 
health providers and allied 
agencies that contribute 
essential components to the 
overall health of Boulder.

a. Conduct user satisfaction and use survey.

b. Conduct annual review and evaluation of existing programs to ensure 
alignment with mission.

c. Review new programs for fit with department mission.

a. Organize regular roundtable discussions with key stakeholder agencies 
and organizations to coordinate provision of services and activities.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 69Packet Page     379



100 Years of Excellence        60 August DRAFT Chapter 6

Theme 2 Taking Care of What We Have

Overview
The maintenance of existing facilities and parks is a consistent theme 
expressed by the public and civic leaders. There is a clear preference 
for spending tax revenue on maintaining or enhancing existing park and 
recreation facilities. With an increasing backlog of over $27 million in repairs 
for existing facilities, Boulder will need to identify ways to allocate limited 
resources to ensure the long-term viability of the park and recreation system 
for the future.

Policies
• BPRD shall ensure adequate resources are available 

to maintain and operate assets within community 
sustainability goals by implementing a life cycle approach. 

• An asset management system that tracks asset condition, 
critical systems maintenance and repair and rehabilitation 
requirements will be implemented and used in making park 
and facility investment decisions.

• The proposed development of any new park and facility 
assets shall be evaluated through a feasibility study that 
includes a needs assessment, user profile, projected 
participation analysis, development funding method, life 
cycle cost pro forma and alternative development trade-off 
analysis. 

• BPRD shall seek and develop partnerships and opportunities 
to leverage maintenance and capital building funds.

 Boulder Reservoir

Primary Sustainability Categories for This Theme

Accessible and
Connected

Community 

Good
Governance

Safe 
Community

Livable 
Community

Environmentally
Sustainable
Community Economically 

Vital Community
Healthy and

Socially Thriving
Community

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 70Packet Page     380



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 61August DRAFTChapter  6

A. Reduce maintenance backlog 
and identify adequate funding 
to sustain a satisfactory Facility 
Condition Index (FCI).

Long-Range Goals Initiatives

C. Provide multi-functional, flexible 
facilities that can accommodate 
a variety of unforeseen needs 
and recreation use trends.

a. Conduct a follow up assessment on sub-area plans to determine if 
additional facilities are needed.

b. Renovate appropriate current facilities for multi-purpose use.

c. Create additional artificial turf rectangular fields designed for multi-
purpose use.

d. Conduct a site planning study for undeveloped acreage at Valmont 
City Park to determine best multi-functional use of space.

e. Conduct a long-range area study for the development of Area III Park 
Reserve to meet future needs.

f. Conduct an Aquatics Feasibility Study.

g. Conduct an Athletics Fields Feasibility Study.

h. Conduct joint facility condition assessment of recreation centers with 
Facilities and Asset Management (FAM).

a. Conduct asset priority index assessment using best practices with 
external stakeholders and the public through an annual “Park Report 
Card” process. 

b. Establish a depreciation (sinking fund) account for operations and 
maintenance of assets.

B. Develop an Asset Priority Index 
(API) that emphasizes adequate 
funding for operation and 
maintenance of existing facilities 
over development of new 
facilities.

a. Develop an Asset Management Program (AMP) and implement a 
relational database for built assets as well as for urban forestry and 
natural resources. 

b. Complete Facility Condition Index (FCI) assessment for all assets.

c. Adopt recommended park classifications and settings to aid in 
resource allocation, with guidelines and Total Cost of Facility 
Ownership (TCFO) for each classification setting.

d. Develop maintenance and safety standards.

e. Develop a forest management plan and update the urban tree inventory. 

D. Collect, analyze and routinely 
use appropriate data to make 
decisions regarding asset 
management and budget 
priorities.

a. Develop a Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) to meet LOS 
recommendations in alignment with TCFO using best practices.

b. Develop annual CIP and Renovation and Replacement (R&R) 
evaluation process that includes regular updates to FCI and API.

c. Establish FCI target and provide depreciation fund to allocate 2.5% 
of Current Replacement Value (CRV) on an annual basis to maintain 
desired FCI.

d. Conduct an economic impact study for regional and national 
tournaments and events.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 71Packet Page     381



100 Years of Excellence        62 August DRAFT

Pearl Street Mall

Chapter 6

Theme 3 Financial Sustainability

Overview
Stakeholders and community leaders recognize the limits to public funding 
and the need to focus on core services as the most effective methods of 
allocating limited funding. Balancing multiple and increasing demands from 
the public within existing resources is a challenge. Boulder community 
members support that parks and recreation services contribute to the social 
welfare of the whole community. 

Boulder parks are a source of positive economic benefits; they enhance 
property values, increase municipal revenue and attract homebuyers, a 
quality workforce, and retirees. Parks and recreation amenities drive tourism 
in the community. Parks and recreation facilities offer both community 
members and visitors unique features and programs, and provide unique 
experiences such as special events and festivals. 

Policies
• BPRD shall categorize services using a recreation priority 

index based on the organizational mission, target population 
served, service outcomes, contributions to the Boulder 
sustainability framework, partnership value and redundancy 
with services provided by others in the community in order 
to guide offerings. 

• BPRD shall determine the actual cost of an activity or service 
using a standardized method that emphasizes consistency of 
data inputs and analysis methods.

• BPRD shall establish cost recovery rates and associated 
pricing. Fees shall be based on the recreation priority 
index, community versus individual benefit, cost to provide 
services and the prevailing market rate for comparable 
services.

Primary Sustainability Categories for This Theme

Accessible and
Connected

Community 

Good
Governance

Safe 
Community

Livable 
CommunityHealthy and

Socially Thriving
Community

Environmentally
Sustainable
Community Economically 

Vital Community

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 72Packet Page     382



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 63August DRAFTChapter  6

A. Calculate total cost of facility 
ownership and of providing 
services and utilize data in 
resource allocation.

Long-Range Goals Initiatives

C. Determine the appropriate 
portfolio of services to 
ensure and promote financial 
sustainability goals.

a. Define and communicate funding sources of services.

b. Evaluate the existing commercial use program fees.

c. Develop a mechanism to spin-off appropriate programs to partners.

d. Establish a framework for consolidating or ending recreation programs. 

e. Develop protocol for ongoing monitoring of the services of other 
providers to inform decisions about BPRD program and facility 
offerings.

a. Determine areas of highest-leverage partnership needs. 

b. Grow relationships and leverage fundraising with foundations and 
nonprofit partners.

a. Establish program objectives to specify the outcome or impact desired 
by the program or service.

b. Categorize programs depending upon the degree of community or 
individual benefit provided.

c. Establish cost recovery rates.

d. Identify funding sources and implement service based pricing.

B. Develop a Recreation Priority 
Index (RPI).

D. Leverage partnerships, 
including those foundations and 
nonprofits, to increase funding 
and optimize service provision.

a. Develop business plans for facilities and program areas.

b. Identify direct and indirect costs of providing services. 

c. Standardize cost-recovery calculation to include indirect expenditures 
and consistent application in all areas.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 73Packet Page     383



100 Years of Excellence        64 August DRAFT Chapter 6

Theme 4 Building Community and Relationships

Overview
Building community engagement and cultural activities through outreach 
programs and initiatives is another key theme of the master plan. Civic 
spaces and close-to-home parks were recognized as an important 
component of building strong neighborhoods and making social 
connections. There is a desire to allow for more community events in the 
parks and facilities that engage the local community and neighborhoods.

Parks and recreation programs build social capital, which is the backbone 
to a strong and engaged community. Parks promote a healthy community 
and address social and cultural inequities recognizing that environmental, 
economic and social sustainability are built upon full community 
involvement.

Policies
• BPRD shall build community through partnerships that are 

mutually beneficial, mission focused and grounded in BPRD 
guiding principles as demonstrated in parks, facilities, and 
programs.

• Parks and recreation services shall be promoted and 
accessible to all community members.

• BPRD shall use inclusive and transparent community 
engagement practices that encourage participation by all 
community members.

Tree Planting

Primary Sustainability Categories for This Theme

Accessible and
Connected

Community 

Good
Governance

Safe 
Community

Livable 
CommunityHealthy and

Socially Thriving
Community

Environmentally
Sustainable
Community Economically 

Vital Community

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 74Packet Page     384



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 65August DRAFTChapter  6

A. Create and implement a strategic 
framework for developing 
and managing community 
partnerships.

Long-Range Goals Initiatives

C. Develop relationships with 
community leaders and 
organizations.

a. Develop and implement an outreach program for key stakeholders and 
groups.

b. Establish regular outreach with similar agency leaders such as OSMP, 
YMCA, CU, BVSD, etc., as well as community leaders.

a. Develop community work groups to identify efficiencies and 
partnership opportunities.

b. Determine programs for shifts in service delivery and implement 
shifts.

a. Conduct a user satisfaction and use survey.

b. Develop a comprehensive list of community groups.

c. Develop and implement a communication outreach plan.

d. Evaluate outcomes of outreach efforts to ensure goals are met.

B. Ensure that public engagement 
efforts include outreach to the 
full community.

D. Conduct regular community 
program analysis to identify 
gaps or redundancies in services 
in order to coordinate program 
offerings or service provision 
by the appropriate agency or 
organization.

E. Ensure that services are 
promoted and accessible to all 
community members.

a. Establish partnership standards and guidelines and assign a staff 
member to manage overall process.

b. Identify partnership needs and actively seek out partnerships to meet 
needs.

a. Develop an enhanced financial aid program.

b. Explore opportunities to promote services to non-English speakers.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 75Packet Page     385



100 Years of Excellence        66 August DRAFT Chapter 6

East Boulder Community Park

Theme 5 Youth Engagement and Activity

Overview
Like much of the nation, Colorado is experiencing declining youth 
participation in outdoor recreation activities. There is a need to actively 
engage youth with park places, facilities and programs that are place-based. 
This includes the need for facilities for youth sports as well as providing 
more access to nature in the parks system. There is a strong community 
desire for after-school programs in partnership with the Boulder Valley 
School District (BVSD) and other nonprofit organizations. The community 
feels that youth should be a priority for the BPRD.

Parks offer children the daily benefits of direct experience with nature—the 
motivation to explore, discover and learn about their world and to engage 
in health-promoting physical activity. Parks engage children in experiential 
learning through play and shared experiences with peers. Moreover, parks 
provide a valuable resource for closing the educational achievement gap 
and offer a vehicle for children’s participation in community development, 
citizenship and democratic processes.

Policies
• BPRD shall enhance the health, safety and overall 

development of Boulder’s youth through parks, facilities and 
services.

• BPRD shall support family activities that benefit youth and 
build a strong sense of community and place.

Primary Sustainability Categories for This Theme

Accessible and
Connected

Community 

Good
Governance

Safe 
Community

Environmentally
Sustainable
Community Economically 

Vital Community

Livable 
CommunityHealthy and

Socially Thriving
Community

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 76Packet Page     386



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 67August DRAFTChapter  6

A. Involve youth in civic process, 
including service learning and 
decision-making.

Long-Range Goals Initiatives

C. Increase environmental 
awareness and conservation 
ethics among Boulder youth.

a. Increase youth participation in a BPRD volunteer program.

b. Partner with agencies to expand environmental awareness.

c. Review the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan 
(SCORP).

d. Implement programming partnerships with OSMP, the Forest Service 
and other land management or conservation agencies.

a. Adopt nature play design guidelines and standards.

a. Evaluate existing service and participation levels.

b. Create a youth programming work group with department staff.

c. Expand outreach to under-represented groups.

d. Develop an enhanced financial aid program.

e. Develop a social media plan to encourage youth engagement.

B. Increase youth participation 
in physical activity and nature 
programs.

D. Balance nature play and 
developed areas in parks to 
improve youth exposure to the 
outdoors.

E. Leverage partnerships with 
agencies that serve youth to 
increase participation in all forms 
of recreation, sport, outdoor 
activities and play.

a. Create a joint working group consisting of department leadership, 
PRAB and YOAB members.

b. Identify new program opportunities and funding requirements.

c. Implement new programs, as recommended, and evaluate outcomes.

a. Coordinate with other providers to develop a comprehensive plan that 
provides for the most efficient use of resources and optimizes service 
delivery.

b. Partner with youth recreation groups and create a Youth Sports 
Commission that reports to PRAB.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 77Packet Page     387



100 Years of Excellence        68 August DRAFT Chapter 6

PathfindersSM Meeting

Theme 6 Organizational Readiness

Overview
Trends in the profession indicate a shift in the management of public park 
and recreation facilities from a direct service provider to a model in which 
BPRD facilitates and supports both profit and nonprofit entities in providing 
recreation services and programs to be effective. This shift will require new 
capabilities with an emphasis on delivery methods and enhancing staff 
development. Additionally, it is critical to create more business management 
practices to leverage the use of new technologies, data driven decision-
making and collaborative decision-making tools to prepare the organization 
to respond to changes over time.

Policies
• BPRD shall ensure that the department workforce, structure 

and culture is designed and prepared to respond to 
community needs. 

• BPRD shall develop a highly effective workforce that will 
positively impact the community’s health and quality of life.

Primary Sustainability Categories for This Theme

Accessible and
Connected

Community 

Good
Governance

Safe 
Community

Livable 
CommunityHealthy and

Socially Thriving
Community

Environmentally
Sustainable
Community Economically 

Vital Community

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 78Packet Page     388



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 69August DRAFTChapter  6

A. BPRD’s mission, vision and 
guiding principles are clearly 
articulated and supported by the 
community.

Long-Range Goals Initiatives

C. Develop a results-oriented, 
collaborative, innovative 
organization.

a. Develop an organization that is highly-skilled in cross-teaming.

b. Develop organization performance measures by functional area 
(Balanced Scorecard Approach).

a. Host a regular roundtable with community service providers.

b. Evaluate all partnerships for alignment with the BPRD mission.

c. Create a comprehensive, shared database with organizations that 
includes common goals and action items to develop collaboration 
opportunities.

d. Actively seek out partnerships to meet needs.

a. Identify professional competencies required for each position and 
review bi-annually.

b. Identify and develop a plan to eliminate competency gaps in the 
workforce.

c. Norm positions to ensure standards and competencies are similar at 
like levels and to ensure that skills will transfer.

d. Incorporate technical parks and recreation professional competencies 
in employee evaluation system and development plans.

B. Focus on overall workforce 
learning and development.

D. Strive for strategic alignment 
with partnerships and like-
minded organizations.

a. Adopt the revised mission, vision and guiding principles.

b. Develop and implement a department communication plan

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 79Packet Page     389



70 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        Chapter 6

Conclusion
The six themes presented in this chapter provide a framework for 
addressing the needs of the park and recreation system that is 
reflected by community input and overall city planning guidance. 
Monitoring the effectiveness of the policies, long-term goals and 
initiatives is important to the success of the department and efforts to 
evaluate implementation should be rooted in quality data. 

The action plan itself will lay out a progression of steps to identify the 
most useful metrics and build capacity to collect and analyze the 
data required to perform these assessments. Combined with the 
ongoing involvement of PRAB, city council, stakeholders, and the 
community at large, the department’s policy framework and action 
plan will be adjusted on an annual basis to ensure the continued 
provision of quality facilities and services.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 80Packet Page     390



7171

7: Financial Framework

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

71

1956 Boulder Reservoir
Boulder Reservoir was built in 1954 as a new water supply for the growing community and in the summer of 1955 
hosted the first recreational uses including water ski shows, ski jumping contests and boating exhibitions.  

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History/Daily Camera Collection 

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 81Packet Page     391



100 Years of Excellence        72 August DRAFT

Funding
Following the economic downturn in recent years and the slow 
recovery being experienced in Colorado and across the nation, the 
City of Boulder continues a conservative budgeting approach. In spite 
of the difficult financial climate, however, city departments continue 
to provide high-quality facilities, programs and services to the 
community. There are signs that the local economy is improving slowly, 
and modest increases in the city’s primary revenues, including sales, 
use and property taxes, may occur beginning in 2013. Regardless of 
the uncertainties for the future, the city’s budget reflects a continued 
commitment to high standards of public service and efficient 
service delivery. It assigns limited available funding to programs 
supporting the highest community priorities, as defined by the Priority 
Based Budgeting (PBB) goals and, in accordance with the Capital 
Improvement Program’s Guiding Principles. 

The Boulder Parks and Recreation Department (BPRD) is funded by 
multiple sources that vary in stability and required use. Currently, 
the department has direct financial management responsibilities of 
$25M on average annually for operating and capital purposes and 
has potential access to other funding sources for one-time growth-
related capital expenses. The department provides an array of 
programs and services that benefit the community (e.g., parks and 
playgrounds) to specialized users. With community input, the BPRD is 
revising its financial planning efforts and decision-making framework to 
ensure that resources take care of existing facilities and parks and are 
allocated in a matter that is consistent with priorities.     

As discussed in the needs assessment, during the past five years, the 
department’s funding sources have remained constant. BPRD funding 
sources are projected to grow at a modest rate (approximately 
2-3%, depending on the source) over the next five years. At the same 
time, due to the inflationary costs of personnel, energy and materials 
coupled with the increasing costs of aging assets and operations and 
maintenance of new facilities, expenses are projected to outpace 
that growth. Thus, while the department’s funding is more stable than 
in past years, the gap between expenses and funding will only grow 
if the department does not adjust its service provision and facility 
maintenance and operations to ensure limited funding is spent to 
meet the highest community priorities.

Chapter 7

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 82Packet Page     392



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 73August DRAFT

Financial Decision-Making
The City of Boulder has established a framework to make effective 
use of the city’s limited resources. Priority Based Budgeting (PBB) was 
implemented with the 2011 budget process and is a tool to ensure 
city service priorities are based on community goals and values, and 
that these priorities should drive budget decisions. The goals and 
values were developed through an extensive community process.  
Implementation of PBB is two-fold; follow best practices for allocating 
resources to ensure fiscal health and identify a prioritization scheme.  

Programs and services are ranked and prioritized based on two sets of 
criteria: (1) their ability to help the community achieve desired results 
and (2) basic program attributes. These criteria are presented in Figure 
7.1.

The PBB process has become an important tool not just for citywide 
budget decisions but also for direct departmental decision-making 
efforts. PBB is reviewed annually across the organization to ensure 
community priorities are reflected in the services provided by the 
department. PBB can be more effective as the department refines its 
categories to better align with community values as demonstrated 
in this planning process. Currently, however, the PBB process does 
not include goals and criteria to assist in prioritizing capital budget 
decisions.  

In order to plan and prioritize capital investments, the Department 
applies specific guiding principles based on the city’s Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) guiding principles and the department’s 
2006 master plan goals. The departmental CIP framework is also 
utilized to determine and plan CIP projects and make budget 
decisions that are sustainable over time. These criteria (e.g., safety 
compliance, commitment, efficiency, revenue) and priorities are also 
focused on maintaining the integrity of the current infrastructure and 
facilities before expanding and/or enhancing programs and facilities. 

Chapter  7

Figure 7.1   PBB Results and Criteria

Community Results Goals Basic Program Criteria

$Accessible and connected community $Mandate to provide service

$Economically vital community $Change in demand for service

$Environmentally stable community $Reliance on City to provide service

$Healthy and socially thriving community $Self sufficient / cost recovery

$Safe community $Cost avoidance / increasing inefficiencies

$Good governance

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 83Packet Page     393



100 Years of Excellence        74 August DRAFT Chapter 7

BPRD Funding Sources
Funding Sources and Uses
General Fund    $4,618,343
The city’s General Fund is supported by fees, sales, property and 
other taxes. General Fund dollars are allocated to city departments 
and projects by city council through an annual budget process. Parks 
and Recreation primarily uses its allocation to fund park and forestry 
operations and department administration. 

Lottery Fund    $493,000
The city lottery fund is a special revenue fund that accounts for state 
conservation trust fund monies allocated to local governments based on 
population. State conservation trust fund monies are dedicated to parks, 
recreation, and open space site maintenance and capital improvements. 
The city receives about $800,000 on an annual basis from the state and 
allocates $425,000 to the parks and recreation department.

.25 Cent Sales Tax Fund    $7,124,262
The department receives voter-approved sales tax funds (.25 cent) that 
are dedicated to acquiring, developing, operating and maintaining parks 
and recreation facilities. In November 2012, voters renewed the tax with 
an 85% voter approval, through 2035.

 Recreation Activity Fund (RAF)    $9,892,100
The RAF is used to operate and maintain the department’s many 
recreation, fitness and sports facilities and programs. RAF funds 
are largely derived from program and facility use fees with some 
supplemental funding from the General Fund (primarily to fund 
subsidized programs for individuals with disabilities and youth from 
families with low incomes). 

Permanent Parks 
and Recreation Fund    $2,412,224
The Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund (PPRF) is the department’s 
capital improvement and acquisition fund. Funded specifically from 
property and development excise taxes, the fund is for the dedicated 
purpose of acquiring land and renovating or improving existing parks 
and recreational facilities. It may not be used to fund daily operations or 
routine maintenance. 

Figure 7.2   Funding Sources.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 84Packet Page     394



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 75August DRAFTChapter  7

Outlook

Although the department’s General Fund allocation is projected to keep 
pace with key operational expenses, the fund is based on tax collections 
and shared with other departments who provide core and essential city 
services. 

Other Department Funding
There are three other funds that 
contribute to the department’s 
resources: the capital development fund, 
the 2011 capital improvement fund, and 
the Boulder Junction improvement fund. 
All of these funds are capital 
improvement funds with monies 
dedicated to specific capital 
improvements for parks and recreation 
facilities and land acquisitions in city 
growth areas. 

The capital development fund accounts 
for citywide development impact fee 
collections allocated to growth-related 
parks and recreation facility 
development. 

The 2011 capital improvement fund 
accounts for the department’s portion of 
a citywide bond issuance to fund 
infrastructure improvements.   This bond 
was a one time infusion to be spent over 
three years to decrease backlog on 
existing assets.  About $8.3 million in 
revenue is budgeted in this fund in 2012. 
Per the bonding restrictions, this funding 
must be utilized by the end of 2014. 

The Boulder Junction improvement fund 
was established in 2012 to account for 
development excise tax and 
construction-use tax revenue allocated 
to fund park land and recreation facility 
acquisition and development in the 
Boulder Junction area. 

In 2011, the city’s contribution was reduced based on the city’s 
population.  This allocation is expected to remain constant or increase 
based on population growth projections.  

As with any sales tax, earnings are based on collections, so the source 
of this fund is volatile but anticipated to maintain stability with the 
potential for minimal growth given improvement in the local economy. 
The upcoming retirement of the bond debt associated with the .25 
sales tax present the city with an opportunity to clarify how to address 
resource needs when additional funds become available in 2016.  

Most RAF user fee revenues, including recreation centers, golf, aquatics, 
recreation programs, and the reservoir,  experienced increases between 
2010 and 2012. The general fund subsidy transfer to the RAF (about $1.6 
million annually) remained relatively constant over the last three years.

Permanent Parks 
and Recreation Fund    $2,412,224

The city has recently experienced lower PPRF contributions due to a 
decline in assessed property values. The PPRF is funded through a 0.9-
mill property tax, a development excise tax, and donations. All of these 
revenue sources are sensitive to economic conditions.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 85Packet Page     395



100 Years of Excellence        76 August DRAFT Chapter 7

Table 7.3   Funding Sources and Uses (in millions)

Financial Projection
Table 7.3 shows the projection of the sources of funding and projected 
expenses and uses based on current department priorities. Beginning 
in 2016, an opportunity exists to address high priority park and 
recreation needs as a result of retiring debt service.  Considerations for 
use of this funding include but are not limited to: 

• Funding deferred maintenance 

• Improving or increasing service standards for maintenance 
operations

• Focusing programming on health and wellness and youth

• Increasing financial assistance for underserved populations

• Maintaining adequate reserves

Implications for Park and Recreation 
Master Plan
BPRD must be prepared to make changes related to resource 
allocation in order to continue meeting the community’s expectations 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Projected Sources of Funds
General 4,604$               4,720$               4,838$               4,960$               5,085$               5,085$               

Permanent P&R 2,559$               2,559$               2,599$               2,662$               2,749$               2,790$               

Recreation Activity 10,363$             10,552$             10,748$             10,946$             11,110$             11,275$             

.25 Cent Sales Tax 7,470$               7,720$               7,979$               8,238$               8,502$               8,774$               

Lottery 425$                   425$                   425$                   425$                   425$                   425$                   

Total  $             25,421  $             25,976  $             26,589  $             27,231  $             27,871  $             28,349 

Projected Uses of Funds
Debt Service 2,190$               2,193$               -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Administration 2,768$               2,839$               2,911$               2,986$               3,062$               3,115$               

Operations & Maintenance 6,687$               6,837$               6,865$               7,022$               7,182$               7,245$               

Rec Programs & Services 9,492$               9,570$               9,699$               9,881$               10,067$             10,257$             

Capital Improvement Program 2,511$               1,321$               1,309$               1,407$               1,315$               1,315$               

Renovation & Refurbishment 1,050$               1,450$               1,462$               1,474$               1,487$               1,500$               

Total*  $             24,698  $             24,210  $             22,246  $             22,770  $             23,113  $             23,432 

Projected AvailableFunding 723$                   1,766$               4,343$               4,461$               4,758$               4,917$               

*Total usages of funding does not match total sources of funding in any given year due to unscheduled CIP expenses, reserves and opportunity cost expenditures.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 86Packet Page     396



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 77August DRAFTChapter  7

for its parks and recreation system. The current budget reflects an 
economic reality that is not predicted to shift anytime soon, and it is 
within this reality that the department must plan for the future. With a 
maintenance backlog estimated at $27 million, the department faces 
difficult trade-off decisions about how to manage and operate its 
facilities and provide its programs (Figure 7.4). 

The city’s CIP guidelines prioritize the maintenance of current assets 
over the development of new facilities. The community, through 
the planning process, has indicated strong support for this concept 
of prioritization (Figre 7.5). Even with the indications of a modest 
economic turnaround and the renewal of the .25 Cent Sales Tax, 
funding is not sufficient to take care of all aging assets and build new 
park and recreation facilities. 

Figure 7.5   Community Budget Allocation. In the 2012 master plan community survey, 
maintenance of existing facilities received the highest funding allocation.

Figure 7.4   Gap Growth. The gap between expenses and funding will continue to grow 
unless the department adjusts its service provision and facility maintenance and 

operations.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 87Packet Page     397



78 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        Chapter 7

Table 7.6   2016 Uses of Funding (in millions). The left column depicts current projected 
uses of 2016 funding and the column on the right demonstrates the recommended 

allocation to take care of existing assets based on best practices in asset management.

Development of any new facilities will require trade-offs and or 
additional funding. The policy guidance provided by the master 
plan recommends: (a) completion of a full feasibility study to clarify 
demand and current facility supply and (b) identification of the 
Total Cost of Facility Operations (TCFO) before any new facilities can 
be considered. The master plan, which identifies areas for further 
investigation, clarifies that development of new facilities should not 
occur without additional funding or comparable trade-offs (Table 7.6). 

Simultaneously, the department must respond to the community’s 
shifting values related to recreation activities, not only by providing 
adequate facilities and programs to meet those needs but by 
making them accessible to the entire community. In addition, to 
focus programming on health and wellness and ensure programs are 
accessible to all community members, the department will need to 
shift service delivery and resource allocation as well as implement best 
practices in program life cycle management and evaluation.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 88Packet Page     398



7979

8: Plan Elements

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

79

1910 Olmsted Plan
In 1910, Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr.devised a plan for Boulder that included many far-reaching 
recommendations, including the undergrounding of wiring, the designation of the Boulder Creek 
corridor for park use and the city manager form of government.  

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 89Packet Page     399



100 Years of Excellence        80 August DRAFT

Priorities and Decisions
The facilities, programs and services provided by BPRD form a high-
quality park and recreation system enjoyed by the entire community. 
This system offers broad social, environmental and economic benefits 
to Boulder and community members highly value these facilities and 
services. Population pressures, evolving activity interests, development 
patterns, demographic trends and economic considerations all pose 
challenges to the department.

The department’s new mission and vision statements provide a 
framework for addressing these needs. They provide the department 
with a renewed focus on providing for the community’s overall well-
being through collaborative relationships with partners. Indeed, the 
realities of the city’s financial situation underscore the importance of 
developing and maintaining partnership. The outlook for the future 
suggests that BPRD will face challenging trade-off decisions about 
how to prioritize limited resources while meeting the needs for the 
community. 

This chapter builds off of the financial information presented in the last 
chapter by presenting alternatives for ways the parks and recreation 
system will need to change in order to meet critical needs, maintain 
relevance with the community and continue to provide a strong 
quality of life for the city. 

Alternatives
The three alternatives follow the city’s financial planning approach 
introduced in 2006, requiring each department to prepare for a future 
without increased revenue. This approach acknowledges a stark fiscal 
reality leading to the continuous rebalancing of priorities and their 
associated expenditures, using a three-tier spending plan. Each tier 
reflects different assumptions about available resources (Table 8.1).

Chapter 8

MISSION

BPRD will promote the health and well-being of the entire Boulder 
community by collaboratively providing high-quality parks, 
facilities and programs.

VISION

We envision a community where every member’s health and well-
being is founded on unparalleled parks, facilities and programs.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 90Packet Page     400



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 81August DRAFT

• The Fiscally Constrained alternative plans for prioritized spending 
within existing budget targets. The intention of this alternative is to 
refocus and make the most of existing resources with the primary 
goal being for the department to maintain services. The actions 
associated with the FISCALLY CONSTRAINED alternative are mostly 
procedural or are operational changes that require limited or no 
funding to accomplish.

• The Action alternative describes the extra services or capital 
improvement that should be undertaken when additional 
funding is available. This includes strategically enhancing existing 
programs, beginning new alternative programs, adding new 
positions or making other strategic changes that would require 
additional operational or capital funding. In coordination with the 
CMO, PRAB, and city council, BPRD would evaluate and analyze 
potential sources of additional revenue, including but not limited 
to capital bond funding, program income, grants and existing or 
new taxes.

Chapter  8

Table 8.1   Plan Alternatives

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 91Packet Page     401



100 Years of Excellence        82 August DRAFT

• The Vision alternative represents the complete set of services and 
facilities desired by the community. It is fiscally unconstrained but 
can help provide policy guidance by illustrating the ultimate goals 
of the community and by providing a long-range look to address 
future needs and deficiencies. In this master plan, the VISION 
alternative addresses aging facilities to make improvements in 
operational effectiveness and the overall sustainability of the park 
and recreation system.

Elements
The three alternatives are described for each of the system’s three 
inter-related elements.

• Parks are the land base that provides areas for active and passive 
recreation as well as the location of park and recreation assets. 
This system of parks has a unique balance of developed urban 
areas with amenities as well as natural features.

• Recreation Facilities are the major park assets that provide both 
active and passive recreation opportunities, from playgrounds to 
picnic shelters to major recreation centers.

• Recreation Programs are the planned activities that provide 
instruction, socialization, competition and learning to a wide range 
of community members and visitors to Boulder.

All of these elements fit together to form a park and recreation system 
that is enjoyed by the entire community. Boulder’s park and recreation 
facilities provide broad benefits to the community including individual, 
social, economic and environmental benefits. Residents place a high 
value on these facilities and services and have grown to expect high 
standards from the city. The local economy benefits through attracting 
and maintain an educated and healthy workforce; the local tourism 
industry benefits through attracting visitors for special events and 
extended vacations; and local businesses benefit with increased sales 
producing tax revenues for the city.

Chapter 8

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 92Packet Page     402



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 83August DRAFTChapter  8

Table 8.2   Total Cost of Facility Ownership

What does it Cost?

The parks and recreation facilities along with programs and services 
are unified into a single system that forms links among the major 
parks, educational facilities, and local neighborhoods with recreation 
services and programs geared to a healthy community. Trails and 
greenways can be thought of as strands that link parks and facilities 
together like a string of pearls. With the implementation of this master 
plan, the majority of Boulder community members will be able to 
have recreation opportunities close to their home with safe, walkable 
connections to parks and recreation facilities throughout Boulder 
(Table 8.2).

Amenity
Estimated Life Cycle

(Years)
Current Replacement 

Value (CRV)* Annual O&M* 10-Year R&R*
Total Cost of Facility 
Ownership (TCFO)*

Playground 25 225,000$                9,000$                     5,625$                     464,063$                

Athletic Field 20 1,700,000$             68,000$                  42,500$                  3,145,000$             

Shelter 30 35,000$                  1,400$                     875$                        79,625$                  

Pavillion (w/ Restroom) 30 175,000$                7,000$                     4,375$                     398,125$                

Tennis Court 30 85,000$                  3,400$                     2,125$                     193,375$                

Basketball Court 30 85,000$                  3,400$                     2,125$                     193,375$                

Asphalt Parking Lot 30 390,000$                15,600$                  9,750$                     887,250$                

Dog Park 25 425,000$                17,000$                  10,625$                  876,562$                

Skate Park 30 925,000$                37,000$                  23,125$                  2,104,375$             

Community Garden 25 60,000$                  2,400$                     1,500$                     123,750$                

Par Course 25 85,000$                  3,400$                     2,125$                     175,312$                

Disc Golf Course 20 80,000$                  3,200$                     2,000$                     148,000$                

* Estimated costs in 2013 dollars and based on concept level planning and do not include engineer level estimates. 
Detailed cost estimates will be developed as part of the public outreach for projects.

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 93Packet Page     403



100 Years of Excellence        84 August DRAFT

Table 8.3   Parkland LOS Alternatives

Parkland LOS Strategic Alternatives

Park Type Benchmark Cities Boulder Fiscally Constrained Action Vision

Neighborhood Parks 3.00 3.15 2.71 2.81 2.81

Community Parks 1.50 1.54 1.45 1.45 1.45

City/Regional Parks 3.00 7.36 6.18 6.44 6.96

Total 7.50 12.05 10.34 10.70 11.22

Level of Service (LOS)
( Acres per 1,000 residents)

2030 Strategic Alternatives
( Acres per 1,000 residents)

Action

• South Valmont City Park will be 
planned and some community 
and multi-use facilities 
(playground and shelter) will be 
developed (approximately 30 
acres).

• Remaining neighborhood and 
community parks currently 
owned (approximately 38 
acres) will be improved, 
including Heatherwood Park. 
Some planned neighborhood 
parks and gaps may be 
developed.

• Current parks maintenance 
will be emphasized through 
upgrades to critical park 
facilities with 75% of FCI goals 
achieved (FCI target 0.7) and 
expanded O&M services and 
sinking fund.

• Four existing parks will be 
upgraded on an annual basis 
to meet adopted design 
standards.

Vision

• South Valmont City Park will 
be planned with balance of 
community use facilities and 
athletic fields will be developed 
(approximately 90 acres). 

• All neighborhood and 
community parks currently 
owned (approximately 38 
acres) will be improved, 
including Gunbarrel and the 
Civic Area. Some planned 
neighborhood parks and gaps 
may be developed

• Current parks maintenance 
will be emphasized through 
upgrades to critical park 
facilities and full FCI goals will 
be achieved (FCI target 0.06) 
and expanded O&M services 
and sinking fund.

• Five existing parks will be 
upgraded on an annual basis 
to meet adopted design 
standards.

Fiscally Constrained

• South Valmont City Park will 
be planned but will  not be 
developed without additional 
funding.

• Some neighborhood and 
community parks currently 
owned (approximately 25-
26 acres) will be improved 
including, Violet Park, Maxwell 
Lake Park and Foothills 
Park, and some planned 
neighborhood parks and gaps 
may be developed.

• Current parks maintenance 
will be emphasized through 
upgrades to critical park 
facilities with 50% of FCI 
goals achieved (FCI target 
of 0.10, from current 0.14) 
and establish sinking fund to 
maintain facilities at new FCI.

• Two existing parks will be 
upgraded on an annual basis 
to meet adopted design 
standards.

Chapter 8

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 94Packet Page     404



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 85August DRAFT

Action

• Partnerships with Greenways 
and Transportation will be used 
to improve links in the system. 

• Civic Area planning will 
develop new enhancements as 
identified in Civic Area Plan. 

• Boulder Junction Park 
improvements will be 
constructed with development 
impact funds.

• Facility condition reports on 
major aging buildings will be 
conducted with FAM. Asset 
priority will be developed 
for each facility to determine 
funding levels or methods to 
remove from park inventory, if 
appropriate.

Vision

• Partnership will support the 
upgrade of Tom Watson Park 
to a community park with 
improved facilities.

• Boulder Reservoir major south 
shore development will be 
implemented per the Reservoir 
Master Plan.

• An area-wide trail link will be 
developed along 51st Street at 
the Reservoir.

• The Civic Area will be fully 
developed as a community park 
based on outcomes of the Civic 
Area Plan.

• A master plan of Area III will be 
conducted to identify future 
parkland needs

Fiscally Constrained 

• Partnerships with Greenways 
and Transportation will be used 
to improve links in the system. 

• The Civic Area will be planned 
and upgrades to existing park 
elements will be made.

• Design guidelines and 
standards for parks and 
recreation facilities, including 
new urban park models, will be 
developed.

• A joint use agreement 
with BVSD for shared use 
of neighborhood school 
playgrounds will be updated.

• Upgrades to Pearl Street Mall 
will be completed.

Chapter  8

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 95Packet Page     405



100 Years of Excellence        86 August DRAFT

Facility Type
Existing

Quantity LOS Per Existing LOS
Fiscally

Constrained Action Vision

Diamond Ball Field 24 10,000 2.46 0 0 4

Rectangular Field 20 10,000 2.05 0 0 6

Playground 40 10,000 4.11 2 3 5

Dog Park 5 100,000 0.51 0 0 1

Picnic Shelter 34 10,000 3.49 2 4 6

Tennis Court 40 10,000 4.11 -4 -2 0

Community Garden 4 100,000 4.10 0 1 2

Level of Service (LOS) 2030 Strategic Alternatives

Table 8.4   Recreation Facility LOS Alternatives

Recreation Facility Strategic Alternatives

Action

• Existing turf fields will be 
upgraded to multi-use artificial 
turf, where appropriate. 

• New playgrounds will be 
developed.

• ADA upgrades will be made to 
achieve 15% above compliance.

• Shelters will be added to major 
park sites.

• One community garden site will 
be developed.

• Aging infrastructure at 
recreation centers will be 
enhanced.

Vision

• Multi-sports complexes, 
including 4-diamond and 
6-rectangle fields suitable for 
tournament play will be built, 
pending an athletic study and 
available alternative funding.

• Upgrades to existing recreation 
centers will be made based 
on the outcome of the facility 
study.

• A new aquatics facility will 
be developed based on the 
outcome of the aquatics study. 

• ADA upgrades will be made to 
achieve 30% above compliance.

Fiscally Constrained

• No new major structures or 
buildings will be developed.

• Aquatics Study and feasibility 
analysis will be conducted.

• Athletic Field Study and 
feasibility analysis will be 
conducted.

• Recreation facility study and 
analysis will be conducted.

• Partnerships with BVSD, 
Boulder County and CU will be 
established to share facilities.

• Upgrades to existing facilities 
will continue.

• ADA upgrades will be made in 
compliance with the transition 
plan.

• Upgrades to recreation centers 
will be made to  to repurpose 
existing facilities.

Chapter 8

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 96Packet Page     406



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 87August DRAFTChapter  8

Recreation Programs and Services Alternatives

Action

• Direct costs and partial 
indirect costs recovered 
through increased alternative 
funding

    
• Outdoor recreation 

and introductory youth 
programming is expanded by 
10% and available at multiple 
locations

Vision

• Dedicated tax and alternative 
funding for highest 
community-good youth  
programming 

• Introductory level youth 
programming is expanded by 
20% 

• Community desired programs 
in outdoor, emphasizing 
health, and other areas will 
be expanded by 20% 

Fiscally Constrained

• Direct costs plus all indirect 
costs recovered through fees, 
donations and tax subsidies        

                                                                                            
• Introductory level youth 

programming and outdoor 
programming emphasizing 
health and wellness is 
expanded to meet community 
values by eliminating or 
brokering current BPRD 
programs

• Advanced level programming 
(including competitive and 
travel programs) service 
models are evaluated for 
partnership delivery

Community benefit except where 
program is for advanced level programs

YOUTH PROGRAMMING

Fe
e

Sc
en

ar
io

Pr
og

ra
m

Sc
en

ar
io

The path for developing a system plan for recreation programs and services is less clear than for physical assets 
like parks and community centers. The effort relies on three factors that are not easily quantified: cost recovery 
goals that translate into fees and charges for services; market rates for fees and charges; and new program 
service initiatives based on the community needs assessment. These three factors are the major considerations 
under the Boulder funding scenarios that forecast alternative choices.

In considering the LOS for recreation programs and services, BPRD business practices that establish fee 
and charge rates for direct and indirect costs for services, as presented below, within the context of market 
willingness to pay rate and financial assistance for community members who cannot afford user fees. In addition, 
program and service business practices for recreation program life cycle management should also consider 
outcomes; alignment with mission and high-quality programming; annual reviews; and duplication of services.

Community Individual

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 97Packet Page     407



100 Years of Excellence        88 August DRAFT

Action

• Direct costs plus all indirect 
costs recovered through fees/
alternative funding                                          

• Alternative funding sources 
allows BPRD to offer new 
trending programming 

Vision

• Direct cost plus all indirect 
costs recovered through fees/
alternative funding

• Adult programming is robust 
and aligns with community 
priorities

Fiscally Constrained

• Direct costs plus all indirect 
costs recovered through fees                              

• Current adult programming 
is evaluated to ensure 
alignment with community 
values

Individual benefit except where program 
is for target population or aged

ADULT PROGRAMMING

Fe
e

Sc
en

ar
io

Pr
og

ra
m

Sc
en

ar
io

Action

• Direct costs recovered 
through alternative funding 
with minimal fees to 
participants

• Five additional focused 
special events are provided or 
facilitated by the department

Vision

• Direct costs recovered 
through alternative funding 
with no event fee

                                                                                    
• Ten additional focused special 

events are provided or 
facilitated by the department

Fiscally Constrained

• Direct cost plus partial 
indirect cost recovered 
through fees, donations 
and partnerships                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                                 

• Limited department special 
events focused on health 
and wellness, youth and 
community building

Community benefit with strong fundraising potential 
through fees/charges, sponsors and donors

SPECIAL EVENTS

Fe
e

Sc
en

ar
io

Pr
og

ra
m

Sc
en

ar
io

Chapter 8

Community Individual

Community Individual

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 98Packet Page     408



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 89August DRAFTChapter  8

Action

• Alternative funding to 
subsidize direct costs  

   

• The Financial Assistance 
Program for low-income 
participants is enhanced 
to facilitate broader 
participation

Vision

• Costs are 100% funded 
through alternative sources 
for low-income and special 
population programs   

• Participation rates by 
underserved groups and 
special populations are  
representative of community 
demographics

Fiscally Constrained

• Direct cost plus partial 
indirect cost recovered 
through fees and donations 

• Tax revenue is allocated for 
specific target populations 
with specific outcomes                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                          

• Partnerships are leveraged 
with BPRD resources to 
enhance service to low-
income and underserved 
groups

• Redundancies are reduced 
to ensure effective use of 
resources

Targeted toward the special populations of the community with few, 
if any, opportunities to charge fees. Tax and donor supported

(TARGETED) COMMUNITY
PROGRAMMING

Fe
e

Sc
en

ar
io

Pr
og

ra
m

Sc
en

ar
io

Community Individual

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 99Packet Page     409



90 August DRAFT 100 Years of Excellence        Chapter 8

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 100Packet Page     410



9191

9: Implementation

Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan

91

1975 Pearl Street Construction
The city closed four blocks of Pearl Street to auto traffic in June 1976 to support downtown businesses with a pedestrian 
mall.  Parks and Recreation was charged with maintaining the mall as it would a park. In 2012, the number one reason 
cited for visiting downtown was to enjoy the setting and hang out.

June DRAFT

100 Years of Excellence

Carnegie Branch Library for Local History

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 101Packet Page     411



100 Years of Excellence        92 August DRAFT Chapter 9

Moving Forward
With the acceptance of this master plan, BPRD commits to the 
new mission, vision and guiding principles, as well as the initiatives 
contained in the Fiscally Constrained Plan.

The Boulder Park and Recreation Master Plan identifies the system 
wide levels of service that BPRD will use for implementation of an 
annual ‘strategic action’ planning process that will be an integral part 
of the annual work plan and budgeting process.   

With this master plan as a guide, BPRD’s strategic action planning 
process includes; a) reviewing the potential initiatives for the next 5 
years followed by, b) a three year action plan, and c) a deliberate 
planned annual process of evaluating the current year’s action plan 
with updated planning for the following three years. This approach is 
adopted to ensure that the Boulder Park and Recreation Master Plan 
is a living document that does not sit on a shelf but is used to improve 
the overall system that reflects the stated goals of the community well 
into the future.   

The Annual Action Planning Process
The Action Planning Process is simple in its approach.  The purpose 
of this deliberate process, started prior to budget formation and in 
concert with PRAB, is to make mid-course adjustments in the three-
year action plan in order to make the most effective use of resources 
that meets community need. The Annual Action Planning Process is 
depicted in Figure 9.1 and includes:

• Review of the master plan 

• Review current year Action Plan and update status.

• Update the Needs Assessment, including: review of local 
participation  and population data, national park and recreation 
trends, findings from community engagement, reviews of levels of 
service and the next two years of the Action Plan.

• Development and approval of next three year Action Plan in 
tandem with budget submission, CIP development and PBB 
process.

• Implement Action Plan

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 102Packet Page     412



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 93August DRAFTChapter  9

Conclusion
The framework for this forecast is clear related to capital investment.  
While the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) in the constrained plan 
includes upgrades to existing facilities and parks with corresponding 
O&M increases, the bulk of these funds are focused on lowering and 
maintaining a FCI for current park and recreation assets at a desired 
level. Action and Vision LOS Alternatives require additional funding 
above the current constrained budget.

The forecast for recreation programs and services is also clear. In 
the constrained plan, recreation programs would be funded at the 
current levels, reinforcing the importance of ensuring resources are 
directed at the highest community benefit programs. The department 
will make trade-offs between current programs to develop new ones 
and enhance programming that aligns with community priorities. 
Action and Vision Alternatives witness a greater change in programs 
and services to meet community needs. Alternative funding sources 
allow for broader participation and increased levels of service. 

Figure 9.1   Annual Action Plan Process

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 103Packet Page     413



100 Years of Excellence        94 August DRAFT

Appendix A

Glossary
Assessment – process of comparing and evaluating an entity against established standards, and 
documenting the differences.

Asset – real or personal property which organizations desire to track and manage as a distinct 
identifiable entity. It may be a physical structure or grouping of structures, land features, or other 
tangible property that has a specific service or function. The term “asset” can also be applied to 
movable items, such as vehicles and equipment.

Asset deficiency – a facility defect that occurs when maintenance and repair tasks are not performed 
in a timely manner. When allowed to accumulate uncorrected, they inevitably lead to deterioration 
of performance, loss of asset value, or both. An accumulation of such uncorrected deficiencies is a 
backlog that represents a liability (in both physical and financial terms) for an asset.

Asset management – a systematic process of maintaining, upgrading, and operating physical assets 
cost-effectively. 

Asset priority index (API) – an asset evaluation process that quantifies the value of an asset in relation to 
the mission of the organization. The API ranks assets according to a numeric rating system.

Backlog – The unfunded deficiencies work required to bring facilities to a condition that meets 
accepted codes, laws, and standards to achieve expected life.

Benchmark – A well-defined, widely accepted standard of performance used to measure progress 
toward a specific state or level of competency.

Benchmarking – The continuous process of measuring a product, service, or process against the best 
practices of recognized leaders in the field in order to achieve superior performance.

Blue line – result of 1959 Boulder City Charter amendment that limited water extensions above an 
elevation of 5.750 feet to preserve the mountain backdrop.

Business core program – program comparable to private market offerings and offered at market rates.

Capital improvement – new construction or an alteration that helps an asset better meet its intended 
purpose.

Casual participant – categorization used by SGMA referring to individuals that participate in a particular 
recreational activity 1-49 times during a year.

City park – park classification type representing sites that are generally 100-300 acres in size. Designed to 
serve the entire community, they generally provide a mix of natural beauty and developed facilities.

Community benefit – a good that is shared for all (or most) members of a society or social group.

Condition assessment – The inspection and documentation of the condition of the features of an asset 
as measured against the applicable maintenance or condition standards. It provides the basis for long-
range maintenance planning, as well as annual work plans and budgets.

Core participant – categorization used by SGMA referring to individuals that participate in a particular 
recreational activity 50 or more times during a year.

Cost recovery – recoupment of the financial expenditure associated with providing a service.

Critical system – a collection of components that typically operate in conjunction to provide an 
essential service and whose failure, removal, or non-operation may result in loss or harm.

Current acres – as used in this plan, the number of acres that are developed and open for use at this 
time.

Appendix A

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 104Packet Page     414



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 95August DRAFT

Current replacement value (CRV) – the dollar amount needed to pay to replace an asset at the present 
time according to its current worth.

Deferred maintenance – maintenance that was not performed when it should have been or was 
scheduled to be completed and then put off or delayed.

Diamond ball field – athletic field used for baseball or softball.

Dog parks – areas in which dogs can play without leashes.

Excise tax – a tax that is paid when purchases are made on a specific good (e.g. gasoline, sporting 
goods) 

Existing acres – see “current acres”

Facility – see “asset”

Facility condition index (FCI) – A measure of a facility’s relative condition at a particular point in time 
compared to similar facilities. The FCI rating is a ratio of the cost of repair of an asset’s deficiencies 
divided by the current replacement value for the asset.

Feasibility study – an evaluation and analysis of the potential of a proposed project or venture that 
objectively explores costs versus benefits. Costs and benefits can be financial, social, environmental, or 
political.

Frequent participant – categorization used by SGMA referring to individuals that participate in a 
particular recreational activity 100 or more times during a year.

Individual benefit – a good that is excludable and yields benefit only to one individual or group.

Infill development – development of vacant parcels of land within the city which were not developed 
when initial development occurred, or were cleared of substandard structures and are ready for new 
development.

Level of Service (LOS) – an expression of the minimum recreation and park infrastructure capacity 
required to satisfy the needs of residents of the community. Unless otherwise specified, LOS is expressed 
as per 1,000 population.

Life Cycle – all stages of providing a facility or service including conception, planning, design, 
implementation, evaluation, monitoring, retirement, and/or disposal.

Life Cycle asset management – systematic process of maintaining, upgrading, and operating physical 
assets cost effectively.

Millage – an ad valorem tax that an owner is required to pay on the value of a taxable property.

Multi-use field – typically rectangular, areas consisting of either sand-based engineered soils or artificial 
turf used for playing surfaces for athletics.

Needs Assessment – a systematic process for determining and addressing gaps between current 
conditions and desired conditions.

Preventive maintenance – regularly scheduled periodic maintenance activities (within a year) on 
selected equipment.

Private good – see “individual benefit.”

Recreation facility – major sport or leisure complexes that house many formal and informal athletic 
events.

Recreation priority index (RPI) – a service evaluation process that quantifies the value of a recreation 
program or service in relation to the mission of the organization. The RPI ranks programs or services 
according to a numeric rating system.

Appendix A

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 105Packet Page     415



100 Years of Excellence        96 August DRAFT

Regular participant – categorization used by SGMA referring to individuals that participate in a 
particular recreational activity 50-99 times during a year.

Setting – categorization type for park and recreation facilities that describes the intended use and 
function. A setting also provides contextual information for managers about operational decisions.

Social core program – traditional youth programs, programs that target community members 
with disabilities or low incomes, and activities that enhance the health, safety, and livability of the 
community.

Social good – see “community benefit.”

Stakeholder – group or individual who can affect, or is affected by, the achievement of the 
organization’s mission. Examples include managers, employees, policy makers, suppliers, vendors, 
citizens, and community groups.

Total Cost of Facility Ownership (TCFO) – all costs associated with operating an asset over its full life 
cycle, including planning, design, acquisition, construction, operation, maintenance, recapitalization, 
and disposal. 

Undeveloped parkland – areas owned by the City of Boulder that are reserved for future park 
development.

Urban services – defined by the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, urban services include public 
water, public sewer, stormwater and flood management, urban fire protection and emergency 
medical care, urban police protection, multimodal transportation, and developed urban parks. 

Appendix A

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 106Packet Page     416



Boulder Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan 97August DRAFTAppendix B

Abbreviations
ADA – Americans with Disabilities Act (1990)

API – Asset priority index

BPRD – Boulder Parks and Recreation Department

BVCP – Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

BVSD – Boulder Valley School District

CAPRA – Commission on the Accreditation of Park and Recreation Agencies

CMO – City Manager’s Office

COB – City of Boulder

CPRP – Certified Park and Recreation Professional

CRV – Current replacement value

CU – University of Colorado

EBCC – East Boulder Community Center

EXPAND – Exciting Programs Adventures and New Dimensions

FCI – Facility condition index

IU – Indiana University

LOS – Level of service

NBRC – North Boulder Recreation Center

NRPA – National Recreation and Park Association

OSMP – Open Space and Mountain Parks Department

PBB – Priority Based Budgeting

PLAY – Parks and Leisure for Adults and Youth (Boulder Foundation)

PLWG – Pottery Lab Working Group

PRORAGIS - Park and Recreation Operating Ratio and Geographic Information System

PVA – Program Viability Assessment

RPFP – Recreation Programs and Facilities Plan (2010)

RPI – Recreation Priority Index

SBRC – South Boulder Recreation Center

SGMA – Sporting Goods Manufacturers Association

TCFO – Total Cost of Facility Ownership

YSI – Youth Services Initiative

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 107Packet Page     417



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 108Packet Page     418



100 Y
ears of E

xcellence        
98

A
ugust DRA

FT

Map ID Map Location Park, Facility or Area Name Address Acres

Pi
cn

ic
 S

he
lte

r

Pl
ay

gr
ou

nd

Re
st

ro
om

Di
am

on
d 

Fi
el

d

Re
ct

an
gu

la
r F

ie
ld

Te
nn

is
 C

ou
rt

Ba
sk

et
ba

ll 
Co

ur
t

Vo
lle

yb
al

l C
ou

rt

RT
D

Bi
ke

 tr
ai

l

1 B4 Andrews Arboretum 1560 Broadway 0.7 x x
2 B4 Ann Armstrong Park 1650 Alpine 0.2
3 C4 Arapahoe Ridge Park 1280 Eisenhower Dr 4.8 x x x x x
4 B2 Area III Hwy 36 & 26th St 187.5
5 C5 Arrowwood Park 3185 Aurora Ln 2.0 x x x
6 C5 Aurora 7 Park 3805 E Aurora Ave 7.9 x x x x
7 B4 Barker Park 1518 Spruce St 0.5 x x x
8 B5 Beach Park 12th & Euclid 1.8 x
9 B6 Bear Creek Park 1095 Lehigh St 6.6 x

10 B4 Bluff Park 2472 Bluff St 0.2
11 C1 Boulder Reservoir Natural Area 5100 Reservoir Rd 379.8 x
12 C2 Boulder Reservoir Regional Park 5100 Reservoir Rd 67.4 x x x x
13 C5 Burke Park 490 Mohawk Dr 6.1 x x
14 A4 Campbell Robertson Park 510 Mountain View Rd 0.1 x
15 B4 Canyon Park 2035 Canyon Blvd 2.4 x x x x
16 A4 Canyon Pointe Park Canyon & Walnut 0.6 x
17 B3 Catalpa Park 3685 19th St 1.3 x x
18 B4 Central Park 1236 Canyon Blvd 3.6 x x
19 B5 Chautauqua Park 900 Baseline Rd 12.4 x x x x x
20 C3 Christensen Park 3100 Kings Ridge Blvd 4.5 x x x x
21 A4 Columbia Cemetary 1291 9th St 10.9
22 B3 Columbine Park 2202 Glenwood Dr 4.4 x x x
23 D1 Coot Lake 6247 63rd St 65.1 x x
24 B3 Crestview Park 1897 Sumac Ave 7.8 x
25 A2 Dakota Ridge Park 501 Dakota Blvd 3.0 x x x x
26 D5 East Boulder Community Park 5660 Sioux Dr 53.4 x x x x x x
26 D5 East Boulder Community Center 5660 Sioux Dr 3.0 x x x x
27 B4 East Mapleton Ballfields 2900 Mapleton Ave 7.8 x x x x x
28 D2 Eaton Park 6505 Nautilus Ct 26.2 x x x
29 A4 Eben G. Fine Park 101 Arapahoe Ave 6.9 x x x x x
30 B3 Elks Park 3995 N 28th St 7.9 x x x x
31 B3 Elmer's Two Mile Park 2700 Iris 4.1 x x x
32 A4 Evert Pierson Kids' Fishing Pond 9th and Boulder Creek 4.9 x x
33 B4 Fitzpatrick Park 1800 Mapleton Ave 0.3 x
34 D4 Flatirons Golfcourse 5706 Arapahoe 127.1 x x x x
35 A2 Foothills Community Garden 800 Cherry Ave 0.9 x x
35 A2 Foothills Community Park 800 Cherry Ave 65.2 x x x x x x x
36 A4 Fortune Community Garden 1920 4th St 0.1 x
36 A4 Fortune Park 1920 4th St 0.3 x
37 D4 Gerald Stazio Ballfields 2445 Stazio 42.3 x x x x x
38 B4 Greenleaf Park 2940 Spruce St 1.5 x x x x
39 A4 Haertling Sculpture Garden 9th & Canyon 1.0 x x
40 B5 Harbeck House 1206 Euclid 0.4 x
41 C6 Harlow Platts Community Park 1360 Gillaspie Dr 50.1 x x x x x x x
42 B3 Hawthorne Community Garden 15th & Hawthorne 4.0 x x
43 E2 Heatherwood Park 7805 Heatherwood Dr 5.6
44 C5 Hickory Community Garden Hickory & Foothills 0.8 x x
45 A4 Hiram Fullen Park 5th & Pearl 0.2
46 B2 Holiday Park 4650 14th St 1.1 x x x
47 C3 Howard Heuston Park 3200 34th St 7.6 x x
48 B3 Iris Center-Administration 3198 Broadway 1.5 x x x
49 D5 Keewaydin Meadows Park Manhattan & Sioux 4.5 x x x x x
50 A4 Knollwood Park 280 Spruce St 0.6 x
51 B4 Lover's Hill Park 22nd & Mesa 0.2
52 C5 Martin Park 36th & Eastman 9.3 x x x x x x x
53 A3 Maxwell Lake Park Linden Park dr N of Linden 8.6 x
54 D4 Meadow Glen Park 5662 Pennsylvania Pl 2.5 x x x
55 B3 Melody Park 16th & Kingwood 1.2 x x
56 B6 Mesa Memorial Park 3201 Table Mesa Dr 1.7 x x
57 A4 North Boulder Park 9th & Dellwood 12.7 x x x x x x
48 B3 North Boulder Recreation Center 3170 Broadway 1.5 x x x
48 B3 Olmsted Park 3170 Broadway 5.3 x x x x
58 B3 Palo Central-South Palo Pkwy & Paseo del Prado 2.8 x
59 C3 Palo East 4340 Corriente Dr 4.1 x x x
60 C3 Palo North 30th & Redwood 3.0 x x x
61 C5 Park East Aurora & Mohawk 4.7 x x x x x
62 C4 Park Operations 5200 E. Old Pearl St 8.1 x x
63 B3 Parkside Park 26th & Kalmia 5.6 x x x
64 B4 Pearl Street Mall Pearl Street, between 11th and 15th St 2.9 x x x
65 B3 Pineview Park Cloverleaf S of Kalmia 1.6 x x
66 C3 Pleasantview Fields 3805 47th St 52.6 x x x x
67 B5 Pottery Lab 1010 Aurora 0.1 x
68 B3 Salberg Park 3045 19th St 3.0 x x x x x
69 B4 Scott Carpenter Park and Pool 1505 30th St 16.9 x x x x x x
70 C6 Shanahan Ridge Park 3299 Redstone Ln 4.3 x x
71 B4 Sinton Park 26th and Walnut 0.5 x
72 A5 Smith Park Gilbert & Cleveland 1.1 x
41 C6 South Boulder Recreation Center 1360 Gillaspie 0.6 x x x
73 B4 Spruce Pool 2150 Spruce St 0.8 x x
74 C5 Tantra Environmental Park Tantra Dr & Moorhead Cr 2.5
75 C6 Tantra Maintenance Facility 685 Tantra Dr 0.7
75 C6 Tantra Park 46th & Hanover 20.9 x x x x
76 D1 Tom Watson Park 6180 63rd St 31.0 x x x x x
77 C3 Valmont City Park Valmont and Airport Rd 127.2 x x x x x x
78 B2 Violet Park 4501 19th St 7.3 x x
79 B5 West Highland Park 1900 Dartmouth 6.6
80 A3 Wonderland Lake Park 301 Poplar Ave 31.0 x x x

A
ppendix B

Appendix B

A
TTA

C
H

M
E

N
T A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 109Packet Page     419



Boulder Parks and Recreation Departm
ent M

aster Plan
99

A
ugust DRA

FT

Map ID Map Location Park, Facility or Area Name Address Acres

Pi
cn

ic
 S

he
lte

r

Pl
ay

gr
ou

nd

Re
st

ro
om

Di
am

on
d 

Fi
el

d

Re
ct

an
gu

la
r F

ie
ld

Te
nn

is
 C

ou
rt

Ba
sk

et
ba

ll 
Co

ur
t

Vo
lle

yb
al

l C
ou

rt

RT
D

Bi
ke

 tr
ai

l

1 B4 Andrews Arboretum 1560 Broadway 0.7 x x
2 B4 Ann Armstrong Park 1650 Alpine 0.2
3 C4 Arapahoe Ridge Park 1280 Eisenhower Dr 4.8 x x x x x
4 B2 Area III Hwy 36 & 26th St 187.5
5 C5 Arrowwood Park 3185 Aurora Ln 2.0 x x x
6 C5 Aurora 7 Park 3805 E Aurora Ave 7.9 x x x x
7 B4 Barker Park 1518 Spruce St 0.5 x x x
8 B5 Beach Park 12th & Euclid 1.8 x
9 B6 Bear Creek Park 1095 Lehigh St 6.6 x

10 B4 Bluff Park 2472 Bluff St 0.2
11 C1 Boulder Reservoir Natural Area 5100 Reservoir Rd 379.8 x
12 C2 Boulder Reservoir Regional Park 5100 Reservoir Rd 67.4 x x x x
13 C5 Burke Park 490 Mohawk Dr 6.1 x x
14 A4 Campbell Robertson Park 510 Mountain View Rd 0.1 x
15 B4 Canyon Park 2035 Canyon Blvd 2.4 x x x x
16 A4 Canyon Pointe Park Canyon & Walnut 0.6 x
17 B3 Catalpa Park 3685 19th St 1.3 x x
18 B4 Central Park 1236 Canyon Blvd 3.6 x x
19 B5 Chautauqua Park 900 Baseline Rd 12.4 x x x x x
20 C3 Christensen Park 3100 Kings Ridge Blvd 4.5 x x x x
21 A4 Columbia Cemetary 1291 9th St 10.9
22 B3 Columbine Park 2202 Glenwood Dr 4.4 x x x
23 D1 Coot Lake 6247 63rd St 65.1 x x
24 B3 Crestview Park 1897 Sumac Ave 7.8 x
25 A2 Dakota Ridge Park 501 Dakota Blvd 3.0 x x x x
26 D5 East Boulder Community Park 5660 Sioux Dr 53.4 x x x x x x
26 D5 East Boulder Community Center 5660 Sioux Dr 3.0 x x x x
27 B4 East Mapleton Ballfields 2900 Mapleton Ave 7.8 x x x x x
28 D2 Eaton Park 6505 Nautilus Ct 26.2 x x x
29 A4 Eben G. Fine Park 101 Arapahoe Ave 6.9 x x x x x
30 B3 Elks Park 3995 N 28th St 7.9 x x x x
31 B3 Elmer's Two Mile Park 2700 Iris 4.1 x x x
32 A4 Evert Pierson Kids' Fishing Pond 9th and Boulder Creek 4.9 x x
33 B4 Fitzpatrick Park 1800 Mapleton Ave 0.3 x
34 D4 Flatirons Golfcourse 5706 Arapahoe 127.1 x x x x
35 A2 Foothills Community Garden 800 Cherry Ave 0.9 x x
35 A2 Foothills Community Park 800 Cherry Ave 65.2 x x x x x x x
36 A4 Fortune Community Garden 1920 4th St 0.1 x
36 A4 Fortune Park 1920 4th St 0.3 x
37 D4 Gerald Stazio Ballfields 2445 Stazio 42.3 x x x x x
38 B4 Greenleaf Park 2940 Spruce St 1.5 x x x x
39 A4 Haertling Sculpture Garden 9th & Canyon 1.0 x x
40 B5 Harbeck House 1206 Euclid 0.4 x
41 C6 Harlow Platts Community Park 1360 Gillaspie Dr 50.1 x x x x x x x
42 B3 Hawthorne Community Garden 15th & Hawthorne 4.0 x x
43 E2 Heatherwood Park 7805 Heatherwood Dr 5.6
44 C5 Hickory Community Garden Hickory & Foothills 0.8 x x
45 A4 Hiram Fullen Park 5th & Pearl 0.2
46 B2 Holiday Park 4650 14th St 1.1 x x x
47 C3 Howard Heuston Park 3200 34th St 7.6 x x
48 B3 Iris Center-Administration 3198 Broadway 1.5 x x x
49 D5 Keewaydin Meadows Park Manhattan & Sioux 4.5 x x x x x
50 A4 Knollwood Park 280 Spruce St 0.6 x
51 B4 Lover's Hill Park 22nd & Mesa 0.2
52 C5 Martin Park 36th & Eastman 9.3 x x x x x x x
53 A3 Maxwell Lake Park Linden Park dr N of Linden 8.6 x
54 D4 Meadow Glen Park 5662 Pennsylvania Pl 2.5 x x x
55 B3 Melody Park 16th & Kingwood 1.2 x x
56 B6 Mesa Memorial Park 3201 Table Mesa Dr 1.7 x x
57 A4 North Boulder Park 9th & Dellwood 12.7 x x x x x x
48 B3 North Boulder Recreation Center 3170 Broadway 1.5 x x x
48 B3 Olmsted Park 3170 Broadway 5.3 x x x x
58 B3 Palo Central-South Palo Pkwy & Paseo del Prado 2.8 x
59 C3 Palo East 4340 Corriente Dr 4.1 x x x
60 C3 Palo North 30th & Redwood 3.0 x x x
61 C5 Park East Aurora & Mohawk 4.7 x x x x x
62 C4 Park Operations 5200 E. Old Pearl St 8.1 x x
63 B3 Parkside Park 26th & Kalmia 5.6 x x x
64 B4 Pearl Street Mall Pearl Street, between 11th and 15th St 2.9 x x x
65 B3 Pineview Park Cloverleaf S of Kalmia 1.6 x x
66 C3 Pleasantview Fields 3805 47th St 52.6 x x x x
67 B5 Pottery Lab 1010 Aurora 0.1 x
68 B3 Salberg Park 3045 19th St 3.0 x x x x x
69 B4 Scott Carpenter Park and Pool 1505 30th St 16.9 x x x x x x
70 C6 Shanahan Ridge Park 3299 Redstone Ln 4.3 x x
71 B4 Sinton Park 26th and Walnut 0.5 x
72 A5 Smith Park Gilbert & Cleveland 1.1 x
41 C6 South Boulder Recreation Center 1360 Gillaspie 0.6 x x x
73 B4 Spruce Pool 2150 Spruce St 0.8 x x
74 C5 Tantra Environmental Park Tantra Dr & Moorhead Cr 2.5
75 C6 Tantra Maintenance Facility 685 Tantra Dr 0.7
75 C6 Tantra Park 46th & Hanover 20.9 x x x x
76 D1 Tom Watson Park 6180 63rd St 31.0 x x x x x
77 C3 Valmont City Park Valmont and Airport Rd 127.2 x x x x x x
78 B2 Violet Park 4501 19th St 7.3 x x
79 B5 West Highland Park 1900 Dartmouth 6.6
80 A3 Wonderland Lake Park 301 Poplar Ave 31.0 x x x

Appendix B

A
TTA

C
H

M
E

N
T A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 110Packet Page     420



43

Ja
y 

Rd

28th St

30th St

47th St

19th St

US
 H

w
y 3

6M
on

ar
ch

 R
d

Ca
ny

on
 B

lv
d

Iri
s A

ve

Pi
ne

 S
t

Ba
se

lin
e 

Rd

Le
e H

ill 
Dr

Folsom St

Spine Rd

9th St

Va
lm

on
t R

d

Ar
ap

ah
oe

 A
v

Pe
ar

l S
t

Pe
ar

l P
kw

y

Olde Stage Rd

W
al

nu
t S

t

76th St

61st St

Linden Dr

So
ut

h 
Bo

ul
de

r R
d

Co
lo

ra
do

 A
ve

57th St

Vi
ol

et
 A

ve

M
in

er
al

 R
d

17th St

Gillaspie Dr

Fla
gs

ta
ff 

Rd

55th St

In
de

pe
nd

en
ce

 R
d

Cherryvale Rd

Foothills 
Pkwy

Ba
lsa

m
 A

ve

M
ap

le
to

n 
Av

e

Ya
rm

ou
th

 A
ve

Lo
ok

ou
t R

d

Su
ns

hi
ne

 C
an

yo
n 

Dr

Ed
ge

w
oo

d 
Dr

Co
lle

ge
 A

ve

Sp
ru

ce
 S

t

71st St

St
at

e 
Hw

y 
11

9

M
ar

sh
al

l R
d

Ka
lm

ia
 A

ve

Bu
tte

 M
ill

 R
d

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 A

ve

63rd St

55th St

75th St

55th St

Foothills Pkwy

Broadway

30th St

Diagonal H
wy

28
th

 St

Ba
se

lin
e 

Rd
Ba

se
lin

e 
Rd

Ta
bl

e 
M

es
a 

Dr

9th St

Va
lm

on
t R

d

Greenbriar

28th St

63rd St

Broadway

 B
ou

ld
er

 P
ar

ks
 a

nd
 R

ec
re

ati
on

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

Sy
st

em
 M

ap
20

13

A
B

C
D

E

A
B

C
D

1 2 3 4 5 6

1 2 3 4 5 6
Le

ge
nd

Bi
ke

 a
nd

 P
ed

 T
ra

ils
M

ul
ti-

U
se

 P
at

h
So

ft 
Su

rf
ac

e 
M

ul
ti-

U
se

 P
at

h
De

sig
na

te
d 

Bi
ke

 R
ou

te
O

n 
St

re
et

 B
ik

e 
La

ne
Pa

ve
d 

Sh
ou

ld
er

Pa
rk

s
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

Fa
ci

liti
es

Co
m

m
un

ity
 A

re
as

 M
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

by
 P

ar
ks

N
at

ur
al

 L
an

ds
Sc

ho
ol

s
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
an

d 
M

ou
nt

ai
n 

Pa
rk

s
Co

un
ty

 O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e

M
ai

n 
Cr

ee
ks

Ci
ty

 L
im

it

1

2

25

35

46

78

4

11 12

76

28

80

53

48
42

55

24

17

65

68

22

63

31

30

58

60

59

66 47

20
77

62

37

27

34

57

50
14

29

36
45

16
39

21

18

64
7

15

33

51
10

73
38

71

69

3

61
6

5

54
72

79

19

67
8

40

9

56

52

41

70

75

7413

26
49

44

32
1

2

25

35

46

78

4

11 12

76

28

80

53

48
42

55

24

17

65

68

22

63

31

30

58

60

59

66 47

20
77

62

37

27

34

57

50
14

29

36
45

16
39

21

18

64
7

15

33

51
10

73
38

71

69

3

61
6

5

54
72

79

19

67
8

40

9

56

52

41

70

75

7413

26
49

44

32

2323

A
pp

en
di

x 
C

ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5B     Page 111Packet Page     421



Agenda Item 5B     Page 112Packet Page     422



CIT Y OF BOULDER

'¿l["J lil'å.%'fú?'
cIrY oF BOULDER lfllj llUG 3 0 All B: 3 rrPLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES

July 25,2013
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers

A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven
years) are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-44I-3043). Minutes and streaming
audio are also available on the web at: http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:
Crystal Gray
John Putnam
Mary Young, Chair
Sam Weaver

PLAIINING BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT:
Aaron Brockett
Bryan Bowen
Leonard May

STAFF PRESENT:
P"ggy Bunzli, Finance
Joe Castro, Facilities & Asset Management
Jeff Dillon, Parks and Recreation
Charles Ferro, Development Review Director for CP&S
Bob Harberg, Utilities
Dave Hayes, Police
Don Ingle, Information Technology
Donna Jobert, DUHMD
Kirk Kincannon, Parks and Recreation
Elaine Mclaughlin, Senior Planner
Susan Meissner, Administrative Assistant III
Chris Meschuk, Planner II
Mike Orosel, OSMP
Alison Rhodes, Parks and Recreation
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning and Development Services
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney
Chandler Van Schaack, Planner I
Stephaney Westhusin, Transportation
Frank Young, Fire Department

1. CALL TO ORDER
Chair, M. Young, declared a quorum at6:07 p.m. and the following business \ryas

conducted.

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 113Packet Page     423



2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
There were no minutes scheduled for approval.

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
No one from the public spoke.

4. DISCUSSION OF DISPOSITIONS, PLANNING BOARD CALL.
UPS/CONTINUATIONS

A. USE REVIEW (LUR2013-00032): Request to convert an existing 5,000
square foot retail space into I'Made Movement'r professional office and
accessory retail use at 2206 Pearl in the MU-3 zone district. The call-up
period expires on July 2912013.

The board did not call this item up.

B. USE REVIEW (LUR2013-00024): Request to convert an existing 2,400
square foot office space into a new indoor athletic facility, at 5485
Conestoga in the IG zone district. The call-up period expires on July 29,
2013.

The board did not call this item up.

C. Administrative SITE REVIEW: For assisted living and memory care
facility with 93 rooms for up to ll7 residents. Includes associated
accessory support services.

The board did not call this item up.

5. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS

A. Public hearing and consideration of a recommendation to City Council on the
proposed 2014-2019 Capital Improvement Program (CIP).

Staff Presentation:
C. Meschuk and P. Bunzli presented to the board.

Board Questions:
J. Dillon, S. Westhusin, B. Ilarberg, J. Castro, M. Orosel, F. Young and M.
Beckner answered questions from the board.

Public Hearing:
No one from the public spoke

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 114Packet Page     424



Board Comments:

C. Gray would like to acknowledge and include energy savings in the CIP. She
would also like the city to more aggressively pursue GOCO funding.

S. Weaver recommended including a table with a list of projects having something
to do with energy, to reinforce integration between the CIP process and BVCP and
Climate Commitment. He did not think this was necessary this year but should be
considered in future CIP planning. He thought the CIP was well written and easy
to understand.

J. Putnam thought that the format, level of information and consistency were very
strong. Some of the utilities water projects were a bit difficult to understand and
could be made more user friendly by adding alarger map to show the water
projects west of Boulder. He also recommended tracking carbon reduction data in
future CIPs.

Motion:

Communit)¡ and Environmental Assessment Processes as outlined in the staff
memorandum dated Jul)¡ 25. 2013.

The board would like to integrate and assure consistency between the city's
Climate Commitment and BVCP policies. They recommended that future CIP
documents include summary information on energy and greenhouse gas emissions
sávings through capitalprojects as well as project information sheets outlining a
more detailed analysis on reductions and savings.

B. Public Hearing and Recommendation to City Council for Acceptance of the
Boulder Police Master Plan and Approval of the Boulder Yalley Comprehensive
Plan @VCP) Potice Master Plan Summary and Amend Urban Service Criteria and
Standards.

Staff Presentation:
M. Beckner and J. Crean presented to the board.

Board Questions:
M. Beckner and J. Crean answered questions from the board.

Public Hearing:
No one from the public spoke.

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 115Packet Page     425



Board Comments:
C. Gray recommended that other board members do a ride along with the
Boulder Police Department to better understand the Land Use Alcohol Code
changes.

S. Weaver thought that the format for the plan was excellent and easy to read. He
would like to see other Master Plans follow a similar format.

Motion:

lA. Brockett. B. Bowen and L. May absent) to recommend to Citv Council

BVCP Urban Service Criteria and Standards.

C. Public Hearing and Recommendation to City Council for Acceptance of the
Boulder Parks and Recreation Master Plan and Approval of the revised Boulder
Valley Comprehensive Plan @VCP) Parks and Recreation Master Plan Summary.

Staff Presentation:
K. Kincannon and J. Dillon presented the item to the board.

Board Questions:
K. Kincannon and J. Dillon answered questions from the board.

Board Comments:
C. Gray commended staff on the public process and community engagement. She
expressed concem that the new trend in high-density infill will require more parks
for residents lacking in their own dedicated outdoor space. She thought that Parks
and Recreation and the Urban Forestry unit need to be better funded.

S. Weaver thought this was an excellent and thorough document. He noted that
gardening is the single most common pastime in the country and thought it would
continue to be a growing trend. He recommended adding more community
gardening opportunities in city parks. Perform use studies at passive parks and use
the lesser-used areas in parks as gardens.

M. Young recoÍìmended adding a community garden to a location on 13th Street
between Alpine and North Streets. This area would be in very high demand.

C. Gray agreed with S. Weaver. She thought the gardens could tie back to the
neighborhood involvement and ownership portion of the Master Plan as an
important role in programming neighborhood-specific activities in parks.

S. Weaver appreciated the breakdowns in the Plan and recommended adding a

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 116Packet Page     426



6

prioritized list of items that are of importance to their mission.

Public hearing:
No one from the public spoke.

Motion:

(A. Brockett. B. Bowen and L. Mav absent) to recommend to Cit)¡ Council

approve the proposed amendments to the BVCP Parks and Recreation Master
Plan Summary. 'With 

a friendly amendment bv M. Young to add a paraeraph
about the chaneine demoeraphics. similar to the section found in the Police
Master Plan. The friendlv amendment was accepted by S.'Weaver.

MATTERS FROM THE PLANNING BOARD, PLANNING DIRECTOR,
AND CITY ATTORNEY

A. Civic Area Preliminary Draft Plan
S.'Weaver thought that this process has successfully engaged the community
and the vision gives a good amount of specificity while maintaining flexibility.
He thought that the middle portion of the site design is spot on, liked the
proposal for the West end, and found it helpful to consolidate city functions in
one location. He suggested that staff closely consider the farmers market's
needs and asked if it could be replicated in other areas of the city on non-
competing days to make it more accessible to residents. He noted that the band
shell has not been included in these drawings and thought that it would be hard
to site with the current program. The arts area should be driven by the needs of
the community.

J. Putnam recoÍìmended that staff consider the approach to planning for
capacity in the park. He noted that Golden recently completed a similar project
and has experienced higher volumes of people than the infrastructure can
accommodate. He encouraged staff to consider how to plan for crowds at peak
times.

S.'Weaver agreed with J. Putnam's comment. He recommended that outdoor
sculpture be changed every few months. He cited Tesuque in Santa Fe as an
example.

J. Putnam also cited the Walker Art Center in Minneapolis.

C. Gray would like to see the band shell represented on the plan and
emphasized the importance of creating opportunities to have many eyes on the
park for safety. She liked the idea of repurposing the Municipal Building and
cited the old Palo Alto Municipal buildinglhat was converted to an arts facility.

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 117Packet Page     427



She thought that staff did a great job on the Civic Area process hoped that the
city could meet the timeline to utilize the civic use pad by the St. Julien Hotel.

M. Young noted that the Civic Area plan has several features, as opposed to
one primary feature, to draw people to the park.

J. Putnam recommended that the creek become an aÍea of attraction through
an engineered wave, water hole, or other feature. He explained that Englischer
Garten in Munich has a popular engineered wave in the river that people surf.
He thought that there could be some opportunities along the river that are
smaller rather than large blockbusters.

B. Update on proposed City Council discussion about emails related to an agenda
item sent to Planning Board members during deliberations of the item.

II. Pannewig addressed this item in an email and did not feel that it was
necessary to discuss it further. She encouraged the board members to call her with
questions.

J. Putnam thought that it would make sense to draft a written policy per the
recommendation in H. Pannewig's email.

C. Electronic Board Communications

H. Pannewig explained that she was concerned about emails that sounded like a
discussion. All meetings must be public and decisions may not be made via email.
It is okay to send informational and organizational items, note that there is a topic
that amember wants to bring up at a consequent meeting, and ask questions of
staff as long as none become a discussion. Members may ask questions of staff
while copying Planning Board members as long as it is not related to a previous
conversation.

J. Putnam recofiìmended that protocols be written pertaining to questions
submitted by the public with regard to public hearing items. He thought that it
would be helpful send an automatic response.

S. Meissner will follow up with IT to create an auto response to emails sent to
b oul derp 1 ann ingb o ar d@b oul d erco lorado. go v.

C. Gray recommended that Planning Board to have a hotline similar to the
Council hotline. She did not think that important items are being sufficiently
forwarded to interested members of the public. She would like to see more
transparent communication.

H. Pannewig noted that Council has person dedicated to maintaining the hotline
and there is not currently funding for a similar role for Planning Board. She

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 118Packet Page     428



proposed a study session to discuss these issues.

S.'Weaver did not think that a hotline would be helpful or is something that the
public would want. He saw little value because it does not change the board's
ability to respond to correspondence. He recommended that all correspondence be
posted to the website instead.

This will be discussed fuither at the dedicated study session.

S. Richstone explained that the absences have become a matter of difficulty for
applicants.

S. Weaver asked that S. Richstone explain this in an email to the board members.

The Septemb er l2th meeting will consist of a study session to discuss these
matters from 5:30- 7p.m. and the public hearing for Boulder Jewish Commons
will begin at7p.m.

S. Meissner will send calendars through the end of the year to allow for holiday
planning.

7. DEBRIEFMEETING/CALENDARCIIECK

8. ADJOURNMENT

The Planning Board adjourned the meeting at 10:29 p.m.

APPROVED BYz

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 5B     Page 119Packet Page     429



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 120Packet Page     430



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: January 8, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the 
November 27, 2012 Joint City Council/Parks and Recreation Advisory Board Study 
Session on the Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Kirk Kincannon, CPRP, Director of Parks and Recreation 
Jeff Dillon, Parks and Planning Superintendent 
Alice Guthrie, Recreation Superintendent 
Abbie Poniatowski, Senior Business and Finance Manager 
Jeff Haley, Parks and Planning Manager 
Alison Rhodes, Master Plan Staff Lead 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
This agenda item provides a summary of the November 27, 2012 Joint City Council/Parks and 
Recreation Department Study Session on the Master Plan project.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion:   
Motion to accept the study session summary (Attachment A) of the November 27, 2012 
Study Session on the Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan Update.  
 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
A: Summary of the November 27, 2012 Joint City Council/Parks and Recreation Advisory 
Board Study Session on the Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan. 

 

ATTACHMENT C

Agenda Item 5B     Page 121Packet Page     431



Attachment A 
 
 
 
 

November 27, 2012 
Study Session on 

Parks and Recreation Master Plan Update 
 

PRESENT 
 
City Council:  Mayor Matthew Appelbaum, Deputy Mayor Lisa Morzel, Council Members 
Suzy Ageton, KC Becker, Macon Cowles, Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Tim Plass and 
Ken Wilson. 
 
Staff members: Jane S. Brautigam, city manager; Paul J. Fetherston, deputy city manager; Kirk 
Kincannon, director of parks and recreation; Jeff Dillon, superintendent of parks and planning; 
Alice Guthrie, superintendent of recreation; Abbie Poniatowski, senior business and finance 
manager; Jeff Haley, planning manager; Alison Rhodes, master plan staff lead. 
 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Board members: Bob Yates, chair; Michelle Estrella, vice-
chair; and Board Members Michael Conroy, Myriah Conroy, Michael Guzek, Rick Thayer and 
Kelly Wyatt. 
 
Consultant:  Steve Wolter, executive director, Eppley Institute for Parks and Public Lands; 

Jeff Bransford and Austin Hochstetler, project managers, Eppley Institute for Parks 
and Public Lands. 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this study session and discussion was to present an overview of the Parks and 
Recreation Department Master Plan process and update, and to provide the City Council an 
opportunity to discuss the key themes and policy issues that have emerged as a result of the 
research and public engagement. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION 
Kirk Kincannon and Steve Wolter presented an overview of the process to-date (November 
2012).  Staff and consultants are concluding the research phase of the project, which formed the 
foundation of the master plan update and included extensive research and community 
engagement.  The results of the research, as well as the public engagement to-date, have resulted 
in the identification of these key themes: Community Health and Wellness; Recreation 
Programming; Environmental Stewardship; Asset Management; Financial Sustainability; 
Community Building and Relationships; Youth Engagement and Activity; Connecting Parks, 
Facilities and Trails; and Organizational Change.  The discussion was focused around four policy 
issues (trends, role of the department, programs and services, and infrastructure investment), 
identified in the questions listed below, that have emerged along with the key themes.   
 
 

ATTACHMENT C

Agenda Item 5B     Page 122Packet Page     432



Trends 
The consultant presented research in the parks and recreation industry indicating the trends of 
increasing youth obesity, nature deficit disorder and changing demographics, which include an 
increase in minority populations and seniors.  Benchmark agencies and other parks and 
recreation departments have responded to these trends by partnering with public health agencies, 
school districts and health care providers.  The community has indicated that it is very important 
that the City of Boulder Parks and Recreation Department (BPRD) contribute to the 
community’s physical health, as well as promoting physical and mental well-being.   
 
1. Question for Council: As trends evolve, should needs be met by adding services or 

replacing them? 
 

Discussion Outcome 
Throughout the discussion, there was alignment among City Council, the Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board (PRAB), and department staff on the trends presented that have 
been discovered through research and community input.  The City Council discussed several 
major trends including an awareness of shifting demographics relative to growing minority 
populations, aging populations and how the department accommodates the needs and 
expectations of special segments (e.g., youth, disadvantaged populations) of the community.  
Secondly, City Council agreed that the department must actively engage youth in programs 
and services in order to address social health issues such as nature deficit disorder, childhood 
obesity and keeping youth active in their community.  Several unique ideas were discussed 
for staff consideration, such as incentive programs that encourage youth activity similar to 
summer reading programs, a “living school bus” to encourage walking to school and 
coordinating safe routes to school through parks.  Thirdly, City Council agreed on the 
important trend illustrating that the department touches all aspects of public health in the 
community.  City Council and PRAB agree that the department can increasingly play a 
critical role in creating a healthy community through programs and facilities that promote 
wellness.  Council members also suggested that the department needs to assess the trends 
relative to the appropriate timeframe.  Are the trends short-term or will they have long-term, 
lasting effects on the community?  

 
Role of the Department 
The consultant communicated the need for the department to focus the services it provides to 
ensure they are meeting the needs of the community.  Traditionally, parks and recreation 
agencies focus on beginner programs and on health and wellness.  BPRD offers a broad spectrum 
of programs and the community is satisfied with the services provided by the department.  Given 
limited resources, there is a need to ensure the department is strategic in program delivery, so 
that subsidies and resources can be directed to serving the community in the most effective way.  
 
2. Question for Council: What are BPRD’s essential or priority services? 

 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT C

Agenda Item 5B     Page 123Packet Page     433



Discussion Outcome 
Council communicated alignment with the community and PRAB relating to the importance 
of creating social equity in the programs and facilities of the department, determining 
sustainable funding priorities, developing facilities that provide an appropriate return on 
investment and meet the needs of the community, and determining appropriate trade-offs 
given limited resources for the department.  Council suggested engaging the community in a 
survey to determine trade-offs that would indicate the preference of the community for the 
programs and services that the department provides.  Council also aligned with PRAB in 
discussing the idea of partnerships and privatizing certain programs and services.  Many 
communities have a process for transitioning elite and/or specialized programs to a private 
service provider in the community.  The council raised general concerns about the survey and 
the fact that the survey does not represent a fully balanced demographic of the city resident 
population.  Department staff agreed and indicated that additional work was being 
undertaken to gather input from the under-represented populations. Council also agreed that 
the survey was only one source of information among many included in the update process.  
Council agreed with the results of the community input indicating that tax-payer subsidy is 
appropriate for programs for the disadvantaged populations in the community. Furthermore, 
there was discussion about the appropriate funding source for subsidy (general fund vs. 
dedicated funds) for programs and services that benefit the community.   

 
Programs and Services 
The consultant conveyed that the BPRD offers a broad spectrum of recreation programs and 
services and has a cost recovery rate that is much higher than benchmark agencies.  The 
community has indicated that it is essential that the department provide recreation programming 
for children and teens, disadvantaged populations, families and seniors.  The community has also 
suggested that programs for youth, low-income populations and people with disabilities should 
be subsidized by taxes.  There is a need for the department to more formally define who it is 
serving and how programs are funded. 

 
3. Question for Council: How should the BPRD balance providing community good with 

revenue production? 
     

Discussion Outcome 
Council and PRAB both agreed that the department needs to remain focused on providing 
social equity in the programs, services and facilities that it provides.  There was discussion 
about the concern of trying to be “all things to all people.”  There is a desire of City Council 
for the department to illustrate how current funding meets the priorities of the community 
that were identified in the survey.  The council indicated a preference that the department 
focuses on programs that promote wellness and healthy lifestyles, and that meet the needs of 
the disadvantaged in the community.  The council and PRAB both asked that the department 
review the current fee structure, revisit the existing pricing model for cost recovery and 
determine where and how subsidy is applied.  Council also requested that the department 
review resident versus non-resident fees and potential partnership opportunities with the 
community providers of similar programs and services. 
 
 

ATTACHMENT C

Agenda Item 5B     Page 124Packet Page     434



Infrastructure Investment 
There is an increasing need for asset management and Boulder’s approach is ahead of the curve.  
Research clarifies the issue for the BPRD, demonstrating that department assets are in fair 
condition overall, bordering on poor, with a maintenance backlog estimated at over $37 million.  
The community has demonstrated both that priority for maintaining existing facilities is high and 
that there is some desire for new and specialized facilities.    
 
4. Question for Council: How does the BPRD prioritize maintaining existing facilities with 

developing new ones? 

Discussion Outcome 
There is alignment among the City Council, PRAB and the community on the priority of 
“taking care of what you have” when it comes to balancing maintaining existing facilities and 
developing new assets.  Council understands that, given limited resources and multiple 
community needs, appropriate trade-offs will need to be made and the department cannot be 
“all things to all people.”  PRAB supported the need of the department to appropriately 
budget annually to address maintenance backlogs and the City Council would like to 
understand the current maintenance backlog and how it is being addressed in funding 
priorities.  The council requested more information about how funds are spent on operating 
vs. capital expenditures, what the current approach is to addressing the maintenance backlog 
of facilities, and about the department’s investment priorities.  The council also requested 
additional information on any proposed land acquisition, as well as the current acreage for 
new park development.  In the context of park planning and development, council members 
also emphasized the importance of beauty within the parks, the many benefits that parks 
provide the community and the desire for Boulder’s parks to be “world-class” in design and 
functionality. 

 
Next Steps 
In the course of the discussion, there were several specific requests from council for further 
information.  The following questions will be addressed during the Needs Assessment and will 
be available for the May 28, 2013 City Council Study Session: 

• How is funding currently spent? Does current spending match the priorities in the 
survey? How should it be spent/prioritized (operating vs. capital)?  

• What opportunities exist to bring in other funding sources?  
• What are the department’s investment priorities? Where is the biggest “bang for our 

buck”/Return on Investment (ROI)? 
• What programs and services does the general fund currently subsidize?  What should it 

subsidize?  
• What is the current maintenance backlog – how is it being prioritized and addressed? 
• What are the department’s land acquisition priorities and plans?  
• What are the department’s park development priorities and plans? Should park 

classification be revisited? 
• How should the department balance use of facilities by local groups and tournaments and 

events? 
 

ATTACHMENT C

Agenda Item 5B     Page 125Packet Page     435



Continuing outreach to the minority populations and youth is clearly a high priority, and staff 
will update results and public engagement information as outreach is conducted.   The PRAB 
will be engaged in study sessions in January, February and April of 2013 and those packets, as 
well as those of the regular PRAB meetings, will have additional information about community 
engagement.  Members of council will have the opportunity to participate in the stakeholder 
work session (Pathfinder) in February 2013, and will also receive an update in an Information 
Packet in April.  City Council will discuss the draft needs assessment and action plan in the 
May 28, 2013 study session. 

 

ATTACHMENT C

Agenda Item 5B     Page 126Packet Page     436



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 18, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the May 28, 
2013 City Council Study Session on the Parks and Recreation Department Master 
Plan. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Kirk Kincannon, CPRP, Director of Parks and Recreation 
Jeff Dillon, Parks and Planning Superintendent 
Alice Guthrie, Recreation Superintendent 
Abbie Poniatowski, Senior Business and Finance Manager 
Jeff Haley, Planning Manager 
Alison Rhodes, Master Plan Project Manager 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
This agenda item provides a summary of the May 28, 2013 City Council Study Session on the 
2013 Parks and Recreation Master Plan.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion:   
Motion to accept the summary (Attachment A) of the May 28, 2013 study session on 
the Parks and Recreation Department Master Plan.  
 
 
ATTACHMENT:  
A: Summary of the May 28, 2013 City Council Study Session on the Parks and Recreation 
Department Master Plan. 

 

ATTACHMENT D

Agenda Item 5B     Page 127Packet Page     437



Attachment A 
 
 
 
 

May 28, 2013 
Study Session on 

Parks and Recreation Master Plan Update 
 

PRESENT 
 
City Council:  Mayor Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Lisa Morzel, Council Members 
Suzy Ageton, Macon Cowles, Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Tim Plass and Ken Wilson. 
 
Staff members: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager; 
Kirk Kincannon, Director of Parks and Recreation; Jeff Dillon, Superintendent of Parks and 
Planning; Alice Guthrie, Superintendent of Recreation; Abbie Poniatowski, Senior Business and 
Finance Manager; Sarah DeSouza, Senior Manager, Jeff Haley, Planning Manager; Alison 
Rhodes, Master Plan Project Manager, Catherine Williams, Park Planner. 
 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Board member: Kelly Wyatt. 
 
Consultant:  Steve Wolter, Executive Director, Eppley Institute for Parks and Public Lands 
 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this study session and discussion was to review the progress of the Parks and 
Recreation Department Master Plan and to provide the City Council an opportunity to discuss the 
policy issues that have emerged as a result of the research and public engagement. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION 
Kirk Kincannon and Steve Wolter presented an overview of the process, key findings and 
recommendations.  The ensuing discussion focused around the purpose of the plan, the key 
themes of the plan, the department’s levels of service, the department’s funding and the key 
policy issues of the master plan. 
 
Purpose of the Plan 
The presentation reviewed the extensive planning process that included significant research and 
community engagement.  Two Pathfinders℠ workshops, one for community leaders and one for 
staff, reviewed the key findings and contributed to the development of a new mission and vision 
for the department, as well as six guiding principles. The master plan is intended to be a five year 
roadmap for the department.  As council clarified, it is a high-level plan that will help the 
department set up the systems and processes that will lead to success over time. 
 
Key Themes 
In addition, six key themes emerged early, endured throughout the master planning process and 
stand out as the areas in which the department should focus resources to best serve the 
community:   

ATTACHMENT D

Agenda Item 5B     Page 128Packet Page     438



• Community Health and Wellness 
• Taking Care of What We Have 
• Financial Sustainability 
• Building Community and Relationships 
• Youth Engagement and Activity  
• Organizational Readiness.  

 
Council agreed on the importance of Community Health and Wellness as a major focus and 
wanted to ensure the department successfully communicates the breadth of this category to 
ensure that health benefits from passive recreation areas and services, such as forestry and flower 
programs, are included.  Council also agreed upon the importance of organizational readiness in 
the department’s ability to move forward in serving the community.  The department must 
prepare staff to create partnerships and be stewards of them, for example in the creation of a 
youth sports advisory committee to facilitate field space negotiations, conversations about 
scholarships and pricing. 
 
Levels of Service 
Staff reviewed levels of service (LOS) related to the three categories of services the department 
provides: parkland, recreation facilities and recreation programs. 
 

• Parkland:  Boulder currently exceeds LOS standards for all park types. The department 
manages a well established and distributed set of urban parks. When 2030 populations 
and community build-out are considered, the department’s undeveloped lands will be 
critical in meeting the future needs of the community.  Further acquisition, however, is 
not seen as necessary at this time to meet 2030 parkland levels of service. 

 
• Recreation Facilities:  While Boulder meets LOS standards for major facility types, there 

is some discussion as to possible unmet needs in the community.  Council sought 
clarification as to levels of service for athletic fields.  Boulder is not the leader in LOS 
among regional benchmark communities for athletic fields and the master plan identifies 
the need to conduct detailed feasibility studies for both athletic fields and aquatics 
facilities.  These detailed studies will be conducted by technical experts who will ensure 
valid data is used to assess supply and demand and the total cost of facility ownership 
(TCFO) is identified before the community is asked to invest in new recreation facilities. 

 
• Recreation Programs:  The department holds a high LOS with a broad portfolio of 

programs that are well-loved by participants.  Research and community engagement 
suggest the department should focus on beginner and youth programs, as well as ensuring 
programs are accessible to all community members.  Council discussed the term “social 
good” and encouraged the department to be transparent in what that term means and what 
programs the general fund is subsidizing, allowing community members the opportunity 
to express their approval, or not, of usage of tax revenue. 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT D

Agenda Item 5B     Page 129Packet Page     439



Department Funding 
As is the case for all city departments, the cost of providing services is increasing at a pace that is 
exceeding the growth of revenues.  To manage this challenge, the department must ensure that 
the annual planning process focuses resources on community priorities.   
 
Council discussed the recent renewal of the dedicated .25 cent sales tax for parks and recreation 
and plans for usage of that funding when bond debts are retired at the end of 2015.  Staff 
clarified that the ballot language did not specify usage beyond funding parks and recreation 
services.  The ballot language suggested possible uses “fund parks and recreation services, 
development, renovation and refurbishment, and parkland acquisition for passive and 
recreational uses…”  Staff will obtain direction from the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 
(PRAB), City Council and ongoing community engagement to focus where those dollars will be 
best spent when available.  While the decision does not need to be made now, this master 
planning process demonstrated the community’s desire to prioritize the maintenance of existing 
facilities over the development of new and the desire for the department to provide programming 
for youth, those with disabilities and those with low incomes. 
 
Master Plan Key Policy Issues 
Staff presented the two key shifts that will occur as the department focuses resources on the 
highest community priorities, and council provided input to ensure clarity and transparency in 
these policy issues. 
 
Taking Care of What We Have:  The department has an estimated backlog of deferred 
maintenance of $27 million.  Staff clarified that this backlog is related to existing facilities only, 
and does not include the development of any new facilities, including at south Valmont City 
Park.  It does include the replacement of existing assets, such as the recent refurbishment at 
Canyon Park, Columbine Park and Palo Park East.  The community has expressed support for 
the prioritization of maintaining existing assets over the development of new, and new 
development within existing funding would occur only with comparable trade-offs. The master 
plan does provide a framework for the development of new assets.  The Athletic Field Feasibility 
Study scheduled for fall 2013, and the Aquatics Feasibility Study scheduled for 2014, will 
provide the detailed analysis required before the department seeks the additional funding that 
would facilitate new development. 
 
The framework of the master plan includes a very measured approach to new development that 
includes identifying the need, TCFO, and funding not only for development but also for the 
ongoing operations and maintenance of any new facilities.  Partnerships and alternative funding 
sources will be critical in the development of any new recreation facilities and may also support 
operations and maintenance of existing assets.    Partnerships could include the university, the 
school district and organized groups, such as youth and/or adult sports organizations. Some of 
these groups have expressed interest in partnership and also communicated that they have 
available funding.  An effective foundation has also been a successful source of alternative 
funding in other communities and council expressed support for philanthropic campaigns to 
support parks and recreation. 
 

ATTACHMENT D

Agenda Item 5B     Page 130Packet Page     440



The Area III Park Reserve will be critical in meeting any future needs beyond what could be 
provided at south Valmont City Park, and that discussion should happen in the next five years.   
 
Shift of Program Delivery 
In order to focus resources on community valued programs such as those for youth, those with 
disabilities and those with low incomes and beginner level activities, the department will 
examine the best delivery model for each program area.  Staff will evaluate program delivery and 
substitutability within the community. Where the opportunity exists for a community partner to 
deliver the service more effectively, staff will analyze the return on investment and resource 
utilization to determine the best delivery model. 
 
Council sought clarification as to what effects facilitative delivery would have on the quality and 
availability of programs.  Kirk Kincannon provided successful examples of partnerships, such as 
with Gonzo Tennis for adult and youth tennis and Avid 4 Adventure for programming at 
Valmont Bike Park.  Kincannon also clarified that affordability, pricing, city values and 
expectations are all part of initial conversations with providers, as well as included in contracts.  
Any transfer in management of programs will be expected to be as seamless as possible to 
participants.   
 
The merit in facilitative delivery is that it allows the department to focus available resources on 
the programs identified as high priority by the community.  With limited funding, the master 
plan lays a framework for the department to serve as a leader in evaluating recreation program 
availability in the community as a whole and reducing redundancies and addressing service gaps.  
Equitable participation will always be a focus, and the master plan includes several initiatives to 
develop an enhanced financial aid program.  In addition, the plan lays the foundation for 
improved program management and evaluation to ensure that department delivered programming 
is highly effective in achieving outcomes. 
 

Next Steps 
In the course of the discussion, there were some suggestions from council for staff to clarify the 
shifts the department will make to ensure effective use of resources.  Staff will also clarify that 
partnerships, for both assets and programs, will always be balanced with community values and 
ensure that the department is overseeing public assets in a manner that ensures responsible 
stewardship. Staff will revise the draft plan to include council suggestions and address council’s 
concerns.  The final plan will then begin the approval process at the June 24 PRAB meeting with 
a public hearing and PRAB recommendation of the plan.  The next step is Planning Board public 
hearing and plan recommendation on July 25.  The final step in approving the 2013 Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan Update is the plan’s acceptance by City Council, scheduled for 
consideration on September 17, 2013. 
 

ATTACHMENT D

Agenda Item 5B     Page 131Packet Page     441



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 132Packet Page     442



 

 
 

C I T Y O F B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 17, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  
 
Second reading and consideration of three ordinances all to implement and comply with 
the requirements of Amendment 64 to the Colorado State Constitution and 
consideration of an emergency ordinance relating to marijuana as follows:  

 
1. Ordinance No. 7929 amending Section 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981;  

 
2.  Ordinance No. 7930 adding a new Chapter 6-16, “Recreational Marijuana,” and a 

new Section 4-20-67, “Recreational Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981;   
 

3. Ordinance No. 7931 amending Section 5-10, “Marijuana Offenses,” B.R.C. 1981; 
and 
 

4. Consideration of a motion to adopt an emergency ordinance appointing the city 
manager as the entity designated to receive applications and imposing a temporary 
moratorium on recreational marijuana businesses between October 1, 2013 and 
January 2, 2013 

 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager  
Beverley Bookout, Police Officer 
Dale Goetz, Building Code Compliance Specialist 
Jeff Kessler, Police Sergeant 
Mike Whitney, Assistant City Attorney 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 1Packet Page     443



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
This agenda item is intended to address the regulation of recreational marijuana in 
Boulder under the authority of Amendment 64 to the Colorado State Constitution.  On 
September 3, 2013, council considered ordinances 7929, 7930 and 7931 regulating 
recreational marijuana.  During consideration of the consent agenda, council requested 
that staff prepare several changes to the ordinances that had been presented regarding 
medical and recreational marijuana.  Following are the general categories of the requests 
and the short answer to the changes made in the attached ordinances.  The changes are 
discussed at greater length in the body of the memorandum. 
 
Limitation on Businesses:  Council discussed appropriate limitations on the number of 
the various types of businesses, locations of businesses, and multiple licensing.  Staff’s 
recommendation is intended to address a number of priorities previously identified by 
council, including preventing a disproportionate impact on individual neighborhoods, 
preventing over-consolidation, protecting children and families and promoting a vibrant 
marijuana industry without adversely affecting the city’s economic vitality.  
 
In balancing these priorities, the proposed ordinances include the following limitations on 
businesses:  
 

By Location: Recreational businesses are limited to three within 500 feet of each 
other.  Staff also proposes that recreational marijuana businesses in the downtown 
area and in the University Hill neighborhood will not be permitted on the ground 
floor. 
 
By Owner: Staff proposes that owners only be permitted to hold licenses for one 
each of a medical marijuana wellness center, recreational marijuana store, and 
MIP. 
 
By Size: Staff recommends that cultivation facilities be limited to 1000 plants.  
There are various reasons for this recommendation which are discussed in more 
detail below but include odor control, neighborhood impact and safety.  
 
Grandfathering:  Staff recommends against “grandfathering” existing medical 
marijuana businesses that would not be in compliance with the proposed 
recreational marijuana regulations.     

 
Time of Allowing Conversion of Medical Marijuana Businesses to Recreational:  Staff 
recommended a proposed schedule (a) to finish processing the pending 39 applications 
(26 for renewals and 13 for new medical marijuana businesses) (b)  develop forms for 
recreational marijuana businesses, (c) stop accepting applications for new medical 
marijuana businesses between March 1 and September 30, 2014 (d) begin accepting and 
processing applications for existing medical marijuana businesses to convert to 
recreational marijuana businesses between June 1, 2014, and September 30, 2014, and (e) 
begin accepting marijuana applications from those not currently licensed for medical 
marijuana businesses and restart accepting applications for new medical marijuana 
businesses by October 1, 2014.  Some council members asked that staff develop a 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 2Packet Page     444



 

schedule that would allow applications for conversion of medical marijuana businesses to 
recreational marijuana businesses beginning being accepted January 1, 2014.  The 
options are addressed below.   
 
Co-Location:  Staff recommends against allowing co-location of recreational marijuana 
businesses with medical marijuana businesses.  While co-location certainly benefits the 
existing medical marijuana businesses, by allowing them to avoid choosing one type of 
license, it presents serious challenges to regulation and undermines the purpose of 
medical marijuana dispensaries.  When analyzing the realities of operations, protection of 
patients, and lack of surety about implementation of state controls, there is not a practical 
way to implement co-location of recreational marijuana cultivation and distribution 
facilities at this time.  However, staff recommends that there not be a separate 
classification between recreational and medical marijuana for MIPs or testing facilities.   
 
Protection of Minors:  Staff recommends that tools used to regulate liquor businesses to 
address the problem of service to minors, through false IDs or otherwise, be added as 
requirements for recreational marijuana businesses. 
   
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
 a) Motion to approve three ordinances as follows:  Ordinance number 7929 amending 
Section 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981;  Ordinance number 7930 adding a new 
Chapter 6-16,  “Recreational Marijuana,” and a new Section 4-20-67, “Recreational 
Marijuana Businesses,”  B.R.C. 1981, and  Ordinance number 7931 amending Section 5-
10 “Marijuana Offenses,” all to implement and comply with the requirements of 
Amendment 64 to the Colorado State Constitution; and 
 
b) Motion to adopt an emergency ordinance appointing the city manager as the entity 
designated to receive applications and imposing a temporary moratorium on recreational 
marijuana businesses between October 1, 2013 and January 2, 2014. 
 
 
FIRST READING AGENDA MEMO 
The first reading agenda memo is located in the September 3, 2013 council meeting 
packet - https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/123525/Electronic.aspx. 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK AND REQUESTS:  
Since first reading, Downtown Boulder has submitted a request to council that 
recreational marijuana retail centers be prohibited on the ground level on the Pearl Street 
Mall to maintain the healthy and vibrant mix of retail, restaurant and professional office 
tenants in the downtown district.  Staff’s recommended ordinance includes this proposed 
change and extends the prohibition to the University Hill business district. 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 3Packet Page     445



 

MISCONCEPTIONS OF ACTIONS OF OTHER GOVERNMENTS: 
Statewide Actions:  There was some confusion about what is happening statewide, 
clarification of which helps put the considerations for council in context. 

• The city will not receive background check results for recreational businesses 
until the error in the state legislation is corrected during the 2014 session.  No 
legislative change will be effective until late in the 2014 legislative session.  (The 
reason the staff recommended not processing applications until after June 1, 
2014). 

• The 90-day limitation on time for processing recreational applications applies 
only to state, not local governments.  While Denver will start accepting 
conversion applications on October 1, 2013, Denver’s staff expects processing to 
take substantially longer than 90 days. In fact, Denver has not yet processed all of 
the applications for medical marijuana businesses submitted in 2010.   

• While the state has indicated it will improve enforcement, nothing has been 
implemented yet.  State officials have told Boulder officials that they will not be 
enforcing in Boulder because the city does a good job and the state resources are 
too limited. 

• The state tracking mechanisms, including seed-to-sale (referred to as “MITS” – 
Marijuana Inventory Tracking Solution) and RFID (radio frequency 
identification), are not implemented and there is no timeframe for 
implementation.  State officials have advised staff that the tracking information 
will not be shared with local governments.   

• While the requirement for vertical integration of centers and cultivation facilities 
is being eliminated by the state for recreational marijuana starting October 1, 
2014, vertical integration will remain a requirement for medical marijuana 
businesses.   

• An industry lobbyist has provided a chart which suggests that the city is the only 
entity regulating in certain areas.  It should be clear that most governments have 
not yet finalized their regulations.  Thus, such comparisons are premature. 
 

ANALYSIS:   
 
I. Changes to Medical Marijuana Chapter 6-14 (Attachment A) 
 
Staff proposes MIPs should not be regulated consistently regardless of whether they are 
supplying product to recreational or medical marijuana centers.  Thus, staff proposes that 
MIP regulation be removed from Chapter 6-14 and be included only in the new Chapter 
6-16.  Products created at a MIP would be permitted to be sold to both recreational and 
medical marijuana centers in compliance with all other laws. 

The definition of places open to the public in Chapter 6-14 has been revised to be parallel 
to the definition in proposed Chapter 6-16.  Other specific changes are described in the 
first reading memo.   The changes between first and second reading are highlighted. 

   
II. New Recreational Marijuana Chapter 6-16 (Attachment B) 
 
Guiding principles:  Amendment 64 was called the “Regulate Marijuana like Alcohol 
Act.”  Staff’s proposal has been modeled on regulation of retail liquor stores.      

Agenda Item 5C     Page 4Packet Page     446



 

 
a. Limitation on Businesses:   
 
Council discussed various impacts, solutions, and options related to limitations on sizes, 
locations, and owners of businesses.  Staff attempted to balance the goals of preventing a 
disproportionate amount of a certain class of use category or area of the city from being 
taken over by one industry, avoidance of over-consolidation, recognizing the impact of 
marijuana businesses on neighbors, protecting the rights of patients, and protecting 
children. 
 
The proposed ordinances contain language to implement the following:   
 

By Location: Recreational businesses are limited to three within 500 feet of each 
other, and in the commercial areas downtown and on University Hill may not be 
on the ground floor.  The same limitation currently applies to wellness centers.  
As seen from the maps in Attachment E, there is beginning to be a consolidation 
of marijuana businesses in certain areas.     
 
By Owner: Under the proposed ordinance, an owner can hold a license for one 
medical marijuana wellness center, one recreational marijuana dispensary and one 
MIP facility. 
 
By Size: Staff recommends that recreational marijuana cultivation facilities be 
limited to 1,000 plants.  There are several reasons for this recommendation.  
Cultivation facilities are complicated operations.  Growing marijuana 
commercially in our climate requires indoor facilities with powerful lamps, robust 
electrical and temperature control systems, complex ventilation systems and 
assorted chemicals.  The city has regulated these businesses effectively through 
regular and careful inspections.  Staff’s original recommendation was to limit 
cultivation facilities to 500 plants, because a facility of that size could be 
inspected by one staff member from police, fire and zoning enforcement.  The 
industry objected.  Staff agreed to increase the number to 1,000 plants.  Only four 
medical marijuana cultivation facilities have more than 1,000 plants.   
 
In addition to the public safety concerns, the biggest impact on adjacent properties 
from marijuana businesses is the odor of marijuana plants and raw product.  The 
staff particularly gets complaints from the Dakota Ridge neighborhood northwest 
of the intersection of Broadway and Lee Hill, Foothills and Pearl, and 55th and 
Arapahoe.1  The problem is exacerbated by the unregulated cultivation facilities 
in the enclaves near those locations.  While some of the businesses have been 
responsive to requirements for enhanced ventilation equipment, the odor is still 
persistent and disturbing to the community.  The odor is worse with greater 
numbers of plants.  Thus, the 1000 plant limit also is intended to mitigate the 
impact of odor on the surrounding community.2

 
 

                                                           
1 Staff will have maps at the council meeting showing the location of existing marijuana businesses. 
2 Staff has not proposed the 1,000 plant limit because of an inability to count or insignificant odor issues.   

Agenda Item 5C     Page 5Packet Page     447



 

The proposed change to Chapter 5-10 that is in Attachment C is an attempt to 
mitigate the odor problem created by cultivation facilities s in enclaves.   This 
type of enforcement takes significant staff resources, with limited authority.  The 
higher the density of grows, the less ability exists to determine the source of the 
odor with sufficient surety to enforce the city’s codes.  Unless the city limits the 
size and density of cultivation facilities, the negative impacts on the 
neighborhoods will increase.  Further, there may be a disproportionate number of 
marijuana businesses in certain areas of the city preventing the city’s goal of 
diversification of businesses.  The number of complaints staff receives from the 
negative impacts of grows prevents staff from recommending that the size of 
cultivation facilities be increased.   
 

b. Grandfathering:   
 
Staff recommends against “grandfathering” existing medical marijuana dispensaries and 
cultivation facilities for conversion to recreational facilities.  This is a new regulatory 
scheme and a different type of business.  The city is already proposing that medical 
marijuana businesses be given a competitive advantage to entry by giving them an 
exclusive period to convert.  The city’s policies on separation and the number of plants 
are based on sound policy reasons.  They should not be waived to benefit a few existing 
businesses.   
 
c. Time for Accepting Conversion Applications:   
 
Staff’s original recommendation of the timetable to complete processing of pending 
applications and prepare for acceptance and processing of conversion to recreational 
marijuana remains staff recommendation was intended to allow for an orderly transition 
and to avoid some of the confusion and delay associated with applications for medical 
marijuana businesses.  Staff recommended three elements: 1) a time at which staff 
stopped accepting new medical marijuana licenses so that the pending applications could 
be completed prior to accepting recreational marijuana applications; 2) a time for 
processing only applications for conversion of medical marijuana businesses to 
recreational marijuana businesses and 3) a time when all types of licenses will be 
accepted.   

 
Step one is necessary to give staff time to clear the decks.  After it became clear that the 
state was planning to give priority to existing medical marijuana businesses, the city 
received a flow of new applications for medical marijuana businesses.  There are 39 
applications pending currently.   

 
Step two would implement the council’s intent to give priority to existing medical 
marijuana businesses and step three would allow for normalization of the licensing 
process.  An additional factor in the staff’s recommendation was that the legislature 
precluded local governments from obtaining criminal history information on license 
applicants.  The legislature intends to change this in the next legislative session.  Staff’s 
original proposal to start accepting license applications on June 1, 2014 was driven, in 
part, by the desire to have access to criminal history information while processing 
applications.   

Agenda Item 5C     Page 6Packet Page     448



 

 
Staff has explored ways to address several council members’ interest in beginning the 
conversion process on January 2, 2014.  To accomplish this and address the goals set 
forth above, staff would  (a) stop accepting applications for new medical marijuana 
businesses on October 1, 2013, and (b) accept conversion applications from only medical 
marijuana businesses that can commit that there will be no new business managers or 
change of ownership or financier until after June 1, 2014.  This would allow businesses to 
operate with managers, owners and financiers who have already been cleared and permit 
the city to obtain background information on any new such person after criminal histories 
become available at the conclusion of the legislative session.  The obvious flaw to this 
proposal is that it puts a lot of pressure on staff to complete the existing applications 
while at the same time developing the forms for the conversion process.  Hiring new staff 
does not necessarily solve the problem.  The city relies upon its existing licensing 
manager and her staff to provide high quality customer service and consistency for 
marijuana licenses as well as all other licenses in the city.  Council is proposing 
substantial changes regarding liquor licensing to occur during the same time period.  It is 
important that there be consistency from application to application, but also between 
marijuana and alcohol regulation.  Asking the licensing manager to hire and train new 
staff by January 1, would impose an additional burden without sufficient attendant 
benefit.  Another flaw is that it is difficult to predict the future.  While the businesses may 
believe that they will not have new business managers, owners or financiers on January 1, 
2014, circumstances could change during the ensuing months before the legislation is 
changed and the city would not be able to get background check results. 
 
d. Co-Location:  
 
Staff recommends strongly against co-location of medical and recreational marijuana 
businesses.  Co-location of dispensaries and cultivation facilities undermines the city’s 
regulatory philosophy.  The council adopted a wellness model to regulate medical 
marijuana.  Thus, medical marijuana dispensaries are required to provide wellness 
services and have appropriate treatment facilities for those services.  The model is 
designed to accommodate seriously ill patients needing care.  Recreational facilities are 
more like liquor stores or bars.  Combing the two would be like opening a liquor store in 
a doctor’s office.  It would not be fair to patients to have them seek medicine in a 
recreational facility.  
 
Medical Marijuana cultivation facilities are limited by their association with a medical 
marijuana dispensary.  Such facilities can only produce the plants needed to treat the 
patients of the dispensary.  Recreational cultivation facilities have no such limitation.  
Combing the two types of facilities would make regulation difficult if not impossible.  It 
would not be possible to tell which plants would be tied to particular patients and which 
were for recreational use.   
 
There are several practical reasons why co-location presents such significant challenges: 
 

Compliance Checks.  One of the most effective enforcement tools the city can use 
is random compliance checks.  It appears that Boulder is one of the few 
jurisdictions that conducts such checks.    While our marijuana compliance 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 7Packet Page     449



 

program is relatively new, a similar program for random checks of liquor 
establishments has demonstrated a significant increase in compliance as follows: 
 
Year Number of Checks Compliance Rate 
2008 90 83% 
2010 469 88% 
2012 536 91% 
 
In performing random checks, the officers must have a reason to stop someone.  If 
the business has a dual license, the officer may not have a basis to stop someone 
leaving with more than one ounce of marijuana because that person could be a 
legitimate patient.  In essence, it makes “over-service” easier and almost 
undetectable unless the officer witnesses the over-sale.   
 
Auditing.  Because marijuana businesses are mostly cash businesses, there are not 
bank records or other separate records that can be used to evaluate the self-
reporting of the business.  A different type of forensic audit is necessary to detect 
violations than a normal sales tax audit performed by the city.  While the city can 
set up ways to attempt to require records that can be compared to more 
successfully enforce when the amounts of marijuana delivered to the business are 
recreational and limited to one ounce and taxes are required, it is much more 
difficult, and perhaps not possible, to do when some of the marijuana can be sold 
in amounts of two ounces or more, and the amount of marijuana allowed on the 
site of the business is different for the medical marijuana than the recreational 
marijuana.      
 
Protection of Patients:  Under the medical marijuana law, patients have a right to 
confidentiality and their records are treated with HIPPA protection.  Products with 
a higher potency of THC are permitted in medical marijuana wellness centers than 
in recreational dispensaries. Boulder’s wellness model requires that there be 
private consultation rooms for patients.  A recreational dispensary does not have 
any of those components.  As staff was preparing the regulations regarding 
medical marijuana, one of the major items requested by the patients was that they 
were treated as patients in need of medicine rather than having to buy on the 
street.  That request cannot be honored in a store that is selling marijuana for 
recreational use.    

 
Protection of Minors: Medical marijuana is available to those over 18 years of age 
and to those under 18 with a parent’s permission.  Recreational marijuana can be 
sold only to those at least 21 years of age.  Compliance checks for recreational 
marijuana businesses should mirror those used for liquor establishments.  
Separation of facilities will support this enforcement.    

 
e. Advertisements.   
 
The city’s requirements regarding advertisements (Section 8(p) in both Chapter 6-14 and 
6-16) do cover most of the areas listed in the memorandum from Boulder County Health.  

Agenda Item 5C     Page 8Packet Page     450



 

The items that are not addressed are a limitation on electrical signs or banning businesses 
from giving samples or otherwise providing giveaways of marijuana or related products.   

 
III.  Ordinance making changes to chapter regarding Marijuana Offenses 
(Attachment C) 
 
There have been no changes to this ordinance from the form presented at first reading. 
   
III. Emergency Ordinance designating the city manager as the entity to receive 

applications and imposing a moratorium on recreational marijuana 
businesses.  
 

The Recreational Marijuana Amendment allows cities to prohibit recreational marijuana 
businesses.  Regardless of whether a city prohibits such businesses, it requires each city 
to designate by October 1, 2013, the entity responsible for accepting applications for 
recreational marijuana businesses.  Both the Recreational Marijuana Amendment and the 
state law and regulations adopted regarding recreational marijuana specify that the state 
can start accepting applications beginning October 1, 2013, and allow businesses to open 
January 1, 2014 under certain conditions.  One of those conditions is that a local license 
has been issued.  However, there may be confusion if the city has neither adopted 
regulations nor made a decision about prohibiting recreational marijuana businesses on 
October 1, 2013.  This ordinance addresses both issues by designating the city manager 
as the entity to accept applications for the city, and banning recreational marijuana 
businesses in the city until January 2, 2014.  
 
The attached ordinance prohibits the businesses until January 2, 2014.  Under the staff 
recommendation, the prohibition would be until June 1, 2014.  Council can amend the 
date now, or adopt the ordinance as drafted, and consider amending the date when it 
finally adopts the code provisions regarding recreational marijuana.  The ordinance is 
drafted as an emergency so it is in effect on October 1, 2013.   
   
IV.  Questions for Council 
 
While council is free to make any changes, discussion at first reading highlighted the 
following questions: 
 
1.  Should existing businesses be “grandfathered” for conversion to recreational 
marijuana businesses? 
 
2.  Should recreational cultivation facilities be limited to 1000 plants? 
 
3.  Should co-location of medical and recreational marijuana dispensaries and cultivation 
facilities be permitted? 
 
4.  When should the city begin accepting applications? 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 9Packet Page     451



 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 

A.  Ordinance 7929 Amending Section 6-14, “Medical Marijuana,” B.R.C. 1981 
B.  Ordinance  7930 Adding a new chapter 6-16, “ Recreational Marijuana,” and a new   

section 4-20-67, “Recreational Marijuana Businesses,”  B.R.C. 1981 
C.  Ordinance 7931 Amending Section 5-10 “Marijuana Offenses” 
D.  Emergency Ordinance appointing the city manager and imposing a moratorium 
E.  Maps 
 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 10Packet Page     452



 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7929 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6-14 TO 
IMPLEMENT AND COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS 
OF AMENDMENT 64 TO THE COLORADO STATE 
CONSTITUTION, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Subsection 6-14-1(a)(2), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-14-1 Legislative Intent and Purpose. 

(a) Legislative Intent. The city council intends to regulate the use, acquisition, cultivation, 
production and distribution of medical marijuana in a manner that is consistent with Article 
XVIII, Section 14 of the Colorado Constitution (the "Medical Marijuana Amendment.") 

… 
 (2) Use, distribution, cultivation, production, possession and transportation of medical 
marijuana remains illegal under federal law, and marijuana remains classified as a 
"controlled substance" by both Colorado and federal law. 

Section 2.  Section 6-14-2, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to add the following definitions: 

6-14-2 Definitions. 

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

… 
Business manager means the individual designated by the owner of the medical marijuana 
business as the person responsible for all operations of the business in the absence of the 
owner from the business premises.  Business manager shall include any person with 
managerial authority in the business, and any person that has access to lock or unlock the 
safe, to unlock or lock the business, or set or disarm the alarm. 

Marijuana for this Chapter 6-14 means 

(1) The same as the term "usable form of marijuana" as set forth in the Medical 
Marijuana Amendment; or 

(2) May be more fully defined in any applicable state law or regulation. 

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 11Packet Page     453



 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Marijuana business means a recreational marijuana business or a medical marijuana 
business. 

Marijuana establishment shall have the same meaning as marijuana establishment in Chapter 
6-16. 

Marijuana warehouse means a marijuana establishment that is not a licensed medical 
marijuana business or a licensed recreational marijuana business.  No marijuana warehouses 
are allowed in the city.   

…  

Medical marijuana-infused product means a marijuana-infused product as defined in 
Chapter 6-16 of this code. product infused with medical marijuana that is processed for use 
or consumption, including, without limitation, edible products, concentrates, ointments and 
tinctures.   

Medical marijuana-infused product manufacturer means a licensed marijuana-infused 
product manufacturer as defined in Chapter 6-16 of this code medical marijuana businesses 
that produces medical marijuana-infused products.   

. . .  
 

Place open to the general public means any property owned, leased or used by a public 
entity, and any place on private property retail malls, business open to the public, common 
areas of buildings, private clubs, and vehicles, those portions of any private property upon 
which the public has an express or implied license to enter or remain, and any place visible 
from such places.  Place open to the general public shall not include any fenced area of a 
private residence regardless of whether it can be seen from a place open to the public. 

… 
Section 3.  Section 6-14-5(a)(3)(A) and (13), B.R.C. 1981, are is amended and a new 

Subsection (14) is added to read: 

6-14-5 Application. 

(a) Application Requirements. An application for a medical marijuana business license shall be 
made to the City on forms provided by the city manager for that purpose. The applicant shall use 
the application to demonstrate its compliance with this chapter and any other applicable law, rule 
or regulation. In addition to the information required by chapter 4-1, "General Licensing 
Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, the application shall include the following information: 

… 
(3) A statement of whether or not any of the named owners, members, business managers, 
financiers, primary caregivers or persons named on the application have been: 

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 12Packet Page     454



 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(A) Denied an application for a medical marijuana business license pursuant to this 
chapter, for a recreational marijuana license pursuant to Chapter 6-16, or any similar state 
or local licensing law, rule or regulation, or had such a license suspended or revoked. 

…(6)   An operating plan for the proposed medical marijuana business, including the 
following information: 
. . .  

(D) For cultivation facilities and medical marijuana-infused product manufacturers, a 
plan that specifies the methods to be used to prevent the growth of harmful mold and 
compliance with limitations on discharge into the wastewater system of the City as set 
forth in Chapter 11-3, "Industrial and Prohibited Discharges," B.R.C. 1981. 

(E) For a medical marijuana-infused product manufacturer, a plan that specifies all means 
to be used for extraction, heating, washing or otherwise changing the form of the medical 
marijuana plant, and verification of compliance with all applicable laws for ventilation 
and safety measures for each process. The City shall require the medical marijuana 
business to obtain a report from an industrial hygienist to verify that the plan submitted, 
and the improvements to be constructed, adequately protect the business and adjacent 
properties and persons and comply with all applicable laws. 

. . .  
 

(13) A description of all toxic, flammable or other materials regulated by a federal, state or 
local government that would have with authority over the business if it was not a marijuana 
business, that will be used or kept at the medical marijuana business, the location of such 
materials and how such materials will be stored. 

(14) A description of the process(es) used to extract or distill marijuana from its source and 
the process used to incorporate marijuana into all products produced, including verifying 
compliance of all processes regulated by a federal state or local government that would have 
authority over the business if it was not a marijuana business. 

(15) A statement of the amount of the projected daily average and peak electric load 
anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the landlord and utility provider 
that the premises are equipped to provide the required electric load, or necessary upgrades 
will be performed prior to final inspection of the premises. 

(16) For applications for a medical marijuana-infused product manufacturer, the location of 
the cultivation facility in the city owned by the licensee. 

(17) No applications for new medical marijuana businesses shall be accepted between March 
1, 2014 and October 1, 2014. 

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 13Packet Page     455

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter11-3.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 

Section 4.  Add a new Subsection (14) to Section 6-14-6(a) to read: 

6-14-6 Persons Prohibited as Licensees and Business Managers 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any of the following persons to have an ownership or a financial 
interest in a medical marijuana business, and no license provided by this chapter shall be issued 
to or held by, and no medical marijuana business shall be managed by: 

(14) Any person applying for a license to operate a medical marijuana center who has 
been licensed to operate another medical marijuana center in the city pursuant to this 
chapter; 

 

Section 5.   Section 6-14-7(c) and (f), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-14-7 Locations of Medical Marijuana Businesses. 
… 

(c) No Recreational Marijuana Business in Building with Residences or Residential Zone 
Districts.  It shall be unlawful to operate a medical marijuana business in a building which 
contains a residence, or within a dwelling unit within any zone district, or within a residential 
zone district  or on the premises of a development within a mixed-use zone district that includes 
a residence, as such districts are described in Table 5-1 of section 9-5-2, "Zoning Districts," 
B.R.C., 1981.  

... 
(f) Separation From Schools, Day Care Centers or Other Medical Marijuana Uses. No medical 
marijuana business license shall be issued for the following locations: 

(1) Within five hundred feet of any elementary, junior high, middle or high school or state 
licensed day care center. Distances shall be measured by the City on official maps as the 
radius from the closest points on the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest point 
of the property of the school or day care center. This restriction shall not apply to a medical 
marijuana business that is licensed by the City on November 1, 2012.  

(2) Within one thousand feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, 
vocational, or secondary school or a public or private college, junior college, or university, or 
a playground, or housing facility owned by a public housing authority.  This restriction shall 
not apply to a medical marijuana business that washeld a valid licensed byfrom the City on 
March 5, 2013.   

(3) Within five hundred feet of three other marijuana businesses, except that this limitation 
shall not apply in Industrial zones. 

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 14Packet Page     456

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-5.htm#section9_5_2�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(A) Distances shall be measured by the City on official maps as the radius from the closet 
closest points on the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest point of the 
property of any other medical marijuana business. 

(B) To determine the proximity to other medical marijuana businesses and the priority of 
applications, businesses shall have priority in the following order: 

(i) Businesses that are open and operating; 

(ii) Businesses whose applications have been approved; and 

(iii) Applications for medical marijuana business licenses that have been submitted by 
the applicant and declared complete by the City; and. 

(iv) No other applications shall be considered "businesses" for this determination. 

. . . .  

(h) Limitations on Medical Marijuana-Infused Product Manufacturers.  No medical 
marijuana-infused product manufacturer shall be allowed in the city unless the same licensee has 
a medical marijuana cultivation facility located in the city. 

 
 
Section 5.  6  Section 6-14-8(b) and (p) are amended to read: 
 

6-14-8 Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  
… 
 
(b) Restriction on Access to Restricted Area:  Age Limitations. No person, other than a patient, 
licensee, employee, or a contractor  under eighteen years of age shall be in the restricted area.  
No patient shall be allowed entry into the restricted area without showing a valid picture ID and 
evidence that the person is a patient, unless the person is accompanied by a parent or guardian.   
. . .  
(p) Advertisement. A medical marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
inconsistent with the medicinal use of medical marijuana. A medical marijuana business may not 
advertise in a manner that is misleading, deceptive, false or is designed to appeal to minors. 
Advertisement that promotes medical marijuana for recreational or any use other than for 
medicinal purposes shall be a violation of this code. The following conditions shall apply: 

(1) Any person licensed as a medical marijuana center or a medical marijuana-infused 
products manufacturer shall include in any advertisement for medical marijuana or any 
medical marijuana-infused product the following language: "For registered Colorado medical 
marijuana patients only." Provided, however, this language shall not be required to be 
displayed upon any sign identifying a medical marijuana center, as permitted by 
subparagraph (2)(a) below. 
(2) Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any person 
licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any medical marijuana or medical 

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 15Packet Page     457



 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

marijuana-infused product anywhere in the City where the advertisement is in plain view of 
or in a place open to the general public, including advertising utilizing any of the following 
media: any billboard or other outdoor general advertising device as defined by the zoning 
code; any sign mounted on a vehicle; any hand-held or other portable sign; or any handbill, 
leaflet or flier directly handed to any person in a public place, left upon a motor vehicle or 
posted upon any public or private property without the consent of the property owner. The 
prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

a. Any sign located on the same zone lot as a medical marijuana center which exists 
solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the medical marijuana center and 
which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city laws and 
regulations; 

b. Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine or other periodical of 
general circulation within the City or on the internet; or 

c. Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event by a 
medical marijuana center or a medical marijuana-infused products manufacturer. 

(3) It is an affirmative defense if a medical marijuana business employee provided another 
individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of providing that person's name and 
business affiliation, including, without restriction, title, mailing address, email address and 
telephone number. 
 

Section 67.  Section 6-14-9(g) is amended to read: 

6-14-9 Right of Entry – Records to be Maintained. 

(g)  Reporting of Energy Use and Renewable Energy Credit (REC) Purchases.  The records to be 
maintained by each medical marijuana business shall include without limitation records showing 
on a monthly basis the use and source of energy and the number of certified Renewable Energy 
Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another renewable energy acquisition 
program approved by the city manager.  A statement of the projected daily average peak electric 
load anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the building owner or landlord 
and utility provider that the premises are equipped to provide the required electric load, or 
necessary upgrades will be performed. Such records shall include all statements, reports or 
receipts to verify the items included in the report of the business.  By application for a medical 
marijuana business license from the city, the medical marijuana business grants permission to 
providers of the energy or point of origin of the RECs or other renewable energy acquisition 
program to disclose the records of the business to the city.   For medical marijuana business that 
cultivate medical marijuana the report shall include the number of certified Renewable Energy 
Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another renewable energy acquisition 
program approved by the city manager.   

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 16Packet Page     458



 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Section 78.  Section 6-14-13(a)(1) is amended and a new Subsection (33) is added to 

read: 

6-14-13 Prohibited Acts. 

(a) Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

(1)  Cultivate, distribute, possess, produce, smoke, use or ingest marijuana for recreational 
use in plain view of, or in a place open to the general public. 

…  
 (33) Label or distribute a marijuana-infused product that is not labeled as required by this 
code or other applicable law. 

Section 79.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 810.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of September 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 17Packet Page     459



 

K:\CMAD\o-7929 amending 6-14 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 17th day of September, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A 
Proposed Ordinance 7929 
Amending Section 6-14

Agenda Item 5C     Page 18Packet Page     460



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 6-16, 
“RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA,”  B.R.C. 1981 AND 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 4-20-67, “RECREATIONAL 
MARIJUANA BUSINESSES,” B.R.C. 1981  TO IMPLEMENT 
AND COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF 
AMENDMENT 64 TO THE COLORADO STATE 
CONSTITUTION, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER,  

Section 1.  A new chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, is added to read: 

Title 6:  Health and Safety and Sanitation 
 

Chapter 6-16:  Recreational Marijuana 
 

6-16-1 Legislative Intent, Findings, and Purpose. 
(a) Legislative Intent and Findings. The city council intends to regulate the use, possession, 
cultivation, production and distribution of marijuana in a manner that is consistent with Article 
XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution (the "Recreational Marijuana Amendment”, also 
known as Amendment 64.) and finds that the provisions of this Chapter 6-16 are directly and 
demonstrably related to the operation of marijuana establishments in a manner to minimize 
negative impacts on the community.  

(1) The city adopts this law to apply to all recreational marijuana operations in the 
city under the Recreational Marijuana Amendment, or any recreational marijuana 
business permitted under the state law. 

(2) Marijuana use, distribution, cultivation and production can have an impact on 
health, safety, and community resources and the Code is intended to permit 
marijuana cultivation, distribution, production and testing where it will have a 
minimal impact, and potential negative impacts are minimized. 

(3) Use, distribution, cultivation, production, possession and transportation of 
marijuana remains illegal under federal law, and marijuana remains classified as a 
"Level 1 Controlled Substance" by federal law. 

(4) The General Assembly has indicated that it will adopt enabling legislation that 
will provide for local licensing, however the anticipated state law is not intended 
to address the local impacts of marijuana operations, making it appropriate for 
local regulation of marijuana operations.  

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 19Packet Page     461



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(5) Nothing in this chapter is intended to promote or condone the production, 
distribution or possession of marijuana in violation of any applicable law. 

(6)  This chapter is to be construed to protect the public over marijuana business 
interests.  Operation of a recreational marijuana business is a revocable privilege 
and not a right in the city.  There is no property right for an individual or business 
to have marijuana in the city. 

(7)  Marijuana businesses are a heavily regulated industry in the city, and the city has 
a zero tolerance policy for violations of this chapter. 

(8) This chapter is not intended to replace the Medical Marijuana law in Chapter 6-14 
of this Code, and any person may apply for and operate a medical marijuana 
business pursuant to Chapter 6-14 without complying with this chapter.     

(9) This chapter is intended to specify the time place and manner restrictions for 
operating a recreational marijuana business in the city as specified in the 
Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

(10) The operation of a marijuana business without a license from the city as provided 
in this chapter is prohibited within the city.   

(11) The experience of the city in processing and enforcing medical marijuana 
business licensing evidences that the provisions herein are capable and worthy of 
being carried out in practice by a reasonably prudent businessperson. 

(12) The Colorado Administrative Procedures Act, Article 4 of Title 24 of the 
Colorado Revised Statutes (the “APA”), does not apply to local governments and 
the state has not been able to resource the process thereof in a timely manner.  
The procedures herein for issuance and enforcement of a recreational marijuana 
business license are consistent with the requirements of the APA and have been 
determined by the Boulder District Court to provide the level of due process 
required by the United States and Colorado Constitutions. 

(13) A licensee is not acting in his or her capacity as an owner, employee, or agent of a 
licensed marijuana establishment if the licensee is operating in violation of this 
chapter or any other applicable law. 

(14) The City Council has determined to allow marijuana establishments in the city on 
the condition that the establishments are operated in compliance with this chapter 
rather than banning marijuana establishments in the city as permitted by the 
Recreation Marijuana Amendment.  

(b) Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public health, safety and welfare of 
the residents, businesses, and property in the city by prescribing the manner in which recreational 
marijuana businesses can be conducted in the city. Further, the purpose of this chapter is to: 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 20Packet Page     462



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(1) Provide for a means of cultivation, production, and distribution of marijuana to 
persons permitted to obtain, possess and use marijuana for recreational purposes 
under the Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

(2) Protect public health and safety through reasonable limitations on business 
operations as they relate to noise, air and water quality, food safety, neighborhood 
and public safety, security for the business and its personnel, and other health and 
safety concerns. 

(3) Promote lively street life and high quality neighborhoods by limiting the 
concentration of any one type of business in specific areas. 

(4) Impose fees for licensing recreational marijuana businesses in an amount 
sufficient for the city to recover its costs of the licensing program. 

(5) Adopt a mechanism for monitoring compliance with the provisions of this 
chapter. 

(6) Create regulations that address the particular needs of the residents and businesses 
of the city and coordinate with laws that may be enacted by the state regarding 
recreational marijuana. 

(7) Facilitate the implementation of the Recreational Marijuana Amendment without 
going beyond the authority granted by it. 

(8) Support Boulder’s Sustainability and Climate Action Plan goals by requiring 
renewable sources for energy use to grow recreational marijuana. 

(9) Issue recreational marijuana business licenses only to individuals and entities that 
have demonstrated an intent and ability to comply with this chapter without 
monitoring by city officials. 

(10) Protect public safety and residential areas by limiting the areas of the city where 
more than six marijuana plants may be grown. 

(11) Exclude from the definition of a recreational marijuana business the private 
possession, production and recreational use of marijuana by an individual or the 
private possession, production, distribution and recreational use of marijuana by 
an individual, in the person's residence, to the extent permitted by Article XVIII, 
Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution. 

(12) Designate the city manager as the recreational marijuana licensing authority 
responsible for licensing recreational marijuana for the City of Boulder. 

(c) Relationship to State Law. The provisions in this chapter that are different from the 
applicable state law are consistent with the city's responsibility to protect the public health, safety 
and welfare as authorized by applicable law, and by the home rule authority granted to the city 
by Article XX of the Colorado Constitution and the Charter of the City. The city intends that 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 21Packet Page     463



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

both state law and this chapter apply within the city. Where this chapter conflicts with the state 
law, this chapter shall apply. 

(d) Adoption of this chapter 6-16 is not intended to waive or otherwise impair any portion of 
the local option available under the Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

6-16-2 Definitions. 

The following words and phrases used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise: 

Advertise means the act of drawing the public’s attention, whether on print, signs or 
electronic means, to a recreational marijuana business in order to promote the sale of 
marijuana by the business.   

Business manager means the individual designated by the owner of the recreational 
marijuana business as the person responsible for all operations of the business in the 
absence of the owner from the business premises.  Business manager shall include any 
person with managerial authority in the business, and any person that has access to lock 
or unlock the safe, to lock or unlock the business, or set or disarm the alarm. 

Cultivation or cultivate means (i) all phases of growth of marijuana from seed to harvest; 
or (ii) preparing, packaging or repackaging, labeling or relabeling of marijuana prior to 
consumption or incorporation into a recreational marijuana-infused product.   

Cultivation facility means a licensed recreational marijuana business that produces and 
harvests marijuana plants for distribution by a licensed recreational marijuana center or a 
licensed recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer.  Except as included in this 
definition, a cultivation facility may not operate any production on its premises. 

Distribute or distribution means the actual, constructive or attempted transfer, delivery, 
sale or dispensing of marijuana to another, with or without remuneration. 

Fermented malt beverage has the same meaning as its meaning under the Colorado Beer 
Code, C.R.S. 12-46-103.   

Financier means any person who lends money or otherwise provides assets to any person 
applying for a license or who has been issued a license under this chapter. Financier shall 
not include a bank, savings and loan association, credit union or industrial bank 
supervised and regulated by an agency of the state or federal government. 

Licensee means the recreational marijuana business named on the recreational marijuana 
business license, and all individuals named in the recreational marijuana business license 
application or later reported to the city, including without limitation, owners, business 
managers, financiers and individuals owning any part of an entity that holds a financial or 
ownership interest in a recreational marijuana business. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 22Packet Page     464

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter6-14.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Mall means the downtown Boulder business improvement district boundaries set forth in 
Appendix 8-B of Title 8 of this code. 

Malt, vinous and spirituous liquor has the same meaning as its meaning under the 
Colorado Liquor Code, C.R.S. 12-47-108. 

Marijuana for this Chapter 6-16 means: 

(i) The  same as set forth in the Recreational Marijuana Amendment; or  

(ii) As may be more fully defined in any applicable state law or regulation. 

Marijuana accessories shall have the same meaning as in the Recreational Marijuana 
Amendment. 

Marijuana business means any medical marijuana business as defined in Chapter 6-14 
 or recreational marijuana business as defined in this chapter. 

Marijuana establishment means a recreational marijuana business that has a license from 
the state and the city to operate. 

Marijuana testing facility means a recreational marijuana business that has been licensed 
as a marijuana testing facility by the state that is in good standing, and has a license in 
good standing with the city.    

Marijuana warehouse means a marijuana establishment that is not licensed by the city as 
a medical marijuana business or a licensed recreational marijuana business.  No 
marijuana warehouses are allowed in the city.   

Minor means a person under 21 years of age. 

Place open to the general public means any property owned, leased or used by a public 
entity, and any place on private property open to the public, common areas of buildings, 
private club, vehicles, those portions of any private property upon which the public has 
an express or implied license to enter or remain, and any place visible from such places.  
Place open to the general public shall not include any fenced area of a private residence 
regardless of whether it can be seen from a place open to the public  

Possess or possession means having physical control of an object, or control of the 
premises in which an object is located, or having the power and intent to control an 
object, without regard to whether the one in possession has ownership of the object. 
Possession may be held by more than one person at a time. Use of the object is not 
required for possession. The owner of a recreational marijuana business shall be 
considered in possession of the recreational marijuana business at all times. The business 
manager of a recreational marijuana business shall be considered in possession of the 
recreational marijuana business at all times that the business manager is on the premises 
of the business or has been designated by the owner as the business manager in the 
absence of the owner in accordance with this chapter. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 23Packet Page     465



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Premises means a distinct and definite location, which may include a building, a part of a 
building, a room, or any other defined contiguous area. 

Private club means any location, other than a residence of a person at the residence, or a 
marijuana establishment. 

Produce or production means (i) combining marijuana with any other substance for 
distribution, including storage and packaging for resale; or (ii) preparing, compounding, 
processing, encapsulating, packing or repackaging, labeling or relabeling of marijuana or 
its derivatives, whether alone or mixed with any amount of any other substance.  
Production shall not include packaging or repackaging labeling or relabeling of marijuana 
if no production has occurred and such packaging and labeling qualify as cultivation. 

Recreational marijuana means any marijuana intended for recreational use which meets 
all requirements for recreational marijuana contained in Chapter 6-16 of this code, the 
Recreational Marijuana Amendment, and any other applicable law. 

Recreational marijuana amendment means Article XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado 
Constitution 

Recreational marijuana business means (a) any person that cultivates, produces, 
distributes, possesses, transports or makes available more than six marijuana plants or 
one ounce of marijuana, or (b) any person that sells any amount of marijuana or (c) any 
person who possesses marijuana openly or publicly. The term recreational marijuana 
business shall not include the private cultivation, possession, production or use within a 
person’s residence of no more than (a) six plants in an enclosed, locked space, or (b) one 
ounce of marijuana, or (c) the marijuana produced by no more than six plants on the 
premises where the plants were grown if the plants were grown in an enclosed locked 
space.   

Recreational marijuana center means a licensed recreational marijuana business that 
distributes marijuana to any person or to recreational marijuana-infused product 
manufacturers or to another recreational marijuana center. 

Recreational marijuana-infused product means a product infused with marijuana that is 
processed for use or consumption, including, without limitation, edible products, 
concentrates, ointments, tinctures and any item defined as a “marijuana product” in the 
Recreational Marijuana Amendment. 

Recreational mMarijuana-infused product manufacturer means a licensed recreational 
marijuana business that produces recreational marijuana-infused products.  

Recreational marijuana local licensing authority means the city manager. The city 
manager shall be the local licensing authority responsible for processing applications 
under this chapter for the purpose of any state law that requires the city to designate a 
local licensing authority and the recreational marijuana amendment. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 24Packet Page     466



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Recreational marijuana plant means a marijuana seed and all parts of the growth 
therefrom including, without limitation, roots, stalks and leaves so long as the flowers, 
roots, stalks and leaves are all connected and in a growing medium. For purposes of this 
chapter, any part of the plant removed is considered harvested and no longer part of a 
recreational marijuana plant, but marijuana. 

Restricted area means the portion of a recreational marijuana business premises within 
which the licensee defines on its application it intends to cultivate, distribute, possess or 
produce recreational marijuana and which area is clearly identified as the restricted area 
on the floor plan submitted with the recreational marijuana business license application 
for the business. 

University hill commercial area means the area described as the University Hills General 
Improvement District in Appendix 8-A of Title 8 of this code. 

Violation of any law or violated any law means a plea or finding of a violation of any law 
in a criminal, civil or administrative proceeding, whether part of a plea agreement, 
settlement agreement, or determination by an arbitrator, hearing officer, court or jury. 

6-16-3 License Required. 

(a) License Required. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate a recreational marijuana 
business without obtaining a license to operate pursuant to the requirements of this chapter and a 
license in good standing from the state.  

(b) Additional Licenses and Permits May be Required. The license requirement set forth in 
this chapter shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other licensing and permitting 
requirements imposed by any other federal, state or local law, including, by way of example, a 
retail sales and use tax license, a retail food establishment license or any applicable zoning or 
building permit. 

(c) License Does Not Provide any Exception, Defense or Immunity from other Laws. The 
issuance of any license pursuant to this chapter does not create an exception, defense or 
immunity to any person in regard to any potential criminal liability the person may have for the 
production, distribution or possession of marijuana. 

(d) Separate License Required for Each Location. A separate license shall be required for 
each premise from which a recreational marijuana business is operated.  No two or more 
different businesses, including recreational marijuana businesses may be treated as one premise.  
Unless higher performance is required by applicable law, there must be a minimum of a one-hour 
fire separation wall between a recreational marijuana business and any adjacent business.   

(e) License Non-Transferable; Exceptions. A recreational marijuana business license is not 
transferable or assignable, including without limitation, not transferable or assignable to a 
different premise, to a different type of business (including another marijuana business), or to a 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 25Packet Page     467



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

different owner or licensee. A recreational marijuana business license is valid only for the owner 
named thereon, the type of business disclosed on the application for the license, and the location 
for which the license is issued. The licensees of a recreational marijuana business license are 
only those persons disclosed in the application or subsequently disclosed to the city in 
accordance with this chapter.  

(f) Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business.  A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business.  A license for 
a medical marijuana business for which an application was submitted before October 1, 2013, 
may be converted to the same type of marijuana establishment by complying with the 
requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a marijuana license and paying the application fee 
specified in Section 4-20-67 of this code.  The license for the medical marijuana business must 
be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana business license will be issued.   

6-16-4 General Provisions. 

(a) General Licensing Provisions. The general procedures and requirements of licenses, as 
more fully set forth in Chapter 4-1, "General Licensing Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, shall apply to 
recreational marijuana business licenses. To the extent there is any conflict between the 
provisions of this chapter and Chapter 4-1, the provisions of this chapter shall control for 
recreational marijuana business licenses. 

(b) Defense to Criminal Prosecutions. Compliance with the requirements of this chapter shall 
not provide an exception, immunity or defense to criminal prosecution under any applicable law, 
except in the Boulder Municipal Court for a violation of this chapter as specifically provided 
herein. 

(c) Insurance Required. The insurance specified in section 4-1-8, "Insurance Required," 
B.R.C. 1981, is required for a license under this chapter. 

(d) Costs of Inspection and Clean-Up. In the event the city incurs costs in the inspection, 
clean-up, surrender of plants, or any other requirements to remove marijuana of any recreational 
marijuana business, or any person cultivating, producing, distributing or possessing marijuana, 
the business and responsible person shall reimburse the city all actual costs incurred by the city 
for such inspection or clean-up. 

(e) Decisions on Application or Revocation Final. The decision of the city manager on an 
application for a recreational marijuana business license or revocation thereof pursuant to this 
chapter shall be the final decision of the city subject only to judicial review pursuant to Colorado 
Rule of Civil Procedure 106(a)(4), unless the notice of the decision includes an opportunity for a 
hearing as provided in Section 1-3-3 of this code. No defense or objection may be presented for 
judicial review unless it is first presented to the city manager prior to the effective date of the 
decision. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 26Packet Page     468

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm#section4_1_8�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter1-3.htm#section1_3_3�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(f) Forfeiture of License.  In the event that a recreational marijuana business does not 
commence operations within 30 days of issuance of a license from the city, the license shall be 
deemed forfeited, and the business may not commence operations. 

(g) Landlord Duty. It shall be unlawful for the owner of a building to lease space or allow the 
use of any portion of the building by a recreational marijuana business unless the tenant has a 
valid recreational marijuana business license or has applied for and not been denied a 
recreational marijuana business license or no marijuana is located on the premises until a license 
has been issued by the city. In the event that the city has an articulable reason to believe that a 
recreational marijuana business is being operated in a building, it shall be unlawful for the owner 
of the building to refuse to allow the city access to the portion of the building in which the 
suspected recreational marijuana business is located to determine whether any marijuana is on 
the premises.  

(h) Time Periods for Accepting Applications for Recreational Marijuana Businesses.   

(i) No applications for conversion of a medical marijuana business to a recreational 
marijuana business shall be accepted before June 1, 2014. 

 (ii) No applications for a new recreational marijuana business (that is not a 
conversion from a medical marijuana business for which the application was submitted 
before October 1, 2013) shall be accepted before October 1, 2014.   

6-16-5 Application. 

(a) Application Requirements. An application for a recreational marijuana business license 
shall be made to the city on forms provided by the city manager for that purpose. The applicant 
shall use the application to demonstrate its compliance with this chapter and any other applicable 
law, rule or regulation. In addition to the information required by Chapter 4-1, "General 
Licensing Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, the application shall include the following information: 

(1) Name and address of the owner or owners of the recreational marijuana business 
in whose name the license is proposed to be issued. 

A. If an owner is a corporation, the name and address of any officer or 
director of the corporation and of any person holding issued and 
outstanding capital stock of the corporation. 

B. If an owner is a partnership, association or company, the name and address 
of any person holding an interest therein and the managing members. If a 
managing member is an entity rather than an individual, the same 
disclosure shall be required for each entity with an ownership interest until 
a managing member that is a natural person is identified. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 27Packet Page     469

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

C. If an owner is not a natural person, the organizational documents for all 
entities identified in the application, identification of the natural person 
that is authorized to speak for the entity and contact information for that 
person. 

(2) Name and address of: 

A. Any business managers of the recreational marijuana business, if the 
business manager is proposed to be someone other than the owner; 

B. All financiers of the recreational marijuana business; and 

C. All agents of the recreational marijuana business who either (I) act with 
managerial authority, (II) provide advice to the recreational marijuana 
business for compensation, or (III) receive periodic compensation totaling 
$1,000 or more in a single year for services related to the recreational 
marijuana business.  It shall be an affirmative defense that the undisclosed 
person was an attorney, accountant, bookkeeper,  mail delivery person, or 
other contractor performing services for the business that are unrelated to 
the cultivation, production, or distribution of recreational marijuana. 

(3) A statement of whether or not any of the named owners, members, business 
managers, financiers, or persons named on the application have been: 

A.  Denied an application for a marijuana business license pursuant to this 
chapter, Chapter 6-14 of this code, or any similar state or local licensing 
law, rule or regulation, or had such a license suspended or revoked. 

B.  Denied an application for a liquor license pursuant to Title 12, Article 47 
or Article 46, C.R.S., or any similar state or local licensing law, or had 
such a license suspended or revoked. 

C. Violated any law, other than a traffic offense, or completed any portion of 
a sentence due to a violation of any law. 

D.  Convicted of driving or operating other machinery under the influence of 
alcohol, drugs or medication, driving while impaired or driving with 
excessive alcohol content in violation of § 42-4-1301, C.R.S., or any 
comparable law, or a misdemeanor related to abuse of alcohol or a 
controlled substance. 

(4) Proof of ownership or legal possession of the restricted area for a recreational 
marijuana business for the term of the proposed license.  If the recreational 
marijuana business is not the owner of the premises of the business, the applicant 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 28Packet Page     470



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

shall provide written authorization to the city from the owner to enter the property 
for inspection of the premises on a form approved by the city.   

(5) Proof of insurance as provided in Section 4-1-8, "Insurance Required," B.R.C. 
1981. 

(6) An operating plan for the proposed recreational marijuana business, including the 
following information: 

A. A description of the products and services to be provided by the 
recreational marijuana business. 

B. A dimensioned floor plan, clearly labeled, showing: 

(i) The layout of the structure and the floor plan in which the 
recreational marijuana business is to be located; 

(ii) The principal uses of the floor area depicted on the floor plan, 
including but not limited to the areas where underage persons will 
be permitted, private consulting areas, storage areas, retail areas, 
and restricted areas where recreational marijuana will be located; 

(iii) Areas where any services other than the distribution of recreational 
marijuana are proposed to occur in the premises; and 

(iv) The separation of the areas that are open to persons who are 
underage from those areas open to persons qualified to use 
marijuana. 

C. A neighborhood responsibility plan that demonstrates how the business 
will fulfill its responsibilities to the neighborhood, including neighborhood 
outreach, methods for future communication and dispute resolution. 

D. For cultivation facilities and recreational marijuana-infused product 
manufacturers, a plan that specifies the methods to be used to prevent the 
growth of harmful mold and compliance with limitations on discharge into 
the wastewater system of the city as set forth in Chapter 11-3, "Industrial 
and Prohibited Discharges," B.R.C. 1981. 

E. For a recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer or a 
recreational marijuana testing facility, a plan that specifies all means to be 
used for extraction, heating, washing, or otherwise changing the form of 
the recreational marijuana plant, or testing any marijuana, and verification 
of compliance with all applicable laws for ventilation and safety measures 
for each process.  The city shall require the recreational marijuana 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 29Packet Page     471

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-1.htm#section4_1_8�
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter11-3.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

business to obtain a report from an industrial hygienist to verify that the 
plan submitted, and the improvements to be constructed, adequately 
protect the business and adjacent properties and persons and comply with 
all applicable laws. 

F. The maximum amount of marijuana or marijuana-infused products that 
may be on the business premises.   

(7) A security plan indicating how the applicant will comply with the requirements of 
this chapter and any other applicable law, rule or regulation. The security plan 
includes specialized details of security arrangements and will be protected from 
disclosure as provided under the Colorado Open Records Act, § 24-72-
203(2)(a)(VIII), C.R.S. If the city finds that such documents are subject to 
inspection, it will attempt to provide at least twenty-four-hour notice to the 
applicant prior to such disclosure. 

(8) A lighting plan showing the lighting outside of the recreational marijuana 
business for security purposes and compliance with applicable city requirements. 

(9) A zoning confirmation form from the city, to ascertain within a radius of one-
quarter mile from the boundaries of the property upon which the recreational 
marijuana business is located, the proximity of the property to any school or other 
facility identified in this chapter, or state licensed child care center, to any other 
marijuana business or to any residential zone district or a mixed-use development 
containing one or more residences.  

(10) Fingerprints and personal histories as may be specified on forms provided by the 
city manager. This requirement shall apply to all owners, business managers, and 
financiers employed by or under contract to provide services to the recreational 
marijuana business, including all individuals who have an interest as described 
herein of any portion of the recreational marijuana business, directly or as an 
agent, or a member, partner or officer of a corporation, partnership, association or 
company, and the reports from the Colorado and Federal Bureaus of Investigation 
for each person. 

(11) A plan for disposal of any recreational marijuana or recreational marijuana-
infused product that is not sold in a manner that protects any portion thereof from 
being possessed or ingested by any person or animal. 

(12) A plan for ventilation of the recreational marijuana business that describes the 
ventilation systems that will be used to prevent any odor of recreational marijuana 
off the premises of the business. For recreational marijuana businesses that grow 
recreational marijuana plants, such plan shall also include all ventilation systems 
used to control the environment for the plants and describe how such systems 
operate with the systems preventing any odor leaving the premises.  For 
recreational marijuana businesses that produce recreational marijuana infused 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 30Packet Page     472



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

products, such plan shall also include all ventilation systems used to mitigate 
noxious gases or other fumes used or created as part of the production process.   

(13) A description of all toxic, flammable or other materials regulated by a federal, 
state or local government that would have authority over the business if it was not 
a marijuana business, that will be used, kept, or created at the recreational 
marijuana business, the location of such materials and how such materials will be 
stored. 

(14) A description of the process(es) used to extract or distill marijuana from its source 
and the process used to incorporate marijuana into all products produced, 
including verifying compliance of all processes regulated by a federal state or 
local government that would have authority over the business if it was not a 
marijuana business. 

(15) A statement of the amount of the projected daily average and peak electric load 
anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the landlord and 
utility provider that the premises are equipped to provide the required electric 
load, or necessary upgrades will be performed prior to final inspection of the 
premises. 

(16) For applications for a recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer, the 
location of the cultivation facility which will supply the marijuana for processing 
in the city owned by the licensee. 

(b) Evidence of Rehabilitation May Be Submitted. In the event the history of an owner, 
member, business manager, financier, or other person named on the application contains 
information regarding violations of any law, or previous denial or revocation of a license, that 
person may include with the license application any information regarding such violation, denial 
or revocation. Such information may include, but is not limited to, evidence of rehabilitation, 
character references and educational achievements, and other regulatory licenses held without 
compliance violations, especially those items pertaining to the period of time between the 
applicant's last violation of any law and the date of the application. 

(c) Fee Required. Unless the state has forwarded the application fee pursuant to Colorado 
Constitution art. XVIII, § 16(5)(g)(II) to the city, the applicant shall submit the  application fee 
set forth in Section 4-20-67, B.R.C., 1981 to the city.  In addition to the application fee, in the 
event a recreational marijuana business license application is approved by the city, such license 
shall not be issued until the applicant has provided the license fee for the first year of the license 
in the amount required by Section 4-20-67,  B.R.C. 1981, and any other applicable fees. 

(d) Inspection. An inspection of the proposed recreational marijuana business by the city 
shall be required prior to issuance of a license. Such inspection shall occur after the premises are 
ready for operation, but prior to the stocking of the business with any recreational marijuana, and 
prior to the opening of the business to the public. The inspection is to verify that the business 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 31Packet Page     473

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-20.htm#section4_20_64�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

facilities are constructed and can be operated in accordance with the application submitted and 
the applicable requirements of the code and any other applicable law, rule or regulation. 

(e) Complete Application. For purposes of this chapter an application shall not be considered 
complete until the city manager has (i) determined that all requirements of the application have 
been provided to the city, (ii) received the reports from the fingerprint cards of each person 
required to submit such cards from the Colorado and Federal Bureaus of Investigation,   (iii) 
received the local share of $2,500 for the application fee from the state and (iv) obtained all other 
information the city manager determines necessary to make a decision whether to approve or 
deny the license application, or approve it with conditions.   

(f) Approval Requirements. The city manager may issue a recreational marijuana business 
license if the inspection, background checks and all other information available to the city verify 
that the applicant has submitted a full and complete application, has made improvements to the 
business location consistent with the application, is prepared to operate the business with other 
owners and managers as set forth in the application, and has submitted the annual operating fee, 
all in compliance with this Code and any other applicable law, rule or regulation. The city 
manager will deny any application that does not meet the requirements of this chapter or any 
other applicable law, rule or regulation or that contains any false or incomplete information. The 
conditions of an approval of a recreational marijuana business license shall include, at a 
minimum, operation of the business in compliance with all of the plans and information made 
part of the application. 

6-16-6 Persons Prohibited as Licensees and Business Managers. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any of the following persons to have an ownership or a financial 
interest in a recreational marijuana business, and no license provided by this chapter shall be 
issued to or held by, and no recreational marijuana business shall be managed by: 

(1) Any person until the annual fee for the license has been paid; 

(2) Any person not of good moral character; 

(3) Any corporation, any of whose officers, directors or stockholders are not of good 
moral character; 

(4) Any partnership, association or company, any of whose officers or members 
holding an interest therein, or a managing member, are not of good moral 
character; 

(5) Any person employing, assisted by or financed in whole or in part by any other 
person who is not of good moral character; 

(6) Any person, unless such person's character, record and reputation are satisfactory 
to the city manager; 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 32Packet Page     474



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(7) Any natural person who is under twenty-one years of age;  

(8) Any person who operates or manages a recreational marijuana business contrary 
to the provisions of this chapter, any other applicable law, rule or regulation, or 
conditions imposed on land use or license approvals, or contrary to the terms of 
the plans submitted with the license application, as such plans may be amended as 
provided in this chapter, or has operated a business in violation of any law; 

(9) Any person applying for a license to operate a recreational marijuana center who 
has been licensed to operate another recreational marijuana center in the city 
pursuant to this chapter; 

(10) Any person applying for a license to operate a marijuana-infused product 
manufacturer facility who has been licensed to operate another marijuana-infused 
product manufacturer facility in the city pursuant to this chapter;  

(110) A person licensed pursuant to this article who, during a period of licensure, or 
who, at the time of application, has failed to remedy an outstanding delinquency 
for taxes owed, or an outstanding delinquency for judgments owed to a 
government; 

(121) A sheriff, deputy, police officer, or prosecuting officer, or an officer or employee 
of the state licensing authority or a local licensing authority; 

(132) A person whose authority to be a primary caregiver as defined in § 25-1.5-106(2), 
C.R.S. has been revoked by the state health agency;  

(13314) A person that is a licensee for the application location that is currently 
licensed as a retail food establishment or a wholesale food registrant.  

(b) In making the evaluation of the good moral character of an individual identified on an 
application or amendment thereof, the city manager shall consider the following: 

(1) An applicant’s violation of a law shall not, by itself, be grounds for denying an 
application; 

(2) Verification of, or lack of ability to verify, items disclosed by the individual; 

(3) When an individual has a history of violation of any law, or a history including 
denial, revocation or suspension of a license, the types and dates of violations; the 
evidence of rehabilitation, if any, submitted by the individual; whether the 
violations of any laws are related to moral turpitude, substance abuse or other 
violations of any laws that may directly affect the individual's ability to operate a 
recreational marijuana business; or whether the violations of any law are 
unrelated to the individual's ability to operate such a business; 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 33Packet Page     475



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(4) The evidence or lack of evidence regarding the ability of the individual to refrain 
from being under the influence of intoxicating or controlled substances while 
performing regular tasks and operating a recreational marijuana business; 

(5) Rules adopted by the city manager to implement this chapter; 

(6) Law, rules and regulations applicable to evaluation of other types of licenses 
issued by governments that consider the good moral character of the applicants; 
and 

(7) Any additional information the city manager may request of the individual if the 
individual has a violation of any laws, evidence of substance abuse issue, or items 
disclosed by the individual which require additional information in order for the 
city manager to make a determination regarding issuance of the license. 

6-16-7 Locations of Recreational Marijuana Businesses. 

(a) Fixed Location Required. It shall be unlawful to operate a recreational marijuana 
business or to grow recreational marijuana outside of a locked enclosed space within a building. 
All recreational marijuana business licenses shall be issued for a specific fixed location within an 
enclosed building. The portion of such premises upon which the floor plan shows recreational 
marijuana may be produced, dispensed or possessed shall be considered the "restricted area" 
portion of the business premises. 

(b) Location – Permitted Use in Zoning District. A recreational marijuana business license 
may be issued only if the business qualifies as a use permitted as a matter of right in the zone 
district where it is proposed to be located as follows: 

(1) as "personal service” for a recreational marijuana center; or 

(2) as "greenhouse/nursery" for a cultivation facility; or  

(3) as "manufacturing ≤15,000 square feet" for a cultivation facility or for a 
recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer. 

(c) No Recreational Marijuana Business in Building with Residences or Residential Zone 
Districts.  It shall be unlawful to operate a recreational marijuana business in a building which 
contains a residence, or within a dwelling unit within any zone district, or within a residential 
zone district or on the premises of a development within a mixed-use zone district that includes a 
residence, as such districts are described in Table 5-1 of Section 9-5-2, "Zoning Districts," 
B.R.C., 1981.  

(d) No Retail Sales in Cultivation Facilities or Manufacturing. It shall be unlawful for any 
person to permit retail sales within a recreational marijuana business that is not a licensed 
recreational marijuana center. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 34Packet Page     476

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-5.htm#section9_5_2�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(e)   Separation From Schools and Other Facilities. No recreational marijuana business 
license shall be issued for the following locations: 

(1) Within 1,000 feet of any public or private elementary, vocational, secondary 
school, or a college, university, or a state licensed day care center. Distances shall 
be measured by the city on official maps as the radius from the closest points on 
the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest point of the property of the 
school or named facility.  

(2) Within 500 feet of three other marijuana businesses. 

A. Distances shall be measured by the city on official maps as the radius from 
the closet points on the perimeter of the applicant's property to the closest 
point of the property of any other recreational marijuana business. 

B. To determine the proximity to other recreational marijuana businesses and 
the priority of applications, businesses shall have priority in the following 
order: 

(i) Licensed medical marijuana businesses;  

(ii) Marijuana establishment;  

(iii) Businesses for either medical or recreational business whose 
applications have been approved but licenses not yet issued;  

(iv) Applications for medical or recreational marijuana business 
licenses that have been submitted by the applicant and declared 
complete by the city; 

(v) No other applications shall be considered "businesses" for this 
determination. 

C. Businesses that convert from a medical marijuana business pursuant to 
section 3(f) of this chapter are not subject to this limitation.  This 
exception is not transferrable. 

(3) On the street level of the mall or the university hill commercial area.   

(f) Limitations on Dual Licenses. A recreational marijuana business license may not be 
issued for any location which also is a part of the restricted area of a business holding a 
beverages license pursuant to Section 4-2-3, "Authority to Issue City Licenses," B.R.C. 1981 or a 
marijuana business license under this chapter or Chapter 6-14 "Medical Marijuana." 

(g) Limitations on Recreational Marijuana Centers. The following shall be the minimum 
requirements for a recreational marijuana center: 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 35Packet Page     477

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter4-2.htm#section4_2_3�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(1) The area of the business is ≤3,000 square feet, and the restricted area components 
of the required security and all paper and electronic records are 1,000 square feet 
or less; 

(2) The business does not sell or distribute anything other than marijuana and 
marijuana products or marijuana accessories; 

(3) There is a separate reception area for verification of age. 

(h) Limitations on Recreational Marijuana-Infused Product Manufacturers.  No recreational 
marijuana-infused product manufacturer shall be allowed in the city unless the same licensee has 
a recreational marijuana cultivation facility that provides at least 70% of the marijuana used by 
the manufacturer located in the city. 

6-16-8 Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses. 

(a) Onsite Use Prohibited. No marijuana shall be smoked, eaten or otherwise consumed or 
ingested within the recreational marijuana business. 

(b) Restriction on Access to Restricted Area. No person under twenty-one years of age shall 
be in the business premisesrestricted area.  No person shall be allowed entry into the business 
premises restricted area without showing a valid picture identificationID.  The business shall 
have an electronic scanner able approved by the police department to verify the legitimacy of the 
identification and maintain records for enforcement, as approved by the city managerID. 

(c) Display of Licenses Required. The name and contact information for the owner or owners 
and any business manager of the recreational marijuana business, the recreational marijuana 
business license and the sales tax business license shall be conspicuously posted in the business. 

(d) Business Conducted Within Building. Any and all cultivation, production, distribution, 
possession, storage, display, sales or other distribution of marijuana shall occur only within the 
restricted area of a recreational marijuana business and shall not be visible from the exterior of 
the business. 

(e) Owner or Business Manager Required on Premises. No recreational marijuana business 
shall be managed by any person other than the licensee or the business manager listed on the 
application for the license or a renewal thereof. Such licensee or business manager shall be on 
the premises and responsible for all activities within the licensed business during all times when 
the business is open or in the possession of another person. In the event the licensee intends to 
employ a business manager that was not identified on the license or renewal application, the 
licensee shall report the name of such business manager to the city, and such business manager 
shall submit to the city, at least thirty days prior to commencing serving as the business manager, 
an application containing all of the information required by this chapter and on the license 
application. Such licensee shall report to the city any change in business managers at least thirty 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 36Packet Page     478



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

days prior to employing an additional business manager, and no more than five days after a 
business manager is released from such position. 

(f) Hours of Operation. A recreational marijuana center shall be closed to the public, and no 
sale, or other distribution of marijuana shall occur upon the premises or via delivery from the 
premises, between the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. 

(g) Use of Pesticides. No pesticides or insecticides which are prohibited by applicable law 
for fertilization or production of edible produce shall be used on any marijuana cultivated, 
produced, or distributed by a recreational marijuana business. A recreational marijuana business 
shall comply with all applicable law regarding use of pesticides including without limitation, 
Chapter 6-10, "Pesticide Use," B.R.C. 1981. 

(h) Ventilation Required. A recreational marijuana business shall be ventilated so that the 
odor of marijuana cannot be detected by a person with a normal sense of smell at the exterior of 
the recreational marijuana business or at any adjoining use or property. 

(i) Renewable Energy Usage Required. A recreational marijuana cultivation facility shall 
directly offset 100% of its electricity consumption through the purchase of renewable energy in 
the form of Windsource, a verified subscription in a Community Solar Garden or renewable 
energy generated onsite, or an equivalent that is subject to approval by the city. 

(j) Limitations on Inventory. The recreational marijuana business shall not maintain any 
more marijuana within the premises than the amount stated on the business’ license application 
to the state and city.  No plants shall be located in a recreational marijuana center or a 
recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer. In addition, the establishment shall not 
maintain any more marijuana within the restricted area than: 

Cultivation facility:  1,000 plants  

MIP: 600 pounds of marijuana that has not been incorporated into a product and  
150 pounds of recreational marijuana infused products. 

 
Testing facility:  100 pounds of raw marijuana and  

100 pounds of marijuana infused product  

(k) Reporting Requirements. A recreational marijuana business shall report to the 
recreational marijuana licensing authority each of the following within the time specified.  If no 
time is specified, the report shall be provided within 72 hours of the event. 

(1) transfer or change of financial interest, business manager, or financier in the 
license to the city at least thirty days before the transfer or change.  

(2) sales and taxable transactions and file sales and use tax reports to the city 
monthly. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 37Packet Page     479

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter6-10.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(3)  a violation of any law by any licensee or applicant of a recreational marijuana 
business. 

(4)  a notice of potential violation of any law related to the  licensee. 

(5)  any report that the recreational marijuana business is required to provide to the 
state. 

(6)  reports of all criminal activities or attempts of violation of any law at the 
recreational marijuana business or related thereto shall be reported to the Boulder 
Police Department within 12 hours of occurrence. 

(l) No Sales Except Directly to User; No Deliveries.   All sales of recreational marijuana 
shall be made in person in the restricted area of a recreational marijuana center.  All sales shall 
be in person, directly to the purchaser.  No sales shall be made via telephone, internet or other 
means of remote purchase.  Deliveries shall occur only in person to the purchaser at the time of 
purchase in the restricted area of a recreational marijuana center.  

(m) Delivery Between Recreational Marijuana Businesses. It shall be unlawful for any person 
to transport recreational marijuana, except as specifically allowed by applicable law, unless the 
recreational marijuana being transported meets the following requirements: 

(1) All recreational marijuana-infused products are hand-packaged, sealed and 
labeled as provided in this chapter and the products stored in closed containers 
that are labeled as provided in this section. 

(2) All recreational marijuana in a usable form is packaged and stored in closed 
containers that are labeled as provided in this section. 

(3) Each container used to transport recreational marijuana is labeled with the amount 
of recreational marijuana or recreational marijuana-infused products, or the 
number and size of the plants, in the container. The label shall include the name 
and address of the recreational marijuana business that the recreational marijuana 
is being transported from and the name and address of the recreational marijuana 
business that the recreational marijuana is being transported to. The label shall be 
shown to any law enforcement officer that requests to see the label. 

(4) Unless otherwise specifically allowed by applicable law, recreational marijuana 
may be transported with proper bill of sale completed before transport only: 

(A) From a cultivation facility to a recreational marijuana center or 
recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer, and which 
recreational marijuana business is owned by the same person as owns the 
cultivation facility; or 

(B) Between one recreational marijuana center to another center; or 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 38Packet Page     480



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(C) Between a recreational marijuana infused product manufacturer and a 
recreational marijuana center. 

(5) The recreational marijuana must be accompanied by the manifest and 
confirmation e-mail from the state in accordance with state requirements for 
transportation of recreational marijuana.    

(6) The recreational marijuana must be accompanied by the e-mail receipt 
confirmation from the Boulder Police Department in accordance with the rules 
therefore established by the police department. 

(7) When determining and reporting the route for delivery, licensees should select the 
most direct route that provides efficiency and safety.  

(8) Transport may occur only during the hours allowed for operation of the center. 

(n) Disposal of Recreational Marijuana and Marijuana Byproducts. All recreational 
marijuana and any product containing a usable form of marijuana must be made unusable and 
unrecognizable prior to removal from the business in compliance with all applicable laws.  This 
provision shall not apply to licensed law enforcement, including without limitation the Boulder 
Police Department and the Boulder Fire Department. 

(o) Possession of Mature Flowering Plants. No more than one-half of the recreational 
marijuana plants within a recreational marijuana business may be mature, flowering plants. 

(p) Advertisement. A recreational marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
misleading, deceptive, false or is designed to appeal to minors.   The following conditions shall 
apply:  

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection (1), it shall be unlawful for any 
person licensed under this article or any other person to advertise any recreational 
marijuana or recreational marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where 
the advertisement is in plain view of, or in, a place open to the general public, 
including advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other 
outdoor general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign 
mounted on a vehicle, any hand-held or other portable sign; or any handbill, 
leaflet or flier directly handed to any person in a public place, left upon a motor 
vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property.  The prohibition set forth 
in this paragraph (1) shall not apply to: 

A. Any sign located on the same zone lot as a recreational marijuana center 
which exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the 
recreational marijuana center and which otherwise complies with this 
Code and any other applicable city laws and regulations; or 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 39Packet Page     481



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

B.  Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 
periodical of general circulation within the city or on the internet; or 

C.  Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 
by a recreational marijuana center or a recreational marijuana-infused 
products manufacturer. 

(2) It is an affirmative defense if a recreational marijuana business employee 
provided another individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of 
providing that person’s name and business affiliation, including without 
restriction title, mailing address, email address, and telephone number.  

(q) The owner or a business manager of a recreational marijuana business is required to 
respond by phone or email within 24 hours of contact by a city official concerning its 
recreational marijuana business at the phone number or e-mail address provided to the city as the 
contact for the business.  Each 24 hour period during which an owner or manager does not 
respond to the city official shall be considered a separate violation. 

(r) Separation of Cultivation Facility and Recreational Marijuana-Infused Product 
Manufacturer.  A cultivation facility and manufacturer are separate marijuana businesses 
requiring separate licenses and separate premises.  In addition to all other application 
requirements for separate premises, each business shall  

(1)  have separate operations, ventilation, security, and fire suppression systems, and 
separate access from a public area; and  

(2)  be divided within a building from floor to roof.  Unless higher performance is 
required by applicable law, there must be a minimum of a one-hour fire separation 
between a recreational marijuana business and any adjacent business; 

(3)  obtain delivery documents and manifests for movement of any marijuana between 
the cultivation facility and the manufacturer.   

(s)   Additional Requirements for Testing or Production of Recreational Marijuana.   

(1)  No recreational marijuana business may use metals, butane, propane, or other 
solvent or flammable product, or produce flammable vapors to process marijuana 
unless the process used and the premises are verified as safe and in compliance 
with all applicable codes by a qualified industrial hygienist.   

(2)  The city shall require the business to obtain verification from a qualified industrial 
hygienist that the manner in which the business is producing recreational 
marijuana complies with all applicable laws and does not produce noxious or 
dangerous gases or odors or otherwise create a danger to any person or entity in or 
near the businesses.   

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 40Packet Page     482



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(t) Packaging at a Recreational Marijuana Center.  Provided that recreational marijuana has 
been delivered to a recreational marijuana center from a cultivation facility packaged and labeled 
as provided in this chapter, employees at a recreational marijuana center may package and label 
any marijuana that results from the sale of recreational marijuana in amounts less than as 
packaged for delivery to the center. 

(u) Packaging of Marijuana-Infused Product.  Unless the actual amount of marijuana in a 
marijuana-infused product is contained on the label of the packaged product, any product over 
one ounce shall be presumed to have more than one ounce of marijuana in the product.  

(v) Scanner for proof of age.  The business shall verify the proof of age of every person 
entering the business with an electronic ID scanner.  An “electronic ID scanner” is a device that 
is capable of quickly and reliably confirming the validity of an identification using computer 
processes that contains all of the components approved by the city manager. 

6-16-9 Right of Entry – Records to be Maintained. 

(a)  Records to Be Maintained. Each licensee shall keep a complete set of books of account, 
invoices, copies of orders and sales, shipping instructions, bills of lading, weigh bills, 
correspondence, bank statements including cancelled checks and deposit slips and all other 
records necessary to show fully the business transactions of such licensee. Receipts shall be 
maintained in a computer program or by pre-numbered receipts and use for each sale. The 
records of the business shall clearly track recreational marijuana product inventory purchased 
and sales and disposal thereof to clearly track revenue from sales of any recreational marijuana 
from other paraphernalia or services offered by the recreational marijuana business. The licensee 
shall also maintain inventory records evidencing that no more recreational marijuana was within 
the recreational marijuana business than allowed by applicable law. All such records shall be 
open at all times during business hours for the inspection and examination of the city or its duly 
authorized representatives. The city may require any licensee to furnish such information as it 
considers necessary for the proper administration of this chapter. The records shall clearly show 
the source, amount, price and dates of all marijuana received or purchased, and the amount, 
price, and dates for all recreational marijuana sold. 

(b)  Separate Bank Accounts. The revenues and expenses of the recreational marijuana 
business shall not be commingled in a checking account or any other bank account with any 
other business or individual person's deposits or disbursements. 

(c)  Disclosure of Records. By applying for a recreational marijuana business license, the 
licensee is providing consent to disclose the information required by this chapter. Any document 
that the applicant considers eligible for protection under the Colorado Open Records Act shall be 
clearly marked as confidential, and the reasons for such confidentiality shall be stated on the 
document. In the event that the licensee does appropriately submit documents so as not to be 
disclosed under the Colorado Open Records Act, the city shall not disclose it to other parties who 
are not agents of the city, except law enforcement agencies. If the city finds that such documents 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 41Packet Page     483



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

are subject to inspection, it will attempt to provide at least twenty-four-hour notice to the 
applicant prior to such disclosure. 

(d)  Audits. The city may require an audit to be made of the books of account and records of a 
recreational marijuana business on such occasions as it may consider necessary. Such audit may 
be made by an auditor to be selected by the city that shall likewise have access to all books and 
records of the recreational marijuana business. The expense of any audit determined necessary 
by the city shall be paid by the recreational marijuana business.  

(e)  Consent to Inspection.  Application for a recreational marijuana business license or 
operation of a recreational marijuana business, or leasing property to a recreational marijuana 
business constitutes consent by the applicant, and all owners, managers and employees of the 
business, and the owner of the property to permit the city manager to conduct routine inspections 
of the recreational marijuana business to ensure compliance with this chapter or any other 
applicable law, rule or regulation.  The owner or business manager on duty shall retrieve and 
provide the records of the business pertaining to the inspection, including the security tapes from 
the cameras required by the security plan.  For purposes of Rule 241 of the Colorado Rules of 
Municipal Procedure and Section 2-6-3(e) of this Code, inspections of recreational marijuana 
businesses and recordings from security cameras in such businesses are part of the routine policy 
of inspection and enforcement of this chapter for the purpose of protecting the public safety, 
individuals operating and using the services of the recreational marijuana business, and the 
adjoining properties and neighborhood, as provided in Section 6-14-1.  Application for a 
recreational marijuana business license constitutes consent to inspection of the business as a 
public premise without a search warrant, and consent to seizure of any surveillance records, 
camera recordings, reports or other materials required as a condition of a recreational marijuana 
license without a search warrant.   

(f) Reporting of Source, Quantity and Sales.  The records to be maintained by each 
recreational marijuana business shall include the source and quantity of any marijuana 
distributed, produced or possessed within the premises.  Such reports shall include, without 
limitation, for both acquisitions from wholesalers and retail sales transactions, the following: 

 (1)  Date, weight, type of marijuana and dollar amount or other consideration of 
transaction; and 

 (2) For wholesale transactions, the Colorado, and city if any, sales and use tax license 
number of the seller; and 

 (3)  The amount of marijuana within the restricted area. 

(g) Reporting of Energy Use and Renewable Energy Credit (REC) Purchases.  The records to 
be maintained by each recreational marijuana business shall include without limitation records 
showing on a monthly basis the use and source of energy and the number of certified Renewable 
Energy Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another renewable energy 
acquisition program approved by the city manager.  A statement of the projected daily average 
peak electric load anticipated to be used by the business and certification from the building 
owner or landlord and utility provider that the premises are equipped to provide the required 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 42Packet Page     484



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

electric load, or necessary upgrades will be performed.  Such records shall include all statements, 
reports or receipts to verify the items included in the report of the business.  By application for a 
recreational marijuana business license from the city, the recreational marijuana business grants 
permission to providers of the energy or point of origin of the RECs or other renewable energy 
acquisition program to disclose the records of the business to the city.   For recreational 
marijuana business that cultivate recreational marijuana the report shall include the number of 
certified Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) purchased, or the subscription level for another 
renewable energy acquisition program approved by the city manager.   

6-16-10 Requirements Related to Monitoring and Security of Restricted Areas and 
Inventory. 

All components of the security plan submitted with the application, as it may be amended, shall 
be in good working order, monitored and secured 24-hours per day.  A separate security system 
is required for each business.  The security plan must include, at a minimum, the following 
security measures: 

(a) Cameras.  The recreational marijuana business shall install and use security cameras to 
monitor and record all areas of the premises (except in restrooms), and where persons may gain 
or attempt to gain access to marijuana or cash maintained by the recreational marijuana business.  
Cameras shall record operations of the business to the off-site location, as well as all potential 
areas of ingress or egress to the business with sufficient detail to identify facial features and 
clothing.  Recordings from security cameras shall be maintained for a minimum of forty days in 
a secure off-site location in the city or through a service over a network that provides on-demand 
access, commonly referred to as a “cloud.”  The off-site location shall be included in the security 
plan submitted to the city and provided to the Boulder Police Department upon request, and 
updated within 72 hours of any change of such location.  

(b)  Use of Safe for Storage.  The recreational marijuana business shall install and use a safe 
for storage of any processed marijuana and cash on the premises when the business is closed to 
the public.  The safe shall be incorporated into the building structure or securely attached thereto.  
For recreational marijuana infused products that must be kept refrigerated or frozen, the business 
may lock the refrigerated container or freezer in a manner authorized by the city in place of use 
of a safe so long as the container is affixed to the building structure.   

(c)  Alarm System.  The recreational marijuana business shall install and use an alarm system 
that is monitored by a company that is staffed twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a 
week.  The security plan submitted to the city shall identify the company monitoring the alarm, 
including contact information, and updated within 72 hours of any change of monitoring 
company.  

6-16-11 Requirements for Public Health and Labeling. 

(a) Recreational Marijuana-Infused Products. The production of any recreational marijuana-
infused product shall be at a recreational marijuana-infused product manufacturer that meets all 
requirements of a retail food establishment as set forth in § 25-4-1601, et seq., C.R.S., the Food 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 43Packet Page     485



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

Protection Act. The production of any product containing recreational marijuana shall comply 
with all health and safety standards thereof. The licensee shall comply with all applicable state 
and local health regulations related to the production, preparation, labeling and sale of prepared 
food items as if the recreational marijuana infused products were food items. 

(b) Labeling and Packaging Requirements. All recreational marijuana sold or otherwise 
distributed by the licensee shall be packaged and labeled in a manner that advises the purchaser 
that it contains marijuana and specifies the amount of marijuana in the product, and that the 
marijuana is intended for use solely by a person lawfully possessing recreational marijuana. The 
label shall be in compliance with all applicable requirements of the state. 

(c)  The product shall be packaged in a sealed container that cannot be opened without 
obvious damage to the packaging. 

6-16-12 Compliance with Other Applicable Law. 

(a)  Application of State Law. Except as may be provided otherwise in this chapter, or rules 
adopted pursuant to this chapter or interpretations by the city, any law or regulation adopted by 
the state governing the cultivation, production, possession or distribution of marijuana for 
recreational use shall also apply to recreational marijuana businesses in the city. Provided 
however, if a state law or regulation permits what this chapter prohibits, this chapter shall 
prevail. Compliance with any applicable state law or regulation that does not permit what this 
chapter prohibits shall be deemed an additional requirement for issuance or denial of any license 
under this chapter, and noncompliance with any applicable state law or regulation is unlawful 
and shall be grounds for revocation or suspension of any license issued under this chapter. No 
recreational marijuana business shall continue operations in violation of an additional state law 
or regulation, which does not permit what this chapter prohibits, applicable within the city after 
the effective date of the state law or regulation. 

(b)  Revocation of License Upon Denial or Revocation of State License or Applicable Federal 
Prohibition. If the state prohibits the cultivation, production, possession or other distribution of 
marijuana through recreational marijuana businesses, or if a recreational marijuana business is 
denied a recreational marijuana business license or has such license revoked pursuant to § 12-
43.3-101, et seq., C.R.S. or if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the federal 
government's prohibition of the cultivation, production, possession or other distribution of 
marijuana through recreational marijuana businesses supersedes state law, any license issued 
pursuant to this chapter shall be deemed to be immediately revoked by operation of law, with no 
ground for appeal or other redress on behalf of the licensee. 

(c)   Revocable Privilege.  A recreational marijuana business license is a revocable privilege, 
and no applicant therefore or holder thereof shall be deemed to have acquired any property 
interest therein. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 44Packet Page     486



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

6-16-13 Prohibited Acts. 

(a)  Prohibited Acts. It shall be unlawful for any person to:   

(1)  Cultivate, distribution, possess, produce, smoke, use or ingest marijuana in plain 
view of, or in a place open to the general public.  

(2)  Smoke, use or ingest on the premises of the recreational marijuana business (1) 
marijuana, (2) fermented malt beverage, (3) malt, vinous and spirituous liquor,  or 
(4) a controlled substance, except in compliance with the directions on a legal 
prescription for the person from a doctor with prescription writing privileges. 

(3)  Operate or be in physical control of any recreational marijuana business, liquor 
establishment, vehicle, aircraft or motorboat while under the influence of alcohol 
or marijuana, or other intoxicant. 

(4)  Possess more than six marijuana plants without a recreational marijuana business 
license for a cultivation facility.  

(5)  Possess more than one ounce of a usable form of marijuana without a recreational 
marijuana business license for a center or a recreational marijuana-infused 
product manufacturer.    

(6)  Obtain marijuana for remuneration from a person who is not licensed as a 
recreational marijuana business. 

(7)  Possess or operate a recreational marijuana business in violation of this chapter. 

(8)  Produce, distribute or possess more marijuana than allowed in this chapter, or 
than disclosed in the application to the state for a recreational marijuana business 
license, or other applicable law. 

(9)  Distribute marijuana for remuneration without a recreational marijuana business 
license or outside of the restricted area of the recreational marijuana business. 

(10)  Possess recreational marijuana, or own or manage a recreational marijuana 
business, or own or manage a building with a recreational marijuana business, 
where there is possession of recreational marijuana, by a person who is not 
lawfully permitted to possess recreational marijuana. 

(11)  Possess or operate a recreational marijuana business in a location or in a manner 
for which a recreational marijuana business license is prohibited by the terms of 
this chapter.  

(12)  Operate a recreational marijuana business without a recreational marijuana 
business license from the city. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 45Packet Page     487



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(13)  Operate a recreational marijuana business in a manner that is not consistent with 
the items disclosed in the application for the recreational marijuana business, or is 
in violation of any plan made part of the license application.  

(14)  Operate a recreational marijuana business without disclosing, in the application 
for a recreational marijuana business license or an amendment thereto, an agent 
who either (I) acts with managerial authority, (II) provides advice to the 
recreational marijuana business for compensation, or (III) receives periodic 
compensation totaling $1,000 or more in a single year for services related to the 
recreational marijuana business.  It shall be an affirmative defense that the 
undisclosed person was an attorney, accountant, bookkeeper, or mail delivery 
person. 

(15)  Own or manage a recreational marijuana business where distribution occurs of a 
marijuana-infused product that was produced in a manner that is not in 
compliance with this chapter.  

(16)  Operate a recreational marijuana business without a recreational marijuana 
business license prior to passing the inspection required by this chapter.   

(17)  Make any changes, or for the licensee to allow any changes, to the items included 
in the plans submitted with the license application and approved by the city, or the 
individuals identified in the application, without prior approval of the city. 

(18)  Attempt to use or display a recreational marijuana business license at a different 
location or for a different business entity than the location and business entity 
disclosed on the application for the issued license. 

(19)  Own or manage a recreational marijuana business in which another person 
cultivates, produces, distributes or possesses marijuana, in violation of this 
chapter or any other applicable law. 

(20)  Allow an owner or business manager that has not been disclosed to the city as 
required by this chapter to operate the business. 

(21)  Own, manage or possess a recreational marijuana business where marijuana is 
outside of the restricted area portion of such business.  

(22)  Possess a number of flowering plants that is more than one-half of the recreational 
marijuana plants that are lawfully possessed by a person.  

(23)  Dispose of marijuana or any byproduct of marijuana containing marijuana in a 
manner contrary to this chapter. 

(24)  Distribute a marijuana plant to any person. 

(25)  Deliver or transport marijuana to a person or between recreational marijuana 
businesses in a manner contrary to this chapter or other law. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 46Packet Page     488



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(26)  Refuse to allow inspection of a recreational marijuana business upon request of a 
city employee.  Any licensee, owner, business manager, or operator of a 
recreational marijuana business, or the owner of the property where a recreational 
marijuana business is located, may be charged with this violation. 

(27)  Advertise or publish materials or display signs that are in violation of this code. 

(28)  Violate any provision of this code or any condition of an approval granted 
pursuant to this code or any law, rule or regulation applicable to the use of 
recreational marijuana or the operation of a recreational marijuana business. 

(29)  Permit any other person to violate any provision of this code or any condition of 
an approval granted pursuant to this code, or any law, rule or regulation 
applicable to the use of recreational marijuana or the operation of a recreational 
marijuana business. 

(30) Lease any property to a recreational marijuana business that has marijuana on the 
property without a recreational marijuana business license from the city. 

(31)  Operate a private club where marijuana is possessed or used by any person at the 
private club. 

(32) Remove marijuana harvested from a plant from the enclosed locked space where 
the plant was grown, except as provided in this chapter. 

(33) Distribute marijuana within a recreational marijuana center to any person who 
shows visible signs of intoxication from alcohol, marijuana, or other drugs. 

(34) Permit a minor on the premises of the business. 

(b)   Prima Facie Evidence. Prima facie indicia of impairment or being under the influence of 
marijuana includes bloodshot eyes, watery eyes, eyelid tremors, green particulate on tongue, 
dilated pupils, or dry mouth, or any other indicators of impairment. 

6-16-14 Suspension or Revocation of License; Imposition of Fines. 
(a) A recreational marijuana business license may be suspended or revoked for any of the 
following violations: 

(1) Conviction of the business, a licensee or any owner, business manager, or 
financier of any violation of this chapter or any other law, rule or regulation 
applicable to the use of recreational marijuana or operation of a recreational 
marijuana business; 

(2) Misrepresentation or omission of any material fact, or false or misleading 
information, on the application or any amendment thereto, or any other 
information provided to the city related to the recreational marijuana business; 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 47Packet Page     489



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(3)  Violation of any law by which, if occurring prior to submittal of the application, 
could have been cause for denial of the license application; 

(4) Distribution of recreational marijuana, including, without limitation, delivery or 
transporting marijuana, in violation of this chapter or any other applicable law, 
rule or regulation; 

(5) Operation of a recreational marijuana business in violation of the specifications of 
the license application, any conditions of approval by the city, or any violation of 
this chapter or any other law, rule or regulation applicable to the use of 
recreational marijuana or operation of a recreational marijuana business; 

(6) Failure to maintain, or provide to the city upon request, any books, recordings, 
reports or other records required by this chapter; 

(7) Failure to timely notify the city and to complete necessary city forms for changes 
in financial interest, business managers, financier or agent; 

(8) Temporary or permanent closure, or other sanction of the business, by the city, or 
by the county or State Public Health Department or other governmental entity 
with jurisdiction, for failure to comply with health and safety provisions of this 
chapter or otherwise applicable to the business or any other applicable law; 

(9) Revocation or suspension of another recreational marijuana business license or 
any other license issued by the city, the state, or any other jurisdiction held by any 
licensee of the recreational marijuana business; 

(10)  Failure to timely correct any violation of any law, or comply with any order to 
correct a violation of any law within the time stated in the notice or order. 

(b)   In the event a business or licensee is charged with violation of any law, upon which a 
final judgment would be grounds for suspension or revocation of the license, the city may 
suspend the license pending the resolution of the alleged violation. 

(c)   Civil Penalties for violations of this chapter may be imposed by the city against the 
business or any licensee up to $5,000 per licensee per occurrence.   

(d)   If the city revokes or suspends a license, the business may not move any marijuana from 
the premise except under the supervision of the Boulder Police Department.  

6-16-15 Term of License – Renewals – Expiration of License.  

(a)  Term of License. A recreational marijuana business license shall be valid for one year. 
The license shall expire on date stated on the license, but no more than twenty-four months, to 
facilitate the administration by the city of renewals and coordinate with the date for renewal of 
the state license of such licenses. 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 48Packet Page     490



 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(b)  Renewal of License. The licensee shall apply for renewal of the recreational marijuana 
business license at least forty-five days before the expiration of the license. The licensee shall 
apply for renewal using forms provided by the city. If the applicant fails to apply for renewal at 
least 45 days before the expiration of the license, but does apply for renewal prior to expiration 
of the license, the city may process the renewal application if the application submits a late filing 
fee of $5,000 at the time of submittal of the renewal application. 

(1)  The renewal license fee, and late fee if applicable, shall accompany the renewal 
application. Such fee is nonrefundable. 

(2)  In the event there has been a change to any of the plans identified in the license 
application which were submitted to and approved by the city with the application 
or an earlier renewal, the renewal application shall include specifics of the 
changes or proposed changes in any of such plans. 

(3)  In the event any person who has an interest as described in the disclosures made 
to the city pursuant to this chapter, or any business manager, financier, agent as 
defined herein or employee has been charged with or accused of violations of any 
law since such disclosure, the renewal application shall include the name of the 
violator, the date of the violation, the court and case number where the violation 
was filed and the disposition of the violation with the renewal application. 

(4)  In the event the business license has been suspended or revoked or a licensee has 
received any notice of violation of any law, the renewal application shall include a 
copy of the notice, suspension, or revocation.   

(5)   The renewal application shall include verification that the business has a valid 
state license and the state license is in good standing. 

(6)  The renewal application shall include a summary report for the previous twelve 
months showing the amount of marijuana purchased, the amount of marijuana 
sold, the forms in which marijuana was sold, the police report numbers or case 
numbers of all police calls to the recreational marijuana business, and for calls 
resulting in a charge of a violation of any law, the charge, case number and 
disposition of any of the charges. 

(7) The city shall not accept renewal applications after the expiration of the license, 
but instead shall require the applicant to file a new license application. 

(8) In the event there have been allegations of violations of this code by any of the 
licensees or the business submitting a renewal application, the city may hold a 
hearing pursuant to Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, prior to 
approving the renewal application. The hearing shall be to determine whether the 
application and proposed licensees comply with this chapter and whether the 
operation of the business has been in compliance with this code. If the city does 
not hold a hearing and the application and the licensees do not meet the 
requirements of this chapter, or the business has been operated in the past in 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 49Packet Page     491

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter1-3.htm�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

violation of this code, the renewal application may be denied or issued with 
conditions, and the decision shall be final subject to judicial review as provided in 
Section 16-4-4(e). 

(c) Nonpayment of Tax. In the event a recreational marijuana business that has been open 
and operating and submitting monthly sales and use tax returns to the city ceases providing sales 
and use tax returns to the city for a period of three months or longer, the recreational marijuana 
business license shall be deemed to have expired and a new license shall be required prior to 
reopening at the location of the business. 

(d) Expiration of License. Expiration of a recreational marijuana business license for any 
reason including without limitation, pursuant to subsection (c) above shall be considered an 
inactive local license as described in § 12-43.3.312, C.R.S. 

6-16-16 City Manager Authorized to Issue Rules. 

The city manager may adopt rules and regulations that the city manager determines are 
reasonably necessary to implement the requirements of this chapter. 

 Section 2.  A new section 4-20-67, B.R.C. 1981, is added to read: 

4-20-67 Recreational Marijuana Businesses.  

Application and license fees for recreational marijuana businesses shall be up to the 
following amounts: 

(a)      Application fee for conversion of licenses under Chapter 6-14, 
B.R.C. 1981 (to be received from the state before application is 
deemed complete):    

 
(b)      Application fee for new recreational marijuana licenses not 

converted from medical marijuana businesses (to be received 
from state before application is deemed complete): 

$   250 
 
 
 
 
$2,500 
 

(c)       Criminal background check fee, per person checked:    
 
Actual 
Costs 

(d)      License fee, per year: $4,075 

(e)      Renewal application fee, per year: $3,480 

  
(f)      Application for a new business manager: $   150 

(g)      Business entity changes or addition of financiers: $2,000 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 50Packet Page     492

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter6-14.htm#section16_4_4�


 

K:\CMAD\o-7930 new chapter 6-16 2d reading FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(h)       Modification of premises: $3,000 
The application fee and costs and renewal fee paid are nonrefundable. The new license fee may 
be refunded if the new license application is denied. No fee will be refunded in the instance of 
suspension or revocation. 
 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of September 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 17th day of September, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment B 
Proposed Ordinance 7930 
Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67

Agenda Item 5C     Page 51Packet Page     493



 

K:\CMAD\o-7931 amending section 5-10 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 7931 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDINGADDING SECTION 5-10-6, 
“MARIJUANA ODOR ADMISSIONS,” B.R.C. 1981, AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Adding 5-10-6 to read: 
 
5-10-6 Marijuana Odor Emissions  
 
(a) No person, tenant, occupant, or property owner shall permit the emission of marijuana odor 

from any source to result in detectable odors that leave the premises upon which they 
originated and interfere with the reasonable and comfortable use and enjoyment of another’s 
property.  
 

(b) Whether or not a marijuana odor emission interferes with the reasonable and comfortable use 
and enjoyment of a property shall be measured against the objective standard of a reasonable 
person of normal sensitivity. 
 

(c) A marijuana odor emission shall be deemed to interfere with reasonable and comfortable use 
and enjoyment of property if the city manager receives three (3) or more complaints from 
individuals representing separate households, rooming units, or places of business within the 
city relating to a single marijuana odor source. 
 

(d) No person shall be convicted of a violation of this section unless the city manager has 
delivered or posted a written warning, in the previous 12 months, that conduct violating this 
section is occurring or has occurred and, 14 or more days following the warning, the 
marijuana odor emission is repeated or continued.  . 

 
(1) FourteenThe person, tenant, occupant, or property owner must abate the marijuana 

odor emission within 7 days after the warning is delivered or posted. 
(1)(2) Seven or more days after a warning is posted or delivered, a separate violation of 

this section occurs on each day that the marijuana odor emission repeats or continues.   
(2)(3) The warning shall cite this section.   
(3)(4) The warning may be delivered personally or posted on the property.   
(4)(5) It shall be presumed that a person charged under this section received the warning 

if the warning was either (i) delivered to the property owner, a tenant, or an occupant; 
or if the warning was(ii) posted on the property. 

Attachment C 
Proposed Ordinance 7931 
Amending Section 5-10

Agenda Item 5C     Page 52Packet Page     494



 

K:\CMAD\o-7931 amending section 5-10 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

 
(e) No person who receives a warning at a marijuana cultivation facility shall be convicted of a 

violation if all of the following conditions are met: 
 

(1) A warning is issued pursuant to subsection (d) of this section for the person’s 
property, and the subject property is licensed as a marijuana cultivation facility by the 
city or the state; 

(2) Seven or fewer days after the warning is posted or delivered, the person submits a 
written document to the city manager which explains (i) why the marijuana odor 
emissions cannot be abated within 7 days feasibly and (ii) how the person plans to 
abate the marijuana odor emission in the following 90 days; and 

(3) The written document described in paragraph (2) was submitted fewer than 90 days 
before the date of violation charged in the summons and complaint. 

 
 

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of September, 2013. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 
 

Attachment C 
Proposed Ordinance 7931 
Amending Section 5-10

Agenda Item 5C     Page 53Packet Page     495



 

K:\CMAD\o-7931 amending section 5-10 - FP 09-17-2013-1828.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 17th day of September, 2013. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment C 
Proposed Ordinance 7931 
Amending Section 5-10

Agenda Item 5C     Page 54Packet Page     496



 

K:\CMAD\o-Moratorium until 1-2-14-1828.doc    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE SPECIFYING THE CITY 
MANAGER AS THE ENTITY THAT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 
ACCEPTING AND PROCESSING APPLICATIONS TO THE 
CITY AND IMPOSING A MORATORIUM PROHIBITING 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES IN THE CITY 
UNTIL JANUARY 2, 2014 UNDER ARTICLE XVIII, SECTION 
16 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION, AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Findings: 

A. Article XVIII, Section 16 of the Colorado Constitution regarding Recreational 

Marijuana, also known as Amendment 64, (the “Recreational Marijuana 

Amendment”) requires that local governments specify the entity that is to process 

applications for licenses for marijuana businesses by October 1, 2013.   

B. The Recreational Marijuana Amendment allows cities to accept applications for 

businesses starting on October 1, 2013, or January 1, 2014 if the state has not 

started issuing licenses by that time.   

C. The Recreational Marijuana Amendment allows local governments to regulate 

recreational marijuana businesses within the city, particularly with respect to time, 

place and manner of operating such businesses. 

D. Subsection (5)(f) of the Recreational Marijuana Amendment allows the city to 

prohibit the operation of recreational marijuana businesses within the city. 

E. The legislature acknowledged the constitutional authority of the city to prohibit 

recreational marijuana businesses in C.R.S. 12-43.4-104(3). 

F. The state legislature has adopted laws regarding recreational marijuana businesses 

codified as C.R.S. 12-43.4-101, et seq. which specifically provide for such 

businesses having a license from the city prior to operating in the city. 

G. C.R.S. 12-43.4-304(1) provides that a license issued by the state for a recreational 

marijuana business is conditioned upon approval of the local jurisdiction and the 

Attachment D 
Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 55Packet Page     497



 

K:\CMAD\o-Moratorium until 1-2-14-1828.doc    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

license applicant is prohibited from operating a business without both state and 

local approval. 

H. The council is considering Ordinance No. 7930 that adopts laws regarding 

recreational marijuana businesses in the city, including when the city will accept 

applications for such businesses, but the ordinance will not be effective until well 

after October 1, 2013.   

I. Confusion may result as to what law is applicable if the city received or accepted 

applications for recreational marijuana businesses prior to the effective date of the 

ordinance adopting the requirements for such applications and businesses. 

J. Litigation may ensue against the city by claims that the city must accept 

applications for recreational marijuana businesses between October 1, 2013 and 

January 1, 2014. 

K. It is necessary for the public health and safety of the residents and businesses in 

the City of Boulder, that regulations be in place, followed and enforced, prior to 

the opening of any recreational marijuana business. 

L. The city has the legal authority under Article XX of the Colorado Constitution as 

a home rule city, to protect the health and safety of its environment and citizens 

from dangers associated with establishment of unregulated recreational marijuana 

businesses using its land use and police powers. 

M. The city has the legal authority under the Recreational Marijuana Amendment to 

prohibit the operation of recreational marijuana businesses in the city. 

 

Section 2.  The city manager is designated as the Recreational Marijuana Licensing 

Authority of the city at such time as the city adopts an ordinance allowing recreational marijuana 

businesses.  

Section 3.  Commencing immediately and continuing until 8 a.m. on Thursday, January 

2, 2014, all persons are prohibited from cultivating marijuana or manufacturing marijuana 

infused products, or distributing, or selling marijuana, other than those persons licensed pursuant 

Attachment D 
Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 56Packet Page     498



 

K:\CMAD\o-Moratorium until 1-2-14-1828.doc    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

to Chapter 6-14 of the Boulder Revised Code pursuant to section 5(f) of the Recreational 

Marijuana Amendment. 

Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 5. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

Section 6.   The City Council finds that the passage of this ordinance is necessary for the 

preservation of the public peace, health, or property.  The dates in Article XVIII, Section 16 for 

applications for recreational marijuana businesses necessitate the adoption of this ordinance as an 

emergency measure.  The nature of the urgency for the adoption as an emergency measure is 

described, in part, by the findings set forth in this ordinance.  The City Council further finds that 

additional time is required to consider and develop appropriate laws regarding recreational 

marijuana businesses.  Therefore, the City Council orders that this ordinance shall be effective 

immediately upon its passage.  

 

Attachment D 
Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 57Packet Page     499



 

K:\CMAD\o-Moratorium until 1-2-14-1828.doc    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY THIS 17th DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 2013. 

 
 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  

Attachment D 
Proposed Emergency Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 58Packet Page     500



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: September 17, 2013 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to adopt a resolution in support of 
Colorado’s 2013 Ballot Measure Designated as Amendment 66, Funding for Public 
Schools  
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER:  
 
Council Member KC Becker 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On September 3, 2013, at the request of Council Member Becker, council agreed to 
consider a resolution (Attachment A) in support of Colorado’s 2013 ballot measure 
designated as Amendment 66 (Attachment B) which relates to funding for public 
schools. That resolution and the Secretary of State’s final draft “Blue Book” description 
of the measure (Attachment C) are included with this memo for council’s consideration.  
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
 
Motion to adopt Resolution Number 1127 in support of Colorado’s 2013 ballot measure 
designated as Amendment 66, related to funding for public schools 
 
 
Attachment:  
A. Proposed Resolution #1127 
B. Amendment 66 
C. Final Draft “Blue Book” write-up on Amendment 66 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 1Packet Page     501



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 2Packet Page     502



Attachment A  

Boulder City Council 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 1127 
 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE COLORADO’S 2013 BALLOT MEASURE 
DESIGNATED AS AMENDMENT 66, FUNDING FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS  

 
FINDINGS 
 
The City of Boulder City Council finds as follows: 
 

1. The State of Colorado has faced multiple years of budget shortfalls resulting in 
more than $1 billion in cuts and lost funding to K-12 over the past four years. 
 

2. Despite slight increases in K-12 spending for 2013-2014, Colorado school 
districts continue to experience financial difficulties due to persistent economic 
constraints, declines in revenues and increases in fixed costs such as insurance, 
fuel and utilities. 

 
3. These cuts and lost funding have been implemented despite the state legislature’s 

passage of significant reform, including but not limited to the Preschool to 
Postsecondary Education Alignment Act (CAP4K) (Senate Bill 08-212), the 
Education Accountability Act of 2009 (Senate Bill 09-163), the Educator 
Effectiveness Law (Senate Bill 10- 191), and the Colorado READ Act (House 
Bill 12-1238). 

 
4. Reduced funding is directly impacting Boulder Valley School District’s ability to 

provide meaningful educational opportunities for all students and to implement 
existing and proposed education reforms. 
 

5. A proposed ballot initiative to amend the Colorado Constitution and Colorado 
Revised Statutes will appear as Amendment 66 in the November 5, 2013 election 
and, if passed by the voters of the State of Colorado, will result in an income tax 
rate increase for Colorado citizens from the current 4.63 to 5 percent for the first 
$75,000 of their federal taxable income and 5.9 percent for any federal taxable 
income received above that amount. 
 

6. The ballot initiative would require 43% of state general fund revenues in any 
given year be specifically allocated to provide increased funding for Colorado’s 
public education system. 
 

7. The initiative would add funding for programs such as expanded full-day 
kindergarten as well as half-day preschool funding for at-risk students and 
English-language learners. 
 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 3Packet Page     503



Attachment A  

8. The increase in state tax revenues will liberate state funds for spending in other 
significant areas of need in Colorado 
 

9. The increase in public education funding will significantly benefit the children of 
Colorado and, specifically, the children of the City of Boulder, by enabling public 
K-12 school districts to better provide educational services to children. 

 
RESOLUTION 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Boulder hereby supports and 
urges a YES vote on Amendment 66, which will appear on the November 5, 2013, 
election ballot. 
 
Resolved this 17th day of September, 2013 
 
      _________________________________ 
      Mayor 
Attest 
 
_________________________ 
City Clerk on behalf of the  
Director of Finance and Record 
 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 4Packet Page     504



Amendment 66
Funding for Public Schools

1 Ballot Title:  SHALL STATE TAXES BE INCREASED BY $950,100,000 ANNUALLY IN THE

2 FIRST FULL FISCAL YEAR AND BY SUCH AMOUNTS AS ARE RAISED THEREAFTER BY

3 AMENDMENTS TO THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION AND THE COLORADO REVISED

4 STATUTES CONCERNING FUNDING FOR PRESCHOOL THROUGH TWELFTH-GRADE PUBLIC

5 EDUCATION, AND, IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, INCREASING THE CURRENT STATE INCOME

6 TAX RATE ON INDIVIDUALS, ESTATES, AND TRUSTS AND IMPOSING AN ADDITIONAL RATE

7 SO HIGHER AMOUNTS OF INCOME ARE TAXED AT HIGHER RATES; REQUIRING THE

8 RESULTING INCREASES IN TAX REVENUES BE SPENT ONLY FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO

9 PRESCHOOL THROUGH TWELFTH-GRADE PUBLIC EDUCATION; ALLOWING ALL TAX

10 REVENUES ATTRIBUTABLE TO THIS MEASURE TO BE COLLECTED AND SPENT WITHOUT

11 FUTURE VOTER APPROVAL; REQUIRING AT LEAST 43% OF STATE SALES, EXCISE, AND

12 INCOME TAX REVENUES BE DEPOSITED IN THE STATE EDUCATION FUND; AND REPEALING

13 CERTAIN EXISTING PUBLIC EDUCATION FUNDING REQUIREMENTS?

14 Text of Measure:

15 Be it Enacted by the People of the State of Colorado:

16 SECTION 1.  In the constitution of the state of Colorado, section 17 of
17 article IX, amend (1), (2), and (4) and add (6), (7), and (8) as follows:

18 Section 17.  Education – funding.

19 (1) Purpose.  In state fiscal year 2001-2002 through state fiscal year
20 2010-2011, the statewide base per pupil funding, as defined by the Public School
21 Finance Act of 1994, article 54 of title 22, Colorado Revised Statutes, on the
22 effective date of this section, for public education from preschool through the
23 twelfth grade and total state funding for all categorical programs shall grow
24 annually at least by the rate of inflation plus an additional one percentage point. 
25 In state fiscal year 2011-2012, and each fiscal year thereafter,  FOR STATE FISCAL

26 YEARS 2011-2012 THROUGH 2013-2014, the statewide base per pupil funding for
27 public education from preschool through the twelfth grade and total state funding
28 for all categorical programs shall grow annually at a rate set by the general
29 assembly that is at least equal to the rate of inflation.

30 (2) Definitions. (c) "INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL

31 FUNDING" MEANS THE INCOME TAX CHANGES APPROVED BY THE VOTERS AT THE

1

Attachment B

Agenda Item 8B     Page 5Packet Page     505



1 2013 GENERAL ELECTION FOR PRESCHOOL AND PUBLIC SCHOOL KINDERGARTEN

2 THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE FUNDING.

3 (4) State education fund created.  (a) There is hereby created in the
4 department of the treasury the state education fund.  Beginning on the effective
5 date of this measure, AND THROUGH JUNE 30, 2014, all state revenues collected
6 from a tax of one third of one percent on federal taxable income, as modified by
7 law, of every individual, estate, trust and corporation, as defined in law, shall be
8 deposited in the state education fund.  Revenues generated from a tax of one
9 third of one percent on federal taxable income, as modified by law, of every

10 individual, estate, trust and corporation, as defined in law, shall not be subject to
11 the limitation on fiscal year spending set forth in article X, section 20 of the
12 Colorado constitution.  BEGINNING IN STATE FISCAL YEAR 2014-2015, THE STATE

13 EDUCATION FUND SHALL, AT A MINIMUM, RECEIVE FORTY-THREE PERCENT OF

14 SALES, EXCISE, AND INCOME TAX REVENUE COLLECTED IN THE GENERAL FUND IN

15 A MANNER AS TO EQUAL SUCH PERCENTAGE IN RELATION TO THE REVENUE

16 GENERATED BY THE TAX RATES IN EFFECT ON DECEMBER 31, 2012 NET OF ANY

17 REFUNDS REQUIRED BY SECTION 20,  SUBSECTIONS (3)(c) AND (7) OF ARTICLE X
18 OF THIS CONSTITUTION.  All interest earned on monies in the state education fund
19 shall be deposited in the state education fund and shall be used before any
20 principal is depleted.  Monies remaining in the state education fund at the end of
21 any fiscal year shall remain in the fund and not revert to the general fund.

22 (6)  STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND.

23 (a)  THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND IS CREATED IN THE

24 STATE TREASURY. 
25 (b)  THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OR ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY SHALL

26 ANNUALLY DETERMINE THE AMOUNT OF THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC

27 SCHOOL FUNDING.  SUCH AMOUNTS SHALL BE DEPOSITED IN THE STATE

28 EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND.
29 (c)  THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND SHALL BE

30 APPROPRIATED TO BENEFIT THE EDUCATION OF PARTICIPANTS IN PRESCHOOL

31 PROGRAMS AND PUBLIC SCHOOL KINDERGARTEN THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE

32 STUDENTS BY IMPLEMENTING EDUCATIONAL REFORMS AND PROGRAMMATIC

33 ENHANCEMENTS, ENACTED BY THE COLORADO GENERAL ASSEMBLY.
34 (d)  THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND SHALL BE AUDITED

35 ANNUALLY BY THE STATE AUDITOR TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THIS ARTICLE. 
36 THE RESULTS OF SUCH AUDIT SHALL BE A PUBLIC DOCUMENT THAT IS

37 TRANSMITTED TO THE GOVERNOR, THE PRESIDENT AND MINORITY LEADER OF THE

38 SENATE, AND THE SPEAKER AND THE MINORITY LEADER OF THE HOUSE OF

2

Attachment B

Agenda Item 8B     Page 6Packet Page     506



1 REPRESENTATIVES.  SUCH AUDIT SHALL BE CONSPICUOUSLY PLACED ON THE

2 WEBSITES OF THE STATE AUDITOR AND THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF

3 EDUCATION OR THEIR SUCCESSOR AGENCIES.
4 (e) ALL INTEREST EARNED ON MONIES IN THE STATE EDUCATIONAL

5 ACHIEVEMENT FUND SHALL BE DEPOSITED IN THE STATE EDUCATIONAL

6 ACHIEVEMENT FUND AND SHALL BE USED BEFORE ANY PRINCIPAL IS DEPLETED.
7 MONIES REMAINING IN THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND AT THE END

8 OF ANY FISCAL YEAR SHALL REMAIN IN THE FUND AND NOT REVERT OR BE

9 TRANSFERRED TO THE GENERAL OR ANY OTHER FUND.

10 (7)  NEW REVENUE TO SUPPLEMENT PREVIOUS YEAR EDUCATION

11 FUNDING.  REVENUES COLLECTED FROM THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC

12 SCHOOL FUNDING SHALL BE USED TO SUPPLEMENT REVENUES THAT WERE

13 APPROPRIATED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY IN THE PREVIOUS FISCAL YEAR FOR

14 KINDERGARTEN THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE AND PRESCHOOL EDUCATION AND

15 SHALL NOT BE USED TO SUPPLANT ANY PORTION OF THOSE PREVIOUSLY

16 APPROPRIATED REVENUES.  

17 (8)  REVENUE AND SPENDING LIMITATIONS.  ALL REVENUES

18 ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING OR

19 OTHERWISE ADDRESSED BY SUBSECTION (6) SHALL BE COLLECTED AND SPENT AS

20 VOTER-APPROVED REVENUE CHANGES WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY LIMITATION ON

21 REVENUE, SPENDING, OR APPROPRIATIONS, CONTAINED IN SECTION 20 OF ARTICLE

22 X OF THIS CONSTITUTION OR ANY OTHER LAW.  SPENDING OF SUCH REVENUE,
23 CONSISTENT WITH THE EXPRESSED INTENTION OF THE VOTERS AT THE 2013
24 ELECTION, SHALL REQUIRE NO ADDITIONAL VOTER APPROVAL AT ANY STATE OR

25 LOCAL ELECTION.

26 SECTION 2.  In the constitution of the state of Colorado, section 20 of
27 article X, amend (8):

28 (8) Revenue limits.  (a) New or increased transfer tax rates on real
29 property are prohibited.  No new state real property tax or local district income
30 tax shall be imposed.  Neither an income tax rate increase nor a new state
31 definition of taxable income shall apply before the next tax year.  Any income tax
32 law change after July 1, 1992 shall also require all taxable net income to be taxed
33 at one rate, excluding refund tax credits or voter-approved tax credits, with no
34 added tax or surcharge; EXCEPT THAT MULTIPLE RATES SHALL APPLY TO TAXABLE

35 NET INCOME OF INDIVIDUALS, TRUSTS, AND ESTATES, IF SPECIFIC RATE INCREASES

36 IN EXCESS OF THE TAX RATE IN EFFECT ON THE DAY OF AN ELECTION ARE

3

Attachment B

Agenda Item 8B     Page 7Packet Page     507



1 APPROVED BY VOTERS FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING AN INCOME TAX

2 INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING.

3 SECTION 3.   In Colorado Revised Statutes, 39-22-104, amend (1.7) as
4 follows:

5 39-22-104. Income tax imposed on individuals, estates, and trusts –
6 single rate – definitions – repeal.  (1.7) Except as otherwise provided in section
7 39-22-627, subject to subsection (2) of this section, with respect to taxable years
8 commencing on or after January 1, 2000, a tax of four and sixty-three one
9 hundredths percent is imposed on the federal taxable income, as determined

10 pursuant to section 63 of the internal revenue code, of every individual, estate,
11 and trust.  IN ADDITION TO THE TAX RATE AUTHORIZED IN THIS SUBSECTION ON

12 FEDERAL TAXABLE INCOME OF INDIVIDUALS, ESTATES, AND TRUSTS, AN INCOME

13 TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING SHALL BE IMPOSED ON THE

14 FEDERAL TAXABLE INCOME OF SUCH TAXPAYERS:

15 (a)  UP TO AND INCLUDING $75,000, AT THE RATE OF THIRTY-SEVEN ONE

16 HUNDREDTHS PERCENT; AND

17 (b)  OVER $75,000, AT THE RATE OF ONE AND TWENTY-SEVEN ONE

18 HUNDREDTHS PERCENT.

19 THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY MAY ANNUALLY ADJUST THE INCOME THRESHOLDS FOR

20 THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING FOR INFLATION FROM

21 THE PREVIOUS YEAR.

22 SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  THESE VOTER-ENACTED PROVISIONS

23 SHALL TAKE EFFECT ON JANUARY 1, 2014.

4

Attachment B

Agenda Item 8B     Page 8Packet Page     508



Final Draft
Initiative #22 

Funding for Public Schools

1 Amendment ? proposes amending the Colorado Constitution and the Colorado
2 Statutes to change how the state funds public preschool through twelfth grade (P-12)
3 education by raising taxes to increase the amount of money available, changing how
4 the state distributes funding to school districts, and requiring that a fixed percentage of
5 revenue from certain state taxes be annually set aside for schools.  Specifically, the
6 measure:

7 � raises the state individual income tax rate from 4.63 percent to
8 5.0 percent on the first $75,000 of taxable income and to
9 5.9 percent on any taxable income over $75,000 and deposits the

10 additional tax revenue in a separate fund to pay for public education;

11 � implements legislation passed by the state legislature creating a
12 new formula for allocating state and local funding to school districts;

13 � repeals the constitutional requirement that base per pupil funding for
14 public education increase by at least the rate of inflation annually;
15 and

16 � requires that at least 43 percent of state income, sales, and excise
17 tax revenue, collected at existing tax rates, be set aside annually to
18 pay for public education. 

19 Summary and Analysis

20 Who pays for P-12 public education?  In budget year 2012-13, about
21 $5.5 billion of P-12 public education funding was paid from state and local taxes on
22 individuals and businesses, including state income and sales tax and local property
23 and vehicle ownership tax.  Almost all of this revenue is allocated to school districts
24 through a formula in state law.  The rest provides state assistance for other programs,
25 such as transportation and special education.  Additionally, districts received about
26 $2.6 billion in operating revenue outside the funding formula.  This includes federal
27 funding for all districts and fees assessed by all districts.  It also includes local revenue
28 that was approved by voters in 114 of 178 districts.

29 Formula funding for each school district begins with the same amount of
30 funding per student, known as base per pupil funding.  The base funding amount is
31 then adjusted upward for each school district, depending on particular district
32 characteristics, to determine a final per pupil funding amount.  These characteristics
33 include the total number of students, the local community's cost of living, and the
34 percentage of students from lower-income households.

– 1 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 9Packet Page     509



Final Draft
1 Currently, the state constitution requires that the base funding amount increase
2 every year by at least inflation.  The constitution also specifies that the State
3 Education Fund receive about 7.2 percent of all income tax revenue to support the
4 annual increase in base per pupil funding.

5 The recent recession reduced the amount of state and local tax revenue
6 available for P-12 public education funding.  In each of the past three budget years,
7 the decline in state revenue caused the legislature to reduce the amount of state
8 money going to school districts below what would have been required by the funding
9 formula.  Figure 1 compares formula funding before this legislative change with actual

10 funding for each of the last three budget years.  For example, in budget year 2012-13,
11 actual funding was $1.0 billion below what the funding formula would have required.

12 Figure 1.  Formula Funding Compared to Actual Funding
13 Budget Years 2010-11 through 2012-13
14 (in Billions)

15
16
17
18
19
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34

35 Education in the state budget.  P-12 public education funding is the largest
36 piece of the state's operating budget.  Since budget year 2000-01, the share of state
37 income, sales, and excise tax revenue spent on P-12 public education has ranged
38 from 34 to 57 percent, and averaged 46 percent.  In the last budget year, this share
39 was 40 percent.  Figure 2 displays P-12 public education funding as a percent of total
40 state income, sales, and excise tax revenue for budget years 2000-01 through
41 2012-13, and the overall average during this period.

– 2 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 10Packet Page     510



Final Draft
1 Figure 2.  Share of State Income, Sales, and Excise Tax Revenue 
2 Dedicated to Total P-12 Public Education
3 Budget Years 2000-01 to 2012-13

4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26 Amendment ? establishes a minimum level of education funding.  The
27 measure requires that at least 43 percent of state income, sales, and excise tax
28 revenue, collected at existing tax rates, be annually deposited in the State Education
29 Fund to be used on education-related spending.  This effectively establishes a
30 constitutional minimum funding level for education that is slightly less than the average
31 share that has been spent on P-12 public education over the last 13 years 
32 (see Figure 2), but is an increase from the portion allocated in the 2012-13 budget
33 year.  The measure also removes the existing constitutional requirement that the base
34 per pupil amount increase annually by at least inflation, and eliminates the transfer of
35 about 7.2 percent of income tax revenue to the State Education Fund.

36 Amendment ? increases taxes to provide additional revenue for public
37 education.  The measure increases the state individual income tax rate to create new
38 revenue for P-12 public education.  Currently, Colorado taxpayers pay a flat individual
39 income tax rate of 4.63 percent on Colorado taxable income.  In 1987, the state
40 moved from a graduated income tax structure to a single tax rate of 5.0 percent.  The
41 rate was reduced to 4.63 percent in 2000.  While the measure does not affect the
42 state corporate income tax rate, small businesses that choose to report their business
43 income on individual income tax returns will also see their state income taxes
44 increase.

– 3 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 11Packet Page     511



Final Draft
1 Beginning in tax year 2014, Amendment ? establishes a two-tiered income tax
2 rate.  Individual income tax rates will increase from 4.63 percent to 5.0 percent on the
3 first $75,000 of state taxable income, and to 5.9 percent on any taxable income above
4 the $75,000 threshold.  The state legislature may adjust this income threshold
5 annually by inflation.

6 Imposition of this two-tiered tax rate is estimated to increase individual income
7 tax revenue to the state by $950 million in budget year 2014-15, the first full year of
8 implementation.  This new revenue must be placed in the State Educational
9 Achievement Fund created by this measure, and may only be used to fund P-12 public

10 education.  The new revenue is exempt from state and school district spending
11 limitations contained in the state constitution.

12 The two-tiered tax rate structure will have different impacts on taxpayers,
13 depending on their household income.  Table 1 shows the estimated change in the
14 yearly state income tax liability for four representative households with different
15 income levels.  Under the new structure, an estimated 68 percent of households in
16 Colorado will see their individual income taxes increase by 8 percent, while the
17 remaining 32 percent will see greater increases.

18 Table 1.  State Individual Income Tax Increases for 
19 Representative Households under Amendment ?

20  

21  

22  

23  

Gross

Income*

Colorado

Taxable

Income**

Current

Law State

Income Tax

Liability

Amendment ?

State Income

Tax Liability

Amount of

Annual

Increase

Percent

Annual

Increase

24 Household A $50,000 $26,300 $1,218 $1,315 $97 8%

25 Household B $100,000 $65,600 $3,037 $3,280 $243 8%

26 Household C $150,000 $109,900 $5,088 $5,809 $721 14%

27 Household D $200,000 $154,000 $7,130 $8,411 $1,281 18%

28  *   In 2011, Colorado's median gross household income was $55,000.

29 **  Taxable income totals for individual households may vary from the averages displayed in Table 1.

30 Amendment ? triggers a new funding formula in Senate Bill 13-213. 
31 Amendment ? replaces the current statutory formula used to allocate state and local
32 funding to school districts.  Amendment ? triggers implementation of
33 Senate Bill 13-213, enacted during the 2013 legislative session and signed by the
34 Governor.  The bill's new allocation formula also begins with a base per pupil amount,
35 but it changes how the base is adjusted.   It places more emphasis on students who
36 are at risk of academic failure, defined as students eligible for free- or reduced-price
37 lunch through the federal School Lunch Program, or who are English language
38 learners.

– 4 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 12Packet Page     512



Final Draft
1 The bill also increases funding for kindergarten and preschool students, and
2 allocates a portion of state P-12 education funding to help implement recent
3 educational reforms passed by the state legislature.  It also changes the way that
4 school districts calculate student enrollment.  Under current law, student enrollment is
5 based on a count that occurs once during a specified period in October.  Under
6 Senate Bill 13-213, starting in the 2017-18 school year, student funding will be based
7 on average daily enrollment throughout the school year.

8 The bill provides school principals with more control over how money will be
9 spent in their schools.  This is intended to help students who are deemed to be at risk

10 of academic failure achieve academic targets.  The bill also requires a periodic study
11 of the increases in academic achievement resulting from the additional funding and a
12 public, school-specific accounting of administrative and teacher expenses.    

13 Arguments For

14 1)  One of government's most important functions is to provide children with a
15 high-quality education.  To improve schools, the state needs a long-term solution that
16 is innovative, accountable for results, and transparent to taxpayers. The additional
17 money provided in this measure allows local boards of education to target areas
18 where research suggests that investments are likely to produce improved student
19 outcomes, such as ensuring effective teachers are in the classroom, reducing class
20 sizes, investing in preschool and full-day kindergarten, upgrading classroom
21 technology, and giving principals and teachers more control over budgeting decisions
22 in their schools.

23 2)  Investing in public education is the best way to ensure a strong Colorado
24 economy capable of competing in today's global market.  One of the top priorities of
25 businesses seeking a new location is identifying a well-educated workforce.  Since
26 budget year 2008-09, the state legislature has severely cut P-12 funding, with funding
27 for the 2012-13 school year $1.0 billion below what the funding formula would have
28 required.  Restoring this funding shortfall not only benefits the state's schools and
29 communities, but also provides a positive signal to companies looking to relocate or to
30 expand in Colorado.

31 3)  The measure simultaneously restores funding to public schools that have
32 suffered severe budget cuts and provides taxpayers with needed accountability by
33 measuring how the increased investment will affect student achievement.  The state
34 will be required to prepare a return on investment study and a cost study to identify

For information on those issue committees that support or oppose the
measures on the ballot at the November 5, 2013, election, go to the
Colorado Secretary of State's elections center website hyperlink for ballot
and initiative information:

www.sos.state.co.us/pubs/elections/Initiatives/InitiativesHome.html

– 5 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 13Packet Page     513



Final Draft
1 funding deficits that affect the performance of school districts and the academic
2 achievement of students.  The state will also make detailed expenditure data for each
3 school and district available to the general public, allowing for comparisons between
4 schools.  

5 Arguments Against

6 1)  Amendment ? is a $950 million tax increase that may impede economic
7 expansion at a time when the state’s economy is still recovering.  Increasing state
8 income taxes reduces the money that households have to spend or save.  As a result,
9 consumer spending and overall economic activity may also decline, negatively

10 impacting the competitiveness of Colorado businesses.  The state currently has
11 adequate financial resources to implement Senate Bill 13-213 for the next year without
12 a tax increase.  The legislature set aside $1.1 billion in budget year 2012-13 and an
13 estimated $290 million in budget year 2013-14 for P-12 public education.  These
14 recent set-asides are indicative of an expanding economy that may permit adequate
15 investment in P-12 public education without additional tax revenue. 

16 2)  This measure imposes an additional tax burden on state taxpayers without
17 any guarantee of increased academic achievement.  Senate Bill 13-213 makes
18 incremental changes to the school funding allocation formula without providing
19 significant educational reform.  This approach lacks real accountability as the new
20 funding formula does not reward schools or districts that show gains in student
21 achievement.  Amendment ? leaves in place an outmoded system of delivering
22 education that has not shown significant measurable improvements for students on
23 state assessments.

24 3)  Under the measure, taxpayers in some school districts will pay more in new
25 taxes than these districts will receive in new revenue.  All individuals will see a state
26 income tax increase of at least 8.0 percent to implement the new P-12 education
27 formula, and some will see substantially higher percentage increases.  At the same
28 time, under Senate Bill 13-213, 37 of 178 school districts will see increases in funding
29 of less than 8.0 percent.  Thus, the measure maintains a funding structure that uses
30 tax revenue from some districts in order to subsidize P-12 education in other districts.

31 Estimate of Fiscal Impact 

32 State revenue and spending.  Amendment ? is expected to increase state tax
33 revenue by $452 million in budget year 2013-14, $950 million in budget year 2014-15
34 (the first full year with increased tax revenue), and $1.0 billion in budget year 2015-16. 
35 The amendment requires that all new revenue from the tax increase be used to fund
36 P-12 public education.

– 6 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 14Packet Page     514



Final Draft
1 Impact on taxpayers.  The amendment increases individual income tax rates. 
2 Income tax rates for individual taxpayers will increase from 4.63 percent to 5.0 percent
3 on the first $75,000 of state taxable income, and to 5.9 percent on state taxable
4 income above the $75,000 threshold.  The state legislature may adjust this income
5 threshold annually by inflation.

6 This two-tiered tax rate structure will have different impacts on individual
7 taxpayers, depending on their taxable income levels, as shown in Table 1.  For
8 instructions on estimating your household's anticipated tax changes under
9 Amendment ?, please visit the online tax calculator at: 

10 www.colorado.gov/lcs/taxestimator.

11 State Spending and Tax Increases

12 The state constitution requires that the following fiscal information be provided
13 when a tax increase question is on the ballot:

14 1) the estimated or actual state spending under the constitutional
15 spending limit for the current year and each of the past four years
16 with the overall percentage and dollar change; and
17 2) for the first full year of the proposed tax increase, an estimate of the
18 maximum dollar amount of the tax increase and of state fiscal year
19 spending without the increase.

20 Table 2 shows the dollar amount of state spending under the constitutional
21 spending limit.

22 Table 2.  State Spending

23  

24  

Actual

FY 2009-10*

Actual

FY 2010-11

Actual

FY 2011-12

Estimated

FY 2012-13

Estimated 

FY 2013-14

25 State

26 Spending 

$8.57

billion

$9.43

billion

$10.27

billion

$11.12

billion

$11.50

billion

27 Four-Year Dollar Change in State Spending:  $2.93 billion 

28 Four-Year Percent Change in State Spending:  34.2 percent 

29 *FY = fiscal year.  The state's fiscal (or budget) year runs from July through June. 

30 The numbers in Table 2 show state spending from 2010 through 2014 for
31 programs that were subject to the constitutional spending limit during those years. 
32 However, the constitution allows a program that operates similarly to a private
33 business to be exempt from the limit if it meets certain conditions.  Because the
34 exempt status of some programs has changed during the last five years, the numbers
35 in Table 2 are not directly comparable to each other.

– 7 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 15Packet Page     515



Final Draft
1 Table 3 shows the revenue expected from the increased income tax rate; state
2 fiscal year spending without these taxes for FY 2014-15, the first full fiscal year for
3 which the increase would be in place; and the sum of the two.

4 Table 3.  Estimated State Fiscal Year Spending
5 and the Proposed Tax Rate Increase

6  

7  

FY 2014-15

Estimate

8 State Spending Without the New Taxes $12.08 billion

9 Revenue from the New Income Taxes $0.95 billion

10 State Spending Plus the New Taxes $13.03 billion

– 8 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 16Packet Page     516



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
Initiative #22 

Funding for Public Schools

Amendment ? proposes amending the Colorado Constitution and the Colorado1
Statutes to change how the state funds public preschool through twelfth grade (P-12)2
education by raising taxes to increase the amount of money available, changing how3
the state distributes funding to school districts, and requiring that a fixed percentage of4
revenue from certain state taxes be annually set aside for schools.  Specifically, the5
measure:6

‚ raises the state individual income tax rate from 4.63 percent to7
5.0 percent on the first $75,000 of taxable income and to8
5.9 percent on any taxable income over $75,000 and deposits the9
additional tax revenue in a separate fund to pay for public education;10

‚ implements legislation passed by the state legislature creating a11
new formula for allocating state and local funding to school districts;12

‚ repeals the constitutional requirement that base per pupil funding for13
public education increase by at least the rate of inflation annually;14
and15

‚ requires that at least 43 percent of state income, sales, and excise16
tax revenue, collected at existing tax rates, be set aside annually to17
pay for public education. 18

Summary and Analysis19

Who pays for P-12 public education?  In budget year 2012-13, about20
$5.5 billion of P-12 public education funding was paid from state and local taxes on21
individuals and businesses, including state income and sales tax and local property22
tax and vehicle ownership tax.  Almost all of this revenue is allocated to school23
districts through a formula in state law.  The rest provides state assistance for other24
programs, such as transportation and special education.  Additionally, districts receive25
about $3.4 billion in revenue outside the funding formula, including local revenue26
raised by districts, federal moneys, private grants, and bond proceeds.27

Formula funding for each school district begins with the same amount of28
funding per student, known as base per pupil funding.  The base funding amount is29
then adjusted upward for each school district, depending on particular district30
characteristics, to determine a final per pupil funding amount.  These characteristics31
include the total number of students, the local community's cost of living, and the32
percentage of students from lower-income households.33

– 1 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 17Packet Page     517



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
Currently, the state constitution requires that the base funding amount increase1

every year by at least inflation.  The constitution also creates the State Education2
Fund and requires that about 7.2 percent of all income tax revenue be placed in this3
fund to support the annual increase in base per pupil funding.4

The recent recession reduced the amount of state and local tax revenue5
available for P-12 public education funding.  In each of the past three budget years,6
the decline in state revenue caused the legislature to reduce the amount of state7
money going to school districts below what would have been required by the funding8
formula.  Figure 1 compares formula funding and actual funding for each of the last9
three years.  For example, in budget year 2012-13, funding was reduced by about10
$1.0 billion.  In budget year 2010-11, federal stimulus money replaced $216 million of11
state formula funding.12

Figure 1.  Formula Funding Compared to Actual Funding13
Budget Years 2010-11 through 2012-1314

(in Billions)16

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38

Education in the state budget.  P-12 public education funding is the largest39
piece of the state's operating budget.  Since budget year 2000-01, the share of state40
income, sales, and excise tax revenue spent on P-12 public education has ranged41
from 34 to 57 percent, and averaged 46 percent.  In the last budget year, this share42

– 2 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 18Packet Page     518



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
was 40 percent.  Figure 2 displays P-12 public education funding as a percent of total1
state income, sales, and excise tax revenue for budget years 2000-01 through2
2012-13, and the overall average during this period.3

Figure 2.  Share of State Income, Sales, and Excise Tax Revenue 4
Dedicated to Total P-12 Public Education5

Budget Years 2000-01 to 2012-136

7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

Amendment ? establishes a minimum level of education funding.  The28
measure requires that at least 43 percent of state income, sales, and excise tax29
revenue, collected at existing tax rates, be annually dedicated to education-related30
spending.  This effectively establishes a constitutional minimum funding level for31
education that is slightly less than the average share that has been spent on P-1232
public education over the last 13 years (see Figure 2); but is an increase from the33
portion allocated in the 2012-13 budget year.  The measure also removes the existing34
constitutional requirement that the base per pupil amount increase annually by at least35
inflation, and eliminates the transfer of about 7.2 percent of income tax revenue to the36
State Education Fund.37

Amendment ? increases taxes to provide additional revenue for public38
education.  The measure increases the state individual income tax rate to create new39
revenue for P-12 public education.  The measure does not affect the state corporate40
income tax rate.  Currently, Colorado taxpayers pay a flat individual income tax rate of41

– 3 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 19Packet Page     519



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
4.63 percent.  In 1987, the state moved from a graduated income tax structure to a1
single tax rate of 5.0 percent.  This rate was reduced to 4.63 percent in 2000.2

Beginning in tax year 2014, Amendment ? establishes a two-tiered income tax3
rate.  Income tax rates will increase from 4.63 percent to 5.0 percent on the first4
$75,000 of state taxable income, and to 5.9 percent on any taxable income above the5
$75,000 threshold.  The state legislature may adjust this income threshold annually by6
inflation.7

Imposition of this two-tiered tax rate is estimated to increase individual income8
tax revenue to the state by $950 million in budget year 2014-15, the first full year of9
implementation.  This new revenue must be placed in the State Educational10
Achievement Fund created by this measure, and may only be used to fund P-12 public11
education.  The new revenue is exempt from state and school district spending12
limitations contained in the state constitution.13

The two-tiered tax rate structure will have different impacts on taxpayers,14
depending on their household income.  Table 1 shows the estimated change in the yearly15
state income tax liability for four representative households with different income levels. 16
Under the new structure, an estimated 68 percent of households in Colorado will see their17
individual income taxes increase by 8 percent, while the remaining 32 percent will see18
increases at higher levels.19

Table 1.  State Individual Income Tax Increases for 20
Representative Households under Amendment ?21

 22
 23
 24
 25

Gross
Income

Colorado
Taxable
Income*

Current
Law State

Income Tax
Liability

Amendment ?
State Income
Tax Liability

Amount of
Annual

Increase

Percent
Annual

Increase

Household A 26 $50,000 $26,300 $1,218 $1,315 $97 8 %

Household B 27 $100,000 $65,600 $3,037 $3,280 $243 8 %

Household C 28 $150,000 $109,900 $5,088 $5,809 $721 14 %

Household D 29 $200,000 $154,000 $7,130 $8,411 $1,281 18 %

*  Taxable income totals for individual households may vary from the averages displayed in Table 1. 30

Amendment ? triggers a new funding formula in Senate Bill 13-213. 31
Amendment ?  replaces the current statutory formula used to allocate state and local32
funding to school districts.  Amendment ? triggers implementation of33
Senate Bill 13-213, enacted during the 2013 legislative session and signed by the34
Governor.  The bill's new allocation formula also begins with a base per pupil amount,35
but it changes how the base is adjusted.   It places more emphasis on students who 36

– 4 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 20Packet Page     520



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
are at risk of academic failure, defined as students eligible for free- or reduced-price1
lunch through the federal School Lunch Program, or who are English language2
learners.3

The bill also increases funding for kindergarten and preschool students, and4
allocates a portion of state P-12 education funding to help implement recent5
educational reforms passed by the state legislature.  It also changes the way that6
school districts calculate student enrollment.  Under current law, student enrollment is7
based on a count that occurs once during a specified period in October.  Under8
Senate Bill 13-213, starting in the 2017-18 school year, student funding will be based9
on average daily enrollment throughout the school year.10

The bill provides school principals with more control over how money will be11
spent in their schools.  This is intended to help students who are deemed to be at risk12
of academic failure achieve academic targets.  The bill also requires a periodic study13
of the increases in academic achievement resulting from the additional funding and a14
public, school-specific accounting of administrative and teacher expenses.    15

Arguments For16

1)  Investing in public education is the best way to ensure a strong Colorado17
economy capable of competing in today's global market.  One of the top priorities of18
businesses seeking a new location is identifying a well-educated workforce.  Since19
budget year 2008-09, the state legislature has severely cut P-12 funding, with funding20
for the 2013-14 school year $1.0 billion below what it would have been without21
legislative changes to the formula.  Restoring this funding shortfall not only benefits22
the state's schools and communities, but also provides a positive signal to companies23
looking to relocate or to expand in Colorado.24

2)  One of the most important functions of government is to provide a25
high-quality  education  for  children.  To improve schools, the state needs a long-term26
solution that is innovative in approach, accountable for outcomes, and that provides27
transparency to taxpayers. This measure targets areas where research suggests that28
investments are likely to produce improved student outcomes: putting the best29
teachers in the classroom, reducing class sizes, investing in preschool and full-day30
kindergarten, upgrading classroom technology, and giving principals and teachers31
more control over budgeting decisions in their schools.32

For information on those issue committees that support or oppose the measures on
the ballot at the November 5, 2013, election, go to the Colorado Secretary of State's
elections center website hyperlink for ballot and initiative information:

www.sos.state.co.us/pubs/elections/Initiatives/InitiativesHome.html

– 5 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 21Packet Page     521



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
3)  The measure simultaneously restores funding to public schools that have1

suffered severe budget cuts and provides taxpayers with needed accountability by2
measuring how the increased investment will affect student achievement.  The state will3
be required to prepare a return on investment study and a cost study to identify funding4
deficits that affect the performance of school districts and the academic achievement of5
students.  The state will also make detailed expenditure data for each school and district6
available to the general public, allowing for budgetary comparisons between schools.  7

Arguments Against8

1)  Amendment ? is a $950 million tax increase that may impede economic10
expansion at a time when the state’s economy is still recovering.  Increasing state11
income taxes reduces the money that households have to spend or save.  As a result,12
consumer spending and overall economic activity may also decline, negatively13
impacting the competitiveness of Colorado businesses.  The state currently has14
adequate financial resources to implement Senate Bill 13-213 without a tax increase. 15
The legislature set aside $1.1 billion and an estimated $290 million for P-12 public16
education in budget years 2012-13 and 2013-14, respectively.  These recent 17
set-asides are indicative of an expanding economy that may permit adequate18
investment in P-12 public education without additional tax revenue. 19

2)  This measure imposes an additional tax burden on state taxpayers without20
any guarantee of increased academic achievement.  Senate Bill 13-213 makes21
incremental changes to the school funding allocation formula without providing22
significant educational reform.  Instead, the state could allocate money to school23
districts based on school choice and student achievement.  Amendment ? leaves in24
place an outmoded system of delivering education that has proven increasingly costly25
without significant measurable improvements for students on state assessments.26

3)  This measure creates inequity in the funding of P-12 public education as27
taxpayers in some districts will pay more in new taxes than the district will receive in28
new revenue.  All individuals will see a state income tax increase of at least29
8.0 percent to implement the new P-12 education formula, and some will see30
substantially higher percentage increases.  At the same time, under31
Senate Bill 13-213, 37 of 178 school districts will see increases in funding of less than32
8.0 percent.  Thus, the measure maintains a funding structure that uses tax revenue33
from some districts in order to subsidize P-12 education in other districts.34

Estimate of Fiscal Impact 35

State revenue and spending.  Amendment ? is expected to increase state tax36
revenue by $452 million in budget year 2013-14, $950 million in budget year 2014-1537
(the first full year of implementation), and $1,013 million in budget year 2015-16.  The38
amendment requires that all new revenue from the tax increase be used to fund P-1239
public education.40

– 6 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 22Packet Page     522



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
Impact on taxpayers.  The amendment increases individual income tax rates. 1

Income tax rates for individual taxpayers will increase from 4.63 percent to 5.0 percent2
on the first $75,000 of state taxable income, and to 5.9 percent on state taxable3
income above the $75,000 threshold.  The state legislature may adjust this income4
threshold annually by inflation.5

This two-tiered tax rate structure will have different impacts on individual6
taxpayers, depending on their taxable income levels, as shown in Table 1.  For7
instructions on estimating your household's anticipated tax changes under8
Amendment ?, please visit the online tax calculator at (web address to be provided).9

State Spending and Tax Increases10

The state constitution requires that the following fiscal information be provided11
when a tax increase question is on the ballot:12

1) the estimated or actual state spending under the constitutional13
spending limit for the current year and each of the past four years14
with the overall percentage and dollar change; and15

2) for the first full year of the proposed tax increase, an estimate of the16
maximum dollar amount of the tax increase and of state fiscal year17
spending without the increase.18

Table 2 shows the dollar amount of state spending under the constitutional19
spending limit.20

Table 2.  State Spending21

 22
 23

Actual
FY 2009-10*

Actual
FY 2010-11

Actual
FY 2011-12

Estimated
FY 2012-13

Estimated 
FY 2013-14

State24
Spending 25

$8,568
million

$9,425
million

$10,273
million

$11,117
million

$11,501
million

Four-Year Dollar Change in State Spending:  $2,934 million 26

Four-Year Percent Change in State Spending:  34.2 percent 27
*FY = fiscal year.  The state's fiscal (or budget) year runs from July through June. 28

The numbers in Table 2 show state spending from 2010 through 2014 for29
programs that were subject to the constitutional spending limit during those years. 30
However, the constitution allows a program that operates similar to a private business31
to be exempt from the limit if it meets certain conditions.  Because the exempt status32
of some programs has changed during the last five years, the numbers in Table 2 are33
not directly comparable to each other.34

– 7 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 23Packet Page     523



Last Draft as Mailed to Interested Parties
Table 3 shows the revenue expected from the increased income tax rate; state1

fiscal year spending without these taxes for FY 2014-15, the first full fiscal year for2
which the increase would be in place; and the sum of the two.3

Table 3.  Estimated State Fiscal Year Spending4
and the Proposed Tax Rate Increase5

 6
 7

FY 2014-15
Estimate

State Spending Without New Taxes 8 $12,084 million

Revenue from New Income Taxes 9 $950 million

State Spending Plus the New Taxes 10 $13,034 million

– 8 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 24Packet Page     524



Last Draft Comments from Interested Parties
 Initiative #22

Funding for Public Schools

Athena Dalton, representing the Senate Minority Office:

Thank you for the opportunity to weigh in on the latest draft. 

In the second paragraph of Arguments For on page 5, the text states that the measure
targets specific areas likely to improve student outcomes. While SB 213 does
specifically direct revenues to preschool and full-day kindergarten, new technology
projects, and building-level control over budgets, it does not specifically target class
size reduction. Reductions in class sizes are not guaranteed to receive funding under
this reform measure, but the wording of this paragraph implies that money will be
specifically targeted to this purpose. Class size reduction should be deleted from the
list of targeted reforms. 

In the first paragraph of Arguments Against on page 6, the discussion of “set-asides”
for P-12 education may not convey to a voter unfamiliar with the state’s budget
process that this money was set aside, unspent, in a reserve fund specifically for
education in addition to the billions in regular annual spending on education. Additional
clarification around the term “set aside” could improve voters’ understanding of the
state’s ability to fund P-12 education. 

Thanks for all your hard work on this, 

Ben DeGrow, representing the Independence Institute:

Thank you for the opportunity to provide feedback. My comments are as follows:
1. Pg 2, Lines 10-11: Replace “reduced by about $1.0 billion” with the wording used in
Argument For #1 (pg 5): “about $1.0 billion below what it would have been without
legislative changes to the formula.” I still think this clarifies the issue well.
2. Pg 5, after Line 3: Add sentence “School districts with a higher percentage of
these students will receive more money per student.” This key language was included
in the 2nd Draft before being removed. This is an accurate representation of the At-
Risk Factor and ELL Factor on pgs 29 & 30 of the enrolled version of SB 213.
3. Pg 6, Argument Against #1, Lines 11 & 12: Enhance the second sentence as
follows: “Amendment ? unwisely increases state income taxes, reducing the money
that households have to spend or save.”
4. Pg 6, Argument Against #2, Lines 23 & 24: Remove the third sentence and
replace with: “This approach lacks real accountability. No dollars in the new funding
formula will be used to reward schools or districts that show gains in student
achievement.”
5. Pg 6, Argument Against #3: 
a) Add word “substantially” to sentence 1. “…as taxpayers in some districts will pay
substantially more in new taxes than the district will receive in new revenue.” (In a 

– 1 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 25Packet Page     525



Last Draft Comments from Interested Parties
Ben DeGrow, representing the Independence Institute (Cont.):

few districts, I have estimated they will pay close to twice as much. Even if the
estimates haven’t been tested for validity, there can’t be any factual dispute with
characterizing the disparity as substantial in some cases.)
b) Please add at the end of the penultimate sentence: “…and 13 [smaller? Rural?]
districts are estimated to lose dollars under the new proposal.” Table 3B, Column L** 
** http://www.colorado.gov/cs/Satellite?c=Document_C&childpagename=CGA-
LegislativeCouncil%2FDocument_C%2FCLCAddLink&cid=1251642510060&pagenam
e=CLCWrapper 

Ken DeLay, representing the Colorado Association of School Boards:

Please see Attachment A.

Leanne Emm, representing the Colorado Department of Education:

My comments on the initiative blue book are as follows:

Page 3 ︲ line 30 & 31 ︲ "be annually dedicated to education-related spending". 
Comment:  This makes it sound like the funds that are transferred to the State
Education Fund each year from the 43% must also be spent each year.  I do not
believe this is the case ︲ I think the intent is to "transfer" or deposit 43% of the
revenue from taxes, etc., each year into the SEF, but there is no requirement that it
actually be spent each year.  

Suggested verbiage:  ". . . be annually deposited into the State Education Fund to be
used on education-related spending".  

Page 5 ︲ line 10 ︲ change "enrollment" to "membership".  We would be
implementing an Average Daily Membership count system.  The State Board will
determine what constitutes enrollment.

Page 6 ︲ line 7 ︲ change "budgetary" to "expenditure".  In SB213, there is a
requirement to report expenditures at the school level ︲ not budgets.

Page 6 ︲ line 38 " ︵the first full year of implementation ︶" ︲ this sounds like the
SB213 will also be implemented in 2014-15.  Suggested verbiage:  " ︵the first full year
of increased tax revenue ︶"

Thank you for the opportunity to review.

– 2 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 26Packet Page     526



Last Draft Comments from Interested Parties
Curtis Hubbard, representing Colorado Commits to Kids:

COMMENTS ON BLUE BOOK 3rd DRAFT

Page 1, lines 7-10: the description for the new tax increments is much improved. We 
 are suggesting a simpler and clearer way to describe. Section should be amended
with NEW LANGUAGE as follows:

raises the state individual income tax rate from 4.63 percent to 5.0 percent NEW
LANGUAGE BEGIN for individuals with taxable income under $75,000.
Individuals with taxable income of more than $75,000 would pay 5.0% on their
first $75,000, and then 5.9% on any taxable income above that amount. END
NEW LANGUAGE

Page 1, lines 13-15: AMEND LANGUAGE
The proposed language clarifies that the initiative repeals the inflationary driver that is
currently mandated under Amendment 23. The language as drafted could mislead
voters that there no longer would be a set per pupil funding level going forward.

repeals the constitutional requirement that NEW LANGUAGE BEGIN the rate of
inflation determines the minimum annual increase in END NEW LANGUAGE
base per pupil funding for public education increase by at least the rate of inflation
annually;

Page 1, at the end of line 18: ADD NEW LANGUAGE
The current list does not clearly identify the new revenue raised from the income tax
increase. The “existing” qualifier on income tax rates in lines 16-18 is not sufficient to
achieve this aim and without further information might mislead voters into thinking we
are defunding public education. The new language seeks to clarifies this.

pay for public education. NEW LANGUAGE BEGIN Accordingly, this 43% does not
include the additional $950 million in income tax revenue that would be
collected for public education. NEW LANGUAGE END.

Page 1, line 27: We question the inclusion of the additional revenue sources as
written. There are limitations on many of these revenues sources in how they can be
used and their availability to districts. As drafted, it implies that district revenue from
private grants is widespread, when in fact only a few districts have sizeable grants,
and that the lawful use of bond proceeds are wide, when they are very limited for only
capital needs. These revenue sources should either be removed from the list or
include qualifiers explaining their use and limitations.

Page 2, line 11: The reference to federal stimulus money should include reference to it
being one-time in nature as in the graphic. Simply including the budget year does not
clearly state that this funding was limited.

In budget year 2010-11, NEW LANGUAGE BEGIN one-time END NEW LANGUAGE
federal stimulus money replaced $216 million of state formula funding.Page 3, lines
36: It is not clear from the language that the transfer of the 7.2 percent is replaced by 

– 3 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 27Packet Page     527



Last Draft Comments from Interested Parties
Curtis Hubbard, representing Colorado Commits to Kids (Cont.):

the transfer of the 43% of the income, sales, and excise tax revenue. This could
mislead voters that there is a loss of education funding.

And eliminates replaces the transfer of about 7.2 percent of income tax revenue to
the State Education Fund NEW LANGUAGE BEGIN with 43% of the income, sales,
and excise tax revenue from the General Fund.

Page 3, lines 40-41: the language singles out only one type of tax that is unchanged
by the measure when there are several tax types that are unchanged such as property
tax and sales tax. The other unchanged tax types should be added, or this sentence
should be deleted.

Page 4, line 1: While the text and information in Table 1 are much improved around
the issue of explain taxable income in comparison to gross income, there remains a
need to directly state this fact. We suggest the addition as follows:

4.63 percent BEGIN NEW LANGAUGE on taxable income, which is lower than a
taxpayer’s gross income as shown in Table 1. END NEW LANGUAGE

Page 4, lines 3-7: as suggested earlier, we recommend the following language to
more simply and clearly explain the two-step tax:

Beginning in tax year 2014, Amendment ? establishes a two-tiered income tax rate.
BEGIN NEW LANGUAGE Individuals with taxable income under $75,000 will pay
5.0%. Individuals with taxable income of more than $75,000 would pay 5.0% on
their first $75,000, and then 5.9% on any taxable income above that amount. 

Page 4, at end of line 19 and Table 1: ADD NEW LANGUAGE 
This section seeks to inform voters about the expected costs of the ballot initiative.
However, we think it would give voters a better understanding of the impact of the tax
increase if the text and table referenced the median taxable income in Colorado is
$57,000 and results in approximately $133 annually. This is an important addition to
the values currently listed in the table, and would be of significant help to voters in
understanding the position of the median Coloradan. 

Page 5, lines 12-13: revise reference to helping at-risk students to better clarify the
purpose of providing principals greater control over budgets. 

This is intended to NEW LANGUAGE BEGIN help schools provide the
individualized attention and resources needed to serve their students.

Page 5, lines 13-15: while the description of the bill is greatly improved, there still
needs to be a reference to the past reform laws funded by the bill. We recommend the
following language:

– 4 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 28Packet Page     528



Last Draft Comments from Interested Parties
Curtis Hubbard, representing Colorado Commits to Kids (Cont.):

It also supports recent education legislation that have redesigned Colorado’s
education system including, Senate Bill 08-212: Colorado’s Achievement Plan
for Kids; Senate Bill 09-163: The Education Accountability Act; Senate
Bill 10-191: The Great Teachers and Great Leaders Act; and House Bill 12-1238:
Colorado Reading to Ensure Academic Development Act (Colorado READ Act).

Page 5, lines 17-34: Reorder arguments 1 and 2. 

We think this section reads better and more naturally if arguments 1 and 2 are
swapped in position, so that the argument reading “One of the most important
functions of government…” comes first. This argument is more education-related, and
therefore more to the heart of the initiative. The other argument relates more to the
economy and the state budget cuts, and therefore should be listed second.

Page 6, lines 14-19: To be factually accurate, this statement should say that the state
has adequate resources to implement SB 213 for one year. There is no evidence to
suggest the state will have an additional $1 billion annually for the foreseeable future.

Page 6, lines 24-26: Remove the language that says our education system is
increasingly costly. Education expenditures in Colorado have not even kept pace with
inflation, much less outpaced it as demonstrated by Figure 1 on page 2 of the blue
book. Although K-12 expenditures on a national scale have increased in real terms,
that is not the case in Colorado.

Page 6, line 27-34: this argument is inaccurate in that it implies that the initiative is
establishing a new system of using state revenues to support local schools. In fact, it
has been a long-standing policy of the state to provide equalization dollars so that all
local districts can pay for what is expected of them by state law and is not created new
by this initiative. We recommend changing the word “subsidize”, as used in line 34, to
“support” to more appropriately describe the system as it exists. The measure is not
changing the structure simply reprioritizing how funding flows. 

Page 7, lines2-5: as suggested earlier, we recommend the following language to more
simply and clearly explain the two-step tax:

Individuals with taxable income under $75,000 will pay 5.0%. Individuals with
taxable income of more than $75,000 would pay 5.0% on their first $75,000, and
then 5.9% on any taxable income above that amount. The state legislature may
adjust this income threshold annually by inflation.

Dan Pilcher, representing the Colorado Association of Commerce and Industry:

Good morning.
I wanted to bring to your attention some concerns that we here at the Colorado
Association of Commerce and Industry (CACI) have about how Initiative 22 is being 

– 5 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 29Packet Page     529



Last Draft Comments from Interested Parties
Dan Pilcher, representing the Colorado Association of Commerce and Industry (Cont.):

presented not only publicly by its proponents but also how it is described in the three
Bluebook drafts to date, specifically as it pertains to the impact on businesses.
Proponents of Initiative 22 have touted the fact that the measure will not increase the
corporate income tax, which is correct.
Initiative 22 says that the tax increase will apply to “individuals, estates and trusts.”
But the measure, nonetheless, will have a discriminatory effect on the business
community, especially small businesses, which should not be ignored in the debate
about Initiative 22.
The reason is that a business owner who operates as a “sole proprietorship” or two or
more business owners who operate as a “general partnership,” “limited partnership,”
“limited liability company (LLC)” and “S Corporation” file their tax returns as
individuals.
In addition, “limited liability partnerships” and “limited liability limited partnerships” will
be taxed as partnerships unless they elect to be taxed as corporations. For more
information on these types of businesses, read The Colorado Business Resource
Guide.
Consequently, these businesses will not be excluded from the increase in the
individual income tax rate that Initiative 22 will impose.
The projected impact of the proposal on these small businesses is not clear yet.

Patrick Pratt, representing the South Metro Denver Chamber:

Hello,
In Section 1 of the “Arguments Against” section, the Blue Book should mention that
businesses registered as S-Corps (Colorado has more than 30,000 of them), LLCs,
partnerships, and sole proprietors pay taxes at the same rate as individuals which will
increase the burden on small business and hurt Colorado’s economic competitiveness.

I've copied our President & CEO -- John Brackney, Vice-Chair of Public Policy -- Jeff
Wasden, Chair-Elect of the Board -- Herm Brocksmith, and Chair of the Board -- Lisa
D'Ambrosia as an FYI.

Thank you for your consideration

– 6 –

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 30Packet Page     530



Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 31Packet Page     531



Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 32Packet Page     532



Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 33Packet Page     533



Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 34Packet Page     534



INITIATIVE #22
FUNDING FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS

CONTACT LIST

Linda Adams
Colorado AEYC
P.O. Box 631326
Highlands Ranch, CO 80163
e-mail: caeyc@ColoradoAEYC.org

Bruce Atchison, Director
Education Commission of the States
e-mail: batchison@ecs.org

Sally Augden
League of Women Voters
e-mail: saugden2@comcast.net

Melodie Beck
Phone: 303-866-2263
e-mail: melodie.beck@state.co.us

Guy G. Bellville, Chief Financial Officer
Cherry Creek Schools
4700 S. Yosemite St.
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Phone: 720-554-4344
e-mail: gbellville@cherrycreekschools.org

Charlene Bertolino
Trinidad School District #1
2656 Cuchara St.
Trinidad, CO 81082
e-mail: bertolinofamily@comcast.net

Ed Bowditch
Phone: 303-489-8680
e-mail: edbowditch@aol.com

Representative John Buckner
e-mail: john.buckner.house@state.co.us

Rory Carlin
e-mail: rory.carlin@me.com

Bruce Caughey
Colorado Association of School Executives
4101 S. Bannock Street
Englewood, CO 80110
e-mail: bcaughey@co-case.org

Jim Cole
Colorado Legislative Services
1410 Grant St., Suite D-110
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303-832-1061
e-mail: jim@lobby4co.com

Fran Coleman
Coleman Consulting
P.O. Box 46096
Denver, CO 80201
Phone: 303-935-2174
e-mail: fran@consultcoleman.com

Kristina A. Cook
e-mail: serviceinliberty@comcast.net

Representative Lois Court
780 Elizabeth St.
Denver, CO 80206
e-mail: lois.court.house@state.co.us

Gerry Cummins
League of Women Voters of Colorado
1410 Grant St., Suite B-204
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303-771-0115
e-mail: gerry.cummins@prodigy.net

Athena Dalton
Senate Minority Office
e-mail: athena.dalton@state.co.us

-1-

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 35Packet Page     535



INITIATIVE #22
FUNDING FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS

CONTACT LIST

Brita Darling
Office of Legislative Legal Services
Room 091 State Capitol
Denver, CO 80203
e-mail: brita.darling@state.co.us

Ken DeLay
Colorado Association of School Boards
1200 Grant Street
Denver, CO 80203-2306
Phone: 303-832-1000
e-mail: kdelay@casb.org

Steve Durham
Distilled Spirits Council of the United States
Denver, CO 80203
225 E. 16th Avenue, Suite 260
e-mail: sdurham@tde.com

Wayne Eckerling
Charter School Institute Board of Directors
e-mail: weckerli@comcast.net

Leanne Emm
Colorado Department of Education
201 East Colfax Room 206
Denver, CO 80201
Phone: 303-866-6202
e-mail: emm_l@cde.state.co.us

Todd Engdahl
Education News Colorado
Phone: 303-929-4547
e-mail: tengdahl@ednewscolorado.org

Representative Justin Everett
e-mail: justin.everett.house@state.co.us 

Mark Fermanich
Augenblick, Palaich and Associates
e-mail: mlf@apaconsulting.net

Representative Rhonda Fields
e-mail: rhonda.fields.house@state.co.us

Andrew Freedman
e-mail:andrew@coloradocommitstokids.com

Greg Fulton
The Civic Canopy
3532 Franklin St., Suite G
Denver, CO 80205
Phone: 303-292-3144 x213
e-mail: bill@civiccanopy.org

Reid Galbraith
e-mail: rmgalbraith@coe.edu

Megan  Gilchrest
e-mail: Megan@bbmk.com

William Gohl
e-mail: wmgohl@gmail.com

Micki Hackenberger
Axiom Strategies
e-mail: micki@axiomstrategiesinc.com

Representative Millie Hamner
Phone: 303-866-2952
e-mail: rephamner@gmail.com

Senator Rollie Heath
2455 Vassar Drive
Boulder, CO 80305
e-mail: rollie.heath.senate@state.co.us

Ethan Hemming
Colorado Charter School Institute
1580 Logan St., Suite 210
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303-866-2704
e-mail: ethanhemming@csi.state.co.us

-2-

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 36Packet Page     536



INITIATIVE #22
FUNDING FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS

CONTACT LIST

Jennifer Herrera
Colfax Community Network
1585 Kingston St.
Aurora, CO 80010
Phone: 303-360-9175
e-mail: Jennifer@colfaxcommunitynetwork.org

Senator Owen Hill
e-mail: owen.hill.senate@state.co.us

Mary Kay Hogan
e-mail: marykay.hogan@dutkograyling.com

Representative Chris Holbert
e-mail: chris.holbert.house@state.co.us

Curtis Hubbard
On Sight Public Affairs
Phone: 303-908-2378
e-mail: curtis@onsightpublicaffairs.com

Senator Evie Hudak
7649 Harlan Way
Westminster, CO 80003
e-mail: senatorhudak@gmail.com

Spencer Imel
Phone: 303-866-2972
e-mail: spencer.imel@state.co.us

Bill Jaeger
Vice President of Early Childhood Initiatives
Colorado Children's Campaign
1580 Lincoln St., Suite 420
Denver, CO 80203
e-mail: william.p.jaeger@gmail.com

Senator Michael Johnston
P.O. Box 40700
Denver, CO 80204
Phone: 720-838-7633
e-mail: mike@mikejohnston.org

Senator Andy Kerr
9206 W. Alameda Ave.
Lakewood, CO 80226
e-mail: andy.kerr.senate@state.co.us

Scott Laband
Colorado Succeeds
Phone: 303-893-0707
e-mail: Slaband@coloradosucceeds.org

Representative Lois Landgraf
e-mail: lois.landgraf.house@state.co.us

Jennifer Landrum, Chief Executive Officer
Denver Preschool Program
305 Park Avenue West, Suite B
Denver, CO 80205
Phone: 720-287-5055
e-mail: jennifer@dpp.org

Jana Locke
Colorado Department of Public Safety
e-mail: jana.locke@state.co.us

Senator Vicki Marble
e-mail: vicki.marble.senate@state.co.us

Mary Webb Martin
Colorado Department of Public Health and
Environment
Phone: 303-692-2321
e-mail: maryw.martin@state.co.us

-3-

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 37Packet Page     537



INITIATIVE #22
FUNDING FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS

CONTACT LIST

Mike Melanson
Onsight Public Affairs
e-mail: mike@onsightpublicaffairs.com

Andrea Molarius
Colorado Head Start Association
e-mail: andrea@coloheadstart.org

Ann Morrison
Metropolitan State University
e-mail: cmorri46@msudenver.edu

Representative Carole Murray
e-mail: murrayhouse45@gmail.com

Nicole Myers
Office of Legislative Legal Services
Room 091 State Capitol
Denver, CO 80203
e-mail: nicole.myers@state.co.us

Damion Lee Natali, Chief of Staff
Office of Senator Mike Johnston
e-mail: dleenatali@mikejohnston.org

Hanna Nichols, Policy Analyst
Colorado Children's Campaign
1580 Lincoln St., Suite 420
Denver, CO 80203 
Phone: 303-620-4573
e-mail: hanna@coloradokids.org

Mary Nichols
Littleon Public Schools
5776 S. Crocker St.
Littleton, CO 80120
e-mail: marynicholsboe@lps.k12.co.us

Paula Noonan
7140 S. Depew St.
Littleton, CO 80128
e-mail: penoonan@comcast.net

Dan O'Connell
Colorado Children's Campaign
1580 Lincoln St., Suite 420
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303-620-4569
e-mail: dan@coloradokids.org

Sara Odendahl
Aponte & Busam Public Affairs
Phone: 303-506-2348
e-mail: sodendahl@aponte-busam.com

Representative Cherylin Peniston
Phone: 303-866-2843
e-mail: cpeniston@msn.com

Representative Brittany Petterson
e-mail: brittany.pettersen.house@state.co.us

Reilly Pharo
Colorado Children's Campaign
1580 Lincoln St., Suite 420
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303-620-4534
e-mail: reilly@coloradokids.org

Daniel E. Pilcher
Colorado Assoc. of Commerce & Industry
1600 Broadway, Suite 1000
Denver, CO 80202
Phone: 303-866-9600
e-mail: dpilcher@COchamber.com

Dennis Polhill
e-mail: Dpolhill@aol.com

-4-

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 38Packet Page     538



INITIATIVE #22
FUNDING FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS

CONTACT LIST

Representative Kevin Priola
12255 Ursula St.
Henderson, CO 80640
e-mail: kpriola@gmail.com

Tracie Rainey
e-mail: raineytracie@gmail.com

Amy Redfern
Aponte & Busam Public Affairs
1580 Logan, #510
Denver, CO 80207
Phone: 303-837-5435
e-mail: aredfern@aponte-busam.com

Senator Scott Renfroe
3201 Grandview Drive
Greeley, CO 80631
e-mail: scott.renfroe.senate@state.co.us

Jeani Frickey Saito
JFS Public Affairs Group
600 Grant St, #208
Denver, CO 80203
e-mail: jfrickey@jfspublicaffairs.com

Tonette Salazar
Salazar & Associates
Phone: 720-231-1425
e-mail: tonette.salazar@gmail.com

Senator Mark Scheffel
9791 Summit Ridge Place
Parker, CO 80138
e-mail: mark.scheffel.senate@state.co.us

Jason Schrock
Phone: 303-866-3174
e-mail: jason.schrock@state.co.us

Alexis Senger
Phone: 303-866-2999
e-mail: alexis.senger@state.co.us

Henry Sobanet
Phone: 303-866-2984
e-mail: henry.sobanet@state.co.us

Cindy Sovine
e-mail: Cindy@SovineMiller.com

Paula Stephenson
Colorado Rural Schools Caucus
e-mail: ruralcaucus@gmail.com

Judith Stokes
Branson District RE-82
Phone: 303-805-9804
e-mail: jstokes@bransonschoolonline.com

Richard Sweetman
Office of Legislative Legal Services
Room 091 State Capitol
Denver, CO 80203
e-mail: richard.sweetman@state.co.us

Jan Tanner
Board of Education School District 11
e-mail: tannerjj@gmail.com

Dana Thomson
Harrison School District Two
1060 Harrison Road
Colorado Springs, CO 80906
Phone: 719-579-2037
e-mail: dthomson@hsd2.org

Senator Nancy Todd
e-mail: nancy.todd.senate@state.co.us

Heather Tritten
Qualistar Colorado
Phone: 303-339-6806
e-mail: htritten@qualistar.org

-5-

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 39Packet Page     539



INITIATIVE #22
FUNDING FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS

CONTACT LIST

Mark Turner
Colorado Nonprofit Association
789 Sherman St., Suite 240
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303-832-5710
e-mail: MTurner@ColoradoNonprofits.org

Jane Urschel
Colorado Association of School Boards
1200 Grant Street
Denver, CO 80203-2306
Phone: 303-832-1000
e-mail: jurschel@casb.org

Garin Vorthmann
Colorado Legislative Services
1410 Grant St., Suite D-110
Denver, CO 80203
e-mail: garin@lobby4co.com

Cathy  Wanstrath
e-mail: cathywanstrath@q.com

Jennifer Webster
Denver Metro Chamber of Commerce
1445 Market St.
Denver, CO 80202
Phone: 303-620-8033
e-mail: jennifer.webster@denverchamber.org

Karen  Wick
Colorado Education Association
1500 Grant Street
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303-837-1500
e-mail: kwick@coloradoea.org

Representative James Wilson
e-mail: james.wilson.house@state.co.us

Christopher Wright
District 49 School District
e-mail: chris.bhome@gmail.com

Molly Yost
Clayton Early Learning
e-mail: myost@claytonearlylearning.org

Representative Dave Young
e-mail:  dave.young.house@state.co.us

-6-

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 40Packet Page     540



Initiative #22
Funding for Public Schools

Ballot Title:  SHALL STATE TAXES BE INCREASED BY $950,100,000 ANNUALLY IN THE1
FIRST FULL FISCAL YEAR AND BY SUCH AMOUNTS AS ARE RAISED THEREAFTER BY2
AMENDMENTS TO THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION AND THE COLORADO REVISED3
STATUTES CONCERNING FUNDING FOR PRESCHOOL THROUGH TWELFTH-GRADE PUBLIC4
EDUCATION, AND, IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, INCREASING THE CURRENT STATE INCOME5
TAX RATE ON INDIVIDUALS, ESTATES, AND TRUSTS AND IMPOSING AN ADDITIONAL RATE6
SO HIGHER AMOUNTS OF INCOME ARE TAXED AT HIGHER RATES; REQUIRING THE7
RESULTING INCREASES IN TAX REVENUES BE SPENT ONLY FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO8
PRESCHOOL THROUGH TWELFTH-GRADE PUBLIC EDUCATION; ALLOWING ALL TAX9
REVENUES ATTRIBUTABLE TO THIS MEASURE TO BE COLLECTED AND SPENT WITHOUT10
FUTURE VOTER APPROVAL; REQUIRING AT LEAST 43% OF STATE SALES, EXCISE, AND11
INCOME TAX REVENUES BE DEPOSITED IN THE STATE EDUCATION FUND; AND REPEALING12
CERTAIN EXISTING PUBLIC EDUCATION FUNDING REQUIREMENTS?13

Text of Measure:14

Be it Enacted by the People of the State of Colorado:15

SECTION 1.  In the constitution of the state of Colorado, section 17 of16
article IX, amend (1), (2), and (4) and add (6), (7), and (8) as follows:17

Section 17.  Education – funding.18

(1) Purpose.  In state fiscal year 2001-2002 through state fiscal year19
2010-2011, the statewide base per pupil funding, as defined by the Public School20
Finance Act of 1994, article 54 of title 22, Colorado Revised Statutes, on the21
effective date of this section, for public education from preschool through the22
twelfth grade and total state funding for all categorical programs shall grow23
annually at least by the rate of inflation plus an additional one percentage point. 24
In state fiscal year 2011-2012, and each fiscal year thereafter,  FOR STATE FISCAL25
YEARS 2011-2012 THROUGH 2013-2014, the statewide base per pupil funding for26
public education from preschool through the twelfth grade and total state funding27
for all categorical programs shall grow annually at a rate set by the general28
assembly that is at least equal to the rate of inflation.29

(2) Definitions. (c) "INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL30
FUNDING" MEANS THE INCOME TAX CHANGES APPROVED BY THE VOTERS AT THE31

1

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 41Packet Page     541



2013 GENERAL ELECTION FOR PRESCHOOL AND PUBLIC SCHOOL KINDERGARTEN1
THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE FUNDING.2

(4) State education fund created.  (a) There is hereby created in the3
department of the treasury the state education fund.  Beginning on the effective4
date of this measure, AND THROUGH JUNE 30, 2014, all state revenues collected5
from a tax of one third of one percent on federal taxable income, as modified by6
law, of every individual, estate, trust and corporation, as defined in law, shall be7
deposited in the state education fund.  Revenues generated from a tax of one8
third of one percent on federal taxable income, as modified by law, of every9
individual, estate, trust and corporation, as defined in law, shall not be subject to10
the limitation on fiscal year spending set forth in article X, section 20 of the11
Colorado constitution.  BEGINNING IN STATE FISCAL YEAR 2014-2015, THE STATE12
EDUCATION FUND SHALL, AT A MINIMUM, RECEIVE FORTY-THREE PERCENT OF13
SALES, EXCISE, AND INCOME TAX REVENUE COLLECTED IN THE GENERAL FUND IN14
A MANNER AS TO EQUAL SUCH PERCENTAGE IN RELATION TO THE REVENUE15
GENERATED BY THE TAX RATES IN EFFECT ON DECEMBER 31, 2012 NET OF ANY16
REFUNDS REQUIRED BY SECTION 20,  SUBSECTIONS (3)(c) AND (7) OF ARTICLE X17
OF THIS CONSTITUTION.  All interest earned on monies in the state education fund18
shall be deposited in the state education fund and shall be used before any19
principal is depleted.  Monies remaining in the state education fund at the end of20
any fiscal year shall remain in the fund and not revert to the general fund.21

(6)  STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND.22

(a)  THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND IS CREATED IN THE23
STATE TREASURY. 24

(b)  THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OR ITS SUCCESSOR AGENCY SHALL25
ANNUALLY DETERMINE THE AMOUNT OF THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC26
SCHOOL FUNDING.  SUCH AMOUNTS SHALL BE DEPOSITED IN THE STATE27
EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND.28

(c)  THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND SHALL BE29
APPROPRIATED TO BENEFIT THE EDUCATION OF PARTICIPANTS IN PRESCHOOL30
PROGRAMS AND PUBLIC SCHOOL KINDERGARTEN THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE31
STUDENTS BY IMPLEMENTING EDUCATIONAL REFORMS AND PROGRAMMATIC32
ENHANCEMENTS, ENACTED BY THE COLORADO GENERAL ASSEMBLY.33

(d)  THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND SHALL BE AUDITED34
ANNUALLY BY THE STATE AUDITOR TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THIS ARTICLE. 35
THE RESULTS OF SUCH AUDIT SHALL BE A PUBLIC DOCUMENT THAT IS36
TRANSMITTED TO THE GOVERNOR, THE PRESIDENT AND MINORITY LEADER OF THE37
SENATE, AND THE SPEAKER AND THE MINORITY LEADER OF THE HOUSE OF38

2

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 42Packet Page     542



REPRESENTATIVES.  SUCH AUDIT SHALL BE CONSPICUOUSLY PLACED ON THE1
WEBSITES OF THE STATE AUDITOR AND THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF2
EDUCATION OR THEIR SUCCESSOR AGENCIES.3

(e) ALL INTEREST EARNED ON MONIES IN THE STATE EDUCATIONAL4
ACHIEVEMENT FUND SHALL BE DEPOSITED IN THE STATE EDUCATIONAL5
ACHIEVEMENT FUND AND SHALL BE USED BEFORE ANY PRINCIPAL IS DEPLETED.6
MONIES REMAINING IN THE STATE EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT FUND AT THE END7
OF ANY FISCAL YEAR SHALL REMAIN IN THE FUND AND NOT REVERT OR BE8
TRANSFERRED TO THE GENERAL OR ANY OTHER FUND.9

(7)  NEW REVENUE TO SUPPLEMENT PREVIOUS YEAR EDUCATION10
FUNDING.  REVENUES COLLECTED FROM THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC11
SCHOOL FUNDING SHALL BE USED TO SUPPLEMENT REVENUES THAT WERE12
APPROPRIATED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY IN THE PREVIOUS FISCAL YEAR FOR13
KINDERGARTEN THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE AND PRESCHOOL EDUCATION AND14
SHALL NOT BE USED TO SUPPLANT ANY PORTION OF THOSE PREVIOUSLY15
APPROPRIATED REVENUES.  16

(8)  REVENUE AND SPENDING LIMITATIONS.  ALL REVENUES17
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING OR18
OTHERWISE ADDRESSED BY SUBSECTION (6) SHALL BE COLLECTED AND SPENT AS19
VOTER-APPROVED REVENUE CHANGES WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY LIMITATION ON20
REVENUE, SPENDING, OR APPROPRIATIONS, CONTAINED IN SECTION 20 OF ARTICLE21
X OF THIS CONSTITUTION OR ANY OTHER LAW.  SPENDING OF SUCH REVENUE,22
CONSISTENT WITH THE EXPRESSED INTENTION OF THE VOTERS AT THE 201323
ELECTION, SHALL REQUIRE NO ADDITIONAL VOTER APPROVAL AT ANY STATE OR24
LOCAL ELECTION.25

SECTION 2.  In the constitution of the state of Colorado, section 20 of26
article X, amend (8):27

(8) Revenue limits.  (a) New or increased transfer tax rates on real28
property are prohibited.  No new state real property tax or local district income29
tax shall be imposed.  Neither an income tax rate increase nor a new state30
definition of taxable income shall apply before the next tax year.  Any income tax31
law change after July 1, 1992 shall also require all taxable net income to be taxed32
at one rate, excluding refund tax credits or voter-approved tax credits, with no33
added tax or surcharge; EXCEPT THAT MULTIPLE RATES SHALL APPLY TO TAXABLE34
NET INCOME OF INDIVIDUALS, TRUSTS, AND ESTATES, IF SPECIFIC RATE INCREASES35
IN EXCESS OF THE TAX RATE IN EFFECT ON THE DAY OF AN ELECTION ARE36

3

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 43Packet Page     543



APPROVED BY VOTERS FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING AN INCOME TAX1
INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING.2

SECTION 3.   In Colorado Revised Statutes, 39-22-104, amend (1.7) as3
follows:4

39-22-104. Income tax imposed on individuals, estates, and trusts –5
single rate – definitions – repeal.  (1.7) Except as otherwise provided in section6
39-22-627, subject to subsection (2) of this section, with respect to taxable years7
commencing on or after January 1, 2000, a tax of four and sixty-three one8
hundredths percent is imposed on the federal taxable income, as determined9
pursuant to section 63 of the internal revenue code, of every individual, estate,10
and trust.  IN ADDITION TO THE TAX RATE AUTHORIZED IN THIS SUBSECTION ON11
FEDERAL TAXABLE INCOME OF INDIVIDUALS, ESTATES, AND TRUSTS, AN INCOME12
TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING SHALL BE IMPOSED ON THE13
FEDERAL TAXABLE INCOME OF SUCH TAXPAYERS:14

(a)  UP TO AND INCLUDING $75,000, AT THE RATE OF THIRTY-SEVEN ONE15
HUNDREDTHS PERCENT; AND16

(b)  OVER $75,000, AT THE RATE OF ONE AND TWENTY-SEVEN ONE17
HUNDREDTHS PERCENT.18

THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY MAY ANNUALLY ADJUST THE INCOME THRESHOLDS FOR19
THE INCOME TAX INCREMENT FOR PUBLIC SCHOOL FUNDING FOR INFLATION FROM20
THE PREVIOUS YEAR.21

SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  THESE VOTER-ENACTED PROVISIONS22
SHALL TAKE EFFECT ON JANUARY 1, 2014.23

4

Attachment C

Agenda Item 8B     Page 44Packet Page     544



 
 

 
 
 

TO: Members of Council 
FROM: Dianne Marshall, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE: September 17, 2013 

SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 

1. Call Ups 
  A. Vacation of a 1,420 square foot portion of an existing utility easement 

bisecting the property at 2085 Balsam Drive (ADR2013-00150). 
 B. Landmark Alteration Certificate to demolish an existing house and in 

its place construct a two-story, 3,300 sq. ft. house at 420 Spruce Street 
in the Mapleton Hill Historic District, per section 9-11-18 of the 
Boulder Revised Code (HIS2013-00184). This Landmark Alteration 
Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than September 
17, 2013. 
 

2. Information Item 
 A. North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Update 
 B. Snow and Ice Control Program and Sidewalk Snow Removal 

Enforcement  
 

3. Boards and Commissions 
 A. Landmarks Board – July 18, 2013 
 B. Landmarks Board – August 7, 2013 
 C. Library Commission – September 4, 2013 

 
4. Declarations 

 None. 
 

 

Packet Page     545



 

Packet Page     546



 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
 Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
 Sloane Walbert, Associate Planner 
 
Date:   September 17, 2013 
 
Subject: Call-Up Item:  Vacation of a 1,420 square foot portion of an existing utility easement 

bisecting the property at 2085 Balsam Drive (ADR2013-00150). 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The applicant requests vacation of a 1,420 square foot portion of an existing twenty-foot utility 
easement at 2085 Balsam Drive (refer to Attachment D for exact location). The easement was 
originally dedicated on the Hillcrest Subdivision plat, recorded February 21, 1951. There is no 
public need for this portion of the utility easement because all utilities previously located in the 
easement have been relocated to the north side of Balsam Drive. A 6-foot private utility easement 
has been granted for the relocated power lines on the subject property. The proposed vacation was 
approved by staff on August 27, 2013. There is one scheduled City Council meeting on September 
17, 2013 within the 30 day call-up period. 
 
CODE REQUIREMENTS:  
Pursuant to the procedures for easement vacations set forth in subsection 8-6-10(b), B.R.C. 1981, 
the city manager has approved the vacation of a 1,420 square foot portion of the existing twenty-
foot utility easement. The date of final staff approval of the easement vacation was 
August 27, 2013 (refer to Attachment E, Notice of Disposition).  This vacation does not require 
approval through ordinance based on the following criteria:  
 

 It has never been open to the public; and 
 It has never carried regular vehicular or pedestrian traffic.  

 
The vacation will be effective 30 days later on September 26, 2013 unless the approval is called up 
by City Council.  
 

Packet Page     547



FISCAL IMPACTS: 
None identified. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS:  
 Economic: None identified. 

 
 Environmental: None identified.  
 
 Social: None identified.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject property is located north of and adjacent to Balsam Drive, west of 22nd Street, in a 
Residential - Low 1 (RL-1) zone district (refer to Attachment A, Vicinity Map). The property is 
encumbered by a 20-foot utility easement that crosses the property in an east-west direction 
approximately 70 feet back from the front property line (please refer to Attachment B, Site Plan). 
The easement significantly limits any additions which may be made to the existing single family 
home on the property. The applicant is interested in building a two story addition on north side of 
existing residence in the current easement area.  
 
The portion of easement to be vacated was originally dedicated for electric and telephone services 
in 1951. These services have since been moved to the north side of Balsam Drive. The power lines 
have recently been placed underground along the front property line and a 6-foot private utility 
easement has been granted to Public Service Company of Colorado (Xcel) for the relocated power 
lines. There are no public or private utilities located in the easement. Several neighboring parcels 
on the north side of Balsam Drive have also vacated the subject easement (reception no. 02108187, 
2909934, and 03326353). 
 
A concrete walk, concrete steps, and a retaining wall currently encroach into the subject easement. 
Given that there is no public need for the easement for which it was intended, failure to vacate the 
requested portion of easement would cause hardship to the property owner by limiting the 
development potential of the property.     
 
ANALYSIS:  
Staff finds the proposed vacation of a 1,420 square foot portion of an existing twenty-foot utility 
easement consistent with the standard set forth in subsection (b) of section 8-6-10, “Vacation of 
Public Easements”, B.R.C. 1981. All agencies having an interest in the easement have indicated 
that no need exists, at present or in the future, for that portion of the easement to be vacated. Staff 
has determined that no public need exists for the portion of easement to be vacated due to the fact 
that all public utilities have been relocated to the north side of Balsam Drive.  
 
No vacation of a public easement shall be approved unless the approving agency finds that: 
 
    1. Change is not contrary to the public interest. 

    2. All agencies having a conceivable interest have indicated that no need exists, either 
in the present or conceivable future, for its original purpose or other public purpose. 

    3. Consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations. 

Packet Page     548



    a. Failure to vacate the easement would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the 
property consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations; or 

The easement is no longer necessary because all utilities have been relocated to the 
north side of Balsam Drive. The building site on this lot is currently limited by the 
utility easement. The applicant would like to build a two-story addition in the 
subject easement area. 

 N/A  b. Would provide a greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present 
status. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS:  
Notice of the vacation will be advertised in the Daily Camera within the 30 day call up period. 
Staff has received no written or verbal comments adverse to the vacation.  
 
NEXT STEPS:  
If the requested vacation is not called up by City Council then the Deed of Vacation (Attachment  
C) will be recorded. If the requested vacation is called up, and subsequently denied, the applicant 
will be limited to development on the property outside of the easement area. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A:   Vicinity Map 
Attachment B:   Site Plan 
Attachment C:   Deed of Vacation 
Attachment D:  Exhibit A 
Attachment E:  Notice of Disposition 
 

 

Packet Page     549



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     550



ATTACHMENT A  
VICINITY MAP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BALSAM DR 

22
N

D
 S

T 

  EDGEWOOD DR 

PANORAMA AVE 

2085 Balsam Dr 

Packet Page     551



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     552



ATTACHMENT B  
SITE PLAN 

GRAPE AVE 

Subject 
Easement 

Packet Page     553



ATTACHMENT C 
DEED OF VACATION 

 
 

Packet Page     554



ATTACHMENT D 
EXHIBIT A 

 
 

Packet Page     555



ATTACHMENT D 
EXHIBIT A 

 
 
 
 

Packet Page     556



ATTACHMENT E 
NOTICE OF DISPOSITION 

 
 

Packet Page     557



 

Packet Page     558



 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
 James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
 Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
  
Date:   September 17, 2013 
 
Call-up Item: Landmark Alteration Certificate to demolish an existing house and in its place 
construct a two-story, 3,300 sq. ft. house at 420 Spruce Street in the Mapleton Hill Historic 
District, per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2013-00184). This Landmark 
Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than September 17, 2013.  
  
 
Executive Summary 
The proposal to demolish the non-contributing house and construct a 3,300 sq. ft. house at 420 
Spruce St. as shown on plans dated 08/01/2013 was approved with conditions by the Landmarks 
Board (4-0) at the September 4, 2013 meeting. The decision was based upon the board’s 
consideration that the proposed construction meets the requirements in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 
1981.  
 
The board’s approval is subject to a 14-day call-up period by City Council. The approval of this 
Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than September 17, 
2013. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Notice of Disposition dated September 4, 2013 
B. Photographs and Drawings of 420 Spruce St. 
 

 
 

Packet Page     559



 
Attachment A 

Notice of Disposition dated September 4, 2013 
 
 

Notice of Disposition 
 
 
You are hereby advised that on September 4, 2013 the following action was taken: 
 
ACTION:     Approved by a vote of 4-0 (N. Fiore absent)  
 
APPLICATION: Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration 

Certificate to demolish an existing house and in its place construct 
a two-story, 3,300 sq. ft. house at 420 Spruce Street in the 
Mapleton Hill Historic District, per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder 
Revised Code (HIS2013-00184). 

 
LOCATION:   420 Spruce St. 
 
ZONING:   Residential Low – (RL-1) 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER: Juana Gomez/Julia and Luis Garza 
      
This decision was arrived at based on the purposes and intent of the Historic Preservation Code as set 
forth in 9-11-18, B.R.C., 1981, as applied to the Landmark Alteration Certificate application.  
 
Public Hearing   
Nichole Ward, 2029 5th Street, Boulder, CO, neighbor of 420 Spruce Street, inquired if garage 
plans were submitted with the application. 
 
Motion: 
On a motion by M. Gerwing, seconded by K. Snobeck, the Landmarks Board adopted (4-0, N. 
Fiore absent) a resolution to approve the demolition of the non-contributing house and the 
construction of the proposed 3,300 sq. ft. house at 420 Spruce St. as shown on plans dated 
08/01/2013, finding that they generally meet the standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration 
Certificate in Chapter 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to the conditions below and adopts the staff 
memorandum dated September 4, 2013 in matter 5A (HIS2013-00184) as findings of the board. 

 
This recommendation is based upon staff’s opinion that if the applicant complies with the 
conditions listed below, the proposed demolition and new construction will be generally 
consistent with the conditions specified in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, the General Design 
Guidelines, and the Mapleton Hill Historic District Design Guidelines. 
 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for constructing the house in compliance with the 
approved plans dated 08/01/2013, except as modified by these conditions of approval.  

 
 

Packet Page     560



 
Attachment A 

Notice of Disposition dated September 4, 2013 
 

2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit the following, which shall be subject to 
the final review and approval of the Landmarks design review committee: final 
architectural plans that include revisions to simplify the roof forms in a manner consistent 
with neo-traditional interpretations of the Edwardian Vernacular, including revisions to 
the inset dormer on the east elevation and cantilevered rear porch canopy. 

 
3. The Landmarks design review committee shall review dormers, wall materials, exterior 

stair, fenestration on the front gable, west elevation, rear elevation, doors and window 
types and details including moldings, and proposed insets, paint colors, and hardscaping 
on the property to ensure that the approval is consistent with the General Design 
Guidelines and the Mapleton Hill Historic District Guidelines and the intent of this 
approval.  

Packet Page     561



 
Attachment B 

Photographs and Drawings of 420 Spruce St. 
 

 
 

Figure 1. Location Map, 420 Spruce St. 
 

 
Figure 2. 420 Spruce St from the northwest (Tax Assessor photo), 1944. 

 
 

Packet Page     562



 
Attachment B 

Photographs and Drawings of 420 Spruce St. 
 

 
Figure 3. 420 Spruce St. from the northwest, 1988 

 

 
Figure 4. 420 Spruce St. from northwest, 2013 

Packet Page     563



 
Attachment B 

Photographs and Drawings of 420 Spruce St. 
 

 
Figure 5. West face of house 

 

 
Figure 6. South elevation of 420 Spruce St.   

Packet Page     564



 
Attachment B 

Photographs and Drawings of 420 Spruce St. 
 

 

 

 
Figure 7. Existing (l) and proposed (r) site plans, 420 Spruce St. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page     565



 
Attachment B 

Photographs and Drawings of 420 Spruce St. 
 

 
Figure 8. Proposed north elevation (façade) 

 

 
Figure 9. Rendering from the northeast 

 
 
 
 

Packet Page     566



 
Attachment B 

Photographs and Drawings of 420 Spruce St. 
 

 
Figure 10. Rendering from the northwest 

 

 
Figure 11. Proposed south (rear) elevation 

 
 

Packet Page     567



 

Packet Page     568



 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  

To: Members of City Council  

From:  David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability (CP&S) 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, CP&S 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager  
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner, Planner I 
Jeff Hirt, Planner II 

Date:   September 17, 2013 

Subject: Information Item: North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Update  
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

The purpose of this memo is to provide council with information on the North Boulder Subcommunity 
Plan (1995 Plan) update. The plan update will focus on the North Broadway area, specifically the 
“Village Center” concept and Yarmouth North areas from the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan.  

The 1995 Plan sets forth a vision for a North Boulder with “complete, discernible neighborhoods”. The 
plan’s overall goal is to strike a balance between preserving existing assets and to establish a vision for 
areas that had yet to develop at that time. Since adoption, the 1995 Plan has provided guidance for the 
transformation of much of North Boulder into a vibrant place with a variety of land uses.  

North Broadway 1992 and 2013 

  
The images above of the intersection of Broadway and Yarmouth (looking south) illustrate how the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan has 
shaped redevelopment along North Broadway.  

Staff anticipates the first public kickoff meetings in October 2013. Over the course of 2013, staff has 
conducted focused interviews with community members, held a study session with Planning Board, and 
has begun a market study that will inform the plan update. This information has served as the foundation 
to begin the project. This memo includes the following:  

1992 2013 

Packet Page     569



 
 

 Project Background  
 Recommended Project Scope and Process  
 Community Input to Date (including Planning Board feedback from its August 15, 2013 study 

session), and  
 A 1995 Plan Implementation Summary (including development activity) 

Please contact Jeff Hirt for comments or questions about this project (hirtj@bouldercolorado.gov, 303-441-4497) 
 

ISSUE STATEMENT  

While the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan (1995 Plan) has shaped significant residential, mixed use, 
and retail redevelopment, some key elements from the plan have not been fully realized. Notably, the 
“Village Center” concept in and around Yarmouth Avenue and Broadway has been implemented on the 
east side of Broadway but not the west side. The North Armory site also has short term redevelopment 
potential.  
 
In 2013, City Council requested a targeted plan update focusing on the Village Center and Yarmouth 
North area along Broadway (referred to as the North Broadway area in this memo) to address these 
issues.1  Both market and land use policy factors warrant consideration, as do floodplain issues.  
 
Staff anticipates the overall outcome for this project to be a plan amendment to address a focused set of 
topics and action items that advance the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan’s vision for the North 
Broadway area, further described in this memo. 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Study Area (approximate) 

                                                           
1 See 2013 Council Reference Notebook (Work Plan Items), page 139. 

Packet Page     570



 
 

 

 

  

Packet Page     571



 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This project is just beginning and options have not been formulated yet, so no fiscal impacts have been 
identified.  However, future implementation items may result in fiscal impacts (e.g., recommendations for 
future capital improvements in the North Broadway study area).  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS  

 Economic: The North Boulder Subcommunity Plan update will focus on strategies to enhance the 
economic vitality of the North Broadway area. A market study will ensure policy options are 
grounded in the economic realities of North Broadway and contribute towards a more vibrant and 
sustainable area.  

 Environmental: The North Boulder Subcommunity Plan update is just getting started, so no potential 
environmental impacts have been identified.  

 Social: The North Boulder Subcommunity Plan update will include meaningful, interactive, and 
inclusive community engagement. A key goal will be a set of focused recommendations that reflect a 
balance between community priorities identified during the public engagement.  

PLANNING BOARD AND CITY COUNCIL ROLES  

The North Boulder Subcommunity Plan amendments will require both Planning Board and City Council 
approval. Staff anticipates periodic updates and discussion items with both groups throughout the project. 
Specifically, per Chapter 4 of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, “subcommunity and area plans are 
adopted by Planning Board and City Council and amended as needed with the same legislative process as 
originally adopted.” 

ATTACHMENTS AND LINKS  

 Attachment A: 1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary  
 Attachment B: North Boulder Subcommunity Development Activity (1995-2013) 
 Attachment C: North Broadway Market Study Summary 
 2013 Community Feedback Summary can be found at: bouldercolorado.gov>A to Z>North Boulder 

Subcommunity Plan>North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Background  
 June 6, 2013 Planning Board Memo can be found at: bouldercolorado.gov>A to Z>North Boulder 

Subcommunity Plan>North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Background 
  

Packet Page     572



 
 

PROJECT BACKGROUND  

The North Boulder Subcommunity Plan is the first and only subcommunity plan in the city.2 The 
Planning Board and City Council adopted the original plan in 1995 after a three year process. 
Attachment A: 1995 Plan Background and Implementation Summary provides more information on 
the 1995 Plan process and content.  

The city has held a number of informal community member discussions and assessed the plan’s 
implementation to date. The results from these conversations and analysis have served as a foundation to 
understand the issues, opportunities, and current sentiment towards the 1995 Plan’s vision.3 Based on this 
assessment, staff concludes that the plan’s overall vision is still largely consistent with community values.  
However, some of the 1995 Plan’s key recommendations need additional action to ensure 
implementation.   

The 1995 Plan identifies the Village Center as the “symbolic heart” of the subcommunity and the future 
neighborhood center. The Yarmouth North area is also an area of anticipated change that may impact the 
1995 Plan’s vision for the Village Center area.  

The scope is based on City Council’s direction for a plan update with a focus on the Village Center and 
Yarmouth North areas (North Broadway).  

  

1999 AND 2012 NORTH BOULDER AERIAL IMAGES 

 

  

                                                           
2 The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan identifies nine subcommunities. North Boulder is the only one with a plan that 
encompasses the entire subcommunity.  
3 Attachment 1: 1995 Plan Background further discusses the 1995 Plan’s vision.  

1999 2012 

Packet Page     573



 
 

RECOMMENDED PROJECT SCOPE AND PROCESS  

The following project scope is based on all of the input to date, including the discussion with the Planning 
Board on August 15, 2013.  The project is intended to be geographically focused, and mostly aimed at 
realizing the vision for North Broadway from the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan. This is also 
consistent with previous City Council discussions regarding a focused, implementation-oriented plan 
update. 

Staff anticipates the update will take approximately one year from the public kickoff in October 2013.  
The process will be guided by the following goals.  It will: 

 Be focused and efficient. 
 Engage the North Boulder community in meaningfully, open, conveniently-located, and 

interactive ways.  
 Coordinate with stakeholders at pivotal times. 
 Coordinate parallel initiatives within the city to make the process clear and easy for the public.  
 Involve the Planning Board and other boards and commissions and seek their guidance. 
 Create an actionable final product that reflects an understanding of issues and opportunities and 

the community’s vision for the North Broadway area and includes action steps.   

Timing and Phases  
The update will occur through three-phases.  Each will 
include public engagement:   

Phase 1:  Inventory and Kick off (currently 
underway), includes compiling background 
information and analysis, launching the project, and 
preparation of a North Broadway market study, all 
of which will inform Phase 2.  

Phase 2: Options and Analysis, will explore 
different options and result in a preliminary draft 
plan update.  

Phase 3: Draft Plan and Adoption, will conclude 
with the final plan adoption and include 
implementation items.  

Scope   
The list below provides the preliminary scope of items 
that will inform the plan amendments.  The update will 
focus on the North Broadway area.  

 North Broadway Market Study: A market study will inform the land use mix on North 
Broadway and address the viability of commercial space along the corridor, with a focus on the 
Village Center and Yarmouth North areas.  This study will address the feasibility of an “anchor” 
(such as a grocery store or other) land use and other barriers and opportunities. Attachment C 
provides more detail and a status update.  

Recommended Project Schedule 

 

Packet Page     574



 
 

 Analysis of Changes Since the 1995 Plan: An analysis of North Broadway’s land use mix, 
current zoning, and future land use categories in the plan will inform the plan update. A 
significant amount of work has already been done including an analysis of development activity 
and plan implementation (See Attachments A and B.)  Preliminary findings show that 
development activity has been largely consistent with the 1995 Plan’s estimates for future 
housing units and nonresidential square footage. The city has also implemented a significant 
number of the 1995 Plan’s key recommendations including new zoning districts and rezonings 
that have led to redevelopment. The market study will provide additional analysis.   

 Plan Amendments – The analysis and community feedback will inform the amendments.  The 
overall outcome will be a plan amendment to address a focused set of topics and subsequent or 
parallel action items that advance the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan’s (1995 Plan) vision for 
the North Broadway area. The exact form of these amendments is yet to be determined, but will 
likely be some type of addendum to the 1995 Plan or a new chapter or section. 

Community Engagement  

To allow for meaningful engagement, the city will use a combination of traditional events and meetings 
and digital methods.  The first phase will “kick off” in the fall, although numerous conversations and 
feedback portals have already helped to shaped this preliminary scope. Public engagement strategies 
include:  

 Events – this will include city-hosted events at various key 
project stages and “piggybacking” on other scheduled 
community events. For example, staff plans to coordinate 
outreach activities with the Transportation Master Plan and 
Comprehensive Housing Strategy to foster a more 
streamlined feedback portal for a variety of issues identified. 

 Web-based – The city will use digital engagement tools, 
including a project website and is investigating the best 
approaches through social media.  

Phase 1:  Inventory and Assessment - Status   
Phase 1: Inventory and Assessment is underway. To date, staff 
has focused on identifying issues and the project approach and is 
gearing up for the official project “kickoff” anticipated in late 
summer/early fall 2013. This will include broader public outreach 
opportunities noted above in the Project Scope and Process 
section.  

The list below summarizes some key tasks completed through 
August 2013.  

 Conversations – Staff held focused conversations with over 20 North Boulder community members 
ranging from the North Boulder Alliance, property owners, developers, and other community 
members in March and April of 2013. (See link to 2013 Community Feedback Summary on page 3) 

Late Summer/Early Fall 2013 

Events in North Boulder  

Community engagement will 
occur throughout the project. 
Specific fall opportunities will 
include:  (1) a “storefront” 
workshop in North Boulder, 
focused around the 
Transportation Master Plan, 
and (2) a project “kickoff” 
event in North Boulder with 
city representatives from 
housing, transportation, and 
the library.  

Packet Page     575



 
 

 June 6, 2013, Planning Board Memo – The June memo summarized issues and a preliminary scope 
and schedule and sought feedback from the Planning Board and community members.  Feedback then 
informed this memo. (See link to memo on page 3) 

 July 13, 2013, Holiday Neighborhood Party – Staff hosted a booth and provided information about 
the plan update. 

 North Broadway Market Study – Staff put the project out to bid, selected a consultant, and scoped a 
market study for the North Broadway area. (See Attachment C.)  

 
PLANNING BOARD COMMENTS – AUGUST 15, 2013 STUDY SESSION  

The Planning Board held a study session on the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan update on August 15, 
2013.  The following summarizes Planning Board comments from this meeting.  

Planning Board Comments  
 Integration with Parallel Initiatives: The city has numerous related but parallel initiatives underway 

including the Transportation Master Plan and Comprehensive Housing Strategy.  The North Boulder 
Subcommunity Plan update should integrate with efforts like these as it relates to the study area. In 
particular, the city should keep North Boulder community members informed of those projects.  

 Transportation Issues: Transportation is important to consider within the study area. The city needs to 
assess how new street connections (including connections already identified in the 1995 Plan that 
have not been built) can contribute to the goal of a vibrant and sustainable North Broadway area.  

 Land Use and Zoning: The plan update should evaluate land use and zoning barriers towards 
realization of the 1995 Plan’s vision for North Broadway. In particular, land use restrictions on 
desirable uses (e.g., new types of artist’s studios) and parking regulations may present barriers.  

 Study Area Boundaries: The Planning Board supports extension of the plan update study area south to 
Sumac.  The purpose of this extension is to include some areas along Broadway that have 
redevelopment potential that are south of Violet Avenue (see project map on page 4).  

 Community Engagement: Community Engagement should be meaningful and interactive. The city 
should host events in North Boulder when possible.  This process should try and engage people who 
typically have not been engaged in projects like this.   

 Arts Community: The Planning Board supports partnering with the North Boulder arts community on 
the plan update where possible.  For example, the artist’s community could help the city assess how 
the plan update could foster arts related “placemaking” on North Broadway and assist with 
community engagement.  

 Market Study – The Planning Board supports the North Broadway Market Study as a foundation to 
kick the project off and inform policy options.  

A more detailed summary of the August 15, 2013 Planning Board meeting can be found at the link to the 
2013 Community Feedback Summary on page 3 of this memo.  

COMMUNITY INPUT TO DATE  

Over the spring and summer of 2013, staff interviewed over 20 community members to ask about issues 
that this targeted plan update should address. Those interviewed included residents and neighborhood 
representatives, developers, land owners, arts community representatives, and community leaders. The 

Packet Page     576



 
 

2013 Community Feedback Summary link on page 3 of this memo provides a detailed summary of these 
interviews.  

In addition, staff sent a memo on June 6, 2013 to the Planning Board and community members to get 
feedback. The information at memo link on page 3 provides a detailed summary of these comments. 

This feedback has informed the scope and process summarized in this memo.  

It is important to note that community members have also raised additional North Boulder 
Subcommunity-specific issues that may fall outside of the geographic focus for this project. (See 2013 
Community Feedback Summary link on page 3 for a detailed summary.)   

Some common themes have emerged from this feedback that include: 

1. 1995 Plan Vision.  The 1995 Plan’s overarching vision is still valid (primary concepts include 
strengthening established areas; redevelopment with a focus on walkable, connected, and mixed 
use places; a diversity of housing choices; new community and civic attractions; improved design 
quality; an integrated network of parks and open space; and preservation and enhancement of 
sensitive environmental areas);  

2. North Broadway Area Village Center.  The North Broadway area has the most opportunity and 
potential for change. Interviewees support some type of anchor land use (either a grocery store or 
other anchor land use along Broadway) in the North Broadway area and seek to realize the 
Village Center vision;  

3. Housing.  Since 1995, a diversity of housing choices have emerged as called for in the plan, but 
the community believes there may now be an overconcentration of affordable and/or special 
needs housing (analysis from the Comprehensive Housing Strategy currently underway  will help 
understand how this may relate to the project scope);  

4. Connections.  The 1995 Plan’s vision for connectivity has not been fully realized—there are 
several missing multi-modal connections and the need for improved transit service; and  

5. Arts District.  The community supports a North Boulder Arts District concept. 

Staff recognizes that the items identified during interviews are critical towards advancing the 1995 Plan’s 
vision. Several of these items (such as a library) are being addressed. In addition, parallel initiatives like 
the new Comprehensive Housing Strategy may be more appropriate venues to address specific issues like 
housing. The Proposed Scope Items section above provides more detail on the geography and types of 
issues that the plan update will address.  

Packet Page     577



Figure 1: Draft Plan Update Process and Timeline  
The following table summarizes the anticipated tasks and timeline to complete the plan update in a focused, efficient, and responsive manner.  

Packet Page     578



 
 

NEXT STEPS  

Next steps include the following:  

Inventory and Assessment Ongoing 

“Storefront” workshop - North Boulder-Focused Transportation Master Plan  Late Summer 2013/TBD  

“Kickoff” event (with city staff from housing, transportation, library) Late Summer/Early Fall 2013 

North Broadway Market Study  Completed October 2013 

 

ATTACHMENTS  

 Attachment A: 1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary  
 Attachment B: North Boulder Subcommunity Development Activity (1995-2013) 
 Attachment C: North Broadway Market Study Summary 
 

  

Packet Page     579



Attachment A 
1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary 

 

 
 

 

1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary  
The 1995 Plan overarching goals and objectives reflect a desire to strike a balance between preserving 
existing assets and to establish a vision for areas that had yet to develop at that time.  A key theme 
throughout the 1995 Plan is also the goal of “complete, discernible neighborhoods.”  It also aims to 
“preserve positive aspects of the subcommunity and ensure that future changes are beneficial both the 
subcommunity citizens and the city as a whole.”  

The North Boulder Subcommunity Plan is the only such plan in the city. The original 3-year process took 
place from 1992-1995, involving stakeholders and steering committee. For the most part, the process 
followed a common set of steps from inventory and analysis, to recommendations, to public review and 
comment, to adoption before the Planning Board and City Council (August 1995).  In 1993, the process 
was briefly put on hold to address citywide goals through the Integrated Planning Process (IPP).4  

In 1996 and 1997, the plan was amended to address recommended land use patterns in specific locations. 
The table on the following page provides a more detailed, chapter-by-chapter summary of the 1995 Plan.  

   

                                                            
4 The Integrated Planning Process (IPP) in 1993 was a citywide effort that resulted in several broad goals and objectives (e.g., 
strengthening and supporting existing neighborhoods), and more specific goals like population targets. City Council requested the 
North Boulder Subcommunity Plan be suspended pending the outcomes of that project.  

Packet Page     580



Attachment A 
1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary 

 

 
 

Figure 2: North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Chapters and Key Concepts 

Plan Chapter Summary and Key Concepts  

Chapters 1-4 
Executive 
Summary, 
Introduction, 
History, Existing 
Conditions 

Chapters 1-4 establish the overall framework and process for the 1995 Plan. These chapters also 
establish overarching goals and objectives with a focus on smart growth principles like walkable, 
mixed use neighborhoods patterned after the character of historic neighborhoods.  

Chapter 5 
Neighborhoods 

Chapter 5 establishes an overarching set of goals and objectives for North Boulder neighborhoods 
and establishes neighborhood-specific development guidelines. This chapter also stresses the 
protection of the character of existing neighborhoods with guidelines for new neighborhoods. New 
residential neighborhoods should provide a diversity of housing types with a walkable and 
connected transportation network.  

Chapter 6 
Employment and 
Retail Centers 

Chapter 6 identifies current and expected employment and retail centers within each neighborhood. 
It includes additional goals and objectives that reflect the desire for “complete, discernible 
neighborhoods.” The focus areas are the Village Center around Yarmouth Avenue and Broadway 
and the Service Industrial Areas along Broadway and Lee Hill Road. This chapter identifies the 
Village Center area as the “symbolic heart” of the subcommunity, with a full complement of 
neighborhood-scale services. This chapter also recognizes the importance of existing industrial 
areas that serve a community need and provide affordable nonresidential space.  

Chapter 7 
Community 
Facilities 

Chapter 7 sets forth recommendations for new community facilities like libraries, schools, police 
and fire stations, and social services, while preserving existing community facilities. This chapter 
also establishes related goals and objectives to better serve subcommunity residents, including a 
branch library, transit centers at key destinations, and several new parks. 

Chapter 8 
Transportation 

Chapter 8 sets forth recommendations for a transportation network with an emphasis on creating 
walkable and well connected streets and blocks. This chapter also includes an “Auto/Transit 
Improvements Right-of-Way Plan” that guides decision making for new infrastructure.  

Chapters 9-10 
Open Space and 
Natural Resource 
Protection, Parks 
and Open Lands 

Chapters 9-10 set forth related goals and objectives for view protection, open space, topography, 
creeks, and irrigation ditches. 

Chapter 11 
Future Growth 

Chapter 11 contains a summary of the projections and build out analysis that was conducted as part 
of the Integrated Planning Project (IPP) is included in this chapter.  The results of this analysis 
informed North Boulder subcommunity-wide and neighborhood-specific target density ranges and 
square footages. This chapter also includes the Land Use Map that summarizes the recommended 
future land uses. 

 

Packet Page     581



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     582



Attachment A 
1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary 

 

 
 

North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Implementation Summary 
The North Boulder Subcommunity Plan contains numerous recommendations, many of which have been implemented. These recommendations 
range from new development and design standards, capital investments in civic facilities, and new transportation connections. Some of the key 
items from the 1995 Plan that the city has implemented include:  

 Five new zoning districts, including a Business Main Street (BMS) district that was used for a rezoning for the Village Center area;  
 Numerous new parks in accordance with the 1995 Plan, including Foothills Community Park and Holiday Neighborhood Park;  
 Several annexations of county enclaves consistent with the 1995 Plan; and 
 New transportation connections made in accordance with the 1995 Plan as redevelopment has occurred. 

**NOTE: This is an updated version of the “1995 North Boulder Subcommunity Plan Implementation Status” section of the June 6, 2013 
Planning Board memo. 

  

Packet Page     583



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     584



Attachment A 
1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary 

 

 
 

FIGURE 3: 1995 PLAN IMPLEMENTATION SUMMARY  

Category  Implementation Item 
and Description  

Implementation Status   

Zoning and 
Land Use 

New Zone Districts and 
Development Standards  
The 1995 Plan contains 
numerous recommendations 
for new North Boulder zone 
districts and development 
standards.  
 
 

Five new zoning districts were created and 
properties were subsequently rezoned to:  
 A business main street zone, patterned 

after historic ‘Main Street’ business 
districts; 

 Three mixed use zones that provide a 
transition between the higher intensity 
business ‘Main Street’ and surrounding 
residential or industrial areas; and  

 A mixed density residential zone district.  
 

CURRENT ZONING MAP  

Packet Page     585



Attachment A 
1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary 

 

 
 

FIGURE 3: 1995 PLAN IMPLEMENTATION SUMMARY  

Category  Implementation Item 
and Description  

Implementation Status   

North 
Broadway 
Area (Village 
Center and 
Yarmouth 
North)  

Village Center  
The 1995 Plan calls for a 
Village Center concept on 
both sides of Broadway at 
around Yarmouth Avenue.   

 The city has rezoned properties in the 
Village Center and Yarmouth North areas 
to BMS, MU-1, and RMX-2 (see current 
zoning map to the right). 

 The east side of the Village Center has 
seen significant redevelopment, but the 
west side has not. 

 These redevelopment areas have been 
largely consistent with the plan’s goals for 
vertical mixed use and pedestrian-oriented 
design. 

Packet Page     586



Attachment A 
1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary 

 

 
 

FIGURE 3: 1995 PLAN IMPLEMENTATION SUMMARY  

Category  Implementation Item 
and Description  

Implementation Status   

Community 
Facilities, 
Parks, and 
Open Space 

Parkland  
The 1995 Plan recommends 
several new parks 
throughout the 
subcommunity.  

Since 1995, the following parks have been built or are in the process of being built:  
 Foothills Community Park 
 Neighborhood Park on the Mann property 
 Holiday Neighborhood Park 
 The Elks Neighborhood Park is in the 2013-2018 Capital Improvements Plan 
 Dakota Ridge Neighborhood Parks 

North Boulder Library  
The 1995 Plan recommends 
a new Boulder Library 
branch in North Boulder 

The Boulder Public Library Commission recently passed a resolution endorsing the concept of a North Boulder 
Library Station (570 square feet) operating in the Westview Apartment storefront in the vicinity of the Broadway and 
Yarmouth intersection. The library staff is currently evaluating costs and benefits of the proposed Library Station. 

Packet Page     587



Attachment A 
1995 Plan Background and Plan Implementation Summary 

 

 
 

FIGURE 3: 1995 PLAN IMPLEMENTATION SUMMARY  

Category  Implementation Item 
and Description  

Implementation Status   

Annexation  The 1995 Plan supports 
annexation of county 
enclaves (Area II properties) 
in the North Boulder 
Subcommunity.  

Since 1995, several county enclaves have annexed into the city in the North Boulder Subcommunity. The map below 
highlights these areas:  

ANNEXATIONS SINCE 1995 (OUTLINED IN RED) 

Transportation 
and 
Streetscape 

Development Compliance 
with Transportation Plan  
The 1995 Plan 
recommended a new 
requirement for compliance 
with the Transportation Plan 
during development or 
redevelopment.  

The city adopted an ordinance that requires dedication or reservation of Rights-of-Way in conformance with the North 
Boulder Subcommunity Transportation Plan.  

 

Packet Page     588



 
 

 
North Boulder Subcommunity Development Activity  
(1995-2013) 
 
The 1995 Plan sets forth specific estimates for 
future growth in the North Boulder 
Subcommunity.  Staff analysis of building permit 
records from 1995-2013 reveal the North Boulder 
Subcommunity is:  

 Approaching the 1995 Plan’s Estimate 
for New Residential Units - The 1995 
Plan approximated between 1,629-1,784 
new housing units would be built within 
“about 13-17 years” in the subcommunity 
based on a number of factors.6. According 
to city building permit records, 
approximately 1,700 new housing units 
have been built since the 1995 Plan. The 
city’s growth projections for the North 
Boulder Subcommunity estimate an 
additional approximately 550 housing units by 2035.7 

 Adding More Retail than the 1995 Plan Estimated – The 1995 Plan estimated 85,000 square 
feet of new retail subcommunity-wide. Since 1995, about 178,000 square feet of new retail has 
been built.  

 Adding Office Space at Faster Rate than any other Land Use – From 1995 to 2013, the 
amount of new office space increased by 291% from approximately 100,000 square feet to 
approximately 391,000 square feet, closely matching the 1995 Plan’s estimated new office space 
of approximately 299,000 square feet.  

The tables that follow provide a more detailed summary of residential and nonresidential development 
activity since the 1995 Plan, along with existing land use and zoning.8  

 

 

                                                            
6 These factors included Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan density assumptions by zone district and growth rates consistent 
with the North Boulder projections from the Integrated Planning Project.  
7 The city’s growth projections use a variety of factors from current zoning to future land use, to more qualitative 
analysis of specific sites with growth potential.  
8 SOURCES: North Boulder Subcommunity Plan, city building permit records. The numbers reflect building permits 
where Certificates of Occupancy (C.O.) were issued between 1995 and 2013.  There are several developments under 
review that have not received C.O.’s to date.   

FIGURE 4: LEE HILL ROAD CONCEPT 
1995 Plan Concept for 
Lee Hill Road Area 

2013 Development Pattern  

The above images illustrate how the 1995 Plan helped 
shape development patterns.  

                                              Attachment B 
North Boulder Subcommunity Development Activity 

Packet Page     589



 
 

 

 

  Table 1: NORTH BOULDER SUBCOMMUNITY-WIDE RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
ACTIVITY (1995-2013) 

 1995 
Total 

Percent 
of 1995 
Total 

1995 Plan 
Estimate 

for Future 
Units  

New 
Since 
1995 

Total 
Units 
2013 

Percent of 
Total Units 

2013 

Increase 
1995-
2013 

Attached Units 1,084 27% n/a 1,096 2,180 38% 101% 
Detached Units (includes 
mobile homes)  2,930 73% n/a  635 3,566 62% 22% 
Total North Boulder 
Subcommunity Wide 
Housing Units 4,014 100% 

1,629-1,784 
New Units 1,731 5,745 100% 43% 

 

Table 2: NORTH BOULDER SUBCOMMUNITY NONRESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
ACTIVITY 

 1995 
Count (sq. 

ft) 

Percent 
of 1995 
Total 

1995 Plan 
Estimate for 

Future Square 
Footage 

New 
Square 

Feet Since 
1995  

Total 
Square 
Footage 

2013 

Percent 
of Total 

2013 

Increase 
1995-2013  

Retail 200,000 27% 85,000 178,177 378,177 30% 89% 

Office 100,000 13% 299,000 291,057 391,057 31% 291% 

Industrial 450,000 60% n/a 45,969 495,969 39% 10% 

Total 750,000 100% 
 

515,203 1,265,203 100%  69% 
 

 

                                              Attachment B 
North Boulder Subcommunity Development Activity 

Packet Page     590



 
 

Existing Zoning and Land Use in the North Boulder Subcommunity  
The following tables illustrate the current zoning and land use conditions in the North Boulder 
Subcommunity. Generally, the data shows that:  

 Most of the subcommunity is zoned low or medium density residential;  
 A significant portion of the subcommunity is zoned and used as public (open space, parks, etc);  
 A higher percentage of land is classified as a commercial land use than the amount of land that is 

zoned for commercial, and  
 A lower percentage of land is classified as an industrial land use than is actually zoned industrial.  
 

Table 3: EXISTING LAND USE BY LAND AREA, NORTH 
BOULDER SUBCOMMUNITY9  

Name Acres Percent 

Agricultural 1.0 0.07% 
Commercial 103.7 6.9% 
Industrial 3.7 0.2% 
Mixed Use 11.4 0.8% 
Residential 1,088.5 72.4% 
Public/Institutional 204.7 13.6% 
Vacant 90.7 6% 

 

Table 4: EXISTING ZONING BY LAND AREA, NORTH 
BOULDER SUBCOMMUNITY 

Zone District Category Acres Percent 
Agricultural 17.8 1.0% 
Commercial 23.9 1.2% 
Industrial 120.1 6.0% 
Mixed Use 34.8 1.7% 
Residential 1,391.1 69.9% 
Public/Institutional 222.5 11.2% 

                                                           
9 SOURCE: Boulder County Assessors Office (based on how the county classifies land uses, which may not align 
with city zoning classifications).   

                                              Attachment B 
North Boulder Subcommunity Development Activity 

Packet Page     591



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     592



 
 

FIGURE 8: MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS IN NORTH BROADWAY AREA (1995-2013)  
 
 

 

 Construction 
Date 

Approx. 
Site 
Size 

Characteristics  

1. Holiday 

 

2003-2005 27 acres 324 residential units (187 market rate units and 137 
permanently affordable units), 55,164 square feet of non-
residential space and a 1.7 acre park. 

2. Dakota Ridge 

 

2001 – 
present  

42 acres 420 residential units composed of 195 apartments, 65 
townhouses and 130 single-family homes, and 30 (possible) 
commercial area conversion units. In addition, 23,025 square 
feet of office/retail space is located in the Neighborhood 
Center. 

3. Uptown 
Broadway 

 

2003, 2008  8.5 
acres 

223 residential units and 40,337 square feet of mixed use 
commercial space 

4. Westview  

 

2011-2012  1 acre 34 permanently affordable residential units that meet the 
affordable housing requirements for the development for the 
Residences at 29th 

5. Foothills 

 

2001-2002 5 acres  75 permanently affordable units in duplexes, fourplexes, 
townhomes, apartments, carriage units, a group home and a 
community center 

Pipeline/Under Review 

6. 820 Lee Hill 2014 
(expected)  
 

6 acres 32 single family detached homes proposed  

7. Violet Crossing  
 

2013 
(expected) 

4.7 
acres 

10 two- and three-story buildings that house 78 market rate 
apartments and 20 affordable apartments 

8. 1000 Rosewood  2013 
(expected)  

4.5 
acres  

18 dwelling units (16 single family units, 2 duplex units)  

9. 1175 Lee Hill  2014 
(expected)  
 

1.2 
acres  

2 story multifamily transitional housing with 31 units 

 
Total number of housing units in pipeline/under review: 179 (including 31 transitional housing units)  

1 

3 

4 

5 

2 

6 

8 

9 

7 

                                              Attachment B 
North Boulder Subcommunity Development Activity 

Packet Page     593



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Packet Page     594



  

Attachment C 
North Broadway Market Study Summary 

North Broadway Market Study Summary 
The plan update should produce outcomes that are based on the current economic and market realities of 
the North Boulder Subcommunity. The Market Study will help inform the plan.   ArLand Land Use 
Economics will prepare the Market Study that will achieve several purposes, including: 

 A Market Demand Analysis – The market study will assess the current market demand in North 
Boulder for different land uses, with an emphasis on the role of an “anchor” land use such as a 
grocery store (and other potential anchor land uses).  This will include focused interviews with 
developers, commercial brokers, and other area development interests.  

 Barriers Analysis – The market study will analyze the related barriers towards redevelopment 
and plan implementation based on the market information.  

 1995 Plan Village Center and Yarmouth North Implementation – The market study will 
analyze of the feasibility of fully developing the 1995 Plan’s Village Center concept and evaluate 
redevelopment potential in the Yarmouth North area.  

 Action Items – The market study will result in a set of action items based on the market analysis 
and identified barriers towards realizing the 1995 Plan’s vision.   

The schedule below briefly summarizes the anticipated market study schedule and key tasks.  

Table 5: Anticipated North Broadway Market Study Schedule 

Task Outcomes  Timeline  

Interviews/Roundtable 
Discussions/Public 
Meetings 

 Interviews with area development interests 
 Public meeting presentation(s) Ongoing 

Market Analysis  

 

Establish Market Area and Analyze:  
 Population and Demographics 
 Anchor Land Use Potentials 
 Office/Employment Potentials 
 Other Commercial Services and Mixed Use Potentials 

Final Report – Expected 
October 2013 

Barriers to 
Redevelopment/Plan 
Implementation 

Identify key market barriers and related actions towards 
realizing the 1995 Plan’s Village Center and Yarmouth 
North area vision 

Redevelopment 
Strategy  

Recommendations for changes to Village Center and 
Yarmouth North concepts 

Report and 
Presentations  

Final report summarizing the market analysis, findings 
from interviews, barriers, and recommendations to inform 
plan update 

 

 

 

Packet Page     595



 

Packet Page     596



 

 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
  
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager 
 Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
 Tracy Winfree, Director of Public Works for Transportation 
 Mark Beckner, Police Chief 
 Greg Testa, Deputy Police Chief 
 Carey Weinheimer, Police Commander 
 Felix Gallo, Transportation and Utilities Maintenance Coordinator 
 Jennifer Riley, Code Enforcement Supervisor 
 Cris Jones, Transportation Planner 
 
Date: September 16, 2013   
 
 
Subject: Information Item: Snow and Ice Control Program and Sidewalk Snow Removal 

Enforcement 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This year, the city’s official “snow season,” in terms of operational response preparation, begins 
Sept. 16, 2013 and lasts until May 30, 2014.  With the onset of winter, questions arise from the 
public regarding the city's snow removal procedures.  This memorandum provides City Council 
with information on the city’s snow and ice control program, new residential road plowing pilot 
program, sidewalk snow removal enforcement, and the snow information brochure. 
 
The goals of the city’s snow and ice control program, as related to the Transportation Master 
Plan, are to: 
  
1. Keep primary and secondary streets, on-street bike lanes and the off-street path system open. 
2. Respond with enhanced service levels in the event that a significant snowfall impedes the 

mobility of the public in and around residential roads, sidewalks and bus shelters.  

Packet Page     597



 

3. Use materials and equipment efficiently and effectively to help reduce the dangers of 
traveling in inclement weather. 

4. Enforce the sidewalk snow removal regulations (section 8-2-13, B.R.C. 1981) that require all 
owners or residents of private property to have ice and snow hazards cleared from public 
sidewalks or walkways abutting their property no later than 24 hours after a snowfall or 
snowdrift. 

5. Communicate any delayed opening or early release decisions in advance of city functions 
before impending severe weather impacts the ability of residents or employees to safely 
arrive at their destination within the city.     
 

Snow and ice control program information is made available each year in news releases, a utility 
bill insert, the city’s snow brochure and on www.bouldercolorado.gov/public-works under 
"Winter Tips and Snow Removal.” The city’s snow brochure, which is provided to residents who 
request additional information, includes information on the snow and ice control program and 
provides answers to commonly asked questions about snow operations.  A copy of this year’s 
brochure is included in the 2013-2014 City of Boulder Snow and Ice Control Information 
packets that have been distributed to council members.  Information from the packet is posted on 
the website mentioned above. 
 
A new initiative for the 2013-2014 snow season is the snow and ice control analysis regarding 
the efficiency and effectiveness of current maintenance operations, as well as identifying and 
implementing short- and long-term improvements.  The analysis was completed and presented to 
City Council at the April 9, 2013 Study Session.  Council supported moving forward with a 
residential road plowing pilot program for the upcoming 2013-2014 snow season. Visit   
documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/fol/121321/Row1.aspx to view the April 9, 2013 
Study Session materials. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Each year, the Transportation Division’s budget accounts for snow and ice control operations for 
normal weather patterns and events.  The adopted 2013 budget for snow and ice control is 
$911,347.  Snow control on city streets is affected by the amount of snow, length of the storm, 
time of day, temperature and traffic conditions.  The City of Boulder does not normally plow 
residential streets for two primary reasons:  (a) most snow melts within a day or two in Boulder’s 
climate and (b) this additional level of service would significantly increase costs and impact the 
city’s ability to perform other high-priority services.  However, during significant events, with 
snowfall exceeding 12 inches, the city will strategically service neighborhood streets to address 
known problem areas.  Also, during regular snow events, the city deploys a “floater” vehicle to 
respond to requests from public safety personnel and the community. 
 
New for the 2013-2014 snow season is a targeted, residential road plowing pilot program to plow 
and treat identified residential roads that meet specific criteria for steep grades and solar shading 
issues.  Initial funding for this pilot program will come from expected salary savings from a 
vacant Transportation Maintenance position.  The initial costs are estimated to be $77,000 in the 
first year and $57,000 in the following years. 
 

Packet Page     598

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/public-works�
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/fol/121321/Row1.aspx�


 

If this pilot program is found to be effective and efficient, the operational information gathered 
will be used to assist in the development of the Transportation Division’s 2015 budget.   
 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 
• Economic:  The mobility of workers, residents and consumers is essential to the overall 

economic health of Boulder.  The inability to maneuver impassable roads, unshoveled 
sidewalks and/or bus stops affects the city’s overall economic health. 

 
• Environmental:  Snow and ice control operations and sidewalk snow removal efforts 

support multiple travel choices that directly impact the environment.  The city’s street 
sweeping program and selection of environmentally sensitive products also help achieve air 
quality and water quality goals for the city and region.   

 
• Social:  Mobility is key to independence, particularly for people with disabilities, seniors and 

schoolchildren who are adversely impacted when roads are impassable and sidewalks, bus-
stops and multi-use paths are not adequately cleared of snow.  The involvement of these 
populations in community activities, including employment, is essential. 

 
BACKGROUND 
The snow and ice control program goals are achieved by having full crews available, equipment 
maintained and ready when needed, and providing a safe environment for employees. Each year, 
crews are provided with education and training on the use of snow removal materials and 
equipment, and plow operators are recertified on the equipment used to perform snow control 
operations. 
 
In September of each year, two snow crew rosters are developed. During the snow season, mid-
September through the end of April, each crew rotates on a weekly basis as the "first call" crew.   
A Transportation Maintenance employee is on snow standby 24 hours a day, seven days a week 
to track weather conditions and respond to notification of snow events.  Working with the 
Boulder Police Department patrol officers and dispatchers, the snow standby person is notified 
when snow conditions occur after normal work hours or on holidays and weekends.  Crews are 
expected to respond as quickly as possible and work rotating 12-hour shifts throughout a storm 
event.   
 
A standard operating procedure guides communication and assists the City Manager’s Office 
with decision-making regarding city facilities and programming.  When an incoming severe 
weather event is forecasted that may impact the transportation system, Transportation and 
Utilities maintenance staff assess local roads, investigate the response of other agencies, and 
inform the City Manager’s Office with a recommendation as to whether a delayed opening or 
early release of city functions or public meeting postponement is warranted.  The decision to 
alter city functions or facility hours is made by the City Manager’s Office. 
 

Packet Page     599



 

An enhanced snow control response is triggered when snow accumulation is in excess of 12 
inches (defined as a “significant” snowfall event).  Available Transportation Maintenance staff is 
directed to inspect both residential roads and bus shelters for the public’s ability to drive vehicles 
out of residential areas and safely load and unload buses. 
 
During snowstorms, 16 plow trucks are operating on Boulder streets.  Fifteen trucks drive 
predetermined routes, while one “floater” truck responds to problem areas and complaint calls.  
Six trucks distribute a liquid deicer and four spreader trucks distribute traction materials.   Seven 
trucks have dual systems to distribute either liquid deicer or traction materials.   The floater truck 
is either a liquid deicer or a spreader truck, depending on the type of storm and type of material 
needed.  Two plow trucks and operators cover the multi-use path system between 4 a.m. and 4 
p.m.  When path use is decreased, one plow truck and operator covers the path system between 4 
p.m. and 4 a.m.    
 
The Transportation Maintenance workgroup utilizes a “real-time” Automatic Vehicle Location 
(AVL) system to track the actual location, speed and plowing operation of the main route snow 
fleet.  The Global Positioning System (GPS) allows supervisors to track and verify snow and ice 
control operations for dispatching efficiency adjustments, and for liability purposes. 
 
In order to minimize environmental impacts of snow and ice control, the city uses alternative 
deicing and traction materials.  No sand is used unless alternative deicing materials are not 
available from the supplier and public safety is an issue.  The liquid deicing agent is a 
magnesium chloride solution.  Magnesium chloride, a plant nutrient and soil stabilizer, is less 
corrosive than other deicing products.  In 2008, the city switched to a different formulation of 
magnesium chloride called “Meltdown Apex.”  Meltdown Apex, which costs slightly more than 
traditional magnesium chloride, is more readily available from the supplier and continues to be 
effective at lower temperatures.  Staff continues to analyze new and less-corrosive liquid deicers.     
 
The traction material used is a crystallized deicer, made up of complex chlorides, that dissolves 
over time and does not need to be swept.  However, in keeping with the city’s commitment to air 
quality goals monitored by the Regional Air Quality Council (RAQC), the entire transportation 
system is swept within four days of a major storm event.  City water quality staff have reviewed 
and analyzed all materials used and found no significant impact to Boulder’s water sources and 
distribution system.  
 
Streets are sometimes pretreated with liquid deicer before a storm (depending on weather 
conditions) to help reduce the buildup of snow and ice. The material or combination of materials 
used during a storm event depends on existing and predicted weather conditions (i.e., the amount 
of precipitation and humidity) and pavement temperatures.  
 
Standard operating procedures also provide for the proactive application of deicing materials on 
streets that have certain factors, such as steep grades and significant shading, which contribute to 
more challenging conditions and typically generate a high number of resident requests for 
attention.  
 
Program Analysis and Pilot Program 

Packet Page     600



 

During the 2012-2013 snow season, a snow and ice control analysis was initiated and completed 
to review all aspects of the maintenance operation, compare it to other local municipalities, and 
review alternative service models for cost effectiveness, such as contracting of services. Visit 
documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/fol/121321/Row1.aspx to view the April 9, 2013 
Study Session materials,    
 
The completed analysis indicated that the city is more similar than not to other local 
municipalities in terms of: 
 

• the level of service regarding crew staffing and major road coverage; 
• not plowing residential roads (unless a major storm has occurred); 
• the use of identified chemical deicing products; and 
• the use of contractual services during a major storm. 

 
For the upcoming 2013-2014 snow season, a targeted, residential road plowing pilot program has 
been developed and approved by City Council.  Utilizing data collected from resident service 
requests, this “spot plowing and treating” approach will occur at locations with atypical elevation 
gain/loss and/or solar shading.  As part of the pilot, staff will track and document all operational 
responses to storm events, as well as capture resident feedback, cost information and other data.   
 
There are trade-offs to be considered and evaluated if the pilot program is pursued on an ongoing 
basis.  For example, some residents may prefer not to have snow plowed up against cars, 
driveways and sidewalks.  Others may not desire to have materials applied to their neighborhood 
streets.  Funding for a potential ongoing program would be considered as a part of the 2015 
budget process.  
 
Operational Efficiencies 
The Public Works, Parks and Recreation (P&R), Parking Services and Open Space and 
Mountain Parks departments continue to investigate operational efficiencies and potential areas 
of overlap, including snow removal work.  To date, some changes in operational responsibilities 
have been made.  For example, because some of the bikeways are in the city’s parks, P&R 
maintenance staff is able to efficiently maintain the mowing, pruning and snow removal along 
adjacent bikeways in the parks. The Bear Creek bikeway, heading north from Martin Street 
underpass, formerly maintained by Public Works, is now maintained by P&R (landscaping and 
snow removal).  Public Works, in turn, has assumed responsibility from P&R for maintaining the 
full length of Elmer's Two Mile Creek path from the Goose Creek bikeway to the north limits at 
Juniper Avenue, in coordination with other related maintenance work in the area.   
 
Staffing efficiencies are also an important aspect of budget management.  An operational 
efficiency was implemented between Transportation and Utilities maintenance crews by 
requiring some Utilities positions to participate in snow response.  This change allows the city to 
“staff up” for larger events and to have smaller, more efficient crews during off-event periods.   
 
Transit shelter maintenance continues to be a challenge for the city and the Regional 
Transportation District (RTD).  With nearly 1,000 transit stops located within the city, the city 
and RTD are only able to provide regular maintenance at high-use transit stops to the extent that 

Packet Page     601

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/fol/121321/Row1.aspx�


 

human and financial resources permit. Specifically, snow removal is performed at the remaining 
RTD transit stops on a limited basis by city staff or city contractors, typically by request only. 
RTD’s Adopt-a-Stop program utilizes community volunteers to remove trash and snow from 
designated stops.   
 
SIDEWALK SNOW REMOVAL ENFORCEMENT 
Section 8-2-3, B.R.C., 1981 requires that sidewalks adjacent to both residential and commercial 
properties be cleared of snow and ice no later than 24 hours after a snowfall or snowdrift.  
Property owners, tenants and property managers can each be held responsible for failure to 
remove snow.  Violation of the ordinance can result in a municipal court summons and fine 
($100 for first offense) or abatement, in which the city hires a contractor to clear the sidewalk at 
the property owner’s expense. Enforcement of the sidewalk snow removal ordinance is handled 
by the Code Enforcement Unit in the Boulder Police Department.  
 
The National Weather Service website, www.nws.noaa.gov/data/obhistory/KBDU.html, is the 
official resource monitored for local weather conditions. The information is updated every 20 
minutes. To learn when the 24-hour time period begins, community members can go to the 
website and look for the “Weather” column and corresponding time. The descriptions in the 
weather column will include “Overcast,” “Fair,” “Mostly Cloudy,” “Light Snow,” “Snow,” etc. 
Code Enforcement may begin enforcing the snow removal ordinance 24 hours after the last 
mention of snow listed on this website. Residents may also call the code enforcement line at 303-
441-1875 to learn the official time that snowfall stopped. During times of consecutive storms, the 
original stop of snowfall will be enforced when no apparent effort is made to keep the sidewalks 
cleared for safe passage.  
 
When a Code Enforcement Officer identifies a violation of sidewalk snow removal, the officer 
attempts to make contact at that location to have the snow removed. If no contact can be made, a 
24-hour notice of violation is posted on the front door of the property in violation. Only one 
notice per snow season will be issued to a property. After the expiration of the notice, an officer 
will re-inspect the property to confirm compliance. Should a property remain in violation and for 
repeat offences, the address will be added to a list that is forwarded daily to a contractor for 
abatement of the hazardous condition. The property owner is then billed for all snow removal 
charges and assessed an administrative fee. 
 
The Code Enforcement Unit is partnering with the University of Colorado Off-Campus Housing 
and Neighborhood Relations department, as well as other community and neighborhood groups, 
for an educational campaign that will focus on the importance to “Make it Clear.”  
 
The campaign is scheduled to launch in October 2013 and will focus on: 
 
• increasing community awareness of each person’s role in ensuring that sidewalks are cleared 

and safely passable after snow events;  
• the requirements of the sidewalk snow and ice removal ordinance; and 
• the liability should a violation remain on private property.  
 

Packet Page     602

http://www.nws.noaa.gov/data/obhistory/KBDU.html�


 

Education will be in the form of detailed pamphlets being delivered door-to-door in identified 
areas that have a high volume of new residents each season and a history of repeat violations. 
Information will also be available on the city website and through outreach to local media 
sources. “Make it Clear” will also direct people to resources for snow removal assistance and to 
volunteer opportunities to assist others in the community. 
  
Additional code enforcement information can be found on www.inquireboulder.com under 
“Code Enforcement Unit,” which includes a link to the National Weather Service report for 
Boulder. 
 
NEXT STEPS  
Snow and ice program information will be made available in news releases, a utility bill insert, 
the city’s snow brochure and on www.bouldercolorado.gov/public-works under "Winter Tips 
and Snow Removal.” The utility bill insert with snow information will be distributed through the 
utility bill mailing in October 2013.  The city’s snow brochure, which is provided to residents 
who request additional information, includes information on the snow program and answers 
commonly asked questions about snow operations.  A copy of this year’s brochure is included in 
the 2013-2014 City of Boulder Snow and Ice Control Information packets that have been 
distributed to council members. Also included are detailed snow route maps and snow operations 
information.   
 
As the results of the 2013-2014 snow and ice evaluation emerge, staff will implement changes 
and return to council to address meaningful budgetary changes or policy issues. 
 
For more information about the snow and ice control program, please contact Felix Gallo at 303-
413-7180 or gallof@bouldercolorado.gov. 
 
For more information on the transportation planning effort regarding bus shelter maintenance, 
please contact Cris Jones at 303-441-3217 or jonesc@bouldercolorado.gov.  
 
For more information on code enforcement efforts, please contact Jennifer Riley at 303-441-
1877 or rileyj@bouldercolorado.gov.  

Packet Page     603

http://www.inquireboulder.com/�
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/public-works�
mailto:gallof@bouldercolorado.gov�
mailto:jonesc@bouldercolorado.gov�
mailto:rileyj@bouldercolorado.gov�


 

Packet Page     604



Packet Page     605



Packet Page     606



Packet Page     607



Packet Page     608



Packet Page     609



Packet Page     610



Packet Page     611



Packet Page     612



Packet Page     613



 

Packet Page     614



 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING ACTION SUMMARY FORM  

NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION:  LIBRARY COMMISSION 
DATE OF MEETING: September 4, 2013 at Main Library 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:  Leanne Slater, 303-441-3106 
LIBRARY COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT:  Anne Saw yer, Celeste Landry, Donna O’Brien, and Anna Lull 
LIBRARY COMMISSION MEMBERS ABSENT:  None  
LIBRARY STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT:   Valerie Maginnis, Jennifer Miles, Leanne Slater, Aimee Schumm, and Kathleen 
Janosko 
CITY STAFF PRESENT:  Glenn Magee, Maureen Rait , Joe Castro, Jennifer Bray, David Mallett , Peggy Bunzli, and Paul 
Fetherston 
PUBLIC PRESENT: David Mendosa and Peter Richards 
BOULDER TEEN ADVISORY BOARD (BTAB) MEMBER PRESENT: Nick Bozik  
REPRESENTATIVES FROM STUDIOTROPE: Designer Brigit te Kerr, Principal Designer Deva Montalbano, and Interior Designer 
Cait lin Bullock.  
 
Call to order: The meeting w as called to order at 6:00 p.m.  
 
Approval of Agenda: Saw yer amended the agenda in order to provide for an update from the Deputy City Manager Paul 
Fetherston on the Library Arts Director interim plan and recruitment.  Therefore, Item 6C, Library and Arts Director ret irement 
search w as moved after the Consent  Agenda.     Landry amended the agenda by changing the name of Item 5B under 
Matters from the Commission from Possible statement about tax opt ions and library funding to City Council Charter 
Committee. 

Public Participation: No public part icipat ion  
 
Consent Agenda: 

A. Approval of Aug. 7, 2013 minutes- The Aug. 7, 2013 minutes w ere unanimously approved as amended (4-0). 
B. Commission Update (from memo) 
C. Library Update (from memo) 

 
Matters from the department: 

A. Library and Arts Director ret irement and search- Fetherston thanked Maginnis for her service and provided an 
update on the recruitment, information regarding the search for a new  library and arts director, and the t imeline for 
f illing this posit ion.  Library Commission presented Valerie w ith a letter of congratulat ions on her ret irement, 
thanking her for her service to libraries for 33 years, and more specif ically for her dedicat ion to the Boulder Public 
Library. 

 
Commission Priority Discussion and Input: 

A. Main Library Renovation Project Design Advisory Group (DAG) Update (50 minutes) -   The Library Commission 
acknow ledged the extensive public engagement process and studiotrope’s facilitat ion and documentat ion of the 
community’s vision for the project.    The expectat ion is that the desired scope of w ork can be achieved w ithin the 
budget.  The update provided about the cost est imates suggested that may not be possible.  The commission 
desires to have more discussion about project alternates and priorit ies once bids are received.    Renovation of the 
café/bridge, adding a second children’s restroom, and the establishment of the technology lab adjacent to the teen 
space w ere ident if ied as important to meeting the community’s expectat ions.  

 
o Update on RFID (10 minutes) 
o Studiotrope presentat ion (1 hour & 5 minutes) 

 
Matters from the commission: 

A. Preliminary Meeting Room Plan 
B. City Council Charter Committee 

Matters from the department (continued): 
        B. Review  2014 City Manager’s recommended budget (18 minutes) 
        C. Plan for target survey on library programming- deferred unt il October meeting. 
 
Announcement- Commissioner Saw yer announced that applicat ions for the vacant Library Commissioner appointment are 
being accepted unt il Sept. 23, 2013.  
 
Adjournment – The meeting w as adjourned at 9:04 p.m.  
 
Next commission meeting (rollover items):  Sw earing in new  Library Commissioner,  Main Library renovation project Design 
Advisory Group regarding an update on the bid process plan, café vendor RFP process, review  of the public art  select ion 
panel recommendation, Master Plan funding goal informat ion review , city -based Library Commission w ebpage, and plan for 
target patron survey on library programming.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page     615



 

 
 
ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS (LIMIT TO ONE PAGE):  
 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS:   6 p.m. on Wed., Oct. 2, 2013 
at the Main Library, in the North Meeting Room, 1001 Arapahoe Ave.  

 
 

Packet Page     616



Approved by Council 10/19/04  

Council Working Agreements 
 

Council Process: 
• The Council will work on general discipline in being prepared to ask questions and make 

comments. 
• The Council asks the Mayor to intervene if discussion on agenda items extends beyond a 

reasonable time frame. 
• The council will engage in the practice of colloquy to fully explore the different sides of a 

specific point. 
• The Mayor will ask the city clerk to set the timer lights for council members if 

discussions begin to exceed efficient debate.  Members should respect the lights as a time 
reminder, but will not be bound by them as absolute limits. 

• Rather than restating a point, council members should simply say “I agree.” 
• The council agenda committee may, with advance notice, adjust each public speaker's 

time to two rather than three minutes during public hearings for items on which many 
speakers want to address the council. 

• Council members will grant each other permission to mentor and support each other on 
how each person contributes to the goal of being accountable for demonstrating 
community leadership. 

• In order to hear each other respectfully and honor the public, council will avoid body 
language that could convey disrespect, side conversations, talking to staff, whispering to 
neighboring council members, passing notes, and leaving the council chambers. 

• Regarding not revisiting past discussions, the council should check-in with fellow 
members periodically to ensure that this is not an issue. 

 
Council Communication: 

• Council members agree to keep quasi-judicial roles scrupulously clean between members 
of boards and members of council, like expressing ideas to board members on things 
coming before the Board, and carefully disclose or recuse themselves when they're is 
involvement with board members on a topic.   

• Council agrees to e-mail the city manager about issues that they run into that staff or 
boards may be working on so that the manager can be actively involved in managing 
issues and keeping the full council informed well in advance of items coming before 
council for action.  

• Members will keep the full council informed on issues from committees, public groups or 
other agencies that they are following, the a hot line e-mails, brief verbal reports at the 
end of council meetings or other means. 

• The Council will find ways to support majority council decisions and adequately inform 
the public, through response letters that explain how divergent points of view were heard 
and honored in decisions, via standard e-mail responses for hot issues, by occasional 
council Letters to the Editor to clarify the facts, or by seeking out reporters after meetings 
to explain controversial decisions. 

 
Council Committees 

• Council goal committee meetings will be scheduled to accommodate the council 
members on the committee.   

• Notice of the times and places for each goal committee meeting will be noticed once per 
month in the Daily Camera.   

• The council agenda will include time for reports from committees under Matters from 
Members of Council, noting that written communications from the committees are 
appropriate as well. 

 
 

Packet Page     617



 2013
Study Session Calendar

Printed on: 9/13/2013, 2:49 PM

Date Topic Time Televised
11/26/13 No Meeting
12/10/13 Hold for CMO
12/24/13 No Meeting

Packet Page     618



October 1, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

August 13 Study Session

Consideration of a motion authorizing the City Manager to convey the 
permanently affordable housing unit at 979 Laramie, Unit E
First Reading, Electric Assist Bicycles Pilot Demo Project

Disposal of OSMP property for easement for Community Ditch underpass project. Project Scheduling
Motion amending the Benson Annexation agreement
1st Readin Grandview Bungalow Relocation Project
2nd Reading Hazardous Materials Management IGA with Boulder County Time sensitive 
First Reading 500 Foot Rule & use Definitions/ BLA Structural Changes

5th Reading to adopt Ordinance 7832 for Congregate Care Facilities

2nd Reading Landmark Designation for 2205 Broadway 20 Min
5th Reading to adopt Ordinance 7832 for Congregate Care Facilities None
ERTL Acquisition, 2nd Reading 30 Min.
Public Hearing on the proposed 2014 City of Boulder Budget first reading: adopting 2014 budget, 
establishing the property tax mill levies, appropriating money, amending chapters 3-8, 3-9 and 4-20 of 
BRC to change certain fees 2 Hours

Potential call-up of a vacation of a 2,280 square-foot portion of an existing fourteen-foot utility 
easement bisecting the property at 3737 Spring Valley Road.

Potential call-up of a vacation of an existing utility easement for the existing fire hydrant located at 
6655 Lookout Rd. to allow for redevelopment of the site as 68 attached residential units

October 3, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

2nd reading proposed Hogan-Pancost Annexation and request to vacate portion of right-of-way 4 Hours Scheduled per CAC

October 8, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Second reading of amended ordinances regarding Voice and Sight Control 
evidence tags 2.5 Hours Moved from August Meeting Dates
USAPCC Boulder Venue Proposal 1 Hour

Ironman update - 2015 and Beyond 30 Min.

  

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Consent

Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Packet Page     619



October 15, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

1st reading Boulder Jewish Commons Annexation, Site and Use Reviews
Consideration of a resolution approving an amended and restated Fire and Police Money Purchase 
Pension Plan and Trust Agreement of the City of Boulder and authorizing the City Manager to execute 
it on the cityâ's behalf

2014 Budget Items 2 Hours
2nd reading Alcohol: 500 Foot Rule & use Definitions/ BLA Structural Changes 2 Hours

Economic Sustainability Strategy 30 Min. None

  

October 22, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

2nd Readin Grandview Bungalow Relocation Project

If necessary: 3rd Reading Voice and Sight Control Ordinance
2nd Reading, Electric Assist Bicycles Pilot Demo Project 3 Hours

  

 

October 29, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

If necessary: Consideration of items relating to the 2014 budget Only if required
If necessary: 3rd Reading Alcohol Changes (500 Foot Rule and BLA Structure) Only if required
Tentative: Historic Preservation Plan 1 Hour

AMPS Update 1 Hour
Development of a Comprehensive Housing Strategy 1 Hour

  

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

CALL-UPS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS: All Budget Items Will be Heard as One Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

Packet Page     620



November 12, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Platform of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 1 Hour

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO

Hold for CMO
November 19, 2013

10 AM Special Meeting 
Oath of Office

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Certification of Election Results and Oath of Office for new members
November 19, 2013

Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

1st Reading Food Vehicle Follow Up to April 16, 2013 IP
First reading of an emergency ordinance BRC Supplement 118 Quarterly

First Reading Three NPP Expansions (in east Ridge/Pennsylvania, Mapleton, 
Whittier zones) and One Street Removal (in Fairview NPP zone)
First Reading of the Second Adjustment to Base Ordinance

2nd reading Boulder Jewish Commons Annexation, Site and Use Reviews

Legislative Agenda 30 Min.

  

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Consent

Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Packet Page     621



December 3, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

Second adjustment to Base - CAGID Resolution 
On the agenda right after 2nd reading 
of adj. to base

Legislative Agenda
Second Reading of Second Adjustment to Base of the 2013 Budget None

Second Reading Three NPP Expansions (in east Ridge/Pennsylvania, 
Mapleton, Whittier zones) and One Street Removal (in Fairview NPP zone) 15 min.

Legislative Agenda 1 Hour

December 17, 2013
Est. time Timing Issues/ Comments

2nd Reading Food Vehicle Follow Up to April 16, 2013 IP 1 Hour

  

CONSENT:

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Consent

Public Hearing

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY:

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS:

CALL-UPS:

Packet Page     622



 
 
 
 

City Council Goals – 2013  
 
Top Priorities:  
 
1. Boulder’s Energy Future  
The top priority for the City in 2013 is the development of a framework for planning the 
energy future for the city of Boulder. This framework will focus on the idea of localization, 
the overarching goal of which is:  
To ensure that Boulder residents, businesses and institutions have access to energy that 
is increasingly clean, reliable and competitively priced.  
 
2. Climate Action Plan  
  
Outline the next generation of climate action efforts in Boulder  
 
Consider extension of CAP tax  
 
3. Affordable Housing  
  
Receive report of the Task force created in 2010 to evaluate goals and the approach to 
affordable housing and Based on Council review and discussion of these recommendations, 
develop an action plan to improve the availability of affordable housing in the city  
 
Consider policies regarding inclusionary housing for rental units  
 
4. Civic Center Master Plan  
  
Study and develop a master plan for the area between 15th and 9th Streets, with a focus on 
Farmer’s Market and area between Broadway and 15th Street.  
 

Packet Page     623



Next Tier Priorities:  
1. University Hill Revitalization  
  
Continue work of Ownership Group to develop comprehensive revitalization strategy  
 
Investigate formation of a general improvement district, including the commercial area and 
part of the residential area to control trash and other problems  
 
Change boundaries of BMS land use to coincide with UHGID through BVCP process  
 
Support private development and investment in Hill area  
 
Partner with CU to consider opportunities for properties in the Hill area  
 
Provide an opportunity to explore big ideas  
 
2. Homelessness  
  
Participate in Ten Year Plan to Address Homelessness  
 
Balance long term and short term approaches to address needs  
 
Invest new resources in Housing First model  
 
Work with partners, such as BOHO, to address approaches to immediate needs  
 
3. Boulder Junction Implementation  
 
Work with RTD and selected developer of site to maximize mixed use urban center  
  
Invest in planned infrastructure  
 
Achieve goals of plan while ensuring flexibility in working with developers  
 
Prioritize city actions to facilitate private investment  
 
Focus additional planning work on reconsidering use for Pollard site  
 

Packet Page     624



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 1

 
City Council 

2013 Work Plan by Council Goal 
 

TOP PRIORITIES 
 

GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr’’’sss   EEEnnneeerrrgggyyy   FFFuuutttuuurrreee   
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables  

 Recommended strategies to achieve 
community’s energy goals - Study 
Session and Public Hearing 

 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
based on the strategies 
approved by Council in 1st 
Quarter, ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at 
roundtables  

 Municipalization Exploration 
Project Work Plan Phase 2 – 
Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – 
ongoing analysis of 
municipalization and work on 
Energy Action Plan with updates 
to council at roundtables  

 Study Session 

 Boulder’s Energy Future – ongoing 
analysis of municipalization and 
work on Energy Action Plan with 
updates to council at roundtables 

 Study Session  

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCllliiimmmaaattteee   AAAccctttiiiooonnn   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric 

Project 
 Climate Commitment – RFQ for 

consulting assistance for targets and 
goal setting, development of new 
GHG inventory, and tracking and 
reporting tools 

 Energy Efficiency: 
o Launch of 2013 program priorities 
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

employee education and outreach 
project (IP) 

 Disposable Bag Fee – 
implementation plan and revised 
budget (IP) 

 Transportation Master Plan (TMP) – 

 Commercial Energy Efficiency 
Strategy (CEES) - feedback on 
options (Study Session) 

 Climate Commitment – Study 
Session to review program 
annual targets, short/ long term 
goals, tracking and reporting 
systems 

 Electric/ Hybrid vehicles – 
project closeout 

 Energy Efficiency – finalize 
Market Innovations approach  
(Study Session) 

 Solar/ Wind Generation Facility 
Code Changes 

 SmartRegs – code changes 

 CEES – adopt Energy Rating and 
Reporting Ordinance 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency – launch 
Market Innovations competition 

 Zero Waste Master Plan (ZWMP) 
– draft 

 Climate Commitment – policy 
integration with TMP and ZWMP 

 Energy Efficiency  
o Upgrades in City Buildings – 

results of employee education 
and outreach (IP) 

 SmartRegs – options for quality 
control of rental housing 
inspections 

 

Packet Page     625



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 2

initial results of Transportation 
Funding Task Force (Study Session) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAffffffooorrrdddaaabbbllleee   HHHooouuusssiiinnnggg   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 ADU/ OAU – study results (IP) 
 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 

issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 Density and Distribution of 
affordable and special needs 
housing - report 

 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policy 
– consideration of ordinance 
changes following stakeholder 
engagement process 

 Mobile Homes Parks – legislative 
agenda 

 Comprehensive Housing 
Strategy 
o Stakeholder engagement 

process 
o Study Session 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy 
issues  - stakeholder engagement 
process 

 

 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCiiivvviiiccc   AAArrreeeaaa   PPPlllaaannn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Board and community input 
 Council participation in Ideas 

Competition 
 

 Council direction on preferred 
option(s) and strategies  

 Draft plan  
o Development 
o Community input 
o Study Session 

 Municipal Space Study Final 
Report 

 Boulder Civic Area vision and 
plan  
o Study session 
o Public hearings on adoption 

 

 

Packet Page     626



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 3

 
NEXT TIER PRIORITIES 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUnnniiivvveeerrrsssiiitttyyy   HHHiiillllll    RRReeevvviiitttaaallliiizzzaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 2013 action priorities confirmed by 

Council at January retreat 
 Hill Residential Service District – 

update 
 Innovation District - update 

 Action on other priorities 
 Hill Residential Service District 

– 1st reading of petition 
 

 Capital infrastructure 
improvements for the residential 
and commercial areas – consider 
during CIP process 

 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAddddddrrreeessssssiiinnnggg   HHHooommmeeellleeessssssnnneeessssss      

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 City and Community Efforts – 

Denver sleeping ordinance (IP) 
 Housing First (1175 Lee Hill Road) 

– Statement of Operations (IP)  
 Work plan check in and priority – 

Council retreat 
 

 Analysis of funding for 
homeless services and 
alignment with the Ten Year 
Plan and unmet needs 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress 
update (IP) 

 Analysis and recommendations 
regarding banning panhandling on 
street corners 

 Ten Year Plan to Address 
Homelessness – progress update 
(IP) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBooouuullldddeeerrr   JJJuuunnnccctttiiiooonnn   IIImmmpppllleeemmmeeennntttaaatttiiiooonnn   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 Depot Square implementation – 

update 
 MU-4 zone change - consideration 
 TDM District Implementation 

Update (IP) 
 Update on potential policy issues 

related to key public improvements 
and city owned site (as needed) 

 Update on potential policy 
issues related to key public 
improvements and city owned 
site (as needed) 

 Boulder Junction Access District 
Parking – update  

 TDM Access District 
implementation - IP  

 

 

 
 
 

Packet Page     627



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 4

 
OTHER 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOttthhheeerrr   CCCiiitttyyy   GGGoooaaalllsss   aaannnddd   WWWooorrrkkk   PPPlllaaannn   IIIttteeemmmsss   

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
 13th Street Plaza - IP 
 28th Street Multi-use Path and 

Bikeable Shoulders Iris to Yarmouth 
CEAP – potential call up 

 Acquisition Plan Update - OSMP 
 Alcohol/ Land Use Code Changes – 

options and recommendations 
 Boating on Barker Reservoir 
 Burke Park/ Thunderbird Lake – 

recommendations on lake water 
levels and enhancing park facilities 

 BVCP Area III Planning Reserve 
Amendments (if approved by 
County) 

 Chautauqua Guiding Principles, 
Next Steps –update on progress 

 Civic Use Task Force – update from 
Council members 

 Cultural Master Plan 
 Design and Construction Standards 

Update – consideration of minor 
updates 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Hogan Pancost – annexation and 

site review 
o Wonderland Creek Townhouses – 

potential call up 
o 28th and Canyon (Eads/ Golden 

Buff) – potential call up 
o Landmark Lofts II (970 28th 

Street) – potential call up 
 East Arapahoe Study – potential 

action on limited zoning changes 
 Economic Sustainable Strategies – 

 Access and Parking 
Management Strategies – study 
session 

 Alcohol Land Use Code 
Changes - action 

 Baseline Underpass East of 
Broadway CEAP – Call up 

 Bike Parking Ordinance 
Updates 

 Capital Improvement Bond 
Projects status update - IP 

 Capital Projects – carry over 
and first supplemental 

 Critical Facilities Ordinance – 
public hearing and motion 

 Education Excise Tax – 
consideration of City Manager 
funding recommendations 

 Floodplain Management 
including Boulder Creek 
Mapping, South Boulder Creek 
Mitigation, and Critical 
Facilities 

 Human Rights Ordinance – 
proposed changes regarding age 
discrimination 

 Integrated Pest Management 
Program Changes - IP 

 International Building and 
Energy Codes – public hearing 

 North Boulder Subcommunity 
Plan - IP 

 Old Hire Fire and Police 
Pension Plans – Study Session 

 2014 Budget Process 
 Access and Parking Management 

strategies (update) 
 Boulder Reservoir Site 

Management Plan – status of 
planning efforts and outcomes of 
community engagement (IP) 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
study session 

 Carter Lake Pipeline – thru CIP 
process 

 Contractor Licensing – proposed 
changes (IP) 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Blue Spruce Auto (4403 

Broadway) – potential call up 
o Boulder Outlook Hotel 

Redevelopment (800 28th 
Street) –  potential call up 

o Colorado Building Parking Lot 
(1301 Walnut) - ordinances 

o 1000 Alpine – potential call up 
o 3085 Bluff – potential call up 
o 3390 Valmont (Former 

Sutherlands Site) – potential 
call up 

 Eco Pass- report on results of 
Joint Study with Boulder County 
on community-wide Eco Pass 
Feasibility 

 FAM Master Plan – study session 
 Harbeck-Bergheim House – 

Future Use Options (IP) 
 North Trail Study Area – study 

 Access and Parking Management 
Strategies – update 

 Agriculture Plan (OSMP) – public 
hearing 

 Capital Improvement Program – 
adoption of CIP; 2nd budget 
supplemental 

 Contractor Licensing – 
consideration of proposed changes 

 Design and Construction Standards 
Update – consideration of 
additional changes 

 Development Review Projects: 
o Village Shopping Center Hotel 

(26th and Canyon) – potential call 
up 

 East Arapahoe Study – check in on 
project scope and work plan (3/4Q) 

 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 
Buildings – results of employee 
education and outreach project (IP) 

 FAM Master Plan – consideration 
of acceptance 

 Fourmile Canyon Creek Violet 
Avenue to Broadway CEAP – 
potential call up 

 Human Relations Commission 
Work Plan update - IP 

 Human Services Fund allocations - 
IP 

 Light Response Vehicle Pilot 
Program - IP 

 OSMP Natural Resources 
Overarching Issues – Study session 

Packet Page     628



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 5

study session 
 Education Excise Tax Allocation of 

Funds – refine RFP criteria 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City 

Buildings – employee education and 
outreach project (IP) 

 Floodplain Management including 
Boulder Creek Mapping, South 
Boulder Creek Mitigation, and 
Critical Facilities 

 Hazardous Materials Management 
IGA 

 Hydroelectric operations and 
opportunities - IP 

 Keep It Clean IGA 
 Mobile Food Vending – options for 

ordinance changes 
 Multi-hazard mitigation plan – 

possible consent item 
 Nuisance Mosquito Control Pilot 

Project Evaluation - IP 
 OSMP Overarching Issues – 

discussion and possible action on 
Voice and Sight Tag Program, 
Commercial Use Program, Pilot 
Parking Permit Program; IP on 
timeline and process for evaluation 
of remaining topics 

 Police Department Master Plan – 
Study Session 

 State of the Court Presentation 
 Sustainable Streets & Centers – 

update on proposed scope options, 
next steps and integration with 
TMP, East Arapahoe Area Plan and 
proposed Economic Sustainability 
Strategy 

 Transportation Funding (SS) 
 TMP Update – additional direction 

 OSMP natural resources – 
overarching policy issues 
o Temporal Regulations 
o Penalties for violations 
o Multi-modal access and 

parking opportunities 
o Analysis of trail network and 

distribution of activities 
 Parks and Recreation Master 

Plan 
 Pearl Street Mall Code Changes 
 Police Department Master Plan 
 Randolph Center Condominium 

Declaration 
 Recirculation of wastewater – 

CU Williams Village North (IP 
if necessary) 

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell Creek 
and King’s Gulch Flood 
Mapping Update – public 
hearing and motion 

 Smoking Ban on Pearl Street 
Mall - IP 

 Snow and Ice Control 
Evaluation – study session 

 Transportation Funding – study 
session 

 TMP Update – additional 
direction 

 Twomile and Upper Goose 
Creek Flood Mapping Update – 
public hearing and motion 

 Water budgets – commercial, 
industrial and institutional – 
Council direction 

 Water supply status – IP 

session or dinner discussion 
 Old Hire Fire and Police Pension 

Plans – possible discussion during 
budget process 

 Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
 Regional Trail Connections 

(OSMP) – IP 
 South Boulder Creek Flood 

Mitigation Study – public hearing 
and motion 

 Transportation Demand 
Management Toolkit - IP 

 Valmont Butte Future Use 
Discussions – study session 

 Water Conservation Futures Study 
 Youth Opportunities Funding 

allocations - IP 

on remaining topics 
 Urban Wildlife – Consideration of 

Wildlife Protection Ordinance  
 Water budgets – commercial, 

industrial and institutional – 
consideration of changes 

Packet Page     629



 

H:\My Documents\CMO\2013WorkPlan.doc 6

 US36 Bikeway Maintenance – 
Enhancements IGA (tentative based 
on if extra community investments 
are desired) 

 Urban Wildlife – Black Bear 
Education and Enforcement pilot 
program update 

 Woodland Creek Diagonal to 
Winding Trail CEAP – potential call 
up 

 Zero Waste Master Plan Update 
 

KEY 
ADU Accessory Dwelling Units 
BVCP Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
CEAP Community and Environmental Assessment Process 
CIP Capital Improvement Program 
CU University of Colorado 
DUHMD/PS Downtown and University Hill Management District/ Parking Services (City 

Division) 
FAM Facility and Asset Management 
ICC International Code Council 
IGA Intergovernmental Agreement 
IP Information Packet 
OAU Owner Accessory Units 
OSMP Open Space/Mountain Parks Department 
RFQ Request for Qualifications 
RFP Request for Proposals 
TDM Transportation Demand Management 
TMP Transportation Master Plan 
ZWMP Zero Waste Master Plan 

 

Packet Page     630



 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS – 1ST AND 2ND QUARTER 2012  

 
TOP PRIORITIES: 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR’’’SSS   EEENNNEEERRRGGGYYY   FFFUUUTTTUUURRREEE   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Hiring of Executive Director for Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development 
 Retention of FERC and acquisition legal counsel 
 Initial work in developing appraisal of distribution system and preparing legal strategy 
 Initial work on Phase 1 of a new Energy Action Plan, including demand side programs and renewables modeling 
 Active participation at the PUC to advance Boulder’s energy goals and protect community interests 
 Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility Agreement: City Council authorized the dedication of easements to Public Service 

Company of Colorado to facilitate upgrades to the city’s Boulder Canyon Hydroelectric Facility. 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCLLLIIIMMMAAATTTEEE   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNN   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Third party review and evaluation of CAP tax funded programs to date 
 Preparation of November 2012 CAP tax ballot options for Council consideration 
 Initial steps to develop and refine a new Climate Action Framework consisting a renewed climate action commitment, five-year 

goals, annual targets, integration with appropriate master plans and city operations, and new reporting tools 
 Initial work to identify priorities for the next generation of energy efficiency programs (as part of Phase 1 of the Energy Action 

Plan) 
 Development of Commercial Energy Efficiency Strategy approach and stakeholder process (to be integrated as part of Phase 1 of 

the Energy Action Plan) 
 Continued delivery of CAP programs and services to achieve annual targets (EnergySmart, Ten for Change, SmartRegs 

compliance, etc.) 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities - (a) Energy Performance Contract (EPC) – Phase III; (b) Lease purchase financing 

for energy conservation measures; and (c) Energy improvements, lease amendments, and payments. - Implemented the third phase 
of Energy Performance Contracts (EPC) for city facilities, including the installation of another 347 kilowatts of solar photovoltaic 

Packet Page     631



 
at the Municipal Service Center buildings, Fleet Services, OSMP Annex and The Dairy Center for the Arts. 
 Energy Efficiency Upgrades in City Facilities – Employee Education and Outreach Project (Information Packet) - A staff team 

participated in three workshops with McKinstry, the city’s Energy Performance Contractor, to help develop a new PowerED energy 
education and outreach program for employees. Program development will continue with other city staff focus groups through the 
end of December 2012. 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAAFFFFFFOOORRRDDDAAABBBLLLEEE   HHHOOOUUUSSSIIINNNGGG   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Added 12 new permanently affordable homes to inventory  
 Affordable housing agreement for Gunbarrel Town Center 
 Affordable Housing Program Work plan - Council Consideration and Direction; new initiatives identified 
 Analysis completed of affordable housing distribution 
 Completed funding of major renovations to improve housing quality and economic sustainability of three BHP properties 
 Development of voluntary affordable housing agreement for Depot Square project 
 Inclusionary Housing Rental Policies – Council Consideration and Direction 
 Thistle Community Housing completing fire sprinklers in all of its properties 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      CCCIIIVVVIIICCC   CCCEEENNNTTTEEERRR   MMMAAASSSTTTEEERRR   PPPLLLAAANNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Development of interdepartmental project team and approach; project goals and objectives; and public engagement strategy 
(reviewed at joint Planning Board / City Council study session in April) 
 Detailed design of community visioning process and articulation of key project assumptions (reviewed with Council at June 12 

study session) 
 Preparation of baseline materials and launch of public engagement in July. 
 The Municipal Space Study contract was awarded to StudioTerra on March 23.  FAM and the consultants are interviewing city 

departments and conducting research on industry trends and standards for office space.  Preliminary results of the space study, as it 
relates to the Civic Center Master Plan, will be presented at the July 31 study session. 

 

Packet Page     632

http://www.peoplepowerplanet.com/


 
 
 

NEXT TIER PRIORITIES: 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      UUUNNNIIIVVVEEERRRSSSIIITTTYYY   HHHIIILLLLLL   RRREEEVVVIIITTTAAALLLIIIZZZAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Zoning change: Business Main Street (BMS) boundary to coincide with the University Hill General Improvement District 
boundary; rezoning of UHGID lots to BMS zoning (approved by Planning Board; scheduled for Council consideration in August) 
 Continued work of the Hill Ownership Group to develop a comprehensive revitalization strategy. 
 In coordination with a volunteer, stakeholder committee completed a proposal for a Residential Service District which includes: 

boundaries, scope of services, proposed budget, proposed governance structure, agreements for financial participation by tax-
exempt sororities and fraternities, and a timeline for a 2013 Petition and Election process.   
 Landmarking of Flatirons Theater building (and associated building renovation) 
 955 Broadway (Acacia Fraternity site redevelopment) 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      AAADDDDDDRRREEESSSSSSIIINNNGGG   HHHOOOMMMEEELLLEEESSSSSSNNNEEESSSSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Council Consideration and Direction on:  1175 Lee Hill Project; added 31 permanent housing units for chronically homeless, 
disabled adults 
 Continued Homeless Service Provider Coordination Project to develop action plans for case management, outreach and service 

coordination 
 Continued implementation of Ten year Plan to Address Homelessness 

 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      BBBOOOUUULLLDDDEEERRR   JJJUUUNNNCCCTTTIIIOOONNN   IIIMMMPPPLLLEEEMMMEEENNNTTTAAATTTIIIOOONNN   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 Developed and implemented a funding strategy to finance the acquisition of 100 parking spaces by the Boulder Junction Access 
District – Parking (BJAD-P) in the Depot Square parking garage including a Lease/Purchase Agreement between BJAD-P and the 
developer, and a City of Boulder/BJAD-P Cooperation Agreement 
 Developed a strategy to manage parking in the parking structure through technology and a management agreement among the 

Packet Page     633



 
users.  The arrangement provides for parking spaces to be paid, unbundled, and shared in a manner to meet the needs of the various 
users of Depot Square (hotel, residential, RTD) and general parking in BJAD-P spaces.  Agreement was reached with RTD 
regarding short term and long term parking management strategies given their current legislative mandate. 
 Finalized the ownership structure for five different owners to coordinate management of their units and common areas through a 

Condominium Declaration for the Depot Square project 
 Finalized a renovation agreement and lease consistent with guiding principles with Pedersen Development Corporation for the 

Depot 
 Finalized legal agreements for joint public/private development of Depot Square (RTD facility, shared parking, affordable housing, 

hotel, public space and rehabilitation of historic depot  
 Approved changes to the Transportation Network Plan in support of the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) 
 Revised Street Design for Pearl Parkway and Connections Plan Revisions (adopted by Council January 17) 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan and along with private redevelopment, a number of capital improvements are 

underway, including the installation of underground power lines, preparations for installing a traffic signal at Junction Place and 
Pearl Parkway, and portions of the Pearl Parkway multi-way boulevard 
 Consistent with the TVAP connections plan, design work continues for the bridge over Goose Creek and the multi-use path on the 

north side of Pearl Parkway between 30th Street and Foothills Parkway 
 Received a Federal Hazard Elimination Program grant award through the Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) that will 

allow installation of a traffic signal at 29th Street and Valmont Road, improving safety and implementing improvements identified 
in the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) (project will begin in 2014)  
 Completion of engineering and building construction plan review for a 319 unit residential development at 3100 Pearl and the RTD 

Depot Square transit-oriented development  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page     634



 
 
GGGOOOAAALLL:::      OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   CCCIIITTTYYY   GGGOOOAAALLLSSS   AAANNNDDD   WWWOOORRRKKK   PPPLLLAAANNN   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   

FIRST AND SECOND QUARTER 
2012 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

CCCAAAPPPIIITTTAAALLL   IIITTTEEEMMMSSS   
 Anemone Trails (new) – design work completed 
 Arapahoe Avenue (Folsom to 30th) - Multimodal Improvements Project Completed construction on the Arapahoe Avenue multi-

use path project. The remaining street resurfacing and landscaping work will be completed in 2012. 
 Boulder Creek and South Boulder Creek – restoration of grassland and riparian areas continued 
 Broadway (Euclid to 18th) - Transportation Improvements Project - Made progress on the Broadway (Euclid to 18th) 

Transportation Improvements Project. 16th Street opened the first week of May and the Broadway underpass and the four lanes on 
Broadway (two in each direction) are scheduled for completion by early July. 

 Broke ground in January for a new multi-use path on the south side of Baseline, connecting U.S. 36 and the Bear Creek 
Underpass, including a pedestrian crossing for Baseline Road at Canyon Creek.  Completion of the multi-use path on the west end 
is underway through a redevelopment project. 

 Completed a new sidewalk along Gillaspie Drive, connecting Greenbriar Boulevard and Juilliard Street connecting to Fairview 
High School 

 Completed the course bunker renovation/playability project at Flatirons Golf Course by installing 19 new sand bunkers  
 Continued work at Valmont City Park, including additional construction at Valmont Bike Park; outreach and design for Valmont 

Dog Park; and design and construction of the interim disc golf course 
 Facility ADA Compliance - An Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) consultant completed comprehensive ADA assessments 

for the Park Central and Municipal buildings. Costs for the recommendations are being identified and prioritized, with other 
buildings planned for assessment. 

 Green Bear Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Gregory Canyon Trailhead Site Plan – initial site plan design work began 
 Homestead Trail Re-route – work in progress with one section completed and opened to public 
 Library Facility Upgrades and Enhancements (New Children’s Library and New Teen Space): The selection of a design firm is 

underway 
 Linden Avenue Sidewalk Project (Safe Routes to School) - Completed a Safe Routes to School Project, providing a sidewalk on 

the north side of Linden Avenue between Fourth Street and Broadway. 
 New Wildland Fire Facilities - Responses to the request for qualifications (RFQ) for facility designs were received on May 11. 

Requests for proposals (RFP) to be sent in early June 
 Organic farming – agricultural contract written for 47 acres 

Packet Page     635



 
 Replaced traffic signal incandescent lamps with sustainable, energy-saving light-emitting diode (LED) lamps 
 Sanitas Stone Hut Repair – hut was reinforced and stonework repaired 
 South Boulder Creek West Trailhead – Parking areas for cars and horse trailers completed and open to public; working through 

permit process for outhouse and kiosk installations; interpretive signs in production 
 South Boulder Recreation Center - The contaminated sub floors from the gymnasium, racquetball court, and Pilates room have 

been removed and are expected to be replaced with new wood floors by early June 2012.  
 Street repair expanded efforts – began the first of three years 

 
OOOTTTHHHEEERRR   SSSIIIGGGNNNIIIFFFIIICCCAAANNNTTT   AAACCCTTTIIIOOONNNSSS 111    
 Boulder B-cycle station at the North Boulder Recreation Center sponsored 
 Boulder Community Hospital Expansion Rezoning 
 BVCP: Area II study results and potential next steps (IP to City Council in July) 
 BVCP Comprehensive Rezoning (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 BVCP 2010 Major Update: planning reserve policy changes (study session discussion with Council on May 29; Council and 

County Commissioner dinner discussion on June 14) 
 Boulder Reservoir Master Plan completed 
 Boulder Valley School District Faculty and Staff Eco Pass Program Expansion - Continued partnership with the Boulder Valley 

School District (BVSD) to expand the BVSD faculty and staff Eco Pass program. 
 Chautauqua Stewardship Framework: Draft and Next Steps 
 City Website Redesign Kickoff - Kicked off redesign with Vision Internet and the City of Arvada. Gathered a list of key 

stakeholders and surveyed them regarding elements the new website should contain. 
 Code enforcement - reallocation of resources to the Boulder Police Department was fully implemented to ensure efficient and 

effective service delivery 
 Community and Environmental Assessment Process (CEAP) for flood mitigation and transportation improvements along Fourmile 

Canyon Creek, near Crest View Elementary School completed, including a City Council call-up opportunity. 
 Compatible Development implementation - annual report to Council 
 Congregate Care code changes (pending further consideration based on Council direction) 
 Constituent Relationship Management (CRM) procurement effort - Designed and implemented a staff engagement and 

procurement initiative to implement a new CRM application resulting in the unanimous selection of Government Outreach.  
Vendor contract negotiations are currently underway.  This initiative is designed to significantly improve our customers’ ability to 
request, track and ultimately receive more timely and effective services while providing staff with automated tools to better 

                                                 
 

Packet Page     636



 
manage these requests. 

 Disposable Bag Reduction Ordinance: research and options presented to Council on May 15; work on nexus study underway 
 Draft Fire-Rescue Master Plan completed and approved by Planning Board.   
 Economic Sustainability Strategy: phase one study of primary employer space needs underway; presentation of results to Council 

scheduled for August  
 Elks neighborhood park planning, outreach and design continued with construction and completion in 2013 
 Family Resource Center opened at Manhattan Middle School in partnership with Boulder County Housing and Human Services 
 FasTracks’ Northwest Rail Plan - Approved guiding principles for developing and designing a hybrid approach to FasTracks’ 

Northwest Rail Plan. 
 Fire Master Plan – Council feedback on strategies (April 3, 2012); Planning Board recommendation for acceptance (May 17, 

2012); Scheduled for Council consideration (June 19, 2012) 
 Heather wood Trail Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) - City Council authorized the signing of an intergovernmental agreement 

(IGA) with Boulder County related to the maintenance of a trail that crosses the Wastewater Treatment Facility property. 
 Integrated Pest Management Policy Revision and Program Direction (Council provided direction on May 1) 
 Landmarking of First Christian Church building (950 28th Street) 
 Locomotive #30 narrow gauge historic cosmetic restoration completed  
 Mesa Memorial Park design and development initiated 
 Mosquito control annual report (Completed report on the IPM web site – link will be provided to council with first weekly 

mosquito report in June) 
 Named number 3 on list of best cities for bicycling by Bicycling Magazine, in part due to the Valmont Bike Park and new path 

connections made possible by the capital improvement bond 
 New Transportation Safety Ordinances - Approved ordinance changes to improve transportation safety in the city and initiated 

education and enforcement efforts to support the ordinance changes 
 Organic turf and landscape bed program at six park locations launched 
 Received a Safe Routes to School Grant to install a traffic signal at South Boulder Road and Manhattan Drive to create a safe 

crossing for middle school students taking transit, riding, or walking to and from school. 
 RH-2 Zone District Changes (scheduled for council consideration in August) 
 Safe Streets Boulder report published in February. 
 SmartRegs - Continued the successful implementation of SmartRegs and the pilot program for rental housing licensing 

enforcement. The backlog of rental license compliance cases is almost entirely eliminated. 
 Transportation Report on Progress, Transportation to Sustain a Community published in February. 
 Valmont Butte – VCUP implementation commenced; excavation work began on April 4 with both the tribe-designated native 

cultural monitor and the city’s archaeologist consultant present.   

Packet Page     637



 
 Veterans and active duty military personnel recreation pass program developed 

 
 
 
 
Key: 
 
ADA = Americans with Disabilities Act 
BHP = Boulder Housing Partners 
BVSD = Boulder Valley School District 
BMS = Business Main Street   
CAP = Climate Action Plan 
CDOT = Colorado Department of Transportation  
EPC = Energy Performance Contract 
EET = Education Excise Tax 
FAM = Facilities and Asset Management (City Division) 
FERC = Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
IGA = Inter-governmental Agreement 
IP = Information Packet 
OSMP = Open Space/ Mountain Parks Department 
PUC = Colorado Public Utilities Commission 
RFP = Request for Proposals 
RFQ = Request for Qualifications 
RTD = Regional Transportation District 
TVAP = Transit Village Area Plan 
UHGID = University Hill General Improvement District 
VCUP = Colorado Voluntary Cleanup Program 
 
 

Packet Page     638



1/23/2013 
 

                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew 
Appelbaum 

 Mayor 

Lisa Morzel  Mayor Pro Tem 
Suzy Ageton  Council Member 

KC Becker  Council Member 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

George Karakehian  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Ken Wilson  Council Member 
                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Bob Eichem  Chief Financial Officer 
Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 

Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 
David Driskell  Community Planning + Sustainability -  Executive Director 

Paul J. Fetherston  Deputy City Manager 
Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 

Director 
Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 

Larry Donner  Fire Chief 
  Housing, Assistant City Manager for 

Mary Ann Weideman  Human Resources (Acting) Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 

Valerie Maginnis  Library and Arts Director 
Lynne C. Reynolds  Municipal Court Administrator 

Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 
Kirk Kincannon  Parks and Recreation Director 

Mark Beckner  Police Chief 
Maureen Rait  Public Works - Executive Director  

Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 
Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 

 

Packet Page     639



1/30/13     Approved   01-22-2013 

2013 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Karakehian, Wilson (alt) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Becker, Jones (Alternate) 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Ageton 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Plass, Morzel (at large seat) 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Wilson, Jones, Karakehian 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum, Ageton (alternate) 
US36 Commuting Solutions Ageton, Karakehian (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Morzel 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Cowles, Becker (alternate) 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Becker, Plass (alternate)  
Dairy Center for the Arts Karakehian 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Plass, Jones 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Morzel, Becker, Cowles 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Becker (appointed through 2015) 

Charter Committee Morzel, Cowles, Ageton, Karakehian 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Morzel, Jones, Becker 
Council Budget Action Plan Committee Ageton, Becker, Plass 
Evaluation Committee Karakehian, Morzel 
Legislative Committee Ageton, Karakehian, Wilson, Jones 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Ageton 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Karakehian 
Yamagata, Japan Wilson 
Mante, Mexico Plass 
Yateras, Cuba Cowles 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Cowles 
 

Packet Page     640


	00_Agenda
	3A_Minutes August 6
	3B_Minutes August 20
	3C_Ordinance ICC Adoption
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation
	Background, Impacts and Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - Ordinance 7925
	Attachment B - Errata Sheet from September 3, 2013
	Attachment C - Additional Proposed Amendments

	3D_Ordinance Landmarking 2205 Broadway
	Executive Summary and Background
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Landmarks Board Action, Feedback and Analysis
	Historic Significance
	Architectural Significance
	Environmental Significance
	Options
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981
	Attachment C - Significance Criteria

	3E_Ordinance ERTL 8323 Valmont Rd.
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback, Public Process and Analysis
	Ecological Significance
	Agricultural Values
	Restoration and Weed Management
	Cultural Resources and Visitor Use
	Open Space Charter Purposes
	Attachment A - Vicinity Map 
	Attachment B - Location Map
	Attachment C - Projected Open Space Cashflow 2013-2019ERTL
	Attachment D - Proposed Habitat Conservation Area
	Attachment E - Ordinance 7934 HCA�
	Attachment F - Ordinance 7933 BMPA Ordinance
	Attachment G - Lease Agreement
	Attachment H - Lease Revenue Note
	Attachment I - Visitor Master Plan
	Attachment J - Location Map Mineral Estate

	3F_Ordinance Voice and Sight Program
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback
	Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance 7935
	Attachment B - Timeline

	3G_IGA with Boulder County for Hazardous Materials Management
	Executive Summary 
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback, Background and Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - IGA for HMM

	5A_Ordinance Critical Facilities
	Executive Summary
	First Reading Questions
	Recommendation
	Attachment A - Ordinance 7926

	5B_Master Plan Parks and Recreation
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation and Impacts
	Feedback
	Background and Analysis
	Sustainability Framework
	Prioritization and Implementation
	Funding Plan Scenarios
	Master Plan Summaries
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - Master Plan
	1: Introduction
	2: Planning Framework
	3: BPRD System
	4: Community Trends
	5: Needs Assessment
	6: Vision and Goals
	7: Financial Framework
	8: Plan Elements
	9: Implementation

	Attachment B - July 25 Planning Board Minutes
	Attachment C - Summary of Nov. 27, 2012 Council/PRAB Study Session
	Attachment D - Summary of May 28, 2013 Study Session

	5C_Ordinance Marijuana Code Changes
	Executive Summary
	Recommendation, First Reading and Feedback
	Misconceptions of Actions of Other Governments and Analysis
	Limitation on Businesses
	Grandfathering and Time for Accepting Conversion Applications
	Co-Location
	Advertisements
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 7929 Amending Section 6-14
	Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance 7930 Adding a new chapters 6-16 and 4-20-67
	Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 7931 Amending Section 5-10
	Attachment D - Proposed Emergency Ordinance

	8B_Resolution to Support Amendment 66 Funding Public Schools
	Final Draft Blue Book on Amdt. 66.pdf
	1 Final Draft Initiative 22
	2 Last Draft Mailed Initiative 22
	3 Comments Initiative 22
	4 Comments Initiative 22 Attachment A
	5 Contact List Initiative 22
	6 Final Title and Text Initiative 22 - Funding for Public Schools


	9_Information Packet
	Cover Sheet
	1A  CALL UP  2085 Balsam
	1B  CALL UP  420 Spruce St
	2A  North Boulder Subcommunity Plan
	2B  Snow and Ice Control
	3A  Landmarks July18, 2013
	3B  Landmarks  August 7, 2013
	3C  Library Commission September 4, 2013

	99_Reference Materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. SS Calendar
	2013 Study Session Calendar

	3. Master Calendar
	October '13
	November '13
	December '13

	4. City Council Goals 2013
	5. Council Work Plan - 2013
	6. Workplan Update - 2012 Accomplishments
	7. Council and Key Staff
	8. Council Committee Assignments



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends false
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV <>
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




